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study of his political cult. In this fascinating book, Grzegorz Rossoliński-Liebe illumi-
nates the life of a mythologized personality and scrutinizes the history of the most vio-
lent twentieth-century Ukrainian nationalist movement: the Organization of Ukrainian 
Nationalists and its Ukrainian Insurgent Army. Elucidating the circumstances in which 
Bandera and his movement emerged and functioned, Rossoliński-Liebe explains how 
fascism and racism impacted on Ukrainian revolutionary and genocidal nationalism. The 
book shows why Bandera and his followers failed—despite their ideological similarity to 
the Croatian Ustaša and the Slovak Hlinka Party—to establish a collaborationist state 
under the auspices of Nazi Germany and examines the involvement of the Ukrainian na-
tionalists in the Holocaust and other atrocities during and after the Second World War. 
The author brings to light some of the darkest elements of modern Ukrainian history 
and demonstrates its complexity, paying special attention to the Soviet terror in Ukraine 
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history. The monograph also charts the creation and growth of the Bandera cult before 
the Second World War, its vivid revivals during the Cold War among the Ukrainian di-
aspora, and in Bandera’s native eastern Galicia after the dissolution of the Soviet Union.
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PREFACE AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

My interest in Stepan Bandera was awakened about a decade ago when I came across 
a picture of the Bandera monument in the eastern Galician town of Dubliany and 
read an article that described the unveiling ceremony. The solemn mood of the crowd 
in the picture and the highly respectful attitude of the article toward Bandera and his 
movement puzzled me. After this encounter I examined a number of academic and 
non-academic writings relating to Bandera, his role in Ukrainian and European his-
tory, and in the collective memory of Ukrainians, Jews, Poles, Russians, and other 
peoples. These publications, however, did not satisfy my curiosity. The characteri- 
zations of Bandera and his movement were intriguing but they lacked substance and 
many were superficial. Because of the lack of reliable information about the subject, 
it took me several years to define the bases and to comprehend its essentials. The 
more time I spent in the archives and libraries, the more I was astonished how 
mythical and escapist the Bandera images are. Interviewing various activists and 
investigating Bandera museums, I realized how much Bandera meant to people who 
had made him a part of their identity and how little they were interested in a more 
realistic understanding of the man and his movement. I also noticed a concealed 
hostility toward critical examination of the subject and deduced that the common 
representations of Bandera, whether apologetic or demonizing, were based on dis-
avowal of certain aspects of his past and on collective misinformation, in particular 
in post-Soviet western Ukraine. 

Investigating the early post-war period, I realized that our understanding of Ban-
dera and his movement had been based to a substantial extent on that movement’s 
propaganda, which had been modified after the Second World War and adjusted to 
the realities of the Cold War by the veterans of the movement and its sympathizers. 
Several thousand of these people had left western Ukraine together with the Ger-
mans during the last phase of the war and remained thereafter in various countries of 
the Western bloc. Their narrative of the events in western Ukraine during the Second 
World War was not challenged by professional historians until recently. On the con-
trary, some of the historians who studied Ukrainian nationalism during the Cold War 
adopted parts of this distorted and selective narrative in their own writings, taking 
the memories and self-representations of the veterans of the movement for granted. 
After the dissolution of the Soviet Union, a number of political activists and scholars 
based in western Ukraine presented explanations of the subject that were again very 
similar to those popularized previously by the movement’s veterans and by some 
historians rooted in the Ukrainian diaspora. In other words the subject has remained 
unexplored for a long period of time, and its investigation has become difficult and 
even dangerous. 

The theoretical part of my work, in particular the contextualization of Bandera 
and his movement among other East Central European fascist movements, evoked 
fierce reactions among far-right activists, and it irritated several historians and 
intellectuals, including experts in the fields of Polish, Soviet, and Ukrainian history. 
Equally intense emotions were aroused when I began to connect the apologetic 
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commemorations and representations of Bandera and his followers with the 
involvement of Ukrainian nationalists and ordinary Ukrainians in the Holocaust and 
other forms of mass violence during and after the Second World War. To my sur-
prise, some historians who had not worked in the field of Ukrainian history, but had 
specialized in subjects such as mass violence, fascism, nationalism, the Holocaust or 
its denial, had far fewer problems accepting the results of my research and following 
the narrative of this study. 

When I was planning to investigate Bandera and his movement in depth and to 
write a comprehensive study about them, several scholars warned me that it would 
be better to choose a less contentious topic for a dissertation. As it turned out, the 
reactions to my research and to some of my findings exceeded their direst predic-
tions. Especially in the last phase of writing this book, I was exposed to a number of 
unpleasant attacks on this study and sometimes also on my person. These attacks 
came both from the Ukrainian far right and from scholars who regarded Bandera as a 
national or local hero, and his followers as an anti-German and anti-Soviet resistance 
movement, or as the Ukrainian “liberation movement.” Many people directly or indi-
rectly expressed the opinion that the investigation of subjects such as the mass 
violence conducted by the Ukrainian nationalists, the Bandera cult, and the Holo-
caust denial among the Ukrainian diaspora and post-Soviet intellectuals constitutes 
an attack on Ukrainian identity, and they questioned the usefulness and integrity of 
such research. 

When the Heinrich Böll Foundation, the German Academic Exchange Service, 
and the German embassy in Kiev invited me to deliver six lectures about Bandera in 
three Ukrainian cities in late February and early March 2012, organized hysteria was 
stirred up, not only among Ukrainian far-right activists and nationalist scholars but 
also among a number of “liberal” scholars in Ukraine and some scholars of East 
European history in other countries. The organizers of the lecture tour had great 
difficulty in finding universities or other institutions with sufficient courage to host 
my lectures. Venues were found in Kiev and Dnipropetrovs’k, but none in Lviv. In the 
event, even the four institutions (including the Tkuma Ukrainian Institute for Holo-
caust Studies) that had agreed to my appearance canceled the lectures a few hours 
prior to their planned start. As a result, only one lecture took place, in secure con-
ditions in the premises of the German embassy in Kiev. In front of the building, 
about a hundred angry protesters tried to convince a few hundred interested stu-
dents, scholars, and ordinary Ukrainians not to attend my lecture, claiming that I 
was “Joseph Goebbels’ grandchild” and a “liberal fascist from Berlin,” who did not 
understand anything about the subject he would talk about. 

The lectures in Ukraine in early 2012 were prevented by two kinds of political and 
intellectual opponents. The first group consisted of far-right activists from the Svo-
boda Party who intimidated the universities and other institutions. The second group 
was composed of nationalist and “liberal” intellectuals and scholars, who contacted 
the institutions and also announced in public that it would be better not to allow me 
to speak on the subject of my research, because I was not a historian but a “propa-
gandist” who would besmirch the country or attempt to spark a civil war and split 
Ukraine. During the wave of disturbing and hostile insults and protests, a number of 
people, including Antony Polonsky, Delphine Bechtel, Per Anders Rudling, Marco 
Carynnyk, Andreas Umland, Jared McBride, Mark von Hagen, Arnd Bauerkämper, 
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Christian Ganzer, Frank Golczewski, Anton Shekhovtsov, Gertrud Pickhan, Grzegorz 
Motyka, Omer Bartov, Simon Hadler, Susanne Heim, and especially my wife Mar-
tina, were very supportive. These people convinced me not to pay too much attention 
to the various kinds of nationalist and intellectual hysteria and to concentrate on 
finishing the study and publishing the book. 

This study could not have been accomplished without the help and support of 
many people and institutions. At the very beginning of this undertaking, Philipp Ther 
convinced me to see it through. Heinz Dieter Kittsteiner († 2008), an inspiring theo-
retician and a remarkable critic of collective memories, did so too. During the entire 
project, my dissertation adviser Frank Golczewski supported me with advice on vari-
ous academic matters and helped me to face sundry bureaucratic obstacles. In 
Ukraine, Leonid Zashkilniak, Iaroslav Hrytsak, Ostap Sereda, and a number of other 
colleagues helped me to locate and extract some essential documents and to over-
come many kinds of administrative complications. Similarly, several archivists and 
librarians in Canada, Germany, Poland, Russia, Ukraine, the United Kingdom, and 
the United States were very helpful during my investigations. John-Paul Himka 
taught me a great deal about the Ukrainian diaspora and its nationalist 
misrepresentation of history. He and scholars such as Omer Bartov, Dieter Pohl, 
Grzegorz Motyka, and Per Anders Rudling drew my attention to the question of 
ethnic and political violence and its significance for this study. The writings on 
fascism by scholars such as Arnd Bauerkämper, Roger Eatwell, Roger Griffin, 
Constantin Iordachi, Michael Mann, Stanley G. Payne, Kevin Passmore, Robert 
Paxton, and Zeev Sternhell helped me to contextualize Bandera and his movement. 

The book has profited from discussions and critical readings. I had the pleasure 
to present and discuss the project at academic seminars organized by Arnd 
Bauerkämper, Frank Golczewski, Heinz Dieter Kittsteiner, Gertrud Pickhan, Philip 
Ther, the German Historical Institute Warsaw, the working group “Holocaust and 
Memory Politics” at the University of Alberta, and the department of Eastern Euro-
pean History at the University of Giessen. Arnd Bauerkämper, Omer Bartov, Frank 
Golczewski, Mark von Hagen, John-Paul Himka, Iaroslav Hrytsak, Tanja Penter, Per 
Anders Rudling, Tomasz Stryjek, and Andrzej Zięba commented either on the whole 
manuscript or some of its parts. Ray Brandon, Franziska Bruder, Marco Carynnyk, 
John-Paul Himka, Jared McBride, Grzegorz Motyka, Dieter Pohl, and Per Anders 
Rudling assisted me with information and drew my attention to documents they had 
discovered during their own research on topics relating to this study. Marco Caryn-
nyk and Michał Młynarz helped me by editing the manuscript. It would not have 
been possible to conduct the research for this study and to write this book, without 
the financial assistance of the Gerda Henkel Foundation, the University of Alberta, 
and the German Historical Institute Warsaw, or to have the manuscript edited with-
out the assistance of the Gerda Henkel Foundation. I would therefore like to thank all 
the people who have helped me to publish this book. Given its subject and length it 
was a quite challenging task. Above all, I very sincerely thank my wife, who showed 
considerable patience and compassion during the extensive and exhaustive process 
of accomplishing this study. I devote this book to her and to my two children. 



 

 

 



 

 

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS 

ASSS Archives of the Shevchenko Scientific Society in New York 
AAN Archiwum Akt Nowych w Warszawie (Archives of Modern Records 

in Warsaw) 
ABN Anti-Bolshevik Bloc of Nations 
AENM Alliance of European National Movements 
AK Armia Krajowa (Polish Home Army) 
ASBML Archive of the Stepan Bandera Museum, London 
ASSS Archives of the Shevchenko Scientific Society, New York 
ATsDVR Arkhiv Tsentru doslidzhen’ vyzvol’noho rukhu (Archives of the 

Institute for the Study of the Liberation Movement) 
AUNR Armia Ukraїns’koї Narodnoї Respubliky (Ukrainian People’s Army) 
AŻIH Archiwum Żydowskiego Instytutu Historycznego (Archives of the 

Jewish Historical Museum, Warsaw) 
BAB Bundesarchiv Berlin (German Federal Archives, Berlin) 
BAK Bundesarchiv Koblenz (German Federal Archives, Koblenz) 
BA-MA Bundesarchiv—Militärarchiv (Military Archives in Freiburg) 
BayHStA Bayerisches Hauptstaatsarchiv (Bavarian Main State Archives) 
BCh Bataliony Chłopskie (Peasants’ Battalions) 
BMN Blok Mniejszości Narodowych (Bloc of National Minorities, Blok fon 

Nashonal Minorities, Blok Natsional’nykh Menshyn, or Block der 
Nationalen Minderheiten) 

BN Biblioteka Narodowa w Warszawie (National Library, Warsaw) 
BND Bundesnachrichtendienst (Federal Intelligence Service) 
BRD Bundesrepublik Deutschland (Federal Republic of Germany) 
BStU Bundesbeauftragte für die Unterlagen des Staatssicherheits-dienstes 

(Federal Commissioner for the Stasi Archives) 
CAW Centralne Archiwum Wojskowe, Rembertów (Central Military 

Archives, Rembertów) 
CIA Central Intelligence Agency 
CIUS Canadian Institute of Ukrainian Studies 
CŻKH Centralna Żydowska Komisja Historyczna (Central Jewish Historical 

Commission) 
DALO Derzhavnyi Arkhiv L’vivskoї Oblasti (State Archives of Lviv Oblast) 
DDR Deutsche Demokratische Republik (German Democratic Republic) 
DP displaced person(s) 
FNIe Front natsional’noї iednosti (Front of National Unity) 
FHO Fremde Heere Ost (German Military Intelligence on the Eastern 

Front) 
FSB Federal’naia sluzhba bezopasnosti Rossiiskoi Federatsii (Federal 

Security Service of the Russian Federation
GARF Gosudarstvennyi arkhiv Rossiiskoi Federatsii (State Archive of the 

Russian Federation) 
Gestapo Geheime Staatspolizei (Secret State Police) 
HA Hauptabteilung (Main Department—of the MfS) 



xiv Stepan Bandera: The Life and Afterlife of a Ukrainian Nationalist 

 

HURI Harvard Ukrainian Research Institute 
HDA SBU Haluzevyi Derzhavnyi arkhiv Sluzhby bezpeky Ukraïny (State 

Archives of the Security Service of Ukraine) 
HJ Hitlerjugend (Hitler Youth) 
HRO  Hrvatska revolucionarna organizacija (Croatian Revolutionary 

Organization), or Ustaša 
HSLS Hlinkova slovenská ľudová strana (Hlinka’s Slovak People’s Party) 
HUNM Hrupa Ukraїns’koї Natsionalnoї Molodi (Group of the Ukrainian 

National Youth) 
HURI Harvard Ukrainian Research Institute 
KAUM Katolyts’ka aktsiia ukraїns’koї molodi (Catholic Action of Ukrainian 

Youth) 
KAW Karta, Archiwum Wschodnie in Warsaw (Karta Archives in Warsaw) 
KGB Komitet gosudarstvennoi bezopasnosti (Committee for State 

Security) 
KiSPSB Komitet iz sporudzhennia pam”iatnyka Stepanu Banderi (Society to 

Erect the Stepan Bandera Monument) 
KONR  Komitet Osvobodzheniia Narodov Rossii (Committee for the 

Liberation of the Peoples of Russia) 
KP(b)U Komunistychna Partiia (bil’shovykiv) Ukraїny (Communist Party 

[Bolsheviks] of Ukraine) 
KPSS Kommunisticheskaia Partiia Sovetskogo Soiuza (Communist Party 

of the Soviet Union) 
KPU Komunistychna Partiia Ukrayїny (Communist Party of Ukraine) 
KPZU Komunistychna Partiia Zakhidnoї Ukraїny (Communist Party of 

West Ukraine) 
KUK Komitet Ukraїntsiv Kanady (Ukrainian Canadian Committee) 
KUN Kongres Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv (Congress of Ukrainian 

Nationalists) 
LAF Lietuvos aktyvistų frontas (Lithuanian Activist Front) 
LNAU L’vivs’kyi Natsional’nyi Ahrarnyi Universytet (L’viv State Agrarian 

University) 
LN-W Landesarchiv Nordrhein-Westfalen (Provincial Archives, 

Nordrhein-Westfalen) 
LUN Lehiia Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv (Legion of Ukrainian 

Nationalists) 
MfS Ministerium für Staatssicherheit, Stasi (Ministry for State Security) 
MGB Ministerstvo Gosudarstvennoi Bezopasnosti (Ministry of State 

Security) 
MI6 Colloquial name for the Foreign Section of the (British) Secret 

Intelligence Service (SIS) 
MSW Ministerstwo Spraw Wewnętrznych (Ministry of Internal Affairs) 
MSZ Ministerstwo Spraw Zewnętrznych (Ministry of Foreign Affairs) 
MVD Ministerstvo Vnutrennikh Del (Ministry of Internal Affairs) 
NARA U.S. National Archives and Records Administration 
NDH Nezavisna Država Hrvatska (Independent State of Croatia) 
NKGB Narodnyi komissariat gosudarstvennoi bezopasnosti (People’s 

Commissariat for State Security) 



 List of Abbreviations xv 

 

NKVD Narodnyi komissariat vnutrennikh del (People’s Commissariat for 
Internal Affairs) 

NPD  Nationaldemokratische Partei Deutschlands (National Democratic 
Party of Germany) 

NRU Narodnyi Rukh Ukraїny (Popular Movement of Ukraine) 
NSDAP Nationalsozialistische Deutsche Arbeiterpartei (National Socialist 

German Workers’ Party) 
NSZ Narodowe Siły Zbrojne (National Armed Forces) 
NTS Natsional’no Trudowoi Soiuz (National Alliance of Russian 

Solidarists) 
OKW Oberkommando der Wehrmacht (Supreme Command of the Armed 

Forces) 
ONR Obóz Narodowo-Radykalny (National Radical Camp) 
OPC Office of Policy Coordination 
OSS Office of Strategic Services 
OUN-B Orhanizatsia Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv-Bandera (Organization of 

Ukrainian Nationalists-Bandera) 
OUN-M Orhanizatsia Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv-Mel’nyk (Organization of 

Ukrainian Nationalists-Mel’nyk) 
OUN-z Orhanizatsia Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv-za kordonom 

(Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists-abroad) 
OVF Orhanizatsiï Vyzvol’noho Frontu (Organizations of the Liberation 

Front) 
ObVB Ob”iednannia Ukraїntsiv u Velykii Brytaniї (Federation of 

Ukrainians in Great Britain) 
OVKUH Orhanizaciia Vyzhchykh Klias Ukraїns’kykh Himnazii (Organization 

of the Upper Grades of the Ukrainian High Schools) 
PAA Provincial Archives of Alberta 
PAAA Politisches Archiv des Auswärtigen Amtes in Berlin (Political 

Archives of the Foreign Office in Berlin) 
PSPU Prohresyvna sotsialistychna partiia Ukraїny (Progressive Socialist 

Party of Ukraine) 
PUN Provid Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv (Leadership of the Ukrainian 

Nationalists) 
PRL Polska Rzeczpospolita Ludowa (People’s Republic of Poland) 
PZPR Polska Zjednoczona Partia Robotnicza (Polish United Workers’ 

Party) 
RCMP Royal Canadian Mounted Police 
RFP Rossiiskaia fashistskaia partiia (Russian Fascist Party) 
RGASPI Rossiiskii gosudarstvennyi arkhiv sotsial’no-politicheskoi istorii 

(Russian Soviet Federative Socialist Republic) 
RGVA Rossiiskii Gosudarstvennyi voennyi arkhiv (Russian State Military 

Archives) 
ROA Ruskaia Osvoboditelnaia Armia (Russian Liberation Army) 
RGASOI Rossiiskii gosudarstvennyi arkhiv sotsial’no-poiliticheskoi istorii 

(Russian State Archive of Socio-Political History) 
RSHA Reichssicherheitshauptamt (Reich Security Main Office) 
SB Sluzhba Bezpeky (Security Service) 



xvi Stepan Bandera: The Life and Afterlife of a Ukrainian Nationalist 

 

SBU Sluzhba Bezpeky Ukraїny (Security Service of Ukraine) 
SD Sicherheitsdienst (Security Service) 
SED Sozialistische Einheitspartei Deutschlands (Socialist Unity Party of 

Germany) 
SIFAR Servizio Informazioni Forze Armate (Italian Military Intelligence) 
SIS Secret Intelligence Service 
SNPU Sotsial-natsional’na partiia Ukraïny (Social-National Party of 

Ukraine) 
SNUM Spilka Nezalezhnoї Ukraїns’koї Molodi (Association of Independent 

Ukrainian Youth) 
SS Schutzstaffel (Protection Squadron) 
StM Staatsarchiv München (Munich State Archives) 
SUB Soiuz Ukraїntsiv u Velykii Brytaniї (Association of Ukrainians in 

Great Britain) 
SUF Soiuz Ukraїns’kykh Fashystiv (Union of Ukrainian Fascists) 
SUM Spilka Ukraїns’koї Molodi (Ukrainian Youth Organization) 
SUN Soiuz Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv (Union of the Ukrainian 

Nationalists) 
SUNM Soiuz Ukraїns’koi Natsionalistychnoї Molodi (Union of the 

Ukrainian Nationalistic Youth) 
SUOZUNzW Stowarzyszenie Upamiętnienia Ofiar Zbrodni Ukraińskich 

Nacjonalistów z Wrocławia (Society to Commemorate the Victims of 
the Crimes of Ukrainian Nationalists in Wrocław) 

TsDAHO Tsentral’nyi derzhavnyi arkhiv hromads’kykh obiednan’ Ukrainy 
(Central State Archives of Public Organizations of Ukraine) 

TsDAVOV Tsentral’nyi derzhavnyi arkhiv vyshchykh orhaniv vlady ta 
upravlinnia Ukrainy (Central State Archives of the Supreme Bodies 
of Power and Government of Ukraine) 

TsDIAL Tsentral’nyi derzhavnyi istorychnyi arkhiv u L’vovi (Central State 
Historical Archive of Ukraine in Lviv) 

TsDVR Tsentr doslidzhen’ vyzvol’noho rukhu (Institute for the Study of the 
Liberation Movement) 

TShLA Taras Shevchenko Library and Archives (of the SUB in London) 
TsNV Tsentr Natsional’noho vidrodzhennia imeni Stepana Bandery 

(Stepan Bandera Centre of National Revival) 
UNO Ukraїns’ke Natsional’ne Obiednannia (Ukrainian National 

Association) 
UNRRA United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration 
UB Urząd Bezpieczeństwa (Polish Department of Security) 
UCC Kongres Ukraїntsiv Kanady (Ukrainian Canadian Congress) 
UHA Ukraїns’ka Halyts’ka Armiia (Ukrainian Galician Army) 
UHVR Ukraїns’ka Holovna Vyzvol’na Rada (Ukrainian Supreme Liberation 

Council) 
UINP Ukraїns’kyi instytut natsional’noї pam”iati (Ukrainian Institute of 

National Memory) 
UKKA Ukraїns’kyi Kongresovyi Komitet Ameryky (Ukrainian Congress 

Committee of America) 



 List of Abbreviations xvii 

 

Ukrainian SRR Ukraїns’ka Radians’ka Sotsialistychna Respublika (Ukrainian Soviet 
Socialist Republic) 

UKU Ukraїns’kyi Katholyts’kyi Soiuz (Ukrainian Catholic Union) 
UNA Ukraïns’ka natsional’na asambleia (Ukrainian National Assembly) 
UNA Ukraїns’ka Natsional’na Armiia (Ukrainian National Army) 
UNDO Ukraїns’ke Natsional’no-Demokratychne Obiednannia (Ukrainian 

National Democratic Alliance) 
UNDP Ukraїns’ka Natsional’no-Demokratychna Partia (Ukrainian 

National-Democratic Party) 
UNF Ukrainian National Federation of Canada 
UNK Ukraїns’kyi Natsional’nyi Komitet (Ukrainian National Committee) 
UNO Ukraїns’ke Natsional’ne Obiednannia (Ukrainian National 

Association) 
UNP Ukraїns’ka Narodna Partia (Ukrainian National Party) 
UNR Ukrayins’ka Narodna Respublika (Ukrainian People’s Republic) 
UNR Ukraїns’ka Natsionalna Rada (Ukrainian National Council) 
UNRRA United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration 
UNSO Ukraïns’ka natsional’na samooborona (Ukrainian National Self-

Defense) 
UPA Ukraїns’ka Povstans’ka Armiia (Ukrainian Insurgent Army) 
USHMM United States Holocaust Memorial Museum 
USRP  Ukraїns’ka Sotsialistychno-Radykalna Partiia (Ukrainian Socialist 

Radical Party) 
USSR Soiuz Sovetskikh Sotsialisticheskikh Respublik (Union of Soviet 

Socialist Republics) 
UTsK Ukraїns’kyi Tsentral’nyi Komitet (Ukrainian Central Committee) 
UVF Ukraїns’kyi Vyzvol’nyi Front (Ukrainian Liberation Front) 
UVO Ukraїns’ka Viis’kova Orhanizatsiia (Ukrainian Military 

Organization) 
UVU Ukraїns’kyi Vil’nyi Universytet (Ukrainian Free University) 
UWI Ukrainisches Wissenschaftliches Institut (Ukrainian Scientific 

Institute) 
UWVA Ukrainian War Veteran’s Association 
VMRO Vatreshna makedonska revoliutsionna organizatsia (Internal 

Macedonian Revolutionary Organisation) 
VNN Vereinigung der Verfolgten des Naziregimes (Society of People 

Persecuted by the Nazi Regime) 
ZAIG Zentrale Auswertungs- und Informationsgruppe des MfS (Central 

Evaluation and Information Group) 
ZCh OUN Zakordonni Chastyny OUN (Foreign Units of the OUN) 
ZNiO Zakład Narodowy im. Ossolińskich we Wrocławiu (National 

Ossoliński Institute in Wrocław) 
ZP UHVR Zakordonne Predstavnytsvo UHVR (Foreign Representation of the 

UHVR) 
ZUNR Zakhidno-Ukrayins’ka Narodna Respublika (West Ukrainian 

National Republic) 
 



 

 

NOTE ON LANGUAGE, NAMES, AND 

TRANSLITERATIONS 

The region in which Bandera lived for the first thirty years of his life was inhabited by 
peoples who spoke different languages and used various names for their cities, 
towns, and villages, and also for the regions in which they lived, such as Lemberg, 
Lwów, Lemberik, L’viv, L’vov for Lviv; or Kraków, Kroke, Krakau for Cracow; or 
Galizien, Halychyna, Galicja, Galitsye for Galicia. In this book I use well-established 
English names, such as Cracow, Galicia, Kiev, Lviv, Moscow, or Warsaw, if they exist. 
Otherwise I use the names in the language of the country in which they are currently 
located, such as Ivano-Frankivs’k, Ternopil’ or Gdańsk. On first use, I also introduce 
the name used by the state administration at that time. The transliteration of 
Ukrainian and Russian words follows the standard of the Library of Congress (unless 
Latin characters were used in the original). 



 

 

INTRODUCTION 

This study investigates the life and the political cult of Stepan Bandera, a Ukrainian 
far-right leader who lived between 1909 and 1959. Bandera’s cult emerged in the 
mid-1930s and has endured to the present. The person and the cult did not exist 
separately from each other but remained in a state of mutual dependency. They did 
not occur and function in a vacuum but in specific cultural, social, and political 
contexts. The investigation of these contexts is one of the crucial goals of this study. 
It will allow us to comprehend the interrelation between Bandera’s life and the pro-
cesses surrounding his mythologization. The book combines a political biography of 
the legendary Ukrainian leader, embedded in the history of his movement, with an 
analysis of the writers, historians, ideologists, film directors, politicians, and political 
activists who were involved in the process of creating the Bandera cult between the 
mid-1930s and the end of the first decade of this century. 

The Person 

Even without the cult that arose during his lifetime and flourished after his death, 
Stepan Bandera was an intriguing person. It was not purely by chance that he 
became one of the central symbols of Ukrainian nationalism, although the role of 
chance in history should not be underestimated. With his radical nature, doctrinaire 
determination, and strong faith in an ultranationalist Ukrainian revolution that was 
intended to bring about the “rebirth” of the Ukrainian nation, Bandera fulfilled the 
ideological expectations of his cohorts. By the time he was twenty-six, he was 
admired not only by other Ukrainian revolutionary ultranationalists but also by some 
other elements of Ukrainian society living in the Second Polish Republic. The same 
factors made him the leader (Ukr. Providnyk or Vozhd’), and symbol of the most 
violent, twentieth century, western Ukrainian political movement: the Organization 
of Ukrainian Nationalists (Orhanizatsia Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv, OUN), which 
in late 1942 and early 1943 formed the Ukrainian Insurgent Army (Ukraїns’ka 
Povstans’ka Armiia, UPA). Despite, or perhaps because of the fact that Bandera 
spent a significant part of his life outside Ukraine, in prison or other confinement, he 
became a legendary personality after whom thousands of his followers, sympathizers 
and even ordinary western Ukrainians were called Banderites (Ukr. banderivtsi, Pol. 
banderowcy, Rus. banderovtsi). There are also those who think that his remarkable-
sounding name, meaning “banner” in Polish and Spanish, contributed to his 
becoming the symbol of Ukrainian nationalism. 

A biographical investigation of Bandera is challenging. His political myth is 
embedded in different ideologies, which have distorted the perception of the person. 
Not without reason do the Bandera biographies that have appeared in Poland, Russia 
and Ukraine since 1990 differ greatly from one another and inform us very little 
about the person and related history. Very few of them examine archival documents. 
Many are couched in various post-Soviet nationalist discourses. Their authors 
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present Bandera as a national hero, sometimes even as a saint, and ignore or deny 
his radical worldview and his followers’ contribution to ethnic and political violence. 
Others present Bandera as a biblical kind of evil and deny war crimes committed 
against Ukrainian civilians by the Poles, Germans, and Soviets. Earlier publications 
on Bandera written during the Cold War were either embedded in Soviet discourse 
or, more frequently, in the nationalist discourse of the Ukrainian diaspora. 

The investigation of Bandera requires not only a comparison of his biographies 
and other publications relating to him, but, more important, the examination of 
numerous archival documents, memoirs written by persons who knew him, and 
documents and publications written by him personally. The study of these docu-
ments reveals how Bandera acted at particular stages of his life, and how he was 
perceived by his contemporaries. This enables us to understand Bandera’s role in 
twentieth-century Ukrainian history and helps us look for answers to the most diffi-
cult questions related to his biography, such as if and to what extent he was respon-
sible for OUN and UPA atrocities, in which he was personally not involved but which 
he approved of. 

Cult, Myth, Charisma, and Rituals 

The cult of the leader is a phenomenon created by and rooted within a particular 
society, group, or community that is prepared to accept the ideological dimensions of 
the cult. A leader often emerges in a time of crisis and his adherents believe that he 
will help the community weather it. The power and charisma of the leader derives 
usually only in part from him. In greater measure, it is a social product, a creation of 
social expectations vested in him.1 The leaders around whom personality cults are 
established are therefore either charismatic or, more frequently, believed to be 
charismatic. Charisma might be a “personality gift, a situational coincidence, or a 
particular pact between leader and the followers.”2 

A charismatic leader cannot exist without a “charismatic community,” which 
would accept, admire, celebrate, and believe in his “extraordinary” qualities. To 
achieve this state of mind and affairs, an emotional relationship between the leader 
and the community must be established. The community feels connected with its 
leader who, as his followers believe, takes care of them and leads them toward a 
better future.3 One of the most effective ways to establish an emotional relationship 
between the leader and the community is through the performance of rituals. The 
practicing of political rituals is crucial for the formation of a collective identity that 
unites a group. Rituals influence the morality and values of the individuals practicing 
them, and transform the emotional state of the group.4 

In practice, the process of creating charisma around the leader might proceed in 
different ways, depending on the nature of the movement. Small movements in 
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multiethnic states—such as the OUN or the Croatian Ustaša—would use methods 
different from those used by movements that took control of the state and estab-
lished a regime, such as the Italian Fascists or the German National Socialists. 
Charisma may also be attributed to a leader after his death. A charismatic commu-
nity might still be under the influence of its deceased leader and therefore continue 
to admire and commemorate him. Not only the body of the leader but also his per-
sonal objects, including his clothing, writing desk, or pen might become imbued with 
sacred meaning after his death. The members of the charismatic community might 
treat those objects as relics, the last remnants of their legendary leader and true 
hero.5 

The cults of fascist and other totalitarian leaders emerged in Europe after the 
First World War. Their emergence was related to the disappearance of relevant 
monarchies and of the cults of emperors who had been regarded as the representa-
tives of God on earth, and whose absence caused a void in the lives of many.6 Several 
fascist movements regarded the Roman Catholic Church as an important institution 
to imitate because the head of the Church did not need his own charisma to appear 
charismatic.7 Nazi Party Secretary Rudolf Hess wrote in a private letter in 1927: “The 
great popular leader is similar to the great founder of a religion: he must 
communicate to his listeners an apodictic faith. Only then can the mass of followers 
be led where they should be led. They will then also follow the leader if the setbacks 
are encountered; but only then, if they have communicated to them unconditional 
belief in the absolute rightness of their own people.”8 The legal philosopher Julius 
Binder argued in 1929: “The Leader cannot be made, can in this sense not be 
selected. The Leader makes himself in that he comprehends the history of his 
people.”9 The historian Emilio Gentile observed that the “charismatic leader is 
accepted as a guide by his followers, who obey him with veneration and devotion, 
because they consider that he has been invested with the task of realizing an idea of 
the mission; the leader is the living incarnation and mythical interpretation of his 
mission.”10 In this sense, the leader as an incarnation of a mission, or as a charis-
matic personality, might acquire the qualities of a saint or messiah that correspond 
to the community’s needs.11 Followers of a leader believe that he comes as “destiny 
from the inner essence of people,”12 because he embodies the idea of the movement 
and personifies its politics. Roger Eatwell observed that the leader might help people 
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to “understand complex events” and “come to terms with complexity through the 
image of a single person who is held to be special, but in some way accountable.”13 

A fascist leader is expected to be an idealistic, dynamic, passionate, and revolu-
tionary individual. He is the “bearer of a mission,” who tries to overthrow the status 
quo and has a very clear idea of his foes. His mission is understood as a revolutionary 
intervention. He frequently presents himself as a person who is ready to sacrifice his 
life and the lives of his followers for the idea of the movement. His transformation 
into a myth is almost inevitable, and he may become the prisoner of his own myth.14 

The interwar period witnessed the rise of a range of different charismatic leaders 
and personality cults. A few leaders, such as Tomáš Masaryk in Czechoslovakia, were 
neither fascist nor authoritarian.15 Some of them, like Józef Piłsudski in Poland were 
authoritarian, but not fascist, and could best be described as military.16 The cults 
sprang up in different political, cultural, and social circumstances. The most famous 
European personality cults were established around Adolf Hitler in Germany, Benito 
Mussolini in Italy, and Josef Stalin in the Soviet Union. Other cults surrounded Fran-
cisco Franco in Spain, Antonio de Oliveira Salazar in Portugal, Ante Pavelić in 
Croatia, Corneliu Zelea Codreanu and Ion Antonescu in Romania, Miklós Horthy in 
Hungary, Engelbert Dollfuss and Kurt Schuschnigg in Austria, Andrej Hlinka and 
Jozef Tiso in Slovakia.17 

Unlike most of these personalities Bandera never ruled a state, nor was his cult 
institutionalized in a sovereign state during his lifetime. This changed, ironically 
enough, half a century after his death, when not only did his cult reappear in western 
Ukraine but the President, Iushchenko, designated him a Hero of Ukraine. Since the 
middle of the 1930s, Bandera has been worshiped by various groups, as Providnyk, 
as a national hero, and as a romantic revolutionary. The ideological nature of the 
Bandera cult did not differ substantially from that of other cults of nationalist, fasc-
ist, or other authoritarian leaders, but the circumstances in which the Bandera cult 
existed were specific. Moreover, the long period over which the Bandera cult has 
been cultivated is not typical of the majority of such European leader cults. Following 
his assassination, the Ukrainian diaspora commemorated Bandera, not only as the 
Providnyk but also as a martyr who died for Ukraine. After the dissolution of the 
Soviet Union, the cult re-emerged in Ukraine. One of the purposes of this study is to 
explain both the continuity of the Bandera cult, and its varieties. 

The myth of a leader is related to the phenomenon of a leader cult but the two 
concepts are not synonymous. The leader myth is a story that reduces the personality 
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and history of the leader to a restricted number of idealized features. It may be 
expressed by means of a hagiographic article, book, image, film, song, or other form 
of media. The myth usually depicts the leader as a national hero, a brave revolution-
ary, the father of a nation, or a martyr. It describes the leader in a selective way, de-
signed to meet and confirm the expectations of the “charismatic” or “enchanted” 
community. Like every myth, it mobilizes emotions and immobilizes minds. 

The leader myth belongs to the more modern species of political myths, embed-
ded in a particular ideology. Such myths emerged alongside modern politics, in the 
late eighteenth and early nineteenth century. According to Christopher Flood, there 
is a reciprocal relationship between political myths and ideologies. Ideology provides 
myths with a framework of meaning, and myths are a means of visualizing and 
manifesting ideology.18 

For the purposes of this study, ideology is characterized as a set of ideas of au-
thoritative principles, which provide political and cultural orientation for groups that 
suffer from temporary cultural, social or political disorientation.19 Ideology over-
simplifies the complexity of the world, in order to make it an understandable and 
acceptable “reality.” It also deactivates critical and rational thought.20 For Clifford 
Geertz, “it is a loss of orientation that most directly gives rise to ideological activity, 
an inability, for lack of usable models, to comprehend the universe of civic rights and 
responsibilities in which one finds oneself located.”21 Ideologies are more persistent 
in societies that have strong needs for mobilization and legitimization, such as total-
itarian states and fascist movements, than in those without such needs. Owing to 
their unifying, legitimizing, and mobilizing attributes, ideologies can also be under-
stood as belief-systems that unite societies or groups, provide them with values, and 
inspire them to realize their political goals.22 

The political myth of Stepan Bandera was initially embodied in the ideology of 
Ukrainian nationalism, which, in the 1920s, 1930s, and early 1940s, underwent a 
process of fascistization. This ideology produced a whole mythology, consisting of a 
set of various political myths, of which the Bandera myth was perhaps the most sig-
nificant. Examples of other important political myths embedded in far-right Ukrai-
nian nationalist ideology are the myth of the proclamation of Ukrainian statehood on 
30 June 1941 in Lviv; military myths, including the myth of the tragic but heroic 
UPA; and the myths of other OUN members and UPA insurgents such as Ievhen 
Konovalets’, Roman Shukhevych, Vasyl’ Bilas, and Dmytro Danylyshyn. Finally, it 
should be added that the Bandera myth was an important component of Soviet ide-
ology and the ideology of Polish nationalism, each of which evaluated Bandera very 
differently from the way the Ukrainian nationalist ideology defined him. 
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Ukrainian Nationalism and Integral Nationalism 

The concept of integral nationalism has been attractive to many scholars who have 
investigated the OUN. The notion of integral nationalism was shaped around 1900 
by Charles Maurras, a leader and ideologist of Action Française, a French royalist, 
conservative, and antidemocratic movement. Fifty years later, John Armstrong pub-
lished Ukrainian Nationalism, the first comprehensive and authoritative study of the 
OUN and the Second World War. The American historian classified the extremist 
form of Ukrainian nationalism as “integral nationalism,” and specified that “the 
theory and teaching of the Nationalists were very close to Fascism, and in some 
respects, such as the insistence on ‘racial purity,’ even went beyond the original 
Fascist doctrines.”23 According to him, integral nationalism “never had much appeal 
in France or other Western European countries, but, in modified forms, it became a 
dominant force in the ‘dissatisfied’ countries of Central and Southern Europe in the 
twenties.”24 Before Armstrong, historians such as Carlton Joseph Huntley Hayes 
applied the concept of integral nationalism to far-right movements and authoritarian 
regimes in Hungary and Poland, as well as to Fascist Italy and Nazi Germany. This 
method allowed Hayes and Armstrong to avoid using the contested term “fascism” 
but it did not contribute to the analytical and comparative understanding of the ana-
lyzed movements and regimes. As Armstrong explained, integral nationalism was “by 
definition a movement of individual nations rather than a universal ideology.”25 

In his early years as a scholar, Armstrong elaborated a number of important cha-
racteristics of the ideology of the Ukrainian nationalists and also a few significant 
differences and similarities between the OUN and other East Central European far-
right movements. He defined “integral nationalism” in terms of five characteristics: 
“(1) a belief in the nation as the supreme value to which all others must be 
subordinated, essentially a totalitarian concept; (2) an appeal to mystically conceived 
ideas of the solidarity of all individuals making up the nation, usually on the 
assumption that biological characteristics or the irreversible effects of common 
historical development had welded them into one organic whole; (3) a subordination 
of rational, analytic thought to the ‘intuitively correct’ emotions; (4) expression of the 
‘national will’ through a charismatic leader and an elite nationalist enthusiasts 
organized in a single party; (5) glorification of action, war, and violence as an 
expression of the superior biological vitality of the nation.”26 

Analyzing the ideology of Ukrainian nationalism, Armstrong argued that “the 
essential irrationalism of the ideology was expressed by fanatical romanticism, which 
was, however, among the comparatively unsophisticated Ukrainians more spontane-
ous and genuine than the cynical rejection of reason by the Germans and Italians.”27 
In an article published in 1968 he broadened the scope of his analysis to include 
other East Central European movements, such as the Hlinka Party and the Croatian 
Ustaša. He admitted that all of them were influenced by Italian Fascism but empha-
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sized that “at least as a start, it seems preferable to not call OUN’s ideology ‘fascism’ 
but to designate it ‘integral nationalism.’”28 

Armstrong rightly analyzed the OUN in the context of the Ustaša, but the classifi-
cation of the ideologies of the OUN, the Ustaša, and the Hlinka Party as “integral 
nationalism” is, at least from the contemporary point of view, problematic and not 
entirely convincing. First, neither did the OUN use the term “integral nationalism,” 
nor did it identify itself with the ideology of “integral nationalism.” Second, the OUN 
and its leaders did not claim the “traditional hereditary monarchy” and a number of 
other features typical of integral nationalism, as did Maurras, the father of this 
ideology. The OUN was integral in the sense of being exclusive: it anticipated the 
establishment of an ethnic Ukrainian state without Jews, Poles, Russians, and other 
minorities. Ukrainian extreme nationalism featured some of the elements of integral 
nationalism, such as placing the country above all. Similarly, Horthy’s regime in 
Hungary, Piłsudski’s in Poland, Mussolini’s in Italy, or Hitler’s in Germany were to 
some extent influenced by Action Française and Maurras’ writings, but they were 
neither united by, nor were they a form of integral nationalism, as Armstrong and 
Hayes argued.29 

If Armstrong’s theoretical approach to the subject was not entirely useful for the 
contextualization of the OUN, the empirical part of his study—which has significantly 
influenced later studies of the OUN and UPA—appears today to be truly problematic. 
Limited access to sources concerning the OUN and UPA, and some of his methods of 
studying and selecting documents led Armstrong to depict only a part of the history 
of the movement, while purporting to present the whole. Like many historians at that 
time, Armstrong had no access to Soviet archives and did not use testimonies and 
memoirs left by survivors of the OUN and UPA terror. Armstrong based his study 
mainly on German documents, and on interviews with Ukrainian émigrés who had 
served in the OUN and UPA. In so doing, he was not able to detect, investigate, and 
understand many of the atrocities committed by the OUN and UPA during the 
Second World War. This prevented him from providing an appropriate evaluation of 
extremist Ukrainian nationalism, affected his understanding of the movement as a 
whole, and channeled the subsequent study of Ukrainian nationalism into a partic-
ular direction. 
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The OUN and Fascism 

Of all of the ideologies investigated in this study, the most controversial, especially 
when related to Bandera and the OUN, is fascism. Constantin Iordachi correctly 
remarked that “fascism continues to be one of the most intriguing and most debated 
radical political phenomena of the twentieth century.”30 To use the term appro-
priately and to avoid misunderstandings, it is necessary to elucidate its meaning and 
to explain how it will be applied in this study. This will allow us to determine in 
which sense the OUN was a fascist phenomenon and Bandera a leader of a fascist 
movement. It will also enable us to place the OUN on the map of interwar European 
far-right, fascist, and other authoritarian movements and regimes. This approach 
should not narrow our analysis of Bandera and the OUN but should provide an 
appropriate theoretical context. 

The term “fascism” is derived from the Latin word “fasces,” meaning a bundle of 
rods tied around an axe. The fasces were carried by the Roman lictors, symbolized 
the juridical authority of the magistrate, and represented the unity and strength of 
the community. In the late eighteenth century, the Italian Jacobins used the word 
“fascism” as an expression of political freedom and national unity. In the nineteenth 
century, the term “fascism” was used by various socialist and nationalist political 
groups. In March 1919 in Milan, Mussolini used the term “fascism” when he founded 
the Fascio di Combattimento, to the ranks of which he recruited a number of ex-
soldiers, syndicalists and futurists. At the end of October 1922, the National Fascist 
Party (Partito Nazionale Fascista, PNF) conducted the March on Rome, as a result 
of which Mussolini became prime minister of Italy. In this position, he began to seize 
power and to create the first fascist regime. Although the establishment of a full-scale 
dictatorship in Italy was accomplished only in 1926, fascism had been admired by a 
plethora of European politicians, writers and intellectuals, at least since Mussolini’s 
1922 coup d’état.31 

During the interwar period the term “fascism” was used in at least three ways. 
First, it described the political regime in Italy. Second, it was extended to other far-
right movements and regimes that held values and ideas similar to those of the Ital-
ian Fascists. By the end of the 1920s, Mussolini had declared fascism an “export 
product” and undertaken its popularization and attempted globalization. He argued 
that fascism is “Italian in its particular form—universalist in spirit.”32 The seizure of 
power by the National Socialists in Germany in 1933 significantly reinforced the 
expansion and popularization of fascism in Europe and on other continents. Third, 
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the term “fascist” was used in particular by communists and socialists to discredit 
political opponents of various orientations.33 

The earliest interpretations and condemnations of fascism came from Marxist 
intellectuals, communists, and liberals. In the early 1920s, the Communist Inter-
national (Comintern) used the term “fascism” in connection with the fascists in Italy 
and the Nazis in Germany. It soon, however, began to apply it to various conserva-
tive, authoritarian, or military regimes, such as those of Józef Piłsudski in Poland, 
the Antanas Smetona regime in Lithuania, the Miklós Horthy authoritarian 
government in Hungary, and the Ion Antonescu regime in Romania. Although these 
regimes borrowed some trappings from fascism, they were at odds—or even in open 
combat—with fascist movements in their respective states. By labeling Piłsudski’s 
authoritarian regime as “fascist,” the Comintern sought to emphasize how dis-
appointed it was with the Polish leader. Piłsudski in his earlier life had been a social-
ist, but after his seizure of power in 1926, he showed no interest in collaboration with 
communists.34 Similarly, even socialists were sometimes labeled as “fascists.” In 
1924, Stalin announced that “Social Democracy is objectively the moderate wing of 
fascism.” Because the Social-Democrat government in Germany took action against 
the May Day march in 1929, during which several communists were killed, the 
Comintern argued that “Social Democracy is preparing … the establishment of a 
fascist dictatorship.”35  

Equally important for orthodox Marxists was the identification of capitalism with 
fascism. In the Comintern report of 1935, Georgi Dimitroff claimed that fascist 
regimes were “the open terrorist dictatorship of the most reactionary, most chau-
vinistic and most imperialist elements of finance capital.”36 Only a few Marxist think-
ers, such as Antonio Gramsci and Palmiro Togliatti, interpreted fascism in a more 
nuanced and non-dogmatic manner. On the other hand, some liberal commentators 
perceived fascism as “a sort of illness of national culture.”37 

In Soviet discourse during the Cold War, democratic countries of the Western bloc 
were frequently portrayed as fascist. Outside the Soviet Union, leftist groups used 
“fascist” as a derogatory term to discredit their enemies.38 In the 1950s, the theory of 
totalitarianism, which compared and sometimes even equated communism with 
fascism, concentrating on the Soviet Union and Nazi Germany, became very popular. 
This approach explained the origins and features of totalitarian regimes but neglected 
the political, social, and cultural differences between fascism and communism.39 
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The first non-Marxist studies on the subject of European fascist movements and 
regimes appeared in the 1960s. Authors such as Ernst Nolte, Eugen Weber, and 
George L. Mosse dealt with countries including Austria, Britain, France, Germany, 
Italy, Romania, Spain, as well as movements such as the Russian Fascist Party (Ros-
siiskaia fashistskaia partia, RFP) and the Croatian Ustaša.40 From the outset, the 
extreme and genocidal form of Ukrainian nationalism was not classified and 
investigated as a fascist movement, although the OUN, especially in the 1930s and 
early 1940s, had felt an ideological affinity with Italian Fascism, National Socialism, 
the Ustaša, the British Union of Fascists, the Romanian Iron Guard, and a number of 
related movements. Scholars such as Armstrong, who began investigating the OUN 
in the 1950s, were frequently misled by the fact that the OUN emphasized its own 
national uniqueness and indigenous roots. This feature, however, was typical of all 
fascist movements. In particular, small and weak movements tended to stress the 
uniqueness of national traditions, because their leaders and ideologists were con-
cerned about the independence of their countries and wished to avoid being labeled 
as national “traitors” or agents of international movements.41 

Like the National Socialists and Ustaša, but unlike the British Union of Fascists 
and the Russian Fascist Party, the OUN did not use the term “fascist” as part of the 
name of the organization. OUN members and ideologists referred to themselves as 
nationalists but felt, especially in the late 1930s and early 1940s, that Ukrainian 
nationalism was the same type of movement as National Socialism or Italian Fasc-
ism. They also perceived themselves as a “liberation movement.” Its aims were to 
combat and remove the “occupiers” of Ukrainian territories and to establish an inde-
pendent Ukrainian state. With this in mind, the OUN was closely related to “libera-
tion movements” such as the Ustaša and the Hlinka Party, which were also rooted in 
societies without nation states. 

The way of interpreting and understanding fascism was altered in the 1990s by 
scholars such as Robert Paxton, Roger Griffin, Roger Eatwell, and Stanley G. Payne, 
who tried to elaborate a concept of generic fascism. A huge difficulty, when develop-
ing such a concept, was the heterogeneity of interwar far-right, authoritarian, and 
fascist movements, the uneven empirical research of the particular movements and 
regimes, and the inconsistent nature of fascism. The concept of generic fascism was 
derived from early studies by Nolte, Mosse, and Weber. It provided a basic theoreti-
cal framework for comparative fascist studies but it did not finish the debates on 
fascism and its diverse aspects, including for example the questions as to whether 
fascism appeared only in Europe and only in the interwar period or whether it was a 
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global phenomenon not limited in time, or if there was a clear difference between 
fascist movements and revolutionary ultranationalist non-fascist movements.42 

First of all, it is important to point out the differences between a fascist move-
ment and a fascist regime. Only a few movements became regimes in the sense that 
the Italian Fascists and the National Socialists did. Others, such as the Ustaša and 
the Hlinka Party, formed a regime only with the help of Nazi Germany and were 
dependent upon it. There were also long-lasting regimes like Franco’s in Spain, and 
Salazar’s in Portugal, which at times adopted many fascist features, but in the long 
term were a combination of national-conservative and fascist regimes. Robert Paxton 
proposed five stages of fascism: “(1) the initial creation of fascist movements; (2) 
their rooting as parties in a political system; (3) the acquisition of power; (4) the 
exercise of power, and finally in the longer term, (5) radicalization or entropy.” 
Although logical and instructive, Paxton’s concept was not entirely relevant to the 
study of some East Central European movements, such as the Ustaša or the OUN, 
which first needed to establish a state in order to establish a regime. His concept was 
deduced from fascist movements in democratic states. Paxton suggested that “fasc-
ism can appear wherever democracy is sufficiently implemented to have aroused 
disillusion” and argued that the Ku Klux Klan was the “earliest phenomenon that 
seems functionally related to fascism.”43 

Griffin, who adopted a Weberian ideal-type methodology, emphasized the myth, 
its mobilizing force, and its revolutionary, populist, and ultranationalist framework: 
“Fascism is a genus of political ideology whose mythic core in its various permuta-
tions is a palingenetic form of populist ultranationalism.”44 Crucial to Griffin’s 
conception of fascism is the notion of palingenesis, meaning the rebirth or redemp-
tion of a nation by means of new populist ultranationalist policies after a period of 
supposed decline. Simultaneously, Griffin also pointed out the limits of an ideal-type 
definition and suggested that “such a model is essentially a utopia, since it cannot 
correspond exactly to anything in empirical reality, which is always irreducibly com-
plex, ‘messy’, and unique. Definitions of generic terms can thus never be ‘true’ to 
reality, but they can be more or less useful in investigating it (‘heuristically useful’) 
when applied as conceptual tools of analysis.”45 
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Roger Eatwell observed that Griffin’s early definition of fascism omitted “fasc-
ism’s ‘negation,’” the six points of “fascist minimum” first formulated by Nolte. These 
points were: anti-Marxism, antiliberalism, anticonservatism, Führerprinzip, a party 
army, and the aim of totalitarianism.46 Griffin seems to have omitted these points 
because he had developed an “empathetic approach” inspired by the writings of 
George Mosse and Emilio Gentile.47 This was one of the weaknesses of Griffin’s con-
cept of fascism because it detached fascism from its violent and disastrous nature, 
while emphasizing fascism’s creative strengths related to palingenesis.48 Seeking an 
appropriate definition of fascism, we should not only complement Griffin’s definition 
with Nolte’s “fascist minimum” but also point out further negative features typical of 
fascism, such as anti-democracy, ultranationalism, populism, racism, antisemitism, 
militarism, and the cult of ethnic and political violence. 

In his definition of fascism, similarly to Griffin, another leading scholar, Stanley 
G. Payne, emphasized the revolutionary and ultranationalist core: “Fascism may be 
defined as a form of revolutionary ultranationalism for national rebirth that is based 
on a primarily vitalist philosophy, is structured on extreme elitism, mass mobiliza-
tion, and the Führerprinzip, positively values violence as end as well as means and 
tends to normalize war and/or the military virtues.”49 Also like Griffin, Payne advised 
that such definitions of common characteristics should be used with great care. Dis-
cussing palingenesis, he pointed out another weak point of Griffin’s theory. Payne 
indicated that palingenesis is typical not only for fascist but also for leftist, moderate, 
conservative, and extreme right-wing nationalisms, and that there were also “non-
fascist populist revolutionary forms of nationalism,” such as the Revolutionary 
Nationalist Movement (Movimiento Nacionalista Revolucionario, MNR) in Bolivia. 
According to Payne, it is necessary to “clearly distinguish between fascist movements 
per se, and the non-fascist (or sometimes protofascist) authoritarian right.” Such a 
distinction is, however, difficult to make because “the heyday of fascism coincided 
with a general era of political authoritarianism” and because “it would be grossly 
inaccurate to argue that this process proceeded independent of fascism, but neither 
was it merely synonymous with fascism.” In a table including fascists, radical right, 
and conservative right movements, he did not consider the OUN and Ukraine, but 
classified similar and better-known movements, such as the Ustaša, the Iron Guard, 
and the Polish National Camp Falanga, as fascist.50 

Ian Kershaw, the author of several excellent studies on the Third Reich, including 
a superb biography of Hitler, pointed out the limits of the concept of generic fascism. 
He argued that he has “no difficulty in describing German National Socialism both as 
a specific form of fascism and as a particular expression of totalitarianism” but re-
marked that “when it comes to explaining the essence of the Nazi phenomenon, it is 
less than satisfying.” This observation is very important because all fascist move-
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ments and regimes had their own unique features, sight of which should not be lost 
while analyzing them in the framework of fascist studies.51 

Somewhat similarly to Kershaw, Georg Mosse argued in favor of studying fascism 
“from the inside out,” or trying to reconstruct how its followers perceived it. He defined 
fascism as a complex phenomenon, which cannot be reduced only to politics and can be 
comprehended through empathy: “Fascism considered as a cultural movement 
means seeing fascism as it saw itself and as its followers saw it, to attempt to under-
stand the movement in its own terms. Only then, when we have grasped fascism from 
the inside out, can we truly judge its appeal and its power. … The cultural inter-
pretation of fascism opens up a means to penetrate fascist self-understanding, and 
such empathy is crucial in order to grasp how people saw the movement, something 
which cannot be ignored or evaluated merely in retrospect.”52 

Michael Mann reminded us of a very simple but extremely important aspect of 
fascism. He wrote that “fascist ideology must be taken seriously, in its own terms. It 
must be not dismissed as crazy, contradictory, or vague.” He also argued that histo-
rians of fascism need to take the values of fascists seriously; they should not excuse 
or relativize them but seek to understand fascists’ worldviews and deeds. Further-
more, he remarked that “fascism was a movement of high ideals, able to persuade a 
substantial part of two generations of young people (especially the highly educated) 
that it could bring about a more harmonious social order,” and that the fascist 
movements were “hierarchical yet comradely.”53 

A very significant element of fascism was revolution. Movements such as the Ger-
man National Socialists took over power and established a regime by cooperating 
with conservative politicians. Hitler perceived this process as a “national revolu-
tion.”54 Other movements took power by a coup d’état, such as the March on Rome 
by the Italian Fascists, which was staged to frighten liberal and conservative politi-
cians and brought Mussolini to power. Fascist movements and regimes viewed 
revolution as a means not only of taking over power but also of altering society, 
changing its values and mindsets, and destroying opponents. Griffin called this 
process the “permanent revolution.”55 As this study will show, the OUN’s leaders, 
including Bandera, used both concepts—“national revolution” and “permanent 
revolution”—to prepare a revolutionary act, take over power, and establish a fascist 
dictatorship. 

Although fascist movements and regimes shared similar values and felt that they 
belonged to the same family of political movements, we certainly should not look at 
them as equal or identical. Kevin Passmore pointed out the inconsistent and contra-
dictory nature of fascism. He reminded us that fascist ideology combined various 
elements, including contradictory ones, such as modernism and fascination with 
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traditions, or secularism and obsession with religion. It also united very different 
types of people such as street fighters, intellectuals, and terrorists.56  

Zeev Sternhell observed that fascism was a “pan-European phenomenon,” which 
“existed at three levels—as an ideology, as a political movement, and as a form of 
government.”57 Given that fascism appeared in various countries and in different 
societies, it must have varied on all three levels in terms of culture, national tradition, 
economy, social structure, and political culture. Fascist movements appeared in 
industrialized countries, such as Britain and Germany, and also in rural and 
economically less developed countries, such as Romania, Croatia, or Slovakia. It also 
appeared in nation states, such as Italy, France, and Germany, and in societies 
without states, such as Croatia and Slovakia. Antisemitism and other forms of racism 
were central to National Socialism and several East Central European fascist 
movements, but not to the Italian Fascists. Romanticism, mysticism, and 
irrationality were more typical of the OUN and the Iron Guard than they were of 
Italian Fascism. 

It is very important to emphasize that fascist movements and regimes—despite 
their cultural and ideological similarities—did not always collaborate with each other 
and were not always sympathetic to each other. Major and minor conflicts between 
fascist, far-right, and authoritarian leaders, movements, and regimes were not un-
common, because practical matters, such as the control of a particular territory, were 
seen as more important than ideological connections. The clash between the Austrian 
National Socialists on the one side, and the Fatherland Front (Vaterländische Front) 
and its Home Guard (Heimwehr), collectively known after the Second World War as 
“Austrofascists,” on the other, is just one example of this. In July 1934 during the 
failed putsch against his Austrofascist regime, Chancellor Engelbert Dollfuss was 
assassinated by Austrian Nazis. Almost four years later, in March 1938, Nazi Ger-
many invaded Austria. After the Anschluss, the absorption of Austria into Nazi Ger-
many, the Germans arrested Dollfuss’s successor, Kurt Schuschnigg, and kept him as 
a special political prisoner (Ehrenhäftling or Sonderhäftling). Together with his 
family, Schuschnigg was held from 1941 in a house in a special area of the Sachsen-
hausen concentration camp. Bandera was subsequently detained as a special political 
prisoner in another section of the same camp,58 as was Horia Sima—the leader of the 
Romanian fascist Iron Guard, founded in 1927 by Corneliu Zelea Codreanu as the 
Legion of the Archangel Michael.59 

On the one hand, the new consensus on fascism—and in particular Griffin’s con-
cept of the theory of generic fascism—stimulated new interest in fascism, inspired 
new studies of the uninvestigated, neglected, or heavily mythologized fascist move-
ments, and other features of European and global fascism, and brought forward 
comparative and transnational fascist studies. On the other hand, the new consensus 
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was met with criticism. One important argument of its critics was that palingenesis 
or national rebirth is typical not only for fascist movements but also for almost all 
forms of nationalism. Another criticism was that scholars of fascism tend to level the 
differences between various fascist movements and regimes. In particular, German 
and East European historians questioned the relevance of fascist studies to the in-
vestigation of their own national history.60 

This study will refer to a movement, regime, or ideology as fascist if it meets the 
main criteria enclosed in the above-explained concepts of fascism. First, we will 
regard movements as fascist, only if they adopted the Führerprinzip, practiced the 
cult of ethnic and political violence, regarded mass violence as an extension of poli-
tics, and were entirely or in great part antidemocratic, anti-Marxist, antiliberal, 
anticonservative, totalitarian, ultranationalist, populist, racist, antisemitic, and 
militarist. Second, we will regard movements as fascist, only if they tried to take over 
power and intended to introduce a fascist dictatorship, and if they planned the palin-
genesis, or a radical political and cultural regeneration of a nation in order to prevent 
its “degeneration.” Third, we should bear in mind the difference between conserva-
tive or military regimes like Antonescu’s, Horthy’s or Piłsudski’s, and fascist regimes 
like Mussolini’s Italy and Hitler’s Germany, and also regimes, which at times were 
fascist but in the long term combined national-conservatism with fascism, like 
Franco’s and Salazar’s. Similarly, we should also be aware that far-right nationalist 
movements, which tried to take over power and establish a dictatorship, might in the 
course of the years have changed their ideologies and their attitude toward fascism. 
When it was convenient for them, they might have fascistized themselves and have 
represented themselves as fascist. Later they might have claimed that they have 
never been fascist. Similarly, they might have combined nationalism with fascism 
and other far-right ideologies, such as racism or antisemitism in different propor-
tions and thus be neither typically fascist nor typically nationalist or racist. 

Fascism, Nationalism, and the Radical Right 

Having explained fascism, it is necessary to briefly explain the difference between 
fascism and nationalism, two quite closely related phenomena. The modern form of 
nationalism, defined as a political program that instrumentalizes and mystifies the 
past to form a national community and establish a nation state, has its origins in the 
late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries.61 Nationalism was a byproduct of the 
French Revolution and the modern politics generated by it. In addition, it was also 
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influenced by Romanticism. Nationalist movements took very different forms, 
depending on the social and political circumstances of the groups that invented or 
adopted this ideology. Nationalism became radicalized, especially during the late 
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. According to George Mosse nationalism 
became the “life-system which provided the foundation for all fascist movements.” 
The mass violence caused by and experienced during the First World War contri-
buted to the development of fascism, which was in its first stage, according to Stern-
hell, a “synthesis of organic nationalism and anti-Marxist socialism.” Fascism 
became the most radical form of nationalism, but its own ideology and goals differed 
from those of nationalism. Although nationalism and fascism were influenced by 
racism and antisemitism, they were not racist or antisemitic to the same extent. 
Finally, we should keep in mind that, although nationalism and fascism are distinct 
in nature, the boundaries between them became blurred, especially in the case of 
such movements as the OUN and Ustaša, which both understood themselves as 
nationalist “liberation movements” related to other fascist movements.62 

During the interwar period, Bandera and the OUN called themselves 
“nationalists,” but regarded the OUN as a movement related to the Italian Fascists, 
the National Socialists, the Iron Guard, and similar movements. In this study, 
therefore, they will be called either nationalist or fascist, depending on the context. 
Individuals or groups during the Cold War or after the dissolution of the Soviet 
Union, who established a cultural, spiritual, or emotional continuity between 
themselves and the interwar OUN, its leaders and members, or its politics, will be 
referred to as “nationalist,” “neo-fascist,” “radical right,” or “far right,” depending on 
the context. “Neo-fascism” in this study means the rebirth of fascist ideas and 
aesthetics after the end of the Second World War, when the main fascist states had 
disappeared, and fascism as an ideology was completely discredited on account of the 
atrocities committed by Nazi Germany and other similar movements and regimes. 

The terms “fascism” and “radical right” or “far right” do not mean the same thing. 
The term “radical right” is also an ambiguous one. On the one hand, it has been used 
since the 1950s, especially by political scientists, to describe ultranationalist, anti-
communist, fundamentalist, or populist parties. On the other hand, scholars use it in 
a more general context to refer to modern radical nationalist movements, which have 
been emerging in Europe since the late nineteenth century. In general, the term 
“radical right” is a broader one than “fascism.” “Fascism” bears a more specific 
meaning than “radical right.” It refers to a specific kind of “radical right” movement 
that emerged after the First World War, such as the Italian Fascists, the National 
Socialists, and a number of other smaller parties or organizations that sought to take 
power and introduce fascist dictatorships.63 
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Sacralization of Politics 
and the Heroization-Demonization Dichotomy 

The sacralization of politics is a theoretical concept related to the previously dis-
cussed notions of cult, myth, charisma, and fascism. Emilio Gentile, one of the lead-
ing theorists of this concept, argued that totalitarian movements and regimes have 
the tendency to sacralize politics and to create political religions. According to 
Gentile, the “sacralisation of politics takes place when politics is conceived, lived and 
represented through myths, rituals, and symbols that demand faith in the sacralised 
secular entity, dedication among the community of believers, enthusiasm for action, 
and a warlike spirit and sacrifice in order to secure its defense and its triumph.”64 

When analyzing the radical and revolutionary form of Ukrainian nationalism, 
which was deeply influenced by religion, it is important to keep in mind that the 
“sacralization of politics does not necessarily lead to conflict with traditional 
religions, and neither does it lead to a denial of the existence of any supernatural 
supreme being.”65 On the contrary, the relationship between political and traditional 
religion is very complex. Political religions take over religious elements and 
“transform them into a system of beliefs, myths and rituals,” in consequence of 
which, the boundaries between them frequently blur: ordinary individuals are 
transformed into worshipers, political symbols became sacralized, and national 
heroes are perceived as secular saints.66 

Gentile correctly observed that the sacralization of politics in the twentieth 
century was catalyzed by the First World War, during which several countries used 
God and religion to legitimize violence. After the war, even movements that had been 
declared to be atheist or anti-religious used religious symbols to legitimize their 
ideologies and to attract the masses. The cult of the fallen, heroes and martyrs, the 
symbolism of death and resurrection, dedication to and exaltation of the nation, and 
the mystic qualities of blood and sacrifice were very common elements of militarist 
and totalitarian movements.67 The sacralization of the state was another significant 
variety of political religion, which became especially important in the Ukrainian 
context. When Ukrainians did not succeed in establishing a state, the attempt to do 
so became, for the Ukrainian revolutionary nationalists, a matter of life and death.68 

After the Second World War, because of specific political circumstances, elements 
of the Ukrainian revolutionary nationalists continued to sacralize politics, especially 
in the diaspora. Both before and after Bandera’s assassination, his cult was composed 
of various religious elements. After his death, the transformation of Bandera into a 
martyr was one of them. In order to explore this matter, Gentile’s approach will be 
combined with Clifford Geertz’s concept of “thick description.” Using descriptive 
analyses of its rituals and its creation of various hagiographic items, we will try to 
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understand the meaning of the Bandera cult, and the role it has played in the 
invention of Ukrainian tradition.69 

Related to the question of sacralization is the heroization-demonization dichot-
omy. This notion will be explored in this study, but it should not prevent us from 
uncovering Bandera’s life and the history of his movement. The depiction of 
individuals as heroes and villains, or friends and enemies, is an intrinsic element of 
totalitarian ideologies. The main question to be investigated in this context is: Which 
ideology met what kind of needs, while depicting Bandera as a hero, or as a villain, 
and what kind of hero or villain did Bandera become?70 

The investigation of Bandera, the OUN, and Ukrainian nationalism must also re-
late to the Soviet Union and Soviet ideology. The OUN perceived the Soviet Union as 
its most important enemy, before—and especially after—Jews and Poles had largely 
disappeared from Ukraine. Bandera’s ultranationalist revolution after the Second 
World War was intended to take place in Soviet Ukraine and was directed against 
Soviet power. What is more, Soviet propaganda created its own Bandera image, 
which, during the Cold War, affected the perception of Bandera in the Western bloc 
and, after the dissolution of the Soviet Union, in post-Soviet Ukraine. Therefore, the 
investigation of Soviet questions concerning Bandera and Ukrainian revolutionary 
nationalism is an important aspect of this study.71 

Memory, Identity, Symbol, and Denial 

The last theoretical notion that needs to be shortly introduced—before we move to 
the empirical part of this book—is memory. Bandera’s image in the collective memo-
ries of different communities has varied from the very beginning. Bandera was re-
membered in an idealized and heroic way by people who participated in his cult and 
who believed in his myth. The way that Polish, Jewish, and other survivors of the 
OUN and UPA terror remembered Bandera was very different from the way his wor-
shipers among the Ukrainian diaspora did. Soviet propaganda shaped a very negative 
and offensive way of remembering and presenting Bandera and the OUN-UPA. After 
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the dissolution of the Soviet Union, the memory of Bandera has divided post-Soviet 
Ukraine. 

In order to analyze the different memories of Bandera, we must differentiate be-
tween at least three concepts: individual memory, collective memory, and the politics of 
memory. A number of people knew Bandera and thus possessed some kind of personal 
memory of him. The publication and dissemination of their memories allowed other 
individuals, who did not know Bandera in person, to familiarize themselves with his 
life and to develop some emotional bond with him, if they had not already done so 
through the cult and myth. This obviously influenced the collective memory of a 
community who shared a similar identity and a similar realm of experience. Both 
kinds of memories were influenced by the politics of memory, which defined how to 
conduct official commemorations, or how a biography, film, or exhibition should 
present the Providnyk, in order to meet the political expectations of a community, a 
society, or a state.72 

The investigation of memory—like the investigation of the cult and myth—should 
not, however, obstruct the investigation of the “real” history of Ukrainian national-
ism and the “real” personality of Bandera. Neglecting actual history or trying to 
understand history through the framework of memory is a dangerous tendency in 
contemporary historiography which, especially in fields like the Second World War 
or the Holocaust, opens doors to various radical right activists and other abusers of 
history. To avoid such problems, we should examine a memory also in the light of 
Holocaust denial and Holocaust obfuscation and pay particular attention to the 
question whether those far-right groups and nationalist communities that com-
memorated Bandera, the OUN, and the UPA recalled, ignored, or deliberately denied 
the Ukrainian contribution to the Holocaust, and other atrocities committed by the 
Ukrainian nationalists.73 With this in mind, we should examine the “archives of 
silence,” which are the result of collective ignorance of history. These archives are full 
of suppressed and forgotten—but very important—elements of national history, 
particularly history related to ethnic and political violence, and other elements that 
do not correspond with a patriotic interpretation of history.74 “‘I did that,’ says my 
memory. I couldn’t have done that—says my pride, and stands its ground. Finally, 
memory gives in,” remarked Friedrich Nietzsche in 1886.75  
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Genocide, Mass Violence, and the Complexity of the Holocaust 

“Genocide” is a contested term and a concept that makes more sense in legal and 
political discourse than in historical studies. The use of the term may interfere with 
academic analysis, by obscuring links between different forms of mass violence con-
ducted by the same group of perpetrators against various ethnic and political ene-
mies.76 It is not the purpose of this book to argue that some atrocities committed by 
the OUN, the Nazis, or the Ustaša were genocidal and that others were not, or to 
equate the Holocaust with other mass crimes in order to elevate the status of 
suffering of a particular group. My use of the term “genocide” assumes the intention 
of the perpetrators to annihilate a group or a community because of its national or 
ethnic identity. By the same token it is important to emphasize the multifarious 
nature of OUN violence, which was directed against all kinds of ethnic enemies and 
political opponents, but not against each of them to the same extent. Depending on 
the context, I frequently prefer terms such as “mass violence,” “ethnic cleansing,” or 
“crimes against humanity.” In the last two chapters I explain how various groups of 
political activists and even scholars have abused the term “genocide” by promoting 
the narrative of victimization. 

For a long time, historians who studied the Holocaust, or movements such as the 
OUN, concentrated on perpetrator documents and overlooked the testimonies, 
memoirs, reports, and other accounts left by survivors. Those historians believed that 
the perpetrator documents hold much more reliable data than the documents left by 
survivors, victims, and bystanders. In the view of such historians, perpetrators were 
objective, exact and emotionally detached. Survivors, on the other hand, were con-
sidered to be emotional, traumatized, and not able to produce any reliable account of 
the events. This approach was typical of historians such as the OUN specialist John 
Armstrong, and some German historians such as Martin Broszat, Thilo Vogelsang, 
and Andreas Hillgruber, who had grown up in Nazi Germany and served in the Ger-
man army. Similarly, some leading Holocaust historians such as Raul Hilberg and 
the first director of Yad Vashem, Ben-Zion Dinur, also applied this approach. Histo-
rians such as Joseph Wulf or Léon Poliakov, who objected to the perpetrator-
oriented approach, were mainly Holocaust survivors themselves. They were discre-
dited especially by the German historians as “unscholarly.”77  

The first public discussion of this methodological problem took place in 1987–
1988 between the director of the Institute for Contemporary History (Institut für 
Zeitgeschichte) in Munich, Martin Broszat, who had joined the NSDAP on 4 April 
1944, and the Holocaust survivor and leading Holocaust historian Saul Friedländer. 
One of the main issues in this debate was “rational” German scholarship versus the 
“mythical memory” of the victims.78 The discussion, did not undo the distrust of survi-
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vor accounts but the situation began to change a decade later. In 1997 Friedländer 
returned to the debate in his study Nazi Germany and the Jews. He pointed out the 
methodological problems that were the result of neglecting survivor perspectives, 
and pleaded for the use of documents of both perpetrators and survivors, in order to 
achieve an integrated and comprehensive history.79 Four years later, Jan Tomasz 
Gross published a study about the Polish town of Jedwabne. Relying on survivor 
testimonies Gross proved that the local Polish population killed the Jews of this loc-
ality on their own initiative and without any significant help from the Germans.80 In 
the following years, historians such as Christopher Browning and Omer Bartov, who 
had previously concentrated on perpetrators, questioned the alleged uselessness of 
accounts left by victims and survivors, and provided a methodological foundation for 
the study of the neglected issues with the help of these documents.81 

In this study we will follow Freidländer’s plea for an integrated history, and will 
use two kinds of documents: those left by perpetrators and those left by victims and 
survivors. This approach will enable us to obtain a full picture of the events. We will 
obviously deal with both kinds of documents critically. With regard to perpetrator 
documents, it is necessary to distinguish between propaganda documents, internal 
documents relating to practical matters, and apologetic postwar memoirs. We must 
examine the intentions of their authors and consider the circumstances under which 
they were written. The survivor testimonies and memoirs, on the other hand, should 
be read against each other and placed in context with perpetrator and bystander 
documents. Similarly, when analyzing records of NKVD interrogations, we should be 
aware that such investigations were sometimes conducted under coercive circums-
tances that affected the content of the records.82 
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Documents, Interpretations, and Manipulations 

The investigation of Bandera’s life, his cult, and the history of the OUN and UPA are 
highly contingent upon the study of archival documents and original publications. 
Because of the extremist nature of the OUN and its involvement in the Holocaust and 
other kinds of ethnic and political mass violence during and after the Second World 
War, OUN émigrés and UPA veterans began producing forged or manipulated doc-
uments during the Cold War, by means of which they whitewashed their own history. 
They removed undesirable and inconvenient phrases from republished documents, 
especially those relating to fascism, the Holocaust, and other atrocities. In 1955, for 
example, in a new edition of documents entitled The OUN in the Light of the Resolu-
tions of Great Congresses, the OUN reprinted the resolutions of the Second Great 
Congress of the OUN in Cracow in April 1941. According to the original resolutions, 
the OUN adopted a fascist salute, consisting of raising the right arm “slightly to the 
right, slightly above the peak of the head,” while saying “Glory to Ukraine!” (Slava 
Ukraїni!), and answering “Glory to the Heroes!”(Heroiam Slava!). The 1955 edition 
left out this particular part of the text.83 

Such an approach to history resembles the Soviet approach, and to the question 
of how to represent Bandera and the OUN. For example, the Cultural Department of 
the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Ukraine (Komunistychna Partiia 
Ukraїny, or KPU) advised the producers of the film The Killer Is Known to show 
Bandera only at the moment when he metamorphoses into a swastika.84 But not only 
OUN or Soviet publications related to the Bandera discourse contain striking misre-
presentations. The book Alliance for Murder: The Nazi-Ukrainian Nationalist Part-
nership in Genocide contains a picture of Archbishop Andrei Sheptyts’kyi with a 
swastika and suggests that the head of the Greek Catholic Church carried it during 
the Second World War because he sympathized with Nazi Germany. The picture, 
however, must have been taken in the 1920s. It shows Sheptyts’kyi with two men in 
the uniforms of Plast, the Ukrainian scouting organization. Plast used the swastika as 
a symbol in the 1920s but the organization was outlawed in 1930. Moreover, Shep-
tyts’kyi is shown standing on his own two feet, whereas he was already confined to a 
wheelchair before the Second World War.85 

Other indications of this process can be found in post-war memoirs. Mykola Kly-
myshyn, a close companion of Stepan Bandera, was the author of several important 
historical and autobiographical publications related to the Providnyk, and an im-
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portant progenitor of his cult. Klymyshyn was honest enough to admit that dark 
spots in his publications had been whitewashed at the personal request of Stepan 
Bandera. He admitted this with the object of warning future generations, who would 
question the omission of certain aspects in his descriptions.86 Ievhen Stakhiv, 
another OUN member and the author of important autobiographical publications, 
admits that Mykola Lebed’, another important OUN leader, asked him to forget and 
not to mention uncomfortable elements of the past, such as Bandera’s direction to 
the movement in late 1941 to repair relations with Nazi Germany and to attempt 
further collaboration with the Nazis.87 To review the different kinds of “forgotten” or 
instrumentalized history, it is necessary to study the original documents. Some of 
them, and their locations, are briefly introduced here.  

The Central Archives of Modern Records in Warsaw (Archiwum Akt Nowych, 
AAN) holds collections of documents concerning the history of the UVO and OUN in 
the inter-war period. Documents relating to the investigation of OUN members 
involved in Bronisław Pieracki’s assassination, and to the Warsaw and Lviv trials, can 
be found in the Central State Historical Archive of Ukraine in Lviv (Tsentral’nyi 
derzhavnyi istorychnyi arkhiv, TDIA) and in the State Archives of Lviv Oblast 
(Derzhavnyi arkhiv L’vivs’koї oblasti, DALO). A number of documents—including 
the twenty-four volumes of the investigation records prepared for the Warsaw trial—
could not be found. In all probability, they were lost during the Second World War. 

Many important documents relating to Bandera and the OUN-UPA during the 
Second World War are located in two Kiev archives: the Central State Archives of the 
Supreme Bodies of Power and Government of Ukraine (Tsentral’nyi derzhavnyi 
arkhiv vyshchykh orhaniv vlady ta upravlinnia Ukrainy, TsDAVOV) and the Cen-
tral State Archives of Public Organizations of Ukraine (Tsentral’nyi derzhavnyi 
arkhiv hromads’kykh obiednan’ Ukrainy, TsDAHO). The State Archives of the Secu-
rity Service of Ukraine in Kiev (Haluzevyi Derzhavnyi arkhiv Sluzhby bezpeky 
Ukraïny, HDA SBU) holds collections of NKVD interrogation files, which also con-
tain some information on the Ukrainian nationalists. Because NKVD interrogations 
were coercive, and in some cases torture was applied, such documents should be 
used carefully and checked against other sources. The Provincial Archives of Alberta, 
in Edmonton, also hold essential documents on the “Ukrainian National Revolution” 
and the conduct of the OUN and UPA during the Second World War.88 

Other crucial documents relating to Bandera, the OUN-UPA, and the German 
occupation of Ukraine are located in the German Federal Archives (Bundesarchiv, BA) 
in Berlin and Koblenz, in the Military Archives (Militärarchiv, MA) in Freiburg, and in 
the Political Archives of the Foreign Office in Berlin (Politisches Archiv des Auswärtigen 
Amtes, PAAA). In the Provincial Archives of Nordrhein-Westfalen (Landesarchiv 
Nordrhein-Westfalen, LN-W), one can study documents from the preliminary pro-
ceedings against Theodor Oberländer. The Oberländer records are important for the 
study of the Lviv pogrom in 1941 and of the campaign against the Adenauer govern-
ment’s Federal Minister for Displaced Persons, Refugees, and War Victims. 
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In Moscow, the State Archive of the Russian Federation (Gosudarstvennyi arkhiv 
Rossiiskoi Federatsii, GARF) and the Russian State Archive of Socio-Political History 
(Rossiiskii gosudarstvennyi arkhiv sotsial’no-poiliticheskoi istorii, RGASOI) are two 
further important sources of document collections relating to Ukraine during the 
Second World War. The Archives of the Jewish Historical Museum in Warsaw 
(Archiwum Żydowskiego Instytutu Historycznego, AŻIH) hold a huge collection of 
Jewish survivor testimonies, mainly collected between 1944 and 1947 in Poland by 
the Central Jewish Historical Commission (Centralna Żydowska Komisja Histo-
ryczna, CŻKH).89 Two other important collections of survivor testimonies are located 
in the archives of the Holocaust Memorial Museum in Washington and in the ar-
chives of Yad Vashem. The Shoah Foundation Institute Visual History Archive, which 
was founded in 1994, also collected a huge number of survivor testimonies. The early 
documents collected by the AŻIH are especially important for this study.90 

The Bavarian Main State Archives (Bayerisches Hauptstaatsarchiv, BayHStA) 
and the Munich State Archives (Staatsarchiv München, StM) mainly hold police 
documents relating to Bandera and the OUN after the Second World War. Docu-
ments in the possession of the intelligence services are another important source for 
the study of Bandera and the OUN during the Cold War, but not all intelligence ser-
vices have made them accessible. Some documents on Bandera during the Cold War 
may be found in the National Archives and Records Administration in Washington. A 
number of important interrogation records of OUN members and UPA partisans, 
and other documents relating to the Cold War are located in the HAD SBU. The Fed-
eral Security Service of the Russian Federation (Federal’naia sluzhba bezopasnosti 
Rossiiskoi Federatsii, FSB) has informed me that its archives do not contain any 
documents concerning Bandera’s assassination. The Federal Intelligence Service of 
Germany (Bundesnachrichtendienst, BND) has not made most of the relevant docu-
ments available to researchers who are interested in its collaboration with the OUN. 

The archives of the Stepan Bandera Museum in London hold some documents 
relating to Bandera’s assassination and about OUN émigrés in the Cold War period. 
During the last two decades, several important editions of documents relating to 
Stepan Bandera and the OUN-UPA have appeared in Ukraine. Some of these, such as 
the three volumes of Stepan Bandera in the Documents of the Soviet Organs of the 
State Security, together with documents from the State Archives of the Security 
Service of Ukraine, were an important source of information for this study.91 
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Vladimir Solonari published articles about the Soviet postwar investigation and trial 
records, and about the methodological problems related to their analysis.116 Tarik 
Cyril Amar published an article about the Holocaust in Soviet discourse in western 
Ukraine.117 Scholars such as Per Anders Rudling, Anton Shekhostov, and Andreas 
Umland published several articles about radical right groups and parties after 1990 
in Ukraine.118 Whether Ukrainian nationalism is a form of fascism has been discussed 
in publications by Frank Golczewski, Anton Shekhovtsov, Oleksandr Zaitsev, and 
myself.119 

As already mentioned, a number of volumes of reprinted archival documents ap-
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material, and should not be excluded solely because their authors, such as Volody-
myr Serhiichuk, deny the ethnic and political violence of the OUN and UPA, or, like 
Ivan Patryliak, quote the former Ku Klux Klan Grand Wizard David Duke as an “ex-
pert” on the “Jewish Question” in the Soviet Union.121 In addition to the above-
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initiated by these historians and other writers was taken over mostly by young 
Ukrainian patriotic historians and activists based in western Ukraine. On the one 
hand, works by Ukrainian patriotic historians such as Mykola Posivnych, and OUN 
veterans such as Petro Mirchuk, contain important material for a Bandera biography. 
On the other hand, they propagate the Bandera cult and are therefore analyzed in 
chapters 9 and 10, in which the Bandera cult is examined.122 

Objectives and Limitations 

This book investigates Bandera’s life and cult. It concentrates on Bandera’s political, 
and not his private life. It pays attention to Bandera’s thoughts and his worldview, 
which can be reconstructed from books and newspapers that he read, published, or 
edited, opinions that he held and that he expressed in public, as well as the combat 
and propagandist activities that he organized or participated in. The history of the 
OUN and UPA takes up a substantial part of the study, in order to provide important 
background knowledge. The form of this book is determined by the major questions, 
the long period covered by the narrative, and the methods applied. It thereby differs 
from studies that ponder the advantages and disadvantages of nationalism or social-
ism for the life of a nation, or that explore short-term processes such as collaboration 
in a particular region or country during the Second World War. 

The book is written “against the grain” in order to uncover several covered-up, 
forgotten, ignored, or obfuscated aspects of Ukrainian and other national histories. 
Obviously, the study does not seek to exonerate the Germans, Soviets, Poles, or any 
other nation or group for the atrocities committed by them during or after the 
Second World War but it cannot present and does not pretend to present all relevant 
aspects in an entirely comprehensive way. It pays more attention to subjects such as 
the ethnic and political violence of the OUN and UPA than it does to German or So-
viet occupation policies in Ukraine. This method of presenting history is determined 
by the main subject of this study, which is Bandera and his role in the Ukrainian 
ultranationalist movement. Parts of the book may therefore evoke the impression 
that the major Holocaust perpetrators in western Ukraine were the Ukrainian natio-
nalists and not the occupying Germans and the Ukrainian police. It is not the aim of 
this study to argue this. This study makes clear estimates of the percentages of people 
who were killed by the Germans and the Ukrainian police on the one hand, and by 
the OUN and UPA and other Ukrainian perpetrators on the other. 

It is not the aim of this book to argue that all eastern Galician and Volhynian 
Ukrainians (and logically not all Ukrainians) supported the politics of the OUN, 
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fought in the UPA, were involved in the Holocaust, the ethnic cleansing against 
Polish population, and other forms of ethnic and political violence conducted by the 
OUN and UPA, or that they agreed with such actions. The study explores the inter-
relation between nationalism and the violence committed in its name, but it does not 
ignore the economic, social, and political factors that contributed to ethnic conflicts 
or to the formation of fascist movements. 

This monograph does not negate the fact that, during the Second World War, 
Ukrainians were both victims and perpetrators, and that the same persons who were 
involved in ethnic and political violence became the victims of the Soviet regime. 
Moreover, the study does not suggest that all Ukrainians who were in the OUN or 
UPA were fascists or radical nationalists. There were different reasons for joining the 
OUN and UPA, and various kinds of people joined these organizations, some of them 
under coercion. Logically, the study does not imply that all Ukrainians who joined 
the OUN or UPA committed atrocities, or that among Ukrainians, only OUN and 
UPA members were involved in the Holocaust or other atrocities. Such an assump-
tion would distort reality, and exonerate groups such as non-nationalist Ukrainians, 
the Ukrainian police, and Ukrainians who participated primarily for economic and 
other non-political reasons. Finally, Ukrainian political parties and organizations 
other than the OUN appear only marginally in this study, because the monograph 
concentrates on Bandera and the OUN. As a result, readers might receive the impres-
sion that the OUN was the organization that dominated the entire political life of 
Ukraine. This, of course, is not true. Many other nationalist, democratic, conserva-
tive, and communist organizations and parties existed in Ukraine before the Second 
World War, and also impacted political life there, but they are not the subject of this 
book. 



 

 

Chapter 1 

HETEROGENEITY, MODERNITY, 

AND THE TURN TO THE RIGHT 

“Longue Durée” Perspective and 
the Heterogeneity of Ukrainian History 

Stepan Bandera was born on 1 January 1909 in the village of Staryi Uhryniv, located 
in the eastern part of Galicia, the easternmost province of the Habsburg Empire. 
Galicia, officially known as the Kingdom of Galicia and Lodomeria (Regnum Galiciae 
et Lodomeriae), was created in 1772 by the bureaucrats of the House of Habsburg at 
the first partition of the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth (Res Publica Utriusque 
Nationis). The province was an economically backward region with a heterogeneous 
population: according to statistics from 1910, 47 percent of the population were 
Polish, 42 percent Ukrainian, and 11 percent Jewish. The eastern part of Galicia, 
which the Ukrainian national movement claimed as a part of the Ukrainian nation 
state, and where the political cult of Stepan Bandera was born, was no less hetero-
geneous: 62 percent of the population were Ukrainian, 25 percent Polish, and 12 
percent Jewish (Maps 1 and 2).1 

At the time of Bandera’s birth, close to 20 percent of “Ukrainians,” or people who 
began to perceive themselves as Ukrainians as a result of the invention of Ukrainian 
national identity, lived in the Habsburg Empire (in Galicia, Bukovina and 
Transcarpathia). At the same time, 80 percent of Ukrainians lived in the Russian 
Empire (in eastern Ukraine, also known as “Russian Ukraine”).2 This division and 
other political, religious, and cultural differences caused Galician Ukrainians to 
become a quite different people from the Ukrainians in Russian Ukraine. The 
division posed a difficult challenge, both for activists of the moderate, socialist-
influenced, nineteenth-century national movement, such as Mykhailo Drahomanov 
(1841–1895), Mykhailo Hrushevs’kyi (1866–1934), and Ivan Franko (1856–1916), 
and later for the extreme, violent, and revolutionary twentieth-century nationalists 
such as Dmytro Dontsov (1883–1973), Ievhen Konovalets’ (1891–1938), and Stepan 
Bandera (1909–1959). These political figures tried to establish a single Ukrainian 
nation that would live in one Ukrainian state.3 
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To some extent, the dual and heterogeneous state of affairs was a continuation of 
earlier pre-modern political and cultural divisions of the territories that the Ukrai-
nian national movement claimed as its own. In the twentieth century, the East-West 
division and the separate development of the two Ukrainian identities did not narrow 
and, due to new geopolitical circumstances, even widened. One of the most impor-
tant factors that contributed to the increase of cultural and religious differences 
between western and eastern Ukrainians was the military conflict between the OUN-
UPA and the Soviet regime during the 1940s and early 1950s. This conflict was fol-
lowed by a powerful propaganda battle between nationalist factions of the Ukrainian 
diaspora and the Soviet Union; as a consequence, each side demonized and hated the 
other. In Soviet and Soviet Ukrainian discourse, the personality of Stepan Bandera 
acquired a significance completely different from that perceived by Galician Ukrai-
nians. As a result, two contradictory myths relating to Stepan Bandera marked the 
cultural and political division of Ukraine.4 

In nineteenth- and early twentieth-century Habsburg Galicia, the local Ukrai-
nians identified themselves—and were identified by others—as “Ruthenians” (Ger. 
Ruthenen, Pol. Rusini, Ukr. Rusyny). In the Russian Empire, Ukrainians were called 
“Little Russians” (Rus. malorossy, Ukr. malorosy). “Ukraine” as the term for a 
nation only came into use in Galicia in about 1900. Although the word obviously 
existed long before this time, it was not the term for a nation, despite the fact that the 
Ukrainian national movement purported retroactively to impose such an identity on 
the medieval or even ancient inhabitants of “Ukrainian territories.” In the pre-
modern era the term “Ukraine” referred to the “border territories” of the Polish-
Lithuanian Commonwealth and Kievan Rus’. Such terms as Rosia, Russia, Rus’, 
Ruthenia, and Roxolonia were also used for the Ukrainian territories.5 

In 1916 the historian Stanisław Smołka, son of the Austrian conservative and Polish 
nationalist politician Franciszek Smołka, to whom he dedicated his book Die 
Reussische Welt, argued that “the geographic Ukraine” is the “Ruthenian territory par 
excellence.”6 The bureaucracy of the Russian Empire did not regard Ukrainians as a 
nation, but as an ethnic group with close cultural and linguistic affinities to Russians. 
The Ems Ukaz of 1876, which remained in force until the revolution of 1905, forbade 
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Map 1. Galicia 1914. YIVO Encyclopedia, 2:565. 

not only printing in Ukrainian and importing literature in Ukrainian into the Russian 
Empire but even the use of the terms “Ukraine” and “Ukrainian.” The Ukaz caused 
the emigration of many Ukrainian intellectuals to Galicia, where they could publish 
in Ukrainian.7 

Although the Galician Ruthenians differed from the Russian Ukrainians culturally 
and politically in many respects, they were similar to each other in that they lived 
mainly in the countryside and were under-represented in the cities and industrial 
regions. During the nineteenth century and the first half of the twentieth, Ukrainians 
in Lviv numbered between 15 and 20 percent.8 In Kiev, 60 percent of the inhabitants 
spoke Ukrainian in 1864; but by 1917, only 16 percent.9 

One group of Galician Ruthenians, known as Russophiles, further complicated 
the process of creating a Ukrainian nation. The origins of this movement can be 
traced back to the 1830s and 1840s, although it did not expand until after 1848. The 
Russophiles claimed to be a separate brand of Russians, although their concept of 
Russia was ambiguous and varied in relation to the context, between Russia as an 
empire, eastern Christianity, and eastern Slavs. The Russophile movement was 
created by Russian political activists, and by the local Ruthenian intelligentsia who 
were disappointed by the pro-Polish policies of the Habsburg Empire, especially in  
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Map 2. Eastern Europe 1815. YIVO Encyclopedia, 2:2144. 
the late 1860s. The Russophiles identified themselves with Russia, partly because of 
the Russian belief that Ukrainian culture was a peasant culture without a tradition of 
statehood. Identifying with Russia, they could divest themselves of their feelings of 
inferiority in relation to their Polish Galician fellow-citizens who, like the Russians, 
possessed a “high culture” and a tradition of statehood.10 

Galician Ukrainian culture was for centuries deeply influenced by Polish culture, 
while eastern Ukrainian culture was strongly influenced by Russian culture. As a 
result of long-standing coexistence, cultural and linguistic differences between 
Ukrainians and Poles on the one side became blurred, as they did between Ukrai-
nians and Russians on the other. The differences between the western and eastern 
Ukrainians were evident. The Galician dialect of Ukrainian differed substantially 
from the Ukrainian language in Russian Ukraine. Such political, social, and cultural 
differences made a difficult starting point for a weak national movement that sought 
to establish a single nation, which was planned to be culturally different from and 
independent of its stronger neighbors.11 
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The western part of the Ukrainian territories was dominated by Polish culture 
from 1340 onwards, when King Casimir III the Great annexed Red Ruthenia (Russia 
Rubra), with a break between 1772 and 1867, during which Austrian politicians 
dominated and controlled politics in Galicia. Motivated by material and political 
considerations, the Ukrainian boyars and nobles had already become Catholics in 
pre-modern times and had adopted the Polish language. The Polonization of their 
upper classes left Ukrainians without an aristocratic stratum and rendered them an 
ethnic group with a huge proportion of peasants. Polish language and culture were 
associated with the governing stratum, while the Ukrainian equivalents were asso-
ciated with the stratum of peasants. There were many exceptions to both proposi-
tions. For example, the Greek Catholic priests might be classified as Ukrainian 
intelligentsia, while there were numerous Polish peasants. However, the difference 
between the “dominant Poles” and the “dominated Ukrainians” caused tensions 
between them and, as a result of a nationalist interpretation of history, caused a 
strong feeling of inferiority on the part of the Ukrainians. 

Until 1848, Ukrainian and Polish peasants in Galicia were serfs of their Polish 
landlords. They were forced to work without pay from three to six days a week on 
their landlords’ estates. In addition they were often humiliated and mistreated by the 
landowners.12 Even when serfdom was ended in 1848, the socio-economic situation 
of the Galician peasants did not significantly improve for many decades. In eastern 
Galicia, where the majority of the peasants were Ukrainians (Ruthenians) and almost 
all the landlords were Poles, serfdom had a significant psychological impact on the 
Ukrainian national movement.13 

The Greek Catholic Church had strongly shaped the identity of Galician Ukrai-
nians and had influenced Galician Ukrainian nationalism from its very beginnings. 
The Church was originally a product of the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth. As the 
direct result of the Union of Brest of 1595‒1596, the Greek Catholic Church severed 
relations with the Patriarch of Constantinople and accepted the superiority of the 
Vatican. It did not, however, change its Orthodox or Byzantine liturgical tradition. 
When the Russian Empire absorbed the greatest part of the Polish-Lithuanian Com-
monwealth between 1772 and 1795, it dissolved the Greek Catholic Church in the 
incorporated territories and replaced it with the Orthodox Church. The Ukrainian 
Greek Catholic Church continued to function only in Habsburg Galicia, where it 
became a Ukrainian national church and an important component of Galician Ukrai-
nian identity.14 

Especially in the early stage of its existence, the Ukrainian national movement in 
Galicia was greatly influenced by the Greek Catholic Church. The secular intelli-
gentsia in eastern Galicia who took part in the national movement emerged to a large 
extent from the families of Greek Catholic priests. Many fanatical Ukrainian activists 
in the nationalist cause, including Stepan Bandera himself, were the sons of priests. 
Furthermore, it was only with the help of the Greek Catholic priests present in every 
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eastern Galician village that the activists of the Ukrainian national movement could 
reach the predominantly illiterate peasants. This situation changed only in the late 
nineteenth century, when such educational organizations as Prosvita established 
reading-rooms in villages. In these institutions the peasants could read newspapers 
and other publications that disseminated the idea of a secular Ukrainian national-
ism.15 However, even after a slight emancipation from the Greek Catholic Church, the 
Galician brand of Ukrainian nationalism was steeped in mysticism and had strong 
religious overtones. The Greek Catholic religion was an important symbolic founda-
tion of the ideology of Ukrainian nationalism, although not the only one. 

Modern Ukrainian nationalism, as manifested in the late nineteenth and early 
twentieth centuries in Galicia, became increasingly hostile to Poles, Jews, and Rus-
sians. The hostility to Poles was related to the nationalist interpretation of their 
socio-economic circumstances, as well as the feeling that the Poles had occupied the 
Ukrainian territories and had deprived the Ukrainians of a nobility and an intelli-
gentsia. The nationalist hostility to Jews was related to the fact that many Jews were 
merchants, and to the fact that some of them worked as agents of the Polish 
landowners. The Ukrainians felt that the Jews supported the Poles and exploited the 
Ukrainian peasants. The resentment toward Russians was related to the government 
by the Russian Empire of a huge part of the territories that the Ukrainian national 
movement claimed to be Ukrainian. While the Jews in Galicia were seen as agents of 
the Polish landowners, Jews in eastern Ukraine were frequently perceived to be 
agents of the Russian Empire. The stereotype of Jews supporting both Poles and 
Russians, and exploiting Ukrainians by means of trade or bureaucracy, became a 
significant image in the Ukrainian nationalist discourse. 

Ukrainian nationalism thrived in eastern Galicia rather than in eastern Ukraine 
where the activities of the Ukrainian nationalists were suppressed by the Russian 
Empire. The political liberalism of the Habsburg Empire, as it developed after 1867, 
made Galician Ukrainians more nationalist, populist, and mystical than eastern 
Ukrainians. During the second half of the nineteenth century, the systematic policy 
of Russification in eastern Ukraine made the national distinction between Ukrai-
nians and Russians increasingly meaningless. Most eastern Ukrainians understood 
Ukraine to be a region of Russia, and considered themselves to be a people akin to 
Russians.16 

Because of the nationalist discourse that took place in eastern Galicia, the prov-
ince was labeled as the Ukrainian “Piedmont.” Because of their loyalty to the Habs-
burg Empire, Galician Ukrainians were known as the “Tyroleans of the East.” In 
Russian Ukraine, on the other hand, the majority of the political and intellectual 
stratum assimilated into Russian culture and did not pay attention to Ukrainian 
nationalism. “Although I was born a Ukrainian, I am more Russian than anybody 
else,” claimed Viktor Kochubei (1768–1834), a statesman of the Russian Empire with 
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Ukrainian origins.17 Nikolai Gogol’ (1809–1852), born near Poltava in a family with 
Ukrainian traditions, described Cossack life in his novel Taras Bulba in a humorous, 
satirical, and grotesque way. His books appeared in elegant Russian, which included 
Ukrainian elements, and were written without national pathos. In 1844 Gogol’ wrote 
in a letter: “I myself do not know whether my soul is Ukrainian [khokhlatskaia] or 
Russian [russkaia]. I know only that on no account would I give priority to the Little 
Russian [malorosiianinu] before the Russian [russkim], or the Russian before the 
Little Russian.”18 

The Beginnings of Ukrainian “Heroic Modernity” 

Ukrainian heroic modernity found expression for the first time in the writings of the 
nationalist extremist Mykola Mikhnovs’kyi (1873–1924), although it derives from the 
thoughts of such activists as Mykhailo Hrushevs’kyi, Mykhailo Drahomanov, and 
Ivan Franko. The most influential of these was Hrushevs’kyi, a historian and politi-
cian. In the nineteenth century, thinkers such as Georg Wilhelm Friedrich Hegel and 
Friedrich Engels elaborated on the popular problem of “historical” and “non-
historical” nations, to which Hrushevs’kyi responded. Starting from ancient times, 
Hrushevs’kyi rewrote the history of the Eastern Slavs, displaying bias in favor of the 
Ukrainian national movement and regarding the Russian and Polish national move-
ments with disfavor. In his voluminous History of Ukraine-Rus’, he separated 
Ukrainian history from Russian history, claiming that the Ukrainian people had 
ancient origins. He thereby “resolved” the problem of the “non-historical” Ukrainian 
people, making it as historical and as rich in tradition as the Polish and Russian 
peoples. This was one of the most significant late nineteenth-century “academic” 
contributions to the creation of a national Ukrainian identity.19 

In his historical writings, Hrushevs’kyi did not insist that the Slavs or Ukrainians 
were a pure race or had to be viewed as a race. Nevertheless he used the term “race” 
in the context of anthropology. Writing about the ancient peoples living in the terri-
tory of contemporary Ukraine, he mentioned “dolichocephalic” (long-headed) and 
“brachycephalic” (short-headed) types of people inhabiting the Ukrainian territories 
in ancient times. He argued that “the Slavs of today are predominantly short-headed” 
but racially not uniform. The brachycephalic type “is still the dominant type among 
Ukrainians, but among the Poles and Russians this type vies with the mesaticephalic 
[medium headed], with a significant admixture of the dolichocephalic.”20 Looking for 
the origins of the Ukrainian people among ancient peoples, Hrushevs’kyi concluded 
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that the “Ukrainian tribes” originated from the Antes: “The Antes were almost cer-
tainly the ancestors of the Ukrainian tribes.”21 While analyzing ancient and medieval 
descriptions of people living at that time in the Ukrainian territories, he pondered 
about the ideal type of a historical Ukrainian and wrote that Ukrainians were “blond-
haired, ruddy-skinned, and tall” and “very dirty” people.22 

Mikhnovs’kyi, much more radical than Hrushevs’kyi, was the pioneer of extreme 
Ukrainian nationalism. He lived in Russian Ukraine, mainly in Kharkiv. Because he 
died in 1924 he did not come into contact with the radical Ukrainian nationalists 
from the UVO or OUN, but his writings inspired the younger generation.23 Mikh-
novs’kyi politicized the ethnicity of Ukrainians and demanded a “Ukraine for Ukrai-
nians” (Ukraїna dlia ukraїntsiv). He might have been inspired by Hrushevs’kyi’s 
historization of contemporary Ukrainians and by contemporary European discourses 
that combined nationalism with racism. Although Mikhnovs’kyi’s concept of ethnic-
ity was based on language, his main aim was a biological and racial marking of the 
Ukrainian territories or the “living space” of the Ukrainians. He claimed the territory 
“from the Carpathian Mountains to the Caucasus” for a Ukrainian state without foes. 
By “foes” Mikhnovs’kyi meant “Russians, Poles, Magyars, Romanians, and Jews … as 
long as they rule over us and exploit us.”24 

Mikhnovs’kyi went so far in his ethno-biological concept as to demand, in one of 
“The Ten Commandments of the UNP,” which he wrote for the Ukrainian National 
Party (Ukraїns’ka Narodna Partia, UNP), cofounded by him in 1904: “Do not marry 
a foreign woman because your children will be your enemies, do not be on friendly 
terms with the enemies of our nation, because you make them stronger and braver, 
do not deal with our oppressors, because you will be a traitor.”25 

Mikhnovs’kyi’s concept of Ukraine was directed not only against people who 
might be considered to be foreigners but also against the majority of Ukrainians, who 
spoke Russian or a dialect that was neither Russian nor Ukrainian, or who were 
contaminated through marriage or friendship with a non-Ukrainian. This was the 
case of many Ukrainians after centuries of coexistence with Poles, Russians, Jews, 
and other ethnic groups. It was also not a political or cultural program with which 
the nationally non-conscious Ukrainians could have been transformed through edu-
cation into nationally conscious Ukrainians. It was rather a social Darwinist concept 
based on the assumption that there exists a Ukrainian race, which must struggle for 
its survival against Russians, Poles, Jews, and other non-Ukrainian inhabitants of 
Ukrainian territories. Mikhnovs’kyi understood this concept as the historical destiny 
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of the Ukrainian people and stressed that there was no alternative: “Either we will 
win in the fight or we will die.”26 This early Ukrainian extremist also demanded: 
“Ukraine for Ukrainians, and as long as even one alien enemy remains on our terri-
tory, we are not allowed to lay down our arms. And we should remember that glory 
and victory are the destiny of fighters for the national cause.”27 

The Lost Struggle for Ukrainian Statehood 

The changes to the map of Europe after the First World War served as a very conve-
nient opportunity for the establishment of several new national states on the ruins of 
the Russian and Habsburg empires. However, this scenario did not work in the case 
of the Ukrainians and some other nations, such as the Croats and Slovaks. The war 
revealed how heterogeneous were the Ukrainian people and how ambiguous was the 
concept of a Ukrainian state at this time. Like many other East Central European 
nationalities, Ukrainians fought on both sides of the Eastern Front and, like some 
other peoples, established their own armies to struggle for a nation state. Yet in the 
case of Ukraine, they struggled rather for two different states than for one and the 
same. 

On 20 November 1917 in Kiev, an assembly of various political parties, known as 
the Tsentral’na Rada, or Central Council, proclaimed the Ukrainian People’s Repub-
lic (Ukraïns’ka Narodna Respublika, UNR). On 25 January 1918, the same political 
body declared the UNR to be a “Free Sovereign State of the Ukrainian People.” The 
UNR thereby declared its independence from the Bolsheviks, who had in November 
1917 taken over power in the Russian Empire, but it was still dependent on the Ger-
mans who were occupying Kiev. On 9 February 1918, representatives of the Tsentral’na 
Rada signed the Brest-Litovsk treaty, as a result of which the UNR was officially recog-
nized by the Central Powers (the German, Austro-Hungarian, Ottoman empires, and 
Kingdom of Bulgaria) and by the Bolshevik government of the Russian Soviet Fed-
erated Socialist Republic (Russian SFSR), but not by the Western Allies (United 
Kingdom, France, and so forth).28 

Between 1918 and 1921, power changed hands in Kiev several times. The first new 
authority, the Tsentral’na Rada, was unsure whether a Ukrainian state could exist out-
side the Russian Federation without the help of the Central Powers. The second author-
ity, established on 29 April 1918 around Hetman Pavlo Skoropads’kyi, was a puppet 
government installed and controlled by the Germans. Skoropads’kyi left Kiev with the 
German army in December 1918 and at the same time, a group of Austrian and Ukrai-
nian politicians tried and failed to establish the Austrian Ukrainophile Wilhelm von 
Habsburg as a replacement for Skoropads’kyi. The Directorate, a provisional state 
committee of the UNR, which replaced Skoropads’kyi in late 1918, was soon forced 
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by the Soviet army to withdraw from Kiev. Most territories claimed by the Ukrainian 
authorities in Kiev to be part of their state were not under their control.29 

On 1 November 1918 in Lviv—capital of eastern Galicia—the West Ukrainian 
National Republic (Zakhidno-Ukraïns’ka Narodna Respublika, ZUNR) was proc-
laimed. After a few weeks, the leaders of the ZUNR were forced to leave Lviv by the local 
Poles and by units of the Polish army under the command of Michał Karaszewicz-
Tokarzewski. The ZUNR continued its existence in Stanyslaviv (Stanisławów), a 
provincial city of Galicia. On 22 January 1919, the ZUNR united with the UNR, which 
had been forced by the Bolsheviks to leave Kiev for the west. However, this 
unification of the two Ukrainian states was mainly symbolic.30 

The military forces of the UNR: the Ukrainian People’s Army (Armia Ukraїns’koї 
Narodnoї Respubliky, AUNR), and of the ZUNR: the Ukrainian Galician Army 
(Ukraїns’ka Halyts’ka Armiia, UHA) consisted of many different military forma-
tions. The most disciplined and best trained among them were the Sich Riflemen 
(Sichovi Stril’tsi), whose soldiers were recruited from Ukrainians in the Austro-
Hungarian army. The armies of the ZUNR and UNR were too weak to resist the 
Polish and Bolshevik armies. As the result of the various complicated alliances, each 
Ukrainian force found itself in the camp of its enemies and felt betrayed accordingly. 
By 2 December 1919, while threatened by the Bolshevik army, the UNR had signed 
an agreement with Poland. The UNR politicians agreed to allow Poland to incorpo-
rate the territory of the ZUNR, if Poland would help to protect their state against the 
Bolsheviks. Ievhen Petrushevych, head of the ZUNR, on the other hand, had already 
decided on 17 November 1919 that the UHA would join the White Army of Anton 
Denikin, which was at odds with the UNR. In February 1920, the majority of the 
UHA soldiers deserted from the Whites and allied themselves with the Bolsheviks 
because the latter were at war with both the Poles and the AUNR. In these circum-
stances it was hardly surprising that some Ukrainian politicians, for example Osyp 
Nazaruk, voiced the opinion that the Galician Ukrainians were a different nation 
from the eastern Ukrainians.31 

Although a group of Ukrainian politicians visited the Paris Peace Conference in 
1919, they were too inexperienced and too badly prepared to successfully represent 
the Ukrainian cause at such a gathering, where the new geopolitical shape of Europe 
was being determined. They also bore the stigma of having supported the Central 
Powers, who were blamed for the war by the victorious Allies. The Polish Endecja 
politician Roman Dmowski portrayed the Ukrainians in Paris as anarchistic “ban-
dits,” the Ukrainian state as a German intrigue, and the Ruthenians from the Habs-
burg Empire as Ruthenians who had nothing in common with Ukrainians. Other 
Polish politicians at the conference, such as Stanisław Grabski and Ignacy Pad-
erewski, characterized Ukrainians in a similar manner and thereby weakened the 
chances of a Ukrainian state.32 
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Other participants at the conference were also reluctant to support the idea of a 
Ukrainian state, partially because of the Ukrainian alliance with the Central Powers, 
and partially because they did not know much about Ukraine and Ukrainians. They 
were confused as to whether the Greek Catholic Ruthenians from the Habsburg 
Empire, as portrayed by the Polish delegates, were the same people as the Orthodox 
Ukrainians from the Russian Empire. David Lloyd George, Prime Minister of the 
United Kingdom, stated: “I only saw a Ukrainian once. It is the last Ukrainian I have 
seen, and I am not sure that I want to see any more.”33 By the Treaty of Riga on 18 
March 1921, the borders of the Ukrainian territories were settled between Poland, 
Soviet Russia, and Soviet Ukraine, to the disadvantage of the UNR and ZUNR. The 
Allied Powers and many other states recognized this state of affairs, thereby con-
firming the nonexistence of the various Ukrainian states for which many Ukrainians 
had struggled between 1917 and 1921.34 

During the revolutionary struggles, many pogroms took place in central and east-
ern Ukraine, especially in the provinces of Kiev, Podolia, and Volhynia, which were 
controlled by the Directorate, the Whites, and anarchist peasant bands. The troops of 
the Directorate and the Whites not only permitted the anti-Jewish violence but also 
participated in it. The pogroms only ceased with the coming of the Red Army. 
Nakhum Gergel, a former deputy minister of Jewish affairs in the Ukrainian govern-
ment, recorded 1,182 pogroms and 50,000 to 60,000 victims. This scale of anti-
Jewish violence was much greater than that of the pogroms of 1881‒1884 and 
1903‒1907. Only during the Khmel’nyts’kyi Uprising in 1648 did anti-Jewish 
violence at a comparable level take place in the Ukrainian territories: according to 
Antony Polonsky, at least 13,000 Jews were killed by the Cossacks commanded by 
Bohdan Khmel’nyts’kyi.35 

The Lack of a Ukrainian State 
and the Polish-Ukrainian Conflict 

Between the First and Second World Wars, Ukrainians lived in four different states. 
About 26 million lived in the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic (Ukraïns’ka Sot-
siialistychna Radians’ka Respublika, Ukrainian SRR), 5 million in the Second Polish 
Republic (II Rzeczpospolita Polska), 0.5 million in the Czechoslovak Republic 
(Czech: Československá Republika, Slovak: Republika Česko-Slovenská), and 0.8 
million in Greater Romania (România Mare).36 
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Map 3. Eastern Europe 1923. YIVO Encyclopedia, 2:2145. 

During the 1920s the Ukrainians in Soviet Ukraine were exposed to the policy of 
Ukrainization, which strengthened the use of the Ukrainian language and promoted 
Ukrainian culture in public life. With the beginning of Sovietization in the early 1930s, 
this policy changed entirely. The collectivization of agriculture in the Soviet Union was 
the major cause of an artificial famine, resulting in the deaths of 2.5–3.9 million people 
in Soviet Ukraine in 1932–1933. In terms of national consciousness, the Soviet 
authorities tried to turn Ukrainians into loyal Soviet citizens, causing the unformed 
Ukrainian identity of the former Russian Ukrainians to blur further with Russian and 
Soviet identity.37 Of all the states where Ukrainians lived, it was in Czechoslovakia 
that the small Ukrainian minority enjoyed the most liberal treatment. The authorities 
there allowed various Ukrainian schools, and three postsecondary colleges: the 
Ukrainian Husbandry Academy and the Ukrainian Technical and Husbandry Insti-
tute in Poděbrady, and the Ukrainian Free University in Prague. This was an 
unusually liberal policy toward a minority in Eastern Europe at this time. In Rom-
ania and Poland, Ukrainians were exposed to a policy of assimilation—a common 
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phenomenon in the new, unstable, and predominantly authoritarian Eastern Euro-
pean states.38 

Because the political myth of Stepan Bandera first manifested itself in the Second 
Polish Republic, it is imperative to elaborate on the political circumstances in this 
state, in particular on the complicated relationship between Poles and Ukrainians. It 
is also crucial to describe the role played by the OUN in Polish-Ukrainian relations, 
particularly when it was led by Stepan Bandera, who thereby became the symbol of 
the Ukrainian struggle for independence. 

In 1918 Poland was established as the Second Polish Republic. Its founders re-
garded this state as a successor to the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth (1569–
1795), which they referred to as the First Polish Republic. The Polish-Lithuanian 
Commonwealth was a premodern and very heterogeneous state ruled by the Polish 
nobility. During the last three decades of the eighteenth century, it was partitioned 
by the Habsburg Empire, the Kingdom of Prussia, and the Russian Empire, con-
sequently disappearing from the map of Europe. The territory of the Second Republic 
was smaller than that of the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth, but its population 
was still very heterogeneous. Ethnic Poles constituted up to 65 percent of the popu-
lation of the Second Republic, and the remainder consisted of national minorities, 
including Ukrainians, Jews, Germans, Lithuanians, Byelorussians, and Russians. 
Both the Little Treaty of Versailles—signed between minor powers and the League of 
Nations in 1919—and the constitutions adopted in Poland in 1921 and 1935, guaran-
teed all citizens of Poland the same rights and treated them as equal before the law. 
In reality, however, the national minorities in the Second Republic were frequently 
discriminated against, at political, social, educational, administrative, and cultural 
levels, or were even treated as second class citizens.39 

The Ukrainian nationalists and their illegal organizations were not the only Ukrai-
nian political bodies in the Second Republic, but they gained increasing support during 
the interwar period. The major Ukrainian political party in Poland was the Ukrainian 
National Democratic Alliance (Ukraїns’ke Natsional’no-Demokratychne Ob”iednan-
nia, UNDO), which was founded in 1925. The UNDO considered Polish rule over west-
ern Ukraine to be illegitimate, but it participated in the parliamentary elections, res-
pected the rules of democracy, and its leader Vasyl’ Mudryi was the deputy speaker of 
the Polish Sejm between 1935 and 1939. The UNDO wanted to establish a Ukrainian 
state but rejected terror and illegal subversive activities for that purpose. It sup-
ported the Ukrainian cooperative movement and wanted to improve the cultural, 
political, and social situation of Ukrainians in Poland. In terms of ideology it com-
bined democracy with nationalism and cooperated with the political parties of other 
national minorities. Its main Ukrainian rival was the Ukrainian Socialist Radical 
Party (Ukraїns’ka Sotsialistychno-Radykalna Partiia, USRP).40 

Poland was a predominantly rural country, whose political situation was unstable. 
Parliamentary democracy was endangered by various populist and authoritarian 
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parties, such as the nationalist and antisemitic Endecja. Because of the threat of this 
movement, Józef Piłsudski—one of the main founding fathers of the state, and leader 
of the Sanacja (sanation) movement—seized power in May 1926 by means of a coup 
d’état. He introduced a military dictatorship, combining socialism with romantic 
traditions and the type of moderate nationalism known in Poland as patriotism. 
Piłsudski stayed in power until his death in 1935, after which the regime moved to 
the right.41 

Polish officials and politicians frequently treated the national minorities in Pol-
and as inferior citizens or even as enemies. This only strengthened the nationalism of 
the Ukrainians and other national minorities in the Second Republic and exacer-
bated the political situation and interethnic relations.42 As the Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs put it in an analytical paper, the Ukrainians were perceived as a huge problem 
to the Polish state: “The Ukrainian question is not as difficult to solve as the Jewish 
one, it is not as dangerous as the German one, but it is the oldest one, and it is the 
most important one because the Ukrainian population is the largest national 
minority in the state.”43 

With about 5 million people, constituting about 16 percent of the entire popula-
tion, the Ukrainians were the largest minority in the Second Republic. In the south-
eastern part of the country, the Ukrainians constituted the majority, with about 3.5 
million in the formerly Habsburg eastern Galicia, and about 1.5 million in the for-
merly Russian Volhynia. Some 90 percent of Ukrainians lived in villages and small 
towns. Cities in south-eastern Poland were mainly inhabited by Jews and Poles.44 

The Sanacja and Endecja movements developed two separate policies toward the 
Ukrainians and other minorities in the Second Republic. The Sanacja followed the 
principle of state assimilation (asymilacja państwowa); and the Endecja, national 
assimilation (asymilacja narodowa). National assimilation required the minorities 
to become Polish and to give up their language and culture. State assimilation did not 
expect such cultural surrender but required loyalty to the Polish state. Such loyalty 
was against the interests of Galician and Volhynian Ukrainians, who neither wanted 
to become Polish nor to be loyal to the Polish state. As a result, even liberal and left-
wing Polish politicians of the Sanacja movement, who tried to improve Polish-
Ukrainian relations, never gave up the notion of teaching Ukrainians loyalty to the 
Polish state, in order to maintain the status quo of the Second Republic.45 

The Little Treaty of Versailles, which obliged the Polish authorities to guarantee 
all its citizens equal treatment, was perceived by the majority of Polish society as an 
unjust interference in the affairs of the Polish state and an affront to Poland’s sove-
reignty. The treaty was eventually renounced by Józef Beck, the Polish minister of 
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foreign affairs, on 13 September 1934 before the League of Nations.46 On the return 
of Beck from the meeting of the League in Geneva, a “triumphal greeting ceremony” 
took place. Musicians played the Polish anthem “Poland Is Not Yet Lost” and child-
ren handed flowers to Beck, while a crowd celebrated his “triumphal act in Geneva.”47 

Because of the comparatively liberal atmosphere of the former Habsburg Empire, 
the Ukrainians in Galicia had become more nationalist and rebellious than the 
Volhynian Ukrainians of the former Russian Empire. The Polish authorities therefore 
tried to isolate eastern Galicia from Volhynia. The governor of Volhynia in 1928–
1938, Henryk Józewski, was sympathetic toward Ukrainian culture. He tried to win 
the loyalty of the Ukrainians by introducing policies that were liberal in respect of 
Ukrainian culture, allowing Ukrainians to celebrate Ukrainian national holidays and 
to Ukrainize the Orthodox Church, which the Russian Empire had used in the nine-
teenth century as a tool of Russification. Simultaneously, Józewski was combating all 
individuals and movements that were not loyal to the Polish authorities. Such poli-
cies had the unwanted effect of arousing Ukrainian awareness among Volhynian 
Ukrainians and stimulated the growth of hidden hatred against the Polish state. The 
policy of teaching Ukrainians loyalty to the Polish state, while allowing Ukrainian 
patriotism, strengthened the collective wish to live in a Ukrainian state without 
Polish paternalism. Unlike the nationalists in Galicia, the radical Ukrainian elements 
in Volhynia during the interwar period were united by communism and organized in 
the Communist Party of Western Ukraine (Komunistychna partiia Zakhidnoї 
Ukraїny, or KPZU).48 

Ukrainians regarded the Polish state as an occupier, rather than as a legitimate 
authority. They not only withdrew their loyalty but also developed feelings of hatred 
toward Poland and Poles. Polish politicians frequently tried to induce loyalty to Pol-
and by repressing Ukrainian national aspirations. Polish schools and the teaching of 
Polish patriotism were intended as important tools for the enforcement of loyalty to 
the Polish state among the national minorities. The “Lex Grabski,” an educational act 
of 1924, which was named after the Polish education minister Stanisław Grabski, 
dissolved many Ukrainian schools and transformed some of them into bilingual 
Polish-Ukrainian schools (szkoły utrakwistyczne). The number of Ukrainian second-
ary schools in eastern Galicia was reduced from 2,426 in 1912, to 352 in 1927, and to 
144 in 1939. In eastern Galicia there was only one high school (gymnasium) for every 
16,000 Poles; but at the same time, there was only one for every 230,000 Ukrai-
nians. The number of bilingual schools—with which neither side was content—grew 
from 1,926 to 2,710.49 

In 1923 Stanisław Sobiński, chief education officer for the Lviv, Stanyslaviv, and 
Ternopil’ (Tarnopol) voivodeships, which covered the territory of eastern Galicia, 
introduced a regulation forbidding the use of the term “Ukrainian,” and allowing only 
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the use of “Ruthenian” (ruski) even in private Ukrainian high schools. Ukrainians 
regarded this regulation as a serious insult. On 19 October 1926 Sobiński was shot by 
UVO members Roman Shukhevych and Bohdan Pidhainyi.50 

Between 1918 and 1919, the Ukrainian language was abandoned at Lviv Univer-
sity as a language of instruction, and all Ukrainian chairs were suspended. After 14 
August 1919, only applicants who declared that they were Polish citizens could enroll 
at the university. For this and other reasons, many Ukrainian students boycotted 
Lviv University. The Polish authorities would have allowed a Ukrainian university 
but not in Lviv, the main city of western Ukraine. In July 1921, a secret Ukrainian 
university was founded. It existed until 1925 and was financed by Ukrainian organi-
zations and the Ukrainian diaspora. Between 1922 and 1923, the secret Ukrainian 
university had 1,014 students and sixty-five chairs. A Ukrainian Scientific Institute 
(Ukraiński Instytut Naukowy) was opened in 1930 in Warsaw. It was only in 1936 
that a chair in the Ukrainian language was established at Lviv University.51 

The Ukrainian nationalists used this situation. They portrayed Polish schools as 
an instrument for Polonizing the Ukrainians, and turning them into “traitors to the 
Ukrainian nation.” An OUN leaflet explained: 

The Poles want by means of schools and teachers to make you into faithful slaves, 
obedient and obsequious citizens of Poland; they want to teach you to hate every-
thing Ukrainian and love everything Polish. They want to make you into traitors 
of the Ukrainian Nation. … Therefore do not allow the enemies to make you into 
Janissaries! Do not allow Poles [liakhy] to turn you into their obedient slaves! 
You should be the knights and fighters for the freedom of Ukraine! There is a 
great holy war before you.52 

Similarly, Polish teachers were perceived as instruments of Polonization. Some of 
them were even shot at, as was the case in the village of Dubshche (Dubszcze) where 
a Polish teacher had replaced a Ukrainian.53 Another popular gesture was the prof-
anation of Polish state or national symbols, for instance flags, or portraits of such 
politicians and political idols of the Second Republic as Piłsudski. Such conduct 
sometimes provoked further violence, as at the school building in Berezhany (Brze-
zany) where OUN members tore down a Polish flag and threw it into a toilet. A local 
Ukrainian who criticized this act was found dead shortly afterwards. “Patriotic” 
demonstrations and other gatherings also resulted in casualties. In 1939 in Berezh-
any, Polish high school students organized a “funeral of Ukraine,” marching through 
the town with a coffin marked “Ukraine is dead.” After a few days, the bodies of two 
Poles who had taken part in the “funeral” were found in a river in a suburb.54 
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Although Poles made up only about 30 percent of the population of eastern Gali-
cia and Volhynia, they still possessed more land there than the Ukrainians. In addi-
tion, settlers (Pol. osadnicy), many of them veterans of the First World War, received 
land in the eastern parts of the country with the objective of strengthening the Polish 
element in those regions. This irritated the Ukrainian peasantry, most of whom pos-
sessed little land despite their efforts for decades to obtain more.55 

In general, Ukrainians had very good reasons to resent their Polish rulers. Even in 
regions with a predominantly Ukrainian population, Ukrainian civil servants were 
rare. The Ukrainian language was regarded by Polish officials as a substandard variety 
of Polish, and Ukrainian culture was perceived as inferior to Polish culture. By way of 
reaction to Polish nationalism and restrictions, Ukrainians withdrew from public life 
and formed their own organizations and cooperatives. Having completed their degrees, 
Ukrainians were often unable to make a career in public institutions or to find other 
employment, because of their ethnicity. Such people frequently ended up working for 
Ukrainian agricultural companies that hired only Ukrainians. To some extent the 
situation in the former eastern Galicia was similar to a state within a state.56 

Every year on 1 November, clashes between Poles and Ukrainians erupted in Lviv 
and in many other places in western Ukraine. On this date, Ukrainians commemorated 
the proclamation of the ZUNR, which organization had been defeated by the Poles.57 
On the night of 31 October–1 November 1928, a few weeks after Bandera moved to 
Lviv, the UVO tried to destroy two monuments devoted to Polish “defenders” of Lviv. 
In this incident, one policeman was wounded by gunshot. Ukrainian flags with the 
inscription “UVO” were hoisted at the university building, at the city council, and at 
the Union of Lublin Mound.58 On 1 November 1928 Ukrainian nationalists also hung 
a banner with the letters “UVO” above the Saint George Cathedral while a panakh-
yda (memorial service) was being celebrated inside. After the service, a crowd tried 
to march to the city center and there was a shootout with the police. In revenge, 
Polish youth demolished the buildings of several Ukrainian institutions, such as the 
Ukrainian Student House and the printing office of the newspaper Dilo.59 
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The second half of the 1930s was especially unfavorable for Polish-Ukrainian 
relations. It was not so much the renunciation of the Little Treaty of Versailles, or the 
assassination of the Polish interior minister Bronisław Wilhelm Pieracki by the OUN, 
both in 1934, but the political changes after Piłsudski’s death that intensified the 
Polish-Ukrainian conflict. After his death, Polish and Ukrainian politicians who 
worked to normalize Polish-Ukrainian relations were marginalized, and Polish poli-
cies toward the Ukrainians became more and more repressive. In these circums-
tances the competition between Ukrainian and Polish nationalism increased. In 
October 1938 the Polish police prevented demonstrations in favor of a Ukrainian 
Carpathian state. In response Ukrainian agricultural companies refused to deliver 
butter to Lviv and other cities, and Ukrainian nationalists set several Polish farms on 
fire. The Polish government reacted with collective punishment, conducting punitive 
expeditions against Ukrainian villagers and making mass arrests. Ukrainian 
politicians estimated that in late 1938 about 30,000 Ukrainians sat in Polish jails.60 

In 1939 local Polish politicians in Lublin were talking about the “extermination” of 
Ukrainians.61 A German journalist who travelled to the area in the spring of that year 
observed that the Ukrainian population hoped that “Uncle Führer” would bring order 
to the area and solve the problem of the Poles.62 In the last months before the Second 
World War, more and more Ukrainians participated in nationalist ceremonies. On 23 
May 1939, about 500 people came to the Saint George Cathedral to take part in a 
panakhyda for Konovalets’. Five days later, 4,000 came to a panakhyda at the graves of 
Sich Riflemen, where Ivan Hryn’okh delivered a sermon. Shortly after that, another 
panakhyda was organized at the graves of three famous nationalists—Vasyl’ Bilas, 
Dmytro Danylyshyn, and Ol’ha Basarab—of whom two were executed for killing a 
Polish politician and one was believed to have been murdered by Polish interrogators.63 

During the second half of the 1930s, more and more Ukrainians ceased to view the 
OUN as an alien and dangerous political body. At that time the UNDO and some other 
Ukrainian non-nationalistic parties ceased to mistrust the OUN, although they had 
condemned the terrorist methods of the UVO and the OUN since the early 1920s. In the 
late 1930s the majority of Ukrainians living in Poland began to consider Nazi Germany 
as a possible liberator and ally, as the OUN had done since the early 1920s. After 1939 
even democratic politicians such as Vasyl’ Mudryi or Kost’ Pan’kivs’kyi, who until then 
had condemned violence, fascism, and nationalist hatred, began to collaborate with 
Nazi Germany and to view the OUN as an important “liberation force.”64 In his 
memoirs, OUN member Ievhen Stakhiv observed that all Ukrainian movements and 
organizations, both in exile and in the Second Polish Republic, were orienting them-
selves toward Nazi Germany in the years leading up to the Second World War. They 
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hoped that Germany would smash Poland and give Ukrainians a chance to establish 
a state. They saw nothing wrong in cooperating with Nazi Germany and were con-
vinced that this might help them achieve their goals.65 After the Munich Agreement 
on 29 September 1938, the Ukrainians tried to establish a Carpatho-Ukrainian state, 
in territories that had belonged to Czechoslovakia and were inhabited by Ruthenians 
(Rusyny), people ethnically related to the Ukrainians. The Germans ignored the 
requests of the Ukrainian nationalists to recognize and support the state and allowed 
Hungary to occupy these territories; but the disappointment of Ukrainian 
nationalists concerning the proposed Carpathian-Ukrainian state did not change 
their attitude toward Nazi Germany.66 

The OUN: Racism, Fascism, Revolution, Violence, 
and the Struggle for a Ukrainian State 

In 1920 Ukrainian veterans of the Sich Riflemen, such as Ievhen Konovalets’, Andrii 
Mel’nyk, and Roman Sushko, founded the UVO in Prague. Its object was to continue 
the struggle for a Ukrainian state, but it became a terrorist organization. It financed 
itself by carrying out espionage-related tasks for other countries and did not play any 
important political role among Ukrainian parties. This situation changed, however, a 
few years later when the UVO leaders realized that, in order to become a dominant 
political force, they needed to incorporate other right-wing political organizations 
and to include youth in its ranks. For that purpose they founded the OUN at the First 
Congress of Ukrainian Nationalists, which was held in Vienna between 28 January 
and 3 February 1929. Throughout the 1930s the OUN was composed of a leadership 
in exile, and a homeland executive in Poland.67 

The main political goal of both the UVO in the 1920s and the OUN in the 1930s 
was to mobilize the “Ukrainian masses” for a revolution, as a result of which a violent 
conflict between Ukrainians and their “occupiers” would be triggered. The OUN 
believed that “only a national revolution can liberate a nation from slavery” and allow 
it to “achieve independence and statehood.”68 In referring to their “occupiers” the 
Ukrainian nationalists primarily meant Poland and the Soviet Union. Their foes were 
all non-Ukrainians who lived in the “Ukrainian ethnic territories,” particularly Jews, 
Poles, and Russians. Ukrainians who did not support the OUN’s vision of an ethni-
cally pure state and ultranationalist revolutionary policies were also perceived and 
persecuted as enemies, especially if they cooperated with the Polish authorities. One 
of these enemies was the UNDO, the largest Ukrainian party in the Second Republic, 
which aimed to achieve a Ukrainian state by legal means. Nevertheless, we should 
not forget that there was informal cooperation between the OUN and the right-wing 
faction of the UNDO. 69 
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To further its political aims, the OUN adopted two concepts of revolution: “per-
manent revolution” and “national revolution.” The two notions were interrelated but 
were not identical. In general, the “permanent revolution” was a process of preparing 
the Ukrainian people for the “national revolution,” which was intended to become an 
uprising or a revolutionary act, as a result of which the OUN would defeat their ene-
mies and establish a Ukrainian state.70 By planning the revolution, the OUN com-
bined many different elements that could help it seize power. It modeled itself on the 
Polish and Russian insurgents and revolutionaries in the nineteenth and twentieth 
centuries, and on the contemporary fascist and ultranationalist revolutionaries. After 
taking power in the “ethnic Ukrainian territories” the OUN would subordinate all 
non-loyal elements and establish a one-party system. The new authority would 
represent all social strata of Ukrainians, whose loyalty to the OUN would be 
enforced. The state the OUN planned to establish after the revolution would be 
dictatorial. Democracy was, for the OUN, a hostile and dangerous political system, 
distrusted by OUN members because of its non-nationalist nature.71 

The immediate target of UVO and OUN activities was the Second Polish Republic, 
which they perceived as an illegitimate “enemy-occupier” of the “ethnic Ukrainian 
territories.”72 Czechoslovakia and Romania were not regarded by the OUN as signifi-
cant enemies. Neither the UVO nor the OUN operated in Soviet Ukraine but they 
regarded the Soviet Union as the most dangerous enemy of the Ukrainians and the 
main occupier of Ukrainian territory. During the interwar period, the Soviet authori-
ties only became the target of OUN terror when OUN member Mykola Lemyk 
attempted to assassinate the Soviet consul in Lviv on 22 October 1933, but murdered 
the secretary of the consulate, Aleksei Mailov, by mistake.73 In various European 
countries, many UVO and OUN members living there were infiltrated by the Polish 
intelligence service and its informers.74 

The UVO and the OUN propagated a very western Ukrainian or Galician form of 
nationalism and they believed that Ukrainians in Soviet Ukraine would approve of its 
plans for “liberating Ukraine.” During the Second World War this belief would cause 
the OUN considerable problems, when the organization would be confronted for the 
first time with eastern Ukrainians and their dislike for ethnic nationalism, racism 
and fascism. The western Ukrainian or Galician form of nationalism was also not 
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entirely compatible with the mentality of Volhynian Ukrainians, who found it very 
difficult to comprehend the mystical nationalism of the Galician type.75 

The Generation Gap and the Transformation into a Mass Movement 

From the very beginning the OUN was divided into two generations: the older one born 
around 1890 and the younger one around 1910. The generations were divided by many 
factors, of which the most important seems to be the violence and brutality expe-
rienced by the older group during the First World War. The younger generation were 
not exposed to this experience, had a more romantic image of war, and were more 
eager to use violence. The older generation consisted of people such as Ievhen 
Konovalets’ (1891–1938), Andrii Mel’nyk (1890–1964), and Riko Iaryi (1898–1969). 
They had received their military training in the Austro-Hungarian army, had fought 
during and after the First World War in various armies and had tried to establish and 
preserve a Ukrainian state. As the result of pressure from the Polish authorities, or of 
their own choice, some of them emigrated from Poland after the First World War, to 
countries such as Germany, Czechoslovakia, Italy, and Lithuania.76 The most impor-
tant representatives of the OUN outside the Ukrainian area were Riko Iaryi in Berlin, 
Ievhen Onats’kyi in Italy, Ivan Reviuk-Bartovych in Lithuania, and Andrii Fedyna in 
Gdańsk (Danzig).77 

The younger generation of the OUN consisted of such people as Stepan Bandera, 
Iaroslav Stets’ko (1912–1986), Stepan Lenkavs’kyi (1904–1977), Volodymyr Ianiv 
(1908–1991), and Roman Shukhevych (1907–1950). Their life in the 1920s and 1930s 
was different from that of the older generation, who lived in more comfortable cir-
cumstances in exile.78 The younger generation, later referred to as the “Bandera genera-
tion,”79 was too young to fight in the First World War or to assist in the foundation of the 
UVO. The UVO and the OUN were for them fascinating secret organizations that could 
be joined only by brave Ukrainians who were ready to die for independence. This gen-
eration idealized the war much more than the older one. It believed that it had missed a 
war and hoped to fight another one. Leading individuals of this generation grew up in 
patriotic and religious western Ukrainian families. During their time at high school and 
university in the 1920s, they were active in the Organization of the Upper Grades of the 
Ukrainian High Schools (Orhanizatsiia Vyshchykh Klias Ukraїns’kykh Himnazii, 
OVKUH) and the Union of Ukrainian Nationalistic Youth (Soiuz ukraїns’koï 
natsionalistychnoї molodi, SUNM). These organizations cooperated with the UVO and 
later the OUN, and together with them or alone, organized various nationalist and 
religious commemorative events and demonstrations.80 

The process of opening the UVO to Galician youth, and transforming it into a Ukrai-
nian nationalist mass movement, began in the second half of the 1920s. For this pur-
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pose, the older generation, on the one hand, tried to win young Ukrainians from the 
OVKUH, SUNM, and other youthful organizations operating in the Second Republic.81 
The UVO leaders also established the paramilitary organization Dorost for children 
aged eight to fifteen, and the Iunatstvo for youth between fifteen and twenty-five.82 On 
the other hand, the UVO leaders tried to include other parties and political organiza-
tions. At the First Conference of Ukrainian Nationalists from 3 to 7 November 1927 in 
Berlin, the UVO leaders established the Leadership of the Ukrainian Nationalists (Pro-
vid Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv, PUN) and asked other organizations and parties such 
as the Legion of Ukrainian Nationalists (Lehiia Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv, LUN) and 
the UNDO to merge and to hand over their leadership to the PUN. This plan did not 
work because no group or party was really willing to give up its sovereignty and to sub-
ordinate itself to the PUN. The situation changed, however, after the OUN was founded. 
At this stage of the creation of a Ukrainian nationalist mass movement, a number of 
organizations, including the LUN, OVKUH, and SUNM, agreed to merge and to be 
represented by the PUN. The PUN consisted of leading OUN members and became a 
kind of synonym for the leadership in exile of the OUN. Konovalets’, the leader of the 
OUN, was the leader of the PUN.83 

The UVO did not disappear immediately after the foundation of the OUN but ex-
isted simultaneously with it for a few years, serving as a military arm of the OUN. The 
most active and vigorous new members came to the OUN from the OVKUH and 
SUNM. Zynovii Knysh characterized these individuals as ambitious, zealous, idealis-
tic, and willing to make sacrifices, but without any political experience.84 Among the 
organizations whose members went over to the OUN was the League of Ukrainian 
Fascists (Soiuz ukraïns’kykh fashystiv, SUF), which invented the fascist greeting 
“Glory to Ukraine!” (Slava Ukraїni!).85 

Ukrainian youth was also divided. Not all young Ukrainians supported the extreme 
version of Ukrainian nationalism represented by the OUN. The SUNM, for example, 
was divided into a radical branch, which consisted of OUN activists or sympathizers, 
and a moderate one, which sympathized with the UNDO. Relations between these two 
branches were so tense that students who belonged to the moderate branch of the 
SUNM, and who lived in the Ukrainian Academic House in Lviv, used an external can-
teen elsewhere, in order to avoid eating together with the fascistized nationalists.86 

The younger generation began to control the homeland executive of the OUN in 
1931–1932. This political body was subordinated to the leadership in exile but it was in 
charge of OUN policy in eastern Galicia and Volhynia. Stepan Okhrymovych, an SUNM 
member, became the leader of the homeland executive in 1931. He entrusted its propa-
ganda apparatus to his friend, schoolmate, and fellow-member of Plast, Stepan Ban-
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dera. According to Mirchuk, Okhrymovych and Bandera had studied Mikhnovs’kyi’s 
Samostiina Ukraїna together during their high school years in Stryi (Stryj).87 

In May 1932, Bohdan Kordiuk became the new Providnyk of the homeland exec-
utive; Bandera became the deputy leader; Volodymyr Ianiv became the head of the 
political-ideological apparatus; Iaroslav Stets’ko, Ianiv’s deputy; Roman Shukhevych, 
the head of the military apparatus.88 The younger generation, although formally 
dependent on the leadership in exile, attempted to formulate its own policies. In so 
doing, they soon proved themselves even more radical than the older generation. 
They were more willing to make sacrifices, to use terror as a political means, and to 
kill OUN members and other Ukrainians accused of working for the Polish police, 
and of other forms of betrayal. This difference manifested itself in particular after 
Bandera became the leader of the OUN’s homeland executive in June 1933.89 

Although the younger generation was generally more radical and fanatical, it did 
not necessarily adopt ideas that were more fascist in nature than those of the older 
generation. In the late 1920s and 1930s the main propagators of fascism in the OUN 
were Mykola Stsibors’kyi and Ievhen Onats’kyi. Like Dontsov, these men worked on 
a Ukrainian concept of fascism. Andrii Mel’nyk, who succeeded Konovalets’ as leader 
of the OUN, seems also to have been an adherent of fascism. In a letter to Joachim 
von Ribbentrop on 2 May 1938, Mel’nyk claimed that the OUN was “ideologically 
akin to similar movements in Europe, especially to National Socialism in Germany 
and Fascism in Italy.”90 At the Second General Congress of the OUN in August 1939 
in Rome, the title of Vozhd’ was used officially for the first time in the history of the 
organization and was bestowed upon Mel’nyk.91 The younger generation, on the 
other hand, had adopted various fascist principles, such as the Führerprinzip, mainly 
thanks to their favorite writer Dontsov. In leaflets that were obviously produced by 
them for Pentecost 1934, Konovalets’ was characterized as the “leader of the Ukrai-
nian nation and the national revolution.”92 

The younger OUN members committed spectacular acts of terror and were encour-
aged to do so by older members of the leadership in exile, who used the publicity for the 
purpose of collecting funds from Ukrainians living in North America. They advertised 
terror as a patriotic struggle against the occupiers. Trials after assassinations were 
used to inform the global community about the Ukrainian question. At a conference 
in June 1933 in Berlin, Konovalets’ did not formally approve Bandera’s proposal to 
use terror, but he did not try to stop the terrorist acts of the younger generation.93 

After Pieracki’s assassination, the mass arrests conducted in June 1934 caused 
chaos in the OUN. Bandera, as the leader of the homeland executive, was succeeded by 
Osyp Mashchak, who, after his arrest on 20 December 1934, was followed by the more 
moderate Lev Rebet. After Bandera’s arrest, the homeland executive put a stop to the 
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assassinations and other spectacular propagandist actions and concentrated on 
strengthening the structure of the movement in Volhynia. More and more Ukrainians 
became involved in the movement. Shortly before the beginning of the Second World 
War, the OUN counted between 8,000 and 20,000 members and had several thou-
sand sympathizers.94 

Ethnic and Political Violence 

During the interwar period the UVO and the OUN tried to assassinate a number of 
Poles, Ukrainians, Jews, and Russians, but not always successfully. Some of the Polish 
potential victims such as Józef Piłsudski were regarded as the founders or important 
statesmen of an “occupying power.” Others such as Tadeusz Hołówko, head of the De-
partment for Eastern Affairs in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and Henryk Józewski, 
governor of Volhynia, were committed to Polish-Ukrainian reconciliation. Ukrainians 
such as high school director Ivan Babii and the journalist and political activist Sydir 
Tverdokhlib did not approve of the measures of the OUN and cooperated with the 
Polish authorities. After Bandera became the leader of the homeland executive, a num-
ber of OUN members, such as Iakiv Bachyns’kyi and Maria Kovaliukivna, were mur-
dered by the organization. In addition to carrying out political assassinations, the 
OUN killed a number of people in the course of armed robberies of banks, post 
offices, police stations, and private households.95 

The OUN regarded terror as a propaganda tool that would draw international atten-
tion to the situation of Ukrainians in Poland and Soviet Ukraine, and also to its “strug-
gle for liberation.” In terms of publicity, assassinations were the most powerful type of 
terror acts. In reaction to some Ukrainian mass terror acts, the Polish authorities 
reacted with counter-terror. Between 12 July and 24 September 1930 for example, with 
the help of its youthful associates, the OUN set fire to Polish crops and farm buildings, 
and destroyed railway tracks and telecommunication lines. On 16 September 1930, in 
order to put an end to this violence, the Polish authorities began a campaign, euphe-
mistically called pacification (Pol. pacyfikacja), which lasted until 30 November 
1930. For the purpose of suppressing the OUN terror, the Polish authorities used the 
army and police. A number of Ukrainians accused of supporting the OUN were 
arrested, humiliated, beaten, and otherwise mistreated. A few were killed. The 
scouting organization Plast was banned, and the three Ukrainian high schools were 
closed. It is not known whether the OUN conducted the arson and sabotage in order 
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to spark off an uprising, to provoke a bloody reaction, or to prevent negotiations 
between Polish and Ukrainian politicians. The pacification did, however, give the 
OUN and a number of other political Ukrainian organizations grounds for complaint 
to the League of Nations, concerning the policies of the Polish government and the 
situation of Ukrainians in Poland. The attention of several international newspapers 
was also drawn to the mistreatment of Ukrainians in Poland.96 

It is difficult to establish how many people the UVO and OUN killed between 1921 
and 1939. Relying on information supplied by Petro Mirchuk, Alexander Motyl esti-
mated that the UVO and OUN attempted to kill sixty-three persons between 1921 and 
1939: thirty-six Ukrainians, twenty-five Poles, one Russian, and one Jew. It should be 
noted that Mirchuk was an OUN member and the head of a division of the propaganda 
apparatus in the national executive in 1939. After the Second World War, he extolled 
the UVO, OUN, and UPA in his numerous publications, whitewashing a substantial 
number of their crimes. Motyl added correctly that, in his opinion, the actual number 
of persons killed by the UVO and OUN may well have been higher.97 Maksym Hon, a 
specialist on the subject of Jewish-Ukrainian relations, proved that Mirchuk’s sugges-
tion, that only one Jew was killed by the OUN, was false.98 The application of common 
sense and the use of historical literature and archival documents also cast doubt on 
Mirchuk’s estimates. This is particularly apparent when we consider that the UVO and 
OUN had many members in the villages and smaller towns of eastern Galicia and Vol-
hynia, where they killed people not only for political but also for economic and other 
reasons. By 1922 the UVO had already set 2,200 Polish farms on fire.99 In 1937 alone, 
the OUN carried out 830 violent acts against Polish citizens or their property. Of these 
offences, 540 were classified by the Security Service of the Polish Interior Ministry as 
anti-Polish, 242 as anti-Jewish, sixty-seven as anti-Ukrainian, and seventeen as anti-
Communist.100 Unfortunately, no comprehensive study of this question has been 
carried out, and we can therefore only estimate that the number of victims killed by the 
UVO and OUN in the interwar period was at least several hundred. 

Cooperation, Exile, and Funding 

Countries such as Germany and Lithuania supported OUN newspapers and journals, 
provided the organization with passports, and arranged military courses for their 
members. With the help of the Humboldt-Stiftung, the Germans also supported 
Ukrainian nationalist student organizations at the University of Technology in 
Gdańsk (Danzig) and at other universities. The UVO and the OUN were therefore 
dependent on Germany and Lithuania and provided them with espionage services in 
return. Germany and Lithuania also supported the Ukrainian nationalists because 
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they regarded Poland as their countries’ enemy, and like the Ukrainians, they laid 
claim to parts of Polish territories. Some UVO and OUN politicians, such as Osyp 
Dumin, were willing to collaborate with the Soviet Union, but it is not clear whether 
the Soviet authorities actually financed the UVO or the OUN. According to the Polish 
Intelligence Service, the OUN also collaborated with the British Secret Intelligence 
Service. The relationships between the UVO-OUN and these supporting states were 
frequently based on cooperation between the OUN and a particular institution—in 
Germany, for example, the Abwehr (military intelligence). In official statements 
however, the OUN denied that it cooperated with other countries, and it claimed to 
be financially and politically independent. Ukrainian emigrants, particularly those 
living in North America, also provided a further source of income for the OUN. For 
example, the Ukrainian War Veterans’ Association and the Ukrainian National Fed-
eration raised $40,000 for the UVO combat fund and the OUN liberation fund 
between 1928 and 1939. In addition, the robbery of banks, post offices, and private 
persons in Poland provided the OUN with supplementary income.101 

One important reason why the OUN collaborated with Germany was the political 
order established by the Treaty of Versailles. after the First World War. Because Ger-
many had lost many territories, it intended to reverse the geopolitical order established 
by the Allies. At the same time, the Ukrainians were, in an even worse situation than 
Germany was. The Treaty of Versailles left them without a state and made Germany 
their most important partner. Two events that affected—but did not interrupt—the 
cooperation between the OUN and Germany and Lithuania were the German-Polish 
non-aggression pact signed on 26 January 1934 and the assassination of Minister Pier-
acki by the OUN on 15 June 1934. On the day of Pieracki’s murder, the German minister 
of propaganda was on an official visit to Warsaw. Mykola Lebed’, who was suspected 
of carrying out Pieracki’s assassination, fled shortly afterwards to Germany. Despite 
friendly German-Ukrainian relations, he was then expelled to Poland at the request 
of Józef Lipski, the Polish ambassador in Berlin. After the German-Polish non-
aggression pact, German politicians promised not to cooperate with the OUN. Nev-
ertheless, both the Abwehr and Lithuanian politicians continued to collaborate with 
the OUN during the second half of the 1930s.102 
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Mussolini’s Italy was another important partner of the OUN, as was the Croatian 
Ustaša, which was founded in 1929. Similarly to the OUN, the Ustaša operated until 
the Second World War as an ultranationalist terrorist organization. Like the OUN, it 
fought for an independent state against its “occupiers” and against its ethnic and 
political enemies in Croatia. Contact with Ustaša leader Ante Pavelić was established 
in late 1933 or early 1934 in Berlin, where Pavelić met with Iaryi and Lebed’. After 
this meeting the two OUN members visited the Ustaša camp in Italy.103 During the 
course of the cooperation between the two organizations, some OUN members were 
trained together with Ustaša activists in paramilitary camps in Italy, which were 
established and sponsored by Mussolini. A leading OUN member, Mykhailo Kolod-
zins’kyi, gave military courses in this camp. He also began work there on “The War 
Doctrine of the Ukrainian Nationalists,” an important OUN document in which he 
planned a Ukrainian uprising, propagated the cult of war, and presented a Ukrainian 
version of imperialism, which was intended to protect “our own race” and to extend 
the Ukrainian territories.104 Kolodzins’kyi argued in “The War Doctrine” that during 
a national uprising, the western Ukrainian territories should be fully “cleansed” of 
Poles, and also that “the more Jews killed during the uprising, the better for the 
Ukrainian state.”105 OUN member Zynovii Knysh characterized the relationship 
between the Ukrainian and Croatian revolutionary nationalists as very warm: 

The Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists had good relations with the leading 
circles of the revolutionary Croatian organization Ustaša. These relations, 
between the two Leaderships, became even closer in exile, outside the borders of 
Croatia. … In general, Croatians—and in particular Croatian students—respected 
the OUN, trusted their members, regarded the Ukrainian nationalists as more 
experienced in matters of revolutionary struggle, and invited them to their 
discussions, meetings, and congresses.106 

The relationship between Italy and the Ukrainian and Croatian revolutionary na-
tionalists was complicated by the assassination of Pieracki by the OUN, and the assassi-
nation of King Alexander I of Yugoslavia and French foreign minister Louis Barthou in 
Marseilles on 9 October 1934 by the Internal Macedonian Revolutionary Organization 
(Vnatrešna makedonska revolucionerna organizacija, VMRO). During the Pieracki 
trial, it was revealed that Mussolini supported the Ustaša, which was also involved in 
the assassination in Marseilles. The revelation of the cooperation of Italy with the OUN 
and Ustaša was very inconvenient for Mussolini. The simultaneous trials in respect of 
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the killings of Alexander I and of Pieracki further complicated the situation.107 As the 
facts became known, Mussolini decided to detain the OUN and Ustaša members in two 
separate localities in Sicily. The OUN stayed in the village of Tortorici until June 1937. 
Among the OUN members recruited by Mussolini was Stepan Bandera’s brother Olek-
sandr, who had come to Italy in early 1933 as a student together with three other 
young Ukrainians. Oleksandr lived at first in Rome on a grant from the Italian gov-
ernment. After coming to Rome and beginning his studies in political science, Olek-
sandr and two other Ukrainian students in Rome joined the Italian student fascist 
group, Gruppi universitari fascisti, in order to establish contact with Italian fascist 
youth. In Rome, they also founded the Ukrainian student organization Zaravo, to 
familiarize Ukrainian students there with nationalist politics.108 

As already indicated, the OUN became very popular among Ukrainian emigrants, 
especially in the second half of the 1930s. Two other influential groups uniting 
Ukrainian émigrés were the conservative group led by Hetman Skoropads’kyi, and 
the Ukrainian National Association (Ukraїns’ke Natsional’ne Obiednannia, UNO). 
The OUN competed for German funding, particularly with the Hetmanite group, 
which controlled the Ukrainian Scientific Institute (Ukrainisches Wissenschaftliches 
Institut, UWI) in Berlin. The OUN, however, had significant influence on Ukrainian 
student organizations in Germany, such as Zarevo, Osnova, and Sich. In the second 
half of the 1930s, the OUN also began to take control of the UNO and some other 
émigré organizations, which, like the OUN, developed an interest in cooperation with 
Germany and began to regard Ukrainian nationalism as a movement belonging to the 
family of European fascist movements.109 These groups, like the OUN, began empha-
sizing that Ukrainian nationalism was equal to National Socialism and other fascist 
and nationalist movements, and states, which anticipated the opportunity to combat 
communism and to change the geopolitical order in Europe: 

The future Ukrainian state will be a state that is based on National Socialist fun-
damental principles. Ukrainians use the word “nationalism” in the sense of 
“National Socialism” or “Fascism.” Ukrainians are on cordial terms with other 
contemporary nationalistic states and nations because they see in them healthy 
forces that will combat Bolshevism.110 
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Ukrainian students in Canada were convinced, like their colleagues in Europe, that 
Hitler, Mussolini, and Franco were doing good work. A significant number of Ukrai-
nian First World War veterans in Canada, who were united in the Ukrainian National 
Federation (UNF), supported the OUN and its racial plans for Ukraine. Like the OUN, 
they regarded parliamentary democracy as a sham. In 1933 the Ukrainian Canadian 
newspaper Novyi shliakh, which was controlled by the Ukrainian War Veteran’s 
Association (UWVA), compared Konovalets’ to Hitler and Mussolini.111 According to 
Karol Grünberg and Bolesław Sprengel, Konovalets’ met Hitler in 1933. After the 
meeting, the leader of the OUN appealed to Ukrainians to support the Führer 
because he would “open the doors to the East.”112 

Ideology 

The ideology of Ukrainian nationalism provided the OUN with orientation, united its 
members, and allowed them to avoid qualms of conscience when acting in criminal 
or ethically unacceptable ways. The main ideologist of this radical form of Ukrainian 
nationalism was Dmytro Dontsov, a spiritual father of the OUN, who, however, never 
formally belonged to the organization. Dontsov and other leading ideologists of the 
OUN—such as Mykola Stsibors’kyi, Ievhen Onats’kyi, Volodymyr Martynets’, and 
Iaroslav Orshan—regarded Ukrainian nationalism as one of the European fascist 
movements. Ideology was also for Dontsov a “secular religion.” In order to be effec-
tive, it ought not be contaminated or questioned. Believers in the ideology of Ukrai-
nian nationalism were, according to him, expected to “maintain the purity of one’s 
own ideology, clear in content and active of will, as well as a faith that knows no 
doubts. If we lose this ideology, then the most heroic efforts of the nation will be 
branded as banditry. If we maintain it, then we will attain everything.”113 

The OUN leaders in exile respected Dontsov and regarded him as their main ide-
ologist and intellectual guide. On several occasions, they tried to persuade him to join 
the organization and to become the head of its ideological department, but he never 
accepted. Because he lived in Poland he might have feared arrest had he joined the 
OUN. For the same reasons he did not direct his criticism against the Poles and the 
Second Republic. Another reason why Dontsov did not join the organization was to 
keep his distance from the older OUN members. Dontsov did not regard that gener-
ation as the “new type of man” he was interested in creating. By the same token, he 
was more enthusiastic about the younger generation, encouraging them to break 
with Ukrainian traditions and the existing political Ukrainian parties and to create 
their own new revolutionary fascist movement. Many young Ukrainians of the Ban-
dera generation followed him.114 
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For his ideological purposes, Dontsov simplified and vulgarized the writings of 
such philosophers as Friedrich Nietzsche, Johann Gottlieb Fichte, and Jean-Jacques 
Rousseau. Because of this philosophical undertone, his texts were not comprehensi-
ble to all, but they were particularly popular among high school and university youth. 
Members of the OVKUH and the SUNM read them eagerly, felt enchanted by them, 
and encouraged other young Ukrainians to study them. In his ideology, Dontsov 
sought to reverse the common or universal system of values and morality. The fun-
damental concepts of his ideology included romanticism, dogmatism, fanaticism, 
and also amorality (amoral’nist’). Dontsov argued that all deeds that would help 
Ukrainians to achieve a Ukrainian state, regardless of their nature, were moral and 
right. He thereby encouraged the younger generation to reject “common ethics” and 
to embrace fanaticism because, as he claimed, only fanaticism could change history 
and enable the Ukrainians to establish a state. Dontsov’s new system of morality was 
obviously problematic, because it justified all kinds of crimes and violence as long as 
they were conducted for the good of the nation, or in order to achieve statehood. In 
general, the ideologist of the Bandera generation copied many of his ideas from other 
European far-right and fascist discourses, in particular German and Italian.115 

Dontsov also tried to break with the moderate and past-orientated nationalism that 
such people as Drahomanov, Hrushevs’kyi, and Franko had shaped. The Ukrainian 
radical right ideologist blamed these thinkers for their interest in socialism, their pref-
erence for universal rather than national morality, and for being moderate, rational, 
and eager to make compromises. He called the earlier thinkers drahomanivtsi, after 
Drahomanov, whose thinking was influenced by the nineteenth-century socialist dis-
courses.116 Dontsov claimed that the drahomanivtsi were responsible for the lack of a 
state and for the weakness of Ukrainian nationalism.117 Like the ideologists of the 
OUN, he also vehemently disapproved of democracy and liberalism.118 

Dontsov began to admire fascism in late 1922. By 1926 he had already translated 
parts of Hitler’s Mein Kampf into Ukrainian and had published them. For Dontsov, 
Hitler was the ideal of a fascist leader. The Ukrainian ideologist compared the Führer to 
Jesus and to Saint Joan of Arc. In addition to extreme nationalism and fascism, Dont-
sov also popularized antisemitism. In the late 1930s, he opted for the racist kind of 
antisemitism preached and practiced by the National Socialists in the German Reich.119 
Nazi Germany was for him the ideal fascist state, although it was the Italian Fascists 
who first drew his attention to the phenomenon of fascism. In 1932 Dontsov translated 
Mussolini’s The Doctrine of Fascism (La Dottrina Del Fascismo) into Ukrainian and 
published it.120 In 1934 a biography of Mussolini by Mykhailo Ostroverkha appeared as 
the first volume of the Knyhozbirnia Vistnyka (library of Vistnyk), which was edited by 
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Dontsov. In the same year, Knyhozbirnia Vistnyka published a biography of Hitler 
by Rostyslav Iendyk. Both biographies were written in the genre of hagiography and 
far-right propaganda, and both began with an apologetic introduction by Dontsov. 
Mussolini and Hitler were presented as modern, trendsetting politicians and as the 
embodiments of movements that guaranteed order and peace in Europe. These bio-
graphies familiarized Ukrainians with the concept of a fascist leader who rules by vir-
tue of the will of the nation and symbolizes the nation. In addition, Vistnyk published 
writings by such Nazi ideologists as Joseph Goebbels and Alfred Rosenberg.121 
According to the memoirs of Lev Rebet, leader of the homeland executive from 1934 
until 1938, Ukrainian nationalist youth read Vistnyk very enthusiastically, and their 
ideas were extensively shaped by this journal.122 

Dontsov regarded the interwar Ukrainian nationalism as a form of fascism. He 
radicalized and modified Ukrainian nationalism in order to integrate it into the fam-
ily of European fascist movements. His attempts to familiarize western Ukrainian 
youth with this political phenomenon were quite successful. In 1934, the same year 
in which Hitler’s and Mussolini’s biographies were published by Knyhozbirnia Vist-
nyka, Volodymyr Levyns’kyi observed: “Oh, how widespread is the cult of Mussolini, 
Hitler, and other fascist strongmen among Ukrainian students! How many little 
Mussolinis and Hitlers have sprung up under the influence of Dontsov’s writings!”123 

Many Ukrainian students and high school pupils dreamed of being a Führer or a 
Duce. There were debates among Ukrainian nationalists about the two fascist lead-
ers, the systems they represented, and the states they ruled. Because of his funda-
mental antisemitism and anticommunism, and the way he seized power in Germany, 
Hitler was more popular than Mussolini among many Ukrainian nationalists. In 
1935, Ihor Virlyi wrote that Hitler fascinated western Ukrainians, because he “wrote 
on his banners: Perish, Jew!—because the Jews were propagators of the communist 
pattern, and he was striking at the foundations of communism.”124 The teacher Sofiia 
Rusova noticed that, when her grandson joined the scouting organization Plast, 
which, according to him, was full of nationalists, he began to take a great interest in 
nationalism, Mussolini, and Hitler.125 

The verdict of not guilty in the trial of Sholom Schwartzbard—who had murdered 
Symon Petliura in Paris on 25 May 1926—had a significant influence on Dontsov’s at-
titude to Jews. Schwartzbard was found not guilty, having claimed that he had killed 
Petliura to avenge the pogroms that Petliura’s army had committed in Ukraine.126 
The verdict had a strong impact on Ukrainian nationalists who, after the trial, ceased 
to veil their antisemitism. Dontsov became one of the main propagators of antisemit-
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ism among the Ukrainian ideologists. On the one hand, he attacked Jews as a “race.” 
On the other hand, he adapted antisemitism to the Ukrainian political situation by 
associating Jews with the Soviet Union, which he viewed as the main “occupier” of 
Ukrainian territory and the main enemy of Ukrainians. For Dontsov, the Jews were 
guilty for many reasons, but not as guilty as the Russians who were the actual “oc-
cupiers” of Ukraine. In reaction to the Schwartzbard trial, Dontsov claimed that the 
Russian and the Jewish problem were interwoven and that the Ukrainians must solve 
the Russian problem in order to be able to solve the Jewish question: 

This murder is an act of revenge by an agent of Russian imperialism against a person 
who became a symbol of the national struggle against Russian oppression. It does 
not matter that in this case a Jew became an agent of Russian imperialism. … We 
have to and we will fight against the aspiration of Jewry to play the inappropriate 
role of lords in Ukraine. … No other government took as many Jews into its service 
as did the Bolsheviks, and one might expect that like Pilate the Russians will wash 
their hands and say to the oppressed nations, “The Jew is guilty of everything.” 

Jews are guilty, terribly guilty, because they helped consolidate Russian rule in 
Ukraine, but “the Jew is not guilty of everything.” Russian imperialism is guilty of 
everything. Only when Russia falls in Ukraine will we be able to settle the Jewish 
question in our country in a way that suits the interest of the Ukrainian people.127 

The younger generation in the OUN adopted Dontsov’s characterization of Jews 
and repeated it in the resolutions of the Second Great Congress, held by the OUN-B 
in April 1941 in Cracow.128 When, on 7 June 1936, the OUN commemorated the death 
of Symon Petliura, OUN activists distributed leaflets with the message: “Attention, 
kill and beat the Jews for our Ukrainian leader Symon Petliura, the Jews should be 
removed from Ukraine, long live the Ukrainian state.”129 

The modern kind of antisemitism, which defined Jews as a race and not as a reli-
gious group, became popular among Ukrainian nationalists, especially in the 1930s. 
This antisemitism was popularized in publications such as The Jewish Problem in 
Ukraine, a brochure written by OUN member and ideologist Volodymyr Martynets’, 
who was fascinated by the Nuremberg Laws of 1935. Unlike Dontsov, who claimed that 
the Jews were the helpers of the Russian imperialists and were pillars of the Soviet 
Union, Martynets’ adapted the antisemitic discourse of the National Socialists in 
Germany. Like them, he defined the “Jewish problem” as a “racial issue.” And like 
the Nazis, he claimed that the Ukrainian nation was the victim of the Jews, on which 
they preyed. For Martynets’, the “Jewish problem” in Ukraine was more difficult than 
in other European countries, because there were more Jews in Ukraine than else-
where in Europe. Particularly problematic were the cities, which were inhabited more 
by Jews than by Ukrainians. Martynets’ claimed that it was necessary to “cleanse” the 
cities of Jews, and thus solve the “vital problem of the [Ukrainian] nation.” The first 
step to solve the “Jewish problem” would be to isolate them from Ukrainians. Marty-
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nets’ argued that the Jews would otherwise corrupt the psychology and the blood of 
the Ukrainian race, and contaminate the Ukrainian nation. Every kind of direct 
coexistence with Jews was therefore undesirable. In order to prevent the interrela-
tion between the two “races,” Jews were to have their own schools, newspapers, res-
taurants, cafes, theatres, brothels, and cabarets, and were to be forbidden the use of the 
Ukrainian equivalents. Intermarriage between Jews and Ukrainians had to be for-
bidden, as in Germany.130 

The OUN actively put the antisemitic components of the ideology of Ukrainian 
nationalism into practice. In 1935 OUN activists conducted an operation, during 
which they smashed windows in Jewish houses in the Zhydachiv (Żydaczów), Kalush 
(Kałusz), Stanyslaviv, and Stryi districts.131 At a meeting in July 1936 in Volhynia, the 
OUN in the Kostopil’ (Kostopol) raion (district) concluded that “Jews are harmful to 
the Ukrainian nation.” Soon afterwards, OUN activists in the Kostopil’ raion set sev-
eral Jewish houses on fire. Approximately one hundred Jewish families were left 
without a roof over their heads as a result of this arson.132 

Of the Ukrainians living in the Second Republic, it was not only Ukrainian national-
ists who were obsessed with “Jewish Bolshevism.” This antisemitic stereotype was also 
widespread among the so-called Ukrainian democratic parties. The UNDO claimed in 
autumn 1936 that “Jews are the most faithful and almost sole propagators of commun-
ism.”133 While antisemitism was thriving in the 1930s, western Ukrainians denied 
their antisemitism and made fun of the fact that others perceived them as anti-
semites (Fig. 1). 

Related to antisemitism was the OUN’s fascination with fascism. After promoting 
the UVO and OUN in the United States, OUN member Ievhen Liakhovych was stay-
ing in London and tried to meet with Sir Oswald Mosley, Britain’s leading fascist 
politician. Instead, he was able to meet with the chief of the propaganda department 
and his deputy. During this talk, Liakhovych explained the nature of Ukrainian anti-
semitism to his fascist counterpart: “Antisemitism is an irrational and unjustifiable 
hatred. ... We [the OUN] are combating the Jews because they have always done us 
harm.” His interlocutor agreed with him that the situation was similar in England.134 

In Natsiokratiia, a treatise written in 1935, leading OUN member and ideologist 
Mykola Stsibors’kyi condemned democracy, socialism, and communism; at the same 
time, he praised fascism and dictatorship. He introduced a political system that he 
called natsiokratiia—the “dictatorship of the nation”—and proposed that it would 
become the political system of the state that the OUN would establish in the course of 
a national revolution. Stsibors’kyi himself could not decide whether natsiokratiia was 
fascist or not. On the one hand, he claimed that the “Ukrainian state will be neither 
fascist nor National Socialist,” that Ukrainian nationalism was a singular and inde-
pendent movement, and that it was only their foes who accused Ukrainian nationalists 
of being fascists. On the other hand, however, he claimed that “fascism itself is first of 
all nationalism: the love of one’s own motherland, patriotic feeling brought to the level 
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Fig. 1. The front page of the satirical magazine Komar, 15 February 1934. 

of self-sacrifice, and the cult of self-sacrificing fanaticism.” More important than Stsi-
bors’kyi’s indecision and ambiguity is the fact that natsiokratiia was modeled on fasc-
ism. According to natsiokratiia, the Ukrainian state would be ruled by the “Leader of 
the Nation [Vozhd’ Natsiї], the greatest of the great sons of the nation who, due to the 
general trust of the nation and to his own integral attributes, will hold in his hand the 
power of the state.”135 
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After Germany attacked Poland on 1 September 1939, Mel’nyk asked Stsibors’kyi 
to write a constitution for a Ukrainian state. According to Stsibors’kyi’s draft, natsio-
kratiia would be the official political system of the Ukrainian state, as he had pro-
posed in his 1935 treatise. According to the draft constitution, the Ukrainian state 
was to be based on the totalitarian dictatorship of a nation that would be defined in a 
nationalist and racial sense and would therefore guarantee rights to ethnic Ukrai-
nians alone. Other than the OUN, all political groups, parties, and other such 
organizations would be forbidden. As in natsiokratiia, the leader of the OUN would 
be the “Head of the State—The Leader of the Nation [Holova Derzhavy-Vozhd’ 
Natsiї],” whose period of office would be unlimited. In this sense, all aspects of 
political, social, and cultural life would be controlled by the OUN, the only legal party 
and organization in the state.136 

According to the OUN’s concept of fascism, the nation would be represented by 
and subordinated to the leader (Vozhd’ or Providnyk), who would be the head of the 
OUN. This was the same absolute authority of the leader that the Nazis called 
Führerprinzip. Within the OUN, the Führerprinzip concept was officially introduced 
at the Second Great Congress of the Ukrainian Nationalists on 27 August 1939 in 
Rome, but the idea had already manifested itself previously, as for example in 
Natsiokratiia in 1935, and in the behavior of the OUN members during their trials in 
Warsaw and Lviv in 1935 and 1936.137 

Fascism became very popular among Ukrainian nationalists during the 1930s. 
The OUN was its main but not its only promoter in Ukraine. Two other important 
persons who sympathized with fascism were Dmytro Paliїv, founder of the Front of 
National Unity (Front natsional’noї iednosti, FNIe) and of the newspaper Novyi 
Chas, and the Ukrainophile, Wilhelm von Habsburg.138 In the 1930s a group of young 
people in Przemyśl, set up a Society of Fascist Studies (Tovarystvo fashyzmoz-
navstva). In a letter to Dontsov they stated that “Fascism is a universal phenomenon, 
because it is not a political doctrine but an entire worldview of indestructible prin-
ciples based on religion and morality.” Further they asked Dontsov to contribute to 
their journal, to give them leadership and guidance. They finished their letter with 
this statement: “Fascism, as a worldview, completely corresponds with the historical 
traditions and the present-day Ukrainian ideological currents whose initiator and 
propagator is Dr. Dmytro Dontsov.”139 

Racism, in the Ukrainian context, was very much related to the idea of indepen-
dence (samostiinist’). Racist thinkers argued that Ukraine should become an indepen-
dent state because it was inhabited by a particular race, which needed an independent 
nation state to develop all of its features. The OUN’s racism can be traced back to 
Mikhnovs’kyi’s appeal, “Do not marry a foreign woman because your children will be 
your enemies,” which OUN members took literally.140  
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The Ukrainian geographer Stepan Rudnyts’kyi (1887–1937) was another im-
portant Ukrainian intellectual who popularized racism and eugenics in the Ukrainian 
nationalist discourse. Rudnyts’kyi worked together with Hrushevs’kyi on the origins 
of the Ukrainian nation. He provided Hrushevs’kyi’s historical theory with an essen-
tial geographical component, defining the “natural territory” or the “living space” 
(Ger. Lebensraum) of the Ukrainian people.141 In his book Ukraine. The Land and Its 
People, published in 1910, Rudnyts’kyi claimed that “for one thousand two hundred 
years, the Ukrainian race has resided in this region, and has been able, not only to 
preserve its boundaries, but, after heavy losses, to regain and even to pass beyond 
them.”142 He described the Ukrainian “race” as of “tall stature, with long legs and 
broad shoulders, strongly pigmented complexion, dark, rich, curly hair, rounded 
head and long face with a high broad brow, dark eyes, straight nose, strongly devel-
oped elongated lower part of the face, medium mouth and small ears.”143 One 
important reason for such a racialist characterization of Ukrainians was the wish to 
distinguish them from Poles and Russians. Rudnyts’kyi stated that “anthropological 
differences of the Ukrainians from their neighbors, especially from the Poles, White 
Russians and Russians, are very clearly marked.”144 To him, an independent nation 
meant an independent race. It was a “large community of people, the shape of whose 
bodies is similar to that of each other, but different from those of other nations.”145 

In addition, he praised the science of eugenics and argued that: “On the one hand, we 
should enable as many healthy and racially full-fledged exemplars of the nation as 
possible to marry and breed. On the other hand, we should not allow sick or racially 
less valuable exemplars to do that.”146 Rudnyts’kyi’s racist thinking had a significant 
impact on OUN ideology and the UPA’s genocidal policy. 

Mykola Sukhovers’kyi, an OUN member who lived in Chernivtsi, a city in Buko-
vina inhabited by Jews, Germans, Poles, Romanians, Ukrainians and others, recalled 
in his memoirs: 

In the “Zaporozhe” [a student fraternity] there was a decision that a member was 
not allowed to marry an alien girl—a non-Ukrainian. That decision was made on the 
basis of Mykola Mikhnovs’kyi’s Decalogue, which was printed in Samostiina 
Ukraïna and which stated: “Do not marry a foreigner because your children will be-
come your enemies.” It needs to be recognized that Ukrainians who married Roma-
nian girls ceased of course to be good Ukrainians, and their children directly came to 
belong to Romanian culture. … I came up with two suggestions: 1) if we want to pre-
serve our order, then no aliens are to be invited to our parties or dance classes and 
2) we should invite Ukrainian girls only from peasant homes, from the sur-
rounding areas.147 
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Socialism had been popular in the nineteenth-century Ukrainian national discourse 
but was condemned by a number of Ukrainian thinkers after the First World War. One 
of its most eager critics was Dontsov, who had been a Marxist before the First World 
War. Socialism was branded as communism and was associated with the Soviet 
Union. Ukrainian nationalism therefore became detached from socialism and drifted 
in the direction of extreme nationalism and fascism.148 Simultaneously, Jews were 
increasingly perceived as agents of communism. In July 1936, many OUN members 
and other nationalists commemorated the Sich Riflemen in the city of Skoliv. One of 
the celebrants, Petro Mirchuk, recalled that communist activists disturbed the com-
memoration, whereupon the nationalists killed two of the communists, one of whom 
Mirchuk referred to as an “insolent communist Jew photographer.” After the cere-
mony, the nationalists smashed windows in many “communist houses.” Mirchuk saw 
these actions as legitimate ways of dealing with communists and Jews.149 

Dislike of communism did not prevent Ukrainian nationalists from using com-
munist symbols or adding nationalist meaning to such communist holidays as 1 May. 
The effect was bizarre. The nationalist elements did not entirely suppress the com-
munist ones and instead merged with them. In effect these new images resembled 
German National Socialist aesthetics.150 The attempt to integrate May Day into Ukrai-
nian nationalist life also illustrates that, like the National Socialists and the Italian 
Fascists, the Ukrainian nationalists tried to attract workers to their movement. Nev-
ertheless, because Galicia was predominantly an agrarian region, and Ukrainians 
largely lived and worked in the countryside as peasants or to a limited extent as far-
mers, it is not surprising that the OUN did not pay as much attention to the “working 
masses” as the National Socialists did in Germany, or the Fascists in Italy. It was 
more logical for the Ukrainian nationalists to concentrate on the rural population 
and to emphasize folkloristic and populist features. This was not very different from 
the program of other East Central European fascist movements, such as the Iron 
Guard in Romania, the Hlinka Party in Slovakia, the Arrow Cross Party in Hungary, 
and the Ustaša in Croatia.151 

Religion was another important element of the ideology of Ukrainian nationalism, 
although relations between the Greek Catholic Church and the OUN were complex. 
Ukrainian nationalism and the Greek Catholic Church both opposed materialism and 
communism. The majority of OUN members from Galicia were Greek Catholics. 
Many of the leading OUN members, such as Bandera, Lenkavs’kyi, Stets’ko, and 
Matviieiko, were the sons of Greek Catholic priests. In 1931, Andrei Sheptyts’kyi, 
head of the Greek Catholic Church and a Ukrainian moral authority, initiated the 
Ukrainian Catholic Union (Ukraїns’kyi Katolyts’kyi Soiuz, UKU), which cooperated 
with the Ukrainian nationalists. The same year, the UKU founded the Catholic Action 
of Ukrainian Youth (Katolyts’ka aktsiia ukraїns’koї molodi, KAUM), the leader of 
which was Andrii Mel’nyk, manager of Sheptyts’kyi’s estates. “Christian nationalism” 
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became the official ideology of the KAUM.152 Ukrainian nationalism and the Greek 
Catholic Church shared the same main enemies, communism and the Soviet Union. 
Like the nationalists, Greek Catholic priests frequently demonized communism. M. 
Cherneha, for example, described communism as the “red demon.”153 

Sheptyts’kyi generally supported Ukrainian nationalism but was skeptical about the 
radicalization of the younger generation, which blamed its fathers for having failed to 
establish a Ukrainian state. In a pastoral letter addressed to Ukrainian youth in 1932, 
he condemned “violence and blind terror,” breaking with tradition, hastiness, the 
radicalization of Ukrainian patriotism, and the fascination with fascism.154 

During the interwar period, the question of loyalty toward the Polish state was an 
important matter separating the Greek Catholic Church from Ukrainian nationalism. 
When the Greek Catholic Church demonstrated its loyalty to the Second Republic, for 
example in the festival “Youth for Christ,” the OUN distanced itself from such ac-
tions.155 Another problem was the conflict between religious and nationalist priorities. 
The Greek Catholic clerics regarded God as the most essential value; and Ukrainian 
nationalists, the nation.156 On a practical level, however, the Ukrainian nationalists 
used religious symbols and aesthetics to sacralize their political values, heroes, and 
aims. Furthermore, the ideology of Ukrainian nationalism and the Greek Catholic reli-
gion were the two most significant components of Galician Ukrainian identity. This can 
be illustrated by the brochure Nationalism and Catholicism, written by Mykola Kon-
rad, professor at the Theological Academy of Lviv University, and published in 1934 
by the UKU: 

O God, let these two idealisms—the Catholic “I believe” and the nationalist “I 
want”—as the two clear tones of the Ukrainian soul, merge harmoniously into one 
accord and awaken our withered hearts. Then a new era of faith, love, and power, 
a mighty national unity and a unified invincible front will come.157 

The young generation in the OUN used religion as a foundation for its ideological 
orientation. In 1929 Stepan Lenkavs’kyi, SUNM leader, OUN member, and Bandera’s 
lifelong friend, drafted “The Ten Commandments of a Ukrainian Nationalist,” known 
also as “The Decalogue of a Ukrainian Nationalist” or “The Decalogue of the OUN.” 
Lenkavs’kyi’s Decalogue blurred the boundaries between ideology and religion and 
undermined religious morality with ideological immorality. The OUN called it the 
“new religion, the religion of Ukrainian nationalism.”158 

Even if not every young OUN member came from a priest’s family, as did Bandera, 
Galician youth grew up in a religious society, for which religion was an unchallengeable 
system of values. Using religion as a foundation and structure for ideology, blurring 
the boundaries between religion and nationalism, and using ideology to undermine 
religion were effective ways of changing the morality of an entire religious group. In 
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its original version, the seventh commandment of Lenkavs’kyi’s Decalogue read: 
“You should not hesitate to commit the greatest crime if the good of the cause re-
quires it.” Later, the words “the greatest crime” (naibil’shyi zlochyn) were replaced 
with “the most dangerous task.”159 The first commandment of the Decalogue, “Attain 
a Ukrainian state or die in the struggle for it,” was derived from Mikhnovs’kyi’s 
Samostiina Ukraїna, in which he wrote: “either we will win the fight or we will die.” 
Lenkavs’kyi’s Decalogue made the lives of the Ukrainian nationalists and their “ene-
mies” unimportant. Murder for the sake of the nation or for the “right reason” was 
moral and desirable.160 

Other lists of rules and principles that were intended to complement the Decalogue 
were “The Twelve Character Attributes of a Ukrainian Nationalist,” and “The Forty-
Four Rules of Life of a Ukrainian Nationalist.” The “Twelve Character Attributes” listed 
such descriptions of Ukrainian nationalists as honest (chesnyi) and brave (vidvazh-
nyi). The characteristic “cautious” (oberezhnyi) meant that a Ukrainian nationalist 
“will always apply the principle of conspiracy.” The “Forty-Four Rules” were written by 
Zenon Kossak, in jail. Rule 14 spoke to the conscience of its recipients and said, “You 
should know that you are jointly responsible for the fate of your nation.” In rule 40, 
Kossak strengthened his nationalist argumentation, with racism: “Treasure mother-
hood as the source of the continuation of life. Make your family an ark of covenant of 
the purity of your race and nation.”161 

Another important feature of Ukrainian nationalist ideology was the cult of war and 
death, including the conviction that political problems can and should be solved by 
war. Ukrainian nationalists believed that, having failed to establish a state after the 
First World War, they had nothing to lose and everything to gain. On the one hand, 
every OUN member killed by “enemies” or “occupiers” died as a martyr for Ukrainian 
independence and could become a national hero. On the other hand, the killing of ene-
mies was gallant, right, and heroic, because it was done for the liberation of Ukraine. 
The main functions of the cult of war and death were to integrate violence into every-
day life and to dissipate the fear of dying while conducting such dangerous activities as 
assassinations or robberies. The song “March of the Fighters” illustrates OUN’s atti-
tude to war, death, and heroism, and how it was related to the “pain of losing Ukraine”: 

 

We were born in a great time. Zrodylys’ my velykoї hodyny 
After the fires of war and the flame of fires Z pozhezh viiny i z polum”ia vohniv 
We were raised on the pain of losing Ukraine Plekav nas bil’ po vtrati Ukraїny 
We were fed by revolt and rage against enemies.  Kormyv nas bunt i hniv na vorohiv. 
 

Now we are marching toward the vital fight I os’ idem u boiu zhyttievomu 
Strong, hard, indestructible as granite,  Mitsni, tverdi, nezlomni mov granit, 
Because no one has gained freedom by weeping, Bo plach ne dav svobody shche nikomu, 
And those who fight can gain a world. A khto borets’, toi zdobuvaie svit. 
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We want neither glory nor reward. Ne khochemo ni slavy, ni zaplaty. 
Our reward is the delight of struggle; Zaplatoiu nam rozkish borot’by; 
It’s sweeter for us to die in fight  Solodshe nam u boiu umyraty 
Than to live like mute slaves in chains. Nizh v putakh zhyty mov nimi raby. 
 

Enough of damage and discord;  Dovoli nam ruїny i nezhody; 
Brother dares not fight against brother.  Ne smiie brat na brata ity u bii. 
Under the blue-yellow flag of independence, Pid syn’ozhovtym praporom svobody 
We will unite our great nation.  Ziednaiem ves’ velykyi narid svii. 
 

Our proud call to the nation carries Velyku pravdu dlia usikh iedynu 
A great truth for all: Nash hordyi klych narodovi nese: 
Be faithful till death to your fatherland Bat’kivshchyni bud’ virnyi do zahynu 
For us Ukraine is above all! Nam Ukraїna vyshcha ponad vse! 
 

The glory of the fallen fighters leads us into battle. Vede nas v bii bortsiv upavshykh slava. 
Our most important law and command: Dlia nas zakon naivyshchyi ta prykaz: 
A united Ukrainian state Sobornaia Ukraїns’ka Derzhava 
Strong and united from the San to the Caucasus. Mitsna i odna vid Sianu po Kavkaz.162 
 

Propagandists and ideologists of the UVO and OUN—among them Stepan Bandera 
in his position as the director of propaganda of the homeland executive and later as its 
head—frequently instrumentalized and sacralized the dead nationalists in order to 
negate the fear of sacrificing one’s life and to evoke the feeling of revenge. Such instru-
mentalization of dead fighters was typical of many fundamentalist and fanatical 
movements.163 The first nationalist to become a famous martyr and hero was Ol’ha 
Basarab, a UVO member who, on the night of 12 February 1924, either hanged her-
self in a prison cell or died because of mistreatment during her interrogation. In the 
Ukrainian heroic narrative, she hanged herself in order not to reveal organizational 
secrets under torture by Polish interrogators. Naturally, the narrative did not men-
tion that Basarab had been carrying out espionage tasks for the Abwehr.164 Surma 
and Rozbudova natsiї, the official periodicals of the UVO and later the OUN, com-
memorated the death of Basarab every year, praising her in prose and verse for her 
heroism and willingness to make sacrifices.165 The cult of Basarab, like many other cults 
of dead nationalists, was not limited to OUN propaganda. Large crowds attended 
church services for Basarab. Such slogans as “Long live the Ukrainian revolution! 
Away with the Polish occupation! Long live Basarab!” appeared in public places.166 

The two most popular martyrs in the interwar period were Vasyl’ Bilas and Dmy-
tro Danylyshyn. Together with ten other OUN members, they took part in the 
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robbery of a post office in Horodok Iahailons’kyi (Gródek Jagielloński) on 30 Nov-
ember 1932. The OUN wounded eight persons in the course of this operation, one of 
them fatally. Five of the robbers were wounded, and two other nationalists—Iurii 
Berezyns’kyi and Volodymyr Staryk—were mistakenly shot dead by other OUN mem-
bers. Danylyshyn and Bilas escaped from the scene. While fleeing, Danylyshyn killed 
a policeman who had asked to check his papers. The police spread a rumor to the 
effect that those who had escaped were Poles who had robbed a Ukrainian coopera-
tive and had killed the manager. When Bilas and Danylyshyn were captured by 
Ukrainian peasants, they were beaten severely until they finally succeeded in 
persuading their captors that they were Ukrainians.167 

Both robbers were arrested. A speedy trial took place from 17 to 21 December 1932, 
during the course of which Bilas and Danylyshyn admitted to killing the politician 
Tadeusz Hołówko on 29 August 1931. The two young Ukrainians—Bilas was twenty-
one and Danylyshyn twenty-five—were sentenced to death. The outcome of this trial 
enraged many Ukrainians in the Second Republic. At the moment of the execution of 
Bilas and Danylyshyn on 22 December 1932, churches in Lviv and many other places 
rang their bells. The bell-ringing was organized by the propaganda apparatus of the 
homeland executive, headed by Bandera. During the following days, church services 
in memory of the two young Ukrainians took place, and the OUN set up a mourning 
period of three months. Priests who did not agree to conduct services in honor of 
Bilas and Danylyshyn were threatened, or were forced to do so. In countless leaflets 
and posters, the OUN represented Bilas and Danylyshyn as martyrs and heroes who 
had died for Ukraine.168 

The last important feature of OUN ideology to be mentioned here is spiritualism. On 
16 February 1933, in the eastern Galician provincial city of Truskavets’ (Truskawiec), a 
group of OUN members and sympathizers organized a séance, during which they 
believed they came into contact with the ghost of the Ukrainian poet Taras Shev-
chenko. They apparently asked the ghost when Ukraine would become free. The reply 
was that this would happen in five years, but only on condition that all Ukrainians con-
tinued to further the struggle for independence. The news spread quickly among 
Ukrainians associated with the OUN and other nationalist and patriotic organiza-
tions. On 5 May 1933, a great session devoted to the Ukrainian national poet was 
organized by Ukrainian nationalists, who tried to convince as many people as poss-
ible to continue the struggle.169 

 

 
167  “Boievyky!” (Obituary) and “Horodok Iahailons’kyi,” Surma 62, No. 12 (1932): 1–8; Żeleński, Zabójstwo 

ministra Pierackiego, 40; Wysocki, Organizacja, 286–89; Mirchuk, Narys istoriï OUN, 232–35. 
168  “Raporty sledshevshego otdela o deiatelnosti politicheskikh partii i organizatsii, a takzhe ob ugololov-

nykh prestupleniakh za 1933 g.,” DALO f. 121, op. 3, spr 844, 8, 11, 13, 47, 74–75, 77, 97; Ostap Hryt-
sai, “Dva khloptsi hynut’ za Ukraїnu,” Rozbudova natsiї 60–61, No. 1–2 (1933): 1–3; “Iz Ukraїns’koї 
Golgoty,” Surma 67, No. 5, 1933: 1; Wysocki, Organizacja, 289. For OUN threats against Greek-Cath-
olic priests, see Żeleński, Akt oskarżenia, 53. 

169  “Raporty sledshevshego …” DALO f. 121, op. 3, spr. 844, 100. 
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Conclusion 

Ukraine was influenced through the centuries by various cultures, religions, and 
political movements, and was at the beginning of the twentieth century a very het-
erogeneous territory. Until the First World War Ukrainians lived in the Habsburg Em-
pire together with such groups as Poles, Jews, and Romanians, and in the Russian Em-
pire with Russians, Jews, and Poles. The Ukrainian national movement, which was 
rooted in eastern Galicia, was weaker than the Polish and Russian ones. After the First 
World War, Ukrainians failed in their efforts to establish a state and lived in the inter-
war period in Soviet Ukraine, Poland, Romania, and Czechoslovakia. In 1920, a 
group of Ukrainian veterans founded the UVO, which became a terrorist organization 
without much political significance. The situation only changed a decade later when 
the OUN entered the stage, involved the youth, and became a nationalist mass move-
ment similar to the Ustaša, Hlinka Party, and Iron Guard. The OUN members lived 
only in Poland and in exile and had no impact on the political situation in Soviet 
Ukraine. Although the OUN emphasized its national, patriotic and romantic nature, it 
was essentially a typical East Central European fascist movement. It attempted to take 
power in the Ukrainian territories and to establish a state with a fascist dictatorship. 

The OUN was composed of two generations: one born around 1890 and one around 
1910. The older generation created the UVO and lived in exile. The younger gener-
ation controlled the homeland executive of the OUN, which was subordinated to the 
leadership in exile. Especially after Bandera became the leader of the homeland execu-
tive the younger generation proved to be more radical than the older one. Nevertheless, 
both generations were open to and fascinated with fascism. The OUN ideology com-
bined ultranationalism with racism, mysticism, antisemitism, a cult of war and 
violence, anticommunism, hostility to democracy, communism and socialism. The 
younger generation was shaped especially by Dmytro Dontsov, who before the First 
World War had been a Marxist and after the war argued that Ukrainian nationalism 
was one of the European fascist movements. Nevertheless, he reminded Ukrainians to 
avoid using the term “fascism,” in order not to be perceived as a part of an international 
movement. The democratic Ukrainian parties in the Second Republic such as the 
UNDO were fragile and the political situation in Poland was not favorable to them. 



 

 

Chapter 2 

FORMATIVE YEARS 

Family, Education, Appearance, 
and Political Commitment 

It was New Year’s Day 1909 when the second child, Stepan, was born to Andrii Bandera 
(1882–1941), a Greek Catholic priest of Staryi Uhryniv, and his wife Myroslava 
(1890–1921), the daughter of Volodymyr Hlodzins’kyi, another Greek Catholic priest 
of Staryi Uhryniv and the nearby village Berezhnytsia. Myroslava died at the age of 
thirty-one from tuberculosis of the throat. She left behind three daughters: Marta 
(1907–1982), Volodymyra (1913–2001), and Oksana (1917–2008), and four sons: 
Stepan (1909–1959), Oleksandr (1911–1942), Vasyl’ (1915–1942), and Bohdan (1919–
1944). Her fourth daughter, Myroslava, named after her, died as a baby. Stepan’s 
father had obtained his education at a high school in Stryi and later at the theological 
faculty of Lviv University. He and his family lived in Staryi Uhryniv until 1933, when 
they moved to Volia Zaderevats’ka. Four years later his family moved again to the 
village of Trostianets’, to which Andrii had already been relocated in 1934. He raised 
his children in the spirit of patriotism and religion.1 

During and after the First World War, Andrii took part in the struggle for a Ukrai-
nian state. He organized local Ukrainians into military units, and in November 1918 
he was engaged in the struggle for power in the regional capital of Kalush. Andrii was 
a deputy from the Kalush region in the ZUNR. In 1919–1920 he served as a chaplain 
in the UHA.2 In biographical data compiled for visa purposes in April 1959 for the 
United States consulate in Munich, to which we will refer as a brief autobiography, 
Stepan emphasized that events relating to the attempt to establish a Ukrainian 
state—and the lost war against the Poles, which followed—had a substantial impact 
on him.3 In addition to his patriotic and religious upbringing, these factors might 
have resulted in his enduring compulsion to continue the interrupted struggle for a 
Ukrainian state, in which his father had engaged and for which he had been perse-
cuted by the Polish authorities after the First World War. 

Stepan did not attend a primary school, because the teacher in Staryi Uhryniv was 
drafted into the army in 1914. He and his siblings were taught at home by their par-
ents. Between 1919 and 1927, he attended a Ukrainian high school in the town of 
Stryi, about eighty kilometers from Staryi Uhryniv, living at his grandfather’s. While 
  

 
1  Petro Arsenych and Taras Fedoriv, Rodyna Banderiv: Do 90-richchia vid dnia narodzhennia ta 40-

richchia trahichnoї smerti providnyka OUN Stepana Bandery (1909–1959) (Ivano-Frankivs’k: Nova 
Zoria, 1998), 5, 7, 10–11, 18–20. It is not clear exactly when and under which circumstances Bohdan 
died. He was most likely killed between 1941 and 1944. 

2  Arsenych, Rodyna Banderiv, 7; Bandera, Moї zhyttiepysni dani, 2. 
3  Bandera, Moї zhyttiepysni dani, 1–2. 
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Fig. 2. Bandera as a high school pupil. Poltava, Zhyttia Stepana Bandery, 13. 

at high school, Bandera was actively engaged in a number of youth organizations, to 
which Ukrainian patriotic education was displaced after the Polish authorities re-
stricted it in Ukrainian schools. Two of these associations were Plast, a scouting 
organization, and Sokil, an athletic youth organization. In Plast, Bandera was in the 
Chervona kalyna (Guelder Rose) troop together with people such as Okhrymovych, 
who would invite him a few years later to engage in the OUN. Bandera stayed in Plast 
until September 1930, when the Polish authorities banned the organization in Gali-
cia, two years after prohibiting it in Volhynia. During his time at high school, Ban-
dera was also involved in the OVKUH, which, as explained in chapter 1, included in 
its membership a number of other future leading OUN members, such as Shukhe-
vych, Lenkavs’kyi, and Stets’ko. After graduating from high school, the OVKUH 
members met again in the SUNM. Both the SUNM and the OVKUH took care of 
“patriotic upbringing” in Plast, Sokil, and also Luh. The latter was a gymnastic and 
fire-fighting organization, which, as the result of nationalist indoctrination, occasio-
nally refused to put out a blaze in non-Ukrainian houses. In 1927 Bandera also joined 
the UVO, for which he performed reconnaissance work.4 

 
4  Bandera, Moї zhyttiepysni dani, 3. For the OVKUH and the SUNM, see Mirchuk, Narys istoriї OUN, 

49–50; Golczewski, Deutsche und Ukrainer, 552–53; “Proces o zamordowanie ... Płast i Łuch,” Ga-
zeta Polska, 17 December 1935, 6. For Okhrymovych in Chervona kalyna, see Posivnych, Stepan 
Bandera—zhyttia, prysviachene svobodi, 17. On Bandera in the SUNM, see Mirchuk, Stepan, 16. For 
Plast, see Wysocki, Organizacja, 133. For Bandera joining the UVO, see Paul Stepan Pirie, “Unrave-
ling the Banner: A Biographical Study of Stepan Bandera,” MA thesis, University of Alberta, 1993, 23; 
Bandera, Moї zhyttiepysni dani, 5–6. 
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Fig. 3. Bandera as a student. Posivnych, Stepan Bandera: Dokumenty i materialy, 107. 

Bandera sang in a choir in Kalush. His friend Mykola Klymyshyn—from the village 
of Mostyshche, not far from Staryi Uhryniv—often stayed next to him during rehear-
sals, because Bandera was adept at reading music and had a very good ear. Mykola 
Klymyshyn’s brother, who once visited the Bandera family, told him that they sang 
together at home, accompanied by one of Bandera’s sisters at the piano.5 In addition 
to singing in a choir, Bandera also played the guitar and mandolin. In his brief auto-
biography, he wrote that his favorite sports included hiking, jogging, swimming, ice 
skating, and basketball. He also mentioned that he liked to play chess in his free 
time, and he emphasized that he neither smoke nor drank.6 

After graduating from high school in 1927, Bandera planned to attend the Ukrainian 
Husbandry Academy in Poděbrady in Czechoslovakia, but did not do so, either because 
he did not get a passport, as he stated in his brief autobiography, or because the Acad-
emy in Poděbrady informed him that it was closed, as he stated during an interrogation 
on 26 June 1936.7 Bandera therefore applied to study at the Agricultural and Forestry 
Department of the Lviv Polytechnic and its branch in Dubliany, near Lviv, the former 
Agricultural Academy of Dubliany.8 He began his studies in Lviv in September 1928, 

 
4  Pirie, Unraveling the Banner, 23; Bandera, Moї zhyttiepysni dani, 5–6. 
5  Klymyshyn, V pokhodi, 1:108. 
6  Bandera, Moї zhyttiepysni dani, 5. 
7  Bandera, Moї zhyttiepysni dani, 4; Interrogation of Stepan Bandera, 27 September 1934, TsDIAL, f. 

371, op. 1, spr. 8, ed. 76, 35–36. 
8  For Bandera at the agricultural academy in Dubliany, see Iurii Tokars’kyi, Dubliany: Istoriia ahrar-

nykh studii 1856–1946 (Lviv: Instytut Ukraїnoznavstva im. I. Kryp”iakevycha, 1996), 312. 
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but never completed them, because of his involvement in the OUN, which he officially 
joined in February 1929. During the academic years 1928‒1929 and 1929‒1930, Ban-
dera lived in private apartments in Lviv with Osyp Tiushka, Iurii Levyts’kyi, and 
other colleagues, and also at the Ukrainian Student House in Supińskiego Street 
(Mykhaila Kotsiubyns’koho Street), the center of OUN activism in Lviv.9 In the aca-
demic year 1930–1931, Bandera lived in Dubliany, first in a private house and then at 
the student residence of the Agricultural Academy. In February 1932 he moved to 
Lviv again and lived together with Stets’ko in lodgings in Lwowskich Dzieci Street 
(Turhenieva Street) until he was arrested in March 1932. After his release from 
prison in June, Bandera returned to his father in Staryi Uhryniv. As a result of his 
arrest, he lost one academic year at the university. In October 1932 he moved back to 
Lviv. He lodged with different people until March 1934 when he moved back to the 
Ukrainian Student House, in which he shared room number 56 with Ivan Ravlyk, 
until Bandera was arrested on 14 June 1934. During his university life in Lviv, Ban-
dera frequently went back to his family in Staryi Uhryniv for vacations.10 Studying 
was not Bandera’s main concern, as he stated in his brief autobiography:  

I invested most of my time and energy during my student years in revolutionary 
national-liberation activities. They captivated me more and more and pushed the 
completion of my studies into second place.11 

As indicated in chapter 1, Bandera was arrested several times for nationalist activ-
ism in the late 1920s and early 1930s. The first occasion was on 14 November 1928, ten 
days after he and his father conducted a tenth anniversary celebration of the proclama-
tion of the ZUNR, in the village of Berezhnytsia Shliakhets’ka. The Polish authorities 
regarded this event as subversive propaganda, and illegal. During the commemoration, 
Andrii Bandera conducted divine service at the graves of Ukrainian soldiers, during 
which, according to Arsenych, he described the Poles as “temporary occupiers who 
oppress Ukrainians and therefore should be promptly expelled from the mother ter-
ritories.”12 He also reminded the participants about Ukrainians who had fallen in the 
struggle for a Ukrainian state, and those who were suffering in Polish prisons be-
cause of their involvement in the struggle for national liberation. During this service, 
Stepan Bandera distributed leaflets with content similar to his father’s speech. The 
next time Andrii and Stepan Bandera were arrested together was in 1930. In 1932–
1933 Stepan Bandera was arrested six times for matters such as an illegal crossing of 
the Polish-Czechoslovak border, smuggling illegal OUN journals to Poland, meeting 
with OUN members from the leadership in exile, and in connection with the killing of 
Constable Omelian Czechowski, who led an investigation against the OUN. The long-
est period Bandera spent in prison at that time was three months from March to 
June 1932, after Iurii Berezyns’kyi killed Czechowski.13 

 

 
9  Interrogation of Stepan Bandera, 27 September 1934, TsDIAL, f. 371, op. 1, spr. 8, ed. 76, 34. 
10  Interrogation of Stepan Bandera, 26 September 1934 and 10 January 1935, TsDIAL, f. 371, op. 1, spr. 

8, ed. 76, 33–34, 36, 48. 
11  Bandera, Moї zhyttiepysni dani, 5. 
12  Arsenych, Rodyna Banderiv, 7. 
13  Arsenych, Rodyna Banderiv, 7–8; Posivnych, Providnyk OUN, 18‒19; Żeleński, Akt oskarżenia, 81–

82; Golczewski, Deutsche und Ukrainer, 565. 
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Fig. 4. Bandera in a folkloristic Cossack costume. Poltava, Zhyttia Stepana Bandery, 8. 

Bandera seems to have been a fanatical nationalist in his early adolescence. As a 
teenager he was said to have slid pins under his nails in order to harden himself for 
future torture by Polish prosecutors. He was said to have done this to himself in re-
sponse to a story about the famous female nationalist Basarab who, according to the 
heroic victimization narrative, had hanged herself in a prison cell, in order not to 
reveal UVO secrets while being tortured by Polish interrogators. As a university stu-
dent, Bandera was reported to have continued torturing himself, by scorching his 
fingers on an oil lamp and by crushing them between a door and doorframe. During 
the self-torturing sessions, he told himself: “Admit Stepan!” and answered “No, I 
don’t admit!” Bandera also beat his bare back with a belt and said to himself, “If you 
don’t improve, you’ll be beaten again, Stepan!”14 

In his youth, according to his close friend Hryhor Mel’nyk, Bandera felt contempt 
for fellow-students who were not involved in the nationalist movement. Bandera dem-
onstrated this once in public, when he met a colleague who had previously remarked 
that he did not support any political camp. While this person was shaking hands with 
other colleagues, Bandera refused to greet him, turning away and leaving his hands 

 
14  For sliding pins under nails, see Ivan Kul’chyts’kyi, “Zamolodu hotuvavsia do naivazhchykh vyprobu-

van,’” in Stepan Bandera, ed. Posivnych, 2006, 52–53. For the self-torture observed by his roommate 
in Dubliany, see Roman Rudnyts’kyi, “Tak hartuvavsia Vin,” The Way to Victory, 7 January 1960, 3. 
Another roommate of Stepan Bandera in Dubliany, Hryhor Mel’nyk, did not mention in his memoirs 
that Bandera tortured himself. Cf. Hryhor Mel’nyk, “Stepan Bandera: Prychynky do kharakterystyky 
osoby,” in Spomyny ta rozdumy, ed. Volodymyr Makar (Toronto-Kiev: Afisha, 2001), 3:122–24. 
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in his pockets. He was, however, very friendly with colleagues who fulfilled his politi-
cal expectations. Those who worked with him in the OUN praised his humor, 
determination, organizational abilities, oratory, and a disposition to sing.15 Klymy-
shyn commented on Bandera’s behavior in his memoirs: 

During our meetings Bandera behaved in two ways. When we discussed organi-
zational matters he talked very seriously, factually, and earnestly. But when the 
discussion about organizational matters was finished, he became cheerful, talka-
tive, and humorous, and he liked [it] if his interlocutor behaved similarly. He could 
very [easily] twist or split a word and pronounce it in such a way that it became a 
funny pun.16 

Another friend of Bandera’s, Volodymyr Ianiv, remembered him walking in the 
Carpathian Mountains, talking to birds and praying to trees. Ianiv considered it amus-
ing behavior and a sign of Bandera’s love and respect for nature.17 Hryhor Mel’nyk men-
tioned in his memoirs that, during a hike with Plast, Bandera put on a blanket and 
climbed up a tree. From the tree, he then delivered a fiery speech with “exotic” gestures, 
pretending to be Mohandas K. Gandhi. Another young nationalist, Lev Senyshyn, 
climbed behind Bandera onto the same tree and pretended to be a gorilla, eating its own 
fleas. He also threw some of them on “Gandhi.” Other Plast members found the con-
duct of the two scouts very amusing.18 

Fig. 5. Bandera in the Plast uniform, first on the right. Poltava, Zhyttia Stepana Bandery, 9. 

 
15  Mel’nyk, Stepan Bandera, 117–19; Klymyshyn, V pokhodi, 1:112–13. 
16  Klymyshyn, V pokhodi, 1:112. 
17  Volodymyr Ianiv, “Zustrich z polk. Ievhenom Konoval’tsem na tli nastroïv doby,” in Ievhen Kono-

valets’, ed. Boїko, 453. 
18  Mel’nyk, Stepan Bandera, 120. 
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In his youth, Bandera was small and slim. In photographs from his high school years 
and university time, Bandera appears to be a head shorter than the majority of his 
colleagues. As an adolescent, he was 1.60 m (5’3”) in height and usually had a short 
haircut. With the exception of his rather small size, Bandera possessed an unremark-
able physique and physiognomy. He was left-handed and had blue eyes. In his adult 
years he was partly bald, and his face was slightly oval. By the age of twenty-one, he 
already lacked three teeth, and four by the age of twenty-seven. His most popular nick-
name was baba (woman), either because he was broad in the beam, or because he went 
through Lviv dressed as a woman, when on undercover duty for the OUN. Among his 
other aliases were: lys (fox), malyi (the little), siryi (grey), and Stepanko (little Stepan). 
As a child, Bandera had suffered from rheumatism of the knee joint, after which he 
could not walk at times, causing him to join the Plast two years late, by when he was 
able to attempt it.19 Hryhor Mel’nyk wrote in his memoirs that Bandera looked very 
ordinary and inconspicuous and that he behaved like a typical student. Nobody 
seeing him would therefore guess that he was the leader of the homeland executive of 
the OUN.20 

During the late 1920s and early 1930s Rebet noticed that Bandera had “an 
organizational knack and a realistic approach to matters that distinguished him from 
the general young and romantic environment of the OUN.”21 Mel’nyk remembered 
Bandera as a very devoted nationalist, concerned about other OUN members and the 
welfare of the organization.22 If anybody, however, disappointed Bandera—particu-
larly someone from the OUN—he became angry or irritable. On trial in Warsaw in 
1935–1936 he raged and lost control of himself when some OUN members decided to 
testify in Polish.23 Bandera also “became mad” and had to take a tranquilizer to calm 
down, when he learned that Hryhorii Matseiko, before leaving for Warsaw to assassi-
nate Pieracki, had left a note for his relatives, informing them that he was going on a 
trip from which he would not return.24 

Bandera’s physical attributes were scarcely charismatic. However this did not deter 
the Ukrainian “charismatic community” from assigning charisma to him as early as the 
1930s. His skills as an orator, his unpredictable temper, his fanatical determination 
and devotion to the “holy nationalist matter” no doubt contributed to the process of 
charismatization. Lev Shankovs’kyi remembered Bandera as a “student and dogged 
  

 
19  For physiognomy and problems with knees, see Stepan Mudryk-Mechnyk Spohad pro Stepana 
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78. For Bandera’s height, see “Record of Bandera’s post-mortem examination, 16 October 1959,” 
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Irena Kozak in an interview on 16 February 2008 in Munich. For walking through Lviv dressed as a 
woman, see Roman Rudnyts’kyi, “Tak hartuvavsia Vin,” The Way to Victory, 7 January 1960, 3. 

20  Mel’nyk, Stepan Bandera, 128. 
21  Rebet, Svitla i tini OUN, 59. 
22  Mel’nyk, Stepan Bandera, 126. 
23  See chapter 3 below. 
24  Interrogation of Bohdan Pidhainyi, 27 December 1934, TsDIAL, f. 371, op. 1, spr. 8, ed. 77, 63–64; 
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Fig. 6. 1929. Members of the Plast troop Chervona kalyna. Bandera third to the right.  

Poltava, Zhyttia Stepana Bandery, 15. 

nationalist” who, “already in the beginning of his young years, his formative years, 
which he devoted totally to the matter, presented all the character traits that raised 
him to the post of the leader of Ukrainian nationalism.”25 Prison chaplain Osyp 
Kladochnyi, who confessed Bandera during his imprisonment, characterized Bandera 
as the Übermensch, or the Ukrainian superhuman. He wrote, “From him [Bandera] 
radiated the strength of willpower and the determination to get his own way. If there 
is an Übermensch [superhuman] then he was actually such a rare type of man—
Übermensch, and he was the man who placed Ukraine above all.”26 Looking back on 
Bandera, Hryhor Mel’nyk commented: 

We, his closest comrades-in-arms, had much more opportunity to feel the great-
ness of an extraordinary personality—our Leader [Providnyk]—and to be proud 
of him. For us it was the model of a certain pattern of people with great character, 
of people who decided the historical deeds of their nations. Such people have 
already appeared in previous epochs of our history, in critical moments for the 
existence of the nation. In our times [they] were—Banderas, Kolodzins’kyis, 
Shukhevychs, Hasyns, Kossaks, Hrytsaїs, and many others. Using their brilliant 
model, exemplary character, braveness, persistence, agility, and sacrifice of their 
entire lives, they brought up whole generations of fighters, who went with and 
behind them to fight for their nation and, if it was necessary, accepted pain and 
sorrow for Ukraine’s liberty and for her honor and glory.27 

 
25  “Lyst Leva Shankovs’koho do Oracha [Iaroslava Stets’ka] vid 2.11.1959 r.,” quoted in Posivnych, 

Providnyk OUN, 18. 
26  Petro Shkarbiuk, Vynohradnyk Hospodnii: Istoriia zhyttia o. d-ra Iosypa Kladochnoho (Lviv: Insty-

tut ukraїnoznastva im. I. Krypiakevycha PAN, 1995), 69, quoted in Posivnych, Providnyk OUN, 40. 
27  Mel’nyk, Stepan Bandera, 133. 
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Career in the OUN 

After joining the OUN in 1929 Bandera rapidly rose through the ranks. This hap-
pened partly because of his organizational and conspiratorial abilities and partly 
because of the change of generations in the OUN. His friendship with those members 
of the OVKUH and SUNM who were rising in the ranks of the OUN, in particular 
Okhrymovych, helped Bandera on the road to promotion. In 1930 Bandera headed 
the section of the propaganda apparatus of the homeland executive of the OUN that 
was responsible for the distribution of illegal publications in eastern Galicia. In 1931 
he took over a section that imported them from abroad, mainly from Czechoslovakia 
and Gdańsk. In the same year he became director of the propaganda apparatus of the 
homeland executive. This position was proposed to him by Okhrymovych, head of 
the homeland executive and his schoolmate from Stryi. Okhrymovych died in 1931 
after his release from prison where, according to the OUN, he was tortured. Okhry-
movych’s successor, Ivan Habrusevych, fled from Poland to Germany because the 
police were looking for him. Habrusevych proposed to nominate Bandera as his 
successor but the latter could not accept the position because he was in prison from 
the end of March until June 1932. After his release, however, Bandera became deputy 
leader of the homeland executive. From January 1933 he was de facto leader of the 
homeland executive, although he was not officially appointed to this position until a 
conference in Berlin from 3 to 6 June 1933. Bandera succeeded Bohdan Kordiuk, 
who had to give up his post because he was responsible for the failure of the post-
office robbery in Horodok Iahailons’kyi on 30 November 1932, as the result of which 
Bilas and Danylyshyn were executed.28 

In the act of indictment presented in the Warsaw trial after Pieracki’s assassination, 
the prosecutor Żeleński wrote that, according to OUN member Roman Myhal’, 
Bandera became the leader of the homeland executive through a coup. He radicalized 
the OUN and changed its attitude to terror, making the UVO a superfluous organiza-
tion that soon disappeared. He also removed many people from leading positions 
and demanded from local branches of the OUN that they submit to him the names of 
people who were capable of carrying out terrorist acts.29 According to Iaroslav Maka-
rushka, training in the OUN changed after Bandera became the leader of the homel-
and executive; every person who joined the OUN was obliged to attend military, ideo-
logical, and conspiracy courses. OUN members who had attended military courses in 
Gdańsk (Danzig) and Berlin passed on their knowledge to other members during 
military courses in eastern Galicia.30 

According to Żeleński and the OUN member Pidhainyi, Bandera received an order 
from the leadership in exile to organize new “combat deeds,” which might have in-
cluded the assassinations of Pieracki, Babii, and others. When Bandera organized these 
“combat deeds” he assumed that the Polish authorities would respond by opening 
concentration camps for Ukrainians. In order to avoid mass arrests, the homeland 
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executive planned to send the Ukrainian youth into the forests, where they would or-
ganize a partisan movement and conduct an uprising or revolution.31 During an 
investigation, Makarushka also stated that in February 1934 the homeland executive 
considered ordering Ukrainians who had been spotted by the Polish intelligence ser-
vice, or who might be sent to concentration camps because of terrorist activities, to hide 
in the forests and organize a partisan movement or “green cadres” that would fight 
against the Polish state.32 According to Pidhainyi, Bandera argued that it was “better 
to die from a bullet than behind wires in a concentration camp.”33 

The OUN became more radical and more “effective” after Bandera took over the 
leading posts. After he became the propaganda director of the homeland executive, 
the number and size of mass propaganda campaigns grew and the number of terror-
ist acts increased. However, these increases can be explained only to some extent by 
Bandera’s determination, leadership abilities, and strength of character. Additional 
factors to be considered are the role of other fanatical nationalists from the Bandera 
generation, and Bandera’s formal subordination to the leadership in exile.34 

Because of the limitations of documentary evidence, and the fact that the OUN used 
conspiratorial methods, not every killing ordered by Bandera and not every detail 
concerning Bandera’s role in the assassinations can be clarified. Nevertheless, it is 
known that Bandera himself chose assassins from among potential candidates, car-
ried out the detailed preparations for some assassinations, and occasionally decided 
who would be assassinated.35 There is documentary evidence that Bandera induced 
Matseiko to kill Pieracki, and Lemyk to kill the Soviet consul, and that Bandera 
ordered the killing of Bachyns’kyi and Ivan Babii. It was also Bandera who gave or-
ders to prepare the assassinations of editor Antin Krushel’nyts’kyi; Henryk Józewski; 
the inspector of the prison guards in Lviv, Władysław Kossobudzki; the education 
welfare officer Stanisław Gadomski; and a pupil of the seventh grade of the Ukrai-
nian high school, Korolyshyn—although none of these was carried out, due to organi-
zational problems.36 Bandera also ordered that Stakhiv, editor of the Ukrainian 
newspapers Pratsia and Rada, be beaten. When this plan did not work, he ordered 
that a bomb be left in the newspapers’ editorial offices.37 In addition Bandera gave 
poison to OUN members who were to carry out assassinations and instructed them 
to kill themselves if they were arrested.38 When OUN members who were ordered to 
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kill other Ukrainians, including OUN members, expressed their objections, Bandera 
insisted that these murders should be carried out because he believed that the Ukrai-
nians to be assassinated were “traitors” or “informers.”39 

When analyzing Bandera’s role, we should keep in mind, however, that he acted 
within the framework of an organization and that his conduct was therefore influ-
enced both by his superiors and by other members. In his speech on 26 June 1936 at 
the trial in Lviv, Bandera clarified that he personally, without consulting other 
authorities, ordered the killing of Pieracki, Józewski, and Kossobudzki. He stated 
however that decisions to kill Ukrainians were made by the “revolutionary tri-
bunal.”40 According to OUN member Maliutsa, Konovalets’ was concerned about 
“some of the methods” used by the homeland executive, although we do not know 
whether he was referring to the assassinations of Polish politicians or to Ukrainians 
accused of “betrayal.”41 Prosecutor Żeleński, who investigated Pieracki’s assassina-
tion, came to the conclusion that it had been “decided and organized” by the leader-
ship in exile, to improve the financial situation of the organization.42 As a source for 
this information, Żeleński quoted a document from the Senyk archives, which did not 
survive the Second World War.43 Żeleński’s deduction might have been motivated, 
wholly or in part, by the wish to capture Konovalets’ and other OUN leaders living 
outside Poland, which the Polish authorities could not achieve without the help of 
other states. However, a more plausible theory would be that Pieracki’s assassination 
was planned by both the homeland executive and the leadership in exile, and that 
Bandera’s and also Lebed’s roles in this deed were significant.44 

Because the OUN was already composed of many extreme elements when Bandera 
became the leader of the homeland executive, there might have been a reciprocal 
process of radicalization between Bandera and such zealous nationalists as Shukhe-
vych, Lenkavs’kyi, Lebed’, and Stets’ko, who all came into the homeland executive at 
about the same time as Bandera and had been with him in the OVKUH and the 
SUNM. Spectacular murders or bank robberies had taken place before Bandera be-
came the head of the homeland executive. In August 1931 for example, Bilas and 
Danylyshyn killed Tadeusz Hołówko. In March 1932 Shukhevych’s brother-in-law, 
Berezyns’kyi, killed the Ukrainian policeman Czechowski.45 

When Bandera was variously its propaganda director (1931–1933) and its leader 
(1933–1934), the homeland executive conducted a range of propaganda campaigns and 
terrorist acts. Shortly after he became the leader of the homeland executive, the Bulle-
tin of the Homeland Executive of the OUN in the Western Ukrainian Territories 
claimed: “Terror acts against the most prominent representatives of the occupying 
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power are the typical actions that hold [ideological] impact and political-propagan-
dist capital. … They steer the attention of the masses to the direct fight that brings 
closer the moment of the final uprising.”46 

The first propaganda operation by which the homeland executive succeeded in 
attracting the attention of the masses was the mourning for Bilas and Danylyshyn in 
late December 1932 and early 1933. At this time, Bandera occupied the position of 
propaganda director of the homeland executive; informally, he was also the head of 
the homeland executive after Kordiuk left eastern Galicia in January. As propaganda 
director, Bandera knew how to transform his dead fellows into powerful symbols, in 
order to propagate feelings of revenge and to strengthen the collective unity of 
Ukrainians. The rite of transforming dead nationalists into heroes and martyrs had 
existed before Bandera became the director of propaganda. Bandera’s main contri-
bution to this campaign, as well as to those that followed, was that he understood 
how to popularize the death of Bilas and Danylyshyn among the “Ukrainian masses” 
by means of the OUN propaganda apparatus.47 

Another activity that took on a mass character while Bandera was leading the 
homeland executive was the raising of mourning mounds for fallen soldiers. This oper-
ation, in which the homeland executive tried to involve the “village masses,” took place 
in autumn 1933 and spring 1934.48 The commemoration of fallen soldiers had occurred 
before Bandera led the OUN, but only at actual burial sites. Under Bandera’s leadership 
the homeland executive motivated the “Ukrainian masses” to build symbolic mounds 
even in places where no fallen soldiers were buried. Ukrainians were thereby able to 
commemorate their fallen soldiers in every place.49 

A mound was usually built by villagers and sanctified by a priest. If the Polish au-
thorities did not destroy it, the mound could later be used to conduct commemorative 
services for fallen Ukrainian soldiers or for organizing political demonstrations on 1 
November, Pentecost, and other feast days. Such commemorations frequently began 
with a panakhyda. The Polish authorities tended to destroy the mounds as symbols of 
Ukrainian nationalism and as insubordination to the Polish state. Ukrainian villagers, 
armed mainly with hoes and pitchforks, would therefore protect the mounds. This 
caused casualties on both sides. During one of these ceremonies, in Trostianets’ be-
tween 6 and 8 June 1934, the ringing of church bells informed the villagers that the 
police were coming. A thousand or more people assembled to protect the mound 
from the armed policemen. “This is Ukrainian soil!” the villagers shouted.50 

After the police had demolished a mound, the local people would often rebuild it. 
The repetitive and widespread demolishing and rebuilding of burial mounds led to 
many clashes and to casualties on both sides. In autumn 1933 and spring 1934 the OUN 
stirred up the “Ukrainian masses” and coordinated the actions of building the 
mounds. The conflict surrounding them resembled a civil war in some regions of 
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eastern Galicia. In revenge, Ukrainians sometimes took the initiative and demolished 
the tombs and graves of Polish soldiers and policemen.51 

Another propaganda operation organized in the summer of 1933, when Bandera 
was leading the homeland executive, used an anti-alcohol campaign by the organiza-
tion Vidrodzhennia. The OUN provided the anti-alcohol campaign with an ideologi-
cal dimension that it originally did not possess.52 The aim was to mobilize Ukrainians 
not to buy spirits and tobacco, because they were produced by the Polish state. Accord-
ing to the OUN’s logic, the Poles suppressed Ukrainians by maintaining a monopoly on 
spirits and tobacco. During this operation, OUN activists urged Ukrainians to publicly 
pledge that they would not drink alcohol or smoke cigarettes. Drinkers who could not 
resist buying alcohol were beaten up. Taverns were demolished, especially those owned 
by Jews, and antisemitic boycotts took place.53 

The next mass action of the homeland executive, conducted simultaneously with 
the anti-alcohol campaign, was directed against the Polish school system. The OUN 
tried to convince Ukrainian pupils to refuse to use the Polish language during lectures, 
to destroy such signs of the Polish state as the Polish emblem or the portraits of 
Polish kings in schools, to smash windowpanes in school buildings, to destroy school 
library books that praised Poland, and to march through the village, chanting such 
slogans as “Away with Polish teachers!” (Het’ z uchyteliamy-liakhamy!) When the 
teacher came into the classroom in the morning, a representative of the class was to 
deliver a speech, informing the teacher that “in the Ukrainian territories Ukrainian 
pupils should be taught by a Ukrainian teacher in the Ukrainian language about 
Ukraine.” The other pupils would duly applaud. For the sake of this campaign the 
OUN produced 92,000 leaflets and 9,000 booklets and distributed them in the 
schools. An attempt by OUN member Severyn Mada to murder the education welfare 
officer Gadomski, on Bandera’s order, was also a part of the anti-school campaign.54 

Acts of opposition to the Polish schools took place more frequently after the reform 
of education in 1924, but like the building of mounds, they did not occur on a mass scale 
until June 1933.55 It is important to bear in mind that Bandera and other members of 
the homeland executive had already learned, in their high-school days in the 1920s, 
how to remove the Polish emblem during a school assembly and how to interrupt a 
patriotic school celebration by throwing a bomb containing irritant gas.56 Organizing 
the mass anti-school operation with a strong political character in the summer of 1933, 
they drew on their school experience and their activities in the OVKUH and SUNM. 

On 22 October 1933 in another famous operation coordinated by Bandera with a 
strong propagandist background, OUN member Mykola Lemyk tried to kill the Soviet 
consul in Lviv. The act was organized as a protest against the famine in the Soviet 
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Ukraine. According to Pidhainyi, the OUN attempted this because it wanted to outpace 
the UNDO, which was planning a legal protest against the famine.57 Bandera’s role in 
the action was significant. He chose the assassin, explained to him the nature of the 
assignment, gave him a gun, and even gave him money in advance to buy new shoes and 
clothing for the trial that would follow the assassination. At the consulate, Lemyk con-
fused the consul with Aleksei Mailov, the secretary of the consulate who received him, 
and whom Lemyk shot dead. After killing Mailov, Lemyk tried to escape and, in the 
process, wounded the custodian Jan Dżugai.58  

The murder of the secretary of the consulate was enough for the OUN to celebrate a 
moral victory and for Lemyk to receive a life sentence.59 Although the Polish authorities 
did not allow the trial to be turned into an anti-Soviet demonstration, the OUN used 
both the killing and the trial for propaganda purposes. Bandera had met with 
Konovalets’ several times in 1933, and it might have been Konovalets’ who urged him to 
organize this operation. According to his sister Volodymyra, Bandera was also 
motivated by relatives who had escaped from the famine to Staryi Uhryniv.60 In 
another anti-Soviet operation, a bomb was left in the editorial office of the 
newspaper Pratsia on 12 May 1934 by Kateryna Zaryts’ka, not only because of the 
communist profile of the newspaper but also as a protest against the famine in Soviet 
Ukraine.61 

Worldview 

Matters that could have cast a poor light on Stepan Bandera seem to have been “for-
gotten” or never written down by his comrades-in-arms and admirers, and some rele-
vant documents may have been purged or hidden. This conduct seems to be related to 
the larger process of collective amnesia concerning the darker side of the OUN and 
UPA on the part of veterans of this movement. In order to make some observations 
about Bandera’s personality and his worldview, we need to analyze the groups, 
institutions, and ideologies that shaped him in his formative years, and to describe 
the ideological atmosphere of Bandera’s youth. 

As previously mentioned, Bandera grew up in a religious and patriotic family. His 
worldview and interests were first molded by his father, Andrii Bandera, a Greek Catho-
lic priest who tried to combine the ideology of Ukrainian nationalism with the Greek 
Catholic religion.62 OUN member Lev Shankovs’kyi characterized Andrii as the “true 
revolutionary who passed to his Son [sic] his entire passionate love to the Ukrainian 
nation and the question of its liberation.”63 After the primary school in Staryi Uhryniv 
was closed in 1914, Andrii provided Stepan with a primary education.64 Religion was 
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for Stepan an important value but, unlike for his father, it was not more important 
than nationalism. During his student years, when Stepan once visited the family at 
Christmas, his father became angry with him because Stepan’s friends came up to 
him in church and he left the service before it had ended. In reaction to his father’s 
fury, Bandera answered: “First the nation, and then God!”65 Nevertheless, the nation 
and God were blurred in Bandera’s mind. Looking back in 1954, Bandera wrote about 
nationalism and religion: 

Without a doubt, the Ukrainian nationalist liberating-revolutionary movement, as 
directed and formed by the OUN, is a Christian movement. Its deepest roots are 
Christian and not merely not contradictory to Christianity. In terms of worldview, 
Ukrainian nationalism considers spirituality and the worldview of the Ukrainian 
nation as its springs. And this spirituality and worldview are very Christian as they 
were shaped under the thousand-year-long influence of the Christian religion.66 

The element of religion was integrated into the political activities that Bandera 
organized together with his father, and later in the SUNM with other young Galician 
Ukrainians. Similarly, some events that Bandera coordinated, while he was propa-
ganda director in the homeland executive, combined nationalism with religion. Priests 
were involved in ceremonies organized by the SUNM, and later by the homeland execu-
tive of the OUN. During the commemorations on the burial mounds for the fallen 
soldiers, priests were expected to conduct a panakhyda and to provide the ceremony 
with an aura of holiness. They were thereby involved in the process of sanctifying the 
ideological motives of the organizers. As already explained, after the execution of Bilas 
and Danylyshyn, Bandera’s propaganda apparatus organized numerous services for 
these two executed young revolutionaries. The OUN needed the Greek Catholic 
Church in order to transform the dead nationalists into heroes and martyrs. 

As a boy, Bandera was also influenced by the First World War, the subsequent 
Polish-Ukrainian war, and especially by the attempts to establish a Ukrainian state. The 
Austrian-Russian front divided Staryi Uhryniv for two weeks, as a result of which the 
Bandera house was partially destroyed. In 1936 Bandera stated that although he was 
only eight years old at that time, he understood that Ukrainians were on both sides of 
the front and had to fight against each other.67 He also saw his father take an active part 
in the struggle for a Ukrainian state and was aware of his father’s attempt to assert the 
power of the ZUNR in the Kalush region in 1918 with the help of armed Ukrainians 
who even stayed for some time in the family’s backyard, before they left for Kalush.68 
In his short autobiography of 1959, Bandera recalled that he was especially influ-
enced by the “celebrations and the spirituality due to the merging of the ZUNR with 
the UNR into one state in January 1919,” which in fact was only a symbolic act with-
out any political impact.69 As the Polish army expelled the Ukrainian army into the 
east, Bandera’s father left Kalush with the army for several months. After his return, 
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Andrii Bandera’s accounts of the war also made a powerful impact on young 
Stepan.70 

In his youth Bandera accepted only radical parties, respected only radical national-
ists, and rejected all streams that were leftist, democratic, or moderately national. Hry-
hor Mel’nyk reported on Bandera’s contempt for the national-democratic UNDO and 
on his antisemitic perception of this party. Around 1924, according to Mel’nyk, when 
Bandera was only about sixteen, he viewed the UNDO as a party “with Jews” or “Grim-
bavm’s party.” It was a party to be combated because it worked against Ukrainian radi-
cal nationalism, which was for Bandera the only legitimate political movement. The 
term “Grimbavm’s party” was derived from the Jewish politician Izaak Grünbaum who, 
in 1922, founded the Bloc of National Minorities (Blok Mniejszości Narodowych, Blok 
fon Nashonal Minorities, Blok Natsional’nykh Menshyn, or Block der Nationalen 
Minderheiten, BMN), a political party representing a coalition of various ethnic mi-
norities living in the Second Polish Republic. The UNDO joined the BMN in 1927.71 

Bandera’s bias in favor of nationalism and the “traditional antisemitism” came from 
his environment, his family, and the tension inherent in Polish-Ukrainian relations 
during his formative years. Bandera seems to have perceived the world in bipolar or 
black-and-white nationalist categories as early as his high school years. His fascination 
with fascism as a set of ideas began either when he was in high school, joined the 
OVKUH, and studied Dontsov; or during his student years when he joined the OUN. 
Dontsov, and OUN ideologists such as Onats’kyi, familiarized the young Ukrainian 
nationalists in eastern Galicia with the concept of the leader, the party, and the 
masses. These ideologists inspired the Bandera generation to admire Mussolini and 
Hitler and to hate communism, Marxism, Jews, and democracy.72 

Strongly identifying himself with the nationalist interpretation of the history of 
the Ukrainian people, Bandera no doubt understood himself in his high school years 
to be a member of a nation that had been occupied, exploited, and oppressed for centu-
ries, mainly by Jews, Poles, and Russians. Dontsov portrayed Russians and the Soviet 
Union as the main enemies of Ukraine. Bandera had almost no contact with Russian 
and other Soviet citizens, whom the Ukrainian nationalists frequently called “Musco-
vites.” He knew them only as an abstract, demonized enemy. We cannot tell whether, in 
his youth, Bandera knew how different, especially in terms of culture and mentality, 
eastern Ukrainians were from Galician Ukrainians. 

Other important enemies of the young Stepan Bandera were the Jews. Ukrainian 
nationalism based its attitude toward Jews on two streams. The first one was tradi-
tional Ukrainian antisemitism, which regarded Jews as agents of the Poles and as the 
exploiters of Ukrainians. According to this notion, Jews exploited Ukrainian peasants 
economically, addicted them to alcohol, and supported Polish and Russian rule in 
Ukraine. Traditional Ukrainian antisemitism manifested itself in such poems as Taras 
Shevchenko’s “Haidamaky,” in which Jews are the agents of Polish landowners, and the 
brigands who kill Jews are Ukrainian national heroes.73 
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Modern racial antisemitism was the second stream of antisemitism on which Ukrai-
nian nationalism was based. According to this kind of antisemitism, race and not reli-
gion is the main identifying mark of the Jews. The racial component, for example in 
Martynets’s brochure The Jewish Problem in Ukraine, entered Ukrainian nationalism 
in the 1930s.74 Dontsov and the OUN periodicals Surma and Rozbudova natsiї also 
propagated the racial kind of antisemitism. In addition, Dontsov frequently linked 
Jews with Russian imperialism and communism. In so doing, he spread the stereotype 
of “Jewish Bolshevism” according to which Jews were pillars of the Soviet system. After 
the OUN-B split from the OUN in 1940 the young nationalists who were organized 
around Bandera demonstrated that they had internalized Dontsov’s concept of anti-
semitism. In the booklet “Resolutions of the Second Great Assembly of the OUN,” they 
repeated Dontsov’s remarks about Jews as pillars of the Soviet Union, almost 
verbatim.75 

Deeply embedded in Ukrainian nationalism, both types of antisemitism must have 
reached Bandera’s consciousness in his youth. Either in his high school years in the 
1920s or in his student life in the first half of the 1930s, the ideology of Ukrainian na-
tionalism made Bandera aware of the “Jewish problem” in Ukraine, the different and 
alien nature of the Jewish race, and the intrinsic link between Jews and communism. 
After the Second World War and the Holocaust, both Bandera and his admirers were 
embarrassed by the vehement antisemitic component of their interwar political views 
and denied it systematically.76 

The two main OUN journals, Surma and Rozbudova natsiї, also significantly influ-
enced Bandera. Surma began appearing in 1927 in Berlin. In 1928 it moved to Kovno 
where it was printed by the Lithuanian government press. From 1928 Rozbudova 
natsiї was published in Prague. Surma was smuggled to Poland from Gdańsk by train, 
or from Berlin and Prague through the Polish-Czechoslovakian border. Both ceased to 
appear after the assassination of Pieracki in June 1934. The chief editor of Rozbudova 
natsiї, Martynets’, stated that this paper was an “ideological-programmatic laboratory 
of the PUN.” Articles for Rozbudova natsiї were discussed intensively before they were 
published. After publication they became doctrines that all OUN members were 
expected to accept.77 

As a high-ranking OUN member, Bandera must have read every issue of Surma 
and Rozbudova natsiї, but it is not known whether he published his articles in these 
journals or in other journals that appeared clandestinely in Galicia, including Biuleten’ 
KE OUN na ZUZ, Iunatstvo, and Iunak. In order to avoid repercussions, OUN mem-
bers who lived in Poland published articles anonymously. Because Surma and Rozbu-
dova natsiї were printed abroad, and the articles in them were usually written by older 
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nationalists, it is more likely that Bandera published articles only in journals that 
appeared in Galicia.78 

In particular Surma and Rozbudova natsiї followed the trend of the European rad-
ical right and fascist movements. These periodicals frequently published articles prop-
agating antisemitism, fascism, and the cult of war. They also justified ethnic and 
political violence, and terror conducted in the name of the nation. Other motifs ap-
pearing in these journals were the heroism of the Ukrainian nation, and the vicious-
ness, immorality, and insidiousness of Ukraine’s “occupiers” and “enemies.” 

In an article in Rozbudova Natsiї about the Jews and Ukrainians, Iurii Mylianych 
wrote that “in the Ukrainian territories live more than two million Jews who are an 
alien and many of them even a hostile element of the Ukrainian national organism.” 
Mylianych defined this as a problem and complained that Ukrainian politicians were 
not preparing to deal with it. He insisted that this problem “must be solved,” and clari-
fied that the Jews were, in addition to the “occupiers,” a further enemy of Ukrainians. 
According to Mylianych, the Ukrainian Jew always supported aggressors against 
Ukraine, whether such aggressors were Poles, Russians, Germans, or Bolsheviks.79 

Surma and Rozbudova natsiї familiarized Bandera not only with the current debate 
about Jews and antisemitism but also about fascism. Articles published in these two 
journals make it clear that, in the late 1920s and early 1930s, the OUN was already 
adopting many patterns typical of fascist and far-right movements, although not all 
contributors to the OUN journals were certain whether Ukrainians could and should 
became fascists. The more cautious attitude to fascism was represented by authors like 
Oleksandr Mytsiuk, who emphasized the traditional elements of Ukrainian national-
ism and the aspirations of the Ukrainian nationalists for autonomy and claimed that 
there could not be a Ukrainian fascism because Ukrainians did not have a state in which 
they could practice it. Mytsiuk also argued that fascism was an Italian phenomenon 
that could exist only there.80 

Ievhen Onats’kyi, the OUN representative in Rome and a significant contributor to 
the OUN journals, developed a more open and more affirmative attitude to fascism. In 
his first articles about fascism in Rozbudova natsiї he argued, similarly to Mytsiuk, that 
Italian Fascism and Ukrainian nationalism had their radical nationalist nature in 
common but that they were not the same, because Italian Fascism had a state in which it 
could exist and the Ukrainian nationalist movement did not. He stated that “fascism is a 
nationalism of a nation state.” He therefore argued that the Ukrainian nationalists 
needed to establish a state in order to become fascists.81 

Some months later however, having further contemplated the nature of fascism, in 
the article “We and Fascism” Onats’kyi changed his understanding of the relationship 
between fascism and Ukrainian nationalism. He ceased to emphasize that fascism was 
a political system that could only exist in a state and pointed out the unifying and revo-
lutionary features of fascism. He also drew a parallel between Italy and Ukraine, 
implying that a country in crisis needed a group of brave and powerful men, like the 
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fascists in Italy who could conduct a revolution in order to overcome the crisis and 
make the country great and powerful like Italy: 

Fascism—means first of all unity. This is its first and main meaning and it is indi-
cated by the etymology of the word “fascism,” which is derived from “fascio”—
bundle, bunch. 

At this point in time, when a country descended into chaos, when political and 
national enmity began reaching its peak, when all acquainted with the Russian and 
Ukrainian revolution became frightened due to the inevitable catastrophe … at 
exactly that time a group of people emerged and called for unity in order to rebuild 
the “Great Italy.”82 

In this article Onats’kyi implied that fascism is not specifically Italian, although it 
first appeared in Italy. He argued that it was rather a group of people who, at the right 
time, did the right thing in Italy. According to him a similar fascist revolution, which he 
understood as the rebuilding of the great past, could equally have happened else-
where.83 

In addition to familiarizing Ukrainian youth with fascism, Onats’kyi also ac-
quainted them with the Führerprinzip and the role of a leader in the history of a nation. 
He explained the role of the fascist leader, using the example of Mussolini: 

Fascism is Mussolini. Nowhere else among the idealistic movement is the anthro-
pomorphic necessity as essential as in fascism. Everything of it is almost the result 
of the personal activity of Benito Mussolini. Only due to him did fascism become its 
particular shape. The fascists of the first times consisted first of all of diverse polit-
ical remainders, defectors from diverse parties and organizations, and of people 
who never belonged to a political party. It was necessary to unite and inspire them 
with one idea and one will. 

Mussolini was in the beginning the dictator of a small bunch of his political 
friends and supporters, then of the party and then of the whole of Italy.84 

Onats’kyi described the leader also in a more abstract way. This allowed Ukrai-
nians to better comprehend that the leader of a fascist nation can exist not only in Italy 
but actually everywhere and especially in “countries in crisis” that are likely to undergo 
a revolution: 

He appeared when the political and social chaos of the country indeed needed a 
strong man, a dictator. Italy’s luck was that it found her dictator in the right mo-
ment. It was not only luck but also merit. Two necessary preconditions are essential 
to have a leader like Mussolini emerging … : 1) that a person, who the country needs, 
is called in the right moment, and 2) that the country is morally able to give birth 
to such a person. … 

The national dictator is truly the representative of energy and the lively vitality of 
the nation. The crisis helps him to emerge and to present his potentials and his 
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strengths but he makes himself noticeable only because the society and the very 
nation strive after order and life. 

The man of dictatorship, the man of the crisis is first of all determined by cha-
racter, will, and nothing else than character singles him out from ordinary ambi-
tious men. Like an ambitious man without the necessary intellect so an intelligent 
person without a strong character will not elevate to the role of leader [providnyk]. 

He realizes very soon that his own interests and the nation’s interests melt to-
gether and become one. He cannot compromise them [the nation’s interests] in any 
way. Therefore the nation looks to him with trust and hope. He loves favorites. 
Further, he loves the brave and it does not matter to him whether somebody breaks 
the law or not. A dictator becomes a hero, an object of cult and emulation.85 

Toward the end of his article about fascism, Onats’kyi came to the conclusion:  

We, the representatives of a hitherto defeated nation, see in fascism, in particular in 
its first stateless phase—another example to follow—the example of idealism. And 
we cannot be content with the enforced ‘fate’ [of not being independent] and need to 
overcome it. And we will overcome!86 

In terms of the name of the movement, Onats’kyi argued that Ukrainians would 
not steal the name of “fascism” from the Italians and that it would be “Ukrainian 
nationalism” that would unite Ukrainians and fulfill functions similar to those of 
fascism in Italy. Thus, like Dontsov, Onats’kyi did not insist on using the term “fasc-
ism.” Instead he argued that “Ukrainian nationalism” is a form of fascism consisting 
of people without a state.87 He also warned Ukrainians to be careful about presenting 
themselves and acting as fascists. In a brief to Iaroslav Pelenskyi from 20 January 
1930 he stated that “we sympathize with the fascist ideology and share in many 
points its sociopolitical program” but we should not insist to be fascist because we 
would thereby “arm against us everyone and everything.”88 

Similarly to Dontsov, Onats’kyi believed that Ukrainian nationalism, like Italian 
Fascism, depended on youth.89 And like Dontsov, he expressed the wish for a “new 
man,” a feature typical not only of fascism but also of other totalitarian movements and 
ideologies in the first half of the twentieth century. One of the main tasks of the OUN 
was to erase from the Ukrainian population the mentality of “slaves” or “subjects” of 
other states, and to foster a new “heroic” mentality. This process would transform 
Ukrainians into heroic and fearless “Ukrainian masses” that the OUN could lead into 
the fight against their enemies. For Onats’kyi, fascism was therefore both a tool for 
obtaining a state, and a political system that the OUN would establish in the state.90 
Antisemitism for Onats’kyi was an integral part of fascism, as he justified Italian 
antisemitic legislation in 1938.91 
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Onats’kyi’s articles evaluating and popularizing fascism, and his polemics with 
Mytsiuk, appeared in the late 1920s and early 1930s. In the late 1930s skepticism re-
lating to fascism as a non-genuine Ukrainian phenomenon disappeared in Ukrainian 
nationalist circles almost completely. At that time the majority of Ukrainian national-
ists did not consider Ukrainian nationalism and fascism to be mutually exclusive and 
did not object to being identified as members of a fascist movement. In 1938 another 
OUN ideologist, Iaroslav Orshan, wrote: “Fascism, National Socialism, Ukrainian 
nationalism, etc., are different national expressions of the same spirit.”92 

As already outlined in chapter 1, other ideologists of Ukrainian nationalism includ-
ing Dontsov and Stsibors’kyi developed a similar understanding of fascism to 
Onats’kyi’s. On the one hand, they understood Ukrainian nationalism as a form of 
fascism, and on the other hand they emphasized the uniqueness of Ukrainian nation-
alism and argued that it was politically more convenient for the Ukrainian nationalists 
not to present themselves as fascists. Stsibors’kyi wrote about the complicated relation-
ship between fascism, nationalism, and nation: 

Fascism concentrates all its idealism and voluntarism on one center: the very 
nation. The nation is its greatest value to which everything else is subordinated. 
Counter to democracy, which has the tendency to regard the nation as a mechanical 
set of a certain number of individuals, bound together first of all by real interests, 
fascism regards the nation as the highest historical, spiritual, traditional and real 
community, within which occur the processes of existence and creativity of entire 
generations—the dead, living, and so far unborn—all are bound together 
inseparably.93 

Two other important ideological notions, which, in addition to nationalism and 
fascism, formed the young Bandera, were racism and eugenics. As already men-
tioned, racism as a component of nationalism was present in Mikhnovys’kyi’s 
writing. According to Mirchuk, Bandera was fascinated by Mikhnovs’kyi’s ideas and 
studied them during his time at high school.94 In the early 1940s he even made them the 
ideological foundation of the OUN.95 Dontsov, Martynets’, and Rudnyts’kyi also spread 
racist ideas and popularized eugenics in Ukraine. Their thinking was influenced by the 
European and global discourses about racism and eugenics. In Ukrainian nationalism, 
racism and eugenics appeared in the context of purifying the Ukrainian nation, culture, 
and language of foreign—in particular, Polish, Russian and Jewish—influences, in 
order to obtain a pure Ukrainian “race.” This kind of racism was typical of radical right 
movements rooted in nations that for centuries were provinces of foreign empires, or 
were substantially influenced by other cultures. Ukraine and Croatia were two exam-
ples of such nations.96 
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The terrorist acts that the homeland executive conducted in 1933 and 1934, when 
Bandera was successively its propaganda director, deputy leader, and leader, confirm 
that he and other OUN members internalized far-right nationalist ethics and also Dont-
sov’s concept of amorality. As explained in chapter 1, the homeland executive used 
terror for propaganda purposes and also as a tool for the preparation of the “national 
revolution.” The purpose of the revolution was to take over power with the help of the 
masses and to establish a dictatorial state. This resembled the use of terror in other 
fascist movements, including the German National Socialists, Italian Fascists, and the 
Croatian Ustaša. The main difference between the OUN and the Ustaša on the one 
hand, and the fascist movements within nation states including Italy and Germany on 
the other hand, was that the former needed first to establish a state, and the latter 
could directly take over power from existing governments. 

Bandera spent the last five years before the Second World War in prison, where he 
was to some extent detached from official OUN discourses. Nevertheless, this period 
was very important in the development of his worldview and self-awareness. At this 
time, Bandera began to shape his own policies while representing the OUN at the trials 
in Warsaw and Lviv. The performance of fascist rituals by Bandera and other defen-
dants during the trials suggests that Bandera’s self-awareness, as the Providnyk of a 
movement that planned to establish a state with a fascist dictatorship, was already 
formed at that time.97 While in prison after the trial, Bandera was able to read books 
and subscribe to Ukrainian and other newspapers and periodicals. He was therefore 
not entirely isolated from Ukrainian and European political discourses during this 
period. After his escape from prison in September 1939, he felt secure in his position as 
the Providnyk of the young Ukrainian revolutionary nationalists and aspired to be-
come the leader of the entire OUN.98 

Other ideas that influenced young Bandera and should be briefly discussed here 
were the concepts of “permanent revolution” and “national revolution.” The term “per-
manent revolution” can be traced back to Karl Marx, but it was popularized by Leon 
Trotsky, who saw revolution as a political and social process of transforming society.99 
In the context of Ukrainian nationalism, “permanent revolution” retained the notion of 
permanent revolutionary transformation but anticipated very different results from 
those foreseen by Marx and Trotsky. It was based on the conviction that the Ukrainian 
nation would die if it did not succeed in getting rid of “occupiers” and “enemies” and in 
establishing its own state. The “permanent revolution” was intended to prepare the 
“Ukrainian masses” for a revolutionary act—the “national revolution”—during which 
the nationalists would take power, establish a dictatorial state, and expel or annihilate 
ethnic enemies and political opponents. For this purpose the OUN tried to re-educate 
Ukrainians, to change them from people with “souls of slaves to people with souls of 
masters, and from people with souls of defenders to people with souls of aggressors.”100 
The OUN also tried to establish a dense network of members in every city, town, and 
village in the “Ukrainian ethnic territory.” This required the involvement of Ukrainian 
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youth in the “national liberation struggle.” The UVO and OUN did this by infiltrating 
such youth groups as the scouting organization Plast and other youth organizations.101 

The OUN believed that, among the Ukrainian movements, parties, and organiza-
tions, only the OUN could conduct the revolution and thereby prevent the nation from 
dying. Other Ukrainian movements, according to the OUN, were not only incapable of 
conducting the revolution but were also foes of the movement, and thus opponents of 
the revolution. They were a target of the OUN’s revolutionary terror, especially if they 
cooperated in any manner with the “occupiers.” In practice, however, the OUN consi-
dered cooperation with some other Ukrainian parties, in order to get more support 
from the population during the revolution. Because the success of the “national revolu-
tion” was, in the understanding of the OUN, a matter of life or death for the entire 
nation, they considered it proper to use any means, including war and ethnic and 
political violence.102 

Bandera internalized the concepts of “permanent revolution” and “national revo-
lution” at the latest in the 1930s and gave special attention to the latter. This is clear 
from the conduct of the homeland executive in 1933–1934 with Bandera as its Pro-
vidnyk and from the actions in the summer of 1941 when the OUN organized the 
“Ukrainian National Revolution.”103 Furthermore, the texts written by Bandera after 
the Second World War confirm that he preferred the concept of “national revolu-
tion,” apparently because it was more radical than “permanent revolution.” After the 
Second World War, Bandera would adapt this concept to the climate of the Cold War 
and use it to organize a revolution against the Soviet Union. Important in Bandera’s 
understanding of the revolution were the masses and, in terms of 1941, the fascist 
leader (Providnyk or Vozhd’), whose role Bandera was expected to play.104 

Related to the concept of the “national revolution” was Bandera’s interest in nine-
teenth- and twentieth-century secret organizations. As a boy, according to his sister 
Volodymyra, Bandera was more interested in secret organizations, revolutionaries, 
and terrorists than he was in warfare or weapons. He read about and was fascinated by 
the nineteenth-century Russian nihilists and the more contemporary Bolsheviks. 
According to Volodymyra, Lenin was Stepan’s favorite revolutionary. Under the influ-
ence of Dontsov, Bandera’s fascination with Lenin was later transformed into a hatred 
of Bolshevism. His interest in the revolutionaries was apparently evoked by his father 
Andrii who, according to Bandera’s sister, told his children stories about Petliura, 
Skoropads’kyi, and Trotskii.105 

Like many other OUN activists of his generation, Bandera was also greatly influ-
enced by Polish national culture and by Józef Piłsudski’s authoritarian regime. 
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Although the OUN combated the Polish state as an “occupier,” the Bandera generation 
was not only fluent in Polish and familiar with Polish culture but also learned from 
Polish history how a nation can achieve statehood. Thus Bandera both admired and 
hated eighteenth-century insurgents such as Tadeusz Kościuszko and twentieth-
century revolutionaries such as Józef Piłsudski. Volodymyr Ianiv, an OUN activist with 
a realm of experience similar to that of Bandera, wrote about his experiences with 
Polish teachers: 

Of course, these Polish patriots tried to teach their [Ukrainian] pupils the Polish 
history and culture in the best light, but something unbelievable happened here: 
they became the best teachers of Ukrainian patriotism. As they talked with 
enthusiasm about the Polish uprisings or about the main poets, we automatically 
transferred it to the Ukrainian circumstances.106 

Although Dontsov familiarized this generation with the cults of other charismatic 
leaders, most young Galician Ukrainians never directly experienced them. Piłsudski, 
on the other hand, was present in almost every sphere of life. He was on every second 
page in the newspapers. His portraits hung in every room of official buildings, for 
example in the classrooms of the high school that Bandera attended. Piłsudski’s visits 
to other countries, his political speeches, and his health were the subject of daily 
talks and radio broadcasts.107 Like some other OUN members, Bandera might even 
have read Piłsudski’s diaries and admired his national revolutionary activities, much 
as he admired Lenin and other revolutionaries.108 Simultaneously, Bandera probably 
hated Piłsudski as the leader of the nation that “occupied” Ukraine. The interwar 
period was full of diverse cults of charismatic authoritarian, fascist, and military 
leaders. The young Ukrainian revolutionary nationalists did not resist the temptation 
to invent their own. 
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Conclusion 

Stepan Bandera was raised by a Greek Catholic priest who struggled for a Ukrainian 
state, and who inspired his son to continue the fight. For Stepan, unlike his father, na-
tionalism was more important than religion. In his high school years Bandera read such 
nationalist and racist writers as Mikhnovs’kyi and Dontsov. In 1928 he began to study 
in Lviv but on account of his political and terrorist activities never completed his stu-
dies. He rapidly rose through the ranks of the OUN, and in June 1933 became the 
official leader of the homeland executive of the OUN. As the head of the propaganda 
apparatus, Bandera had already demonstrated himself to be a talented organizer and a 
very dedicated nationalist. The policies of the homeland executive radicalized during 
his leadership; more and more people, amongst them Ukrainians and OUN members 
accused of betrayal, were executed, frequently on Bandera’s initiative. 

Bandera’s worldview can be reconstructed from the books and papers that he 
read, the groups and organizations to which he belonged, the acts which he con-
ducted, and the speeches which he delivered. This analysis shows that Bandera must 
have internalized the ideology of the OUN, and of Dontsov and other contemporary 
fascist and far-right thinkers. Bandera’s worldview was shaped by numerous far-
right values and concepts including ultranationalism, fascism, racism, and antisemi-
tism; by fascination with violence; by the belief that only war could establish a 
Ukrainian state; and by hostility to democracy, communism, and socialism. Like 
other young Ukrainian nationalists he combined extremism with religion and used 
religion to sacralize politics and violence. 





 

 

Chapter 3 

PIERACKI’S ASSASSINATION 

AND THE WARSAW AND LVIV TRIALS 

Pieracki’s Assassination 

On the morning of 15 June 1934, Polish Interior Minister Bronisław Pieracki said 
goodbye to German Propaganda Minister Joseph Goebbels, who continued his 
official visit to Poland by flying from Warsaw to Cracow. Pieracki then returned to his 
office in the Ministry of Interior Affairs at 69 Nowy Świat Street. After work, he left 
for the Klub Towarzyski, a restaurant and meeting place for politicians, located at 3 
Foksal Street. The minister arrived at Foksal Street at about 3:40 p.m. and told his 
chauffeur to return at 5:30 p.m. Pieracki started walking toward the restaurant with-
out his bodyguards. At this point, Hryhorii Matseiko, a twenty-one-year-old OUN 
member, began to approach him, shaking a parcel wrapped in paper from the Gajew-
ski confectionery. The parcel contained a makeshift bomb that Matseiko was trying 
to detonate. The bomb, however, did not explode. Its activation required a vigorous 
push on the detonator, a T-shaped metal piston, which was designed to crush a glass 
tube containing nitric acid. If Matseiko had pushed a little harder, the tube would 
have broken and detonated the bomb, killing the government minister and his assail-
ant. Once Matseiko realized that he could not blow up both the minister and himself, 
he pulled a gun from his coat and ran toward Pieracki, who had already passed him 
and was in the entrance of the restaurant. Catching up with him, Matseiko shot twice 
at the back of Pieracki’s head. When the minister sank to the ground, Matseiko fired 
a third shot but missed. The young assassin fled the scene, firing several times at his 
pursuers, and wounding a policeman in the hand.1 

After escaping from the scene of the crime, Matseiko disposed of the murder wea-
pon. He did not return to the hostel, where he had been living under the name of 
Włodzimierz Olszański. Instead, he went to Lublin, where he stayed for a few days with 
a Ukrainian student by the name of Iakiv Chornii. Matseiko then travelled to Lviv and 
went into hiding, assisted by three OUN members: Ivan Maliutsa, Roman Myhal’, and 
Ievhen Kachmars’kyi. On 5 August, armed with a gun and supplied with money, 
Matseiko crossed into Czechoslovakia with the help of Kateryna Zaryts’ka and other 
OUN members, and later travelled on a Lithuanian passport to Argentina, where he 
lived under the name Petro Knysh. He married a Ukrainian woman in Argentina but 

 
1  Żeleński, Akt oskarżenia, 5, 9; Żeleński, Zabójstwo ministra, 4–7, 63; “Zamordowanie ministra spraw 

wewnętrznych Bronisława Pierackiego. Przebieg zamachu,” Gazeta Polska, 16 June 1934, 2; “Polska w 
żałobie. Skrytobójstwo na ul. Foksal,” Ilustrowany Express Poranny, 18 June 1934, 1; “Min. Goebbels 
w grodzie podwawelskim,” Ilustrowany Kuryer Codzienny, 17 June 1934, 1. 
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could not get used to the climate; he turned to drink, suffered from mental problems, 
and died in 1966.2 

How Matseiko had come to join the OUN was somewhat fortuitous. On 19 Novem-
ber 1931, as he was walking along a street in Lviv, where he had moved from the small 
town of Shchyrets (Szczerzec) two years before, he heard a shot and then a crowd calling 
out “Catch the murderer,” pointing at a man who was running toward Matseiko. Mat-
seiko caught him. It was subsequently revealed that the fugitive was Ivan Mytsyk, an 
OUN member, who, a few minutes earlier, had killed a Ukrainian high school student, 
Ievhen Bereznyts’kyi. In order to atone for catching Mystyk, Matseiko decided to join 
the OUN. Before the attack on Pieracki, the homeland executive had commissioned 
Matseiko to kill other people, but he had not succeeded in doing so. Pieracki was his 
first victim.3 

Pieracki was a Polish patriot who had engaged in the struggle for a Polish state dur-
ing and after the First World War. Since 22 June 1931, he had been the interior minister 
of the Second Republic. As a politician Pieracki was loyal to Piłsudski and the Sanacja 
government.4 He was opposed to every kind of extremism that threatened the Polish 
state. Gazeta Polska and politicians from the Sanacja depicted Pieracki as a Polish 
patriot who, like Tadeusz Hołówko and Henryk Józewski, espoused Polish-Ukrainian 
reconciliation.5 A more critical and open-minded observer than the Sanacja politicians 
and the journalists from Gazeta Polska, the writer Maria Dąbrowska characterized 
Pieracki differently: 

Now Pieracki has been killed. He was a repulsive figure, clerical and overly pious ... a 
social parasite—I know about him because St. [Stanisław Stempowski, Dąbrowska’s 
life partner] had troubles with him that outraged him. The government is now 
making him into a great national hero: It has ordered a week of mourning for the 
officials and is writing panegyrics. Bishop Gawlina delivered an odious speech at the 
funeral. I put it into [my] “museum of dirtiness.”6 

Dąbrowska’s waspishly presented dislike for Pieracki might not have been unjus-
tified, although it was certainly influenced by the problematic relations between her 
life partner and Pieracki, and by the lavish religious-nationalist commemorations of 
Pieracki after his death. 

The OUN chose to kill Pieracki because he was a well-known Polish politician and 
because he could be blamed for the pacification of Ukrainian villages in the autumn of 
1930. In October 1934, the OUN announced in its bulletin: “On 15 June in Warsaw, a 
UVO fighter assassinated one of the hangmen of the Ukrainian nation. The UVO fighter 
killed Bronisław Pieracki, interior minister of the government occupying the western 
Ukrainian land.”7 The place of the assassination was especially significant. Pieracki was 
killed not in the south-eastern territories of the Second Republic, which the OUN 

 
2  For Matseiko’s escape and subsequent life, see Żeleński, Zabójstwo ministra Pierackiego, 21–22, 
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understood as “the western Ukrainian land” and which he visited shortly prior to his 
assassination (between 3 and 9 June 1934), but in the center of Warsaw, the capital of 
Poland.8 

In the first moments after the crime, the police did not suspect the OUN, to which 
Matseiko belonged, and at whose behest he had killed the minister, but the Polish 
National Radical Camp (Obóz Narodowo-Radykalny, ONR). The ONR was also a 
threat to the government and was more active in Warsaw than were Ukrainian natio-
nalists. In the first instance, the police arrested more ONR than OUN members. The 
escaping Matseiko, however, left behind important evidence, namely the parcel that 
contained the undetonated bomb. He also left his hat, and his coat in which the police 
found a blue-and-yellow ribbon, the colors of the Ukrainian flag. This evidence indi-
cated that the assassin might be Ukrainian, unless it was a non-Ukrainian who had left 
it deliberately in order to steer the investigation in the wrong direction. 

Bandera was arrested a day prior to the assassination. He was apprehended to-
gether with twenty other young OUN members, at about 5:30 a.m. on 14 June 1934, in 
the student residence in Lviv. When arresting Bandera, the police did not know that 
they had apprehended the head of the homeland executive of the OUN.9 During the 
same night, the police also arrested Karpynets’ and discovered a chemical laboratory in 
his apartment at Rynek Dębnicki 13, in Cracow. On 17 June 1934, the police took the 
bomb left at the crime scene in Warsaw to Karpynets’ laboratory where they found 
materials employed in its manufacture.10 This discovery convinced the police of the 
identity of those responsible for Pieracki’s assassination and caused further mass 
arrests of Ukrainian nationalists. In June 1934 a total of about 800 OUN members 
were apprehended in different Polish towns and cities; the majority on 14, 17, and 18 
June.11 

In the longer term, the OUN provoked mass arrests by the increase of propaganda 
and terrorist acts in 1933–1934, when Bandera took over the leadership of the 
homeland executive. The arrests were also the result of longer observation and infil-
tration conducted by the investigation department in Cracow, which was interested 
mainly in the illegal transportation of OUN propaganda and explosive materials from 
Czechoslovakia through the Czech-Polish town of Těšín (Cieszyn). The arrests occurred 
independently of the assassination, at least until 17 June, when the police established 
that the bomb left at the crime scene was prepared by the OUN. However, the OUN’s 
decision to assassinate Pieracki on 15 June did not occur independently of the arrests. 
The assassination was rescheduled for 15 June because the police had begun arresting 

 
8  For Pieracki’s visit to south-east Poland between 3 and 9 June 1934 see “Komunikat Nr. 7,” AAN, 
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10  For the arrest of Karpynets’ on 14 June 1934 in Cracow, see “Komunikat Nr. 7,” AAN, MSZ, syg. 5316, 84. 

For the arrests of OUN members, see “Komunikat Nr. 7,” AAN, MSZ, syg. 5316, 80–87; “Po zamordowa-
niu ministra spraw wewnętrznych Bronisława Pierackiego,” Gazeta Polska, 17 June 1934, 8; Polit, 
Miejsce odosobnienia, 115. For the visit to the laboratory on 17 June, see Żeleński, Zabójstwo ministra 
Pierackiego, 7. In the indictment Żeleński wrote that it was only on 20 June that the police technicians 
proved that the bomb was produced in Karpynets’ laboratory. Cf. Żeleński, Akt oskarżenia, 38. 

11  “Komunikat Nr. 7,” AAN, MSZ, syg. 5316, 40, 84. 



120 Stepan Bandera: The Life and Afterlife of a Ukrainian Nationalist 

 

OUN members on 14 June in Lviv and Cracow, having discovered, during the night of 
13–14 June, the laboratory in which the bomb had been prepared.12 Although the police 
already knew on 17 June who was behind Pieracki’s assassination, it was only on 10 July 
that they announced it. This delay—in conjunction with propagandistic and ideological 
mourning campaigns with a strong patriotic background for the assassinated interior 
minister—provoked the media to extensive speculation that stoked public anger 
against the unknown assassin.13 

The Ideological Dimension of Pieracki’s Assassination 

The first stage of the political cult of Stepan Bandera came about as a result of the politi-
cally and ideologically steered emotions released by Pieracki’s assassination and by the 
two great trials against members of the OUN, from 18 November 1935 to 13 January 
1936 in Warsaw, and from 25 May to 27 June 1936 in Lviv. Immediately after the as-
sassination, the Polish media, especially that connected to the Sanacja movement, 
portrayed Pieracki as a martyr and hero and tried to set up a political myth around him. 
Although this effort was unsuccessful, the Polish propaganda apparatus stirred up 
collective anger, which struck against the OUN, once the authorities had announced 
who, in the capital of Poland, had killed a Polish minister and fighter for Polish inde-
pendence. 

On 15 June 1934, the evening newspapers were already portraying the death of 
Pieracki as a national tragedy. Gazeta Polska, a semi-official paper of the leading 
parliamentary group Sanacja, was at the head of the campaign. On 16 June, in the 
center of the front page, the newspaper printed a photograph of Pieracki looking 
sadly and seriously into the eyes of the readers. A dark frame made the photograph 
look like a huge obituary notice. Above it, a massive headline reported the “assassi-
nation of the interior minister yesterday at about 3.15 p.m.” A second headline inf-
ormed readers about the place of the assassination and reported Pieracki’s death as 
having occurred at 5:05 p.m., in the hospital. It further informed readers that the killer 
had not yet been caught.14 The text below Pieracki’s photograph raised anger against 
the unknown group that was responsible for the crime. After “finding out where the 
roots of this crime are … this sick part of the social organism should be burned away 
with a white iron,” the newspaper declared. “The time of non-responsibility in Polish 
history is over. The criminal is responsible for both the physical crime and the political 
one.” The article argued that Pieracki did not die for nothing, but sacrificed his life for 
the glory of Poland. It also implied that the minister was killed by an enemy who was 
cowardly and cunning enough to murder him from behind, and not in front of his eyes 
as an enemy on a battlefield would.15 

 
12  For the observation and infiltration of the OUN by the Polish authorities, see Żeleński, Zabójstwo 
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The second page of the issue of the Gazeta Polska for 16 June 1934 informed readers 
about the details of the crime, Pieracki’s death in hospital, the unsuccessful pursuit of 
the assassin, and the impact of the crime on society. According to this report, the news 
about Pieracki’s assassination had spread as fast as lightning throughout the city and 
had caused genuine sorrow everywhere. As a sign of mourning, cinemas, restaurants, 
and taverns were closed. On the sidewalks, people read the special evening editions of 
the newspapers, which kept them informed about the crime and provoked discussion. 
Flags were hung on many public and private buildings. The Legion of the Young 
(Legion Młodych), a youth organization associated with the Sanacja movement, 
marched from the hospital where Pieracki had died, to the Belweder, the palace where 
Marshal Piłsudski lived. During the procession, fights with the Polish fascist organiza-
tion ONR occurred. Similar emotional reactions and manifestations of sorrow emerged 
in Lviv, Cracow, Lublin, Łódź, Vilna, Białystok, and Toruń. Gazeta Polska reported that 
such capitals as Paris, London, and Bucharest had expressed condolences, and feelings 
of disgust for the unknown murderer.16 

The crime took on the shape of a national tragedy. Pro-government media used the 
ceremonies of mourning, grief, and anger to elaborate a collective desire for revenge 
and justice. On the next day, 17 June 1934, Gazeta Polska devoted the entire front page 
to turning Pieracki into a martyr and hero. This time too, the first page bore a black 
frame that made it look like an obituary, but no photograph of Pieracki appeared in the 
frame. Instead, the name Bronisław Pieracki was printed in large letters with a cross 
above it, and the letters Ś and P, the abbreviation for “Of holy memory.” Below, in 
smaller but large enough letters, Pieracki’s titles, posts, honors, and medals, such as 
“Interior Minister,” “Delegate of Sejm,” and “Holder of the Virtuti Militari Medal,” were 
listed. One of these honors was “Brigadier General,” a military rank with which Marshal 
Piłsudski had honored Pieracki, the day after his death. Below this enumeration, the 
readers were informed that Pieracki had fallen while “standing on guard,” and that the 
mourning service would take place on Monday, 18 June at the Church of the Holy Cross. 
After the service the coffin would be taken to the main railway station, whence it would 
be transported to Nowy Sącz, the city where Pieracki’s family lived.17 

On the second page, Gazeta Polska reported a special mourning gathering of the 
council of ministers at 10:00 a.m. on the day after the assassination, during which 
Prime Minister Leon Kozłowski announced that the “punishing hand” should catch not 
only the direct, but also the indirect perpetrators of the crime. The government stated 
that, until the day of the funeral, flags would be hung at half-mast, and that black rib-
bons would be affixed to them at all public buildings. The president of Warsaw—equiv-
alent to mayor—Marian Zyndram-Kościałkowski appealed to Varsovians to decorate 
all private houses with flags. Government offices were obliged to mourn for eight days. 
The Ministry of Interior Affairs and its branch offices would mourn for twenty-eight 
days. The appeal requested the cancellation of ceremonies and festivities during the 
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mourning period, and obliged all officials to wear mourning ribbons. In all towns and 
cities in Poland, as well as in all places outside Poland where Poles were living, mourn-
ing services were to be held. On the day of the funeral, all performances in theatres and 
cinemas were cancelled. Polish radio was required to broadcast special programs.18 

Condolences from such prominent persons as Primate August Hlond, ambassadors 
of numerous countries to Warsaw, and organizations such as workers’ associations 
were published on the second page. A personal decision of Marshal Piłsudski to organ-
ize a military-style funeral was announced, as was a huge mourning march, which 
began the same day at 12:00 on Marshal Piłsudski Square, and was attended by 
100,000 people. Gazeta Polska also announced that Pieracki’s mother had fainted 
when she heard on the radio about the death of her son. The Ministry of Internal Affairs 
offered a reward of 100,000 złotys to the person who helped catch the killer.19 On the 
third page, Gazeta Polska published an article entitled “A Soldier’s Death.” It depicted 
Pieracki as a very respected and patriotic Pole, a faithful servant of the Polish state, as 
well as a representative of his generation, who, during and after the First World War, 
fought for Polish independence and who was engaged after the war in rebuilding the 
state. Pieracki’s assassination was presented as a blow against all patriotic Poles and 
was used to evoke a desire for revenge.20 This was strengthened by the observation that 
the bullet that hit Pieracki during the struggle for independence in 1915 had not 
prevented him from serving the state, but an assassin’s bullet had. The political group 
that fired the bullet therefore had to be smashed.21 

The day after his assassination, the street in which Pieracki was killed was renamed 
Bronisław Pieracki Street. Military, social, and workers’ associations and organiza-
tions, as well as leading politicians, came to the ceremony. The renaming ceremony was 
conducted by the president of Warsaw, Zyndram-Kościałkowski, who stressed the 
tragedy of the loss with the words: “The minister of the Polish Republic, the colonel of 
the Polish Army, the soldier of Marshal Piłsudski was murdered! God was desecrated 
through the killing of a man, the fatherland was desecrated through the killing of a 
minister of the Republic”22 The speaker further indicated that the street should be 
renamed, in order to commemorate the efforts that Pieracki had invested in the father-
land, and “to remember that everyone should live and work hard … according to the 
order of the Leader of the Nation (Wódz Narodu) [Józef Piłsudski] to elaborate a Pol-
and as He [the Leader of the Nation] wants to see, and for which we, His soldiers, 
fought.”23 Zyndram-Kościałkowski depicted Pieracki as a faithful servant of the state, in 
which everything happens for the glory of the leader, and always as the leader wishes. 
He also indicated that the loss of Pieracki harmed the whole of society, because it 
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harmed the leader. Other Polish cities followed this example and renamed streets after 
Pieracki. The municipal council of Chrzanów decided to do so on 18 July 1934, and the 
one in Kowel followed suit on 20 July.24 

Pieracki’s assassination was also used to legitimize the establishment of the pre-
viously mentioned first Polish detention camp in Bereza Kartuska and to repudiate 
the Little Treaty of Versailles. Both the detention camp and the repudiation of the 
treaty had been planned for some time, but were carried out only after the assassina-
tion.25 Gazeta Polska and Ilustrowany Kuryer Codzienny depicted the creation of 
the camp as a necessary response to the assassination.26 

On 18 June 1934, next to a number of other condolences from various organiza-
tions and offices, Gazeta Polska published the first condolences from Ukrainian 
associations in Volhynia.27 It reported that a large demonstration had taken place on 
17 June 1934 in Lviv, and that in all other cities of the Lviv, Ternopil’, and Stanyslaviv 
voievodeships—all three mainly inhabited by Ukrainians—mourning ceremonies 
took place, and resolutions condemning the assassin were passed.28 On the front 
page of their 17 June issue, Ilustrowany Kuryer Codzienny printed a long article 
titled “Bloody Hands …” The article was a response to the discovery of the OUN 
laboratory in Cracow and to the mass arrests of OUN members on 14 June. The 
author of the article exposed the violent and criminal nature of the OUN, condemned 
the Greek Catholic Church for sanctifying the OUN, and called on the church to dis-
tance itself from the OUN. The writer did not state that the OUN had committed the  
crime against Pieracki, but he described the OUN as a terrorist and criminal 
organization that might have carried it out.29 

On 18 June 1934, Pieracki’s corpse was transported from Warsaw to Nowy Sącz, a 
small city in Małopolska (Little Poland) where Pieracki’s family lived and where he 
was to be buried on 19 June. For this journey a special “mourning train” (pociąg 
żałobny) was prepared. It consisted of a carriage with Pieracki’s body inside, another 
carriage which was full of wreaths, and eight carriages for relatives, government 
members, and representatives of various organizations and government bodies. 
Before the train departed, Prime Minister Kozłowski delivered a speech in which he 
stressed that the murder of Pieracki “defamed the honor of our country, it insulted 
our instinct of justice and public morality.”30 
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Fig. 7. The front page of Gazeta Lwowska, 19 June 1934. 
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The “mourning train” left Warsaw at 1:00 p.m. On the way to Nowy Sącz, it paused 
for ten to thirty minutes in each of the seven main cities, allowing their delegations and 
the crowds who came to see the train to pay homage to the dead minister. So many 
wreaths were brought to the train on the way to Nowy Sącz that a second carriage had to 
be added for wreaths. Where the train did not stop, it was greeted with the ringing of 
church bells and was pelted with flowers. Airplanes escorted the train for a time. In 
Tarnów, crowds with torches gathered on both sides of the train, and peasant girls 
genuflected and prayed with outstretched hands.31 

After three and a half days of collective mourning, the funeral itself took on a very 
ceremonial shape, as promised by the Wódz, Marshal Piłsudski, the most revered 
person in the state. Enchanted by nationalism and patriotism, Polish society did not 
notice the ideological nature of the process that transformed Pieracki into a hero and 
martyr. At the mourning service in Nowy Sącz, Bishop Lisowski delivered a sermon 
that made members of the government, and “old, battle-hardened soldiers” who had 
fought for the independence of Poland, weep.32 Mounted on a gun carriage, Pieracki’s 
coffin was then transported to the cemetery. During the funeral, Stanisław Car, dep-
uty marshal of the Sejm, like many speakers before him, characterized Pieracki as a 
faithful servant of Piłsudski—the “genius and Leader of the Nation”—and expressed 
the hope that the hand of justice would finally catch the murderer.33 

Newspapers, radio stations, and the educational ministry participated in these po-
litical mourning carnivals. Even if they did not all politicize the mourning rituals as 
extensively as Gazeta Polska, the semi-official paper of the Sanacja government, they 
did help to initiate the new political myth of the brave Pieracki who fell for his country. 
Polish radio (Radjofonja Polska), for example, canceled many scheduled programs in 
order to broadcast mourning services from churches in Warsaw and Nowy Sącz, and 
speeches from various other ceremonies. It also reported the journey of the “mourning 
train” in detail and broadcast programs that discussed the assassination and its reper-
cussions.34 The education minister ordered that every class in every school devote one 
hour to a discussion of Pieracki’s passing.35 Gazeta Lwowska transformed the whole 
first page of its issue for 19 June into a huge obituary (Fig. 7).36 

The collective ideological work on the new political myth of Pieracki culminated in a 
book entitled Bronisław Pieracki: Brigadier General, Interior Minister, Deputy of 
Sejm, Soldier, Statesman, Human Being, published by the Creative State Propaganda 
Institute in late 1934.37 The aim of the publication was to characterize Pieracki as a 
faithful servant of his fatherland and “his Leader [Piłsudski], who liberated Poland 
from enslavement.” The publication placed Pieracki in the pantheon of Polish heroes, 
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martyrs, and statesmen.38 For this purpose, the captivating and harrowing informa-
tion about the assassination, the escape of the assassin, the death of Pieracki in hos-
pital, his mother’s fainting on hearing the news, the condolences from around the 
world, the mourning ceremonies in all Polish cities, the funeral, and the funeral ora-
tions by various politicians were ordered in a hagiographical narrative.39 

The two main Ukrainian newspapers that appeared in the Second Polish Repub-
lic, Dilo and Novyi chas, were much more restrained about the highly stylized 
mourning of the Polish interior minister and did not participate in the collective 
elaboration of the Pieracki myth. Dilo limited itself to publishing factual information 
about the assassination and the mourning ceremonies, together with reports on the 
reactions of other newspapers.40 It also published the condolences of the Ukrainian 
Parliamentary Representation, and reported the mass arrests of the OUN, which di-
verted the attention of its readers from the mourning ceremonies.41 

At the same time, Dilo kept its readers informed about local trials of OUN mem-
bers. During the mourning period and the following months, three such trials occurred. 
They were understood as political and were depicted as such by the press. At a trial in 
Ternopil’, four OUN members were prosecuted for killing a policemen and for belong-
ing to the OUN. The article in Dilo on the subject was entitled “Huge Political Trial in 
Ternopil’ for Belonging to OUN and Murdering Police Officer.”42 In this trial, two of the 
OUN members were sentenced to death, one received a life sentence, and one was 
released.43 

Novyi chas was even more reluctant than Dilo to comment on Pieracki’s assassi-
nation. On 16 June 1934, the first day after the assassination, Novyi chas preferred to 
use the front page for information about one of the local trials of OUN members, rather 
than information about the assassination.44 It kept to this policy in the following two 
issues, devoting the front and many other pages to reports about trials of OUN mem-
bers in Stanyslaviv and Sambir (Sambór) and omitting any information about Pie-
racki’s death.45 Indeed, Novyi chas did not announce the assassination until 20 June 
1934, the day after Pieracki’s funeral, when it started the announcement with the gov-
ernment’s decision to establish a detention camp for people endangering the state.46 

On 10 July 1934, almost a month after the assassination, Gazeta Polska published 
an interview with Justice Minister Czesław Michałkowski. The minister explained that 
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investigators had determined that the OUN had planned and conducted the assassina-
tion, and that three people involved in the assassination had been arrested. The 
assassin himself was not arrested. He had escaped from Poland, although the Polish 
authorities had tried diligently to capture him. The names of the assassin and the 
people under arrest were not revealed.47 But the interview had left no doubt as to which 
organization was responsible for the assassination of the exemplary Polish patriot, 
statesman, hero, and martyr. Polish society was outraged at that time by the assassina-
tion, and exhausted by the exaggerated and politicized mourning rituals. 

After the justice minister’s announcement of the results of the investigation, the 
UNDO, in a short resolution released on 13 July 1934 condemned the OUN, its ter-
rorist nature, and its pernicious influence on Ukrainian youth.48 Novyi shliakh, a 
Ukrainian newspaper published in Canada, reacted with a condemnation of UNDO 
and characterized its leaders as people who “signed a document that means to dec-
lare war on Ukrainian revolutionary nationalism and the OUN.”49 

Ukrainian newspapers changed their method of reporting on and judging the 
OUN and its terrorist acts only on 25 July 1934 when the OUN killed Ivan Babii, the 
director of and a teacher at a Ukrainian high school in Lviv. Before he was shot to 
death, Babii had already been beaten up on two occasions by OUN operatives, once 
on 11 November and again on 23 November 1932.50 Having killed Babii and realizing 
that he could not escape, the young assassin and OUN member Mykhailo Tsar shot 
himself in the head and died some hours later in hospital. The assassination of Ivan 
Babii provoked a completely different reaction from the editors of Novyi chas, who 
had been reluctant a few days earlier to inform their readers about Pieracki’s assassi-
nation but now printed an article entitled “Horrible Assassination” on the front page. 
A number of other articles devoted to this topic followed.51 

Dilo also reported feverishly about the murder of Babii and the desperate assas-
sin’s suicide.52 The assassination provoked Dilo to take a critical position toward the 
OUN and to condemn its politics again. Shortly after the assassination, an anonym-
ous journalist for Dilo pointed out: “This latest murder is the result of a tragic mis-
understanding. Because of a tragic misunderstanding, members of the same nation 
kill each other.”53 On 5 August, ten days after the murder of Babii, Metropolitan 
Andrei Sheptyts’kyi, the head of the Greek Catholic Church, also condemned the 
deed in Dilo. He called Babii’s assassins “Ukrainian terrorists” and “enemies of the 
[Ukrainian] nation.”54 According to another source, Sheptyts’kyi stated in reaction to 
Babii’s assassination: “If you want to treacherously kill all those who oppose your 
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work, you will have to kill all teachers and professors who work for the Ukrainian 
youth, all fathers and mothers of Ukrainian children.”55 The assassination of Pier-
acki, on the other hand, had not provoked a similar reaction on the part of Shep-
tyts’kyi. 

More than a year later, in the second half of October 1935, the first commemorative 
celebration of Pieracki’s death took place in Nowy Sącz. Delegations from various so-
cial, political, and cultural organizations, together with military and police units from 
around the country arranged to participate. According to the schedule of events, Pie-
racki’s coffin was carried at 7 p.m. on 19 October from the new cemetery to a chapel in 
the old cemetery. On the morning of Sunday 20 October, Franciszek Lisowski, a bishop 
from Ternopil’, conducted a memorial service in the chapel. During the service, mem-
bers of Pieracki’s family were accompanied by the First Regiment of the Riflemen from 
Podhale, representatives of the Polish government, of organizations from different 
parts of Poland, and of the local population. After the memorial service Pieracki’s coffin 
was located in a simple military-style mausoleum. The placing of Pieracki’s coffin in the 
mausoleum was accompanied by the military song “We, the First Brigade” (My, 
Pierwsza Brygada) performed by the riflemen. Following this ceremony, a corner-
stone was set for a future riflemen’s house (dom strzelecki) in Nowy Sącz, which was 
named after Pieracki. Bishop Lisowski blessed the cornerstone, and Prime Minister 
Marian Zyndram-Kościałkowski delivered a speech.56 A month later, the long trial of 
the OUN members, who had organized Pieracki’s assassination, began. 

The First Trial of OUN Members in Warsaw 

In a trial lasting from 18 November 1935 to 13 January 1936, twelve OUN members—
Stepan Bandera, Daria Hnatkivs’ka, Iaroslav Karpynets’, Ievhen Kachmars’kyi, My-
kola Klymyshyn, Mykola Lebed’, Ivan Maliutsa, Bohdan Pidhainyi, Roman Myhal’, 
Iaroslav Rak, Iakiv Chornii, and Kateryna Zaryts’ka—were accused either of organiz-
ing and conducting the assassination of Pieracki, or of helping the assassin to escape. 
In addition, all of them were accused of “being active in the OUN, which tried to 
separate from the Polish state its south-eastern voivodeships.” Especially the latter 
accusation made the trial a political one. The authorities used it to “show justice,” but 
they did not intend to stage a show trial. On the one hand, the prosecutors investi-
gated the crime in depth and scrupulously presented their results to the public. On 
the other hand, the trial was used to demonstrate how the authorities would proceed 
against individuals or groups who attacked or harmed the Polish state, questioned its 
existence or tried to separate any of its territory.57 
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Fig. 8. OUN leaflet with the defendants from the Warsaw trail.  

Poltava, Zhyttia Stepana Bandery, 18. 

Before the Warsaw trial began, the twelve OUN members involved in Pieracki’s 
assassination had been interrogated for about a year. For the first time since his arrest, 
Bandera was interrogated on 16 June 1934. During this interrogation Bandera denied 
that he belonged to the OUN. He informed the investigating officer, who wanted to 
interrogate him in Polish, that he knew Polish but would only answer in Ukrainian. Due 
to the “impossibility to communicate,” the interrogation was postponed until 26 
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June.58 On 12 November 1934, Bandera again denied belonging to the OUN. He also 
claimed that he did not know Lebed’ and could not recognize him on a photograph. On 
16 November 1934, he said that not only did he not belong to the OUN but that he had 
nothing in common with it.59 On 10 January 1935, Bandera denied that he had sus-
pected Bachyns’kyi of being an informer, denied that he had ordered his murder, and 
denied that he had ordered the disposal of his corpse. He would only confirm that he 
knew Bachyns’kyi from the Ukrainian Student House.60 During the same interrogation 
he denied knowing Lemyk and ordering him to kill the Soviet consul and denied know-
ing Matseiko and ordering him to kill Pieracki.61 In a similar manner, Bandera denied 
several dozen criminal deeds.62 

The protocols of the interrogation between 16 June and 26 September 1934 are 
missing. According a protocol dated 27 September, Bandera claimed that he was inter-
rogated without interruption from 9 a.m. on 6 August, to 8 p.m. on 11 August. Although 
he had already signed a protocol on 7 August at about 8 p.m., the interrogators contin-
ued to interrogate him for four more days. They did not allow him to sleep or even rest, 
and they informed him that they would not stop until he gave them further information. 
In order to interrupt the interrogation, Bandera informed them on Saturday 11 August 
that he would give them further statements on Monday 13 August, and would also pre-
pare a statement about his views on the OUN for the newspapers. He was taken to his 
cell, from where he informed other OUN prisoners about the circumstances of the in-
terrogation, shouting through an open window: “[It’s] Bandera! I testified [sic]; the 
police keep interrogating without interruption, all day and night, and demand other 
statements. I was interrogated from Monday till Saturday, and on Monday they will 
interrogate me further.” On Monday 13 August, Bandera told the interrogators that he 
would not do as he had promised on Saturday, and that he had only made the promise 
in order to interrupt the interrogation and to inform other OUN prisoners about the 
conduct of the interrogators.63 Another OUN prisoner, Klymyshyn, did not mention 
such interrogation methods in his memoirs, but, unlike Bandera, he decided from the 
very beginning not to make any statement or answer any questions.64 

Several other arrested OUN members, for example Stets’ko and Ianiv, consistently 
denied everything, like Bandera. Roman Shukhevych even stated that he “does not 
agree with the ideology of the OUN because it does not lead to the aim.”65 Nevertheless, 
the interrogating officers obtained a huge amount of information about the structure of 
the OUN and Bandera’s role in the organization from other sources. One of the sources 
consisted of the OUN members Ivan Maliutsa, Roman Myhal’, Bohdan Pidhainyi, and 
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Ievhen Kachmars’kyi, who began to reveal the secrets of the organization during their 
interrogations.66 

Myhal’ and Maliutsa decided to testify because they had “qualms of conscience” 
about their deeds. Both were involved in the murder of Ivan Babii on 25 July 1934, and 
Myhal’ was also involved in the murder of OUN member Bachyns’kyi on 31 March 1934. 
Both Bachyns’kyi and Babii were killed on Bandera’s order. Babii was accused by Ban-
dera of supporting the Polish authorities and of suppressing Ukrainian nationalism. 
Bachyns’kyi was murdered because Bandera suspected him of collaborating with the 
Polish intelligence service.67 Myhal’, and Sen’kiv invited Bachyns’kyi, for a drink on 9 
May 1934. They felt that they had to get drunk before shooting him, because they had an 
amicable relationship with him.68 After murdering Bachyns’kyi, Myhal’ fell into a deep 
depression, and the OUN sought to “liquidate” him.69 Of the four individuals who in-
formed on their comrades, only Pidhainyi later tried to withdraw his testimony on the 
grounds that it was made under duress.70 

Another major source of information was the Senyk archives, an important collec-
tion of about 2,500 OUN documents that were confiscated in Prague in 1933 from the 
house of OUN member Omelian Senyk. The Czechoslovak intelligence service made 
these documents available to the Polish service.71 The contents of the Senyk archives 
helped the investigators to persuade some of the defendants to testify.72 Together with 
the contents of the Senyk archives, their evidence enabled Prosecutor Żeleński to write 
a detailed act of indictment, containing much information about the structure, deeds, 
and financing of the OUN.73 In the course of the investigation, Żeleński prepared 
twenty-four volumes of investigation records for the Warsaw trial.74 

According to the evidence given during the investigation, Bandera’s role in Pie-
racki’s assassination was significant. He was accused of persuading Matseiko to murder 
Pieracki and of providing him with the gun. He was accused of supplying Lebed’ with 
money, for the purpose of observing Pieracki in Warsaw, and was also accused of other 
aspects of the crime.75 According to prosecutor Żeleński, however, it was not Bandera 
who made the initial decision to kill Pieracki, but the leadership in exile, or the PUN. In 
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particular, it was alleged that Konovalets’, Iaryi, and Senyk had issued the order and 
instructed Bandera and other members to organize and carry out the assassination.76 

Stepan Shukhevych and Volodymyr Starosol’s’kyi, two lawyers who had previously 
acted for the OUN, were called as witnesses for the prosecution. This made it impossi-
ble for them to act as defending lawyers in this trial, despite the request of the families 
of the defendants. The two lawyers were therefore replaced by Volodymyr Horbovyi, 
Stanislav Shlapak, Lev Hankevych, and Lev Pavents’kyi, all of them less experienced in 
this kind of trial than Shukhevych and Starosol’s’kyi.77 According to Stepan Shukhe-
vych, who had not only defended OUN members at several trials but was also connected 
with the OUN through family ties, Konovalets’ intended to admit at the beginning of the 
trial that the OUN had killed Pieracki, but Hankevych had changed the meaning of the 
message before passing it on to the other three defense lawyers.78 

Just as the OUN regarded assassination as a means of propaganda, so they also used 
trials as political stages. A trial was an opportunity to propagate the cause of Ukrainian 
nationalism and to draw international attention to the situation of the Ukrainians in 
Poland. This frequently came about as the result of an unwritten agreement with ele-
ments of the Ukrainian press, which would depict trials of OUN members as political, 
even if they were accused of a robbery or killing a policeman. All trials of OUN members 
in the Second Republic were in fact political, because, in addition to the crimes that they 
had committed, the defendants were inevitably accused of belonging to the OUN. 

The Warsaw trial of the OUN members, like Pieracki’s funeral some months before, 
became a political spectacle for the media. Throughout the trial, almost all Polish and 
Ukrainian newspapers published detailed reports on the proceedings. Some of them, 
for example Express Poranny from Lviv and Ilustrowany Kurier Codzienny from 
Cracow, published sensational articles. Polish tabloid newspapers mobilized their 
readers’ emotions, publishing front page articles with large headlines such as “Huge 
Revelations about Pieracki’s Murders,” “Leaders and Fighters of OUN Paid by Lith-
uania: Unbelievable Revelations at Trial in Warsaw,” or “Amazing Confessions of Wit-
nesses and Devious Strategy of Defense.”79 During the trial, the Ilustrowany Kurier 
Codzienny published detailed reports of the crime, and grief-inducing pictures of Pie-
racki’s assassination, of the mourning ceremonies in June 1934, of Pieracki’s body in a 
coffin on a catafalque, and of Pieracki’s mausoleum in Nowy Sącz.80 

The main Ukrainian newspaper Dilo published less sensational and more factual 
reports from the courtroom. It also printed parts of the indictment, translated into 
Ukrainian.81 Novyi chas, another major Ukrainian newspaper, chose a more 
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sensational path of reporting. It published huge headlines on the first pages, such as 
“12 Ukrainians Accused of Complicity in the Murder of Minister Pieracki before the 
Court in Warsaw” and “Fighter of the Ukrainian Underground before the Court in 
Warsaw. The Huge Political Trial in Consequence of the Murder of Minister Pier-
acki.”82 On the first page of Novyi chas, readers could not miss the pictures of the 
“Croatian Insurgents,” which appeared next to the articles about the OUN revolutio-
naries. The Ustaša was involved in the assassination of King Alexander I of Yugosla-
via and French foreign minister Louis Barthou in Marseilles on 9 October 1934, and 
their trial took place at the same time as the trial in Warsaw.83 

The trial began on 18 November 1935, in the eighth penal division of the regional 
court in Warsaw. For security reasons, the courtroom was separated from other parts 
of the building. Without special tickets, members of the public were excluded from 
the courtroom. Apart from the lawyers, security people, and other court staff, the 
well of the court was therefore occupied only by journalists and by relatives of the 
accused.84 On a long table placed before the court, exhibits, such as weapons, and 
numerous bottles and flasks from Karpynets’s laboratory were arranged. In addition, 
twenty-four thick volumes of the investigation record were stacked up.85 

Observing Bandera, who was sitting near the exhibits, an unidentified reporter 
from Gazeta Polska characterized him as 

the leader of all the other [defendants] and the superior in the ranks of the terrorist 
organization … who coordinated the terrorist action in the entire territory of Poland 
and who was in contact with the leading members abroad. Bandera, the ace of the 
terrorist organization, looks inconspicuous. Small, thin, puny, looks not older than 
twenty or twenty-two, receding chin, sharp features, unpleasant physiognomy, 
darting eyes with a small squint, nervous movements, small pinched mouth, laughs 
quite often, revealing uneven teeth, talks to his defending lawyers with vibrant 
gestures.86 

The trial began at 10 a.m. and was soon transformed into a power struggle. After a 
short and formal statement concerning juridical formalities, the chairman of the court, 
Władysław Posemkiewicz, began to question the defendants as to their personal de-
tails—the first, in alphabetical order, being Bandera. He answered the chairman’s first 
question, about his name, with a resonant “Stepan.” This differed from the Polish 
equivalent “Stefan,” which appeared in the indictment, and which the chairman ex-
pected to hear. Bandera then gave the names of his parents and his date of birth, in 
Ukrainian. The chairman reminded Bandera that the official language of the court was 
Polish, to which Bandera replied in Ukrainian, “I will answer only in Ukrainian [Budu 
vidpovidaty til’ky po-ukraїns’ky].” The chairman asked Bandera if he knew Polish. 
Bandera answered with “Tak,” which means “yes” in both Ukrainian and Polish. At this 
point, Bandera’s lawyer Horbovyi stood up, but the chairman did not allow him to 
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speak and immediately reminded the court that he would not permit any discussion of 
the question of language because it was regulated by a law that allowed the use of 
Ukrainian in trials held exclusively in the south-eastern voivodeships of Poland.87 

The next two defendants questioned, Lebed’ and Hnatkivs’ka, applied the same tac-
tics regarding language and behavior in the courtroom as had Bandera. Karpynets’, the 
student of chemistry and constructor of the bomb that did not explode, when reminded 
to speak Polish, boomed: “The prestige of the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists 
enjoins me to speak Ukrainian!” Prosecutor Żeleński then applied to the court for the 
appointment of an interpreter, in case defendants such as Karpynets’ wanted to reveal 
important evidence. The chairman replied that the court would consider the question 
later but would not take note meanwhile of any testimony in a “non-Polish language” 
and would regard it as a refusal to testify. Bandera immediately shouted in Ukrainian, 
“I want to testify!” The chairman answered in Polish, “The court will take notice of tes-
timony only in Polish,” and explained that, because the defendants had not followed his 
instructions, he would read out their personal details.88 

When Bandera’s lawyer Horbovyi asked for the trial to be postponed on the 
grounds that he had not had enough time to study the voluminous investigation 
record, and because five defendants had not yet managed to retain counsel, Bandera 
stood up, and shouted in Ukrainian, “Because not all the defendants have a defend-
ing lawyer, I abandon my defense lawyer!” The chairman stated that he had not 
asked Bandera to take the floor and refused all of Horbovyi’s requests. The defending 
lawyers then tried to postpone the trial, using the argument that the defendant Chor-
nii was under psychiatric observation during the investigation and might be mentally 
disordered, whereas this was not mentioned in the indictment. Prosecutor Żeleński 
protested that psychiatrists had examined Chornii and had determined that he was 
not insane. Bandera jumped up again and informed the court in a resonant voice that 
he was abandoning his lawyer. The chairman again requested Bandera to remain 
silent, unless he had been asked to speak, and informed him and the other defen-
dants that anyone who interrupted the proceedings would be removed from the 
courtroom. Surprised by Bandera’s capricious move to abandon his lawyer, the latter 
asked the court for a recess in order to confer with his client, which was granted.89 
After the break, Horbovyi informed the court that Bandera had withdrawn his re-
quest to do without defense counsel. The chairman read out part of the indictment, 
which gave details of the preparation and execution of Pieracki’s assassination.90 
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Fig. 9. OUN leaflet released after the announcement of Bandera’s sentence in Warsaw. 

Inscription under the picture “‘Die but Do not Betray!’, ‘Iron and Blood Will Judge Us!’  

(STEPAN BANDERA. OUN member, sentenced to life imprisonment in the Warsaw trial).  

Posivnych, Stepan Bandera: Dokumenty i materialy, 66. 

At 10 a.m. the following day, the trial recommenced with the reading of the re-
mainder of the indictment. With the exception of Karpynets’, the defendants’ demea-
nor was listless. Vasyl’ Mudryi, UNDO politician and deputy speaker of the Sejm, came 
to the courtroom. Leon Jarosławski, a specialist in the Ukrainian language, was admit-
ted as an expert but not as an interpreter.91 The part of the indictment that was read out 
gave details of other assassinations and terror acts performed by the OUN. It started 
with the unsuccessful attempt of the UVO—forerunner of the OUN—to kill the “Leader 
of the Nation,” Józef Piłsudski, on 25 October 1921 in Lviv and ended with the 
assassinations of the Ukrainians Bachyns’kyi and Babii. The latter was murdered after 
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almost all the leading OUN members were taken into custody during the arrests in 
June 1934.92 

The observers at the trial also learned that some OUN members such as Spol’s’kyi, 
Makarushka, and Myhal’, whose statements during interrogations were read out in the 
courtroom, experienced moral problems about some OUN orders, especially concern-
ing the murder of Ukrainians. Either during the investigation or already prior to their 
arrest, their attitude toward the OUN had changed. Spol’s’kyi, an OUN member who 
was not among the defendants, stated during the investigation that he was revealing 
information that would enable the security authorities to “liquidate the OUN, whose 
activities he considers to be very harmful for the Ukrainian nation.” Makarushka 
asserted that the OUN was making young Ukrainians “pessimistic, dogged, simple-
minded, unsociable, and treacherous.”93 Myhal’ stated that he was ready to die for his 
evidence, if it contributed to the liquidation of the OUN.94 After the chairman fin-
ished reading the act of indictment at 4.30 p.m. on the second day of the trial, and 
the members of the court had left the courtroom, Lebed’ jumped up and tried to 
shout something, but he was prevented by a guard and also by Karpynets’, who 
shouted at him to sit down.95 

An unidentified correspondent of Gazeta Polska wrote that the text of the indict-
ment revealed astounding information about “the activities of the OUN in Poland and 
other countries, as well as about the help that the Ukrainian terrorists received from the 
Lithuanian government.”96 Other newspapers discovered especially interesting and 
significant information as to such collaboration and advertised it with huge headlines, 
frequently on the front page, such as “Lithuania Abets the Murderers from the O.U.N.!” 
“When Ministers Liaise with Murderers …” and “Leaders and Fighters of the OUN Were 
Paid by Lithuania: Unbelievable Revelations in Trial in Warsaw.”97 

On 20 November 1935, the third day of the trial, a reporter for Gazeta Polska spot-
ted a Yugoslav journalist, probably interested to hear about the connections between 
the OUN and the Ustaša. The Polish reporter also mentioned that Lebed’s mother, 
whom he characterized as a plain peasant woman, had appeared in the courtroom. The 
chairman Posemkiewicz addressed the defendants, starting with Bandera. He read 
from the indictment, and asked Bandera whether he pleaded guilty. Bandera started to 
answer in Ukrainian: “For me as a Ukrainian . . . [Meni iako ukraïns’komu . . .]” Ac-
cording to Prosecutor Żeleński, Bandera informed the court that he was a Ukrainian 
citizen and therefore not subject to the Polish law. The chairman interrupted him, re-
minding him to speak Polish. Bandera continued in Ukrainian with a resonant voice, 
explaining once more that Polish law did not apply to him. The chairman informed the 
defendant that if he spoke a “non-Polish language” the court would regard it as a 
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refusal to testify, he would be removed from the courtroom, and relevant information 
concerning him would be read out from the interrogation record. Bandera answered in 
Ukrainian, “I want to explain . . . [Ia khochu vyiasniaty . . .]” The chairman told him 
that if he did not stop shouting he would be removed. Bandera did not lower his voice, 
and the chairman ordered him removed.98 Żeleński commented on this scene in his 
memoirs: “Bandera resisted and so the police removed him by force. The convulsive 
waving of the hands and legs of this little man appeared rather comical. But there came 
from him unbelievable energy and fantastic strength.” He also added that everybody in 
the courtroom understood that Bandera was indeed the leader of the defendants and 
carried authority.99 A reporter from the popular newspaper Ilustrowany Express Po-
ranny, on the other hand, who also observed the scene, wrote that Bandera wanted to 
deliver a prepared speech. He perceived Bandera as being nervous and angry. His short 
speech was slurred, and it was difficult to understand him.100 

Once Bandera had been removed from the courtroom, the chairman read out 
Bandera’s evidence from the lengthy interrogation. According to the correspondent 
of Gazeta Polska, Bandera had originally denied belonging to the OUN, planning 
Pieracki’s assassination, and other terrorist acts. When asked by interrogators about 
a journey to Gdańsk, Bandera told them that the purpose was not to meet other OUN 
members but to invite a cousin to the wedding of his sister. While there, he went 
swimming in the Baltic Sea, caught a cold, was confined to bed for a week, and 
missed his sister’s wedding. After some weeks in custody, however, Bandera ceased 
to deny his membership of the OUN, assured the interrogators that he wanted to give 
honest evidence, and declared his wish to appeal to Ukrainian youth with a publica-
tion of some sort that described the true state of affairs, calling upon Ukrainian youth 
to oppose the terrorist acts of the OUN and to prevent more bloodshed. When asked 
by the investigating officer about his original denial, Bandera claimed that he had 
lied in the first instance. During subsequent investigations, however, he refused to 
write a statement about the OUN and said that he had lied in order to put an end to 
the interrogation, and in order to inform his colleagues in other cells that he had not 
admitted anything. During succeeding interrogations, Bandera had returned to his 
claim that he did not belong to the OUN. When he was confronted with the evidence 
of Pidhainyi and Maliutsa, who had revealed Bandera’s role in the OUN and his in-
volvement in terrorist activity, Bandera had expressed his wish to say nothing. The 
chairman said that when the results of the investigation were presented to Bandera, 
he said that all of the accusations were groundless.101 

Lebed’ applied the same tactics concerning language as had Bandera, which caused 
a dispute between the defense and prosecution. Prosecutor Kazimierz Rudnicki ex-
plained that, if the defendants did not know Polish, the court would have asked an 
interpreter to translate their testimony, as it would for any other non-Polish speakers, 
regardless of their nationality, but because the defendants had studied at Polish 
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universities and knew Polish very well, it was apparent that they chose to speak 
Ukrainian with the intention of making a political demonstration, which the court 
would not tolerate. Defense lawyer Hankevych protested that Lebed’ had not studied 
at a Polish university as had the other defendants and that he had refused to speak 
Polish in order not to mangle the language. Prosecutor Żeleński objected that Lebed’ 
knew Polish from high school. At this point, Lebed’ asked to speak in Polish. The 
chairman allowed him to speak but Lebed’ continued in Ukrainian. The chairman 
interrupted him and read out his evidence from the interrogation record.102 

Speaking in Ukrainian, the next defendant Hnatkivs’ka also denied belonging to the 
OUN and informed the chairman that she would only testify in this language. He al-
lowed her to sit down, and he then read out her evidence from the investigation.103 
Karpynets’, Pidhainyi, Maliutsa, Kachmars’kyi, Zaryts’ka, and Rak behaved in a similar 
fashion. The chairman responded by interrupting the defendants in turn and reading 
out their evidence from the investigation record.104 Klymyshyn responded to every 
question with silence, as he had during the entire interrogation.105 Some of the defen-
dants had applied the language ploy during the investigations. For example, Bandera 
had stated during the interrogations that he “can speak and write Polish but refuses to 
use this language.”106 Other defendants also claimed that they knew Polish but would 
not use it, because it was the language of their “enemies” and “occupiers.”107 Ilustro-
wany Kurier Codzienny reported these linguistic contentions in a sensationally written 
article entitled, “The Defendants Provocatively Do Not Want to Testify in Polish!”108 

The first defendant to testify in Polish was Myhal’. He legitimized his decision by ob-
serving that Warsaw did not lie on Ukrainian territory and that he was therefore not 
harming the Ukrainian nation by testifying in Polish.109 He pleaded guilty and stated 
that he wanted to recount all his crimes, such as shooting Bachyns’kyi. Then he spoke 
about crimes committed by other defendants, as he had already described during the 
interrogation.110 Nevertheless, he did not reveal all of them, and, by providing false or 
incomplete information, he tried to avoid incriminating some OUN members.111 Asked 
by the defense lawyer Hankevych, “How would you explain that you are stressing your 
guilt with such pleasure, because I do not understand how somebody can push himself 
in such a way under the guillotine?” Myhal’ replied that he wanted to right a wrong—the 
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death of Bachyns’kyi and Babii.112 When his testimony was read out in the courtroom on 
the next day, 26 November 1935, other defendants appeared astonished, perplexed, 
and nervous. Two days later, the newspaper Express Ilustrowany published an article 
entitled “Impressive Revelations by Myhal’: Prosecuted Ukrainians Listen with Bated 
Breath.” 113 

The majority of the OUN members who were called as witnesses refused to testify in 
Polish, just as most of the defendants had done. The court regarded their behavior as a 
political demonstration. Those who knew Polish but refused to testify in that language 
were punished with a fine, or imprisonment in default. The witness Irena Khomiak was 
punished with a fine of 100 złotys or ten days imprisonment, for speaking Ukrainian.114 
Romana Chorna, Roman Shukhevych, Oleksandr Pashkevych, Osyp Mashchak, Dmy-
tro Myron, and Osyp Nydza were punished with 200 złotys or ten days imprison-
ment.115 On 5 December 1935, Olena Chaikivs’ka was punished with 300 złotys or ten 
days imprisonment, and on the order of the chairman, was removed by force from the 
courtroom, as she would not stop speaking in Ukrainian to him. The next day, however, 
she decided to testify in Polish.116 The witness Adriian Hornyts’kyi claimed that during 
the interrogation he was forced to give evidence against his colleagues, by being kept 
outside in freezing weather for hours. Despite the attempts of the prosecutor to calm 
him down, Hornyts’kyi said that he venerated the OUN and stressed that he “be-
longed to the OUN and will belong.” For this political statement he was sentenced to 
two days in a dark cell. Prosecutor Żeleński established that Hornyts’kyi was interro-
gated on 7 and 8 September. Prosecutor Rudnicki commented that on 7 and 8 Sept-
ember there “may or may not have been good weather, but certainly not frost,” and 
initiated a separate investigation against Hornyts’kyi for giving false testimony.117 

The most spectacular witness that day was the young OUN member Vira Svient-
sits’ka. As many other OUN witnesses before her had done, she informed the court in 
Ukrainian that she spoke Polish but was prepared to testify only in Ukrainian. For this 
statement, the chairman punished her with a fine of 200 złotys or ten days imprison-
ment and ordered the guards to lead her out. As Svientsits’ka was passing the dock, she 
went toward the defendants, raised her right arm, and shouted, “Slava Ukraїni!” The 
defendant Karpynets’ stood up, raised his arm, and answered, “Slava Ukraїni!” This is 
apparently the first recorded fascist salute that OUN members performed in public. For 
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performing a fascist salute in court, Svientsits’ka was punished with one day in a dark 
cell.118 

On 29 November 1935, Prison Warden Wojciech Żygała, who was questioned by the 
chairman as a prosecution witness, delivered some interesting information about Ban-
dera’s behavior in the Brygidki prison in Lviv. Żygała discovered on a mess tin, in which 
Bandera had received his lunch, the inscription in Ukrainian “Die but do not betray,” 
signed in Bandera’s name. In the evening, he discovered the same inscription on 
another mess tin, in which Bandera had been served his supper. A few days later, Żygała 
heard how Bandera tried to communicate with other prisoners by tapping on the wall in 
Morse code. Żygała answered him and Bandera asked by tapping on the wall, “Who is in 
the neighboring cells? Give me the names.” Żygała did not answer but went to Ban-
dera’s cell and said to him, “Mr. Bandera, please do not tap. I know Morse code and 
understand what you are tapping and will inform the prosecutor about it.” Bandera 
answered: “I was just tapping around.”119 

When Antoni Fic—one of the officers who had interrogated Bandera—testified 
before the court, Bandera’s lawyer Hankevych asked him whether it was true that Ban-
dera was interrogated continuously without interruption from 6 to 11 September, and 
from 13 to 16 September 1934. Fic answered that he had interrogated Bandera only in 
the daytime and that he did not know whether other officers had also interrogated him 
during the night.120 The OUN member Iaroslav Spol’s’kyi also implied that prosecution 
officers used force in the interrogation. When the chairman asked him why his testi-
mony in the courtroom differed from what he had said during the interrogation, 
Spol’s’kyi answered that an officer had beaten him. This statement annoyed Prosecutor 
Żeleński, who demanded to know if Spol’s’kyi had any witnesses for his claim, by whom, 
with what object, and on which part of his body he had been beaten, and why he had not 
informed anybody about this sooner. Spol’s’kyi did not deliver a plausible answer to any 
of these questions. The prosecutor maintained that Spol’s’kyi chose to change his evi-
dence because he was afraid of OUN reprisals against him for incriminating other 
defendants. Żeleński further asked the court to summon Łączyński, the chief officer 
from the prison in Lviv, in order to clarify this incident, as Spol’s’kyi had claimed that 
Łączyński was responsible for the beating.121 The next day 3 December 1935, Łączyński 
appeared before the court and stated that he had not beaten Spol’s’kyi but had sent him 
to a dark cell for two days as a punishment for engraving his name on a spoon during a 
hunger strike. Spol’s’kyi confirmed this version of events.122 
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An even more bewildering incident occurred when the court came into session at 
10:30 a.m. on the thirteenth day of the trial. The defendant Maliutsa, who was director 
of organizational matters in the homeland executive of the OUN, stood up and declared 
that, on account of Spol’s’kyi’s testimony the day before, and his own doubts since the 
beginning of the trial about his own behavior and the nature of the OUN, he wanted to 
testify in Polish. The court immediately removed the other defendants from the court-
room and allowed him to testify. Maliutsa gave even more details than had Myhal’ 
before him, supplying a range of crucial information, including the names of many 
OUN members. This testimony overlapped with that of Myhal’ and with information 
that Pidhainyi had revealed during the investigation. When Maliutsa finished, the 
defense lawyer Shlapak asked him why he had changed his mind and decided to testify. 
Maliutsa answered, “I came to the conclusion that the methods that the OUN applies 
are not good for the Ukrainian nation. We shot not only at Poles but also at our people. 
Director Babii was shot in this manner, and as I just learned, so was my closest col-
league Maria Kovaliukivna.”123 Once the OUN applied terror to persons who were close 
to him, Maliutsa, like Myhal’, had decided to break with the OUN strategy of denying 
the terror. Maliutsa further testified that Konovalets’ had confided to him, in a face-to-
face talk in Prague, that he also had doubts about some of the methods used by the 
homeland executive of the OUN. This suggests that the main instigators of terror 
against fellow-Ukrainians were Bandera and other young people in the homeland 
executive.124 

The thirteenth day of the trial featured another significant moment. The witness 
Inspector Dugiełło mentioned an unnamed informer as a source of information. 
Defense lawyer Hankevych asked him to reveal the name of the informer in order to 
“reconcile the Polish and Ukrainian nations.”125 Dugiełło could not reveal the name 
as it was an official secret. Hankevych’s comment outraged Prosecutor Żeleński so 
much that he delivered a short speech concerning political matters which, until then, 
he had scrupulously kept out of the trial: 

The court condescended to be the witness of an appeal that I address to the 
Ukrainian defending lawyers. You gentlemen ought not introduce political matters 
into the trial, and thereby upset the ambiance. This trial is not directed against 
Ukrainian society, and nobody should even for a moment understand it as such. 
There is no right yet to presume that this trial is even only indirectly directed against 
Ukrainian society. We are accusing here only certain people and a certain 
organization which, as we heard from the defendants themselves, is a misfortune of 
Ukrainian society.126 
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The fourteenth day of the trial, 5 December 1935, began with the chairman’s remark 
that, on the previous day, Karpynets’ had behaved badly toward the officer escorting 
him from the courtroom. The chairman admonished all the defendants to behave ap-
propriately and not to force him to use special security measures. He then read out 
Maliutsa’s testimony from the previous day and informed the other defendants that 
they were free to introduce clarifications. Bandera suddenly jumped up and shouted 
sternly in Ukrainian what was reported as a “horrible accusation against the defendant 
Maliutsa.”127 The chairman asked him to be quiet, but Bandera lost control of himself 
and became more and more tense and agitated. The chairman ordered the guards to 
remove the outraged Bandera from the courtroom but he would not cooperate, so they 
used force and carried him out. The chairman then ordered a pause in the proceedings, 
after which Karpynets’ stood up and spoke loudly in Ukrainian, with the result that he 
was also removed. After these incidents the chairman ordered the separation of the 
defendants from one another and from the defending lawyers, by having policemen sit 
between them, as at the beginning of the trial.128 

The accusation of torture by the interrogating officers during the investigation sur-
faced again on 11 December 1935, when the witness Iaroslav Shtoiko—an OUN member 
sentenced to five years in prison—tried to withdraw his previous statements, with the 
claim that, by means of long interrogations that weakened him, he had been forced to 
speak about matters that had never occurred. In direct response to this claim and indi-
rectly to some previous ones, Prosecutor Żeleński said that the more somebody “rats” 
on his colleagues and the more somebody reveals the activities of the OUN before the 
court, the more this person feels that he has the right to vilify the whole trial and to 
accuse the police and even the prosecutor of tormenting him and forcing him to give 
evidence.129 

It is difficult to ascertain whether OUN members were indeed tortured during the 
interrogation. The OUN used trials for political goals and frequently made claims that 
aroused attention. Torture certainly belonged to these. But it was also in order to avoid 
punishment from the OUN, that some of the defendants who revealed information 
about the organization stated later that they did so under the pressure of torture. In-
vestigating officers were instructed not to break the law by causing pain to the defen-
dants in order to obtain information. However, they apparently interrogated OUN 
members such as Bandera, who maintained their denials, for several days at a time. 
This was obviously against the ethics of an interrogation and almost tantamount to 
torture, because the interrogated, as some of them claimed, were not allowed to sleep or 
even rest for several days.130 

The chairman and especially Prosecutor Żeleński made continual efforts during 
the trial to prevent the defendants and their lawyers propagating the ideology of Ukrai-
nian nationalism and transforming the trial into a political one. Rudnicki, the second 
prosecutor, however, understood his role differently. On 27 December 1935, in a long 
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speech in which he summarized the trial and announced the recent parliamentary 
resolution to abolish capital punishment, he became very political. His speech circled 
around the problem of Polish-Ukrainian coexistence in the Second Republic. At one 
point, for example, he allowed himself to compare the Poles in the Russian Empire with 
the Ukrainians in the Second Republic: 

However, there is a huge difference between Polish society in 1863 [the time of 
the January uprising against the Russian Empire] and Ukrainian society in 1918 
and 1933: in 1915 only a handful of retired Russian estate custodians, some 
hundreds of Polonized officials, and some Russian symbols remained [in the 
territory claimed by the Poles]. In some hours they could be easily removed from 
the Polish territories. They passed by just as water flows from a granite stone. 
Nothing was left of them on Polish soil. However, we [the Poles] cannot go away 
from the territories that the OUN claims, because we are not colonizers, we have 
lived there for 600 years. If the Polish army and administration left, the Polish 
peasant and educated persons as well as the Polish intellectual and literary 
contributions would still remain. I do not say thereby that Ukrainian culture 
should not develop, but this country is the country of Polish culture, Polish and 
Ukrainian population. … If we went and left the Polish population there, it would 
become a national minority although an important minority since it would make 
up to 50 percent. We know that the OUN declares that the prosperity and life of 
one nation depends on the destruction and death of another. Therefore we cannot 
leave so many Poles in the lurch and relinquish their lives.131 

Rudnicki’s reasons why the Polish state should not give up Volhynia and eastern 
Galicia are remarkable. Apart from the questions of national pride and cultural invest-
ment on the part of Poland, he also mentioned people’s fear of the OUN. Toward the 
end of the speech Rudnicki characterized the OUN activists as mentally ill: 

We realize here that the thinking of these people is sick and because it is sick we 
are in the courtroom today. A sick mind has to be cured in a madhouse. For sick 
thinking we have no other help than legal punishment. I have a feeling of relief in 
my soul that the gallantry and generosity of my nation removed from this trial the 
specter of the gallows. It was right that the Polish nation granted executive cle-
mency before the judgment was certificated. The judgment must be and will be 
very harsh.132 

Rudnicki’s speech was followed by Żeleński’s three-day speech, which was less 
political and more analytical, although moderately polemical. Żeleński listed all the 
criminal deeds conducted by the OUN. He argued that Bandera, as the leader of the 
homeland executive, was the most responsible for them of all the defendants: “All 
this is Bandera’s work.”133 On the one hand, Żeleński called Bandera a “twenty-three-
year-old semi-child … almost pathological”134 and on the other, he argued that Ban-
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dera “has led all the defendants until this moment, as he did in prison, inscribing 
orders for them on spoons and mess tins.”135 He also added that “This is not only the 
leader [prowidnyk], but also one of the main culprits of Pieracki’s assassination; he 
is the one who assembled the entire organization, and contributed to making it work 
superbly and accomplishing its purpose.”136 

Żeleński then characterized the other defendants and explained their culpability. 
He also spoke about persons who were not in the courtroom but who, like the defen-
dants, were involved in Pieracki’s assassination and other terror acts: 

There is here [in the dock] still a place for some other persons. I see in the dock 
neither Anna Chemeryns’ka, nor Fedyna, nor Iaroslav Baranovs’kyi, nor Senyk, nor 
Iaryi, nor Konovalets’. Where are you, generals of the organization, at the moment 
when your subordinates are judged, at the moment when the assassination of 
Minister Pieracki is on trial? They have been, are, and will stay in a safe place. We do 
not have in Poland a default judgment but we can ascertain the guilty by default. … 
Although you will not sentence them, you will judge them, because you cannot leave 
them out, since you will be unfair not only toward them but also toward those in the 
dock.137 

As to the question of Lithuanian collaboration with the OUN, Żeleński pointed out 
that although Lithuania was a small and impoverished country, which could not even 
afford to maintain a representative at the League of Nations in Geneva, it paid the OUN 
about $1000 a month.138 This observation implied that Lithuania, which did not have 
its own terrorist organization, was interested in supporting a foreign one that combated 
the common enemy, the Second Republic. Vilnius, which Lithuania claimed to be its 
capital, had been incorporated into Poland in 1922 just like Lviv. Żeleński warned all 
countries in the world to be careful with Lithuanian passports because Lithuania issued 
fakes that were used to organize crimes. Finally, he stressed that Lithuania had sup-
ported the OUN not only before but also after Pieracki’s assassination.139 

Ultimately, Żeleński characterized the OUN as a “company” that murdered in order 
to make money. He stressed that murder, and spying for other countries were the main 
sources of income for the OUN. It sent its representatives to North America, on Lithua-
nian passports, to “sell” assassinations as patriotic deeds to the Ukrainian diaspora. 
Żeleński argued that, according to Konovalets’s letter to Senyk, which had been found 
in the Senyk archives, Konovalets’ decided to kill Pieracki because the OUN was close to 
“bankruptcy.” He decided to murder Pieracki “not only to demonstrate the power of the 
organization but also to enlarge its finance capital.” Żeleński pointed out that such a 
motive was “the lowest point of hideousness.”140 In conclusion, the prosecutor asked 
the judges for a verdict that would sentence Chornii, Zaryts’ka, and Rak to at least ten 
years, and Klymyshyn and Pidhainyi to life imprisonment. As for Bandera, Lebed’, and 
Karpynets’, although parliament had banned capital punishment on 2 January 1936, 
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the prosecutor asked that they be sentenced to death because, as he put it, this is “a sen-
tence that the Polish State demands strongly from you.” 141 

The correspondent for Novyi chas perceived Żeleński’s speech as an “outpouring 
of aggressiveness against the defending lawyers, the defendants, and some impri-
soned witnesses.”142 This observation might refer among others to the fact that 
Żeleński showed the court such surprising documents as a letter from the confiscated 
Senyk archives, in which Bandera in July 1933 had rebuked the OUN member Hor-
bovyi, his lawyer in the Warsaw trial, for neglecting “organizational work.”143 The 
correspondent also observed that Żeleński illustrated his speech by raising his voice 
and making abrupt gestures with his hands and that the defendants listened atten-
tively as he pointed his finger at them.144 

After the four days of prosecution speeches, Bandera’s lawyer Horbovyi began his 
speech with the observation that crimes such as Pieracki’s assassination “have always 
been regarded as political crimes and not as common crimes. In theory a political 
crime is an attempt to introduce an illegal change into the current social relations 
and legal system … in the case of a successful change of power, the act ceases to be a 
crime.”145 When he began talking about the Polish-Ukrainian conflict in 1918, the 
chairman interrupted him with the argument that such matters had nothing to do 
with the trial. Afterwards Horbovyi was similarly interrupted when he tried to 
introduce Bandera’s views on the question of language in the trial.146 Realizing that 
the court would not tolerate historical or politico-linguistic argument, Horbovyi 
asked the rhetorical question: “What connects my clients to the act?” He answered by 
saying, “In brief, nothing.” He argued that the defendants were innocent and had 
been arrested and put in the dock to satisfy public opinion. The accusation was, 
according to him, based on unreliable material such as information received from 
informers whose names had not been revealed. As he began to speak about freedom 
as “a man’s greatest treasure” he was interrupted again.147 Toward the end of his 
speech, Horbovyi tried to convince the judges that they should not believe Maliutsa 
and should not consider his testimony, because this defendant had suffered a 
breakdown and therefore could not be relied upon to speak the truth.148 Finally, he 
tried to challenge the allegation that Matseiko had killed Pieracki, by referring to the 
bits of tobacco that were found in the coat which the killer had left behind. According 
to Horbovyi, Matseiko did not smoke because the OUN forbade it and also because 
he was sick with tuberculosis. Therefore, according to him, Matseiko could not have 
assassinated Pieracki.149 

The most absurd moment in Horbovyi’s speech, however, occurred when he 
claimed that the OUN had not killed Pieracki, a crime to which the OUN had already 
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confessed in October 1934. Yet, according to Horbovyi, if the OUN had killed the 
minister, then Bandera, who knew that he would be sentenced to death not only in this 
but also in the upcoming trial in Lviv, would “have manifested his national feeling” and 
revealed the motives for the crime, instead of remaining silent.150 He also argued that 
the OUN could not have committed the crime, because it had never committed murder 
outside the “ethnographic Ukrainian territories.”151 Horbovyi finished his speech with a 
plea to acquit all his clients, with two exceptions. Kachmars’kyi clearly belonged to the 
OUN and there were “circumstances that reassure the court that Bandera belonged to 
the OUN.” However, he asked for a very mild sentence for Bandera because his client 
had not pleaded guilty.152 

Shlapak, the next defense lawyer to speak, tried to develop an even more peculiar 
argument than Horbovyi’s. First, he said that a “strange fate [dziwne fatum], which had 
haunted Ukrainians for ages, brought these twelve people into the courtroom.”153 Then 
he stated that “if as a result of a disaster everything would get lost and only the acts of 
this trial would remain, then from their content it would be possible to reconstruct the 
history of several years of independent Poland.”154 For this observation he was fined 
300 złotys. After that, he claimed that the twelve defendants were in the courtroom 
because they wanted to establish a Ukrainian state. According to Shlapak, they had 
devoted their “youth, freedom, and even life” to this cause. When Shlapak started to 
quote the Polish poet Juliusz Słowacki, he was interrupted again and requested to come 
to the actual case.155 Further, he insinuated that Karpynets’ did not have the skills and 
facilities for constructing the bomb that was found by the police, and he argued that 
Prosecutor Żeleński knew where the bomb had been actually manufactured, but was 
withholding this information. For this insult he was again fined 300 złotys.156 

Speaking on behalf of Klymyshyn and Zaryts’ka, Pavents’kyi seized on Rudnicki’s 
observation that the thinking of the OUN members was sick. He did not disagree with 
the comment but thought that if that were the case, then the defendants should be 
hospitalized and not punished.157 Unlike Horbovyi and Shlapak, in the rest of his speech 
Pavents’kyi remained factual. He admitted some of the deeds of his clients, such as 
smuggling illegal newspapers from Czechoslovakia, and pleaded for a mild sentence 
because, as he stated, there was no evidence that his clients had acted deliberately. 
According to Pavents’kyi, Zaryts’ka helped Matseiko escape from Poland to Czecho-
slovakia without knowing that she was helping Pieracki’s murderer.158 Pavents’kyi was 
the only defending lawyer who received congratulations on his speech from Prosecutor 
Żeleński.159 

The next lawyer defending the OUN in Warsaw, Hankevych, argued that Matseiko 
had not killed Pieracki. He claimed that such a “powerful and prosperous organization, 
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which was supported by some other countries,” would not use an “inexperienced semi-
intelligent boy” like Matseiko.160 According to Hankevych, it was only because Mat-
seiko was hungry and did not have anywhere to go, that he told Myhal’ that he had 
killed Pieracki. Matseiko knew that the OUN would help him if he claimed that he 
had killed the Polish minister.161 

When it came to Lebed’, Hankevych stated that the reason his client stayed in 
Warsaw from 15 May to 15 June 1934 was his love for Hnatkivs’ka. “These young people 
walked through the city, did sightseeing, read.”162 The fact that Hnatkivs’ka and Lebed’ 
gave a completely different account of the day on which Pieracki was assassinated, and 
which they spent together, Hankevych explained by saying that Lebed’ lied because he 
wanted to protect his lover.163 The lawyer described Hnatkivs’ka as an innocent victim 
who had never belonged to the OUN and who was in the dock because she loved Lebed’, 
for which they were both paying the price, because love, according to him, was a “gypsy 
child [cygańskie dziecię].” Like Horbovyi, he then argued that the OUN did not kill 
Pieracki and that there was no evidence to prove that it did. He also argued that it was 
wrong to omit from the indictment the fact that “strong emotions caused by political 
motives … even caused psychosis” and motivated the defendants to commit the crime. 
Hankevych finished his speech with the words, “Your hearts, my lords, should caution 
you against a judicial mistake.”164 

When the defense lawyers had finished their speeches, the chairman offered the 
defendants an opportunity to say their last words. Of the two defendants who decided 
to speak Polish at the trial, only Myhal’ accepted the offer and delivered a speech in 
which he explained why he had broken down after killing Bachyns’kyi. He began his 
speech with the date of 1 November 1919, on which his schoolteacher asked her pupils 
never to forget this date, the anniversary of the establishment of the ZUNR, and to 
swear always to love their homeland. Myhal’ said that he had always remained faithful 
to this oath. But something changed in him, when he realized that Bachyns’kyi was not 
a police informer as the OUN had told him. He had had a dream in which he saw himself 
as a pupil writing the text of the oath on 1 November 1919, and close to him were 
Bachyns’kyi’s body and Babii’s crying children.165 

On 13 January 1936, the chairman announced the verdict. All the defendants 
were found guilty of belonging to the OUN and of either co-organizing the assassina-
tion or of helping the assassin escape. Bandera, Lebed’, and Karpynets’ were 
sentenced to death. However, because of the resolution adopted by the Polish par-
liament on 2 January 1936 to abolish capital punishment, their sentences were 
reduced to life imprisonment. They were also disenfranchised and deprived of some 
other civil rights. Klymyshyn and Pidhainyi were given life imprisonment and were 
disenfranchised for the rest of their lives. Hnatkivs’ka received fifteen years’ 
imprisonment and was disenfranchised for ten years. Maliutsa, Myhal’, and Kach-
mars’kyi were given twelve years’ imprisonment and were disenfranchised for ten 
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years. Zaryts’ka was given eight years’ imprisonment and was disenfranchised for ten 
years. Rak and Chornii were given seven years’ imprisonment and were disenfran-
chised for ten years.166 

After the chairman finished reading the verdict, Bandera and Lebed’ stood up, 
raised their right arms slightly to the right, just above their heads—as they had learned 
from Italian and other fascists—and called out “Slava Ukraїni!” For this gesture, which 
interrupted the final moments of the proceedings, both young men were removed from 
the courtroom.167 

The trial had a political character but it was not a show trial. The defendants tried 
to use the trial as a political stage to promote the idea of their “liberation struggle” 
and to draw international attention to the situation of Ukrainians in Poland. These 
attempts were rigorously restricted by the judges and the prosecutors, who used the 
trial to show the destructive, harmful, and terrorist nature of the OUN. They allowed 
those OUN members who wanted to testify about the OUN crimes to speak at length 
and prevented those who attempted to defend the organization or legitimize its aims. 
Pieracki’s assassin Hryhorii Matseiko was not sentenced because he was not appre-
hended. Instead a number of leading OUN members involved in the assassination 
were punished harshly. The three death sentences in particular appeared to fulfill a 
political function. The Polish authorities and judicial system used the trial to smash 
the leadership of the OUN in Poland and to demonstrate that it would not tolerate 
and would harshly punish any activities directed against the state. 

Membership of the OUN was a crime in the Second Republic, a violation of articles 
93 and 97 of the Criminal Code. Gazeta Polska wrote that belonging to the OUN was a 
crime because the OUN aimed to split away “Eastern Little Poland [Małopolska 
Wschodnia], Volhynia, the Chełm region, Polesia—all these territories, we have to 
stress having for ages been inseparably tied to the Polish Republic and inhabited by a 
mixed population, Polish and Ruthenian, both brought up by the Polish culture and 
civilization and both always attracted to Polishness.”168 

In addition to the judgment delivered orally in court, there were also “Grounds of 
Judgment,” which were subsequently delivered in writing. The judges wrote that 
“emotions did not influence the defendants because they planned the murder for a 
longer time and prepared and conducted the murder with malice afterthought.”169 
Bandera figured in the grounds of the judgment as the “spirit of the conspiracy.”170 
He was an “eminent member of the OUN” who received the order from the leader-
ship in exile to kill Pieracki, and on whose order Matseiko had done so.171 In an 
article entitled “The Spirit and Notion of a Criminal Act: Stepan Bandera,” which 
appeared in Ilustrowany Kurier Codzienny after Żeleński’s final speech, Bandera 
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was portrayed in a similar spirit.172 Dziennik Polski introduced Bandera in the article 
“The List of Bandera’s Crimes” as the embodiment of the OUN and its crimes.173 

In the article “After the Trial … Ruthenian Society Should Abandon the Politics of 
Hate and Crimes,” the newspaper Ilustrowany Kuryer Codzienny blamed Ukrainian 
society alone for the existence and terrorist activities of the OUN. While explaining the 
question of Ukrainians in Poland it explicitly ignored how Polish politics and the Euro-
pean state of affairs contributed to the radicalization of the Ukrainian nationalism: 

The longstanding tactics of the so-called “moderate” parts of Ruthenian society 
proved to be disastrous. Ostensibly they condemned the OUN but simultaneously 
they praised the “heroic patriotism” of its members, for whom everything was 
forgiven, as for “gallant although confused young people.” The Greek Catholic 
clergy conducted services for the terrorists who were executed as a result of legal 
judgments, their portraits appeared in Ruthenian papers and the legal press of 
the Ukrainian parties, such as the legal political groups who maintained a discreet 
silence about the OUN but daily attacked the Polish authorities that liquidated 
the OUN. Ukrainian educators have an enormous guilt on their conscience.174 

Novyi chas announced the verdict on the front page with an oversized headline: 
“Two Death Penalties, Three Life Imprisonments, and 198 Years of Imprisonment in 
the Trial of the OUN.” The way of presenting the verdict implied a collective punish-
ment and must have struck readers even more than the misstatement of the number of 
death penalties.175 Dilo stated in the article “Consequences of the Verdict” that, despite 
the attempts of the court and the prosecutors not to make the trial a political one, it was 
political and would have political implications. The newspaper equated the OUN with 
Ukrainian society and stressed that the trial was not only against the OUN but against 
the whole Ukrainian nation: “[In terms of] the fate of the twelve young Ukrainian men 
and women, there is no division into the ‘mass’ and the ‘we.’ The mass and we are, in 
this case, one and the same: the same nation, the same grief for the fate of the Ukrainian 
youth, the same understanding of the tragedy. The mass and we experienced the verdict 
on Monday in a similar—or to be more precise—the same way.”176 Furthermore, Dilo 
commented on the pointed article “After the Trial …” in Ilustrowany Kuryer Cod-
zienny. It wrote that the lords (pany) from the Ilustrowany Kuryer Codzienny de-
liberately called Ukrainians “Ruthenians” in order to insult them, as had happened in 
the “good old days” when Ruthenians were classified as subhuman.177 

The Biuletyn Polsko-Ukraiński was glad that the trial had finally ended after eight 
weeks, and it hoped that “with the last words in the courtroom, the period marked by 
blood has ended, and that it has hopefully made it possible to open a period without 
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bloodshed.” It also pointed out that both societies needed reforms that would be an 
alternative to gunshots and verdicts.178 

The brothers and Polish intellectuals Mieczysław and Ksawery Pruszyński pub-
lished articles about the trial and Polish-Ukrainian relations, in which they romanti-
cized the OUN. Both articles appeared in Wiadomości Literackie. Mieczysław began 
his article with the observation that about five million Ukrainians lived in the Polish 
state and that “Polish racists denied [them] even … the name.”179 He wrote that there 
was an analogy between the Polish nation before 1914 and the Ukrainian one after 
1914. He also criticized Polish attempts to Polonize the Ukrainians, claiming that this 
turned the Ukrainian population into an uneducated and a poor one. He compared 
Polish-Ukrainian relations with British-Irish and Spanish-Catalonian relations, and 
he pleaded in favor of a Ukrainian autonomy in the Polish state. This would benefit 
not only Ukrainians but also Poles. It would guarantee Ukrainians their own institu-
tions and equal status. It would strengthen the moderate political Ukrainian parties 
and those organizations not hostile to Poles. It would weaken the radical, fanatical, 
and terrorist groups that were hostile to everyone else.180 

Ksawery’s article “People and Crime” was written more literally but presented 
similar opinions. He emphasized that because of the trial: 

Everybody in Poland knows which one of the girls was not only a member of the 
conspiracy but who was also the fiancée of a member whom she visited and dated. 
We hear the testimonies of their fathers and aunts. We know how they spent their 
childhood and school days, we know against whom they were fighting and whom 
they loved, where they lived, how much money they had. We know more about 
them than about dozens of our friends. We speak about them as people we know 
on the streetcar, at the theatre, and at home. It is really difficult to believe that 
these people, whom we saw, had killed. These people killed because they wanted 
to serve their nation. We do not think that they served well. They are doing it well 
only now: three quarters of the Polish press, which for seventeen years did not 
want to know the word “Ukrainian,” learned it in the two weeks [of the trial].181 

Mieczysław and Ksawery Pruszyński correctly criticized Polish nationalist politics 
toward Ukrainians in the Second Republic and made a few good suggestions for im-
provement, but they miscalculated the violent and destructive nature of the OUN while 
romanticizing this fascist movement. Ksawery pointed out the OUN nationalists’ 
hatred toward the Polish language and state, but he did not comment on the crimes they 
had committed and the violent and ultranationalist ideology they believed in: “Now 
these people [defendants and witnesses], although they know Polish, do not want to 
speak Polish. Their hatred for the Polish state, the minister, and the policeman has 
extended to the Polish language.”182 
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Because all the defendants appealed the verdict, appeal proceedings took place 
between 28 and 30 April 1936. Bandera’s appeal stated that the motivation for his 
acts was the desire to establish a Ukrainian state and that, “according to the ethics of 
the grouping which Bandera represents, belonging to the OUN is an act that is free of 
all criminal features.”183 When the chairman asked Bandera whether he pleaded 
guilty and wanted to give an explanation, Bandera began to answer in Ukrainian. The 
chairman interrupted him and said that Bandera did not want to avail himself of the 
right to give explanations.184 As a result of the appeal, Chornii’s sentence was reduced 
from seven years to four, Zaryts’ka’s from eight to two, and Rak’s from seven to four. 
Chornii was acquitted of the charge of belonging to the OUN. The other sentences 
remained unchanged.185 Horbovyi, the defending lawyer, submitted to the court a 
request to allow Lebed’ and Hnatkivs’ka to be married in the prison church.186 
Klymyshyn wrote in his memoirs that, toward the end of the proceedings when the 
defendants were allowed to have their last say, Bandera shouted: “Iron and blood will 
decide between us,” and all defendants called “Slava Ukraїni!”187 

The Second OUN Trial (in Lviv) 

The second great trial, this time of twenty-three OUN members—of whom six had 
already been sentenced in Warsaw—began on 25 May 1936 in Lviv. In addition to Ban-
dera, the following were in the dock: Roman Shukhevych, Iaroslav Makarushka, Olek-
sandr Pashkevych, Iaroslav Spol’s’kyi, Volodymyr Ianiv, Iaroslav Stets’ko, Bohdan 
Hnatevych, Volodymyr Kotsiumbas, Bohdan Pidhainyi, Ivan Maliutsa, Osyp Mash-
chak, Ievhen Kachmars’kyi, Ivan Iarosh, Roman Myhal’, Roman Sen’kiv, Kateryna 
Zaryts’ka, Vira Svientsits’ka, Anna Daria Fedak, Osyp Fenyk, Volodymyr Ivasyk, Semen 
Rachun, and Ivan Ravlyk. All of them were accused of belonging to the OUN, twelve 
were accused of involvement in the murder of Bachyns’kyi, the murder of Ivan Babii, 
the planning of the murders of Antin Krushel’nyts’kyi, Władysław Kossobudzki, 
Henryk Józewski, the Soviet consul in Lviv, the murder of the pupil of the seventh grade 
of the Ukrainian high school Korolyshyn, and of placing a bomb in the office of the 
newspaper Pratsia. In addition to the defending lawyers from the Warsaw trial, Stepan 
Shukhevych, Semen Shevchuk, Pylyp Ievyn, and Volodymyr Zahaikevych defended the 
twenty-three OUN members.188 Because of the location, the defendants and their law-
yers were allowed to speak Ukrainian. Taking advantage of this regulation, some of the 
defendants testified at great length, and put questions to the witnesses. The most eager 
questioner and talker was Bandera. 

The building where the trial took place, on Batory Street in Lviv, was under strong 
police protection. Only persons with a special pass, altogether about seventy, were 
allowed into the courtroom. The last defendant to enter the courtroom, shortly before 
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the trial began, was Bandera. As he entered, he performed a fascist salute, raising his 
right arm and shouting “Slava!” or “Slava Ukraїni!” All the defendants in the courtroom 
answered him in the same manner.189 Shortly after this gesture the trial was opened.190 

Chairman Dysiewicz tried to put on record the personal details of the defendants. 
All of them stated that they were of Ukrainian nationality. With the exception of the 
Orthodox Svientsits’ka, they were all Greek Catholics. Bandera, Mashchak, Spol’s’kyi, 
Ianiv, and Stets’ko stated, moreover, that they had Ukrainian citizenship. Makarushka 
stated that he was “basically a Ukrainian citizen but temporarily a Polish one.” When 
the chairman informed the defendants that a Ukrainian state did not exist and asked 
them if they wished to record their citizenship as Soviet Ukrainian, they replied that 
they were by no means Soviet. Spol’s’kyi said that before he answered any questions he 
wanted to say that the police “chained him, choked him by the neck, twisted his arms, 
and kicked and beat him.” Stets’ko also remarked that he had been bound in chains. 
Bandera answered the question as to whether he had been conscripted by saying, “Yes, 
into the Ukrainian Military Organization.” When the chairman wanted to read out the 
indictment, Stets’ko, Mashchak, and Bandera demanded that this be done in Ukrai-
nian. The chairman refused their demand, on the grounds that they had not asked for 
an indictment in Ukrainian and that it was now too late to prepare one.191 

Bandera, Ianiv, Stets’ko, Makarushka, and Pashkevych had decided before the 
trial that all the defendants should admit their delinquencies and crimes, and that they 
should explain that they had committed them as a result of the difficult situation that 
the Polish nation imposed on the Ukrainian people.192 On the third day of the trial, 27 
May 1936, as Ianiv was being questioned, he tried to implement this plan. He began 
with polemics against the chairman. In response to the chairman’s statement that he 
was accused of belonging to the OUN, Ianiv replied that he was being accused only “on 
the basis of subjective facts and the ‘unofficial’ will of the Ukrainian nation.”193 

Stets’ko, who was questioned the same day, began in a similar fashion. At the very 
beginning, he wanted to explain why he was a member of the OUN, and why he had 
announced that he had Ukrainian citizenship. He stated that, during the investiga-
tion, he had admitted to belonging to the OUN, because he had been tortured for 
three days. He also said that he had joined the OUN because he thought “that at this 
moment the duty of every Ukrainian is to attempt to establish an independent Ukrai-
nian state.” This statement was interrupted by the prosecutor. The defense lawyer 
Starosols’kyi claimed that, since Stets’ko was accused of attempting to separate a por-
tion of territory from the Polish state, he should be free to explain why he wanted to do 
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so. The prosecutor replied that Stets’ko wanted to separate it because he belonged to 
the OUN, and further explanation was unnecessary.194 

When Stets’ko used the phrase “western Ukraine,” the chairman warned him that 
he would throw him out if he did so again. Stets’ko then tried to explain why the 
OUN was carrying out the campaign directed against the schools, and why it chose a 
revolutionary way, but the chairman again interrupted him. He allowed Stets’ko to 
explain whether the OUN fought against the Soviet Union, but when Stets’ko stated 
that the struggle “in eastern Ukraine is going on exactly as here,” the chairman had him 
removed from the courtroom. Close to the exit, Stets’ko turned back to the public, 
raised his right arm, and called out, “Slava Ukraїni!” The prosecutor said that this was 
the third time that a defendant had performed a demonstrative act, and that he was 
requesting that journalists and other observers be removed from the courtroom. The 
defense lawyers objected, but the court rejected the objection and warned the defen-
dants that if this occurred again, the court would reconsider the matter. For his fascist 
gesture, Stets’ko was punished with twenty-four hours in a dark room.195 

The next defendant questioned by the chairman was Ivasyk. His testimony in the 
courtroom differed from his evidence during the interrogation. When he was asked why 
this was so, Ivasyk replied that the previous evidence was forced. He said that he had 
had to sit on a stool for nine days and eight nights, which made him agree to everything 
the interrogators wanted him to say. The chairman stated that, although evidence 
might be forced, it was not necessarily wrong, which was a clear approval of the viola-
tion of interrogation ethics. He further compared the interrogating officers to a father 
who hits his child because it did something wrong and does not want to admit it.196 After 
the chairman finished, Prosecutor Juliusz Prachtel-Morawiański asked Ivasyk a few 
detailed questions concerning the torture. From Ivasyk’s answers it became obvious 
that he might have exaggerated. However, the prosecutor did not get to the bottom of 
the problem as Żeleński had done in the Warsaw trial with every such claim.197 

The last defendant to testify on 27 May 1936 was Spol’s’kyi. His evidence was brief. 
When the chairman stated that the defendant was accused of belonging to the OUN, 
Spol’s’kyi answered: “I admit that the assumptions in the indictment concerning my 
person are, with a few exceptions, correct. I admit that I belonged to the OUN but I 
don’t consider my belonging to the OUN to be a fault, because I consider that the legal 
status which was created by the act of the Ukrainian state from the year one thou-
sand . . .” At this moment, Spol’s’kyi was interrupted and he was removed from the 
courtroom. He was probably about to refer to the proclamation of the Ukrainian state 
in 1918.198 
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On the next day of the trial, the defendant Mashchak tried to defend his actions 
with the simple fact that he belonged to the OUN. He understood this as a patriotic 
duty and assumed that it transformed his activities into non-culpable and even admi-
rable deeds. From the first, he stated that he was a Ukrainian nationalist. Then he 
explained that Babii was a traitor and that sentencing him to death was correct. He 
answered defense lawyer Zahaikevych’s question about “the task of his life” by saying 
“Serving the nation with all vigor. I could do this only in the OUN, which I joined.” The 
defense lawyer completed this statement with the argument that Mashchak did not 
choose private welfare but the welfare of the nation, and asked him why he chose the 
OUN. Mashchak replied, “I consider the OUN ideology to be the only one that can 
achieve the aim of liberating the nation.” In response to this statement, the prosecutor 
protested and said that “belonging to the OUN is specifically a crime.”199 Makarushka 
continued: “I admit that I belonged to the OUN and held the position of intelligence 
officer, but I do not admit that it was my fault. My activity was legal in the light of Ukrai-
nian acts and laws,” he said. At this point the chairman interrupted him with the com-
ment, “We, however, judge from the position of the law that is in force here.”200 

Roman Shukhevych was explicitly advised by his lawyer and relative, Stepan Shuk-
hevych, to provide false testimony and to make patriotic statements, which, according 
to the lawyer, might reach the conscience of the judges and diminish the punishment.201 
The chairman informed Shukhevych that he was accused of belonging to the OUN, and 
of persuading Lemyk to kill the Soviet consul, which relied on Pidhainyi’s testimony. 
On the advice of his lawyer, the defendant declared pathetically: “I admit to belonging 
to the OUN. The reason why I joined the OUN was the request of my heart, but I do not 
admit that I ordered Lemyk to kill the Soviet consul.”202 Further, the defendant lied by 
saying that he had nothing to do with the war department of the homeland executive, 
and that he had lost contact with the OUN around 1928. He testified that he rejoined the 
OUN at the official request of some OUN members, only in 1933 and only as a mediator, 
to help solve a conflict between radical and less radical factions in the OUN.203 

The defendant Pidhainyi, was also a client and relative of the lawyer Stepan Shuk-
hevych, who induced him to give false testimony, in order to provide Roman Shuk-
hevych’s testimony with credibility. Pidhainyi claimed that he was the director of the 
war department of the homeland executive, thereby intending to relieve the real direc-
tor of the war department, Roman Shukhevych, of responsibility.204 Pidhainyi also 
testified that he gave Lemyk the gun with which he killed Mailov, and that neither Shuk-
hevych nor Bandera could have done so.205 In addition to this “act of generosity” toward 
Shukhevych, Pidhainyi, like a number of other defendants, claimed that he was in the 
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OUN but could not be guilty of anything, because being in the OUN was a patriotic 
duty.206 

Bandera testified on 5 June 1936. He spoke at greater length than the other defen-
dants, probably because the chairman allowed him to do so without interrupting each 
item of propaganda, as he was interested in hearing what the leader of the homeland 
executive had to say. After the chairman had familiarized Bandera with the charges 
against him, the defendant said, “I do not confess to any guilt and do not plead guilty, 
because all my revolutionary activities were the fulfillment of my duty.” Then he asked 
the chairman to allow him to elucidate all the “facts, circumstances, and motivations” in 
detail.207 The chairman asked Bandera if his motive was to split Eastern Little Poland 
from the Polish state. Bandera responded by saying, “The general motive [of the OUN] 
is the preparation of a rebirth and the organization of an independent Ukrainian state 
… also in the Ukrainian territories that belong today to the Polish state.”208 

Continuing his testimony, Bandera called himself “the leader of the OUN in the 
western Ukrainian territories, and the commandant of the UVO.” This irritated the 
chairman.209 Bandera admitted that he had ordered the killing of Bachyns’kyi because 
an investigation conducted by the OUN had established that Bachyns’kyi was an infor-
mer.210 He further testified that Babii was sentenced to death by an OUN court for “the 
crime of betraying the nation.” He said that Babii, “as the director of a branch of a 
Ukrainian high school, tried to educate the youth at the school in a spirit of subser-
vience to the Polish state … persecuted Ukrainian nationalism, and went so far as to 
play the role of a police agent. He once caught a Ukrainian student distributing OUN 
leaflets, not on the premises of the high school [but in church during a service], and 
called the police.”211 Bandera explained that he was angry with Babii because he taught 
his pupils that Ukrainian patriotism required loyalty to the Polish state. Bandera per-
sonally disliked Babii, because Babii had caught Bandera helping a fellow high-school 
student cheat in an examination, and he had taken Bandera’s identity card and given 
it to the police.212 

Bandera also testified in detail about the attempts to assassinate the Soviet consul 
and the newspaper editor Antin Krushel’nytskyi, and about the bomb in the office of the 
newspaper Pratsia. He stressed his crucial role in these deeds, saying that he ordered 
Lemyk to kill the Soviet consul.213 This version was confirmed by Lemyk’s testimony.214 
Bandera also claimed that an “action against the Bolsheviks” was necessary because 
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“Bolshevism is a figure and system with which Moscow afflicts Ukraine,” and because 
“communism is a movement that is extremely contradictory to nationalism.” He fur-
ther argued that, in the “eastern Ukrainian territories, a brutal fight for everything is 
taking place since the Bolsheviks destroyed the Ukrainian territories.” According to 
Bandera, nobody knew about this fight because “Soviet Ukraine is divided from the 
civilized world, not only by a Chinese wall, but also by a zone of Communists, Cheka 
officers, and Red Army soldiers.”215 Speaking further about the Communists, Bandera 
argued that: “Because the Bolsheviks use physical methods of fighting, we should also 
apply these methods toward them.”216 

Bandera also proudly announced that he had issued the order to kill Kossobudzki 
because, “as an inspector of the prison guards in [Brygidki prison] in Lviv, he perse-
cuted and oppressed the Ukrainian political prisoners.” The leader of the homeland 
executive had also ordered Józewski to be killed because “he was a representative of 
the Polish state … and an actual leader of Polish politics in Volhynia.”217 The defense 
lawyer Horbovyi tried to help Bandera testify about deeds of which Bandera was not 
accused, such as the anti-school campaign in summer 1933. This was probably at Ban-
dera’s or the OUN’s request, in order to hit the headlines and inform as many people as 
possible about the “liberation struggle” of the OUN.218 Similarly, Horbovyi asked Ban-
dera to “introduce his biography, and the moments that shaped his worldview.”219 In his 
statements, Horbovyi did not rule out the possibility that revenge might have moti-
vated his client to issue some orders to kill.220 

The problem of fascist greetings in the courtroom appeared again on 16 June 
1936, the sixteenth day of the trial, when some OUN members were called as wit-
nesses. The first was Lebed’, who naturally did not admit belonging to the OUN. 
Leaving the courtroom, he raised his right arm toward the defendants and called out, 
“Slava Ukraїni!” Stets’ko and Ianiv answered him with the same fascist salute.221 The 
next one was Lemyk, Mailov’s assassin. When Lemyk had finished testifying and was 
leaving the courtroom, he greeted the other defendants with the raised arm and the 
words “Slava Ukraїni!” The last witness on this day was Oleksandr Kuts. After Kuts 
used the same Ukrainian fascist salute as Lebed’ and Lemyk before him, the prosecu-
tor again proposed that the trial be closed to the public, but the court rejected his 
application.222 References to the fascist greetings were again deleted by the censor-
ship from the newspaper reports.223 

On 24 June 1936, the twenty-first day of the trial, Prosecutor Prachtel-Morawiański 
delivered his speech. Referring to Konspiracja, an OUN brochure in Polish translation 
from 1929, he stated that the OUN did not always hide its criminal deeds but sometimes 
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exposed them during proceedings, in order to attract publicity, as the OUN was doing at 
this trial.224 He further asked whom did such members of the OUN as Shukhevych and 
Bandera represent, and answered by saying, “They are only members of a terrorist 
organization and do not represent the Ukrainian nation. The OUN cannot represent it 
because it is condemned by the majority of that society, which is right about this 
matter.”225 Prachtel-Morawiański stated that the relatives of the defendants to whom 
he had spoken also had no sympathy for the organization but only regret (about its 
nature). Finally, he said that the defendants may have been motivated to commit 
crimes for political reasons, but “this is Poland and the Polish law that is in force here 
does not allow the eulogization of crimes.”226 

On 26 June 1936, the defendants were allowed to respond to Prachtel-
Morawiański’s speech, which had been interrupted for this purpose. The defendant 
Maliutsa said that “every idea has to overcome the examination of death. The OUN did, 
I did not. In the Warsaw trial, I acted reprehensibly, but I did so because of my break-
down, not because the idea was corrupted.”227 Stets’ko said that “the aim of his life was a 
free Ukraine, and that he would not leave this path, even if he were tortured.”228 Ianiv 
stated that he acted deliberately and that he was sure that there was only one path be-
fore him. His point of view, he said, was determined by faith. Referring to Oswald 
Spengler, he said that the moment was coming when Ukraine would need a new reli-
gion, which was Ukrainian nationalism. Only this religion, according to Ianiv, could 
enable Ukrainians to survive the threat of communism and other disasters.229 

After that Bandera delivered a speech. On the one hand, he portrayed himself as a 
Robin Hood who protected poor Ukrainians from the mean Poles and Soviet Russians. 
On the other hand, he announced that he was the fascist leader of an enslaved nation, 
and the Providnyk of all Ukrainians united by nationalism and the fight for indepen-
dence, according to the principle that the OUN represented the Ukrainian nation, and 
Bandera represented the OUN. This speech was one of Bandera’s most important ora-
torical performances. It has excited Ukrainian nationalists down to the present day and 
has also been regarded as Bandera’s major intellectual achievement. Bandera began by 
declaring, “The prosecutor said that a group of Ukrainian terrorists and their main 
headquarters [personnel] took their places in the dock. I want to say that we OUN 
members are not terrorists, because the OUN deals with all branches of political activi-
ties and national life.”230 Then he complained that he was never allowed to speak about 
the “entire program of the organization or about [his] entire activity.” This restriction 
might make him look like a terrorist, whereas he did not regard himself as one. He also 
announced that he would confine himself “only to those facts and fragments of the 
revolutionary activity of the OUN that are a subject of this trial.”231 

Bandera began the factual part of his speech with Kossobudzki. He said that, in 
autumn 1933, he had received information from colleagues who were in the Brygidki 
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prison that “special methods of bullying and repression” were being applied to Ukrai-
nian political prisoners. Then he stated that he had ordered an investigation and had 
concluded that Kossobudzki was responsible for bullying and repressing Ukrainian 
prisoners.232 Bandera added that he had forbidden the political prisoners to organize a 
hunger strike, because: 

Revenge would later fall on the backs of colleagues who are defenseless, and with 
whom the administration of the prison can do anything it pleases. I considered 
that the organization should take charge of these comrades, and I therefore 
ordered the assassination of Kossobudzki. There was no trial. I have already said 
that organizational trials dealt only with Ukrainians and not with Poles, because 
we believe that there is a struggle between Ukraine and Poland, and that there is 
still military law, and that revolutionary struggle by means of physical methods is 
a moment of the struggle that has continued forever.233 

Bandera further claimed that he had personally ordered the killing of Gadomski, 
Pieracki, and Józewski. He probably said this in order to stress his role in the OUN 
and to present himself as the brave leader of a ruthless “liberation movement,” rather 
than to inform the court how decisions to undertake assassinations were made. He 
claimed that he had issued the orders to kill Gadomski and Pieracki as “representa-
tives of the Polish state,” and Józewski because he wanted to reconcile two nations, 
which was against the concept of the OUN’s “permanent revolution.”234 Decisions to 
kill such Ukrainians as Babii or Bachyns’kyi for “crimes of national betrayal” were 
made, according to Bandera, not by him in person but by the “revolutionary tri-
bunal.”235 The tribunal sentenced them to death because, as he elaborated, “It is the 
duty of all Ukrainians to subordinate their personal life to the good of the nation, and 
if somebody voluntarily and consciously cooperates with the enemy. … Then we take 
the view that this degree of national betrayal should be punished only with death.”236 

Toward the end of his speech, Bandera mixed fanaticism, martyrdom, national-
ism, fascism, and sentimentalism, and produced lines that Ukrainian nationalists 
have learnt by heart for decades, just as they memorized the “Decalogue of a Ukrai-
nian Nationalist”: 

Because in this trial the question of assassinations of many persons organized by 
the OUN was investigated, it might appear that the organization does not cherish 
human life, either of other persons or of its members. I will respond to this very 
briefly, that people who are aware that they can lose their life at any moment in their 
job can appreciate the merit of life. We know the value of our and other lives, but our 
idea, as we understand it, is so huge that, as it comes to its realization, not hundreds 
but thousands of human lives have to be sacrificed in order to carry it out. … 

Since I have lived for a year with the certainty that I will lose my life, I know 
what a person who has before him the perspective of losing his greatest treasure, 
which is life, endures. Yet even so, throughout this period, I did not feel what I 
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felt when I sent other members to certain death, when I sent Lemyk to the consu-
late, or the one who assassinated Minister Pieracki. The measure of our idea is 
not that we were prepared to sacrifice our lives, but that we were prepared to 
sacrifice the lives of others.237 

Remarkable in this speech is the antifactual and ideologically structured narra-
tive, which aimed to mobilize the emotions and demobilize the mind, something that 
will remain in Bandera’s speeches and writings until his death and will make his follow-
ers regard him as a leader of the Ukrainian “liberation movement,” or even a demigod. 
Classic propaganda, Bandera’s speech was full of untrue but powerful statements. He 
stated, for example, that sending Matseiko to his death was painful, whereas he actually 
disliked Matseiko for helping the police catch the OUN member Mytsyk, and also for 
“dealing unprofessionally” with Pieracki’s murder.238 

The most remarkable point in Bandera’s speech is that “our idea, in our understand-
ing, is so huge that, as it comes to its realization, not hundreds but thousands of human 
lives have to be sacrificed in order to carry it out.” This claim is a continuation of 
Mikhnovs’kyi’s misanthropic and paranoid ideology, strengthened by Dontsov’s ex-
treme nationalism, and the OUN’s commitment to the ethnic and political mass 
violence that was an integral part of the “permanent” or “national revolution” and was 
euphemized as “the liberation struggle.” 

After Bandera’s speech, Prosecutor Prachtel-Morawiański continued his speech. He 
finished it with a patriotic appeal to the jurors “to demonstrate to the parents of 
Bachyns’kyi and the family of Babii—victims of the Ukrainian organization—that Poles 
do not approve of the wrongs that the organization did to them and to Ukrainian 
society.”239 

When Prachtel-Morawiański had finished his speech, the defending lawyers began 
theirs. Horbovyi, an OUN member who was defending Bandera not only as his client 
but also as his Providnyk, said that “love for the motherland was the motive that 
guided the defendant and his activities.” Then he stated that, because Bandera admit-
ted the deeds that he was accused of and pleaded not guilty, he could not be guilty.240 
Further the OUN member Horbovyi, who was defending his Providnyk, argued that 
Bandera could not be guilty, because he was not pursuing his private interests but a 
national mission that was embedded in Ukrainian tradition. 241 

On 27 June 1936, after the other defending lawyers had finished their speeches, 
the verdict was announced. Bandera and Myhal’ were sentenced to life imprison-
ment, Pidhainyi, Maliutsa, Kachmars’kyi, Sen’kiv, and Mashchak to fifteen years, 
Spol’s’kyi to four years and eight months, Makarushka to four years, Zaryts’ka, 
Pashkevych, Ianiv, Stets’ko, Iarosh, Fenyk, Ivasyk, and Ravlyk to two years and six 
months, Shukhevych, Hnatevych, and Kotsiumbas to two years. Fedak, Svientsits’ka, 
and Rachun were acquitted.242 
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The Lviv trial, similarly to the earlier one in Warsaw, was intended both to destroy 
the structure of the OUN and to put its leading members in prison. Unlike the first one, 
it did not attempt to show the public, with the help of the media, how the authorities 
would punish individuals or organizations that attacked the state, conspired against it, 
or murdered people for political reasons. The Lviv trial, similar to the Warsaw one, was 
riddled with political motives and exemplified how difficult Polish-Ukrainian relations 
were. The defendants tried to challenge the court, the judicial system, and the Polish 
authorities, while insisting that they were not citizens of Poland, that Polish law did not 
apply to them, and that they had the right to kill people who were involved in the politi-
cal system that “occupied” Ukraine. The right to speak Ukrainian allowed them to feel 
more comfortable and to articulate their beliefs and plans more clearly than in Warsaw, 
although the judges and prosecutors prevented many such attempts. 

Bandera and the Aftermath of the Trials 

The trials in Warsaw and Lviv made Bandera famous among Ukrainians in Poland 
and the diaspora. Both trials transformed the leader of the homeland executive of an 
ultranationalist terrorist organization into an important symbol of the Ukrainian 
“liberation movement.” Young Ukrainians in the Second Polish Republic followed 
every day of the trial and admired Bandera while reading the reports in the newspapers 
in groups and discussing them. Bandera became known as a national revolutionary 
who fought for Ukrainian independence. Fascism, which the OUN had already adopted 
in the early 1930s, became an important element of the “liberation struggle.” By the 
performance of fascist salutes and the treatment of Bandera as the leader of a move-
ment that sought to “liberate” the nation and establish a state, the defendants suggested 
that, after “liberation,” the Ukrainian state would become a fascist dictatorship. In his 
speech, Bandera pointed out that the OUN was determined to sacrifice “thousands of 
human lives” to realize the aims of the movement. The idea of being ready to sacrifice 
“thousands of human lives” and to exercise mass violence became integral elements of 
the agenda of the movement.243 

For the creation of the Bandera cult, both trials were very significant. Neither trial 
was a show trial but they were political trials, during which several political issues were 
discussed by proxy, such as to which state the mixed territories (Volhynia and eastern 
Galicia) should belong, and the role of the OUN in Polish-Ukrainian relations. The 
Warsaw trial, due to the extensive and vivid reports in almost all Polish and Ukrainian 
newspapers, drew considerable attention to the Ukrainian situation in Poland, and to 
the young nationalist terrorists who attempted to “liberate” their nation. Its echoes 
were heard in many other countries, including Germany, Italy, Lithuania, and 
Czechoslovakia, whose governments either supported the OUN financially or co-
operated with it.244 The reports about the Lviv trial in such Polish newspapers as Gazeta 
Polska were less extensive and sensational, but the Ukrainian and Polish papers in 
Lviv, such as the Lwowski Ilustrowany Express, also published some striking articles 
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like “The Tactics of the OUN ‘Bigwigs’” or “Drunken Party from OUN Funds as Encou-
ragement and then as Award for the Murder of Bachyns’kyi.”245 Some scenes from the 
Lviv trial made a strong impact on contemporary Ukrainian nationalist discourses. 
These included Bandera’s speech on 26 June 1936, the fascist salutes, and the moment 
when Bandera entered the courtroom, in which all the public allegedly rose to their 
feet, emulating the behavior of the defendants, who had stood up to greet their Provid-
nyk.246 In an article that appeared on 21 June 1936 in Ukraїns’ke slovo, the OUN 
ideologist Stsibors’kyi called the young OUN members on trial “bandery [Ban-
derites].”247 The trials also entered Ukrainian folk culture, which at this time was very 
popular among Galician Ukrainians. One of the songs about Bandera said: 

Nineteen thirty five is passing, Trydtsiat’ p’iatyi rik mynaie, 
We went through it my ioho mynaly 
When the verdict was announced Iak v Varshavi v trybunali 
In the court in Warsaw prysud vidchytaly 
 
Where twelve Ukrainians, De dvanadtsiat’ ukraїntsiv, 
Great heroes, Velykykh heroїv, 
Who wanted to attain Shcho khotily zdobuvaty 
Freedom for Ukraine. Ukraїni voliu. 
 
Among these heroes Pomizh tymy heroiamy 
Are also women, Ie takozh divchata, 
Hnatkivs’ka and brave Ie Hnatkivs’ka i Zaryts’ka, 
Unwavering Zaryts’ka. Vidvazhna, zavziata. 
 
The first hero is Bandera. Pershyi heroi—to Bandera, 
The second is called Lebed’, Druhyi Lebid’ zvet’sia, 
They are not afraid of handcuffs, Vony kaidaniv ne boiat’sia, 
They are laughing at handcuffs. Z kaidaniv smiiut’sia. 

 
The twelve were sentenced Tykh dvanadtsiat’ zasudyly 
By the cursed Poles. Poliaky prokliati. 
They will be followed by other Na їkh mistse pryidut’ inshi 
Unwavering heroes. Heroї zavziati.248 
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Bandera in Polish Prisons 

After his arrest on 14 June 1934, Bandera remained in Polish prisons until 13 Sept-
ember 1939. According to his autobiography, he conducted three hunger strikes during 
this period. One lasted nine days; another, thirteen days; the third one, sixteen days.249 
According to Klymyshyn, after Bandera’s arrest on the morning of 14 June 1934 he 
was transported together with Stets’ko and some other OUN activists to a prison in 
Cracow, in which Klymyshyn was already detained since the same morning. After ten 
days, Klymyshyn and Karpynets’ were taken to the Warsaw prison at 7 Daniłowiczow-
ska Street. In his memoirs, Klymyshyn did not say whether Bandera was also taken to 
this penal institution.250 Wojciech Żygała, warden in the Lviv Brygdiki prison, testified 
in the Warsaw trial that Bandera was kept in this penitentiary, but he did not specify 
exactly when.251 In April 1935, Klymyshyn was taken to another Warsaw prison, the 
Mokotów Prison at 37 Rakowiecka Street, where he and other OUN prisoners, among 
them Bandera, Lebed’, and Pidhainyi, were held in more comfortable one-person cells, 
which had running water and flush toilets. They could also use the prison library, which 
had over 12,000 books, and some of them did so extensively. Klymyshyn could not 
establish contact with Bandera, who was in a cell in the opposite corner of the prison 
until the Warsaw trial. When Klymshyn saw Bandera once in the corridor, he was 
wearing ordinary clothes but was handcuffed.252 

After the announcement of the verdict in the Warsaw trial, Bandera was also kept 
in the Mokotów Prison for a few weeks. It is not known whether he had been in the 
same prison during the Warsaw trial, or in the prison at 24 Dzielna Street.253 After 
the trial finished, Bandera was allowed to meet and talk with other OUN prisoners 
who were in the Mokotów Prison. On a “beautiful winter day” a few weeks after the end 
of the Warsaw trial, Bandera was taken, together with Pidhainyi, Karpynets’, Kach-
mars’kyi, Lebed’, and Klymyshyn, to the Święty Krzyż prison near Kielce, one of the 
most harsh and uncomfortable prisons in the Second Republic.254 The Święty Krzyż 
prison was located in a former monastery and possessed only thirty-five cells for 
between 600 and 1,000 prisoners. The outlying location made it inconvenient for 
visitors. Most prisoners in this penal institution were recognized as dangerous.255 

After their arrival in the Święty Krzyż prison, the Providnyk and other OUN inmates 
were given a haircut. They received cumbersome wooden shoes, and prison clothes full 
of holes. According to Klymyshyn, Bandera in particular looked horrible after this 
procedure: 

Bandera suffered the most. He came to the cell the last. He waited the longest in 
order to be “accommodated” and froze while waiting for his turn. He got broad 
trousers and very big blouse, and everything so horrible, ragged and holey, that it 
was difficult to look at him. And they also cut his hair! Since I remember him, he 
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always has had nice light brown hair, combed to the side. And now they poured 
scorn on him. They horribly disfigured him. It was the look of a horrible, humiliated 
person. But we took it easy, with humor.256 

The new five OUN prisoners exchanged their new clothes among each other, so 
that they fitted better. They first stayed in a quarantine cell without beds. They were 
promised that, once they learned the rules of the prison, they would be moved to the 
actual prison cells and provided with beds and better clothes. However, they received 
better clothes and blankets much sooner, from a Ukrainian guard who was asked to do 
so by a Ukrainian who had been imprisoned there since the end of the First World War. 
Due to the lack of running water and items such as toilet paper, sanitary circumstances 
in the prison were horrible. In addition to an extremely malodorous toilet in the corri-
dor, every cell had a container for feces and urine, which was emptied in the morning by 
two inmates. Outside the cell, the prisoners always had to walk with their hands behind 
their back and to look down in front of their feet, which they perceived as inconvenient 
and humiliating. The prisoners were woken by the religious song “When the Morning 
Lights Arise” (Pol. Kiedy ranne wstają zorze) written by the Polish poet Franciszek 
Karpiński and performed in Święty Krzyż by other prisoners. Bandera’s OUN co-
prisoner Knysh remembered that it was “very sad to listen to this slavery singing.”257 

On the prisoners’ tenth day in the quarantine cell, the chief officer of the prison 
entered, together with a hunting dog and a few guards. Knysh remembered him saying, 
“The student period and the times when we played ‘heroes’ are finished once and for-
ever. Now we have to stay until death in his lockup. Everything depends how we will 
behave. If we will be proper prisoners he will treat us as intelligent people and not like 
ordinary thieves, and if not, then our faces will be smashed in, smashed in again, and we 
will be put in quarantine.”258 

After hearing this speech, Bandera was moved to a cell in which he stayed with 
Lebed’ and a number of other prisoners, but not the rest of the OUN group. The usual 
cells held about fifteen to twenty prisoners with different backgrounds, characters, and 
interests. These differences and the narrow living-space led to conflicts, and sometimes 
even fights.259 On 25 or 26 April 1936, Bandera was transported to Warsaw for the 
appeal. He stayed together with Lebed’ and Klymyshyn in the Pawiak Prison at 24‒26 
Dzielna Street. After the appeal, which finished on 30 April, it is not known whether 
Bandera was taken back to Święty Krzyż, or held in the Pawiak Prison, or immediately 
taken to the prison in Kazimierza Wielkiego Street in Lviv, where he was held during the 
Lviv trial, from 24 May until 2 July 1936.260 On 2 July, after the Lviv trial, the chief 
officer of the Lviv prison ordered that Bandera be taken to the Mokotów Prison in War-
saw again, because he feared that Bandera and other prisoners might be rescued. On 
the next day, they were moved again to the Święty Krzyż prison where, since April, the 
chief officer had been instructed to improve security measures and to transfer a num-
ber of Ukrainian prisoners, who might be connected with the OUN, to other prisons.261 
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After Bandera’s return to the Święty Krzyż, he, Pidhainyi, Karpynets’, Kach-
mars’kyi, Lebed’, and Klymyshyn were, on Bandera’s initiative, placed in the same cell, 
number 21, in which they stayed with three other OUN members: Hryhorii Perehiniak, 
Iurii Batih, and Lutsyniak. They could read their own books—three volumes of the Gen-
eral Ukrainian Encyclopedia belonging to Bandera, and Ukrainian newspapers sub-
scribed to by Bandera and Lebed’. In the cell there were also two illiterate Ukrainians 
and another two with only rudimentary education. The OUN prisoners taught them 
and the other OUN members to read and write, and otherwise educated them. Klymy-
shyn offered courses in grammar and literature, Pidhainyi in mathematics, physics, 
and chemistry, and Bandera in history and ideology. The most talented Ukrainian—
taught by Klymyshyn, Pidhainyi and Bandera—was Hryhorii Perehiniak, a blacksmith 
born in Staryi Uhryniv, where in March 1935 he killed Vasyl’ Ilkiv, for which he was sen-
tenced to life imprisonment, six months later. In prison he became especially close to 
the leader of the homeland executive. Bandera’s courses in history and ideology must 
have significantly influenced Perehiniak, who would play an important role in the 
process of establishing the UPA in Volhynia during the Second World War, and in 
initiating the ethnic cleansing against the Polish population.262 

In the same cell there were also prisoners who did not belong to the OUN, among 
them some Poles. One of them, Wójcicki, was an informer. Although everyone in the 
cell knew it, nobody mentioned or discussed it. Once a week the prisoners ate 
kapuśniak, a soup from sauerkraut or cabbage, popular in Poland, Ukraine, and some 
other East Central European countries. Once, while waiting in line for the soup, Ban-
dera stood behind Wójcicki. There was silence in the cell, which Bandera interrupted 
with the word “kapuś” (Pol. snitch) to which he soon added “niaczek.”263 

Before Christmas 1937, Osyp Kladochnyi, chaplain of the Ukrainian political pris-
oners, visited Bandera and other OUN prisoners. After three years imprisonment, this 
was their first opportunity to make confession. Knysh wrote in his memoirs that the 
confessions took a long time, which suggests that the prisoners did not live without sin 
in the prison, or that they discussed other subjects with the chaplain. Afterwards, Kla-
dochnyi conducted a service. The OUN prisoners were also allowed choir practice for 
Christmas. The choir was conducted by Bandera, the most talented vocalist among the 
OUN prisoners. Klymyshyn remembered Christmas 1937 as “extraordinarily 
spiritual.”264 

After Christmas, however, the OUN inmates were again distributed among differ-
ent cells. Bandera was very likely moved with Lebed’ to the same cell as before, where 
he tried to establish contact with other OUN prisoners. He succeeded in doing so by 
leaving a scrap of paper under the toilet bowl, which he informed a prisoner from 
Klymyshyn’s cell about. Using this method of exchanging information, the OUN pris-
oners organized a hunger strike. It lasted for fifteen days, but from the eighth day they 
were force-fed with mash, through a tube in the nose. Toward the end of the hunger 
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strike, Bandera became very thin and weak; he leaned against the walls as he walked. 
After the hunger strike, the OUN members were moved to the same cell again and 
stayed there for about three months. They were then moved to other cells, and finally 
other prisons.265 

Although Święty Krzyż had high security standards, the administration feared 
attempts to free Bandera. They invested a substantial amount of money in safety meas-
ures to prevent a potential escape. The chief officer, in particular, was very much afraid 
of such an attempt. He even supposed that the prison might be besieged and that if 
the telephone line were cut, they would not be able to summon help. For this reason 
he decided to build four watchtowers, which were intended to prevent Ukrainian nat-
ionalists and other armed groups from liberating Bandera. A group of about twenty 
OUN activists indeed planned to free Bandera from Święty Krzyż. They communi-
cated with Bandera with the help of his former lawyer Horbovyi, and in letters which 
were, however, read by the prison officers. The chaplain Kladochnyi, who confessed 
Bandera “an hour and longer,” might also have been involved in the attempt to release 
the Providnyk. The OUN planned to send two members disguised as monks to the 
monastery located next to the prison. The disguised OUN members planned to 
extricate Bandera through the monastery and escape with him into the forest. How-
ever, the prison guards and police, with the help of their informers, uncovered the plan 
and adopted the measures necessary to stop the rescue operation at an early stage, 
without drawing public attention to the incident. Nevertheless, the chief officer did not 
feel comfortable with the Providnyk in his prison. Bandera was relocated, in late 1937 
or early 1938, from Święty Krzyż to the prison in Wronki, in western Poland.266 

Shortly after Bandera’s relocation, the OUN leader Konovalets’ was assassinated 
on 23 May 1938, in Rotterdam. We do not know how Bandera reacted to this news. His 
close friend Klymyshyn was deeply moved and wrote a poem.267 The Wronki prison had 
higher security measures and was further away from the usual area of OUN activities 
than the Święty Krzyż prison. This did not, however, thwart the OUN from planning 
another attempt to liberate Bandera in August and September 1938. The second 
attempt to rescue Bandera may have been related to the Konovalets’ assassination, 
after which a number of younger OUN members wanted Bandera to become the leader 
of the OUN leadership in exile, or of the PUN. After rescue, Bandera was to be trans-
ported to Germany, the border of which was only ten kilometers from the prison. The 
PUN did not object to the idea of Bandera’s escape but was reluctant to support the 
attempt. Nor did the homeland executive support it, and it remained a more or less 
private initiative of a group of OUN fighters. The initiators were Ivan Ravlyk, Roman 
Shukhevych, and Mykhailo Kuspis’, a former prisoner of Wronki. Zenon Kossak, 
another former prisoner of Wronki, helped them. For this operation the OUN allegedly 
received a substantial amount of money from the Ukrainian diaspora in order to bribe 
the prison guards.268 
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Kuspis’ bribed a former guard by the name of Piotr Zaborowski to help him 
approach a current prison guard, who agreed to release Bandera for money. Another 
person agreed to help Bandera and Kuspis’ cross the German-Polish border.269 The 
escape was prepared for 7 September 1938 but it is not clear why the operation was not 
carried out. According to Kuspis’, the OUN decided, at the very last moment, that it 
should not be.270 One reason might be that the OUN did not trust the bribed guards and 
feared a trap, in which Bandera would be killed. It might also be that the OUN did not 
receive enough money to pay their helpers or were afraid that Bandera’s escape would 
worsen the situation of other Ukrainian prisoners in Polish prisons.271 In September, 
the police arrested eleven persons, because Zaborowski entrusted the details of the 
proposed attempt to a friend, who reported them to the police.272 One of the arrested 
persons, Maria Bielecka, committed suicide in a prison cell. As with the first release 
operation, the police proceeded very carefully to avoid attracting public attention and 
to protect the police informers within the OUN. Kuspis’ was sentenced to eight years, 
Zaborowski to three. From the prison in Wronki, Bandera was taken in early 1939 to a 
penal institution in Brest (Brześć), in eastern Poland. According to his brief autobio-
graphy, he escaped on 13 September 1939, during the turmoil of the Second World 
War, with the help of Ukrainian prisoners.273 

Conclusion 

The assassination of the Polish Interior Minister Bronisław Pieracki was the most 
important terrorist act that the OUN performed during the interwar period. This 
assassination and the two subsequent trials in Warsaw and Lviv significantly contri-
buted to the formation of the Bandera cult. The Warsaw trial drew international atten-
tion to the situation of Ukrainians in Poland. At both trials the OUN presented itself as a 
fascist movement which attempted to liberate Ukraine. The defendants performed 
fascist salutes and treated Bandera as their Providnyk. In doing so they implied that for 
them Bandera was the leader of the Ukrainian people and that he should become the 
leader of the Ukrainian state. Even Polish intellectuals began to romanticize the beha-
vior of the young revolutionary idealists who were ready to die for their country. From 
the day of his arrest on 14 June 1936, Bandera remained in custody until the beginning 
of the Second World War. The attempt to rescue him demonstrated that, after Konova-
lets’ assassination, a faction of the OUN wanted to make him the leader of the 
movement. 
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Chapter 4 

THE “UKRAINIAN NATIONAL REVOLUTION”: 

MASS VIOLENCE AND POLITICAL DISASTER 

Revolution was one of the most significant concepts of OUN ideology. The Ukrainian 
nationalists believed that they could create a state only in the course of a revolution, 
which they sometimes called an uprising. During the interwar period, the OUN occu-
pied itself with “permanent revolution,” while preparing Ukrainians in the Second 
Polish Republic for the final act—the “national revolution.” In order to start the latter, 
however, the OUN needed a convenient opportunity, such as a war or other inter-
national conflict between their “occupiers.” When Germany attacked Poland in Sept-
ember 1939, some of the OUN leaders were unsure whether the right moment for the 
“bloody uprising” had arrived. They were disappointed by the political changes, but 
Germany—especially the Abwehr—involved them in its next major expansion east-
ward, the war against the Soviet Union, which the OUN hoped would present the 
opportunity to start the “bloody uprising” and to establish an authoritarian state of a 
fascist type. The conflicts and splits within the movement did not prevent the Ukrainian 
nationalists from elaborating new revolutionary plans. The most efficient and detailed 
plan for a revolution was manufactured by the OUN-B and called the “Ukrainian 
National Revolution.” Its architects adjusted it to the ethos of the “New Europe,” with 
its fascist and racist political order.1 

The Beginning of the Second World War 

On 13 September 1939, thirteen days after Nazi Germany attacked Poland, Stepan 
Bandera escaped from the prison in Brest. Together with other Ukrainian ex-
prisoners, he made his way to Lviv, where he allegedly stayed in the buildings of St. 
George’s Cathedral and met with Sheptyts’kyi. On 17 September, the Soviet Union 
attacked Poland from the east. The German and Soviet attack on Poland was brought 
about by the Treaty of Nonaggression signed in Moscow on 23 August 1939 by the 
German and Soviet Ministers of Foreign Affairs, Joachim von Ribbentrop and Viaches-
lav Molotov. After a few days in Lviv, Bandera, realizing that eastern Galicia would 
remain in the Soviet sphere of influence, left the city for the area of Poland that was 
occupied by Germany, and which became known as the General Government. With him 
went a few other OUN members, including his brother Vasyl’, who had escaped from 
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the Polish concentration camp in Bereza Kartuska. They crossed the German-Soviet 
border that divided the territory of the now non-existent Second Republic, and went 
to Cracow.2 

In the short period of time between the German attack on Poland and the Soviet 
invasion, there was chaos and a political vacuum in western Ukraine. Before the 
Soviet army came to western Ukraine, some German units entered this territory and 
stayed for about two weeks. At that time, the OUN was considering whether to 
conduct its “national revolution.” In some locations it established a militia, which 
attacked and killed Jews, Poles, and Ukrainian political opponents.3 However, once 
the OUN realized that it was insufficiently prepared and that the political situation 
on account of the German-Soviet Nonaggression Pact was not favorable for such an 
event, the leadership decided not to attempt to take power in the territory or to 
establish a state. In this short period of time, the OUN killed approximately 2,000 
Poles in eastern Galicia, about 1,000 in Volhynia, and an unknown number of Jews 
and political opponents.4 

At that time, Polish soldiers killed an unknown number of Ukrainians in response 
to the OUN violence and also because some Ukrainians welcomed the Soviet army, 
erected triumphal arches for them, and sang “communist songs mixed with religious  
hymns.”5 Jews became the victims of both sides during this period.6 In Iavoriv 
(Jaworów), a small town about fifty kilometers west of Lviv, for example, German 
troops, together with Ukrainian militiamen who were wearing yellow-and-blue 
armlets, destroyed the local synagogue and humiliated, tortured, beat, murdered, 
and otherwise mistreated the Jews.7 Bandera, whose visits overlapped with the first 
violent acts conducted by the OUN, never mentioned them in his writings, just as he 
did not mention the greater atrocities that the OUN and UPA later committed, 
during and after Second World War. In his brief autobiography from 1959 Bandera 
stated that in September 1939 the OUN “began to establish partisan units that 
concerned themselves with the protection of the Ukrainian population and took 
possession of weapons and other military equipment for a future struggle.”8 
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Map 4. The Second World War in Ukraine, January 1939 – June 1944. 

 Encyclopedia of Ukraine, 5:726. 

In Cracow, Bandera met many of his comrades-in-arms. At that time, the city 
became the main center for Ukrainian nationalists. Nearly 30,000 Ukrainians, many 
of them young nationalists like Bandera, fled to the General Government in order to 
avoid a confrontation with the Soviet regime.9 In addition, many Ukrainians released 
from Polish prisons and the Bereza Kartuska detention camp were staying in Cracow 
and other places in the General Government. The OUN was, at this time, the most 
popular Ukrainian organization, which, owing to the Soviet occupation of Ukraine, 
“nourished everybody’s hope,” as Klymyshyn wrote in his memoirs.10 While staying 
in Cracow, OUN members observed an anti-Jewish pogrom, which took place in the 
city in December 1939.11 

In Cracow, the Germans established the Ukrainian Central Committee (Ukraїns’kyi 
Tsentral’nyi Komitet, UTsK), a welfare and relief agency, which set up a network of 
Ukrainian cooperatives, schools, and youth organizations in the General Government. 
The UTsK was headed by Volodymyr Kubiiovych, a geographer, who was not a member 
of the OUN but empathized with its older generation. Like many other Ukrainians, he 
had experienced ethnic discrimination in the Second Polish Republic and regarded 
Germany as the most important partner of the Ukrainians, sharing with the Nazis many 
political convictions, including antisemitism and other racism. On 18 April 1941, he 
petitioned General Governor Hans Frank to purge “Polish and Jewish elements” from 
the ethnic Ukrainian territories within the General Government.12 

While in Cracow, Bandera first lived in one of the five camps erected for Ukrai-
nians on Loretańska Street. He later moved into an apartment on Straszewskiego 
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Street together with his brothers Vasyl’ and Bohdan.13 At a military course in Cracow 
in late September, Klymyshyn met Bandera for the first time since his escape from 
prison. Bandera looked thin and had longer hair than usual. According to Klymyshyn, 
Bandera was dressed in clothes that he had taken from the prison. They went shopping 
together the next day between the market square and the university. Bandera bought a 
grey suit, and Klymyshyn a black one. Grey was Bandera’s favorite color of cloth and 
was also one of his aliases.14 

During his stay in Cracow, Bandera met the female OUN member Iaroslava Opa-
rivs’ka (1917–1977) who had studied at the Lviv Polytechnic before the war.15 Bandera 
married her either on 3 June 1940 in Cracow or on 5 June in Sanok.16 Klymshyn 
remarked in his memoirs that the wedding ceremony was very modest; no more than 
ten people were present.17 Iaroslava took on Stepan’s surname and became Iaroslava 
Bandera. In late 1940 they moved to Warsaw, where they lived until early 1941 for 
security reasons, in an apartment arranged by Lebed’.18 Their first child Natalia was 
born on 26 May 1941 in Sanok. In 1939 or 1941 Bandera had an operation on his nose 
in Berlin. His nasal septum was either broken or damaged when he was force-fed 
through the nose during the hunger strike in the Święty Krzyż prison.19 

The Split in the OUN 

Bandera wrote in his autobiography that in November 1939 he went for a cure for 
two weeks to a spa in Piešťany in Slovakia, where he met several other OUN members.20 
He went from there to Vienna, where he met more comrades-in-arms, among them 
Volodymyr Tymchii (Lopatyns’kyi), the current leader of the homeland executive of 
the OUN. Bandera and Lopatyns’kyi agreed on a joint visit to Rome, in order to hold 
a discussion with the new leader of the OUN and PUN, Andrii Mel’nyk. The problems 
to be discussed included misunderstandings and lack of cooperation between the 
homeland executive and the leadership in exile, and between the OUN in Ukraine 
and the PUN, as these organizations were called at this time. Having arrived in Rome  
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Fig. 10. Bandera in the 1940s. Poltava, Zhyttia Stepana Bandery, 25. 

during the first half of January 1940, Bandera met his brother Oleksandr, who had 
been living in Rome since 1933 and had completed a doctorate in political economy.21 

The negotiations with Mel’nyk did not lead to a compromise. Bandera demanded 
that Mel’nyk remove Iaroslav Baranovs’kyi and Omelian Senyk from the leadership. 
Bandera suspected the former of cooperation with the Poles.22 Furthermore, he de-
manded that Mel’nyk include in the leadership new members he had proposed. Ban-
dera and Lopatyns’kyi also asked the current OUN leader to leave for Switzerland and 
stay there. The motive behind this request was to marginalize Mel’nyk’s role within the 
OUN.23 

In his autobiography from 1959, Bandera also wrote that he demanded that the poli-
cies of the OUN should be less dependent on outside factors, by which he meant co-
operation with Nazi Germany.24 This claim from 1959, however, corresponds neither 
with the OUN-B’s actions in 1940–1941, nor with what Bandera expressed in an 
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undated letter to Mel’nyk, written in August 1940, when he was outraged at the 
rumor spread by Baranovs’kyi that Bandera was hostile to Nazi Germany.25 

Mel’nyk did not agree with Bandera’s demands and assumptions. He offered Ban-
dera the post of an adviser to the leadership and requested absolute obedience from 
Lopatyns’kyi. In reaction, Bandera, and other OUN members such as Stets’ko, Ianiv, 
Lenkavs’kyi, and Shukhevych—members of the homeland executive in 1933–1934 
when Bandera was its leader—gathered in Cracow on 10 February 1940 and proc-
laimed a Revolutionary Leadership (revoliutsiinyi provid). Bandera became the 
leader of this new political body.26 This faction subsequently became known as the 
OUN-B (for Bandera) in order to distinguish itself from the older or actual OUN, 
which was known as the OUN-M (for Mel’nyk) from this point on. Lopatyns’kyi took 
this news to Ukraine but was killed on the German-Soviet border by Soviet guards.27 

Until Bandera met with Mel’nyk again on 5 April 1940, the two groups hoped to 
arrive at an agreement. On that day, however, Bandera and Stets’ko gave Mel’nyk their 
own letters, which informed him about the existence of the Revolutionary Leadership 
of the OUN.28 The letters must have outraged Mel’nyk, because he put Bandera and 
Stets’ko before the Revolutionary Tribunal on 8 April. The same day, Bandera and 
Stets’ko published an announcement in which they informed all OUN members that 
the Revolutionary Leadership had decided that Mel’nyk was no longer the leader of the 
organization, and that the new leader of the OUN was Stepan Bandera.29 On 27 
September, the Revolutionary Tribunal removed Bandera from the OUN.30 Stets’ko 
stated in retrospect that Mel’nyk ordered the assassination of Bandera and himself, 
which was the reason why they moved temporarily to Warsaw.31 

The details of the split reveal interesting information as to how Bandera and his 
comrades dealt with opponents. In a longer letter to Mel’nyk from 10 September 1940, 
Bandera informed the leader of the PUN and leadership in exile that, on 10 February, he 
“had to regulate the matters in the leadership because those who were responsible for it 
did nothing.”32 Bandera argued that he had had to do it, not for his own personal sake 
but because nationalists who honored his name expected it from him.33 He claimed that 
Mel’nyk did not listen to people who tried to give him constructive advice, but justified 
his decisions with the authority of his position. Bandera implied that Mel’nyk was a 
puppet in the hands of Senyk and Baranovs’kyi, both of whom Bandera regarded as 
traitors. As a result, “the atmosphere of denial, duplicity, falsehood and suspicion re-
mains in the leadership.”34 Furthermore, Bandera informed Mel’nyk that the late 
Lopatyns’kyi had refused to use the fascist salute “Glory to the Leader!” (Vozhdevi 
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Slava!), because he was disappointed by Mel’nyk and argued that the OUN did not have 
a leader. The greeting “Glory to the Leader!” had been mandatory since the Second 
Great Congress in Rome on 27 August 1939.35 

In the letter to Mel’nyk, Bandera also explained that on 10 February 1940 the 
Revolutionary Leadership of the OUN “ceased discussing and began to act,” because 
Mel’nyk did not want to cleanse the PUN, that is to remove Senyk and Baranovs’kyi. The 
Revolutionary Leadership knew that it did not have the reputation and authority of the 
PUN, but it had on its side “truth, pure cause [chysta sprava], faith, and the 
indestructible will to lead the matter to a successful end.”36 Writing about Stsibors’kyi, 
who remained in the OUN-M, Bandera used antisemitic arguments to discredit this 
leading member of the OUN. He claimed that Stsibors’kyi had to be excluded from the 
OUN, because he was living with a “suspicious Russian Jewish woman” and because he 
was “a traitor and a Bolshevik agent.”37 

According to Bandera, Mel’nyk was surrounded by traitors such as Baranovs’kyi, 
and “treacherous Bolshevik agents” such as Stsibors’kyi, and did not do anything to 
demonstrate that he was the appropriate leader. Mel’nyk had become a leader because 
he inherited the position from Konovalets’, which was arranged by the PUN. Bandera 
argued that Mel’nyk and the PUN expected that everyone would accept Mel’nyk in this 
position. This did not come about, however, because the traitors Baranovs’kyi and 
Senyk made Mel’nyk into a puppet, which meant according to Bandera’s logic that the 
organization was controlled by “enemies” and “Bolshevik agents.”38 Logically, Bandera 
felt that this obliged him to take over control of the OUN and “cleanse” it of “traitors” 
and “enemies.”39 

As indicated in chapter 1, the split of the OUN into OUN-B and OUN-M was the re-
sult of a disagreement between two generations. It was determined by the difference in 
experience and expectations of the two generations and by the nomination of Mel’nyk 
to the leadership of the OUN and the PUN at the Second Great Congress in Rome on 27 
August 1939, as a result of a will allegedly left behind by Konovalets’. The nomination 
of Mel’nyk for the position of leader was the sign for the younger generation to seize 
power in the organization. Mel’nyk did not have the authority of Konovalets’ and was 
less vigorous than him. In the 1930s he had worked as manager of Sheptyts’kyi’s 
estate and was barely known in the OUN. According to Knysh, some days after the 
beginning of Second World War, Ivan Harbusevych and Riko Iaryi, financial officer of 
the leadership in exile, had discussed the plan to take power in the OUN, with Ban-
dera, Shukhevych, Lebed’, and Stets’ko.40 After the split the OUN-B soon became much 
more powerful than the OUN-M, because its leaders had better connections to the 
OUN underground in eastern Galicia and Volhynia. The numerous young Ukrainians 
who had escaped to Cracow, after the German attack on the Soviet Union, decided to 
join the OUN-B.41 
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In terms of extreme nationalism, violence, fascism, and antisemitism, the two fac-
tions did not differ greatly from each other. During an interrogation in 1948, OUN-B 
member Volodymyr Porendovs’kyi stated that, at the time of the German invasion of 
Poland, the Ukrainian nationalists were “true fascists whose gods were Hitler, Musso-
lini, Dontsov, and similar personalities.”42 In an article published on 8 May 1939, the 
leading OUN-B member Stets’ko claimed that Jews were “nomads and parasites,” a 
nation of “swindlers, materialists, and egoists … devoid of heroism, and lacking an 
idea that could inspire them to sacrifice.” They were only interested in “personal 
profit” and were determined “to corrupt the heroic culture of warrior nations.” 
Stets’ko stated that Ukrainians had therefore separated themselves from the Jews 
centuries ago in order to achieve “the purity of their spirituality and culture.”43 

The split of the OUN into the OUN-B and OUN-M was also the next significant 
step in the rise of the political cult and myth of Stepan Bandera. The majority of OUN 
members, mainly young Ukrainians, joined the OUN-B faction. They were called Ban-
derites after their leader Bandera. The word was in use at least from late 1940 onward.44 
Members of the OUN-M were called Melnykites.45 This kind of identification with the 
leader of an organization or party was common in East Central European political and 
military movements. In Poland, for example, the adherents of Marshal Piłsudski were 
called piłsudczycy. A word derived from “Bandera” was used in several languages (Ukr. 
banderivtsi, Pol. banderowcy, Rus. banderovtsy, Ger. Bandera-Leute or Ban-
derowzi). The OUN-B members were not only called by others Banderites but also 
called themselves Banderites. The Ukrainian teacher Oleksandr Povshuk wrote in his 
diary on 5 October 1941: 

Now we have war. Our leadership split into two groups, Banderites and Melnykites, 
and each does harm to the other. The nation becomes split into two parts. 
Banderites—this is the OUN under the leadership of Stepan Bandera, and 
Melnykites—who have not defined themselves till now—under the leadership of 
Mel’nyk.46 

Although the term “Banderites” became popular only after the split of the OUN in 
1940, it had existed since the trials in Warsaw and Lviv at the latest. The NKVD agent 
Sierov used the term “Banderites” in his reports from 1940 to refer not only to the 
OUN-B in 1940 but also to those OUN members who had opposed Konovalets’ in 
1935, by whom Sierov meant the young generation in the OUN.47 In connection with 
the young OUN members, Stsibors’kyi used the term “bandery” in an article on 21 
June 1936 in Ukraїns’ke slovo about the defendants in the Warsaw and Lviv trials.48 
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Because the term “Banderites” was colloquial rather than official, and because of the 
violence employed by OUN-B, the term soon acquired a negative connotation, espe-
cially among Jews and Poles. OUN-B members used it less regularly than its victims 
or opponents did. 

After the split, the two factions fought against and vehemently discredited each 
other. In autumn 1940, the OUN-M published a “White Book of the OUN: About the 
Diversion-Revolt Bandera-Iaryi” in which it explained how Bandera, Iaryi, and Stets’ko 
illegally tried to seize power in the organization, and how Mel’nyk and other leading 
OUN-M members tried to prevent this, thereby protecting the organization against 
such vicious individuals with low morality as the authors of the “White Book” 
characterized the “rebels.”49 The editor of the “White Book” was Stsibors’kyi.50 

The OUN-B responded to this publication in May 1941. Stets’ko wrote a longer 
piece, entitled “Why the Purge in the OUN Was Necessary.” He legitimized the OUN-
B decision to split from the OUN, whose leadership, according to Stets’ko, was full of 
traitors, did not care about the organization, and was not able to organize a revolu-
tion. Stets’ko also protected Iaryi, whom the OUN-M called a “Mongolian Jewish cross-
breed” and a “Soviet agent.” The OUN-M claimed that the best proof for this was the 
fact that Iaryi was married to a Jewish woman. Furthermore, Stets’ko applied the same 
antisemitic strategy as the OUN-M to discredit Stsibors’kyi. He claimed that the 
author of the “White Book” was a traitor to the cause because he was married to a 
Jewish woman.51 In June or July 1941, in response to Stets’ko’s publication, the OUN-
M published “The Black Book of the Revolt: Iaryi-Bandera-Horbovyi.” The OUN-M 
depicted the OUN-B as “Bolshevik agents” who were preparing a “Marxist Jewish 
revolution.” It claimed that Iaryi “and his Jewish wife are living on our money.”52 

Stsibors’kyi, and other OUN-M members whom Bandera accused of betrayal or 
relationships with Jews, were murdered during the war, in all likelihood by the OUN-
B; Stsibors’kyi and Senyk on 30 August 1941 in Zhytomyr, Baranovs’kyi on 11 May 
1943 in Lviv.53 
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The Second Great Congress 
of the Ukrainian Nationalists (in Cracow) 

From 31 March to 3 April 1941 in Cracow, the OUN-B held the Second Great Congress 
of the Ukrainian Nationalists, at which it “legalized” itself and “delegalized” the OUN-
M. The OUN-B gave its congress exactly the same name as the older generation had 
called the congress on 27 August 1939 in Rome—the “Second Great Congress of the 
Ukrainian Nationalists.” The resolutions passed at the congress in Cracow were docu-
mented in the booklet “Resolutions of the Second Great Congress of the Organization of 
Ukrainian Nationalists.”54 The argument in the booklet in terms of the split resem-
bles very much the one in Bandera’s letter to Mel’nyk. It begins with the statement 
that “the factual control of the OUN abroad drifted, after the death of Colonel Ievhen 
Konovalets’, into the hands of people who harmed the OUN.” This was, for the 
authors of the booklet, a “danger for the Ukrainian National Movement.” It was 
therefore necessary to “cure the organization,” because Mel’nyk did not do so, and 
thereby not only “demonstrated a complete inability to lead the revolutionary move-
ment,” but also “openly took the side of traitors to and destroyers of the organization.”55 

With this in mind, the authors of the “Resolutions” booklet decided that “Colonel 
Mel’nyk became the leader of the OUN in an unlawful way” and the “Congress of Ukrai-
nian Nationalists that took place on 27 August 1939 did not correspond with the 
requirements of the principles of the OUN.”56 Furthermore, they claimed that the testa-
ment of the Leader (Vozhd’) Konovalets’, which nominated Mel’nyk to the leadership of 
the OUN, was an “invention of Iaroslav Baranovs’kyi” and that the act of 10 February 
1940, which established the Revolutionary Leadership of the OUN, was a “historical 
necessity.” This act and the Second Great Congress in 1941 rescued the organization 
from “opportunism and decomposition” and “the danger of decay of the Organization.” 
All members who took part in Mel’nyk’s activities against the Revolutionary Leadership 
were traitors who would be excluded from the OUN.57 Finally, the authors of the book-
let forbade Mel’nyk to carry out any actions under the name of the OUN and urged 
all nationalists to leave the OUN-M and join the “ranks of the revolutionary 
liberation movement of the OUN under the leadership of Stepan Bandera.”58 

The “Resolutions” also reveal important information as to how the OUN-B per-
ceived itself. In the first paragraph, the organizers of the congress in Cracow wrote: 
“the idea of an Independent United Ukrainian State became, in our century, the no-
tion of the new Ukrainian worldview and the new political movement, the nationalist 
movement, which, in the fire of the fight against the occupiers, took the shape of the 
political organization—the organization of Ukrainian Nationalists.”59 They were 
thereby pointing out that nationalism was the only tolerable Ukrainian political 
movement and that the OUN was the only Ukrainian organization to embody this 
movement. This approach to politics was an essential principle of fascist systems. It 
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stipulated that one nation can be governed only by one radical nationalist party, which 
is represented by only one person, who symbolizes the whole nation, for instance, the 
Führer in Germany, the Duce in Italy, and the Caudillo in Spain. In another document 
from this time, the OUN-B wrote: “Odyn narid, odyn provid, odna vlada,” a Ukrainian 
version of the concept of “One nation, one party, one leader” (Ein Volk, ein Reich, ein 
Führer).60 

In the second paragraph of the booklet, the authors introduced their own history. 
First, they referred to Mikhnovs’kyi as the father of the kind of nationalism that they 
would like to have in their state. The authors obviously did not state that Mikhnovs’kyi 
provided them with ideas such as “Do not marry a foreign woman, because your child-
ren will be your enemies,”61 just as they never referred to themselves as fascists or 
racists, always emphasizing the national, patriotic, local, and heroic side of their 
movement. They referred to Konovalets’, the UVO, and the First Congress of the Ukrai-
nian Nationalists in Vienna, and not to the Second Great Congress of the Ukrainian 
Nationalists in Rome.62 They introduced themselves as the “new generation of 
nationalist revolutionaries” who grew up in “enemy prisons and partisan forests” and 
“in the midst of successes and failures of the revolutionary struggle against the ene-
mies of Ukraine.”63 Nevertheless, they were honest enough to state that their struggle 
against the Soviet Union had been, due to outside factors, less successful than against 
Poland.64 But they denied that the tradition of Konovalets’ included any kind of col-
laboration with non-Ukrainian organizations or countries, and argued that the OUN 
“counted on the strengths of the Ukrainian nation and refused, in principle, orientation 
on foreign powers.”65 

Concerning the resolutions of the congress, the authors of the booklet wrote that 
“the struggle for the strength and the good of the Ukrainian nation is the basis of our 
worldview” and that “only on the path of revolutionary struggle against the invaders 
will the Ukrainian nation achieve its state.” In the part concerning the social order in 
the future OUN state, they claimed that the OUN struggles for “the equality of all 
Ukrainians in terms of rights and obligations toward the nation and the state.” The 
non-Ukrainians in the “Ukrainian territories,” where the OUN state would be estab-
lished, were not mentioned, but it is known from other documents that the OUN 
planned to expel or kill them.66 However, the authors specified that “the Ukrainian 
Nation and its State” would become “the owner of all ground and waters, under and 
over earth resources, industry, and communication roads.” They also regulated what 
belongs to whom: “The Ukrainian land is for Ukrainian peasants, the factories and 
plants for the Ukrainian workers, Ukrainian bread for the Ukrainian people.” They 
did not however explain in this official document what would happen to the 
hundreds of thousands of Jews, Poles, Russians, and many other non-Ukrainians, 
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who were owners of land and factories and conducted trade in Ukraine or ate 
“Ukrainian bread.”67 

Emulating the Nazis and other racist movements, the authors used the category 
of race. Exactly as in Nazi ideology, the OUN wanted to have a strong and healthy 
“Ukrainian race”: “The OUN struggles for a systematic organization of the national 
health by the Ukrainian state authority, and the growth and strength of the Ukrai-
nian race.” As in every proper völkisch state, the “Ukrainian race” should be protected 
by its organization “against the communist worldview, against internationalism and 
capitalism, and against all thoughts and structures that weaken the vital forces of the 
nation.” To establish this state, the OUN-B claimed to struggle “for a destruction of the 
slavery, for the decay of the Moscow prison of nations, for the decay of the entire com-
munist system” and “the freedom of all nations that are enslaved by Moscow and 
their right to life in their own state.” For this purpose, the OUN-B wanted to “unite all 
Ukrainians in one liberating front of the “Ukrainian National Revolution,” which could 
conduct a military uprising, achieve a Ukrainian state, and rule it.” In terms of tradi-
tion, it argued that it is “going to fight to realize the legacy of the Great Prophet of 
Ukraine Taras Shevchenko, following the revolutionary path of Konovalets.’”68 

Confident that it had the spirits of Bohdan Khmel’nyts’kyi, Taras Shevchenko, 
Mykola Mikhnovs’kyi, and Ievhen Konovalets’ on its side, the OUN-B wanted not only 
to found a state for the “Ukrainian race” but also to struggle for other “nations of East-
ern Europe and Asia enslaved by Moscow, for a new order on the ruins of the Moscow 
Empire, the USSR.” For this reason, the “Ukrainian National Revolution” was planned 
to take place not only in the “living space” of the “Ukrainian race.” The OUN-B also 
wanted to inspire a number of other “nations enslaved by Moscow” and involve them 
in the “liberation struggle” against the Soviet Union. This was to take place under the 
slogan: “Freedom for the Nations and the Individual!”69 

Because the OUN-B knew that it would be too weak to combat the Soviet Union 
alone, it wanted to ally itself with other similar movements. This idea goes back at 
least to Stsibors’kyi’s Natsiokratiia from 1935.70 The collaboration with radical right 
movements that were rooted in other republics of the USSR, and with states that were 
threatened by the USSR, was strategically very profitable for the Ukrainian national-
ists because it weakened their main enemy. The OUN-B was particularly interested in 
cooperation with “Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia, Finland, and Byelorussia.”71 When the 
Soviet Union would be defeated, the OUN-B expected other nations to establish right-
wing dictatorships in which, as in the OUN-B state, the particular movements would 
“take hold of … all parts of social life.”72 

Additionally, the authors gave assurances that they would combat and destroy all 
Ukrainian democratic parties and organizations, which they called “opportunistic.”73 
These parties were expected to disappear, just as the non-Ukrainian inhabitants of 
the “Ukrainian territories” were expected to vanish. The OUN-B hoped that some-
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thing similar would happen in other states involved, under the leadership of the 
OUN, in the revolutionary struggle against the Soviet Union.74 Therefore, the OUN 
planned to invent propaganda for Ukrainians and for all other “states enslaved and 
threatened by Moscow” that were expected to participate in the revolution.75 The 
OUN-B leadership hoped that its propaganda would “control all Ukrainian groups … 
in particular youth in the Red Army, and workers,” and “show the nations enslaved 
by Moscow common interests with Ukraine.”76 

The destruction of collective farms, the promise to provide the peasants with their 
own land, and the “alteration of the Bolshevik slavery economy into a free economy 
of the Ukrainian nation” were important arguments, which could mobilize the “Ukrai-
nian masses” for the revolution. They would also awaken in them the wish to live in a 
Ukrainian state, ruled by the OUN, with Bandera as Providnyk.77 These messages and 
lures, according to the authors of the booklet, were designed to reach the minds of the 
Ukrainian soldiers and soldiers from the “enslaved countries” who were serving in the 
Red Army, as well as the minds of peasants and factory workers, and to make them 
fight against the Soviet Union, on the side of the OUN-B and the Germans.78 

The authors of the booklet borrowed from Dmytro Dontsov—their main teacher of 
extreme nationalism, antisemitism, and hatred of Russia—two interrelated anti-
semitic concepts. The first was that “the Jews in the USSR are the main pillar of the 
Bolshevik regime, and the avant-garde of the Moscow imperialism in Ukraine.” The 
second stated that the OUN “combats Jews as a pillar of the Moscow-Bolshevik 
regime.”79 In the same paragraph of the “Resolutions” they denied the violent nature 
of Ukrainian nationalism and the fact that antisemitism was an integral element of 
this movement, while blaming the Soviet Union and Russia for the antisemitism in 
Ukraine and in the OUN: “The Moscow-Bolshevik government exploits the anti-
Jewish sentiments of the Ukrainian masses, in order to divert their attention from the 
real perpetrator of evil, and in order to channel them, in times of uprising, into 
pogroms of Jews.”80 

They similarly introduced a range of fascist principles and rituals, which became 
obligatory for all members of the movement, and which, after the establishment of the 
Ukrainian state, were to become obligatory for all citizens. The red-and-black flag, 
which symbolizes blood and soil (Ger. Blut und Boden), was one of them.81 These 
colors referred to the racist and proto-fascist German blood and soil ideology, which 
suggests the inseparability of a people (Rasse or Volk) and their “living space” (Leben-
sraum) as well as an attraction to the “soil,” which acquired spiritual and mythological 
connotations. Furthermore, the OUN-B employed the fascist salute of raising the right 
arm “slightly to the right, slightly above the peak of the head” while calling “Glory to 
Ukraine!” (Slava Ukraїni!), the response to which was “Glory to the Heroes!” 
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(Heroiam Slava!).82 The greeting “Glory to the Leader!” (Vozhdevi Slava!) had 
already been applied to Mel’nyk since the earlier Second Great Congress of the OUN in 
Rome.83 

Obligatory holidays were also proclaimed: Unification Day on 22 January, the Day 
of the Revolutionary Heroes on 23 March, and the Day of Struggle on 31 August.84 The 
Führerprinzip was established on the notion of a Providnyk and not a Vozhd’ because 
the term “Vozhd’” had been reserved for Mel’nyk, since the congress in Rome.85 At the 
congress in Cracow, Stepan Bandera, leader of the Banderites, was naturally and 
unanimously chosen to be the Providnyk of the OUN.86 According to Danylo Shumuk, 
it was Myron Orlyk who proposed Bandera as Providnyk at the Cracow congress in 
March–April 1941.87 The OUN-B in Ukraine, under the leadership of Lopatyns’kyi’s 
follower Ivan Klymiv, were not informed that the leadership had decided to use the 
sole title of Providnyk in relation to Bandera. During the “Ukrainian National Revolu-
tion” the OUN-B would print and display posters with Bandera titled as a Vozhd’.88 

The young OUN-B members who officially elected Bandera as leader of the OUN-
B—and thus of the future Ukrainian state they planned to establish—perceived him 
as a charismatic personality. However, this should not suggest that Bandera was a 
charismatic person in himself. It was rather the expectation of the “charismatic 
movement” or a “charismatic community” that perceived Bandera as a charismatic 
leader or that charismatized him. One should not however overlook Bandera’s ora-
torical abilities. OUN member Mykhailo Bilan, who met Bandera a few times in Eng-
land in the 1950s, confessed in an interview that Bandera “could hypnotize a man. 
Everything that he said was interesting. You could not stop listening to him.”89 

The OUN-B’s fascistization and positive attitude to Nazi Germany in 1940 and the 
first half of 1941 was very much affected by the proclamation of a Slovak state in March 
1939, and a Croatian state in April 1941. Both states were led by organizations similar 
to the OUN: Hlinka’s Slovak People’s Party (Hlinkova slovenská ľudová strana, HSLS 
or Hlinka’s Party) and the Croatian Revolutionary Organization (Hrvatska revolu-
cionarna organizacija, HRO), known as the Ustaša. Kost’ Pan’kivs’kyi, a contempo-
rary observer of the OUN, commented in retrospect: “Of all the ‘independent’ nations, 
the fate of the Slovaks and Croatians was closest to ours. And we thought at that time 
that they were in a much better position, because both Hitler and Mussolini not only 
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‘recognized,’ but—to tell the truth—granted them ‘independence.’ Neither the first 
nor the second could achieve it by their own strengths.”90 

After the Ustaša proclaimed the Independent State of Croatia (Nezavisna Država 
Hrvatska, NDH) on 10 April 1941, the leadership of the OUN-B in Cracow was very 
excited. It immediately sent a telegram of congratulations to Pavelić, the Croatian 
Poglavnik. The OUN-B politicians understood it as evidence that it might be possible 
to proclaim and establish a Ukrainian state. They believed or hoped that the “New 
Europe”—under the aegis of Nazi Germany—would need an independent Ukraine, 
just as it needed an independent Croatia and Slovakia.91 

Practical Preparations for the “Ukrainian National Revolution” 

The closer the German attack against the Soviet Union approached, the more specific 
were the OUN-B’s plans for the establishment of a Ukrainian state. The Ukrainian 
state was planned to come into being as a result of the “Ukrainian National Revolu-
tion,” under the leadership of the OUN-B. In May 1941, as part of the preparation for 
the revolution, the OUN-B completed a very important document called “The Strug-
gle and Activities of the OUN in Wartime,” further referred to here as “Struggle and 
Activities,” on which OUN-B leaders Bandera, Lenkavs’kyi, Shukhevych, and Stets’ko 
had been working for several weeks.92 The document was intended to provide the 
revolutionaries with orientation and specific information concerning the develop-
ment of the revolution. According to the document, the OUN-B planned to use a 
“favorable situation” of a “war between Moscow and other states,” in order to con-
duct the revolution, to which the OUN-B sought to mobilize the whole Ukrainian 
nation.93 The goal of the revolution was to establish the “totalitarian power of the 
Ukrainian nation in the Ukrainian territories,” which would need a “strong political 
and military organization in all Ukrainian territories,” that is to say the OUN-B.94 

A huge challenge for the OUN-B revolution and state were the minorities. The 
authors of “Struggle and Activities” divided them into: “a) our friends, i.e. the mem-
bers of the enslaved nations [and] b) our enemies, Muscovites, Poles, and Jews.” 
Since the first group was expected to help the OUN conduct the revolution against 
the Soviet Union, they were to “have the same rights as Ukrainians” in the future 
Ukrainian OUN-B state. The second group would be “destroyed in the struggle, in 
particular those who protect the regime” of their country. This corresponded with the 
principle: “Our power should be horrible for its opponents. Terror for enemy aliens 
and our traitors.”95 There was to be no mercy for Ukrainians who disagreed with the 
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politics of the OUN-B. The Ukrainian people would have to understand that the 
OUN-B was the only power in Ukraine. To convince the masses of this, OUN-B 
members tried to frighten the resistant parts of the nation by assuring them that they 
would be punished.96 

After the start of the revolution, revolutionaries coming to Ukraine from the Gen-
eral Government were intended to get in touch with the OUN underground and to 
take control of radio stations for the purpose of mobilizing the masses.97 A very 
important point contained in “Struggle and Activities” was to concentrate on the 
ideological, propagandistic, and theatrical parts, and not to waste energy fighting, 
which should be limited to fighting for such crucial points as radio stations or indus-
trial areas.98 If possible, the OUN was not to fight against the Red Army99 or NKVD 
units100 and was to actively prevent all Ukrainians from doing so,101 probably because 
the OUN-B expected the Germans to do it for them. Using the political vacuum, that 
would follow the withdrawal of the Soviet authorities, was, for the OUN-B, more 
important than warfare. While taking advantage of the political vacuum, the OUN-B 
would establish the organs of the state. The officials of the state and ordinary citizens 
would welcome the incoming German army and express a wish to collaborate with 
Nazi Germany: 

We treat the coming German army as the army of allies. We try before their 
coming to put life in order, on our own as it should be. We inform them that the 
Ukrainian authority is already established, it is under the control of the OUN 
under the leadership of Stepan Bandera; all matters are regulated by the OUN, 
and the local authorities are ready to establish friendly relations with the army, in 
order to fight together against Moscow and collaborate [with Nazi Germany].102 

When greeting the arriving German troops, OUN members were to inform them 
that they had already cleared the terrain of Soviet troops and were ready for further 
struggle, alongside the Germans, against the Soviet Union.103 Since the Jews, accord-
ing to the resolution of the Second Great Congress, were the “main pillar of the Bol-
shevik regime, and the avant-garde of Russian imperialism in Ukraine,” they were, 
for the OUN-B activists, as for the Germans, synonymous with agents of the Soviet 
Union.104 In 1941, the stereotype of “Jewish Bolshevism” was prevalent in the OUN-
B. Jews blurred with “Soviets” in the minds of the Ukrainian nationalists and, like 
the “Soviet occupiers,” were to be removed from the “Ukrainian territories.” 
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While taking over power and establishing a dictatorial regime, the OUN-B were to 
nominate new officials as village, city, and town presidents, administration staff, 
militiamen, and so forth. All these officials were obliged to swear an oath to Stepan 
Bandera.105 All important posts were to remain in the hands of OUN members.106 

Another important aim of the revolutionary propaganda was to convince the 
Ukrainian people that the proclamation or the “rebirth” of the state was real and was 
a very important act. For this purpose, OUN-B-members were to organize meetings 
in all possible villages, towns, and cities, and read out their manifesto about the 
“renewal of the Ukrainian state.”107 The standardized text of this manifesto was: 

In the name of all Ukraine, the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists under the 
leadership of Stepan Bandera proclaims the Ukrainian state, for which entire 
generations of the best sons of Ukraine have given their lives. The Organization of 
Ukrainian Nationalists, which, under the leadership of its Creator and Leader 
Ievhen Konovalets’ conducted an intense struggle for freedom in the last decades 
of Muscovite-Bolshevik oppression, calls upon the whole Ukrainian nation not to 
lay down its arms until there is sovereign Ukrainian authority over all Ukrainian 
lands. 

Sovereign Ukrainian authority will guarantee the Ukrainian people law and 
order, the universal development of all its forces, and the satisfaction of all its 
needs.108 

All the people gathered, including women and children, were to commit them-
selves to the leadership of Stepan Bandera, and to swear an oath of loyalty to the 
Ukrainian state. They were expected to swear that they would serve the Ukrainian 
state with their lives, defending it to the last drop of their blood. At the end of the 
proclamation, every Ukrainian fit for service was to be inducted into the “Ukrainian 
National Army,” and mobilized for immediate deployment in the area.109 

One task of the recruited militiamen and soldiers, who had already sworn an oath 
to Bandera, was to take “disturbing persons” and survivals from the enemy side 
(marodery, nedobytky) from their place of residence to a “hidden and inaccessible 
place (forests, mountains etc.), where particular liquidation actions” were to be con-
ducted.110 The OUN-B members, and in particular the OUN-B militiamen were 
advised to follow the rule: “During the time of chaos and confusion, it is permissible 
to liquidate undesirable Polish, Muscovite [Russian or Soviet], and Jewish activ-
ists.”111 Moreover, the Ukrainian insurgents were obliged to compile blacklists with 
personal data of “all important Poles … NKVD people, informers, provocateurs … all 
important Ukrainians who, in the critical time, would try to make ‘their politics’ and 
thereby threaten the decisive mind-set of the Ukrainian nation.”112 
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The part of the document concerning the Security Service (Sluzhba Bezpeky, SB) 
of the OUN-B was also unambiguous about what to do with non-Ukrainians: 

We have to remember that these existing elements have to be, as the main pillar 
of the NKVD and the Soviet authority in Ukraine, exterminated while [we are] 
establishing the new revolutionary order in Ukraine. These elements are: 

1. Muscovites [Moskali], sent to the Ukrainian territories in order to streng-
then the Moscow power in Ukraine. 

2. Jews [Zhydy], as individuals as well as a national group. 
3. Aliens [Chuzhyntsi], especially various Asians with whom Moscow colo-

nized Ukraine … 
4. Poles [Poliaky] in the western Ukrainian territories, who have not ceased 

dreaming about the reconstruction of a Greater Poland.113 

The OUN-B used similar standards to define the “enemies of the Ukrainian 
nation” in the eastern Ukrainian collective farms. In this regard, the OUN-B classi-
fied as enemies “all the strangers who came to the collectives to oversee the exploita-
tion of the collectivized villages,” “Jews, working in the collectives, as the implemen-
ters of Bolshevik power,” “all the representatives of the Bolshevik power,” and 
informers.114 

During the revolution, however, the crucial role of destroying the enemies of the 
OUN and establishing the new authority was to be played, not by the SB, but by the 
National Militia (Narodnia Militsiia). All men between the ages of eighteen and fifty 
and capable of bearing arms were to be included in the militia.115 Because the OUN-B 
had no uniforms for the militia, every militiaman was to wear either a yellow-and-
blue armband, or a white armband with the inscription “National Militia.”116 The 
leader of a militia unit should be a “known nationalist,” loyal to the OUN-B.117 The 
building in which the militia station would be established was to have a yellow-and-
blue Ukrainian flag on it.118 For the purpose of establishing the militia, the OUN-B 
was wary of “provincial cities that are inhabited with foreign-national elements.” In 
such cases, the Ukrainian militiamen were to be recruited from adjacent villages.119 
The Ukrainian militiamen from villages were expected to establish “order [lad i 
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poriadok]” in the cities and to “cleanse” them of “Soviet intelligence, counter-
insurgency, etc. officials, Muscovites, Jews, and others.”120 

The act of registering all Jews by the militia was related to the plan to exterminate 
or remove them from Ukraine after establishing the state. In view of the number of 
Jews in the Ukrainian territories, this could happen only step by step.121 During the 
first phase of the revolution, the registration would simplify the act of detaining the 
Jews in concentration camps together with “asocial elements and wounded.”122 Citi-
zens of the OUN-B state were expected to provide the militia with information about 
“Red Army soldiers, NKVD men, Jews [zhydiv (evreïv)], and informers—in short, 
everyone who does not belong to the village community.”123 

Propaganda would also play an important role during the revolution because, as 
the authors of the text knew, it could mobilize the masses to revolutionary action. 
The OUN-B activists were obliged to employ all kinds of propaganda, from spreading 
rumors to singing revolutionary songs, printing and distributing booklets and news-
papers, and broadcasting “national revolutionary” propaganda by radio.124 The main 
content of the propaganda was the “renewal” of the Ukrainian state by the OUN-B, 
and the necessary war against the “Muscovite-Jews” and other enemies of the Ukrai-
nians.125 Very popular was the slogan “Kill the enemies among you—Jews and 
informers.”126 

Slogans that the OUN-B leadership invented for the Ukrainian soldiers in the Red 
Army contained many antisemitic and nationalist expressions. To motivate the sol-
diers to change sides, the inventors of the slogans frequently used the stereotype of 
“Jewish Bolshevism.” Some of them were: “Death to Muscovite-Jewish Commu-
nism!” “Stalin’s and Jewish Commissars—the First Enemy of the Nation!” “Marx-
ism—a Jewish Creation!” “Muscovite-Jewish Communism—the Enemy of the 
Nation!” “Without the Muscovite-Jewish Commune Everyone Will Be an Owner,” 
“Kill the Enemies among You, the Jews and Informers!” In addition to antisemitic 
slogans, the OUN-B invented numerous radical nationalist, populist, and racist ones, 
such as “Ukraine for Ukrainians!” “In the Ukrainian Territory—Ukrainian Rule!” 
“Ukrainian Property into Ukrainian Hands,” “Death to the Exploiters of Ukraine!” “It 
is Better to Destroy National Property than to Give it to the Muscovite Stealers!” 
“Ukrainian Bread and Gold Only for Ukrainians!” “With the Nation—Against the 
Enemies of the Nation.”127 The slogans from “Struggle and Activities” appeared, 
among others, in the leaflets prepared for the “Ukrainian National Revolution.” The 
illustrations in these leaflets mixed nationalism with antisemitism (Figs. 11–12). 
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Fig. 11. OUN-B leaflet, 1941, TsDAVOV f. 3822, op. 1, spr. 63, 219. 

The Ukrainian nationalist anxiety about the cities—and the belief that they had 
nothing in common with the Ukrainian culture that was deeply ingrained in the vil-
lages—manifested itself in slogans such as “Peasant Ukraine Conquers Cities and 
Kills the Enemies of Ukraine.”128 The OUN leaders planned to mobilize the Ukrainian 
villages against the cosmopolitan cities in which, according to the authors of “Strug-
gle and Activities,” most of the foes of the Ukrainians lived.129 

Spreading rumors about the death of Stalin or the start of a revolution in Moscow 
was also intended to become an important activity of OUN-B activists during the 
“Ukrainian National Revolution,”130 as were putting up yellow-and-blue and red-and-
black flags at every administrative building, painting tridents in black on buildings, 
printing posters, hanging them in public spaces, prompting the population to par-
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ticipate in parades, greeting OUN-B members from the area of the General Govern-
ment, cheering and greeting the German troops in the name of the Leader Stepan 
Bandera, organizing propagandist funerals for dead revolutionaries, and so on.131 In 
addition, the OUN-B revolutionaries were to motivate the population to refuse to 
help wounded enemies. They were also expected to inform everybody in the revolu-
tionary territories that there would be no mercy for those who did not follow the 
rules and orders of the OUN.132 

The text of “Struggle and Activities” also contains detailed information as to how 
the leaders of the OUN-B imagined ruling the Ukrainian state. A necessary precondi-
tion for establishing state institutions was a political and ethnic “cleansing.” Once 
OUN territory was “cleansed” of “hostile elements,” then “militia, paramilitary 
organizations, stable military units, and all other institutions that are necessary for 
normal life … will be established.”133 Bandera and other authors of the document 
took as the starting point for their political plans the principle “The power of the 
Nation—entirely in the ORGANIZATION.”134 As in the resolutions of the Second 
Great Congress of the Ukrainian Nationalists in Cracow, they thereby equated the 
state and the nation with the organization: 

In the Ukrainian State, the OUN should become the only political organization of 
the Ukrainian nation. All who want to work for the good of the Ukrainian nation 
and remain in the realm of legality which the OUN applies to its members—
should join the OUN.135 

In other words, “The Ukrainian Nation is the OUN—the OUN is the Ukrainian 
Nation! All people under the banner of the OUN!”136 

Bandera and other authors of “Struggle and Activities” were concerned about 
eastern Ukrainians, who, they assumed, did not know the OUN.137 On the one hand, 
the authors stated that they could subordinate themselves to an eastern Ukrainian 
“independent center”—if such a political body would emerge and consolidate power 
in eastern and central Ukraine.138 On the other, they wanted to implement a “one-
party system” in eastern Ukraine, which would force eastern Ukrainian organizations 
and parties to subordinate themselves to the OUN. The young Ukrainian radical 
nationalist revolutionaries felt that it was their responsibility to introduce the “one-
party system,” because the “multi-party system … demonstrated its harmfulness in 
Ukraine and in other countries. Therefore, the OUN rejects and combats this 
system.” As in every authoritarian state, not the “principle of parties but one of 
authority” should be applied: “the Head of the Ukrainian State should be a person 
who has the authority and the trust of the whole nation.” The members of the nation 
would be educated by the organization to love and admire the Providnyk: “The  
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Fig. 12. OUN-B leaflet, 1941, PAAA, R 105191. 

Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists takes over the task of controlling Ukrainian 
political thought, the education and training of the leading cadres, and the 
upbringing of the whole nation.”139 

 “Struggle and Activities” also emphasized the “upbringing and organization of 
the entire student, worker, and peasant youth.”140 Although the authors occasionally 
mentioned non-military organizations, the establishment of military and para-
military formations was to have the highest priority in the OUN-B state.141 The OUN-
B wanted to recruit its new members and the future citizens of the state with the help 
of the youth organization Iunatstvo, which would take care of every child from the 
age of six. At that age, children would join the Virliata; at the age of ten the Stepovi 
Orly; at fourteen Plastuny; at eighteen Zaporozhtsi. At the age of twenty-one, after 
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fifteen years of nationalist brainwashing and paramilitary training, they would be 
ready to join the OUN. For those young Ukrainians who decided not to join the OUN, 
it had other paramilitary, sport, and cultural organizations, all controlled by the 
OUN.142 This system would allow the OUN to reproduce itself during future genera-
tions. The OUN would thereby control the Ukrainian state, not only during the 
lifetime of their revolutionary leaders but as long as it educated and disciplined 
Ukrainian youth and recruited its future cadres. This political situation would ideally 
endure for the unlimited future, especially if the OUN reached the point at which 
every citizen of the Ukrainian state would be a member. The boundary between 
Ukrainian society and the OUN would blur and society would consist only of 
“FIGHTERS AND FANATICS.”143 

In the Ukrainian state controlled by the OUN-B, one of the main tasks of the 
court system would be to punish “not only enemies, traitors of the nation, but also all 
thieves of government property, speculators etc., with death.”144 Generally, however, 
leaders of the OUN-B did not want to replace the Soviet justice system with a more 
democratic one. It was easier and more effective for them to replace the term “class” 
with “nation” and retain the Soviet system: 

Because the existing [Soviet] law was written from the perspective of class strug-
gle, of destroying the class enemy and exterminating Ukrainians as a nation, it 
may be possible to replace the terms and to use all these [methods], all these 
shootings and the Cheka against the enemies for everything that harms 
Ukraine.145 

The OUN-B further planned to restore the Church and to use it in building the 
state. Freedom of speech would be “permitted as long as it corresponds with the good 
of the state,” which would mean that it did not hurt the good name of the OUN. In 
particular, the “newspapers ... radio, theatre, films etc. ... can be only nationalistic. ... 
All popular publications in which nationalistic ideas and slogans are not popularized 
have to be forbidden.” In the schools the “teaching should be only about liberation, 
revolution, the history of Ukraine ... the true Ukraine, Her Heroes, the dignity of the 
man, the OUN.”146 

In addition to preparing the revolution on paper and developing plans for the 
future Ukrainian state, the OUN-B also made a range of preparations with the 
Abwehr in the General Government, and in Soviet western Ukraine where it con-
trolled the nationalist underground. In the General Government, the OUN-B collabo-
rated with such Abwehr officers as Wilhelm Canaris,147 Theodor Oberländer,148 Hans 
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Koch,149 and Alfred Bisanz.150 The Abwehr provided the OUN-B with resources to 
train and arm its members in the General Government and in the underground in 
Ukraine. The Germans expected the latter to attack the Soviet army from the rear, 
after the beginning of Barbarossa.151 Further, the military collaboration resulted in, 
among other things, the formation of the Abwehr battalions, Nachtigall with 350 
soldiers, and Roland with 330. Both were made up of Ukrainian soldiers, led by Ger-
man and Ukrainian officers. The Ukrainians called the battalions Brotherhoods of 
Ukrainian Nationalists (Druzhyny Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv).152 The OUN-B also 
provided an espionage service for the Abwehr, using its organizational structure in 
western Ukraine and working as soldiers, spies, and translators in the Abwehr.153 The 
OUN-B was associated with the Security Police School in Zakopane, at which Ukrai-
nian policemen and the Security Service, or SB (Sluzhba Bezpeky) of the OUN-B, 
were trained. The OUN-B was also associated with other police academies in Cracow, 
Chełm, and Rabka, at which Ukrainian police forces were recruited.154 

Those OUN-B-members who did not join the Nachtigall and Roland battalions 
received military training for three or four months at the Ievhen Konovalets’ military 
school in Cracow and were engaged in the task forces (pokhidni hrupy).155 These 
units most likely included 800 OUN-B members.156 The task forces consisted of small 
groups, whose role was to follow the German army and, together with OUN members 
from the underground, to organize the administration in the liberated territories and 
to familiarize the local communities with OUN-B-propaganda. Month-long military 
courses were also organized by the Abwehr in the General Government for OUN 
members who came from eastern Galicia and Volhynia, which had been absorbed 
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into Soviet Ukraine. After a course they would return to Ukraine and remained there 
in the underground. Because the OUN members from Soviet Ukraine tried to cross 
the German-Soviet border in large and armed groups, many of them were detected 
and killed by the Soviet border guards. Soviet documents speak about the detection 
of thirty-eight groups, a total of 486 people.157 

The underground OUN-B forces in Ukraine were more numerous than in the 
General Government. According to Ivan Klymiv’s estimate, prepared for OUN-B 
leaders close to the start of the revolution, these forces numbered about 20,000 
members in 3,300 locations.158 Of these members, 5,000 were in Volhynia, 13,000 in 
eastern Galicia, and 1,200 in Lviv.159 In addition, the OUN-B youth group Iunatstvo 
counted 7,000 members in the underground in April 1941, and an unknown group of 
sympathizers.160 

The OUN had an average of six members in each locality, and substantially more 
in Lviv than in any other city. All in all, this was enough to mobilize the population 
for the “Ukrainian National Revolution,” to seize power in many of the western 
Ukrainian localities, and to motivate the population to ethnic and political violence. 
In eastern Ukraine the structure of the OUN-B ranged from weak to non-existent. In 
early May 1941, Bandera’s courier brought Klymiv ten copies of “Struggle and Activi-
ties.” This document provided Klymiv and other leading OUN-B members in eastern 
Galicia and Volhynia with a set of detailed and comprehensive directives for the 
coming uprising.161 Klymiv finished nominating candidates for the regional revolu-
tionary administrations (Oblasni Ukraїns’ki Natsional’ni Revoliutsiini Provody) and 
the district revolutionary administrations (Raionni Ukraїns’ki Natsional’ni Revoli-
utsiini Provody) as early as 20 March 1941.162 On 7 June 1941, Bandera’s courier 
informed Klymiv exactly when the German invasion of the USSR would begin.163 

Shortly before OUN-B member Bohdan Kazanivs’kyi left for Ukraine, he met with 
Bandera in the General Government. Kazanivs’kyi noticed that his superior pos-
sessed the aura of the Ukrainian Providnyk, and that he was a living propaganda 
weapon: 

There was no solace in his [Bandera’s] words and no promises of a comfortable 
life in the underground. ... Although the outlook was not rosy, the order of the 
Leader [Providnyk] was holy for us, and we were prepared to walk into a fire for 
the great idea of liberating Ukraine. The words of the Leader [Providnyk]: “I 
believe you will not disappoint my expectations toward you!” were for us a sign 
and enabled us later to hold out a lot.164 

Kazanivs’kyi remembered that he was never before in his life as impressed by 
someone as he was in that moment by the Providnyk. Another OUN-B member Luka 
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Pavlyshyn noticed at about the same time that even the high-ranking OUN-B mem-
ber Riko Iaryi addressed Bandera as “Vozhd’” and did not dare to sit next to him 
while talking to him. According to Pavlyshyn, Iaryi once said to Bandera: 

We need to create a strong and disciplined national organization that would “keep 
Ukraine in its hands.” ... Ukrainians are inherently anarchists, prone to Cossack 
freedom [vol’nytsia], and with such people you cannot build an independent 
nation. We need an “authoritarian leader [avtorytarnyi vozhd’]” and self-sacri-
ficing “executors of the leader’s will.”165 

Bandera was pleased with the idea that the German attack on the Soviet Union 
might allow the OUN-B to create a Ukrainian state and thus enable him to become its 
leader. In conversation with other OUN-B members at that time, he expressed the 
idea that “war is the continuation of politics by other means.”166 

During the period when the OUN-B was preparing for the “Ukrainian National 
Revolution,” western Ukraine was exposed for twenty-one months to Sovietization 
on all cultural, political, and social levels. The Soviet power legitimized its occupation 
with the idea that western Ukraine had been liberated from Polish occupation. The 
Soviet authorities established a congress of the people and, with the help of fake 
elections held on 22 October 1939, unified western Ukraine with the Ukrainian 
SSR.167 Soviet politicians thereby achieved what the Ukrainian nationalists called 
sobornist’ (unification) and had failed to achieve from the very beginning of their 
existence. The Soviet authorities replaced numerous Polish and Catholic emblems in 
schools and offices, such as the portraits of Piłsudski, and crucifixes, with portraits of 
Lenin and Stalin. Ukrainian nationalists hated the new portraits no less than the 
previous ones.168 

Soviet politics were class oriented but class was interlinked with ethnicity. The 
Sovietization of western Ukraine was accompanied by Ukrainization. After Septem-
ber 1939, Ukrainian became the official language at Lviv University. The number of 
Ukrainian and Jewish students and Ukrainian professors increased and the number 
of Polish students and professors declined. Newcomers from Soviet Ukraine, local 
Ukrainians and Jews, and Jews who had fled from German-occupied territory 
replaced Poles in administration and other profitable positions. In 1940, the Lviv city 
soviet counted 476 members, including 252 Ukrainians, 121 Poles, seventy-six Jews, 
and twenty-seven members of other nationalities.169 

Sovietization relied on terror and repression, directed against various social, 
political, economic, and ethnic groups, such as the former Polish political elite, 
Polish military settlers, Jewish refugees from Polish territories occupied by the Ger-
mans, Jewish Bundists and Zionists, and Polish and Ukrainian nationalists.170 As a 
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result of three major deportations into the interior of the USSR in 1940, and one in 
1941, between 309,000 and 327,000 people were deported in freight cars from the 
eastern parts of the previous territory of the Second Republic. Of those, at least 
140,000 were deported from eastern Galicia, including 95,000 permanent inhabi-
tants of eastern Galicia (80 percent Poles, 10 to 15 percent Ukrainians, and 5 to 10 
percent Jews), and 45,000 Jewish refugees from central or western Poland. In addi-
tion, the Soviet authorities arrested between 45,000 and 50,000 people in eastern 
Galicia.171 After arrest, many of them were tortured during their investigation, some-
times until they lost consciousness.172 Eastern Ukrainians, on the other hand, had 
experienced the harshness of the Soviet policies already before. In 1932‒1933 they 
suffered under the artificial famine, and in 1937‒1938 many were killed during the 
Great Terror.173 

After the attack by Nazi Germany on the Soviet Union on 22 June 1941, the NKVD 
carried out further mass arrests of political opponents in western Ukraine. Because 
the German army was moving fast, the Soviet authorities could not evacuate these 
prisoners and decided to kill them. According to Soviet documents, 8,789 prisoners 
were executed in the Ukrainian SSR,174 2,800 of these in Lviv.175 The order to execute 
them was issued by Lavrentii Beriia, the chief of the People’s Commissariat for 
Internal Affairs (Narodnyi komissariat vnutrennikh del, NKVD).176 On the morning 
of 24 June 1941, the NKVD chief in Lviv received it in the form of a radio telegram 
from Nikita Khrushchev, the first secretary of the Communist Party of Ukraine.177  

The Ukrainian nationalists, in particular the OUN, were an important enemy of 
the Soviet Union. In western Ukraine, the policies of the Soviet authorities forced the 
Ukrainian nationalists to become an underground movement. Between October 1939 
and December 1940 alone, the Soviet authorities arrested 4,435 nationalists, killed 
352 of them, and confiscated hundreds of rifles, which had belonged to the national-
ists. In order to frighten the Ukrainian population and to discourage it from sup-
porting the OUN, the Soviet authorities organized trials of OUN members. In the 
first trial, which was held in November 1940, ten of the eleven OUN members who 
were tried, among them leaders from the homeland executive, were sentenced to 
death and executed. In January 1941 in Lviv, forty-two nationalists, out of fifty-nine 
on trial, were sentenced to death. Among them were eleven women. Of the forty-two 
sentenced to death, twenty were actually executed. The remainder were sent to Gu-
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lag. Among those sent to the Gulag was Dmytro Kliachkivs’kyi, who would play a very 
significant role in 1943 in preparing and conducting the ethnic cleansing against 
Poles in Volhynia. In Drohobych, sixty-two people were brought to trial, of whom 
twenty were executed. On another occasion in Drohobych, thirty-nine people were 
brought to trial.178 

The Soviet terror also affected the Bandera family. On 23 March 1941, the Soviet 
police arrested Stepan’s father Andrii and his daughters Marta and Oksana, either 
simply because they were related to Stepan Bandera or because OUN member Stef-
anyshyn, who was wanted by the Soviet authorities, was hiding in the house. The 
Soviet regime had detailed information about Bandera’s father from the NKVD agent 
“Ukrainets,” who spied on the OUN-B in the General Government. Andrii Bandera 
was placed in a prison in Stanislaviv for five days and then transported to a prison in 
Kiev, where a military tribunal sentenced him to death on 8 July 1941. He was shot 
two days later. Marta and Oksana were deported to Siberia.179 

In the final weeks before the German attack on the Soviet Union, there was no 
consensus amongst Ukrainian politicians in the General Government concerning the 
possible creation of a Ukrainian state. Hitler and other leading German politicians 
did not permit the OUN-B or any other Ukrainian group to establish a state in the 
territories which would be released from the Soviet occupation. The Abwehr might 
have discussed such political issues with the OUN-B or the OUN-M but it was not 
empowered to allow such plans. In a document concerning the activities of the 
Ukrainian politicians from 21 June 1941, the Gestapo (Geheime Staatspolizei, Secret 
State Police) noticed that the Ukrainian emigrants in the General Government tried 
to unite themselves and to establish a council which could become the basis for a 
future Ukrainian government. Ukrainian emigrants were, however, according to the 
Germans, divided into at least two camps: one around Volodymyr Kubiiovych, the 
head of the UTsK, who leaned toward the views of Mel’nyk and the OUN-M, and one 
surrounding Bandera. The Germans considered Kubiiovych to be more loyal to them 
and thus more appropriate for a Ukrainian leader, but Kubiiovych considered 
Mel’nyk to be the right personality for a Ukrainian leader. Regarding Bandera, they 
did not know if he would accept German superiority. In order to avoid political 
complications in the territories that they would occupy after 22 June 1941, the 
Gestapo took measures to prevent the departure of the leading Ukrainian politicians 
from the General Government to the “newly occupied territories” and forbade some 
of them including Bandera to go there.180 
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The “Ukrainian National Revolution” 

The “Ukrainian National Revolution” began simultaneously with Operation Barba-
rossa, in the early hours of 22 June 1941, when Nazi Germany—supported by troops 
from Finland, Hungary, Italy, Romania, and Slovakia—attacked the Soviet Union. 
About 800 OUN-B activists in four task forces, which were divided into groups of five 
to twelve members, followed the German army eastward through the Ukrainian 
territories. Bandera did not go to Ukraine but stayed in the General Government, 
close to the border of the “newly occupied territories,” and, with the help of couriers, 
coordinated the activities of the task forces.181 The alleged 20,000 OUN-B activists 
who had remained underground in western Ukraine began to seize power, together 
with the activists from the task forces, just as “Struggle and Activities” had instructed 
them. Klymiv, who called himself the commander-in-chief of the Ukrainian National 
Revolutionary Army, also acted according to the directives elaborated by Bandera, 
Lenkavs’kyi, Shukhevych, and Stets’ko in “Struggle and Activities.” One of the orders 
issued by Klymiv, shortly before or after the German attack on the Soviet Union said, 
“I am introducing mass (family and national) responsibility for all offences against the 
Ukrainian State, the Ukrainian Army, and the OUN.” Given the OUN-B understanding 
of “offences against the Ukrainian State” at that time, this and similar orders must be 
interpreted as direct incitements to ethnic and political violence, which, during the 
“Ukrainian National Revolution,” took mainly the shape of anti-Jewish pogroms.182 

After 22 June 1941, the OUN-B activists sporadically harassed the withdrawing 
Soviet forces, shooting at them from ambush, for example in Lviv on 25 June.183 
More frequently however, they waited until the Soviet soldiers had left, and they then 
took control. They organized meetings, at which they familiarized the local popula-
tion with their aims and proclaimed statehood, reading the proclamation and making 
the assembled population swear an oath of loyalty to the Ukrainian state and the 
Providnyk, Stepan Bandera.184 They carried with them portraits of Stepan Bandera 
and distributed them among Ukrainians during the propaganda meetings.185 

While organizing the administration of the state, the OUN-B activists also orga-
nized units of the Ukrainian National Militia, which were to protect the established 
administrative organs and to kill the “undesirable Polish, Muscovite [Russian or 
Soviet], and Jewish activists” who were on the blacklists compiled before the out-
break of the “revolution.”186 Like Operation Barbarossa, the “Ukrainian National 
Revolution” soon became an event of mass violence, in particular anti-Jewish 
violence. To incite the population to engage in pogroms, German soldiers and OUN-
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B activists used the bodies of prisoners killed by the NKVD units and left in the 
prison cells or buried in mass graves next to the prison buildings. The local Jews 
were held responsible for the NKVD massacres. The organization of the state and the 
pogroms overlapped. On the way to Lviv in a task force on 25 June 1941, Iaroslav 
Stets’ko, strongly antisemitic at the time of the revolution, wrote to Stepan Bandera 
from the village of Mlyny: “We are setting up a militia that will help to remove the 
Jews and protect the population,” and continued “Father Lev Sohor has already 
organized a militia and has a written mandate from the OUN for this, and the village 
has accepted this. So have them [the Jews] come here to meet the militia, and it will 
eliminate those Jews and so forth.”187 

Stets’ko’s message to Bandera confirms that the OUN-B was acting according to 
“Struggle and Activities” and suggests that the militia would be used to incite and 
conduct anti-Jewish violence. On 17 June 1941, Reinhard Heydrich, Director of the 
Reich Security Main Office (Reichssicherheitshauptamt, RSHA), gave instructions 
concerning the encouragement of “self-cleansing actions [Selbstreinigungsakt-
ionen]” to dozens of SS and police personnel. On 29 June, he sent his instructions to 
the leaders of the Einsatzgruppen, who were to use Vorkommandos (advance units) 
to effect the “self-cleansing actions.”188 Günther Hermann, a commander of Sonder-
kommando IV, received, according to Erwin Schulz, the leader of Einsatzkommando 
5 of Einsatzgruppe C, an order from Otto Rasch, the commander of the Ein-
satzgruppe C, to support the Ukrainian militia.189 Even if these measures were not 
coordinated with the OUN both groups shared similar intentions toward the Jews 
and developed similar plans concerning their annihilation.  

Pogroms, Proclamations, and National Celebrations in Lviv 

For the OUN-B, the first and most important step was the proclamation of statehood. 
The leadership decided not to wait until the German troops reached the Ukrainian 
capital Kiev, but to proclaim the state in Lviv, the largest city of western Ukraine. The 
OUN-B might have decided to proclaim the state in Lviv because it wanted to pre-
empt the OUN-M, which anticipated a similar plan, or because it wanted to see how 
the Germans would react, or because Lviv was more familiar to the OUN-B than Kiev 
and eastern Ukraine in general. The proclamation in Lviv was not as impressive as it 
would have been in Kiev but was significant enough to be taken seriously by the Ger-
mans and by the western Ukrainian population.190 
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In deciding to proclaim the state after seizure of the territory by German troops, 
the OUN-B followed the examples of the Hlinka Party in Slovakia, and their clerical 
fascist leader Father Jozef Tiso, and the Croatian Ustaša. The HSLS had proclaimed a 
Slovak state on 14 March 1939, after Nazi Germany had dismantled Czechoslovakia. 
The Ustaša had proclaimed theirs on 10 April 1941, four days after the Wehrmacht 
entered Yugoslavia. Both states were recognized by Germany and other Axis powers. 
They were not independent states, as the Hlinka Party and Ustaša claimed, but satel-
lite states of Germany. In both states, other political parties were banned, and Jews 
and other groups, such as Gypsies, were denied rights. Like the OUN-B, both the 
Hlinka Party and the Ustaša were devoted to the notion of “ethnic” purity, which they 
wanted to introduce in the multi-ethnic territories that they claimed as theirs. Just as 
the OUN-B regarded Poles and Russians as the occupiers of Ukraine, so the Hlinka 
Party regarded the Czechs as the occupiers of Slovakia, and the Ustaša regarded the 
Serbs as the occupiers of Croatia. All three movements regarded the Germans as 
liberators and allies. The Slovak example inspired the Ustaša, just as both of them 
inspired the OUN-B. They caused the OUN-B to believe and hope that Germany 
would accept the Ukrainian state proclaimed by the OUN-B, just as it had accepted 
the Slovak and Croatian states. The OUN-B leadership was aware that Ukraine was 
different from Slovakia and Croatia, but they believed that Ukraine was no less 
important for the “New Europe” than the other two new states, and that Germany 
would accept its independence.191 The OUN-B member Volodymyr Stakhiv wrote in 
an official memorandum, which he sent on 23 July 1941 to Hitler: 

Since 1938, two new states have appeared in Europe: Slovakia and Croatia. Not-
withstanding the difference in area and size of the population of these countries, 
the Ukrainian problem has a much greater significance, because to solve it, fun-
damental changes will be realized in the political and economic structure of the 
European continent, and in the raising of a problem of intercontinental signific-
ance. And the further course of German-Ukrainian relations will not only depend 
on the ultimate resolution of the problem, but also on the methods that will be 
applied at the outset.192 

Kost’ Pan’kivs’kyi, an older Ukrainian politician, who collaborated with the Ger-
mans during the Second World War but was not a nationalist extremist, wrote that, 
at the time of the “Ukrainian National Revolution,” the OUN activists appeared as: 

people who for years had had contacts with the Germans, who were ideologically 
linked with fascism and Nazism, who in word and in print and in deed had for 
years been preaching totalitarianism and an orientation toward Berlin and Rome. 
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... Those whom our community regarded as German partners and potential 
leaders of the national life.193 

When the Germans and Ukrainian nationalists entered Lviv on 30 June, there 
were 160,000 Jews in the city, 140,000 Poles, and 70,000 Ukrainians. The number 
of Jews in Lviv had increased significantly after the beginning of Operation Barba-
rossa, as Jewish refuges escaped from the territories of the Second Republic occupied 
by Germans, to those occupied by the Soviet Union.194 Among the German units 
entering the city was the Ukrainian Nachtigall battalion, which formed part of the 
1st. Battalion of the special command regiment Brandenburg 800.195 When they 
marched into Lviv, the soldiers of this battalion shouted “Slava Ukraїni!” to the local 
people who welcomed them enthusiastically.196 Ukrainians in Lviv were very excited 
at the sight of the Ukrainians in German uniform. When the battalion marched into 
the market square, people not only welcomed the soldiers with flowers but also 
genuflected and prayed.197 In the ecstasy of the “Ukrainian National Revolution,” 
Ukrainians called the Nachtigall battalion the “Stepan Bandera battalion.”198 

Statehood was proclaimed at eight o’clock in the evening on 30 June 1941, in a 
meeting room in the building of the Prosvita Society. The meeting was announced as 
a liberation ceremony.199 The OUN-B had wanted to deliver the proclamation in the 
state theater, a more imposing building, but it had already been requisitioned by the 
German army.200 Stepan Bandera, the most important figure in the revolution, was 
not able to proclaim statehood himself. Bandera, according to Stets’ko, had been 
“confined” by the Germans on 29 June 1941.201 Shortly before the beginning of 
Operation Barbarossa the RSHA released directives to prevent Bandera from enter-
ing the “newly occupied territories.”202 

After the Second World War, Lebed’ stated that Bandera had stayed in Kholm-
shchyna, the region of Chełm (Kholm), and had coordinated the “Ukrainian National 
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Revolution” from there.203 Statehood was therefore proclaimed by Bandera’s repre-
sentative, Iaroslav Stets’ko, who tried to represent both the national will and German 
interests. During the meeting in the Prosvita hall, after saluting the absent Bandera, 
Stets’ko read the formal statement: 

In accordance with the will of the Ukrainian people, the Organization of Ukrai-
nian Nationalists under the leadership of Stepan Bandera declares the reestab-
lishment of the Ukrainian State, for which entire generations of the best sons of 
Ukraine have sacrificed themselves.204 

The declaration further stated that the independent Ukrainian authority would 
guarantee order to the Ukrainian people, that the Ukrainian state coming into being 
in western Ukraine would later be subordinated to the authority in Kiev, and that the 
Ukrainian state would closely cooperate with the “National Socialist Great Germany, 
which, under the leadership of Adolf Hitler, is creating a new order in Europe and the 
world, and is helping the Ukrainian nation liberate itself from Muscovite occupa-
tion.”205 

The text of the OUN-B proclamation resembled the one used by the Ustaša on 10 
April 1941. Like the OUN-B state, the Ustaša state was proclaimed by the deputy-
leader, the Doglavnik Slavko Kvaternik, and not by the Poglavnik Pavelić in person. 
Kvaternik, however, had not gone as far as Stets’ko and had not introduced Hitler 
into the proclamation text. He referred only to “the will of our allies.” The Ustaša 
proclamation text said: 

People of Croatia! The providence of God, the will of our allies, the century-old 
struggle of the Croatian people, our self-sacrificing Leader [Poglavnik] Ante 
Pavelić and the Ustaša movement, within and outside the country, has decided 
that we today, on the eve of the resurrection of the son of God, will also witness 
the resurrection of our Croatian state.206 

According to the minutes of the meeting on 30 June 1941 in the Prosvita hall, 
after the reading of the declaration by Stets’ko, people in the hall broke into applause 
several times. The Greek Catholic Church was represented at the gathering by Iosyf 
Slipyi. Another clergyman, Dr. Ivan Hryn’okh in Abwehr uniform, represented the 
Nachtigall battalion. The gathering finished with salutes addressed to Stepan Ban-
dera, Adolf Hitler, and Metropolitan Andrei Sheptyts’kyi, and with the singing of the 
national anthem “Ukraine has not yet perished” (Shche ne vmerla Ukraїna).207 

Two German officers, Hans Koch and Wilhelm Ernst zu Eikern, also came to the 
meeting, although they arrived late. Koch said that he welcomed the meeting, but 
only for celebrating the liberation from the Bolsheviks, not for proclaiming state-
hood. The officers reminded those assembled that the war was not over, and that this 
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was not an appropriate time to proclaim statehood. They also stated that the only 
person who could decide whether a Ukrainian state would come into existence was 
Adolf Hitler.208 After the proclamation ceremony and also at 11.00 a.m. the next 
morning, OUN-B activists made use of a radio station which, after the retreat of the 
Soviet troops, was occupied by the Nachtigall battalion and renamed the “Ievhen 
Konovalets’ Station.”209 They broadcasted, both in Ukrainian and German, about the 
proclamation ceremony and the existence of the Ukrainian state. A soldier spoke 
emotionally about his arrival in Lviv and about the fraternal relations between the 
German and Ukrainian sides, especially their leaders. He also sang German and 
Ukrainian songs and informed listeners of the existence of the “Ukrainian Wehr-
macht.”210 The OUN-B also familiarized radio listeners with a pastoral letter written 
by the head of the Greek Catholic Church, Sheptyts’kyi, who announced that 
Stets’ko’s government and the Ukrainian state had come into being by the will of 
God, and that “we welcome the German army as an army which liberated us from the 
enemy.” In the same letter to the “Ukrainian nation” Sheptyts’kyi also suggested that 
he supported the OUN-B’s plans for statehood, but not ethnic violence: “We expect 
from the government established by him [Stets’ko] wise, just leadership, and meas-
ures that would take into consideration the needs and welfare of all citizens who 
inhabit our land, without regard to what faith, nationality, and social stratum they 
belong.”211 One of the OUN-B radio speakers on 1 July 1941 was Hryn’okh. On 30 
June, he had visited Sheptyts’kyi together with Stets’ko and had obtained the Metro-
politan’s “consent and blessing” for the declaration of the state.212 

On 1 July 1941, while Hryn’okh and other soldiers from the “Stepan Bandera bat-
talion” were singing German and Ukrainian military and revolutionary songs on the 
radio, a pogrom took place in the city. Germans and the Ukrainian militia, estab-
lished and controlled by the OUN-B, were killing Jews en masse and inciting the 
local population to do the same.213 The militia in Lviv had been formed on 30 June 
1941 in the courtyard of the Metropolitan’s palace on St. George’s Hill, by Ivan Rav-
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lyk, who came to Lviv together with Stets’ko in the second task force, and by local 
OUN-B members.214 During the first days, Bohdan Kazanivs’kyi and Omelian Matla 
played an important role in the militia.215 Both of them had been imprisoned and 
tortured by the NKVD.216 In his post-war memoirs, Kazanivs’kyi wrote that while 
under torture by the NKVD he thought about Bandera who, “chained to the wall in a 
dark cell [of a Polish prison] for a year, without sleep, did not surrender.”217 Shukhe-
vych, the Ukrainian commander of the Nachtigall battalion, was also involved in 
appointing the militia leadership. In the morning of 30 June, he went with his divi-
sion of the Nachtigall battalion to the Saint George Cathedral where he, together with 
Kazanivs’kyi, inspired those present to “revolutionary deeds” while informing them 
publicly that the OUN-B will proclaim the Ukrainian state.218 After 2 July, the militia 
in Lviv was, according to Hans Joachim Beyer, a high official of the SD and an 
adviser to the Einsatzgruppe C, subordinated to the SS and was thereafter known as 
the Ukrainian police.219 Stets’ko, however, still regarded the police as the militia of 
the Ukrainian government.220 The first head of the militia was the OUN-B member 
Ievhen Vrets’ona, replaced some weeks later by Volodymyr Pitulei.221 

In accordance with “Struggle and Activities,” the militiamen were to wear either a 
yellow-and-blue armlet, or a white armlet with the inscription “National Militia.” 
However, a number of the militiamen were acting clandestinely and therefore did not 
wear them.222 The historian Jeffrey Burds, who compared photographs of the 
pogrom with the photographs in the identification cards of the Ukrainian militiamen, 
noticed that some of the pogromists could be identified (Figs. 13–16). Because of 
their armlets, others were recognized as militiamen by many victims, survivors, and 
bystanders, not only in Lviv but also in other cities, towns, and villages where 
pogroms occurred.223 Some Ukrainian militiamen in Lviv put on olive-green 
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Fig. 13. Ukrainian militiamen with one of their victims during the Lviv pogrom. Wiener Library. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Fig. 14. Ukrainian militiamen with one of their victims during the Lviv pogrom. Wiener Library. 
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Fig. 15. A militia ID of a militiaman on figure 13. DALO, f. R12, op. 1, spr. 130, 1.  

Courtesy of David Alan Rich. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig. 16. A militia ID of a militiaman on figure 14 and 13. DALO, f. R12, op. 1, spr. 130, 6. 

Courtesy of David Alan Rich. 
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uniforms, which had previously been used by the Soviet militia. They removed the 
Soviet emblems from these uniforms and wore them with the yellow-and-blue 
armlets and mazepynka caps.224 The OUN-B tried to eliminate elements from the 
militia that were not loyal to the organization.225 During their recruitment, the 
militiamen received ethical training, which included swearing an oath to Stepan 
Bandera and independent Ukraine.226 

As already mentioned, in the morning of 30 June 1941, German and Ukrainian 
troops discovered numerous bodies of prisoners who had been murdered by the 
NKVD. The corpses were in the cells of four prisons, and in mass graves in the prison 
yards. Estimates of the number of corpses ranged from 2,800227 to 4,000;228 the 
lower figure seems more likely. The majority of the NKVD victims were apparently 
Ukrainians, about a quarter of the victims were Poles, and there was an unknown 
number of Jews.229 A few prisoners, who survived the NKVD massacre in the prisons, 
had escaped after the Soviet army left and before the Germans came in.230 Rumors 
about the massacres and tortures in the prisons had circulated even before the 
Germans arrived on 30 June, inspected the prisons, forced Jews to exhume bodies, 
and to bring out the first corpses from the cells.231 According to Dr. Georg Saeltzer 
and a German officer, some of the bodies showed signs of torture.232 

As early as 28 June 1941, two Ukrainian defectors informed the German Army 
that “two days ago there were riots in Lviv, during which Jews and communists were 
murdered.”233 However, no other documents confirm that riots took place in Lviv 
before 30 June. According to Erwin Schulz, leader of Einsatzkommando 5, Hitler 
ordered a reprisal action against Lviv Jews for the NKVD massacre, but it is not clear  
whether the pogrom was organized on account of this order.234 On 30 June, the Ger-
mans and OUN-B activists began using the corpses of the NKVD victims to provoke 

 
224  Interrogation of Cornelius von Hovora, 29 February 1960, LN-W, Gerichte Rep. 350, vol. 2, 215; 

Interrogation of Emanuel Brand, 27 June 1960, LN-W, Gerichte Rep. 350, vol. 3, 129; “Der Ober-
staatsanwalt,” LN-W, Gerichte Rep. 350, vol. 5, l6. 

225  The report of Mykola Mostovych from 31 September 1941, TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 15, 71. 
226  See for example the recruitment of Volodymyr Panasiuk, a Volhynian who was trained as a militiaman 

by Ukrainian nationalists from Galicia, in Upravlinnia Sluzhby Bezpeky Ukraïny v Rivens’kii oblasti 
(USB v Rivens’kii oblasti), No. 19090, t. 3, 3, 3v, 100, 101, or USHMM, RG, 31.018M, reel 20. On the 
militia, see also Pohl, Nationalsozialistische, 46. 

227  Interrogation of Johann Druschbach, LN-W, Gerichte Rep. 350, vol. 2, 72. Druschbach heard this 
number from senior NKVD officers with whom he flew from Lviv to Kiev on 28 June 1941. 

228  “Wahrnehmung über die bolschewistischen Bluttaten in Lemberg vom 7.7.1941,” BA-MA, RH 
26/454/6b, 2. Other documents mention 4,000. Cf. “Das Ukrainische Rote Kreuz, 7.7.1941,” BA-MA, 
RW 2/148, 373. 

229  Mick, Kriegserfahrungen, 469. 
230  Depositions of Leo Fedoruk, Omelian Matla, Josefa Soziada, Ludwik Pisarek, Bogdan Kazaniwskyj, 

Anna Domin, Edward Chruslicki, Rosalie Sobonkiewicz, Richard Eckl, BA-MA, RW 2/148, 331–34, 
342–45, 346–49, 355–66, 367–69. 

231  Interrogation of Dr. Georg Saeltzer, BA-MA, RW 2/148, 340; AŻIH, 301/54, Rózia Wagner, 1. 
232  “Darstellung der Ereignisse 30.06.1941, 15 Uhr,” BA-MA, RH/24/49/8, 174; Interrogation of Dr. 

Georg Saeltzer on 6. July 1941,” BA-MA, RW 2/148, 339; Heer, Einübung in den Holocaust, 410. On 
this question, see also Sandkühler, “Endlösung” in Galizien, 303. Zygmunt Albert, assistant of a Po-
lish physician, did not see signs of torture on the corpses in Lviv. Cf. Hryciuk, Polacy we Lwowie 
1939–1944: Życie codzienne (Warsaw: Książka i Wiedza, 2000), 190. 

233  “Vernehmung von zwei ukrainischen Überläufern, 28. Juni 1941,” BA-MA RH 26/100/36, 111. 
234  Interrogation of Erwin Schulz, 1 August 1958, LN-W, Gerichte Rep. 350, vol. 4, 124; “Der Oberstaats-

anwalt,” LN-W, Gerichte Rep. 350, vol. 5, 44. 



 Chapter 4: The “Ukrainian National Revolution”: Mass Violence and Political Disaster 205 

 

violence. This resulted in the pogrom, but the most brutal and humiliating events 
took place the next day and continued on 2 July.235 

On 30 June 1941, the Secret Field Police (Geheime Feldpolizei) noted that the 
people of Lviv were enthusiastic about the coming of the German troops and were 
bitter about the “infamous action of the Bolshevists” and the “Jews who live in the 
city and who collaborated with the Bolsheviks.”236 A German officer wrote to his wife 
on 30 June: “The Russians and Jews ruled over others cruelly and carried out mass-
acres in the prisons.” He also noted that the Ukrainians were in a mood that could 
easily become a pogrom.237 In the yard of the Brygidki prison, company commander 
Hans Schmidt watched how “crowds of Jews or maybe other inhabitants of Lviv” 
carried corpses from the prison basements and placed them in the yard. Later the 
same day and in the same prison, he observed how the Jews were mistreated and 
beaten. He was told that the Jews “draw on themselves the hate of the people 
because they collaborated with the Russians and denounced the victims.”238 

The powerful stereotype of “Jewish Bolshevism” was an important element of 
both OUN-B and Nazi propaganda. It made the Ukrainian population—at whom the 
OUN-B propaganda was directed—believe that it was the Jews who were responsible 
for the atrocities of the Soviet regime, in particular the mass killings of prisoners 
after 22 June 1941.239 That Jews were among the victims of the NKVD, that they were 
not substantially overrepresented in the NKVD, and that they did not profit more or 
suffer less than other ethnic groups under the Soviet occupation did not impress the 
nationalists, who blamed the Jews for the NKVD murders and believed that the Jews 
ruled the Soviet Union and were responsible for the famine in 1932‒1933.240 

In connection with the “Jewish Bolshevism” stereotype and the events of 1 July 
1941, Kurt Lewin, a survivor of the pogrom, made the following observation, which 
he included in his memoirs in 1945, “A young representative of the Herrenvolk 
[master race] with an intelligent physiognomy—but disfigured with a mischievous 
smile—came to us and said: ‘Nu, Juden die Rache ist süss. [So, Jews, revenge is 
sweet.]’ I just didn’t know what the revenge was for.”241 
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Stefan Szende (Adolf Folkman), another Jewish survivor, wrote in his memoirs in 
March 1944 that, on 1 July 1941: 

German posters and Polish and Ukrainian leaflets based on the German posters 
appeared in the city. The German military commando used them to inform the 
Ukrainian and Polish populations that, in the prisons, corpses of thousands of 
Ukrainians and Poles were found. All were killed by the Jewish Bolsheviks. Public 
feeling was agitated by horrible accusations against the Jews. The agitation fell on 
fruitful ground. In the whole city, robbing and looting hordes roamed. The Jews 
were equated with the Bolsheviks, actually only the Jews were deemed to be Bol-
sheviks. We were outlawed [vogelfrei]. ... Hundreds of Jews were dragged from 
their houses, thrashed, kicked, murdered. Other thousands were herded together 
to the prison on Zamarstynowska Street.242 

In the early hours of 1 July 1941, by when the OUN-B state had already been 
proclaimed, Ukrainian militiamen forced their way into Jewish apartments. They 
frequently seized male Jews, and occasionally the whole family, and took them by 
force to the yards of the three prisons where the corpses of the NKVD’s victims had 
been found. Other militiamen seized Jews in the streets, while checking identity 
cards. One prison to which Jews were taken was on Zamarstynowska (Zamarsty-
nivs’ka) Street, another was the Brygidki prison on Kazimierzowska (Horodots’ka) 
Street, and the third was on Łąckiego (Briullov) Street, close to the citadel. The Bry-
gidki prison and the prison on Zamarstynowska Street were in the Jewish quarter. 
On the way to the prisons, the Jews were beaten by a furious crowd of both men and 
women, with fists, cudgels, canes, and other implements. Some of the Jews were 
forced to crawl on their knees.243 Before the gate to the prison, pogromists stood in 
two rows and beat the Jews who had to go between the rows into the yards. When the 
Jews arrived in the yards, they were forced to carry the already-decomposing corpses 
from the cells in the basement and to put them in rows in the prison yards. Some-
times, after the Jewish men had carried them outside, Jewish women were com-
pelled to wash the corpses and kiss their hands244 in order to demonstrate to the 
crowds that the Jews were responsible for Soviet crimes and should now pay for it. 

The Jews who carried the corpses from the cells were beaten, frequently to death, 
by Germans and Ukrainians, with rifle butts, metal bars, cudgels, spades, and other 
objects. During the pogrom, Ukrainian militiamen collected more and more Jews 
and drove them to the prison yards. There they replaced those already beaten to 
death, whose corpses were piled at the edge of the prison yard, next to those of the 
prisoners killed by the NKVD. Kurt Lewin, who was forced to work in the Brygidki 
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prison, was especially afraid of an elegantly dressed man in a beautiful embroidered 
shirt, frequently worn by Ukrainian patriots, who 

beat with an ironclad cane. After a while, he beat only against the heads. With 
every hit he wrenched off strips of skin. He put some people’s eyes out, wrenched 
off ears. When the cane broke, he immediately took a large charred piece of wood 
and smashed my neighbor’s skull. The skull broke and the brain splattered in all 
directions, also on my face and clothes.245 

The man in the embroidered shirt seems to have been a typical “victim” of the 
ideology of Ukrainian nationalism and the stereotype of “Jewish Bolshevism.” 
Herman Kac, who was also forced to work in the yard of the Brygidki prison, recalled 
in 1947 that “Germans and Ukrainians mistreated us horribly and blamed us for the 
NKVD murders. They lined the Jews up to be shot.” Kac recalled being the forty-
eighth in line. As a German soldier was taking aim at him, a German officer came and 
said “Enough for today.”246 

The Jews were forced to work in the Brygidki prison until about 9 p.m. Lewin 
estimated that of the approximately 2,000 Jews crowded into the Brygidki prison on 
1 June, about eighty survived. Before the Germans allowed them to go home, soldiers 
of the Nachtigall battalion came to the yard and mistreated the remaining Jews for a 
while. A German soldier threw a grenade against a group of Jews, and German sol-
diers continued killing the wounded victims in the yard. Before the survivors were 
allowed to leave the yard, they were told to come back the next day, at 4 a.m.247 

In the two other prisons, Jews were treated a similar way. Stefania Cang-Schutz-
man saw how the Jews in the Łąckiego Street prison were beaten and otherwise 
mistreated, how women were undressed, and how pregnant women were beaten in 
the stomach. The Ukrainians ordered the Jews to give up jewels, money, and all other 
valuable objects that they possessed.248 Another survivor from the Łąckiego Street 
prison remembered that a German officer interrupted the violence of the crowd with 
the comment: “We are not Bolsheviks.” People watching the mistreatment of the 
Jews from the roofs demanded, however, that the Jews in the prison yard be killed.249 
Alfred Monaster wrote in his testimony that on 1 July, in the prison on Łąckiego 
Street, beautiful Jewish women were selected, raped, and killed.250 

Zygmunt Tune and his brother were taken by Ukrainian militiamen from their 
apartment to the prison on Zamarstynowska Street. Before the entrance, they were 
beaten by a crowd of angry people, and later in the prison yard by some Nachtigall 
battalion soldiers. They were forced to give away all valuable objects. A group of 
Ukrainians then beat them with sticks. Afterwards they were forced to clean the yard 
with their bare hands. All the time, more and more Jews, in poorer and poorer 
health, were forced into the yard. At about 2 p.m. some Germans brought a machine-
gun in order to shoot the Jews but were prevented by an officer of the Gestapo. At 
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about 8 p.m., the Jews who had survived until then were allowed to leave the yard. A 
German soldier told them that he could not protect them from the Ukrainians and 
suggested that they hid in the woods.251 

Jews were beaten and killed not only in the three prison yards but also on the way 
there and in many other places in the city. They were forced to clean the streets, 
exactly as in Vienna in March 1938, and in several places in Poland after September 
1939.252 Company commander Hans Schmidt observed how “Jewish women, on their 
knees, had to pick splinters of glass from the sidewalk with their [bare] hands.”253 
Izydor Ferber saw how Jews in the market square were forced to clean the paving-
stones with their handkerchiefs, and how they were beaten severely.254 Kazimiera 
Poraj was in the market square when “Ukrainian-speaking German soldiers” forced a 
group of Jews, among them her mother, to clean the toilets with their own clothes. At 
the same time, they were beaten mercilessly with cables. A group of Jews had to pick 
splinters of glass from the streets and put them into two carts, also while being 
beaten with cables.255 German officers saw a group of women being mistreated by the 

Fig. 17. One of the victims of the Lviv pogrom. Wiener Library. 
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Ukrainian militiamen in the market square.256 A man was forced to clean horse 
manure from the street, by putting it in his hat.257 A group of Jews were made to 
crawl on hands and knees through the streets.258 Jews were thrown into the street 
from the windows of their apartments.259 In one yard, the German soldier Hermann 
Teske saw a group of Jews with bloody noses. A pogromist told him that it was custo-
mary during pogroms to mark Jews by twisting their noses so hard that they broke. 
The soldier then witnessed how a pogromist did so.260 Jacob Gerstenfeld observed 
from an apartment house window: 

Old people, children and women [in a bomb crater] were forced, under a hail of 
blows, to wrench out the paving stones with their bare hands, and to move the 
dirt of the street from one place to another. One woman was tied to a man work-
ing nearby and they were forced by blows to run in opposite directions. A teenage 
boy fainted under blows, and others were called to bury the apparent corpse alive. 
In this one place, I saw four or five people murdered. About 60 people were 
involved. Throughout the violence on the street, life went on in its usual routine. 
The passers-by stopped for a moment or two, some to laugh at the “ridiculous” 
look of the victims and went calmly on.261 

The Nachtigall battalion, which was celebrated by the pogromists as the Stepan 
Bandera battalion, did not play a major role in the pogrom but some members were 
involved. After marching into Lviv on 30 June 1941, the battalion secured the radio 
station and the three prisons in which the NKVD left the corpses.262 One soldier from 
the battalion declared that “some soldiers [from his battalion] committed excesses” 
on this day, after they were welcomed with flowers.263 On the same day, Roman 
Shukhevych—the Ukrainian commander of the battalion—learned that his brother 
Iurii had been killed in one of the NKVD prisons. The next day, Iurii’s funeral took 
place.264 

On 1 July 1941, a number of survivors saw Nachtigall soldiers beating Jews in 
front of and inside the yard of the prison on Zamarstynowska Street.265 In Łąckiego 
Street and in the Brygidki prison on Kazimierzowska Street, Ukrainian-speaking 
soldiers in Wehrmacht uniforms were seen doing the same.266 However, there is no 
absolute certainty that all the Ukrainians in German uniforms who were seen mis-
treating and killing Jews in the prison yards belonged to the Nachtigall. There were 
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Ukrainians in German uniforms from other units in Lviv at that time, and also 
Ukrainian interpreters with the Wehrmacht, who were hostile to Jews and Poles, just 
like the Nachtigall soldiers.267 On the way from Lviv to Vinnytsia, the Nachtigall 
battalion, according to the soldier Viktor Khar’kiv (“Khmara”), “shot all the Jews he 
met in two villages.”268 

In 1960, a criminal investigation against the officer of the battalion, Theodor 
Oberländer, took place in the German Federal Republic. During the investigation, 
Oberländer confirmed that he saw soldiers from the Nachtigall battalion in front of a 
prison, who “encouraged the population to display the corpses outside.” He also 
testified that the Nachtigall soldiers from one company had a day off duty, but he did 
not mention that the soldiers mistreated and killed Jews.269 Other German officers of 
the Nachtigall battalion testified similarly to Oberländer.270 After a careful investi-
gation of the pogrom and the participation of the Nachtigall battalion in this atrocity, 
the German state prosecutor (Oberstaatsanwalt) came to the conclusion that sol-
diers from the second company of the battalion “in all probability” participated in the 
pogrom and were “guilty of the murder of numerous Jews.”271 The prosecutor, 
however, closed the proceedings against Oberländer, because he did not find any 
evidence that Oberländer issued an order to the Nachtigall soldiers to kill Jews. Nor 
did the prosecutor initiate any proceeding against Nachtigall veterans, because he 
was not able to identify exactly which soldiers committed crimes.272 

Hryn’okh, OUN-B member and chaplain of the Nachtigall battalion, was also 
interrogated during the same investigation against Oberländer. Like many other 
nationalists, he not only denied the involvement of the battalion in anti-Jewish 
violence but also stated that he did not notice that a pogrom took place in Lviv at all. 
As to whether there were anti-Jewish riots in Lviv, Hryn’okh answered as follows: “I 
did not see anything like this, although during my stay in Lviv, I repeatedly walked 
and drove through the streets. I can also state with all certainty that nothing was 
reported to me.” After he heard the testimonies of other witnesses who described the 
pogrom, he stated: “I cannot exclude that something like this happened. I myself, 
however, as I have already said, did not see anything and did not hear anything.”273 

Wilek Markiewicz watched from a window how some pogromists in Franciszek 
Smołka (Hryhorenko) Square competed to find more and more sophisticated 
tortures. He also noticed young Ukrainian peasant women who were more brutal 
than the men. One of the men forced a Jew to carry him on his shoulders, while 
beating him on the head with a cudgel, until the victim fell on the ground. He heard a 
woman scream: “People, let me go please. I haven’t done anything bad to anybody.” 
A number of male voices countered: “Don’t listen to her! Kill her immediately!”274 
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The pogromists also enjoyed making Jews perform “Bolshevik” rituals. Some 
were made to walk, singing Russian marching songs, and shouting praise to Stalin.275 
A crowd surrounded a group of 200 to 300 young Jewish men and women who, with 
raised hands, were forced to sing “the Russian communist song ‘My Moscow.’”276 
Near the citadel, Ukrainians escorted about a hundred men, their hands in the air, 
who were made to shout, “We want Stalin!” According to the survivor Kazimiera 
Poraj, all of them were killed.277 

The films and photographs made by German soldiers during the pogrom contain 
very much the same information as the testimonies of the survivors. They show that 
women were kicked and were beaten in the face and elsewhere with sticks and tools. 
They were pulled by the hair and tossed from one pogromist to another. Many of the 
women were stripped naked and exposed to the mob, which made fun of them and 
mistreated them. Some were chased through the streets.278 What the films do not 
show—but which we know from testimonies of survivors—is that women were raped, 
and pregnant women were hit and kicked in the stomach.279 

As already mentioned, the most violent day of the pogrom was 1 July 1941 but the 
pogrom continued in many parts of the city on 2 July and lasted until the evening of 
that day. According to Monaster, the pogrom began in the Jewish quarter and spread 
the next day to other parts of the city.280 On 2 July, an unknown number of Jews 
were assembled by the militiamen and members of the Einsatzkommandos in a 
sports field on Pełczyńska (Dmytra Vitovs’koho) Street. Of the assembled Jews, 
2,500–3,000 were shot in the forests around Lviv by Einsatzkommandos 5 and 6 of 
Einsatzgruppe C, under the leadership of Otto Rasch. Felix Landau, member of an 
Einsatzkommando, wrote in his diary that the first Jews were shot on 2 July. On 3 
July he wrote that “500 Jews came to be shot. 800 people were killed here in Lviv.”281 

On 3 July 1941, Lejb Wieliczkier and his brother and father were taken from their 
apartment by Ukrainian militiamen, “to work.” They were led to the militia building. 
A group of Jews were already standing before the building, when the family arrived. 
The militiamen selected young Jews, took them to the basement, and beat them 
there with iron bars. Some of them did not stand up again. The rest were taken to the 
sports field on Pełczyńska Street. They were beaten and otherwise mistreated by the 
militiamen on the way. In front of the sports field, the Germans selected skilled 
craftsmen from among the Jews and sent them home. The rest were to enter the 
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sports field, where they remained for two days without food and drink. During these 
two days, the Germans and Ukrainian militiamen frequently tortured, beat, and 
generally mistreated them. Lejb and his father watched as Jews were repeatedly 
loaded on trucks. Together with some other Jews, however, father and son were 
released two days later.282 

On 4 July 1941 Simon Wiesenthal was one of about forty Jews who were arrested, 
taken to a prison, ordered to stand in a row with their faces against the wall, and 
waited to be executed. Unlike many others however, he did not die. Shortly before 
Wiesenthal was to have been shot, a superior ordered the executioner to leave off 
work for the day (Schluß für heute. Feierabend!). Imprisoned overnight and awaiting 
execution the next day, Wiesenthal was rescued by a Ukrainian militiaman who knew 
him from before the war.283 On 7 July 1941, German soldiers seized Eliyahu Yones, 
together with other Jews in hiding, and ordered them to spread lime on the earth in 
one of the yards of the Brygidki prison. On arrival, Yones was overwhelmed by the 
extreme stench of decomposing corpses. He noticed that the ground under his feet 
was as soft as gum, had cracks five centimeters (two inches) wide, and could not 
absorb the number of corpses that were buried in the yard.284 

After the pogrom, the Jews in Lviv had no rights and were vogelfrei. Their apart-
ments were frequently looted while they were still living there. They were allowed to 
go into the streets to buy food and other products, only two days a week.285 According 
to Henryk Szyper this rule was introduced by Iurii Polians’kyi, who was appointed 
mayor of Lviv by the Stets’ko government. German and Ukrainian police regularly 
arrested Jews in their apartments or in the streets and took them to perform various 
public works. Although the organized violence ceased in the evening of 2 June, Jews 
were further mistreated and killed on numerous occasions.286 

The number of victims of the first pogrom, from 30 June to 2 July 1941, is hard to 
estimate. The Judenrat estimated that 2,000 Jews were killed during the first days of 
occupation in Lviv.287 A German security report from 16 July said that “police cap-
tured and shot 7,000 Jews.”288 Historians Dieter Pohl and Eliyahu Yones, who stu-
died the pogrom, came to the conclusion that 4,000 Jews lost their lives,289 while 
Christoph Mick, another historian who investigated this event, concluded that 7,000 
to 8,000 Jews were killed.290 

A reconstruction of the course of the pogrom shows that it was a well-organized 
action. The Ukrainian militia established by the OUN-B collaborated closely with 
German formations, which included units of the Sicherheitspolizei and the Sicher-
heitsdienst (SD), and the Einsatzkommandos of Einsatzgruppe C. The Germans must 
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have coordinated the pogrom with the OUN-B, at the latest in the evening of 30 June 
1941, shortly after they realized how popular and powerful the OUN-B in Lviv was 
and how they could manipulate the rage of the locals by means of the corpses left by 
the NKVD. Although the German and Ukrainian perpetrators did not leave any writ-
ten documents concerning such preparations, other sources suggest otherwise. For 
example, according to one of the witnesses of the pogrom, a Ukrainian militiaman 
warned a Jewish woman, with whom he was in love, as to the danger. He did so on 1 
July at 5 a.m., that is to say, a few hours before the main pogrom started.291 

The behavior of individual German soldiers varied. Some of them filmed the 
pogrom. One reason for doing so was to place the blame for the violence on the local 
population.292 Some Wehrmacht officers showed remorse. One gave a loaf of bread to 
a Jew.293 Other German soldiers, humiliated, tortured, shot, or otherwise mistreated 
Jews, or explained to them that they were responsible for the pogrom.294 Eliyahu 
Yones, who was forced to work in the Brygidki prison, commented on one German 
officer: 

After the action [carrying out the corpses from the cells] a German officer came to 
us, took off his gas mask [which he carried because of the stench of the corpses] 
and delivered a speech to us, in which he said that, because of us, the Jews, “the 
whole world is bleeding,” that we instigated this war and because of us thousands 
of victims would fall in the battlefields. “Look what you did!” He shouted and 
pointed to the huge mass grave in the prison yard. We stood apathetically, we 
didn’t hear his words, and did not understand what he wanted from us.295 

Another important group of perpetrators in the Lviv pogrom was the crowd. It 
consisted mainly of Ukrainians but also included Poles. Ukrainians were a minority 
in Lviv but, unlike Poles, they were not threatened by the OUN-B and were encour-
aged by Ukrainian propaganda to support the process of establishing the state and to 
take revenge on the Jews. Some Ukrainian pogromists came to Lviv from the villages 
and towns around the city. In addition to ideology, they were motivated by the 
opportunity to steal Jewish property, which was permitted during the pogrom.296 
Many young Ukrainians, students in particular, participated in the pogrom. Among 
the pogromists, Emanuel Brand recognized a Ukrainian student with whom he had 
studied at the Institute of Pedagogy in Lviv.297 Dmytro Honta, a veteran of the First 
World War who wanted to join the OUN-B militia in Lviv, mentioned in his memoir 
that students volunteered for it.298 

Poles also participated in the pogrom and were not just passive bystanders. How-
ever, they participated to a lesser extent than Ukrainians, although they outnum-
bered the Ukrainians in Lviv. Like the Ukrainians, the Poles found bodies of their 
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relatives amongst the NKVD’s victims. Jews in Lviv noticed Poles among the 
pogromists and perceived them as dangerous, although not as dangerous as Ukrai-
nians.299 Maksymilian Boruchowicz remembered that Ukrainians were aggressive 
and that Poles were very distanced from Jews.300 At one place in Lviv, Alizia Rachel 
Hader noticed that the mob mistreating Jews “seemed to be composed mainly of 
Ukrainians, but ... included some Poles.”301 Kost’ Pan’kivs’kyi and Jozef Szrager also 
noticed Poles among the pogromists.302 Ievhen Nakonechnyi remembered that some 
Poles donned yellow-and-blue armbands, but he did not remember Ukrainians par-
ticipating in the pogrom, and he claimed that linking the OUN-B to the pogroms was 
anti-Ukrainian propaganda.303 Jan Rogowski, a Polish high school teacher, remem-
bered a Pole laughing about Jews who were beaten by Ukrainian militiamen.304 In 
contrast to the pogrom of 1918 in Lviv, and the pogroms in the summer of 1941 in 
north-eastern Poland, Poles did not play a major role in the Lviv pogrom of 1941, 
because they were afraid of the Ukrainian militiamen and OUN-B activists. They 
were also less favored by the Germans than Ukrainians were.305 During the night of 
3–4 July 1941 in Lviv, a German security force, composed of members of the SD, SS, 
and the Einsatzkommando 4a, shot twenty-five Polish professors and seventeen 
members of their families.306 The Germans obtained the names and addresses of the 
professors from the OUN-B. Mykola Lebed’ was in charge of this operation.307 

Because the pogrom in Lviv took place at the same time as the proclamation of 
the Ukrainian state, the city was full of yellow-and-blue and swastika flags, and post-
ers blaming the Jews for the murder of the prisoners, or celebrating Stepan Bandera 
and Adolf Hitler with slogans such as “Long Live Stepan Bandera, Long Live Adolf 
Hitler.” The “Great German Army,” the OUN, and the war against “Jewish commun-
ists” were also celebrated on posters, under which fell the bodies of murdered Jews. 
One of the posters said: 

To stop this Jewish-communist brigandage, to help Ukraine liberate itself, Adolf 
Hitler, the great leader of the German people, has ordered the steel-clad columns 
of the invincible German army to set off into battle and to destroy the bloody lair 
of the Jewish-Bolshevik commune once and for all. The German soldiers have 
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come to us as our friends. In our towns and villages Ukrainians are welcoming 
them as their liberators.308 

Posters with slogans such as “Ukraine for the Ukrainians” were based on Mikh-
novs’kyi’s racist nationalism. They informed their readers as to whom the territory in 
which they lived should belong, and who should and should not be allowed to live in 
it.309 Many of the posters and other revolutionary propaganda materials linked the 
idea of founding a Ukrainian state with killing the Jews. One such poster “To the 
Ukrainian Nation! [Ukraїns’kyi Narode!]” read: “Know! Moscow, Hungarians, Jews 
[Zhydova]—are your enemies, Kill them, do not forget! Your leadership is the leader-
ship of the Ukrainian Nationalists OUN, your leader is Stepan Bandera, your aim is 
an Independent United Ukrainian State”310 On 30 June 1941, a group of about ten 
Jews was forced to print the OUN-B posters and other propaganda material that 
motivated the crowd to kill the Jews.311 

Ukrainian nationalists and beautifully dressed Ukrainian patriots, who came to 
Lviv to welcome the Germans, greeted each other with the official OUN-B salute, 
calling “Glory to Ukraine!” and responding “Glory to the Heroes!” According to 
Alfred Monaster, some of them used also the German Nazi salute.312 Militiamen 
forced Jews to perform the Ukrainian fascist salute, in order to humiliate them. On 
30 June 1941, when J. Berman, a Jewish teacher of German, raised his left instead of 
his right arm, he was beaten and kicked by a Ukrainian militiaman. Then he had to 
salute three times with his right arm while calling out “Glory to Ukraine!” Afterwards 
he was beaten again but was eventually released.313 

On 2 July 1941, Kurt Lewin decided to go into the streets because he felt that his 
apartment was not safe. He put on a blue shirt and a yellow tie. This kept the Ukrai-
nian militiamen and Germans at a distance and allowed him to move through the 
city.314 A Jewish woman who needed to leave her apartment building stuck to her 
jacket a small yellow-and-blue ribbon, such as boys were distributing in the streets 
during the pogrom. This allowed her to go untouched through the city.315 Szende 
wrote in his memoirs that he and some other Jews “were protected by the authority 
of a Greek Catholic priest and the Greek Catholic church in the vicinity.”316 

OUN-B propaganda presented Bandera as the Providnyk of the OUN. The survi-
vor Lewin wrote in his memoirs in 1946 that on 2 July 1941 “the city was full of yel-
low-and-blue banners. … In the streets, the proclamations of Stepan Bandera were 
posted—the leader of the Ukrainians was calling for murder and conflagration.”317 
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Jan Rogowski, a teacher at a grammar school in Lviv, also saw the yellow-and-blue 
flags hanging together with swastika flags on the city hall, and posters with the slo-
gans that appeared in “Struggle and Activities.”318 In his memoirs, Rogowski wrote 
that “Bandera was supposed to be the Ukrainian leader [ukraiński Führer] who 
wanted to style himself on Hitler.”319 The OUN member Roman Volchuk remem-
bered “proclamations, which ended with ‘Long Live Stepan Bandera and Adolf Hit-
ler,’ posted around the city.”320 

Szyper noticed that, after German troops came to Lviv, German and Ukrainian 
flags were hung out everywhere, and the Ukrainians expected that a Ukrainian “state 
of a fascist kind” would be established. He also heard a speech by the mayor of Lviv, 
Polians’kyi, in which the speaker expressed loyalty to Hitler.321 Writing in December 
1941, an anonymous witness had noticed the yellow-and-blue flags next to the swas-
tikas, overcrowded Greek Catholic churches, and “everywhere the announcements 
with the signature of the leader of the Ukrainian Nationalists Bandera: ‘Ukraine for 
the Ukrainians.’”322 Yones noticed the slogan “Long live Adolf Hitler and Stepan Ban-
dera. Death to the Jews and communists.”323 In his memoirs, he described how a 
Ukrainian militiaman with a yellow-and-blue armlet came to examine his passport 
when he wandered near the OUN posters. After the militiaman realized that Yones 
was a Jew, he hit him with his fist so solidly in the face that Yones needed about an 
hour before he could stand up.324 

After the proclamation of statehood and at the time of the most violent moments 
of the pogrom, Stets’ko, leader of the new Ukrainian government, was writing letters 
in German, the lingua franca of the “New Europe,” to leaders of other European 
fascist states. He informed the Poglavnik Pavelić that, “as a result of a centuries-long 
struggle of the Ukrainian people for their sovereignty, the Ukrainian state was proc-
laimed in Lviv on 30 June 1941.” He stated his firm belief that “both revolutionary 
nations [Ukrainian and Croatian], hardened in battle, will guarantee the establish-
ment of healthy circumstances in the Europe of the new order.” A similar aspiration 
for “creative collaboration” between the Spanish and Ukrainian nations was aired in 
Stets’ko’s letter to the Caudillo. Meanwhile Mussolini was informed that the Ukrai-
nian state had been re-established in the territories “liberated from Muscovite-
Jewish occupation ... according to the will of the Ukrainian people that finds its 
expression in the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists under the leadership of 
Stepan Bandera.” Stets’ko also sent the Duce his warm greetings, wished a speedy 
victory to his brave nation, and expressed his conviction that Ukraine would be part 
of the “new fascist order that must replace the Versailles system.”325 
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In a letter to Hitler, Stets’ko offered his congratulations. “In the name of the 
Ukrainian people and its government” he expressed the desire that the German 
leader would “crown the struggle with an eternal triumph.” The premier of the 
Ukrainian state also wrote that the victories of the German army would allow Hitler 
to expand the “New Europe” to its eastern parts. “In this way you [Hitler] have 
allowed the Ukrainian people, as one of the fully entitled and free members of the 
European family of peoples, in its sovereign Ukrainian state, to play an active part in 
the grand plan.”326 Besides these official letters, the self-proclaimed premier planned 
to send representatives of the OUN-B government to Slovakia, Romania, Japan, 
Croatia, Germany, and probably other member states of the “New Europe.”327 

In sending the letters to the leaders of European fascist states, Stets’ko behaved 
similar to his Croatian counterpart, Kvaternik, who proclaimed the NDH on 10 April 
1941. Shortly after the proclamation, Kvaternik sent a letter to Hitler, in which he 
thanked the Führer “in the name of the Croatian people, for the protection the 
German army has given the Croat national rebellion, and [to] request your 
recognition of the Independent State of Croatia by the Greater German Reich.” He 
finished the letter with “Long live the Führer of the German people!”328 

The government that Stets’ko was trying to announce in his letters was called the 
Ukrainian State Administration (Ukraїns’ke Derzhavne Pravlinnia).329 It was not 
comprised solely of OUN-B members but also some other Ukrainian politicians. Such 
cooperation with other parties or political camps was quite typical of some of the 
fascist movements, which needed to consolidate their power. The National Socialists, 
for example, cooperated with other political blocs, mainly with conservatives and 
national conservatives before they established their regime and eliminated other 
political parties. The head of the Ukrainian State Administration was Stets’ko. His 
deputy was Lev Rebet. Other well-known OUN members in this government were 
Mykola Lebed’, Roman Shukhevych, Roman Ilnytzkyi, Iaroslav Starukh, Volodymyr 
Horbovyi, and Ivan Klymiv.330 A few days after its formation, the Ukrainian State 
Administration was banned by the Germans and ceased to function, but it estab-
lished a Council of Elders (Rada Sen’ioriv) to carry on as a body that would represent 
the Ukrainians, under the control of the OUN-B. The OUN-B wanted to make 
Dmytro Dontsov the leader of the Council of Elders, but the position finally went to 
Kost’ Levyts’kyi and Andrei Sheptyts’kyi. The Ukrainian State Administration and 
the Council of Elders were to have performed the function of a parliament in the 
OUN-B state. They expressed a desire to hold their meetings in the impressive 
building of the University of Lviv, which had been used by the Galician parliament 
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until 1918.331 Members of the Council of Elders swore “to be faithful till death, to the 
great Idea.” The text of the oath finished with “Glory to the Unified Independent 
Ukraine! Glory to the OUN and its Providnyk Stepan Bandera!”332 

From fragments of the minutes of sessions of either the government or the Coun-
cil of Elders or the State Administration, we know that one of these institutions was 
discussing how to solve the “Jewish problem” in Ukraine.333 The participants in the 
discussion did not specify exactly how this “annihilation action” was to be conducted. 
One participant, the writer Oleksa Hai-Holovko, claimed that the ethnic question in 
Ukraine was to be solved in the “German way.” He meant that the Jews “have to be 
treated very harshly” and that we “must finish them off” because “Jews are very 
insolent.” The OUN-B member Lenkavs’kyi stated that “regarding the Jews, we will 
adopt any methods that lead to their destruction.” Furthermore, the participants very 
enthusiastically discussed a kind of Ukrainian Generalplan Ost. All non-Ukrainians 
living in Ukraine were to be evacuated or annihilated, and all Ukrainians living out-
side “ethnic Ukrainian territory” were to be resettled in “ethnic Ukrainian territory,” 
or the territories in which these Ukrainians lived were to be incorporated into the 
Ukrainian state. For example, all the Ukrainians from Moscow and Leningrad were 
to be resettled in Ukraine.334 

The absence of Bandera, and later of Stets’ko, who was placed under Ehrenhaft 
(honorable captivity) on 9 July 1941, did not interrupt the “Ukrainian National Rev-
olution,” which had been going on for several weeks.335 Probably to improve German-
Ukrainian relations, which had deteriorated after the tensions surrounding the 
proclamation of the state on 30 June, Ukrainians were allowed to organize a second 
huge pogrom in Lviv. This pogrom started on 25 July and lasted until 28 July. It was 
called the “Petliura days” and was organized to avenge the acquittal of Schwartzbard 
by the French court who had killed Petliura on 25 May 1926.336 

During the “Petliura days,” as in the first pogrom, the Ukrainian militiamen 
seized Jews in streets or in their apartments and brought them to the prison on 
Łąckiego Street and the Gestapo building on Pełczyńska Street. There the Jews were 
humiliated, beaten, and killed. Peasants from local villages came to Lviv and were 
seen humiliating, beating, raping, killing, and robbing Jews.337 Gerstenfeld noticed 
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that “crowds in the streets” during the Petliura days “were full of numbers of youths 
in embroidered Ukrainian shirts.”338 Wehrmacht soldiers participated “in the most 
disgusting way” in this pogrom, which outraged their superior, General Karl von 
Roques.339 The number of victims of the “Petliura days” is hard to estimate. Yones 
estimated it at 1,500.340 

Pogroms and Nationalist Celebrations in Other Western Ukrainian 
Localities 

The greatest pogrom in western Ukraine was staged in Lviv, but several thousand 
Jews were killed in pogroms in many other places. Andrzej Żbikowski identified 
thirty-five pogroms in western Ukraine; Aharon Weiss, fifty-eight; Jeffrey Kopfstein, 
124, and Kai Struve up to 140.341 Dieter Pohl estimated that the number of victims of 
all pogroms ranged between 13,000 and 35,000.342 Alexander Kruglov estimated the 
number of Jewish victims of shootings and pogroms in July 1941 in western Ukraine, 
at between 38,000 and 39,000.343 

Two other major pogroms in eastern Galicia occurred in Ternopil’ and Zolochiv 
(Złoczów). In both cases Ukrainian militias cooperated with German troops. On 2 
July 1941 in Zolochiv, Jews were beaten, murdered, and otherwise mistreated by 
militiamen and other pogromists, who asked the Germans for permission to take 
revenge. On 3 July, male Jews were forced by the Ukrainian militia and the German 
troops to exhume corpses of the NKVD victims from a mass grave in the yard of the 
castle in Zolochiv. When they had finished, they were shot by the Germans. More and 
more Jews were then brought to this grave and shot, so that the grave from which the 
Jews were forced to remove the NKVD victims was filled with bodies of murdered 
Jews. Altogether, 3,000 Jews were killed in Zolochiv by the Germans and local 
people, inspired by the OUN-B. As in Lviv, the OUN-B put up posters and distributed 
leaflets in which it welcomed the Germans as allies and liberators.344 
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German troops arrived in Ternopil’ on 2 July 1941. The following day, corpses of 
the NKVD’s victims were found in the prison, and several Jews were beaten, robbed, 
and generally mistreated. The actual pogrom started on the morning of 4 July and 
continued until 6 July.345 In Ternopil’ the main perpetrators were the Waffen-SS 
Wiking division together with local OUN-B activists, in particular militiamen, 
assisted by numerous other pogromists from the town and nearby villages. One sur-
vivor of this pogrom mentioned that a Ukrainian woman let her know that, at a 
meeting on 3 July, Ukrainians demanded permission from the Germans to take 
revenge on Jews.346 

During the pogrom, Ukrainians pointed out Jewish houses to the Germans, from 
which they seized Jewish men, who were forced to clean cars in the market square, 
and were then shot in the basements and in the cemetery.347 Some Waffen-SS sol-
diers raped Jewish women.348 Others forced Jews to carry out corpses from a court-
house and wash them. Afterwards about 1,000 Jews were killed with cudgels and 
spades, as a soldier informed his parents in Vienna.349 A survivor, Salomon Hir-
schberg, stressed the role of the Ukrainian militia with the yellow-and-blue armlets, 
“recruited from the local elements as well as from adjacent villages” and mentioned 
that Ukrainians also used local radio to propagate violence.350 According to the 
records of a Ukrainian health organization, more than 4,000 Jews were killed in this 
pogrom.351 In the cemetery on 7 July, the Ukrainian militiamen shot a group of Jews 
without the assistance of the SS.352 

As well as in Lviv, Ternopil’ and Zlochiv, smaller pogroms occurred in many other 
localities. Some of the smaller anti-Jewish massacres seemed to have had a more 
spontaneous character; others were incited by the OUN-B and the Germans. During 
these pogroms Jews were killed by peasants or local residents armed with iron bars, 
sticks, spades, pitchforks, cudgels, scythes, or hammers, and their apartments were 
afterwards looted, sometimes by their neighbors. In a few places Jews were burned 
in barns, as in Jedwabne.353 In many places in which the pogroms took place, the 
OUN-B had established militias similar to those in Lviv. These militiamen carried out 
instructions similar to those suggested in “Struggle and Activities” and did not 
behave differently from their comrades in Lviv. As in Lviv, in many other Galician 
and Volhynian locations, the pogroms overlapped with the proclamation of state-
hood. On 3 July 1941 in Ternopil’, one day before the pogrom, portraits of Bandera, 
Hitler, and Konovalets’ were exhibited at a meeting where OUN-B members greeted 
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the Germans, celebrated the liberation from “Jewish Bolshevism,” and proclaimed 
statehood (Fig. 18).354 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Fig. 18. Celebrations in Ternopil’ on 3 July 1941. On the placards behind the speakers: Stepan 

Bandera, Adolf Hitler, and Ievhen Konovalets’. Cherednychenko, Natsionalizm proty natsiї, 93. 

To welcome the Germans and signalize support for the new Ukrainian state, the 
OUN-B instructed local Ukrainians to erect triumphal arches.355 During the “Ukrain-
ian National Revolution,” triumphal arches of various kinds were indeed erected in 
numerous villages, towns, and cities. They were decorated with the Ukrainian and 
German flags and such inscriptions as “Glory to Ukraine—Glory to Bandera!” “Long 
Live the German Army!” “Long Live the Leader of the German Nation Adolf Hitler!” 
“Freedom for Ukraine—Death to Moscow!” “Glory to Our Leader [Providnyk] Stepan 
Bandera!” (Figs. 19–20).356 In Volhynia, the triumphal arches were ubiquitous, and 
mainly bore the inscriptions “Heil Hitler!” and “Glory to Ukraine!”357 The OUN-B 
member Mykola Chartoryis’kyi, who went from the General Government to Ukraine 
in the third task force, commented on this kind of propaganda: “Everywhere in vil-
lages and cities, at the entrance gates, among other slogans hang huge inscriptions: 
Glory to Ukraine!—Glory to the Heroes! Long Live the OUN Providnyk Stepan 
Bandera! Long Live the Independent United Ukrainian State!”358 

Michał Sobków remembered that the new administration in Koropets’ (Koropec) 
renamed one street as Bandera Street and another as Senyk Street, and that the 
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picture of a Nazi officer and a Ukrainian nationalist making a fascist salute on the platform, see 
Sabrin, Alliance for Murder, 168. 
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357  “Volynshchyna i Rivenshchyna,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 15, 72. 
358  Chartoryis’kyi, Vid Sianu po Krym, 42. Emphasis in the original. 
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Ukrainian militiamen greeted one another with the fascist salute and the words, 
“Glory to Ukraine!” to which the response was: “Glory to the Heroes!” He also 
noticed that, after some time, ordinary Ukrainians ceased greeting one another with 
the traditional “Glory to Jesus Christ” (Slava Isusu Khrystu) and, like the OUN-B 
revolutionaries, adopted the fascist salute and the OUN-B slogans.359 

Another important element of the revolution was the solemn welcoming of the 
German troops. For this purpose, the local population dressed in folk costumes and 
carried the traditional bread and salt. The OUN-B’s mechanical, repetitive, and 
theatrical re-enactment of the proclamation of the Ukrainian state, in numerous 
towns and cities, was soon noticed by German troops.360 The OUN-B also encouraged 
the Ukrainian population to display Ukrainian and German flags on their houses. It 
demanded that all communist books and portraits be brought to the main square of 
the village and burnt. At the same time, the village population was expected to 
assemble for a propaganda speech. After the burning of portraits of Soviet leaders, 
the portraits of Stepan Bandera and other nationalist heroes were to be displayed. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig. 19. Triumphal arch in Zhovkva. Inscription on the arch: “Heil Hitler!, Glory to Hitler! 

Glory to Bandera! Long Live the Independent United Ukrainian State. 

Long live the Vozhd’ Stepan Bandera.” Courtesy of Marco Carynnyk. 
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Fig. 20. Triumphal arch with the inscription: “Glory to Ukraine! Glory to Bandera!  

Es lebe die deutsche Armee! Heil Hitler!“ 

The graves of OUN activists and German soldiers were to be decorated with flowers. 
When passing the graves, people were expected to raise their right arm in order to 
honor the dead heroes with the fascist salute.361 

The OUN-B instructions were taken seriously and carried out in numerous 
localities. For example, in the village of Perevoloka, after conducting a pogrom, 
OUN-B activists organized an event at which they forced “Soviet activists” to burn 
Soviet books and portraits of Soviet leaders. They also prepared a blacklist, as 
“Struggle and Activities”—written by Bandera and other OUN-B leaders—instructed 
them, and they killed about twenty-five people who were on the list.362 Regional 
leader Levko Zakhidnyi forbade greeting Jews and shaking hands with them.363 
OUN-B member Stepan Mechnyk noticed that, during the OUN-B revolution, 
Ukrainians erected mounds for soldiers, with the inscription “Fallen for the Freedom 
of Ukraine,” priests conducted memorial services at these mounds, and OUN-B 
revolutionaries delivered patriotic speeches.364 

Some patriotic teachers also agreed with the OUN-B agenda. A group of them 
addressed a leaflet to their colleagues with the statement: 

We were forced to poison children’s minds with Jewish internationalism, love for 
everything Russian, and contempt for our own country, language, literature, and 
culture. … Yet we, the great army of Ukrainian culture, did not even for a minute 
forget, even in the terrible bondage of serfish Bolshevism, that we are the heirs to 
Cossack glory, that we are the most resilient people, whose name is the Ukrai-
nians. Even during the fiercest torture imposed on us by the invaders from the 
Russian-Bolshevik Empire, and the Jews, that Judas tribe the whole world curses, 

 
361  “Instruktsiia propahandy ch. 1,” TsDAVOV f. 4620, op. 3, spr. 379, 34. 
362  Interrogation of Pavlo Andreevich Luchko, 21 January 1947, USHMM RG-31.018M, reel 31, HDA SB f. 
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we preserved the purity and transparency of our language, the melodiousness of 
our famous Ukrainian songs. … Let us welcome the German army, the most civi-
lized army in the world, which is expelling the Jewish Communist swine from our 
land. Let us help the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists under the leadership 
of Stepan Bandera build a great Independent Ukrainian State.365 

During the first weeks after the German attack on the Soviet Union, the conduct 
of Metropolitan Sheptyts’kyi was ambiguous, just as it was in the last part of the war. 
At the beginning, the head of the Greek Catholic Church was enthusiastic about the 
“Ukrainian National Revolution” and in particular the attempts of the OUN-B to 
found a Ukrainian state. For this reason, as already indicated, he supported the 
OUN-B state in a pastoral letter, but not OUN-B policies toward ethnic minorities.366 
On 1 June 1941, however, when Rabbi Jecheskiel Lewin asked Sheptyts’kyi to 
appease the pogromists, Sheptyts’kyi offered shelter to Lewin and his family but did 
not intervene.367 The Holocaust survivor Edmund Kessler wrote in his diary, which 
he kept from 1942 to 1944, about Sheptyts’kyi during the pogrom: “The Ukrainian 
archbishop preaches a sermon in which, instead of calming the excited mood and 
taming their barbarous instincts, he demagogically incites the mobs, and in the name 
of their sacred religion, calling upon the population to retaliate against the Jews for 
their supposed bestial murder of political prisoners, even though these prisoners 
included some Jews too.”368 According to the OUN-B, Sheptyts’kyi ordered all Greek 
Catholic priests to decorate their churches with German flags and to obey the 
German and the new Ukrainian authorities.369 He was concerned about the conflict 
within the OUN and, for this reason, advised Mel’nyk to become reconciled with 
Bandera and Stets’ko.370 Sheptyts’kyi criticized the OUN for the greeting “Glory to 
the Heroes!”—”Glory to Ukraine!” because it replaced the religious greeting “Glory to 
Jesus Christ!”371 In the aftermath of the “Ukrainian National Revolution,” he was, 
according to the agency of the Polish government-in-exile, disappointed by the OUN-
B and called its members “unserious people” and “snot-nosed kids [smarkachi].”372 
The Metropolitan rescued and helped to rescue more than a hundred Jews during the 
Holocaust, hiding them in Greek-Catholic monasteries, churches, and also his 

 
365  “Uchyteli Ukraïntsi!,” TsDAHOU f. 57, op. 4, spr. 370, 25, quoted in Carynnyk, Foes of Our Rebirth, 

341. 
366  Dziuban, ed., Ukraïns’ke derzhavotvorennia, 126. 
367  Lewin, Przeżyłem, 28. 
368  Renata Kessler, ed., The Wartime Diary of Edmund Kessler (Boston: Academic Studies Press, 2010), 

34. 
369  “Zvit pro robotu v spravi orhanizatsiї derzhavnoї administratsiї na tereni Zakhidnykh Oblastei 

Ukraїny,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 15, 4. 
370  “Lyst Mytr. Andreia Sheptyts’koho do p. Polkovnyka Andryia Mel’nyka,” in Rohatyns’ke slovo, 

Rohatyn, 26 July 1941, 3. 
371  Zhanna Kovba, ed., Mytropolyt Andrei Sheptyts’kyi: Dokumenty i materialy 1941–1944 (Kiev: Dukh 

i Litera, 2003), 38. 
372  “Sprawozdanie Sytuacyjne z Ziem Wschodnich za pierwszy kwartał 1943 r.,” in Ziemie Wschodnie: 

Raporty Biura Wschodniego Delegatury Rządu na Kraj 1943–1944, ed. Mieczysław Adamczyk, 
Janusz Gmitruk and Adam Koseski (Warsaw: Muzeum Historii Polskiego Ruchu Ludowego, 2005), 
45. 



 Chapter 4: The “Ukrainian National Revolution”: Mass Violence and Political Disaster 225 

 

residence.373 People who were rescued by Sheptyts’kyi remembered him as a very 
kind and noble man.374 

The behavior of Greek Catholic priests varied during the revolution. For example, 
the priest Gavdunyk from Nezvys’ko (Niezwiska) was one of the main organizers of a 
pogrom on 2 and 3 July 1941, in which Jews from several adjacent villages were 
killed.375 A priest in Luka, close to Nezvys’ko, agreed to help a Jewish couple on 
condition that they would agree to be christened.376 The priest in Bolekhiv (Bolechów), 
according to the survivor Matylda Gelerntner, said at a meeting that “Jews are a 
damned nation, of damned origin, a harmful element, and thus they should be 
destroyed.”377 In her testimony, Ellen Pressler, another survivor of Bolekhiv, 
mentioned priests who incited peasants to violence. However, she also remembered a 
priest who invited the local nationalist leaders to a meeting and tried to convince 
them to stop the anti-Jewish violence. Because they did not listen to him and 
continued the pogrom, he removed the Ukrainian flag from his church.378 In a ser-
mon in Koropets’ shortly after the German invasion of the Soviet Union, the Greek 
Catholic priest Skorokhid condemned the murder and imprisonment of Poles by 
Ukrainian militiamen. When the service ended, militiamen were waiting for him in 
front of the church. After a short talk, Skorokhid took the first train and left Koro-
pets’. In his place came another priest who equated Poles with Russians in his ser-
mons and called both peoples the “enemies of the Ukrainian nation.”379 

The report of a OUN-B task force—Iaroslav Stets’ko, Lev Rebet, Iaroslav Starukh, 
and others—written on 29 July 1941, shows how a particular group of OUN-B activ-
ists acted during the “Ukrainian National Revolution” in the town of Iavoriv.380 Other 
documents such as the testimonies from Jewish survivors held in the AŻIH allow us 
to look at the events in Iavoriv in a broader context.381 

In Iavoriv during the two-week occupation in September 1939, Ukrainian militia-
men with yellow-and-blue armlets assisted the German troops, who, in a variety of 
ways, humiliated, tortured, beat, murdered, and otherwise mistreated the Jews, and 
destroyed the synagogue.382 This incident stuck in the minds of the Jews from this 
provincial town, located close to the German-Soviet border. As the German attack on 
the Soviet Union began, many Jews suspected what awaited them and decided to 
escape from the town. This possibly prevented the German troops who had entered 
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Iavoriv on 25 June 1941, and the local OUN-B activists, from organizing a pogrom.383 
In this sense, Iavoriv was an exception. In general, only a few Jews escaped from 
western Ukraine to Soviet territory before the coming of the Germans.384 

The local Ukrainian population of Iavoriv welcomed the German army with flow-
ers.385 The task force arrived in Iavoriv on 28 June 1941 from Krakovets’, where it 
had established an administration and militia under the “leadership of Stepan Ban-
dera.”386 After the Germans’ arrival in Iavoriv, an OUN-B activist first called a meet-
ing of local OUN members and sympathizers, which elected “in the name of the OUN 
and the Providnyk Stepan Bandera,” the head of the militia and the heads of the 
regional and town administration. All of them had to swear an oath, as provided for 
in “Struggle and Activities.” They then went to the German commandant in the town, 
and bid welcome to him and the “great German army ... in the name of the OUN, the 
new administration, and the whole Ukrainian nation.” The German commandant 
authorized the town administration, but added one Pole. Although this irritated the 
OUN-B activists, they did not protest but decided to deal with the problem later.387 

At 4 p.m. on 28 June 1941, they organized a meeting of—as the report claims—all 
citizens of Iavoriv, at which they wanted to familiarize the local Ukrainians with the 
new authorities and ask them to swear an oath to Stepan Bandera, as “Struggle and 
Activities” prescribed. But at that moment, the news arrived that the Stepan Bandera 
battalion, that is the Nachtigall battalion, would soon march into the town. They 
therefore interrupted the preparations for the meeting and erected a triumphal arch 
with the inscription “Glory to Ukraine—Glory to Bandera” and waited for the 
battalion, with flowers in their hands. Because the battalion did not arrive, they 
started the gathering, for which they had meanwhile decorated a room in the town 
hall. According to the report, the room was filled with people and flowers. The new 
officials, who were elected by the OUN-B activists, delivered speeches, which were 
interrupted by applause. The OUN-B activists endorsed the elected officials in front 
of the gathered people, who began to venerate Stepan Bandera and Ukraine with 
loud shouts and sang the national anthem. Afterwards, they “put into motion the 
whole [administrative] apparatus to get the entire raion going.”388 

The OUN-B task forces proceeded in a similar fashion in many other locations. In 
some cases they not only organized a militia but also arranged a church service for 
the new authorities, or organized paramilitary youth organizations named after Ste-
pan Bandera.389 The German army and Adolf Hitler were celebrated and venerated 
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by the revolutionary masses in all revolutionary territories. General Karl von Roques 
observed on 30 June in Dobromyl (Dobromil): 

About 4.00 p.m. I reached my accommodation in Dobromyl. Already on the way 
there, Ukrainian children threw flowers under our feet. In Dobromyl, a dressed-
up crowd was waiting for me in front of our building. When the car stopped, a 
dozen Ukrainian women in colorful national dresses surrounded me. Everyone 
gave me a bouquet; in the state building, the mayor and a representative of the 
national Ukrainian movement delivered a longer speech (both in tolerably good 
German). I was celebrated as conqueror and liberator from the Bolshevik yoke. … 

Pleasure and excitement was given highest expression the next day, during a 
meeting of all the inhabitants in front of the town hall. When I came back from a 
trip to the front, in the oilfields around Drohobych, in the evening shortly after 8 
p.m., I saw the gathering. I got out and went to the balcony of the town hall where 
several officers were already assembled. The crowd of many thousands, dressed 
up, in the middle all the clergy in robes, next to them all the girls in their tradi-
tional costumes with the long pearl necklace encircled several times around their 
neck and shoulder were a very colorful picture. After several speeches I also had 
to deliver a speech. A translator translated every sentence into Ukrainian. Every 
time the name “Adolf Hitler” was mentioned the people became delirious and 
clapped. During all my trips in these days my car was showered with flowers in all 
localities.390 

In Olszanica, the local population welcomed the Germans as liberators and orga-
nized church services. Attracted by the religious chants, two German soldiers looked 
inside a church; the priest interrupted his sermon, expressed thanks in German to 
the two officers for the liberation, and began to pray in German together with the 
congregation, for Germany and its army.391 

In some places, representatives of villages came to the raion center to participate 
in the proclamation ceremony, as in the town of Radekhiv (Radziechów) in the Lviv 
oblast, where on 13 July 1941 the OUN-B organized a celebration in which 6,000 
people took part. The celebration began with a church service, in which represent-
atives of all villages in the Radekhiv raion allegedly participated. After the service, 
Stets’ko’s proclamation was reread in an administrative building. Participants in the 
meeting hoped that the militia that had already been established would soon grow 
into a Ukrainian army.392 

In Zhuravno (Żurawno) a group of thirty young people dressed in festive clothes 
carried the Ukrainian yellow-and-blue flag and shouted: “Death to the Jews and 
communists.” Later, after the Ukrainians took power and established a militia, 
“fanatical Ukrainians rounded up dozens of Jews, forced them all into some damp 
cellars and beat them with great cruelty.”393 

 
390  “Kriegs-Erinnerungen des General der Infanterie Karl von Roques aus der ersten Zeit des 

Ostfeldzuges 1941, I. Teil,” BA-MA Freiburg, N 152/10, 4–5. 
391  “Tagesmeldung, 2.7.1941,” BA-MA, RH 26/454/6a, 1–2. 
392  Mechnyk, Pochatok, 12–13. 
393  Haim Tal, The Fields of Ukraine: A 17-Year-Old’s Survival of Nazi Occupation: The Story of Yosef 

Laufer (Denver: Dallci Press, 2009), 4. 



228 Stepan Bandera: The Life and Afterlife of a Ukrainian Nationalist 
 

  

In Stanislaviv, which was liberated by Hungarian troops, the celebration took 
place on 12 July 1941. It began with a church service and was attended by represent-
atives of the Hungarian authorities. From a podium, the engineer Semianchuk read 
the OUN-B proclamation, which the crowd frequently interrupted with shouts like 
“Glory to the Ukrainian State!” “Glory to Stepan Bandera!” “Glory to the OUN!” “Glory 
to Adolf Hitler!” “Glory to the Allied Hungarian Army!” Then everybody stood up and 
the orchestra played the national anthem. Afterwards, OUN activist Rybchuk in-
formed the crowd that the OUN had completed the first stage of the fight against the 
“occupiers of Ukrainian territories,” who had “tortured [thousands of victims] to 
death in prisons and camps in the Solovetsky Islands after deportation.” The victims 
were honored with a moment of silence. Then the crowd was informed that “now the 
organization under the leadership of Stepan Bandera is in the second stage [of the 
fight], in which it will establish a Ukrainian state.”394 

The ceremony was also attended by Ukrainian militiamen in mazepynka caps 
who, shortly before the celebrations, were prevented by the Hungarian army from 
organizing a huge pogrom in Stanislaviv, although they did organize a small one. The 
OUN-B complained about this incident in its reports.395 In the hall of the Ivan Franko 
theatre in Stanislaviv, another ceremony took place. Professor Hamers’kyi an-
nounced in his speech to the audience: 

We live now in important historical days. The German army under the leadership 
of Adolf Hitler creates a new hope for the world and helps us to build a Ukrainian 
state that will collaborate with National-Socialist Great Germany. The Organiza-
tion of Ukrainian Nationalists, which, under the leadership of Ievhen Konovalets’, 
its deceased founder and leader, and Stepan Bandera, its current leader, is waging 
a heroic battle against the horrible oppression of the Ukrainian nation and is 
emerging from underground to create Ukrainian independence.396 

In Rivne on 27 July 1941, 10,000 people attended a “Celebration of Ukrainian 
Independence” in the square of the old castle. The main attraction of the celebration 
was the First Battalion (kurin’) of the “Ukrainian Army.” Many OUN groups arrived 
with banners that displayed slogans such as “Long Live Our Vozhd’ Bandera” and 
“We Struggle for the State of Volodymyr the Great.” While the local OUN leaders 
were delivering speeches, the crowd performed the fascist salute, calling once “Glory 
to the Heroes!” and responding three times “Glory to Ukraine!” At other times, the 
crowd shouted “Long Live Stepan Bandera!” “Long Live Stets’ko’s Government!” and 
“Long Live Adolf Hitler!” Finally, after the speeches, the First Battalion swore an 
oath, and the numerous flags, among them the red-and-black flag of the battalion, 
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which was also the OUN-B flag, and one with the inscription “Freedom for Ukraine 
or Death,” were blessed.397  

As well as organizing and performing nationalist celebrations, and exercising eth-
nic and political violence, the OUN-B released a few newspapers, which praised the 
revolution and the leaders of the revolution. The newspaper Samostiina Ukraїna, in 
Stanyslaviv oblast, printed OUN-B propaganda from 7 July 1941 onward. On 10 July, 
it reprinted the text of the proclamation on the front page, with a photograph of the 
protagonist of this event, Iaroslav Stets’ko (Fig. 21). On 24 July, Ukraїns’ke slovo 
printed a photograph of the Providnyk Stepan Bandera, together with articles about 
the “Ukrainian-German-Hungarian war” against the “NKVD and its villains who 
tortured the Ukrainian nation” (Fig. 22).398 

Letters and Leaders 

Because Bandera and Stets’ko had been arrested by the Germans and were not with 
the revolutionary masses during the “Ukrainian National Revolution,” the OUN-B 
tried to have them released, and permitted to return to Ukraine. For this purpose, 
OUN-B activists began to collect “plenipotentiary letters” that they wanted to send to 
Hitler. The “plenipotentiary letters” were often signed by numerous Ukrainians at 
the local proclamation ceremonies. For this reason, the content of the standardized 
text from the “Struggle and Activities” was modified. Here is an example of one of 
these standard documents: 

We, citizens of the village Rudnyky, were called to a ceremonial assembly at 
which the Independent Ukrainian State was proclaimed. We listened to the text of 
the proclamation act with inexpressible pleasure: We are proud to have such a 
leader [providnyk] of the OUN and of the whole Ukrainian Nation as STEPAN 
BANDERA. We are very grateful to the invincible Allied German Army and to its 
leader [vozhd’] Adolf Hitler, who helps to liberate the Ukrainian people from 
Jewish-Muscovite slavery [z-pid zhydivs’ko-moskovs’koï nevoli]. 

Long live Great National Socialist Germany and its leader Adolf Hitler. 
Long live the Independent Ukrainian United State. 
Long live the leader of the OUN and of the whole Ukrainian Nation STEPAN 

BANDERA.399 

Some of the letters began with the heading “declaration” (zaiava),400 others with 
“resolution” (rezoliutsiia),401 and still others were addressed directly, without any 
 

 
397  “Zvit z pivnichno-zakhidnykh ukraїns’kykh zemel,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 15, 7v. Similar 

manifestations took place in other localities. Cf. TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 15, 7. For a similar 
manifestation in Lublin, see “Ereignismeldung UdSSR, Nr. 20, 12.07.1941,” BAB R58/214, 131. 

398  “Akt prohloshennia Ukrains’koi derzhavy,” Samostiina Ukraina, 10 July 1941, 1; “Sviatochna 
akademiia,” Ukrains’ke slovo, 24 July 1941, 1. 

399  TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 29, 1. Emphasis in the original. The text of the letter from the village of 
Rudnyky was used with small modifications in letters from such places as Omel’no, Kulikovychi, 
Iavlon’ka, Raznyi, and Tel’chi. See TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 29, 1, 4–5. 

400  “Zaiava do Uriadu Iaroslava Stets’ka,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 31, 1. 
401  Resolution from the village of Elblanivka, 13 July 1941, TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 29, 2–3. 
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Fig. 21. Samostiina Ukraina, 10 July 1941, 1. 
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Fig. 22. Ukrains’ke slovo, 24 July 1941, 1. 
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heading, to the “leader of the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists Stepan Ban-
dera”402 or to the “leader of the German people Adolf Hitler”403 or to the “head of the 
government of the Ukrainian state Iaroslav Stets’ko.”404 In some letters, a plea to 
Hitler to release Bandera and Stets’ko and let them come to Ukraine was added, as in 
the one from Ksaverivka, which was probably drafted by a local person with a strong 
affiliation to the OUN-B. The letter is composed in a very simple style. It includes 
numerous grammatical errors that suggest the author was a peasant with a weak 
grasp of the written language: 

To the leader of the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists Stepan Bandera. 
Announcement 
We, the citizens of the village Ksaverivka, assembled on Sunday, 19 July 1941, 

in the square to demonstrate before the world that the Ukrainian Nation fights for 
its rights and for an Independent Ukrainian State. 

We are firmly subordinated to the Ukrainian Government that was proclaimed 
in Lviv and we will faithfully carry out all the orders that will be given us. We ask 
the leader of the German Nation to confirm the temporary council of the village. 

We are grateful to the German Army and its Leaders. First of all we are grate-
ful to Chancellor Adolf Hitler for his command to his heroic Army to drive out the 
Bolshevik Jewish bandit and Polish treason, which oppressed the Ukrainian 
People in jails and camps. We met the German Army with great happiness 
because it drove out the bandit army from our Ukraine and liberated us. 

We believe that Germany will not desire to enslave the Ukrainian Nation and 
that it will once and for all make the Ukrainian People a Nation of will and deed, 
which will join the fight against Jewish Communism [zhydo komuna] and all 
oppressors of the Ukrainian people who oppressed the Ukrainian People, and 
severely opposed Germany and Hitler. 

We ask Adolf Hitler, the great Genius of the German People, to release for us 
our OUN Leader Stepan Bandera who led the Ukrainian people many years under 
the terror of Poland and Moscow and we believe that he will now also lead us on 
the right path as he has so far. The Ukrainian people and the Organization of 
Ukrainian Nationalists believe in his forces and also that only he as the Leader of 
the Ukrainian Nationalists is able to lead us and to put a stop to the whole com-
munist diversion and to make collaboration with great Germany possible. 

Glory to the German Army 
Glory to the Führer [firerovi] of the German Nation Adolf Hitler 
Glory to Ukraine 
Glory to the Heroes.405 

This letter is reasonably representative of the other letters addressed to Bandera, 
Hitler, and Stets’ko. It provides important evidence about the OUN-B, as well as 

 
402  Letter from the village of Ksaverivka, 19 July 1941, TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 29, 13. 
403  Letter from Steniatyn to Adolf Hitler, 19 July 1941, TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 31, 36. 
404  Letter from the village Ksaverivka to Iaroslav Stets’ko, 18 July 1941, TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 29, 

9. 
405  TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 29, 13–14. A list of eighty signatures is affixed to the letter. The same 

letter was also addressed to Iaroslav Stets’ko and signed by seventy-five people. See TsDAVOV f. 
3833, op. 1, spr. 29, 9–12. 
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about the mental and political state into which it was trying to push the revolutionary 
Ukrainian masses. The disdain for Jews and communists, who in popular opinion 
became one and the same, was sometimes expressed more vividly than in the quoted 
letter. In the village of Steniatyn, for example, three elaborate letters were written to 
Bandera, Hitler, and Stets’ko.406 The authors of this correspondence called them-
selves “peasants and intelligentsia.” They expressed deep gratitude to and admiration 
for the German Führer and his army. They believed that the “Great Leader of the 
German Nation ... has destroyed forever the enemies of our nation, and the com-
munist threat to the civilized world.”407 Hitler had delivered them from communist 
barbarity, thus allowing them to re-join the “civilized world.” That Nazi morality 
made this “civilized world” one of modern barbarity did not influence their expressed 
desire to become a part of it. In this and other letters, the writers admired Hitler for 
his “invincible world-famous army,” his “fairness,” and his will to liberate the Ukrai-
nian people from the “yoke of the Jewish-Muscovite and Polish Bolshevist subhuman 
beings, the hangmen of the Ukrainian people.”408 

However fair and glorious Hitler may have seemed to the “revolutionary masses,” 
he had arrested and imprisoned Bandera in Berlin. Some letters were open in 
expressing the desire to have Bandera come home. The OUN-B must have informed 
the writers and signatories of the leader’s arrest and convinced them that only Ban-
dera could lead the Ukrainian nation to independence. These authors hoped that the 
“fraternal German nation” would understand the crucial importance of their 
leader.409 

Bandera was the most admired object of the revolution. Some authors stated that 
words were inadequate to express the strength of their admiration for the Providnyk 
and that their love for him was immeasurable. A few specified that they loved Ban-
dera with “pure peasant hearts [sertsia chysto selians’ki]”—the highest form of love. 
Their only wish was to be the “faithful servants of their Providnyk and their nation.” 
They wanted to be like him and other great heroes of the Ukrainian nation.410 

In a leaflet published by the homeland executive of the OUN “To the Ukrainian 
Nation,” which circulated during the revolution, Bandera was depicted as the telos of 
the Ukrainian nation. He was placed at the summit of Ukrainian history as the 
Vozhd’ of all Ukrainians. Ukrainian history was reduced to a glorious past, which 
ended when vicious strangers destroyed the magnificent Ukrainian medieval state 
and enslaved the Ukrainians. Then followed centuries of revolutionary struggle for 
independence, of which the last stage was the revolutionary struggle of the OUN 
under the leadership of Bandera. The text ended with “Glory to Ukraine,” “Glory to 
the Heroes,” “Glory to the vozhd.’”411 

 
406  “Do Vysokopovazhanoho Stepana Bandery,” “Do Holovy Uriadu Ukraїns’koï Derzhavy Stets’ka 

Iaroslava,” “Do Firera Nimetskoho Narodu Adol’fa Hitlera,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 31, 29–32, 
36–37. 

407  “Do Firera Nimetskoho Narodu Adol’fa Hitlera,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 31, 36. In another part 
of the same letter the enemies are called “bestial asiatics” (zizvirili aziaty). 

408  Ibid., 36. 
409  “Do Firera Nimets’koho Narodu Adol’fa Hitlera,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 31, 36. 
410  “Do Vysokopovazhanoho Stepana Bandery,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 31, 29. 
411  “Ukraїns’kyi Narode,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 41, 1–2. 
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Throughout the “Ukrainian National Revolution,” Stepan Bandera, the embodi-
ment of the revolution, was not to be found in the revolutionary territories. His per-
son was controlled by the Germans, first in Cracow and then in Berlin. But the spirit 
and the charisma of the Providnyk were with the revolutionary masses. Bandera’s 
presence was palpable in the proclamation ceremonies and in all the letters 
addressed to Hitler, Bandera, and Stets’ko. Ivan Klymiv wrote to Stepan Bandera 
that he had immediately known where to place his loyalties after the split in the 
OUN, because he and other fellow OUN-members “saw Bandera twice under the 
gallows, unconquerable and loyal to the idea.”412 It was obvious to them that Bandera 
was the true Ukrainian Providnyk and that, during the “Ukrainian National Revolu-
tion,” the whole revolutionary territory should be covered with posters and leaflets 
extolling Bandera.413 

The last object of admiration, Iaroslav Stets’ko, was depicted in the letters as a 
famous freedom fighter and leading figure in the OUN. The writers greeted Stets’ko 
with a nationalist salute. Stets’ko was for them the person who had proclaimed 
statehood in Lviv and thus performed the most revolutionary of deeds, a model now 
acted out in villages, towns, and cities across Ukraine. As the main hero of 30 June 
1941 Stets’ko evoked almost the same admiration and filial love as the Providnyk 
did.414 

Result of the “Ukrainian National Revolution” 

According to Klymiv, the OUN-B tried to establish statehood in 213 districts (raions) 
across Ukraine, 187 in western Ukraine and twenty-six in eastern Ukraine.415 In the 
Zolochiv district, the OUN-B found 8,000 supporters.416 This suggests that the OUN-
B might have persuaded a total of more than 1.5 million people to back its project. 
Considering the short time in which the OUN-B was working to establish statehood, 
the “Ukrainian National Revolution” of the OUN-B evidently spread quickly, but it 
ended abruptly due to conflicts with the Germans. In contrast, according to Klymiv, 
the OUN-M proclaimed statehood in only two districts.417 

A violent nationalist “uprising,” to some extent similar to the “Ukrainian National 
Revolution,” occurred in Lithuania after Germany attacked the Soviet Union on 22 
June 1941. It was organized by the Lithuanian Activist Front (Lietuvos aktyvistų 
frontas, LAF), which had constituted itself in November 1940 in Berlin and was 
composed of radical-right and national conservative politicians who had left Lithua-
nia after the Soviet Union occupied their country in June 1940. Headed by Kazys 
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Mykolaїv, see PAAA, R 105182, 218925–218928. 

414  “Do Holovy Uriadu Ukraїns’koï Derzhavy Stets’ka Iaroslava,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 31, 31. 
415  “Zahal’nyi ohliad,” not earlier than August 1941, TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 45, 1–2. See also the 

document “Zvit pro robotu v spravi orhanizatsiї derzhavnoї administratsiї na tereni Zakhidnykh 
Oblastei Ukraїny” in TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 15, 1–4. 

416  Report from the meeting of Ukrainian citizens of the Zolochiv district, TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 
34, 40. 

417  “Zahal’nyi ohliad,” not earlier than August 1941, TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 45, 2. 



 Chapter 4: The “Ukrainian National Revolution”: Mass Violence and Political Disaster 235 

 

Škirpa, the LAF established a few commissions that were intended to become the 
Lithuanian government after the German attack on the Soviet Union. On 23 June 
1941, Lithuanian nationalists seized a radio station in Kaunas, over which Leonas 
Prapuolenis announced that an independent Lithuanian state with a provisional 
government had been created. As in Ukraine, the government was not accepted by 
the Germans and existed only for a few days. The process of establishing the state 
went along with a number of pogroms, as a result of which several hundred Jews 
were killed by locals, the LAF, other Lithuanian groups, and Germans.418 

In addition to those in Lithuania and western Ukraine, pogroms also took place 
after 22 June 1941 in other territories occupied by Germany, including north-eastern 
Poland and Latvia, and to a lesser extent in Belarus and Estonia.419 After the begin-
ning of Operation München on 2 July, very bloody pogroms occurred in Bessarabia 
and northern Bukovina, which were invaded and occupied by Romanian troops.420 
This indicates that the German invasion and the NKVD massacres were an important 
trigger for the pogroms. In western Ukraine, however, pogroms also took place in 
localities where the Germans were not present at the time of pogrom, or where the 
Hungarians had invaded, or in which there were no prisons with NKVD victims. 
These facts and also the OUN-B complaints about the Hungarian army and the Slo-
vaks, who restricted the OUN-B’s anti-Jewish activities, or were “too friendly” toward 
Jews and Poles, indicate that a certain number of pogroms were organized and car-
ried out by the OUN-B activists or the local population, without any encouragement 
or help from the Germans.421 

Ellen Pressler, for example, noticed that power in Bolekhiv was taken over by 
local Ukrainian nationalists, who formed the militia and organized a pogrom before 
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the Hungarian army came to the town.422 Matylda Gelerntner, another survivor of 
Bolekhiv, noticed that the Ukrainians were heavily armed, and claimed that they 
were “Germans” in order to convince the Hungarian troops that they had more right 
to rule in Bolekhiv.423 In Khotymyr (Chocimierz) a troop of Hungarian soldiers would 
not allow a band of Ukrainian pogromists to drown a group of Jews from Tlumach 
(Tłumacz), in the Dniester river.424 On the way from Ternopil’ to Lviv, Uri Lichter 
observed “murderers with axes and scythes,” long before he saw a German.425 Izio 
Wachtel reported that, after the Soviet soldiers retreated from his town of Chortkiv 
and “before the Germans entered, the Ukrainians arrived in the town with … axes 
and scythes and other instruments, and slaughtered and killed and robbed the Jews. 
With the arrival of the Germans, the wild killing ceased and the murder by orders 
began.”426 

The vast majority of pogroms in Ukraine occurred in eastern Galicia and in Vol-
hynia.427 After the German attack on the Soviet Union, in territories to the east of 
Galicia and Volhynia, Jews were killed in mass shootings. Alexander Kruglov esti-
mated that, in July 1941, 38,000 to 39,000 Jews died as a result of pogroms and 
mass shootings. In August, between 61,000 and 62,000 Jews were shot in Ukraine, 
and in September between 136,000 and 137,000.428 An Einsatzgruppe C report from 
September 1941, when the German army was in eastern Ukraine, complained about 
the difficulty of persuading Ukrainians “to take active steps against the Jews.”429 

Although this study concentrates on Bandera and the OUN and explores their role 
in the pogroms and other events, it is also important to briefly outline the whole 
spectrum of perpetrators and motives. As already indicated, the pogromists in west-
ern Ukraine can be divided into three groups: the Germans, the OUN-B, and the local 
population.430 The Germans enabled the anti-Jewish violence, by attacking and con-
quering the Soviet Union. They also triggered pogroms in several places, but not all, 
and coordinated their execution. The OUN-B organized a militia, which both collabo-
rated with the Germans and killed Jews independently. It also incited the local pop-
ulation to anti-Jewish violence, by spreading antisemitic propaganda and advocating, 
together with Germans, revenge on the Jews for the NKVD murders. The local pop-
ulation was driven to anti-Jewish violence by the German and OUN-B propaganda, 
especially by the instrumentalization of the NKVD murders. The local perpetrators 
came from different social groups and acted with different reasons, of which anti-
semitism, nationalism, racism, and fascism were important, but not the only ones. 
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Other important motives were, as already indicated, connected with the economy 
and the perpetrators wish to enrich themselves. Thus, Jewish houses were also plun-
dered by peasants who came to the towns and cities with carts for the purpose. Philip 
Friedman, survivor of the Holocaust in Galicia, and an early Holocaust historian, 
wrote that, among the perpetrators, one could find all kinds of people: peasants, 
teachers, municipal administrators, pharmacists, school inspectors, priests, judges, 
students, high-school pupils, and women.431 

Bandera’s Agency and Responsibility 

Although it is not an easy task to explain in which sense and to what extent Bandera 
was responsible for the pogroms and other forms of ethnic and political violence in 
western Ukraine in summer 1941, this study requires to look for a nuanced, complex, 
and adequate answer to this difficult question. 

First, it is important to remember that the Gestapo advised Bandera not go to the 
“newly occupied territories.” He was, therefore, not present in Lviv when Ukrainian 
statehood was proclaimed, when the local OUN-B members and the task forces 
spread antisemitic propaganda, or when they organized the militia, which became 
one of the main perpetrators of the pogrom in Lviv and many other places. However, 
Bandera’s physical absence from Lviv, and many other localities in which the 
pogroms took place, does not exonerate him of the responsibility for the crimes com-
mitted by the OUN-B, because he had prepared the “Ukrainian National Revolution,” 
which anticipated establishing a state and eliminating the political and ethnic “ene-
mies” of this state. The preparation included writing “Struggle and Activities,” to-
gether with Stets’ko, Shukhevych, and Lenkavs’kyi, and, with the help of this and 
other documents, informing the underground in Ukraine how to act after the begin-
ning of the German attack on the Soviet Union. “Struggle and Activities” was un-
ambiguous about what the Ukrainian nationalists should do with Jews, Poles, 
Soviets, and Ukrainian opponents. Klymiv, leader of the OUN-B in Ukraine, received 
“Struggle and Activities” in early May 1941 and was guided by it when he organized 
and conducted the violent uprising. “Struggle and Activities” consisted of a series of 
general and specific instructions to Klymiv, and to the OUN-B in Ukraine, which 
committed numerous war crimes during the “Ukrainian National Revolution,” while 
following the instructions included in this document.  

Second, it is not known whether Bandera issued direct orders after 22 June 1941 
to conduct or support anti-Jewish violence, nor how much he knew about the run of 
events. The fact that he was the Providnyk of the organization suggests that he must 
have been consulted by his underlings about the course of events. Stets’ko wrote that 
Bandera did not go to Ukraine but stayed in the General Government, close to the 
former German-Soviet border, to coordinate the actions of the task forces with the 
help of couriers. The OUN-B task forces, as already mentioned, organized the militia 
and other organs of the state. After 22 June, Stets’ko stayed in contact with the 
Providnyk by sending him telegrams. He also received telegrams from Bandera but, 
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unlike Stets’ko’s correspondence, Bandera’s telegrams have not remained in the 
archives. The Germans, according to Stets’ko, confined Bandera on 29 June. But it is 
not clear if and how they limited Bandera’s actions. The Germans might have forbid-
den him to go to Lviv, but they did not arrest him at that time. This allowed him to 
continue coordinating the task forces and having an impact on the course of the 
uprising. The fact that he arrived late at a meeting organized by Ernst Kundt on 3 
July 1941 in Cracow suggests that Bandera was not staying in Cracow but was co-
ordinating the task forces from somewhere closer to the Ukrainian territories. Lebed 
specified in 1952 that it was somewhere in Kholmshchyna.432 

Third, Bandera was the Providnyk or Vozhd’ of the OUN-B, and thus he was the 
leader of the Ukrainian nationalist and genocidal movement, which organized and 
conducted the “Ukrainian National Revolution.” The OUN-B, like a number of other 
fascist and authoritarian movements, implemented the Führerprinzip and officially 
elected Bandera as its Providnyk. Bandera did not disagree with this decision, nor 
did he indicate that he disagreed with the general line of OUN-B policies. On the 
contrary, he was proud to be the Providnyk of the movement, actively engaged in the 
“revolutionary deeds,” and hoped to become the leader of the Ukrainian state and all 
Ukrainians. In this sense, Bandera bears political responsibility for the deeds of his 
organization, in a similar manner to Hitler, Pavelić, Antonescu, and other leaders of 
violent movements. Yet we should not overlook the fact that Bandera’s agency and 
power were more limited than Hitler’s, Pavelić’s, or Antonescu’s, especially after 
Bandera was arrested on 5 July 1941. 

Considering all these factors, we may conclude that Bandera was responsible for 
the ethnic and political mass violence in the summer of 1941, although his responsi-
bility certainly differed from Hitler’s, Pavelić’s, Antonescu’s and other leaders whose 
movements committed war crimes or were involved in atrocities. To estimate Ban-
dera’s responsibility we should differentiate between a legal moral, ethical, and po-
litical responsibility and explain if Bandera was guilty of any of them. Because the 
Germans did not allow Bandera to go to the “newly occupied territories,” confined 
him on 29 June, when he might have tried to go to Lviv, and took him into honorary 
arrest on 5 July, the spectrum of his involvement in atrocities after 22 June 1941 was 
limited. We also do not know what kind of orders (if any), he issued after 22 June 
1941, although we know that he participated in the uprising while coordinating the 
task forces with the help of couriers, and that thereby his actions may have impacted 
the general course of events. If he was indeed only a “passive personality,” a national 
or international court of justice may have convicted him by means of the principle of 
“universal jurisdiction” over crimes against humanity as happened to Adolf 
Eichmann in Jerusalem in 1962.433 More solid evidence for Bandera’s legal 
involvement is in the document “Struggle and Activities,” which he prepared together 
with other leading OUN-B members prior to the uprising. This document clearly 
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included ethnic and political mass violence as a means of revolution and was, as 
already mentioned, a line of general and specific instruction to the underground in 
Ukraine, which fulfilled it. Had a Ukrainian court, which was interested in the 
transformation of Ukrainian society toward democracy, considered this document 
and applied the notion of transnational justice, it would have convicted Bandera and 
several other OUN-B leaders involved in the preparation and conduct of the “Ukrai-
nian National Revolution,” in order to provide recognition to the victims and pro-
mote civic trust and democracy in Ukraine.434 

Bandera’s moral, ethical, and political responsibility, on the other hand, seems to 
be more evident. It resulted from the fact that he prepared the “Ukrainian National 
Revolution,” and wanted to realize its goals. Furthermore, Bandera never condemned 
the results of the “Ukrainian National Revolution” nor suggested that he disagreed 
with them. After the National Ukrainian Revolution, the OUN-B published Bandera’s 
letter from 15 July 1941 to Ivan Klymiv, the leader of the OUN-B in Ukraine, in which 
the Providnyk gave thanks to Klymiv and other “Friends-Heroes” for what they had 
done. Before publishing the letter, Stets’ko must have given Bandera details of the 
revolutionary events in person.435 

Unlike Bandera, his three brothers—Bohdan, Vasyl’, and Oleksandr—were not 
prevented from participating in the “Ukrainian National Revolution” in the “newly 
occupied territories.” Bohdan and Vasyl’ arrived in Ukraine from the General 
Government, and Oleksandr from Rome. Vasyl’ organized a meeting in Stanislaviv, 
and Bohdan in Kalush, at which they announced the proclamation of the OUN-B 
state as “Struggle and Activities” and other documents instructed them.436 According 
to testimonies of Jewish survivors, in addition to these “revolutionary” activities, 
either Vasyl’ or Oleksandr organized pogroms around Bolekhiv, not far from their 
home village of Staryi Uhryniv.437 
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Conclusion 

The Second World War set Bandera free. He went to Lviv but soon left for Cracow 
because the OUN realized that the international situation did not lend itself to con-
ducting a national revolution. The conflict between the generations led to a split of 
the OUN in 1940 into the Bandera and Mel’nyk factions. The OUN-B in collaboration 
with the Nazis prepared itself for Operation Barbarossa and the “Ukrainian National 
Revolution.” It attempted to establish a Ukrainian state after the German attack on 
the Soviet Union and hoped that the Germans would approve of it, as they had ac-
cepted the states established by the Hlinka Party and the Ustaša. After the German 
attack on the Soviet Union on 22 June 1941, the OUN-B task forces assisted the Ger-
man troops and together with them and the local Ukrainians organized a number of 
pogroms in western Ukraine as the result of which several thousand Jews were mur-
dered, robbed, or otherwise mistreated. Bandera’s responsibility for these acts of 
mass violence is a question that can only be answered in a nuanced and complex way 
because his agency was restricted by the Germans. 

A few hours after the outbreak of the pogroms in Lviv on 30 June 1941, the OUN-
B proclaimed Ukrainian statehood. In the following days, Stets’ko wrote letters to 
Hitler, Mussolini, Pavelić, and Franco and asked them to accept the new Ukrainian 
state, but the leading Nazi politicians did not give their approval. They had plans for 
Ukraine and the Baltic states that were different from those for Croatia and Slovakia. 
The Germans arrested some members of the OUN-B leadership, among them Ban-
dera and Stets’ko, and took them to Berlin. Some Ukrainians, motivated by the OUN-
B, tried in numerous letters to convince Hitler to release Bandera and Stets’ko and 
allow them to rule a Ukrainian state. They hoped that Bandera would be allowed to 
be their Providnyk and would be able to rule a state apparatus that would transform 
Ukraine into a purely Ukrainian country. 



 

 

Chapter 5 

RESISTANCE, COLLABORATION, AND  

GENOCIDAL ASPIRATIONS 

During the Second World War, Ukrainians were both victims and perpetrators. They 
fought both willingly and under coercion on the side of Stalin against Hitler, and on 
the side of Hitler against Stalin.1 According to estimates by historians, 6,850,000 
people (16.3 percent of the population), were killed in Ukraine during the Second 
World War, of whom 5,200,000 were civilians of various nationalities.2 When Nazi 
Germany attacked the Soviet Union on 22 June 1941, about 2.7 million Jews lived in 
the territory of present-day Ukraine, or 2.47 million within the borders of the Ukrai-
nian SSR of 1941. During the German occupation of Ukraine, which lasted for some 
two years in its western territories, and for some three years in its eastern ones, the 
Germans, with the help of their accomplices, killed more than 1.6 million Ukrainian 
Jews. Half of them were annihilated in eastern Galicia and Volhynia, whose united 
territory was much smaller than the rest of the country. Among the 900,000 Ukrai-
nian Jews who saved themselves by escaping with the Soviet Army, there was only a 
very small number from western Ukraine. The number of survivors in western 
Ukraine was also low. Whereas 97 percent of the Jews in the Ternopil’ oblast did not 
survive the Holocaust, 91 percent of the Jews in the Kharkiv oblast survived. In gen-
eral, among the 100,000 Jews who survived the war in Ukraine in hiding or in Nazi 
slave labor camps, there were less than 20,000 from eastern Galicia and Volhynia.3 

In eastern Galicia 570,000 Jews and in Volhynia 250,000 were annihilated in 
four stages. The first stage was the pogroms, which cost about 30,000 Jewish lives in 
both regions, and which were analyzed in the previous chapter in connection with the 
“Ukrainian National Revolution.” In the second stage, which began during the po-
groms and lasted until the end of 1941, Einsatzgruppe C shot about 50,000 Jews in 
eastern Galicia and 25,000 in Volhynia. The third stage differed between eastern 
Galicia and Volhynia. About 200,000 Jews in Volhynia were shot close to the ghet-
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toes or in the local fields and forests. The Einsatzkommandos and Sicherheitspolizei 
(Security Police), who were assisted by the Ukrainian police, finished the murder of 
Volhynian Jews in late 1942. In eastern Galicia, more than 200,000 Jews were sent 
to the Bełżec annihilation camp, 150,000 were shot, and 80,000 were killed or died 
in the ghettos and labor camps. The extermination of the majority of eastern Galician 
Jews was completed in the summer of 1943. In the fourth stage, about 10 percent 
(80,000) of all western Ukrainian Jews fought for their lives while hiding in the 
woods, countryside, towns and cities. Ukrainian nationalists were involved in differ-
ent ways in all four stages of the murder of the western Ukrainian Jews and com-
mitted other massacres of civilians, while pursuing their revolutionary and genocidal 
ideas.4 

The OUN-M and the Question of Eastern Ukraine 

During the first weeks after the onset of the German invasion of the Soviet Union, the 
OUN-M, like the OUN-B, also sent task forces to organize a state in Ukraine. 
Although the OUN-M task forces in western Ukraine were less of a presence and less 
effective than the OUN-B’s, the OUN-M managed to establish the Ukrainian National 
Council (Ukraїns’ka Natsional’na Rada, UNR) in Kiev, an administrative organ 
dissolved by the Germans on 17 November 1941.5 In Bukovina, OUN-M members 
staged pogroms in towns and villages around Chernivtsi.6 The OUN-M leader Andrii 
Mel’nyk was no less eager than Bandera to collaborate with the Germans. On 26 July 
1941, the newspaper Rohatyns’ke slovo republished Mel’nyk’s article “Ukraine and 
the New Order in Europe” including: 

We collaborate closely with Germany and invest everything in this collaboration: 
our heart, feelings, all of our creativeness, life and blood. Because we believe that 
Adolf Hitler’s new order in Europe is the real order, and that Ukraine is one of the 
avant-gardes in Eastern Europe, and perhaps the most important factor in 
strengthening this new order. And, what is also very important, Ukraine is the 
natural ally of Germany.7 

Both before and after the German attack on the Soviet Union, there was ruthless 
conflict between the OUN-B and the OUN-M. The OUN-M activists Omelian Senyk 
and Mykola Stsibors’kyi were murdered on 30 August 1941 in Zhytomyr, in all pro-
bability by the OUN-B.8 According to OUN-B member Myron Matviieiko, his fellow-
member Mykola Klymyshyn organized the assassinations.9 Taras Bul’ba-Borovets’ 
wrote that the “Banderite Kuzii” killed Senyk and Stsibors’kyi “by shooting them in 
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the back on an open street.”10 The OUN-M used the murders to discredit the OUN-B, 
claiming that the two OUN-M members were killed by “Cain’s murderous hand from 
the ranks of the Banderite communist diversion.”11 In turn, the OUN-B blamed the 
Germans.12 The RSHA, however, arrested a number of OUN-B members for this 
killing and established a homicide division in Lviv, headed by Kurt Fähnrich, which 
investigated the murder. This suggests that the Germans did not kill the two OUN-M 
activists.13 According to German documents, the Ukrainian intelligentsia was out-
raged by the murders and demanded prosecution of the OUN-B.14 

The Germans realized that not all Ukrainians supported the OUN-B’s “Ukrainian 
National Revolution.”15 However, they also noticed that OUN-B activists organized 
meetings in many parts of Ukraine, collected signatures on appeals to release Ban-
dera, and had a huge influence on the militia, mayors, and administration.16 The 
OUN-B was certainly popular in eastern Galicia and Volhynia, but it was unknown 
and sometimes even unwelcome in eastern Ukraine.17 Eastern Ukrainians were not 
interested in the ultranationalist, antisemitic, and racist ideology and identity that 
the OUN-B and other western Ukrainian nationalists propagated. The OUN-B activ-
ists who went with the task forces to eastern Ukraine were overwhelmed by the dif-
ference in the mentality of eastern Ukrainians. Some of them said that eastern 
Ukraine was beautiful but that it was not their homeland. They frequently romanti-
cized eastern Ukraine in order to rationalize and accept it. One woman from an OUN-
B task force claimed that “the theories of Marxism-Leninism destroyed the soul of the 
[eastern Ukrainian] nation” and observed that eastern Ukrainians were astonished 
when they saw OUN-B members praying in a group.18 The OUN-B’s posters, which 
propagated the political ideas of the organization, alarmed the Ukrainians in Kiev.19 

Many eastern Ukrainians did not speak Ukrainian. They spoke Russian or a mix-
ture of Russian and Ukrainian. Many of them considered the Russian language to be 
more civilized than Ukrainian. When the OUN-B activists from the task forces came 
to central and eastern Ukraine, the population sometimes wondered about the lan-
guage used by the OUN-B. Eastern Ukrainians preferred reading newspapers in 
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Russian rather than in Ukrainian. Nove ukraїns’ke slovo was the only daily Ukrai-
nian newspaper in the Reichskommissariat and sold poorly. Its forerunner 
Ukraїns’ke slovo had appeared without German censorship until 10 December 1941 
and was more popular.20 Eastern Ukrainians sometimes mistook the OUN-B activists 
for Polish-speaking Germans. The OUN-B activists felt the need to convince the 
eastern Ukrainians that the OUN-B were also Ukrainians. This happened, for exam-
ple, to Chartoryis’kyi from the third task force in the Podolian town of Fel’shtyn: 

“We’re not Germans!” I explain. “We are your brothers, Ukrainians from the 
western lands—from Galicia,” I add to be on the safe side. … “We’ve come to visit 
you and to see if there’s anything we can help you with …” 

“So there haven’t been any Germans here?” I ask again. 
“No, only you ...” 
“But we’re not Germans! We’re just like you. … Can’t you tell by our lan-

guage?” I asked. 
“Yes, it looks like even Germans can talk like us!” one of them answers.21 

The document “Instructions for Work with Workers from SUZ [Eastern Ukrain-
ian Territories],” which was drawn up for the task forces that would go to eastern 
Ukraine, included the information that the eastern Ukrainians were not a different 
race. It also claimed that “it is difficult to draw a line that would mark where in [east-
ern] Ukraine a Ukrainian begins and a Muscovite ends” and that eastern Ukrainians 
had a “psychological Muscovite complex.”22 Ievhen Stakhiv went with a task force to 
eastern Ukraine to mobilize the masses for the “Ukrainian National Revolution.” He 
informed me in an interview in 2008 that he had realized that eastern Ukrainians 
were skeptical about and resistant to the OUN-B and its plans for a fascist and 
authoritarian state, and that it was impossible to win them over.23 On the other hand, 
Chartoryis’kyi of the third task force recalled in his post-war memoirs that some 
Ukrainians in villages close to Vinnytsia accepted the portraits of Stepan Bandera 
that the OUN-B members distributed at the propaganda meetings, and that some 
local Ukrainians even reproduced them.24 OUN-B member Pavlyshyn remembered 
that the local Ukrainians in one village near Zhytomyr thought at first that the OUN-
B were Soviet partisans. The village teacher then warned the local people against the 
OUN-B task force: “Do you know who is standing before you, children? A remnant of 
Petliura’s army, a German agent. Our Budyonnyi’s army beat them, but didn’t finish 
them off. Get out of here!”25 The Germans noticed that eastern Ukrainians were 
different from western Ukrainians. They reported that the eastern Ukrainians did not 
understand “racist or idealistic antisemitism” because they “lack the leaders and the 
‘spiritual drive [der geistige Schwung].’”26 

After Germany attacked the Soviet Union, another organization that tried to 
establish a state and applied terror toward Jews and other non-Ukrainians was the 
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Polis’ka Sich, a paramilitary formation of Ukrainian nationalists under the leadership 
of Taras Bul’ba-Borovets’. This movement set up a “republic” in Olevs’k, a district 
center in the Zhytomyr region. The “republic” existed until November 1941, when 
Germans took over the administration. The streets in the area controlled by the Po-
lis’ka Sich were renamed: one became “Polis’ka Sich Street”; another, “Otaman Taras 
Bul’ba Street.”27 The attitude of the Polis’ka Sich to Jews did not differ substantially 
from that of the OUN. They mistreated Jews and conducted pogroms during the 
summer of 1941. Together with local Ukrainian policemen and a German Einsatz-
kommando, some members of the Polis’ka Sich killed many Jews in Olevs’k in a mass 
shooting on 19–20 November 1941.28 

After the “Ukrainian National Revolution” ended and the situation in Ukraine 
stabilized, the OUN-M took a different path from that of the OUN-B. The Germans 
did not ban it or persecute its members. On the contrary, it was the murder of OUN-
M members Stsibors’kyi and Senyk that deteriorated the relations between the 
Germans and the OUN-B.29 Although the OUN-M tried not to worsen its relations 
with the Germans, a number of OUN-M activists were arrested, particularly in Kiev.30 
The OUN-M did not organize an underground or an army like the OUN-B but tried to 
integrate its members into the administration. They were active in the UTsK and 
engaged in the organization of the Waffen-SS Galizien division.31 Mel’nyk, the leader 
of the OUN-M, and a number of other leading OUN-M members were arrested only 
in early 1944 when they tried to establish relations with the Allies.32 

Disagreement 

The OUN-B proclaimed a state, and a significant number of western Ukrainians 
would have agreed to live in such a collaborationist state with Stepan Bandera as 
their Providnyk or Vozhd’, but Adolf Hitler, and some other Nazi leaders had other 
plans. In order to win their support for the fight against the Soviet Union, Alfred 
Rosenberg, Reich Minister for the Occupied Eastern Territories, wanted to give the 
non-Russians some degree of self-government, but Reichskommissar of Ukraine 
Erich Koch and several other high ranking Nazis, including General Governor Hans 
Frank, were against Rosenberg’s propositions.33 In the longer term the fate of 
Ukraine was to be regulated according to Generalplan Ost: Germans would be settled 
in Ukrainian territories, some Ukrainians would be enslaved, and the remainder 
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“eliminated.”34 In practical terms the Germans were, however, dependent on the 
collaboration of the local population in order to control the occupied territories and 
to annihilate the Jews. 

After Germany’s attack on the Soviet Union, the Germans forbade Bandera to 
leave Cracow for Lviv. Ernst Kundt, under-secretary of state in the General Govern-
ment, organized a meeting in Cracow on 3 July 1941, in which Bandera and four 
other politicians from his newly proclaimed government took part. Bandera’s Ger-
man was not fluent. Horbovyi—Bandera’s lawyer from the Warsaw and Lviv trials—
was one of the four politicians and translated for him. Kundt informed his guests that 
the Ukrainians might feel like allies of the Germans, but they were not. The Germans 
were the “conquerors” of Soviet territory, and Ukrainian politicians should not be-
have in an irrational manner by attempting to establish a state before the war against 
the Soviet Union had ended. Kundt said that he understood the Ukrainians’ hatred 
toward the Poles and Russians, and the Ukrainians’ eagerness to build a state with a 
proper army. But if they wanted to remain on good terms with Germany and not to 
compromise themselves in the eyes of the Ukrainian people, they should “stop doing 
things” and wait for Hitler’s decision.35 

Bandera, who arrived late at the meeting, emphasized that, in the battle against 
the Soviet Union, the Ukrainian nationalists were “not passive observers, but active 
members, in the form that the German side allows them.” He explained that he had 
issued orders to his people to fight alongside the Germans and to establish a Ukrai-
nian administration and government in German-occupied territory. Bandera tried to 
convince Kundt that the authority of the leader of the Ukrainian people came from 
the OUN, which was the organization that ruled and represented the Ukrainian 
people. He had tried to clear his policy with Abwehr officers, but they were not com-
petent to resolve political questions of this nature. Kundt replied that only the 
Wehrmacht and the Führer were empowered to establish a Ukrainian government. 
Bandera conceded that such higher sanction had not been received, but a Ukrainian 
government was already in existence and its goal was cooperation with the Germans. 
He was not able to provide any evidence whatsoever of German approval and there-
fore emphasized that Ukrainian military chaplain Dr. Ivan Hryn’okh was present in a 
German uniform at the proclamation meeting on 30 June 1941 in Lviv.36 

The meeting ended with short monologues from each side. Kundt repeated that 
the proclamation of Ukrainian statehood was not in the German interest and re-
minded the Ukrainians that only the Führer could decide whether, and in what form, 
a Ukrainian state and government could come into being. The fact that the OUN-B 
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had informed the German side of its intentions did not mean that the OUN-B had 
been allowed to proceed.37 Bandera admitted that he was acting with authority 
received from the Ukrainian people, but without the approval of the German side. 
Seeking reconciliation with Kundt, Bandera finally stated that he believed that only 
Ukrainians could rebuild their own life and establish their own state, but they could 
do so only with German agreement.38 

On 5 July 1941, Bandera was taken to Berlin and was placed in Ehrenhaft (honor-
able captivity), the following day.39 Stets’ko wrote to Bandera from Lviv, asking what 
he should do and whether he should inform the masses that the Providnyk had been 
imprisoned. He also encouraged Bandera to negotiate with the Nazis. Stets’ko sur-
vived an assassination attempt on 8 July but was arrested the following day. On the 
night of 11 July, Abwehr officer Alfons Paulus escorted him by train from Cracow to 
Berlin. Stets’ko was released from arrest on 12 July, as was Bandera on 14 July, both 
on condition that they report regularly to the police.40 They stayed together in an 
apartment house on Dahlmannstrasse in Berlin-Charlottenburg.41 In Berlin, Stets’ko 
wrote an autobiography for his interrogators, in which he repeated a point that he 
had made in his article “We and Jewry” in May 1939: 

Although I consider Moscow, which in fact held Ukraine in captivity, and not 
Jewry, to be the main and decisive enemy, I nonetheless fully appreciate the un-
deniably harmful and hostile role of the Jews, who are helping Moscow to enslave 
Ukraine. I therefore support the destruction of the Jews and the expedience of 
bringing German methods of exterminating Jewry to Ukraine, barring their assi-
milation and the like.42 

While in Berlin, Stets’ko, the premier of the non-existent Ukrainian state, met the 
prime minister of the provisional government of Lithuania, Kazys Škirpa, who was 
brought to the German capital for reasons similar to those for Stets’ko’s arrival. On 
two occasions Stets’ko also met with the Japanese ambassador Ōshima Hiroshi. He 
was also allowed to go to Cracow, where he met Lebed’, and he was visited in Berlin 
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by the OUN-B member Ivan Ravlyk.43 Bandera—the Providnyk of the non-existent 
state—stayed in Berlin, with identification papers from the RSHA, and a gun to de-
fend himself. He could move in Berlin but was not allowed to leave the city.44 

In accordance with an order from Heydrich on 13 September 1941, a number of 
leading OUN-B members, including Bandera and Stets’ko, were arrested on 15 
September, the reason for which was the assassination of Stsibors’kyi and Senyk on 
30 August in Zhytomyr. This act had entirely changed the attitude of the Nazis to the 
OUN-B, who, according to the RSHA, “encouraged the Ukrainian population in Gali-
cia and in the operative area [of the Germans] with extensive propaganda not only to 
resist the directives of German offices, but also to liquidate political enemies. Until 
now, over ten members of the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists under the 
leadership of Andrii Mel’nyk have been killed.”45 According to Lebed’ the Germans 
had the names and addresses of the leading OUN-B members from the OUN-M.46 
Following their arrest, Bandera, Volodymyr Stakhiv, and other OUN-B members 
were first held by the Gestapo at their premises on Prinz-Albrecht-Strasse,47 and 
Stets’ko at the Alexanderplatz prison.48 

At a meeting organized by Koch on 12 July 1941 in Lviv, all Ukrainian groups ex-
cept for the OUN-B expressed loyalty to the German authorities. The OUN-B activists 
came to the meeting and wanted to discuss the questions of Ukrainian sovereignty 
and the release of their Providnyk. Koch informed them that only the Führer could 
decide these issues.49 According to Lebed’s autobiographical sketch from 1952, he, 
Iaryi, Shukhevych and Klymiv met with five German officers of the Wehrmacht, a few 
days after Stets’ko’s arrest. The German officers proposed to the OUN-B members to 
“improve cooperation on the basis of a transfer of administrative power [to the OUN-
B] on the territory occupied by the Wehrmacht” if the OUN-B withdraws the 
“Declaration of Independence.” The OUN-B refused this proposition.50 

As early as the second half of July 1941, the Germans were trying to prevent the 
printing and distribution of OUN-B papers and other propaganda material.51 In late 
July, the OUN-B leaders in Galicia assured the German side that they were prepared 
to collaborate, although they were not pleased with the political situation.52 In 
August 1941, Klymiv reminded OUN-B members that the organization was not 
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fighting against the Germans but was trying to improve relations with them, a 
statement that was reported to Berlin.53 At about the same time, the Germans 
discovered an inscription in Kovel’: “Away with Foreign Authority! Long Live Stepan 
Bandera!” This indicates that some sections of the OUN-B were ambiguous about 
Germany and that Bandera was becoming a symbol of opposition to the Germans, 
even if he himself wanted to collaborate with them.54 The German authorities 
dissolved the OUN-B militia and parts of the OUN-B administration and established 
a new administration, which, however, still included many OUN-B members.55 

On 19 July 1941, Hitler decided to incorporate eastern Galicia as Distrikt Galizien 
into the General Government. A direction to this effect was given on 1 August 1941.56 
Karl Lasch became the governor of Distrikt Galizien; Otto Wächter replaced him in 
January 1942. Volhynia and most of pre-1939 Soviet Ukraine became Reichs-
kommissariat Ukraine, and were governed by Reichskommissar Erich Koch. Hitler’s 
decision of 19 July disappointed and frustrated many Ukrainian nationalists who had 
hoped that all Ukrainian territories would remain united in one political body (Map 
5). They interpreted the incorporation of eastern Galicia into the General Govern-
ment as incorporation into Poland. Bandera and Stets’ko protested in official letters 
to “Your Excellency Adolf Hitler.” The Providnyk asked the Führer to reverse the 
division and explained the situation by comparing the Ukrainian nationalists to the 
National Socialists from the eastern homeland (ostmärkische Heimat).57 Stets’ko 
informed Hitler that he hoped that this administrative division was only temporary. 
He claimed that the division pained the Ukrainian people, and he asked the Führer 
to “make up for the pain.”58 Sheptyts’kyi also objected,59 and Polians’kyi, OUN-B 
mayor of Lviv, even wanted to commit suicide.60 

Relations between the OUN-B and the Nazis were ambiguous until the assassina-
tion of Stsibors’kyi and Senyk on 30 August 1941. It was only after the assassination 
that the Nazis began arresting and shooting OUN-B members,61 and that the Gestapo 
closed the OUN-B offices in Vienna and at Mecklenburgische Strasse 73 in Berlin.62 
In early October 1941 in Zboiska (near Lviv), Lebed’ organized the first conference of 
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Map 5. The Second World War in Ukraine, January 1942 – October 1945.  
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the OUN-B. The participants were impressed by the military successes of the 
Wehrmacht and were certain that Germany would win the war. They therefore 
decided that the OUN-B should not oppose the Germans but should go under-
ground.63 

On 28 October 1941, a group of OUN-B members sent a letter to the Gestapo in 
Lviv. They stated that Hitler had deceived Ukraine and that America, England, and 
Russia would allow an independent Ukraine to arise, from the San to the Black Sea. 
“Long live a great independent Ukraine without Jews, Poles, and Germans,” they 
wrote and added: “Poles across the San, Germans to Berlin, Jews on the hook.” Finally, 
the authors stated that Germany needed Ukraine to win the war, and they demanded 
the release of imprisoned comrades.64 After 25 November 1941, the official policy of 
the Einsatzgruppen was to shoot OUN-B members in secret as looters, and a number 
of OUN-B members were killed by the Germans in various circumstances.65 In 
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December 1941 the OUN-B announced that the Nazis had arrested 1,500 of their 
members.66 

In July and August 1942, 48 OUN-B members, among them Bandera’s brothers 
Vasyl’ and Oleksandr, were delivered to the concentration camp at Auschwitz. In 
October 1943, a further 130 OUN-B members were delivered to Auschwitz from Lviv. 
In the camp, they had the rank of political prisoners. They stayed in KZ Auschwitz I 
and worked where the chances of survival were good, such as the kitchen, bakery, 
tailor’s workshop, and storerooms for objects confiscated from new arrivals. They 
also received food parcels from the Ukrainian Red Cross. Some OUN-B members at 
Auschwitz were released in December 1944. Some were evacuated in January 1945 to 
other camps. Of the 48 delivered in 1942, 16 did not survive the camp. In total, more 
than 30 of the approximately 200 OUN-B members delivered to Auschwitz did not 
survive, including Bandera’s brothers, Vasyl’ and Oleksandr. The testimonies of the 
prisoners who survived the camp are ambiguous about the circumstances surround-
ing the death of Bandera’s brothers.67 

According to the OUN-B prisoner Petro Mirchuk, Vasyl’ and Oleksandr died as a 
result of mistreatment by a Polish Vorarbeiter (foreman) Franciszek Podkulski, and 
Oberkapo Józef Kral, a few days after being delivered to Auschwitz. Both of Stepan 
Bandera’s brothers were mistreated because of their name, which was known to 
Podkulski and Kral from the Warsaw and Lviv trials.68 The Polish doctor Jerzy 
Tabeau, however, who worked as a nurse in Auschwitz, testified on 12 July 1964 at 
the Frankfurt Auschwitz Trial that one of the Bandera brothers—he did not remem-
ber which one—died of diarrhea in the hospital for the prisoners in Auschwitz.69 
Stepan’s third brother Bohdan was not arrested by the Germans. He apparently died 
in unknown circumstances in eastern Ukraine, where he had gone with an OUN-B 
task force after the German attack on the Soviet Union on 22 June 1941.70 

A few months before arresting the leading members of the OUN-B, the Germans 
had detained more than 300 members of the Romanian Iron Guard. The Romanian 
fascist movement, known as the Iron Guard, was founded in 1927 and first led by 
Corneliu Zelea Codreanu (1899–1938). His follower Horia Sima (1907–1993) allied 

 
66  Prolom 1941, No. 1, 23–24, quoted in Ukraïns’ke derzhavotvorennia, ed. Dziuban, 442–43. 
67  Adam Cyra, “Banderowcy w KL Auschwitz,” Studia nad faszyzmem i zbrodniami hitlerowskimi 30 

(2008): 388–402; Bruder, “Den Ukrainischen Staat, 137. Franziska Bruder, “‘Der Gerechtigkeit 
dienen.’ Die ukrainischen Nationalisten als Zeugen im Auschwitz-Prozess,” in Im Labyrinth der 
Schuld: Täter—Opfer—Ankläger, ed. Irmtrud Wojak and Susanne Meinl (Frankfurt: Campus Verlag, 
2003), 138–54; V-K., A.-T., Chomu svit movchyt’ (Kiev, 1946), 39; For arrest of OUN-B activists in 
October in Mykolaїv, see “Ereignismeldung UdSSR, 18.10.1941,” BAB R58/218, 213; Pohl, 
Nationalsozialistische, 325. 

68  According to Mirchuk, Oleksandr was an Italian citizen. While staying in Rome from 1933, he married 
a relative of Galeazzo Ciano—Benito Mussolini’s son-in-law and the Italian Minister of Foreign 
Affairs. After Vasyl’s and Oleksandr’s death, other OUN-B prisoners informed the UTsK in Cracow 
about this incident. The UTsK contacted Oleksandr’s wife and she in turn, Galeazzo Ciano, who 
approached Himmler. The administration at Auschwitz was ordered to launch an investigation of this 
incident, which Podkulski did not survive. Oleksandr’s wife was informed that her husband had died 
of diarrhea. See Petro Mirchuk, In the German Mills of Death 1941–1945 (New York: Vantage Press, 
1976), 43–45, 50–52. Mirchuk also mentioned the same during the Auschwitz Trial in 1964, see 
Bruder, Der Gerechtigkeit dienen, 146. According to Dem’ian, the name of Oleksandr’s wife was 
Mariia, see Dem”ian, Stepan Bandera ta, 491. 

69  Bruder, Der Gerechtigkeit dienen, 142. 
70  “Protokol doprosa zaderzhannogo Davidiuka Fedora Ivanovicha, 20.07.1945,” HAD SBU f. 65, spr. 

19127, vol. 1, 146–51, in Stepan Bandera, ed. Serhiichuk, 1:340; Arsenych, Rodyna Banderiv, 59–60. 



252 Stepan Bandera: The Life and Afterlife of a Ukrainian Nationalist 
 

  

himself with General Antonescu and for a short period of time they ruled Romania 
together, after King Carol II abdicated in September 1940. In January 1941 the 
conflict between Antonescu and Sima escalated. The Iron Guard legionaries tried to 
take over power but failed. Hitler decided to support Antonescu in order to secure 
Romanian support for the war. Over 300 legionaries fled to Germany where the 
Sicherheitspolizei detained and supervised them. In Romania about 9,000 legion-
aries were arrested at that time. When Sima fled to Italy in December 1942 from a 
camp in Berkenbrück near Berlin and asked Mussolini to support the Iron Guard, 
Hitler was so angry that, according to Goebbels, he first considered sentencing Sima 
to death. From early 1943 on, Romanian legionaries were detained in concentration 
camps in Fichtenhain, Dachau, Ravensbrück, and Sachsenhausen.71 

After being taken to Berlin in early July 1941, Bandera and Stets’ko offered much 
less resistance to the Nazis than nationalist historiography and Ukrainian nationalist 
propaganda portrayed. They tried to repair the relationship with the Germans, en-
couraged Ukrainians to collaborate with Germany, and tried to persuade the Ger-
mans that they needed and should keep the government established by Stets’ko. In 
an open letter dated 4 August 1941, Stets’ko encouraged Ukrainians to help the Ger-
man army in its struggle against the Soviet Union and hoped that the Nazis would 
accept the Ukrainian state, when they eventually controlled all Ukrainian territo-
ries.72 On 14 August 1941, Bandera wrote to Alfred Rosenberg, Reich Minister for the 
Occupied Eastern Territories, explaining that he was prepared to discuss the German 
demand to dissolve the government proclaimed on 30 June 1941.73 On 9 December 
1941, Bandera wrote in a memorandum to Rosenberg: “The Ukrainian nationalists 
believe that German and Ukrainian interests in Eastern Europe are identical. For 
both sides, it is a vital necessity to consolidate (normalize) Ukraine in the best and 
fastest way and to include it into the European spiritual, economic, and political 
system.” He again proposed collaboration and argued that the Nazis needed the 
Ukrainian nationalists, because only they could help the Nazis to “bring the Ukrai-
nian masses spiritually close to contemporary Germany.” According to Bandera, the 
Ukrainian nationalists were predisposed to help the Nazis, because they were 
“shaped in a spirit similar to the National Socialist ideas.” Bandera also offered that 
the Ukrainian nationalists would “spiritually cure the Ukrainian youth” who lived in 
the Soviet Union.74 

In spite of Bandera’s propositions, Rosenberg and other leading Nazi politicians 
were not interested in discussing this and other related issues with him. Meanwhile, 
the Germans had begun to cooperate with other groups and individuals who were as 
eager as Bandera to help them. The OUN-B member Stakhiv wrote in his memoirs 
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that when he visited Berlin in December 1941, Bandera gave him a message for 
Mykola Lebed’, his deputy in Ukraine, informing him that the OUN-B should not 
fight against the Germans but should try instead to repair German-Ukrainian 
relations.75 

Ukraine without Bandera 

The Nazis did not want to collaborate with the hot-headed OUN-B but were inter-
ested in working with more moderate Ukrainian nationalists. In contrast to Jews and 
Poles, Ukrainians were a privileged ethnic group in the General Government. Unlike 
the Roman Catholic Church, the Greek Catholic Church in the General Government 
was not oppressed. The Ukrainian intelligentsia thrived in the General Government, 
where seventy Ukrainian periodicals existed, a government-sponsored school system 
became reality, and from where students were sent to study at German universities. 
The Ukrainian politicians tried to “entirely Ukrainianize” the Polish scholarly insti-
tute Ossolineum and the Technical University in Lviv. They thereby continued the 
Ukrainization that had already begun under Soviet occupation. The main cause of 
Ukrainian discontent in the General Government was the German drive for man-
power for farms and factories in Germany. But the UTsK—the most important Ukrai-
nian collaborationist institution—took care of it and convinced Ukrainians to support 
the German war effort and to work for the common cause.76 

Because the Germans wanted to win their loyalty, they applied liberal politics to-
ward Ukrainians in the General Government and played them off against the Poles. 
Ukraine did not become an independent state as the Ukrainian nationalists wanted, 
but life for Ukrainians in Galicia under German occupation was not very different 
from the life of collaborating national groups in states like Slovakia or Croatia. In 
contrast, the policies toward Ukrainians in Reichskommissariat Ukraine were much 
harsher. The Nazis treated the Reichskommissariat as a colony and the Ukrainians 
there were simply to supply the Reich with grain.77 All universities were closed down 
and education was limited to four years of primary school.78 In two decades, Himm-
ler planned to have a system of exclusively German cities at the intersections of high-
ways and railroads in the Reichskommissariat.79 Because the Ukrainian territories 
were to be settled with Germans and some Ukrainians were to be enslaved and oth-
ers “eliminated,” the Nazis regarded the eastern Ukrainians simply as a labor force. If 
they were not productive or became “superfluous,” they could be starved to death or 
shot. Erich Koch, head of the Reichskommissariat, claimed that “if this people works 
ten hours daily, it will have to work eight hours for us.”80 Apart from work, Hitler 
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said that he would allow only music for the masses and religious life in Reichskom-
missariat Ukraine.81 

From April 1940 until January 1945, the head of the UTsK, the most important 
Ukrainian collaborationist institution in the General Government, was Volodymyr 
Kubiiovych. Prior to the Second World War, Kubiiovych had socialized with mem-
bers of the OUN in Berlin.82 Their goals and political views did not differ greatly but 
he was more cautious and diplomatic. In April 1941, Kubiiovych asked Hans Frank, 
head of the General Government, to set up an ethnically pure Ukrainian enclave 
there, free from Jews and Poles.83 In July 1941, on the initiative of the OUN, Kubiio-
vych asked Frank for a “Ukrainian National Army” or Ukrainian Wehrmacht, which 
would fight alongside the German Wehrmacht against the Red Army and the “Jew-
ified English-American plutocracy” (verjudete englisch-amerikanische Plutokra-
tie).84 In August 1941, Kubiiovych asked Frank to have “a very significant part of 
confiscated Jewish wealth turned over to the Ukrainian people.” It belonged to 
Ukrainians and had ended up in Jewish hands “only through a ruthless breach of law 
on the part of the Jews, and their exploitation of members of the Ukrainian 
people.”85 He thereby used arguments similar to those of Father Jozef Tiso and Mar-
shal Ion Antonescu.86 The UTsK was obviously pressing for aryanization at all 
administrative levels.87 

The UTsK was associated with the collaborationist newspaper Krakivs’ki visti, 
which not only republished German propaganda but also encouraged Ukrainian 
intellectuals to express antisemitic views. In 1943 Bohdan Osadczuk and Ivan Rud-
nyts’kyi, who would become prominent Ukrainian intellectuals after the Second 
World War, published articles in Krakivs’ki visti on the NKVD massacres in Vinnyt-
sia in 1937–1938. The campaign in Krakivs’ki visti instrumentalized the Ukrainian 
victims of the Soviet terror in Vinnytsia in order to mobilize Ukrainians to fight 
against the Soviet Union. Osadczuk, who covered the German, Ustaša, and other 
press for Krakivs’ki visti, wrote in August 1943: “The mass graves in Vinnytsia, 
Hrvatski Narod states, are new proof of the politics of destruction that the Jews from 
the Kremlin have conducted among the Ukrainian people. The murdered Ukrainians 
again throw guilt on Stalin and his Jewish collaborators and summon the world to an 
implacable struggle against the Jewish-Bolshevik threat, which would like to bring 
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upon Europe the same fate that the defenseless victims in Vinnytsia met.”88 
Rudnyts’yi called the victims of the Soviet terror the “real martyrs for the Ukrainian 
national idea.”89 

During the entire period of German occupation, antisemitism was popular in 
Ukraine, not only in the “anti-German” nationalist underground but also among 
many organizations and intellectual circles. In 1941 the brochure “Ukraine in the 
Claws of Jews” was published. This unsigned German-Ukrainian production con-
tained all kinds of antisemitic stereotypes that were applied to the Ukrainian situa-
tion.90 In June 1944, Kubiiovych was invited to take part in an anti-Jewish congress 
planned by Hans Frank.91 

In early 1943, Himmler ordered the establishment of a Waffen-SS Galizien divi-
sion, made up of Ukrainian soldiers, but forbade it to be called Ukrainian. In a 
speech on 16 May 1944, Himmler claimed that he had called it Galician “according to 
the name of your beautiful homeland.” He also made comments such as “I know if I 
ordered the Division to exterminate the Poles in this area or that area, I would be a 
very popular man.” Hitler justified the Ukrainian division with the assumption that 
Galician Ukrainians were “interrelated” with Austrians because they had lived for a 
long time in the Habsburg Empire. The full name of the Waffen-SS Galizien division 
was the 14th Waffen Grenadier Division of the SS (14. Waffen-Grenadier-Division 
der SS). Of the 80,000 Ukrainians who volunteered for it, only 8,000 were recruited. 
After Ukrainians from police battalions and other units joined the division, the Waf-
fen-SS Galizien grew to 14,000 soldiers. A significant number of the men who joined 
the Waffen-SS Galizien had served in Schutzmannschaft battalions 201, 204, and 
206, of which at least battalion 201 almost certainly perpetrated atrocities against 
civilians in “anti-partisan operations” in Belarus. Other recruits had served in the 
German security police in western Ukraine. Ukrainians in the Waffen-SS Galizien 
were trained and indoctrinated by Himmler’s SS. They had two hours of education in 
National Socialist Weltanschauung every week. In August 1943, the soldiers of the 
Waffen-SS Galizien received blood group tattoos in their left armpits, and 140 men of 
the division were given additional training in the vicinity of Dachau concentration 
camp. The soldiers of the Waffen-SS Galizien took the oath: “I swear by God this holy 
oath, that in the struggle against Bolshevism, I will give absolute obedience to the 
Commander-in-Chief of the German Armed Forces, Adolf Hitler, and if it be his will, 
I will always be prepared as a fearless soldier, to lay down my life for this oath.”92 It 
was as late as February 1945 that Pavlo Shandruk, the Ukrainian general of the divi-
sion, asked the Germans to allow an amendment to the text of the oath. He proposed 
to add “and the Ukrainian people” but he did not ask to have Hitler’s name removed.93 

 
88  Cf. B[ohdan] O[sadchuk], “Kryvava propahanda Ukrainy: Vynnytsia v evropeis’kii presi,” Krakivs’ki 

visti, 7 August 1943. 
89  For Rudnyts’kyi, see Ivan Lysiak [P.H.], “Nad vidkrytymy mohylamy u Vynnytsi,” Krakivs’ki visti, 13 

July 1943, 1‒2. 
90  “Ukraïna v zhydivs’kykh labetakh,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 2, spr. 74. 
91  Hans Frank, Das Diensttagebuch des deutschen Generalgouverneurs in Polen 1939–1945 (Stuttgart: 

Deutsch Vergals-Anstalt, 1975), 864. 
92  “An den Reichsführer, 05.2.1945” BAB Berlin NS 19/544, 89. 
93  For the question of the oath, see “An den Reichsführer, 05.2.1945” BAB Berlin NS 19/544, 87–89. For 

Himmler’s speech, see Heinrich Himmler, “Rede des Reichsführers-SS am 16.5.44 vor dem Führer-
korps der 14.Galizischen SS-Freiw. Division,” “Informatyvna sluzhba, VI, Postii, dnia 17.05.44,” 

 



256 Stepan Bandera: The Life and Afterlife of a Ukrainian Nationalist 
 

  

The establishment of the division was supported by Sheptyts’kyi. At its first 
parade, Frank and Kubiiovych took the first salute, and Bishop Iosyf Slipyi per-
formed a religious service. In his speech, Kubiiovych appealed to the division to pro-
tect Ukraine against communism, as part of the “New Europe.” Vasyl’ Veryha, a vet-
eran of this division, mentioned in his memoirs that Ukrainian policemen greeted 
the Waffen-SS Galizien soldiers with “Heil Hitler!” and that the response was “Glory 
to Ukraine!” (Slava Ukraїni!). He did not specify whether the soldiers and policemen 
raised their right arms. The Waffen-SS Galizien was established to fight against the 
Soviet army and did so near Brody in July 1944. Shortly before it was officially in-
cluded in the division, members of the fourth SS police regiment, which consisted of 
Ukrainians, had murdered several hundred Polish civilians in Huta Pieniacka on 28 
February 1944. According to testimony by UPA partisans, the SS police regiment was 
supported by UPA freedom fighters when they exterminated the Polish village pop-
ulation. In Slovakia, where the Waffen-SS Galizien helped the Germans to suppress 
the Slovak National Uprising, individuals from the Waffen-SS Galizien may have 
committed crimes against civilians as well. Two days after the end of the Second 
World War 1945, the division surrendered to the British Army. On the grounds that 
they were Polish citizens and with the intervention of the Vatican, soldiers from the 
division were not handed over to the Soviet Union, as Vlasov’s Russian Liberation 
Army (Russkaia osvoboditelnaia armiia, ROA) soldiers were.94 

The Ukrainian Police and the OUN-B 

In accordance with a directive from Himmler in July 1941, the Ukrainian militia, 
which had been established by the OUN-B after the German invasion of the Soviet 
Union, was redeployed in August and September 1941 as a Ukrainian police force, 
known as Hilfspolizei and Schutzmannschaften.95 The Germans generally tried to 
purge the police of OUN-B members, because they needed people who would carry 
out orders without pursuing their own political purposes. Nevertheless, many OUN 
members remained in the police, concealing their association with the OUN-B. Volo-
dymyr Pitulei, commander of the Ukrainian police retained many OUN members in 
the police force, despite the German order to replace them. Some local German 
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officials transferred additional OUN-B militiamen to the Hilfspolizei, not knowing 
that they were members of or sympathizers with the OUN, or for practical reasons. 
As a result many OUN-B and also OUN-M members remained in the police and in 
the course of the following weeks and months many more joined it. According to the 
OUN-B member Bohdan Kazanivs’kyi there were even many OUN-B members 
among the commandants of the police school in Lviv in which new policemen were 
recruited.96 In March 1942, the OUN-B local leaders issued orders to their members 
to join the police en masse. They tried to have at least one OUN-B member in every 
police unit, in order to control the police force.97 The OUN-B also tried to replace 
OUN-M members in the Schutzmannschaften with its own people.98 In early 1943, 
the “Eastern Bureau” of the Polish government-in-exile reported that “the main 
organizational core [of the OUN-B] in Volhynia is the approximately 200 police sta-
tions.”99 The influence of the OUN-B on some of the Ukrainian police was also noted 
by the Germans.100 Eliyahu Yones, who worked in the slave-labor camp Kurowice, 
wrote in his memoirs that the Ukrainian policemen at his camp were Ukrainian na-
tionalists who were proud to wear blue uniforms and Ukrainian caps.101 

In spring 1942, there were over 4,000 Ukrainian policemen in the General Gov-
ernment.102 In 1942 in Volhynia, there were 12,000 Ukrainian policemen and only 
1,400 Germans.103 In terms of violence and antisemitism, the new Ukrainian police-
men in the General Government and Volhynia were not very different from the pre-
vious Ukrainian militiamen. Eliyahu Yones was seized on 12 November 1941 by 
Ukrainian policemen in Lviv. After he was beaten and robbed by them, a German 
officer asked him some questions concerning his occupation. Together with other 
Jews, Yones then had to stay with his face to the wall, and hands on the wall, for 
several hours. During this time, the Jews were further beaten and humiliated. After 
several hours they were driven by truck to a bathhouse, where they had to hand over 
the rest of their belongings and then: 

In the evening, the light was switched on [in a hall of the bathhouse]. Suddenly, 
we received a new order: “sing.” 

In the middle of the hall, many Ukrainian men gathered and later, Ukrainian 
women also came. They took delight in the singing and it was obvious that they 
looked forward to the upcoming events. 
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The Ukrainians mistreated us until the morning hours. Their disgraceful 
deeds culminated in their taking an old Jew from the row, who kept a big book in 
his hand, a Gemarah, which he read. They ordered him to put the book on the 
floor, to step on it, and to dance a Chasidic dance on it. At first he refused, but 
finally they forced him, while heavily beating him. He began dancing when the 
Ukrainians around him beat him; they accompanied his dance with cheers. 

Then they sat him on the floor and lit his beard, but the beard did not burn. 
While some Ukrainians experimented with his beard, others took six Jews with 
beards from our rows, put them next to the old one and also lit their beards. At 
first the beards burned, but then the fire sprang on the clothes, and the Jews 
burned to death in front of us. … 

The Ukrainians continued their mistreatment. They took from our row a deaf 
Jew who was bald. His head was their target. They threw against him bath devices 
made from metal and wood. The competition finished soon, as the head of the 
deaf man was shot into two parts and his brain flew on his clothes and the floor. 

There was a Jew with a crooked foot. The Ukrainians tried to straighten it by 
force. The Jew screamed loudly, but they did not succeed. They were busy with 
the straightening of this foot until they broke it. The Jew did not stand up again, 
probably because his heart was broken as well. 

Trembling, we were forced to accompany these mistreatments with singing, 
and as a reward, we were beaten terribly. … 

We were beaten the whole night. In the morning I was one of the twenty-three 
who survived of a group of about 300 who had come here the previous day. Most 
were killed by uninterrupted beating.104 

Of the twenty-three survivors, twenty died during the following hours and days 
on account of the injuries they obtained during the night in the bathhouse.105 This 
description of the deeds of the Ukrainian policemen represents only a very small part 
of what they did to the Jews while patrolling the ghettos and assisting the Germans 
with deportations, raids, and shootings. In rural areas, there were few if any German 
policemen and authority was almost entirely in the hands of the Ukrainian police and 
the local Ukrainian administration.106 Holocaust survivor Rena Guz remembered 
how Ukrainian policemen in the Povorsk (Powórsk) region in Volhynia severely beat 
Jews, forced them to dance naked, and escorted a group of Jews from the ghetto to 
the forest, where they made them dig a grave, and then shot them.107 Bohdan Sta-
shyns’kyi, from the town of Borshchovychi (Barszczowice), close to Lviv, witnessed 
the prominent role of the Ukrainian Hilfspolizei in the shooting of Jews in his district 
on several occasions.108 Like the Polish Kripo (criminal investigation department), 
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the Ukrainian Hilfspolizei was responsible for hunting down and killing Jews who 
escaped from the ghettos and were hiding in the forests. In western Ukraine, the 
Ukrainian police shot hundreds or perhaps thousands of Jews who tried to survive in 
the forest or who hid in the villages.109 

Many Jews were murdered in Ukraine during the second half of 1942 in particu-
lar, as the ghettos were dissolved at that time. Some of the Jews in eastern Galicia 
(Distrikt Galizien of the General Government) were deported to the Bełżec 
extermination camp in the course of the Aktion Reinhardt; others were shot. In Vol-
hynia (Reichskomissariat Ukraine) the Jews were shot by units composed of the 
Sicherheitspolizei (Security Police) and Sicherheitsdienst (Security Service) near the 
ghettos or in local forests and fields; they were buried in mass graves dug by Soviet 
POWs (Prisoners of War), local peasants, Ukrainian policemen, or the Jewish victims 
themselves. The annihilation of the largest number of Volhynian Jews finished in 
December 1942, and of eastern Galician Jews in July 1943. Dissolving the ghettoes 
and assisting the Germans by shootings, the Ukrainian policemen seem to have been, 
in general, no less brutal and eager than the German police or Gestapo officers. For 
example, during a mass deportation of Jews from the Lviv ghetto in August 1942, a 
Ukrainian officer of the Hilfspolizei complained that members of Organization Todt 
obstructed him in completing his duties.110 

The role of the Ukrainian police in mass shootings was also a significant one. 
They helped the Germans identify the Jews with the help of lists that had sometimes 
been prepared by the local Ukrainian administration or by ordinary Ukrainians—
frequently their former neighbors. Then the Ukrainian policemen escorted the Jew-
ish victims to the mass graves, and ensured that the Jews did not escape from the 
execution site, where they were usually shot by Germans and occasionally by Ukrai-
nian policemen.111 In his study on the Holocaust in Volhynia Shmuel Spector cited 
the description of one of the numerous shootings which happened before the Jews 
had been moved to the ghettos. The description was left by a survivor who had lost 
her relatives during this massacre. On the afternoon of 12 August 1941, 

Two truckloads of Ukrainian policemen and the Gestapo murderers entered the 
townlet [of Horokiv in Volhynia]. Within minutes all the Ukrainian youth, which 
probably had prepared itself in advance, enlisted itself to assist them. For about 
two hours some 300 men, including children aged 14, were seized in the streets or 
driven from their homes. In searching for and finding the Jews, the Ukrainian 
youths demonstrated such diligence and energy that no description can do justice 
to the ignominy of this people. 
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The Germans did not take part in the abductions. This was carried out with 
clear conscience by our Ukrainian neighbors who had lived side by side with the 
Jews for generations. High school students, sons of the nation of murderers, 
came to drag out their fellow Jewish students. Within minutes, neighbors who for 
many years had lived next to a Jewish house, became beasts of prey pouncing on 
their Jewish neighbors. Within a short time the unfortunate victims, my husband, 
my brother and my brother-in-law, were assembled in the yard of the militia post 
where they were kept for several hours. 

In the meantime a group of men was led to the Park where they were ordered 
to dig up a large pit. As soon as the digging was completed, they began bringing 
the unfortunate victims in groups. They were not yet aware of what awaited them. 
The Ukrainian militia performed its job splendidly. No one among the unfortu-
nates managed to get away. The job of shooting was performed by the German 
murderers, whose superior training prepared them for it. At six o’clock in the 
evening the whole thing was over.112 

In some places, however, the Ukrainian police did not only escort and watch but 
also participated in the shooting. On 6 September 1941 in Radomyshl’, the Ukrainian 
police assisted Sonderkommando 4a, which shot 1,107 adult Jews. The Ukrainian 
police themselves shot 561 Jewish youths.113 During an NKVD interrogation in July 
1944, Iakov Ostrovs’kyi stated that, during two shootings, 3,300 Jews were annihi-
lated. Of these, 1,800 were killed by the Germans and 1,500 by the Ukrainian 
police.114 According to Stanisław Błażejewski, the Ukrainian policeman Andryk 
Dobrowolski from Małe Sadki in Volhynia boasted that he personally killed 300 
Jews.115 Joachim Mincer wrote in his diary in 1943 that the “executions in the prison 
yard” were conducted “mainly by Ukrainian policemen.” He identified the main 
persecutor as a policeman by the name of Bandrowski who “liked to shoot Jews on 
the street.”116 

From the German attack on the Soviet Union in June 1941 until the summer of 
1943, the Ukrainian militiamen and later the Ukrainian policemen learned how to 
annihilate an entire ethnic group in a relatively short time. Some of them made prac-
tical use of this knowledge when they joined the UPA at the request of the OUN-B, in 
spring 1943.117 In March 1943, the Polish Home Army (Armia Krajowa, AK) ob-
served that Ukrainian policemen in Volhynia sang the words, “We have finished the 
Jews, now we will do the same with the Poles” and that their economic situation 
improved during the process of helping the Germans kill the Jews of Volhynia. 
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The OUN-B in 1942 

In April 1942, the Second Conference of the OUN-B took place. At this time, the 
leaders of the OUN-B considered that the Germans would win the war in the East 
against the Soviet Union but lose against the Allies in the West. In these circums-
tances they hoped that the Nazis might change their minds and establish a Ukrainian 
state with Bandera and Stets’ko as its leaders. Officially however, they wanted to 
distance themselves from the Germans, so as not to jeopardize relations with the 
Allies.118 The leadership of the OUN-B declared that it did not intend to “take part in 
anti-Jewish actions, in order to avoid becoming a blind tool in alien hands.” Yet, in 
the same resolution, the OUN-B stated that it regarded “Jews as a tool of Russian 
Bolshevik imperialism,” which means that it had not changed its attitude toward 
them.119 Other OUN-B documents from 1942 also confirm that the OUN-B did not 
revise its attitude toward the Jews, and that it took the “Jewish Bolshevism” stereo-
type for reality. One OUN-B leaflet stated “We do not want to work for Moscow, for 
the Jews, the Germans, or other strangers, but for ourselves.”120 

In 1942 the Nazis regarded the OUN-B as a “predominantly anti-German, illegal 
organization.”121 In leaflets distributed in Poltava in the same year, the OUN-B de-
clared its intention to establish a Ukrainian army that would fight against the Wehr-
macht.122 In the Horokhiv region in Volhynia in September 1942, the Germans found 
a slip of paper attached to a barn, calling on Ukrainians to free themselves from the 
Germans. The slip was signed in Stepan Bandera’s name.123 

Although in 1941 and 1942, the Gestapo arrested a number of leading OUN-B 
members in Ukraine and in Germany, several of whom were sent to concentration 
camps, these measures did not destroy the organization or even substantially affect 
it.124 The OUN-B quickly recovered, and more members were recruited for the under-
ground. Bandera, as the legendary Providnyk of the movement, did not disappear 
from the universe of OUN-B activists after the Germans took him to Berlin in early 
July 1941. For example, the recruitment of new OUN-B members included an oath 
on Stepan Bandera, Christ, Christ’s wounds, wounds of the heroes of the OUN, and a 
range of historical Ukrainian heroes like Khmel’nyts’kyi. The oath had to be per-
formed under portraits of Bandera and Konovalets’ on each side of a trident, and 
under yellow-and-blue, and red-and-black flags.125 

Preparing in 1942 for the first anniversary of the proclamation of 30 June 1941, 
the OUN-B stressed that it wanted to “tie the Nation much more strongly to the 
Organization and to Providnyk Stepan Bandera.” For this purpose, OUN-B activists 
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delivered speeches and organized church services.126 Portraits of Bandera and 
Stets’ko appeared on the first page of the OUN-B Biuleten’ from June–July 1942.127 
In April 1942, the Germans arrested a group of OUN-B members. The Nazis charac-
terized them as young people without occupation, who spread nationalistic propa-
ganda among peasants and frequently carried “holy medallions and chauvinistic pray-
ers” and “banners with the inscription ‘Heil Hitler!’”128 

The UPA—Mass Violence and “Democratization” 

The decision of the OUN-B to found an army was taken at a conference in November 
1942 and a meeting in December 1942. The first units of the army were formed in 
February 1943 in Volhynia, where the OUN-B was headed by Dmytro Kliachkivs’kyi 
(Klym Savur). In the first instance, the OUN-B called its army the Ukrainian Libera-
tion Army (Ukraїns’ke Vyzvol’ne Viis’ko, UVV) but after April-May 1943 the name 
“Ukrainian Insurgent Army” (Ukraїns’ka Povstans’ka Armiia, UPA) became preva-
lent. This name was previously used by an army headed by Taras Bul’ba-Borovets’, 
who had never recognized the OUN-B proclamation of a state on 30 June 1941. After 
the OUN-B took over the name of the original UPA, Bul’ba-Borovets’ renamed his 
army as the Ukrainian People’s Revolutionary Army (Ukraїns’ka Narodno-Revo-
liutsiina Armiia, UNRA). At the same time, the OUN-B terrorized Bul’ba-Borovets’ 
and his troops, killing his wife and several of his closest officers. Bul’ba-Borovets’ 
proposed collaboration with the Germans but was arrested by them on 1 December 
1943 in Warsaw and sent to the Sachsenhausen concentration camp for political 
prisoners.129 

Between 19 March and 14 April 1943 alone, about 5,000 out of a total of 12,000 
Ukrainian policemen in Volhynia deserted the police force and joined the UPA at the 
behest of the OUN-B.130 Other Ukrainians who joined the UPA, with experience in 
the mass killing of civilians, were soldiers from Schutzmannschaft battalion 201, 
which was disbanded on 31 December 1942. This battalion had been formed from the 
Nachtigall and Roland battalions in late 1941 and was sent to Belarus in 1942 to com-
bat partisans. The majority of the people killed in Belarus by this and other Schutz-
mannschaft battalions were not partisans but civilians.131 Some individuals from this 
battalion, such as Roman Shukhevych and Vasyl’ Sydor, occupied leading positions 
in the UPA. After the disbandment of the battalion, a significant number of its mem-
bers also joined the Waffen-SS Galizien division.132 An unknown number of Ukrai-
nians deserted from the Waffen-SS Galizien division and joined the UPA. Some of 
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them deserted before the division was defeated by the Red Army near Brody in July 
1944; some, after the defeat.133 Ivan Katchanovski estimated that 46 percent of the 
OUN and UPA leaders had served in the local Ukrainian police, in Schutzmannschaft 
battalion 201, or in the Waffen-SS Galizien division, or had been recruited in Ger-
man-sponsored military or intelligence schools.134 

The UPA partisans were recruited by OUN-B revolutionaries. Like the OUN-B, 
they used the greeting “Glory to Ukraine!”—“Glory to the Heroes!” but they aban-
doned the fascist raising of the arm “slightly to the right, slightly above the peak of 
the head.” They received a thorough ideological education, which was “steeped in the 
spirit of fanaticism,” as the UPA partisan Danylo Shumuk remembered. In their 
ideology lessons, they learned by heart the “Decalogue of a Ukrainian Nationalist,” 
“The Forty-Four Rules of Life of a Ukrainian Nationalist,” and hymns like “O Lord, 
Almighty and Only” (Bozhe Velykyi Iedynyi), and other ideological and religious 
pieces. They were not allowed to discuss anything and were expected to accept 
everything that the OUN-B ideologists taught them. Shumuk noticed that this kind of 
ideological-religious education enabled the UPA insurgents to reconcile the mass 
murders with their own consciences. They were taught to believe that they could 
commit mass murders against other ethnic groups, because these groups had harmed 
“Ukrainians” in the past.135 In 1944 the UPA counted between 25,000 and 30,000 
partisans, who were grouped in more than 100 battalions. It could mobilize up to 
100,000 people. After late 1944 and early 1945 the number of partisans declined.136 

Like the OUN-B activists, the UPA leaders had serious difficulties in cooperating 
with eastern Ukrainians, for whom nationalist and racist ideology was strange. The 
UPA leaders frequently mistrusted eastern Ukrainians and did not regard them as 
“their people.” Shukhevych, according to the SB officer Ivan Pan’kiv, ordered eastern 
Ukrainians killed “on shaky grounds or without any grounds and even contemplated 
their total extermination, including even OUN and UPA members.”137 

The UPA was divided into UPA-West, UPA-South, and UPA-North. Most UPA 
partisans were no older than thirty, the majority were under twenty-five, and many 
were even younger than twenty. The leaders of the UPA, who were leading OUN-B 
members, were no older than forty. Kliachkivs’kyi, the first colonel of the UPA and 
the commanding officer of UPA-North, was thirty-two in 1943. His follower Lytvyn-
chuk was twenty-eight in 1945, when he headed UPA-North. Shukhevych, who re-
placed Kliachkivs’kyi as commander-in-chief of the UPA in August 1943, was thirty-
six. The UPA was policed by the Security Service (Sluzhba Bezpeky, SB) of the OUN-
B, which used draconian measures, including murder and torture, to keep partisans 
from deserting or defecting. During one month from mid-September to mid-October 
1943, the SB executed 110 persons, of whom sixty-eight were Ukrainians. In Novem-

 
133  “Kontakty UPA s vermakhtom, 21.08.1944,” KAW, M/II/30/2, 152. 
134  Katchanovski studied biographies of 118 OUN and UPA leaders. Cf. Ivan Katchanovski, “Terrorists or 

National Heroes,” Paper presented at the Annual Conference of the Canadian Political Science Associ-
ation, Concordia University, Montreal, Canada, 1–3 June 2010. The biographies that Katchanovski 
studied are in Petro Sodol’, Ukraїns’ka povstans’ka armiia, 1943–49: Dovidnyk (New York: Proloh, 
1994), 63–136. 

135  Shumuk, Za skhidnim obriiem, 15, 20, 24, 34. 
136  Motyka, Ukraińska partyzantka, 424. 
137  Statiev, Soviet Counterinsurgency, 126. 



264 Stepan Bandera: The Life and Afterlife of a Ukrainian Nationalist 
 

  

ber 1943, it shot twenty-four deserters from a single company during the course of a 
day. Despite these harsh measures, many Ukrainians deserted from the UPA. On 8 
November 1943 for example, a whole company defected to the Red Army.138 Some 
joined the UPA, not for patriotic or ideological reasons, but to avoid forced labor in 
Germany, or because they were policemen and feared Soviet retribution, or because 
their friends were in the UPA, or for other reasons.139 Women in the UPA played an 
important role as nurses or SB agents.140 

Between 17 and 21 February 1943, the OUN-B organized the Third OUN Con-
ference. The leadership of the OUN-B thought that Germany would lose the war, and 
that Ukrainians would have to struggle for independence against the Soviet and 
Polish armies. Germans were not an essential enemy of the OUN-B or the UPA, be-
cause they fought the Soviet Union and might eventually withdraw from Ukraine. 
However, for the sake of eventual cooperation with the Allies, the leadership of the 
OUN-B emphasized that it was struggling against two imperialisms: Nazi Germany 
and the Soviet Union.141 For the same reason, the OUN-B decided to break away from 
fascism and to “democratize” itself, but the term “democracy” still had a very 
negative meaning among the OUN-B and UPA leaders. As at the First Great Assem-
bly in April 1941, the OUN-B also wanted to mobilize other European “enslaved 
nations” in order to cooperate with them in the struggle against the Soviet Union. 
The OUN-B condemned all Ukrainians who would collaborate with the Nazis or 
Soviet authorities. In so doing, the OUN-B and UPA leaders condemned 80 percent 
of all Ukrainians, as eastern Ukrainians were frequently loyal to the Soviet Union and 
regarded the UPA as an alien and enemy-like army. The OUN-B preserved the idea of 
the “Ukrainian National Revolution” of 1941 but it abandoned the right-arm fascist 
salute.142 In May 1943, the OUN-B theoretically abandoned the Führerprinzip and 
established a triumvirate of Zinovii Matla, Dmytro Maїvs’kyi, and Roman Shukhe-
vych. In reality, the triumvirate was dominated by Shukhevych and did not essen-
tially deviate from the Führerprinzip.143 

Between 21 and 25 August 1943, the OUN-B organized the Third Extraordinary 
Great Assembly. The participants decided to give Bandera the opportunity to become 
the leader of the OUN whenever he would be able to resume the position.144 In offi-
cial documents, the OUN-B was now manifesting even more hostility against “Ger-
man Hitlerism and Muscovite Bolshevism”145 and “international and fascist-national-
socialist concepts,”146 than it had at the Third Conference in February. It stated that it 
did not want to live in the “New Europe” for which it had yearned in 1941,147 but it 
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based its political concepts on Mikhnovs’kyi and his racist Ukrainian nationalism.148 
With the concept of “Freedom for the Nations and the Person” the OUN-B wanted to 
break up the Soviet Union into several states. This slogan became the main concept 
of the Conference of Enslaved Nations of Eastern Europe and Asia, which took place 
on 21–22 November 1943 near Zhytomyr. The conference, attended by thirty-nine 
delegates from thirteen countries, was allegedly organized in cooperation with 
Rosenberg. The conference must have been a disaster for the OUN-B, as they de-
stroyed the minutes and afterwards killed several of its delegates.149 

In official documents released after the Third Extraordinary Great Assembly, the 
OUN-B guaranteed the “equality of all citizens of Ukraine” and the rights of minor-
ities, at least those that were “aware of a common fate with the Ukrainian nation” 
and would “fight together with it for a Ukrainian state.”150 The reason for these state-
ments and considerations was the desire to collaborate with the Allies and to win 
over the eastern Ukrainians. At this time, the OUN-B was sure that Britain and the 
United States, both democratic states, would win the war and could help the OUN-B 
in the fight against the Soviet Union. The OUN-B sent its representatives to Sweden, 
Italy, and Switzerland, to make contact with the Allies. It also began negotiations 
with the Home Army (Armia Krajowa, AK). It hoped that the AK, which was in con-
tact with the Polish government in London, would help it to contact the Allies. The 
AK, however, was reluctant to agree to the OUN-B’s request, because of the ethnic 
cleansing conducted by the UPA against the Polish population at this time.151 In July 
1944, for the sake of a “democratic” image and eventual cooperation with Britain and 
the United States, the OUN and UPA established the Ukrainian Supreme Liberation 
Council (Ukraїns’ka Holovna Vyzvol’na Rada, UHVR).152 

The UPA and Mass Violence against Poles  

At the same time as the OUN-B leadership was discussing how to “democratize” 
or renew itself and to guarantee rights to national minorities, the UPA in Volhynia 
under the leadership of Kliachkivs’kyi was conducting an ethnic cleansing, in which 
they murdered several dozen to several hundred Poles a day. The OUN-B and UPA 
leadership knew about this ethnic cleansing from the outset. It discussed it and ap-
proved it at the Third Extraordinary Great Assembly, which Kliachkivs’kyi attended. 
From participants, we know that this decision was deliberately not recorded in the 
official documents.153 The first systematic mass murders of Poles began in March 
1943, when the Ukrainian policemen joined the UPA, but the OUN-B had already 
killed several hundred Poles in January and February 1943. During these first ex-
perimental mass killings, the OUN-B realized that the Poles would not leave the 
“Ukrainian territories” as the OUN-B demanded, and might try to resist the attacks. 
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Therefore, the only way to remove them would be to annihilate them.154 According to 
reports of the Polish underground, one of the UPA leaders stated: “On 1 March 1943 
we begin an armed uprising. It is a military operation, and as such it is directed 
against the occupier. The current occupier [the Germans] is however temporary and 
we should not lose strength fighting against them. When it comes to the Polish ques-
tion, this is not a military but a minority question. We will solve it as Hitler solved 
the Jewish question. Unless [the Poles] remove themselves [from the ‘Ukrainian 
territories’].”155 

The Poles who lived in Volhynia and Galicia did not understand why they should 
leave their homes and did not know where they could go. With the exception of the 
military settlers who had come after the First World War, Poles had lived in Volhynia 
and eastern Galicia for centuries and considered it their homeland. Ukrainians were 
their immediate neighbors. After centuries-long coexistence, the cultural differences 
between Poles and Ukrainians, especially in the villages, had blurred and were not 
essential. In 1943 however, the Polish inhabitants of villages became the main target 
of the UPA, which barely existed in urban areas and was at home in the villages and 
forests. The annihilation of the Jews in Ukraine, in which the Ukrainian police were 
involved, had a significant influence on the OUN-B’s decision to annihilate the Poles, 
as it demonstrated that a relatively small number of people could annihilate an entire 
ethnic group in a relatively short period.156 

Officially, the OUN-B and UPA euphemized the mass murder of Poles as an “anti-
Polish action” but in internal documents the term “cleansing” (chystka) was com-
mon.157 UPA orders even specified the date by which a particular territory had to be 
“cleansed” of Poles. These documents frequently ended with the greeting “Weapons 
ready—Death to Poles” (Zbroia na verkh—Smert’ poliakam).158 The OUN-B justified 
the “cleansing” by citing both proven and alleged collaboration of Poles with the Ger-
man and Soviet authorities. Another excuse for the murder of Poles was the position 
of the Polish government in London, which considered Volhynia and Galicia as terri-
tories that would be included in the Polish state after the war. Furthermore, the 
OUN-B assumed that the Poles living in the “Ukrainian territories” were guilty of 
centuries-long suppression of Ukraine, and that this justified their death at the hands 
of the UPA and other Ukrainians. In July 1943, which was one of the most violent 
months of the ethnic cleansing, the OUN-B distributed a leaflet in which it blamed 
Poles for triggering the conflict and provoked the UPA to murder them.159 The OUN-
B and UPA encouraged Ukrainians to take the land and property of Poles and offered 
them “ideology and protection from Polish revenge.”160 
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In its propaganda, the OUN-B considered it important to depict the ethnic clean-
sing as an action provoked by Poles, and for which Poles were responsible. It also 
blamed Germany, the Soviet Union, and the war in general for the mass murder.161 
However, in unofficial talks and documents, it referred to mass murder as “ethnic 
cleansing” and debated whether it was favorable for Ukraine or not. According to 
Stepaniak, he and Lebed’ argued at the Third Extraordinary Great Assembly that the 
“UPA compromised itself with its bandit deeds against the Polish population,” just as 
the OUN-B had compromised itself through collaboration with the Germans. During 
an NKVD interrogation, Stepaniak stated that the majority of the OUN-B leaders 
were against his and Lebed’s alleged position.162 Yet it is not clear whether Lebed’ 
and Stepaniak indeed opposed the terror of the UPA at the Third Extraordinary 
Great Assembly, or if Stepaniak only stated this under interrogation, in order not to 
incriminate himself. Another OUN member, Oleksandr Luts’kyi, confirmed 
Stepaniak’s version of the events of the Third Extraordinary Great Assembly.163 In 
April 1943 however, according to Petro Balei, Lebed’ had already issued orders 
concerning the annihilation of Poles in Volhynia. This suggests that Lebed’ did not 
oppose the “cleansing,” at least in its first stage.164 After Shukhevych inspected 
Volhynia, the leadership of the OUN-B and UPA decided to conduct a similar ethnic 
cleansing the following year in eastern Galicia. The mass murder of Poles in eastern 
Galicia began in early 1944 and lasted until spring 1945. Although it was no less cruel 
than the murders in Volhynia, fewer Poles were killed in eastern Galicia.165 

Some OUN-B activists and UPA partisans did not agree with the policy of killing 
Poles, sometimes for personal reasons, but orders required them to carry it out.166 
Not only did the UPA partisans and OUN-B activists personally kill Poles but they 
also involved the Ukrainian population in the killings. Many Ukrainians in Volhynia 
and eastern Galicia did not oppose this policy. The OUN-B and the UPA motivated 
Ukrainians with nationalist and racist slogans and promised them the land of the 
Polish peasants and an opportunity to enrich themselves. Many of the victims were 
killed with instruments like axes or pitchforks, which made the mass murders brutal 
and cruel.167 Probably because of the shortage of cartridges, the aggressors some-
times preferred to use axes or knives, even when they possessed firearms.168 Ordinary 
Ukrainians sometimes murdered their immediate Polish neighbors or were involved 
in their murder.169 
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The OUN-B and UPA were prepared to murder all Poles who would not leave the 
“Ukrainian territories,” including women and children. They frequently returned on 
the second or third day after an attack and looked for survivors in order to slaughter 
them. The UPA regularly demanded that Ukrainians in mixed marriages kill their 
spouses and children.170 Poles had lived in Volhynia and eastern Galicia for decades 
and centuries, and were often bilingual. The UPA partisans frequently could not 
identify Poles by language. If they could not learn from local Ukrainians who was 
Polish, they asked the suspect to pray in Ukrainian.171 The idea of annihilating the 
“non-Ukrainian” partner in a mixed marriage goes back to the racist roots of OUN-B 
ideology. In “The Nation as a Species,” an undated brochure published perhaps in 
1944, the OUN came to the conclusion that a mixed marriage was a crime that should 
be punished: “The Ukrainian nation is against mixed marriage and regards it as a 
crime. … The substance of our families must be Ukrainian (father, mother, and child-
ren). The family is the most important organic unity, the highest cell of the national 
collective, and thus we have to keep it purely Ukrainian.”172 

Elsewhere in the brochure, we read that all nations are races and that the Ukrai-
nian nation is a unique race, the purity of which should be protected by law, because 
it is natural for every nation to protect itself against weaker races. To substantiate its 
racist arguments, the authors of the brochure referred to the Ukrainian geographer 
Rudnyts’kyi: 

Professor Dr. St. Rudnyts’kyi, in his book On the Basis of Ukrainian Nationalism 
writes that “mixed marriages with our neighboring peoples are disadvantageous,” 
as they lead to the denationalization of many and the degeneration of others. … 
Our neighbors played a very sad role in mixed marriages because they are much 
weaker physically, culturally, and racially, which impacts us in a negative way. … 
The reflex against mixed marriages is natural, as it rises out of the instinct of self-
preservation and growth of the Nation. It is typical for all national societies. 
Nations in the process of expansion strictly adhere to this law. For instance, in 
Germany racial laws determine the destiny of the people and of the individual 
throughout his entire life. (The same is true for Italians and others.)173 

The UPA was the army that the OUN-B leaders expected to “cleanse” the 
Ukrainian race. Perhaps as a result of this conviction, acts of pathological sadism 
occurred frequently. In May 1943 in the village Kolonia Grada, for example, UPA 
partisans killed two families who could not escape as all the others had, after they 
realized that the UPA was attacking the neighboring village of Kolonia Łamane. The 
partisans killed all the members of these two families, cut open the belly of a 
pregnant woman, took the fetus and her innards from her, and hung them on a bush, 
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probably to leave a message for other Poles who had escaped the attack and might 
come back to the village.174 Some of these murders were conducted under the 
leadership of Hryhorii Perehiniak, who before the war was imprisoned in Święty 
Krzyż in the same cell as Bandera and other OUN activists. Bandera taught 
Perehiniak history and ideology and stayed on good terms with him, not least 
because they came from neighboring villages.175 

For the purpose of killing Poles, some UPA units used methods similar to those 
used by the Germans to annihilate Jews in Ukraine. This knowledge was based on 
the experience of OUN-B activists in the Ukrainian police. The UPA partisans would 
sometimes give candy to Polish children and be very polite to the population gener-
ally, in order to calm them. They would ask the Poles to go to a meeting, and then 
they would either take small groups from the meeting and shoot them, or they would 
burn the entire Polish population of a village, in a barn or other building. They would 
attack on Sundays, when the Polish villagers were gathered for a service in church, 
and would either throw grenades into the church, burn it down, or enter and murder 
everyone inside. They would dig a large grave, take groups of Poles to it, and either 
shoot the Poles or murder them with sharp implements, either beside the grave or in 
it. When the grave was full of corpses, they would cover it with earth, almost exactly 
as the Einsatzkommandos had done with the Jews. After murdering the population 
in one place, these UPA units could move quickly from one locality to another, in 
order to surprise the population and prevent it from escaping. The UPA partisans 
could also attack several villages on the same day, as happened on 11 July 1943 for 
example, when the UPA attacked ninety-six localities. In July 1943, one of the 
bloodiest months of the “cleansing,” the UPA attacked 520 localities and killed be-
tween 10,000 and 11,000 Poles.176 On 11 and 12 July 1943, the UPA murdered about 
4,330 Poles.177 Ivan Vasiuk, a nineteen-year-old UPA member captured by the Soviet 
police, stated that his company exterminated 1,500 Poles in three villages in 1943. He 
himself killed nineteen persons, including eight men, six women, and five children.178 
In addition to the ethnic cleansing of Poles in 1943–1944, the OUN-UPA also annihi-
lated an unknown number of Ukrainians who were Roman Catholics, or had close 
relationships with Poles, or did not support the ethnic cleansing, or for other 
reasons.179 

In July 1943, the AK reported that Ukrainian peasants were saying that, after the 
Jews, “the Poles are next in line.” That month the AK noticed that the slogan “Death 
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to the Poles” (Smert’ liakham) became so popular among Ukrainians in Lviv, that it 
was even used as an everyday greeting. In July 1943, the AK in Stanislaviv observed 
that Ukrainians used the greeting “Death to the Poles” while answering “Glory to 
Ukraine.”180 Janina Kwiatkowska was travelling in January 1945 with two sisters 
from Ternopil’ to Chortkiv. They had to stay overnight in the provincial town of Te-
rebovlia and did not want to remain at the railway station. In Ukrainian, which they 
spoke as fluently as Polish, they asked a Ukrainian woman to allow them to stay in 
her house. The woman took them for Ukrainians and agreed. When they asked her 
where her husband was, the woman answered carelessly, “He went to murder 
Polacks and will soon be back.” Kwiatkowska referred to the man as a Banderite in 
her testimony.181 

The mass murder carried out by the OUN-B astounded the Polish population in 
Volhynia. Poles in Volhynia—and later, even more so in eastern Galicia—tried to 
defend themselves against the murderous units of the UPA. The Polish Home Army 
(Armia Krajowa, AK) tried to help the Poles in Volhynia to defend themselves but 
because the number of UPA partisans and mobilized Ukrainians was much greater 
than that of the AK and other Poles, they met with limited success. The AK, which 
was connected with the Polish government in London, held the opinion that Poles 
should not leave the territories, and that the Polish state should retain the same 
eastern border after the Second World War. This geopolitical idea clashed totally 
with that of the OUN-UPA, which considered Volhynia and eastern Galicia to be 
Ukrainian territories and part of a future Ukrainian state. The AK frequently 
encouraged the Polish population not to leave when the UPA demanded that it leave 
immediately.182 Poles sought to escape from the UPA terror by moving to towns or 
villages with facilities for self-defense. Those who survived were repatriated to the 
territories of eastern Germany that became the western part of the People’s Republic 
of Poland (Polska Rzeczpospolita Ludowa, PRL), a state established on 22 June 1944 
in Lublin and ruled by Communists. The Germans who lived in these territories were 
repatriated to the territory of contemporary Germany.183 

After some Ukrainian policemen deserted in March 1943, Poles joined the Ger-
man police and later, when the Soviet army arrived, the local Soviet militia and the 
Soviet destruction battalions (istrebitel’nye batal’ony). In 1943, 5,000 to 7,000 Poles 
joined the Soviet partisans.184 Soviet partisans and Soviet soldiers in Volhynia and 
eastern Galicia appeared to the Poles to be allies, and indeed they sometimes pre-
vented UPA attacks against Poles.185 Poles in German or Soviet battalions or in the 
AK, in particular those who had experienced the UPA terror or whose families were 
killed by the UPA, not only defended themselves but also sought revenge by 
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murdering Ukrainian civilians.186 Poles in the AK, Peasants’ Battalions (Bataliony 
Chłopskie, BCh), Schutzmannschaft battalion 202, and other units committed 
numerous war crimes against the Ukrainian civilian population. In some villages, 
Pavlokoma, for example, they applied annihilation methods resembling those of the 
UPA in Volhynia and eastern Galicia.187 

During the period 1943–1945, the OUN and UPA, together with other mobilized 
Ukrainians, killed a total of between 70,000 and 100,000 Poles. Grzegorz Motyka, a 
specialist on this subject, estimated that the number might be closer to 100,000 than 
to 70,000. In different circumstances, Poles killed between 10,000 and 20,000 
Ukrainians, of whom the majority were not killed in Volhynia and eastern Galicia, 
where the OUN and UPA conducted the ethnic cleansing, but in territories that were 
mainly inhabited by Poles and not Ukrainians, and now belong to Poland.188 

Some Orthodox and Greek Catholic priests supported the perpetrators. Orthodox 
priests blessed the axes, pitchforks, scythes, sickles, knives, and sticks, which Ukrai-
nian perpetrators, among them peasants mobilized by the UPA or the OUN-B, used 
to slaughter Poles.189 On 15 August 1943 Sheptyts’kyi published a pastoral letter in 
which he condemned murder by “young people” with “good intentions.” He was not 
as much concerned about the victims as about the good name of the nation: “We 
have even been witnesses of terrible murders committed by our young people, per-
haps even with good intentions, but with pernicious consequences for the nation.” In 
the same letter he also asked “fathers” to “warn your sons against crime” and to “re-
member that you will achieve nothing good through actions that are opposed to 
God’s law.”190 In November 1943, he released a pastoral letter signed by the entire 
Ukrainian episcopate. He again condemned murder in powerful words but spoke 
about “bands” and, as before, did not specify which murders he was condemning.191 
Bolesław Twardowski, Roman Catholic archbishop of Lviv, asked Sheptyts’kyi to 
intervene in order to stop the murder of Roman Catholic priests. In a letter dated 15 
November 1943, Sheptyts’kyi denied that the ethnic cleansing of Poles was happen-
ing, claiming that Roman Catholic priests were murdered, not for political reasons, 
but because they were rich: “In the complete chaos of the present moment, all the 
worst elements rise to the surface and run wild. Regarding murder statistics, I think 
that murders connected with robbery occupy a very important place—and Roman 
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Catholic priests have in general a reputation of being rich people.”192 He further 
claimed that they were not murdered by the OUN-UPA but by “Bolshevik partisans, 
Jewish bands, and agitators of revolutionary Polish organizations from Warsaw, who 
even boast in their publications about murdering Poles.”193 In the first draft of his 
letter to Twardowski however, Sheptyts’kyi did not deny that Ukrainians were killing 
Poles but wrote: “The Ukrainian parties of Bandera and Mel’nyk deny responsibility 
for the murders; they steadfastly maintain that they have forbidden their members to 
kill Poles.” This suggests that he knew what the OUN and UPA were doing but de-
cided to blame others for the actions of the Ukrainian nationalists.194 

The UPA and the Murdering of Jews  

In addition to conducting the ethnic cleansing of the Polish population, the UPA, 
together with the OUN-B and especially the SB of the OUN-B, murdered Jews. The 
majority of the Jews killed in 1943 and 1944 by the Ukrainian nationalists had es-
caped from the ghettos in order to avoid the transports to Bełżec or being shot in 
front of mass graves. They hid in bunkers, or camps in the woods, or in peasant 
houses. Some of these Jews were killed as the UPA murdered Poles and destroyed 
their houses.195 The survivors of these attacks frequently described the perpetrators 
as “Banderites” and considered them to be Ukrainian nationalists. The OUN and 
UPA documents and other sources disclose that the “Banderites” were members of 
the SB of the OUN-B, OUN-B activists, UPA partisans, and sometimes Ukrainian 
peasants or bandits. The Ukrainian police were not usually described as Banderites, 
but as policemen, because of their uniforms.196 Antisemitism in the UPA was com-
mon and the UPA partisans, like the OUN activists, took the stereotype of “Jewish 
Bolshevism” for reality. The UPA partisan Fedir Vozniuk stated during an inter-
rogation that UPA leaders in 1943 and 1944 issued orders to their members to kill 
Poles and Jews.197 According to a Polish witness, UPA partisans passing through 
Głęboczyce, Volhynia in 1943 sang: “We slaughtered the Jews, we will slaughter the 
Poles, old and young, every one; we will slaughter the Poles, we will build Ukraine.”198 
Under the UPA terror, relations between Poles and Jews improved, and the two 
groups were sometimes allied against their common aggressor. For the same reason, 
Poles and Jews also allied themselves with Soviet partisans.199 
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Mania Leider, who escaped from a train on its way to Bełżec and hid in a forest in 
Peremyshliany region, was protected by Polish and Jewish partisans.200 In July 1943, 
the UPA attacked the village of Medwedówka. The invaders killed fifty-seven Poles 
and four Jews.201 In the village of Nowiny Czeskie in 1943 and 1944 the UPA mur-
dered a number of Jews, Poles, and Czechs.202 On 30 August 1943 in the village of 
Myślina, Ukrainians under the leadership of Fedor Hałuszko killed a number of Poles 
and four Jewish families, including three children.203 In March 1944, a group of 500 
Jews who were hiding in a forest in the Peremyshliany region escaped to a Polish 
village, Hanaczów, after they were warned by a Banderite. The next day, when Ukrai-
nian nationalists attacked the village, Poles and Jews defended themselves together 
against the invaders. The Banderites killed seventy Poles and two Jewish families. At 
Easter, the UPA attacked the village again and killed sixty Poles and an unknown 
number of Jews.204 In the military colony Bortnica, in the Dubno region, fifteen Poles 
and eight Jews organized self-defense. In autumn 1943, Ukrainians attacked them 
and killed twenty people. At Christmas 1943, they attacked again, killing eight Poles 
and three Jews.205 

Some of the Jews who tried to survive with the Soviet partisans fought with them 
against the UPA and the Germans.206 Szlojme Katz joined a Soviet partisan group in 
the Zhytomyr region in May 1943. He took part in a number of battles against the 
Germans and the UPA and testified to having killed six Banderites and twelve Ger-
mans.207 Jankel Fanger, who hid in the woods in the Peremyshliany area, decided to 
avenge two Jews who were delivered to the Germans by a Ukrainian peasant, shortly 
before the arrival of the Soviet army. The peasant had done so because the Jews had 
run out of money to pay him. Fenger went to the peasant’s house and informed him 
that he was from the Ukrainian underground and had come to punish him for hiding 
“enemies of the Ukrainian people.” After the peasant showed him the bottle of vodka 
and a bag of salt, which he had received from the Germans for delivering the Jews, 
Fanger killed the peasant and his wife, but not their children.208 

Many Jews hid in bunkers and camps in the forests. If they were discovered by 
OUN or UPA nationalists, twenty to hundred or even more Jews could be murdered 
at once.209 Izraela and Barbara Lissak testified that Banderites discovered three Jew-
ish bunkers. They threw a shell into one and fired at Jews who escaped from the 
others. The Lissaks also reported that the Banderites, attacking three Polish families, 
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killed twelve Jews and ten Poles.210 Ignacy Goldwasser hid with his mother and other 
Jews in bunkers around Boryslav. Shortly before the arrival of the Soviet Army, 
Banderites began killing the Jews hiding in the bunkers.211 Of the hundred people 
who hid together with Lipa Stricker, only about ten survived. On 2 March 1944, 
Stricker observed from a hiding-place in the bushes how a group of Ukrainians went 
to a bunker. Using knives, they slaughtered all the people in the bunker, among them 
his family.212 Edzia Szpeicher hid in a bunker close to Drohobych with twenty other 
Jews. One day, some Banderites introduced themselves as Soviet partisans and in-
vited the Jews hiding in the bunker to join their unit. After they emerged, the Ban-
derites ordered them to undress and killed them.213 In March 1944, the UPA forced a 
Pole who was supplying food for sixty-five Jews hiding in a bunker in a forest near 
Naraiv, Berezhany region, to show them where the Jews were hiding. They then 
killed fifty-one of them.214 Leon Knebel, who hid in the woods near Boryslav, remem-
bered the Banderites as much more cruel than the “Waldschutzpolizei,” who also 
looked for Jews in the woods. On one occasion the nationalists killed twenty-four 
Jews, among them a young woman. The Banderites cut off her hands and strips of 
skin from her body.215 

The OUN-B and UPA did not intend to kill all the Jews who were hiding in the 
forest immediately, but offered some of them “protection.” The OUN-B registered 
these Jews, kept them in “camps,” and forced them to work for the OUN-B and UPA. 
The “camps” were frequently farms or houses of murdered Poles. Most of such Jews 
were killed by the nationalists before the Red Army arrived in western Ukraine.216 
The leadership of the OUN-B and UPA had no interest in letting the Jews survive the 
war, because they suspected that the Jews might join the Red Army, support the 
Soviet authorities, or provide information about the Ukrainian nationalist partisans 
to their Soviet enemies. 

An unknown number of Jewish doctors, dentists, and nurses agreed or were 
forced to treat UPA insurgents. During their period with the UPA, they were usually 
frightened of the partisans and OUN-B activists and tried to escape.217 Like the Jews 
“employed” by the OUN-UPA in collective farms or camps, the majority were killed 
shortly before the Red Army came to western Ukraine. Holocaust survivor and early 
Holocaust historian Philip Friedman commented on this question: 

Ukrainian sources speak of a considerable number of Jewish physicians, dentists, 
and hospital attendants who served in the ranks of the UPA. The question is: Why 
did only a small number of them remain alive? The Bandera groups also utilized 
other Jewish skilled workers. According to Lew Shankowsky, practically every 
UPA group had a Jewish physician or pharmacist, as well as Jewish tailors, shoe-
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makers, barbers, and the like. Again the question arises: What happened to these 
hundreds of thousands of Jewish professionals and skilled workers? Betty 
Eisenstein states that in the spring of 1943 the Bandera groups began to imitate 
the German tactics of “selection.” Only the skilled workers were left alive, and 
they were concentrated in special camps, where they worked at their trades or on 
the farms. One such camp, established in April 1943 near Poryck, Volhynia, con-
tained more than 100 Jews. A second camp, which had some 400 Jews, was 
located in Kudrynki, nearly 20 miles from Tuczyn, Volhynia. Eisenstein reports 
that at the approach of the Soviet army the Bandera groups liquidated the Jews of 
the camps.218 

The few Jews who escaped to the Red Army confirmed that the UPA killed its Jew-
ish doctors shortly before the Red Army arrived in western Ukraine.219 The total num-
ber of Jews who survived their period with the UPA seems to be low and is difficult to 
estimate.220 Lea Goldberg managed to survive, working as a nurse. The Banderites first 
wanted to kill her but then decided that she could stay because she was useful and 
could be murdered any time later. She was with a UPA group of about 400 partisans 
and frequently feared for her life. She heard how the nationalists cursed the Jews, 
Poles, and Soviet partisans, and said that they needed to kill the Jews for the sake of 
Ukraine and had to attack and wipe out Polish villages. While at the UPA camp she 
observed several times how the UPA partisans tortured and murdered Soviet parti-
sans, Poles, and Jewish children. After a UPA partisan tried to kill her, she escaped to 
the Soviet partisans and remained with them until the Red Army arrived.221 

One of the orders to murder the Jews in the UPA collective farms and work camps 
came from the SB of the OUN-B, an entity that might have killed more Jews than the 
UPA partisans. “All non-professional Jews [serving in the UPA] should be secretly 
eliminated so that neither [other] Jews nor our people will know,” the order said. 
“The rumor should be spread that they went to the Bolsheviks.”222 During an NKVD 
interrogation, Ivan Kutkovets’ stated that the SB of the OUN-B issued an order in 
1943 to “physically exterminate Jews who were hiding in the villages.”223 In the Rivne 
region, the Ukrainian nationalists “literally hunted for Jews, organizing round-ups 
and combing the forest paths, ravines, etc.”224 
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In the last few months before the Red Army arrived in western Ukraine, Jews 
occasionally fled from forests and bunkers where they were hiding, to seek protection 
in German work camps. The survivor Hilary Koenigsberg testified in 1948: 

With the beginning of 1944 the Banderite bands multiplied, began tracking Jew-
ish bunkers in the woods and in the villages, killing all in a cruel way. Peasants 
revealed the bunkers. Sometimes they brought the Jews to the police with an axe 
in hand. Then happened what might seem to be unbelievable. The Jews fled from 
woods and bunkers to the camps. The [remainder] of the Jewish police and the 
administrators of the local estates made profit [from] it. Under the pretext that 
they could not take any more Jews into the camps they demanded bribes in 
money or items. The Banderite bands and the local nationalists raided every 
night, decimating the Jews. Jews sheltered in the camps where Germans were 
stationed, fearing an attack by Banderites. Some German soldiers were brought to 
protect the camps and thereby also the Jews.225 

The survivor Edzia Spielberg-Flitman, her six-year-old brother, and her mother 
were rescued by a local German officer. Edzia remembered that “80 percent [of my 
family] were killed by the Ukrainians who were our friends” and that the Ukrainians 
“were worse than the Germans.”226 Mojżesz Szpigiel testified in 1948 that several 
members of his family were killed by Ukrainian peasants and Ukrainian policemen. 
Describing the murder of 120 Jews on a farm by the Ukrainian police, he wrote: “It is 
important to state that this killing was not a German action, that it was performed by 
Ukrainian policemen and bandits.” When Ukrainian policemen attacked the last Jews 
in a farm, a German “major … went [there] with his aide and hit one [Ukrainian] 
policeman on the head with his revolver … and ordered them to leave immediately.”227 

As the Red Army came closer to western Ukraine in spring 1944, the interests of 
the UPA and the Germans began to overlap, and as a result many UPA units began to 
collaborate with the Germans again.228 At a conference in Lviv in October 1943, the 
leadership of the OUN had already decided that, like the UPA, Polish troops in 
Ukrainian territory should not fight against German troops, and they passed on this 
resolution to the Polish underground.229 One UPA partisan stated during an interro-
gation that fighting Germans made no sense for the UPA.230 Members of the UPA 
occasionally shot Jews at the Germans’ request. According to a Wehrmacht intelli-
gence report, “The UPA has successfully taken up pursuit of the Jewish gangsters and 
up to now shot almost a hundred.”231 In March or April 1944, the UPA informed the 
Germans that it would cleanse the Chełm (Kholm)—Rawa-Ruska (Rava Rus’ka) 
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region of “Poles, bandits, and Jews.”232 Dontsov insisted in 1944 that the “struggle 
against Jewry is in the interest and in the traditions of the Ukrainian nation.”233 

It is difficult to estimate how many Jews the OUN-B and the UPA actually killed 
in 1943 and the first half of 1944. Given the clandestine nature of this mass murder, 
we might never be able to establish an accurate number. The analyses done for this 
and previous research conducted by other historians suggest that in 1943 and 1944 
the OUN-B and UPA killed hundreds or even thousands of Jews in Volhynia and 
eastern Galicia, but the actual number is difficult to determine. Grzegorz Motyka, 
who studied the anti-Polish violence of the UPA in depth, with the anti-Jewish angle 
as only a minor part of his study, estimated that the UPA killed between 1,000 and 
2,000 Jews.234 Shmuel Spector, who investigated the Holocaust in Volhynia, wrote 
that “thousands of survivors of the German liquidation Aktionen were slaughtered by 
Ukrainian nationalist partisans.” According to him only 3,500 Jews (1.5 percent) 
survived the Holocaust in Volhynia. Of the 40,000 Jews who fled from ghettos and 
hid in forested areas, villages, or other hiding spots only 9 percent survived.235 Ewa 
and Władysław Siemaszko, who like Motyka concentrated on the anti-Polish violence 
of the UPA, came to conclusions similar to that of Spector.236 

Nobody has calculated how many Jews in eastern Galicia escaped from the ghet-
tos, slave labor camps, or transports to extermination camps and tried to survive in 
the forest or in other hideouts. Eastern Galicia offered less space for organized survi-
vor camps than Volhynia because it was less forested. However, there were more 
than twice as many Jews in eastern Galicia than in Volhynia, and thus the number 
might be as high as in Volhynia or even higher. Only 2 to 3 percent, or 10,000 to 
15,000 Jews, survived the Holocaust in eastern Galicia.237 Therefore the number of 
Jews in Volhynia and eastern Galicia who hid in forests and other hideouts but did 
not survive seems to be between 60,000 and 80,000.238 The current state of research 
does not allow for a close specification as to how many of these Jews were killed by 
the OUN and UPA, the local population, the Ukrainian police, or the Germans, or 
who died from causes such as disease or hunger while hiding. 

The Ukrainian police were certainly involved in the murder of more Jews than the 
OUN-B and UPA combined had killed. The police themselves may also have killed 
more Jews than the OUN-B and UPA, because the police helped the Germans during 
mass shootings, patrolled the ghettoes, hunted for Jews in the woods, and trans-
ported them to the extermination camps. However, the police seem to have killed 
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fewer of the Jews who tried to survive in the woods or in other hideouts than the 
OUN-B and UPA did, because the UPA controlled the woods and large parts of the 
countryside. Furthermore, the police were infiltrated by the OUN-B, and many 
Ukrainian policemen involved in the murder of Jews deserted in the spring of 1943 
for the UPA. As already mentioned, they brought with them the skills and methods of 
exterminating a large number of people in a relatively short time.239 

The role of the local population in the Holocaust in Volhynia and eastern Galicia 
was also significant. Some of the local Ukrainians helped the Jews to survive, while 
many others were indifferent and some actively helped the Germans, the Ukrainian 
police, and the UPA hunt for and kill the Jews. The peasants knew that the Jews were 
outlawed (vogelfrei) and that nobody would prosecute them for robbing or murder-
ing the Jews. On the contrary, hiding or helping the Jews was risky because one’s 
neighbors might have reported them to the police or to the Germans. The disappear-
ance of the Jews from villages and towns was also a long-standing goal of the mod-
erate Ukrainian national movement, which had dominated Ukrainian politics before 
the formation of the OUN. Some peasants had more trust in the moderate form of 
Ukrainian nationalism than in the fascistized and extreme form of OUN national-
ism.240 Finally, religion, in which many peasants found a justification for the geno-
cide of the Jews, also played a role in these mass murders. One peasant in Volhynia 
said to his Jewish acquaintance who had escaped from the ghetto: “Hitler has con-
quered almost the whole world and he is going to slaughter all the Jews because they 
had crucified our Jesus. You think you can escape from this fate? You shouldn’t run 
away from the ghetto; at least you would have rested in the same grave with your 
family. Now who knows where you’re going to die. My advice for you is to return to 
the ghetto.”241 

As in the case of “democratization” and the ethnic cleansing of Poles, the OUN-B 
began to falsify its immediate past with regard to anti-Jewish mass violence. In late 
October 1943, the UPA ordered the preparation of statements that the Germans had 
persecuted Jews in 1941 without any help from the Ukrainian police: 

c. Lists that would confirm that the Germans carried out anti-Jewish pogroms 
and liquidations by themselves, without the participation or help of the Ukrainian 
police, and instead, before carrying out the executions, urged the Jewish commit-
tee or the rogues themselves to confirm with their signatures the presence of the 
Ukrainian police and its involvement in the actions. 
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d. Material that would clearly confirm that Poles had initiated and taken part in 
anti-Jewish pogroms and at the same time that they had served as the hirelings 
and agents of the Germans in their struggle with Ukrainians.242 

At the same time as hunting, murdering, and exploiting Jews, the OUN-B guaran-
teed them, in official and propaganda documents, equality and minority rights. This 
very much resembled its attitude to Poles.243 On 1 November 1943, the leadership of 
the UPA announced “that we tolerate all nationalities—also Jews, who work in favor 
of the Ukrainian state. They will be regarded as Ukrainian citizens with full civic 
rights. We have to inform Jewish doctors and other professionals who are part of our 
effort about this.”244 

The attitude of the OUN-B and the UPA to the Jews was related to their attitude 
to Poles, Russians, and other minorities, and it was determined by the fact that many 
Ukrainian policemen, who in 1942 were involved in the destruction of the Volhynian 
and Galician Jews, deserted in spring 1943 for the UPA. Nevertheless, one should not 
forget that the OUN-B and UPA consisted of various kinds of people, and that it 
would inappropriate to portray it as a monolith, composed of only racist fanatics and 
war criminals. Examining the social composition of the UPA, we would find people of 
different classes, with different educational backgrounds, and of both genders. As 
already mentioned, some joined the UPA voluntarily and supported it willingly. Oth-
ers, however, were forced to join by the OUN-B or UPA members, or did so to avoid 
German or Soviet repression, or for other reasons. Some of the UPA partisans were 
communists or disapproved of nationalism for other reasons, before they were forced 
to join. While in the UPA, however, some of them adjusted or changed their views 
over a period of time, adopting the nationalist, racist, and antisemitic agenda of the 
movement. Oleksandr Povshuk, for example, a Volhynian Ukrainian who was skep-
tical about the Ukrainian nationalists, was forcibly enlisted in the UPA in summer 
1943. He at first criticized the OUN in his diary, for collaboration with the Germans, 
the annihilation of Poles, and several other aspects. After a year, he changed his 
views and made nationalism and antisemitism important aspects of his identity.245 

The ethnic and political mass violence conducted by the UPA in 1943 and 1944 
cannot be explained solely by the nationalist and racist ideology of the OUN-B. As a 
set of rules that approved of killing the “enemies of the Ukrainian nation,” this ideol-
ogy was certainly sufficient to turn ordinary men and women into murderers, but the 
question is how and why this ideology came into being and in what political and 
military context it was put into practice. This leads us to four factors: first, to the 
social and political situation of Ukrainians in the interwar period or even before; 
second, to the military aims and strategies of the UPA; third, the tone that the Nazi 
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occupation and Nazi ideology had set; and fourth, the fact that there was no strong 
administration in these territories at a time when the front was changing. 

As explained in previous chapters, the Ukrainians did not succeed in retaining a 
state after the First World War. In the interwar period, they were discriminated 
against in Poland and therefore had good reasons to dislike and oppose the Polish 
authorities. Because of the famine and Stalin’s repressions, the fate of Ukrainians in 
the Soviet Ukraine in the 1930s was even worse. This experience certainly had an 
impact on the motives and aims of the OUN-B and UPA. During the Second World 
War, the leadership of the OUN-B was afraid that the situation after the First World 
War would be repeated and that once again the Ukrainians would be unable to es-
tablish a Ukrainian state. The Polish government-in-exile insisted on the inclusion of 
the contested territories in the Polish state, thereby confirming the fears of the 
Ukrainian nationalists. Furthermore, Soviet leaders made no secret of the fact that 
they would include all Ukrainian territories in the Soviet Union and would detain or 
execute all political opponents. In order to mobilize peasants to violence, the OUN 
and UPA promised them a Ukrainian state, and land belonging to Poles. The pros-
pect of acquiring Polish or Jewish houses and their contents was another important 
motive for the conduct of ethnic violence. It would be incorrect to state that only 
OUN-B members and UPA partisans, or peasants motivated by Ukrainian genocidal 
nationalism hunted for Jews in the forests in 1943 and 1944. In addition, other types 
of Ukrainians, including robbers and peasants who were motivated primarily by non-
nationalist motives or a mixture of ideological and economic motives, killed Jews.246 
Finally, we should mention that some Ukrainians helped Jews and Poles survive the 
war, by hiding them, providing them with food, warning them of the approach of 
their enemies, and in other ways. In so doing they endangered themselves and their 
families.247 

Bandera and Banderites 

While the OUN-B and the UPA were conducting the ethnic cleansing of the Poles and 
hunting Jews, Bandera was not in Ukraine. He remained confined in Berlin and 
Sachsenhausen. The leadership of the OUN-B and the UPA were in contact with 
Bandera through his wife, and through other channels. Bandera might therefore have 
been informed about OUN-B and UPA policies, but we do not know to what extent, 
or what his opinion was concerning the ethnic cleansing in Volhynia and eastern 
Galicia, and other forms of ethnic and political violence at that time. I did not find 
any documents confirming that Bandera approved or disapproved of the ethnic 
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cleansing, or the murder of the Jews and other minorities. After the war, he never 
condemned the ethnic cleansing or pogroms or even admitted that they happened. 
Such conduct was rather typical of the leaders and members of the movement, and of 
its sympathizers. The ethnic and political violence conducted by the OUN and UPA 
during the Second World War was certainly not against Bandera’s pre-war beliefs and 
convictions, which he expressed at the Lviv trial for example, when he argued: “Our 
idea, as we understand it, is so great that, as it comes to its realization, not hundreds 
but thousands of human lives [will] have to be sacrificed in order to carry it out.”248 
Similarly, Bandera’s planning and preparation of the “Ukrainian National Revolution” 
in 1940–1941, which included mass violence against ethnic minorities and political 
opponents, also suggest that the violence conducted by the OUN-B and UPA in 1942–
1944 might not have been against Bandera’s political views and expectations. 

Although Bandera was not involved in the mass violence of 1942, 1943, and 1944, 
and although his personal, as opposed to moral, responsibility for those murders was 
either very limited or non-existent, the killing of thousands of Poles and several hun-
dreds or even thousands of Jews by the OUN-B and UPA in 1943–1944 contributed 
to the formation of his political myth and affected his political image. This happened 
because the OUN-B activists and the UPA partisans were known to their victims as 
Banderites, or Bandera’s people. The term “Banderites” goes back to the split of the 
OUN into the OUN-M and OUN-B, in 1940. It existed in June and July 1941 but was 
not commonly used at that time by the victims of the pogroms. Two years later how-
ever, the word “Banderites” was known to everyone in western Ukraine and was 
frequently used to describe the OUN-B activists, UPA partisans, and apparently, 
other Ukrainian perpetrators. In his written testimony in German from 28 April 
1945, Moses Brüh, who survived the war in western Ukraine, used the term “Ban-
deristen” to describe the UPA partisans who killed Poles in Volhynia and raided the 
Jews who hid in the bunkers.249 In their collective testimony written in Polish in 
1945, Jakub and Esia Zylberger, and Hersz and Doba Mełamed described as ban-
derowcy or Banderites the UPA partisans who murdered the Poles, hunted the Jews 
in the woods, kept them in work camps, and tried to annihilate them before the 
coming of the Soviets. They did not label as Banderites those perpetrators whom they 
perceived as peasants, who hunted the Jews, or as the militiamen who killed the Jews 
during the pogrom in Tuchyn (Tuczyn) in 1941.250 Dozens of other survivor testimo-
nies collected by the CŻKH between 1944 and 1948 depict the Banderites similarly to 
Zylberger and the Mełameds.251 
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Among Poles and Jews between 1943 and 1945, the term had a practical meaning, 
referring to people who might arrive at any time and commit murder. The term was 
colloquial and was used to identify Ukrainian nationalist insurgents, in particular 
OUN-B activists and UPA partisans. Its users undoubtedly employed it on occasion 
to refer to bandits who did not belong to the OUN-B or the UPA and committed 
murder for other reasons. Nevertheless, the general use of the term was to describe 
the Ukrainian nationalists. It was not used with reference to the Ukrainian police, 
who were referred to as such.252 The soldiers of Taras Bul’ba-Borovets’, who also 
murdered Jews but did not belong to the OUN-B or UPA, were identified not as Ban-
derites but as “bul’bivtsi” or “bulbowcy” or “bul’bovtsy.”253 Because Jews and Poles 
used the term “Banderites” to describe people who murdered them and conducted 
other atrocities against them on a daily basis, the term acquired a strongly pejorative 
meaning in these communities. It basically meant bandits, villains, or murderers. 

The AK used the term “Banderites” in its documents in 1942 and more frequently 
in 1943 and 1944 to describe the OUN-B and the UPA, or sometimes Ukrainian 
villagers who raided and murdered Poles. The AK in western Ukraine explained in its 
documents that the term appeared after the split of the OUN into the OUN-M and 
the OUN-B.254 Soviet or pro-Soviet partisan units in western Ukraine, consisting of 
Russians, Ukrainians, Poles, Jews, and other ethnic groups, also used the term “Ban-
derites” to describe the UPA and possibly also other nationalist partisan forma-
tions.255 The Soviet secret service, Soviet partisans, and politicians started to use the 
term “Banderites” more frequently at about the same time as the AK did in 1942, and 
in 1943 they often used it to describe the OUN and the UPA. The term “Banderites” 
had appeared in Soviet secret documents for the first time in late 1940 when the 
conflict between Bandera and Mel’nyk broke out.256 One Soviet document explained 
that “the Banderites now use the name UPA.”257 The UPA also referred to itself as 
Banderites and meant thereby a patriotic, anti-Soviet movement that struggled for 
the independence of Ukraine.258 The German military referred to the OUN-B activists 
as the Bandera-Gruppe (Bandera group) or Bandera-Bewegung (Bandera move-
ment) and sometimes described them as a band.259 

 
252  AŻIH, 301/1205, Iza Lauer, 8–9. 
253  AŻIH, 301/1046, Lazar Bromberg, 2–3. 
254  Compare the collections of AK documents from 1942–1944: Kulińska, Kwestia ukraińska, 19–20, 28, 

30–31, 35, 54, 186, 192–93, 202, 206, 209, 232–33. The AK documents also used such other collo-
quial terms as “band” (banda) or “Ukrainian band” (ukraińska banda) when they referred to a group 
of Ukrainians who raided neighboring villages. Cf. 87 105, 107, 135, 146. Other terms—”UPA bands” 
(bandy UPA), “Ukrainian bandits” (bandyci ukraińscy)—were also in use. Cf. 145, 150. 

255  AŻIH, 301/589, Szlojme Katz, 1–2. Katz testified that he joined a Soviet partisan group in the Zhy-
tomyr region in May 1943 and killed six Banderites and twelve Germans; AŻIH, 301/1488, Józef 
Sapożnik, 2. 

256  “Selected Records of Former Soviet Archives of the Communist Party of Ukraine, 1919–1937, 1941–
1962 and 1965,” USHMM RG 31.026M, reel 7, 6; “Dokladnaia zapiska o deiatel’nosti ukrainskikh nat-
sionalistov, 5 December 1942,” TsDAHO f. 1, op. 22, spr. 75, 6; TsDAHO f. 1, op. 22, spr. 75, 5–6, 75–
78. For use in 1940 see I. Sierov’s report about the agent “Ukrainets to Khrushchev, 3.12.1940,” HDA 
SBU, f. 16, op. 33, spr. 36, 14–33, in Stepan Bandera, ed. Serhiichuk, 1:60–61. 

257  GARF R-9478, op. 1, del. 132, 469. 
258  A leaflet to the soldiers in the Red Army, RGASPI f. 17, op. 125, del. 338, 9. 
259  The term “Bandera-Gruppe” already appears on 2 July 1941 in German military documents, see 

“Ereignismeldung UdSSR, Nr. 10, 02.06.1941,” BAB R58/214, 53. The name “Bandera” was also fre-
quently used in German as an adjective, see “Ereignismeldung UdSSR, 15.07.1941,” BAB R58/214, 
171; “Ereignismeldung UdSSR Nr. 25, 17.07.1941,” BAB R58/214, 201–202. For Bandera-Bewegung, 

 



 Chapter 5: Resistance, Collaboration, and Genocidal Aspirations 283 
 

 

At the Third Extraordinary Great Assembly in August 1943, the OUN-B leader-
ship distanced itself from the pogroms of 1941 and the movement’s identification 
with fascism and fascistization, but Bandera did not disappear entirely from the 
minds of OUN-B activists and UPA partisans. Many sources suggest that the UPA 
partisans identified themselves with him. During the negotiations with Bul’ba-
Borovets’ in 1943, the OUN claimed that Bandera was the only leader of Ukraine.260 
In “What We Are Fighting for,” a leaflet from 1943, the OUN introduced Bandera as a 
sufferer for the cause.261 The brochure “Our Leaders: Symon Petliura, Ievhen Kono-
valets’, Stepan Bandera,” apparently printed in 1943, introduced Bandera as the ideal 
figure of a revolutionary fighter who spent many years in prison for his commitment 
to liberation.262 On 30 June 1943, Bandera was acclaimed by the OUN-B activists and 
UPA partisans as the most important person connected with the proclamation of a 
Ukrainian state on 30 June 1941. The OUN-B text that explained how to celebrate the 
proclamation ended with “Long Live the Leader of the Organization of Ukrainian 
Nationalists and of the Ukrainian Nation, Stepan Bandera!!! Glory to Ukraine—Glory 
to the Heroes!!!”263 

Resistance, Further Collaboration, 
and the Reactivation of Bandera 

In addition to conducting the ethnic cleansing against the Polish population in Vol-
hynia and eastern Galicia, and hunting the Jewish survivors in the woods, the UPA 
struggled against Soviet partisans and later, to a lesser extent, against the Red Army 
and the Polish AK, and to a much lesser extent against the Germans. In Volhynia the 
UPA mainly attacked the Germans when they left the towns and cities in which they 
usually stayed, and which they left only in groups, for safety reasons.264 UPA attacks on 
Germans were mainly to obtain their weapons and equipment, or to prevent them 
from taking food from the population. The UPA generally avoided attacking German 
troops however, because it knew that the Germans were losing the war and would 
withdraw from Ukraine.265 In Galicia where relations between Ukrainians and Ger-
mans were much better than in Volhynia, attacks against Germans were even less 
frequent.266 
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Because the Soviet Union was their common enemy, the UPA and the Germans 
concluded local agreements in 1943 and 1944 and tried to avoid fighting one other.267 
On 28 September 1943 the leadership of the OUN in Ukraine warned Otto Wächter, 
the Governor of Distrikt Galizien, that the Soviets were preparing to assassinate him. 
“We are not adherents of the German policies in the East …” they wrote, but “the 
Bolshevists are for us the number-one enemy …” and “Dr. Otto Wächter is by the 
way, a quite decent man. … We have allowed ourselves to take over the protection of 
your person, Mr. Governor, through our men.”268 For the sake of collaboration with 
the Allies however, the OUN-B and UPA kept the collaboration with the Germans a 
secret, portrayed itself as the enemy of “Nazi imperialism,” and applied in this matter 
a propaganda strategy similar to that regarding the ethnic cleansing of Poles and the 
murder of Jews.269 The Germans also kept the cooperation with the OUN-UPA a 
secret. When they withdrew from Ukraine, they left the OUN-UPA tons of arms and 
ammunition. The German army regarded this cooperation as a good investment in 
the war against the Soviet Union.270 

During negotiations with German troops on 2 April 1944, “Okhrim,” the leader of 
the UPA in Volhynia, demanded the release of Stepan Bandera and other political 
prisoners.271 The Greek Catholic priest and OUN-B member Ivan Hryn’okh asked the 
SS and German police in the General Government on 28 March 1944 to allow him to 
see Bandera. He argued that Bandera’s release would improve relations between the 
UPA and Nazi Germany. The Germans responded to this proposal only several weeks 
later, after the next Soviet offensive began. They took Hryn’okh to Berlin and allowed 
him to meet with Bandera.272 

When Hryn’okh came to the German capital to visit the Providnyk, Bandera was 
detained in Zellenbau, a building in the Sachsenhausen concentration camp near 
Berlin, where the RSHA kept special political prisoners (Sonderhäftlinge and 
Ehrenhäftlinge).273 It is difficult to reconstruct the exact date from which Bandera 
was kept in Zellenbau. The divergent accounts suggest that he was moved from Ber-
lin to Sachsenhausen several times. Stets’ko wrote in 1967 that Bandera came to 
Zellenbau in January 1942.274 In an interview in 1950, Bandera said that he was held 
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in Berlin by the Gestapo until 1943 and was then moved to Zellenbau.275 In an inter-
rogation in 1956 in Munich, he stated that he was relocated from Berlin to Sachsen-
hausen in the winter of 1942–1943.276 Bandera’s prisoner number 72192 was assigned 
to him in October 1943. His prison card shows that he was released on 28 September 
1944.277 Kurt Eccarius, an SS-Hauptscharführer who was in charge of Zellenbau, 
stated in an interrogation in August 1946 that Bandera, with six other OUN members, 
was already located in Zellenbau in late 1941. According to Eccarius, a Gestapo officer 
“Schultze” visited Bandera in his cell in Zellenbau and took him to Berlin several times 
for negotiations.278 

Bandera was detained in Zellenbau together with other prominent politicians 
such as the Romanian fascist Horia Sima, who, together with six other members of 
the Iron Guard, was there from early 1943 until August 1944.279 Gottfried Graf von 
Bismarck-Schönhausen, a grandson of Otto von Bismarck; Stalin’s son Iakov Dzhu-
gashvili; Fritz Thyssen, a German industrial magnate; and Stefan Grot-Rowecki, the 
leader of the Polish Home Army were also imprisoned in Zellenbau. Kurt Schusch-
nigg, chancellor of Austria between 1934 and 1938, lived with his family in a house in 
a special area of the camp.280 For the entire period of his imprisonment in 
Sachsenhausen, Bandera had the status of Sonderhäftling or Ehrenhäftling, and 
enjoyed much better treatment than an average political prisoner in a German con-
centration camp.281 Bandera’s wife Iaroslava, who lived with her daughter Natalia in 
an apartment in Berlin-Charlottenburg, could send parcels of food, underwear, 
clothes, and other items to him every two weeks. They could also visit him.282 

Zellenbau had eighty cells. Like the other prisoners, Bandera had his own cell, 
number 73. Several other Ukrainians, such as Stets’ko, Bul’ba-Borovets’, and later 
Mel’nyk, were also imprisoned in Zellenbau. They were assembled there in order to 
begin negotiations about renewed collaboration between the Ukrainians and Ger-
mans. Bandera could read newspapers and did communicate with other prisoners, 
although the communication must have been secret. According to Mel’nyk, at least 
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one OUN member, Oleh Kandyba, died or was killed in the camp, which Mel’nyk 
learned about from Bandera.283 

Bandera was not entirely cut off from politics and the activities of the OUN-UPA. 
The OUN-B knew that Bandera’s wife visited him, and they used her to forward let-
ters in both directions. Contact with Bandera could not have been difficult, because 
in 1943 the OUN-B in Ukraine bought cloth of the best quality, to be conveyed to 
Bandera by his wife, for a suit. According to the testimony of OUN-B member Myk-
hailo Polevoi, other people also had access to the Providnyk.284 Although the OUN-B 
knew of Bandera’s circumstances in Berlin and Sachsenhausen, it portrayed him as a 
sufferer and martyr. One leaflet from 1942 claimed that Bandera “suffers for our idea 
in the cellar rooms of prisons.”285 A leaflet from 1943 said, “Stepan Bandera—the best 
son of Ukraine, and the fighter for its liberty, has been tortured by the Germans for 
two years in a prison.”286  

The Providnyk was released from Zellenbau on 28 September 1944, and was kept 
in Berlin under house arrest. Shortly afterwards, the Germans also released Stets’ko, 
Mel’nyk, Bul’ba-Borovets’, and about 300 other OUN members who had been held in 
different camps. While under house arrest Bandera could move about the city and 
meet other people.287 In a bulletin on 14 November the OUN announced that “the 
Leader Stepan Bandera is free.”288 The Nazis had released Bandera and some other 
special political prisoners from Zellenbau because Germany was losing the war and 
wanted to organize Russians, Ukrainians, and other Eastern Europeans for the last 
struggle against the Red Army. Sima and other legionaries had already been released 
at the end of August 1944, following which they established a Romanian government 
in Vienna. This was intended to motivate Romanians to support Hitler and to mobil-
ize them to fight against the Soviet Union.289 

On 5 October 1944, Bandera asked to speak to the German authorities, which re-
sulted in a meeting with SS-Obergruppenführer Gottlob Berger. Berger reported to 
Himmler that he had suggested that Bandera cooperate with Andrei Vlasov, leader of 
the ROA, which was established in the autumn of 1944 to fight alongside the Ger-
mans against the Red Army. Bandera turned down the proposal because he thought 
that “through this cooperation he would lose his supporters in Ukraine.” He claimed 
that his movement in Ukraine had become so strong that Stalin would not succeed in 
defeating it. At the end of his letter to Himmler, Berger briefly characterized Bandera 
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and wrote that he was at that moment very important for them but might later be-
come dangerous, and that he hated both Russians and Germans. Berger finished his 
letter with the comment that he was proposing to make use of Bandera’s movement.290 

Negotiating with Berger and other Nazi politicians, Bandera was not as much 
against collaboration with Germany, which was at war with the Soviet Union, as he 
was against collaboration with Vlasov, who was for him a Russian imperialist. Other 
Ukrainian and several other non-Russian politicians representing countries formerly 
in the Soviet Union took a similar position. In order to separate “imperialists” from 
“nationalists,” the Germans organized national committees for Ukrainians and other 
non-Russian people.291 

On 14 November 1944 in Prague, Vlasov was appointed leader of the Committee 
for the Liberation of the Peoples of Russia (Komitet Osvobodzheniia Narodov Rossii, 
KONR). At about the same time, arrangements began for a similar institution for 
Ukrainians. On 23 February 1945 Rosenberg assigned Shandruk to establish the 
Ukrainian National Committee (Ukraїns’kyi Natsional’nyi Komitet, UNK) in Wei-
mar, and officially recognized it on 12 March 1945. Apart from Shandruk and Ban-
dera, Volodymyr Kubiiovych, Oleksandr Semenko, Andrii Mel’nyk, and Pavlo Skoro-
pads’kyi were involved in establishing the UNK and became its leaders. On 17 March 
1945 the UNK appointed Shandruk as head of the Ukrainian National Army 
(Ukraїns’ka Natsional’na Armiia, UNA). The UNK tried to mobilize Ukrainians, of 
whom about two million were in German-held territory, for the UNA. The Waffen-SS 
Galizien was renamed the First Division of the UNA, but the Germans used the old 
name until the end of war.292 

The task of Bandera, Mel’nyk, and Skoropads’kyi was to convince their political 
supporters to continue fighting against the Soviet Union. In December 1944, the 
Abwehr took Bandera and Stets’ko to Cracow, where they helped Abwehrkommando 
202 prepare a Ukrainian unit for parachuting into the hilly surroundings of Lviv. The 
Germans gave the unit a million roubles, stolen in Russia, which sum the troop was 
to transport to Shukhevych. Bandera, Stets’ko, and Lebed’ gave the courier Iurii 
Lopatyns’kyi letters to Shukhevych. Bandera instructed the courier to give the UPA 
the order to fight the Soviet army from the rear. He also stated that he was prepared 
to return to Ukraine. Stets’ko asked the courier to inform the OUN-B and UPA lead-
ers in Ukraine that he still regarded himself as prime minister of Ukraine.293 

On 6 January 1945, Bandera celebrated the Greek Catholic Christmas in Lehnin, a 
village about forty kilometers south-west of Berlin.294 He then went with his family 
and some of his followers to Weimar, and stayed there for three weeks.295 According 
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to Shandruk, during meetings of the UNK in Weimar, Mel’nyk remained cautious 
about the idea of the proposed last crusade against the Soviet Union. In contrast, 
Bandera argued for “full support to the end, whatever it may be.”296 Two other wit-
nesses, OUN-B member Ievhen Stakhiv and the Abwehr officer Siegfried Müller, 
confirmed that, while in Weimar, Bandera mobilized Ukrainians for an army that 
would support the Nazis in their fight against the Soviet Union.297 Later, however, 
Bandera informed OUN members and the CIA that he had not supported the UNK or 
the Third Reich after his release from Sachsenhausen.298 

In late January or early February 1945, Bandera and his wife and daughter went 
to Berlin. In early February, they “escaped” from Berlin and travelled, with the help 
of Lebed’ and Matviieiko, to Vienna. There the OUN-B organized a conference in 
which several leading OUN members participated. Bandera was elected represent-
ative of the leadership of the Foreign Units of the OUN (Zakordonni Chastyny OUN, 
ZCh OUN). When the Red Army approached Vienna, Bandera went to Prague, and 
from there to Innsbruck.299 

At a meeting of the leadership of the OUN in Ukraine on 5–6 February 1945, 
Bandera was re-elected leader of the entire OUN. Shukhevych had resigned from this 
position and became the leader of the OUN in Ukraine alone. The leadership in 
Ukraine further decided that Bandera should not return to Ukraine but stay abroad, 
where he could, as a former prisoner in a Nazi concentration camp and a symbol of 
Ukrainian nationalism, make propaganda for the national cause.300 

At about the time as Bandera was suggesting “full support to the end, whatever it 
may be,” Shimon Redlich, a Jew who had survived the three years of German occupa-
tion in eastern Galicia, observed the “most dramatic event in Brzezany during that 
single year after liberation”: 

I stood near a window facing the Rynek [market square]. With me in that room 
were several people. One of them was Bela … who sat at the piano. Out there, in 
the far end of the Rynek was a small crowd. It was snowing. A truck appeared and 
stopped in the middle of the crowd. On its platform were a few people. One of 
them seemed to read something from a piece of paper. After a few minutes the 
truck moved with those standing on the platform. Except one. That man re-
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mained, hanging, his body dangling from side to side. Bela was playing Chopin’s 
mourning march [sic]. I was told that the man who was hanged was a bandero-
vits, a Ukrainian nationalist. People were talking about atrocities committed by 
the banderovtsi against the Soviets.301 

The fate of the Banderites in Ukraine changed dramatically after the Red Army 
took control of western Ukraine in summer 1944. The OUN-B and UPA continued to 
murder Poles who were still in Ukraine and began to murder those Ukrainians whom 
they accused of supporting the new Soviet regime. The Soviet authorities, for their 
part, started to eliminate the Banderites, in which category they included OUN 
members, UPA insurgents and its supporters, and also Ukrainian civilians accused of 
supporting the Ukrainian nationalists or of being Banderites. 
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Conclusion 

After their detention in Germany, Bandera and Stets’ko attempted reconciliation 
with the Nazi leaders but the latter found other, more reliable Ukrainian partners for 
collaboration, such as Volodymyr Kubiiovych. In late July 1941 Hitler decided to 
include eastern Galicia into the General Government and to create the Reichs-
kommissariat Ukraine from the rest of the conquered Ukrainian territories. This 
decision disappointed the OUN-B who had hoped that Hitler would allow them to 
unite the Ukrainian territories. In addition, several hundred OUN-B members were 
arrested in Ukraine and Germany and confined in different concentration camps as 
political prisoners. As a result of the conflict with the OUN-B the Germans dissolved 
the Ukrainian militia, which had been established by the OUN-B, and set up the 
Ukrainian police. Nevertheless, the OUN-B members tried to remain in the police 
while concealing their affiliation with the organization. In the following months the 
OUN-B sent more and more members to the police with the purpose of infiltrating 
and controlling it. The Ukrainian policemen significantly outnumbered the Germans 
and were deeply involved in the annihilation of the Jews. In spring 1943, about 5,000 
out of a total of 12,000 Ukrainian policemen in Volhynia deserted the police and 
joined the UPA, which the OUN-B had formed a few months before. 

From early 1943 on, the UPA conducted an ethnic cleansing against the Polish 
population in Volhynia and eastern Galicia, killing between 70,000 and 100,000 
civilians. At the same time, the OUN-B, UPA, the Ukrainian police and Ukrainian 
peasants killed several thousand Jews who had escaped from the ghettos and hid in 
the forests. During these massacres Bandera was imprisoned in Berlin and in 
Zellenbau, a building for special political prisoners in the Sachsenhausen concen-
tration camp. During this period he had only limited contact with the leadership of 
the OUN and UPA. Nevertheless, the killing of thousands of civilians by the OUN and 
UPA strengthened the Bandera myth, because the murderers were frequently per-
ceived by their victims as Banderites and also identified themselves with Bandera. In 
view of their dire situation on the eastern front, the Germans renewed their collabo-
ration with the OUN-B in the spring of 1944, as they had done with the Iron Guard 
and some other nationalist and fascist movements. Bandera and other Ukrainian 
leaders were released in autumn 1944 in order to mobilize the Ukrainians for the 
fight against the Soviet Union, which Bandera, according to Shandruk, took very 
seriously. In early February 1945, Bandera went to Vienna with his family. He was 
reelected as the leader of the OUN and decided to stay in exile to make propaganda 
for the national cause. 



 

 

Chapter 6 

THIRD WORLD WAR AND THE GLOBALIZATION 

OF UKRAINIAN NATIONALISM 

On 8 May 1945 in Berlin-Karlshorst, Fieldmarshal Wilhelm Keitel signed an instru-
ment of surrender on behalf of the German armed forces, officially bringing active 
operations to a close. The Second World War, the greatest political catastrophe in the 
history of mankind, had cost some forty-five million human lives and seen many 
cities, towns, and villages razed to the ground. While millions of people not only in 
Europe but across the world were breathing a sigh of relief, the OUN and UPA were 
yearning for the outbreak of a third world war. The OUN leaders hoped that, after the 
defeat of Germany, the Western Allies would attack the Soviet Union, enabling the 
OUN to establish an independent state. Although until at least 1951 the intelligence 
services of the United States and the United Kingdom did not rule out a Soviet attack 
against the West, the Western governments were much more reluctant than the OUN 
leadership to spark off another war. Instead, the ideological conflict between the 
Soviet Union and the Western powers resulted in the Cold War, which divided the 
world, apart from the non-aligned nations, into Eastern and Western blocs until 
1991.1 

Once the Red Army had pushed the Wehrmacht westwards in the spring and 
summer of 1944, the Soviet authorities began to reestablish their power in western 
Ukraine. It was clear to Stalin by this time, and after the Yalta conference of 4–11 
February 1945 also to the Allies, that western Ukraine would remain in Soviet hands 
after the war. On 9 September 1944, an agreement was signed between the Polish 
Committee of National Liberation (Polski Komitet Wyzwolenia Narodowego, 
PKWN) and the government of the Ukrainian SSR, regulating the resettlement of 
Poles from Ukraine and of Ukrainians from Poland. Between 1944 and 1946, 
700,000 Poles, survivors of the massacres in Volhynia and eastern Galicia, were 
resettled in Poland from the Ukrainian SSR, and 488,000 Ukrainians from newly-
communist Poland were resettled in the Ukrainian SSR. During Operation Vistula 
(Pol. Akcja Wisła) in 1947, 140,000 Ukrainians who had remained in south-east 
Poland were forcibly resettled in the northern and western territories of Poland. The 
Polish army used very cruel methods against the Ukrainian population, and 
numerous Ukrainian civilians were killed, robbed, raped, and otherwise mistreated 
during the resettlement. After these ethnic relocations the Polish-Ukrainian 
 

 
1  According to Motyka the Soviet Union took the threat of a third world war seriously and prepared for 

it. Cf. Motyka, Ukraińska partyzantka, 503. Western intelligence services also saw a war against the 
Soviet Union, especially in 1948, as imminent. Cf. Harry Rositzke, The CIA’s Secret Operations: 
Espionage, Counterespionage and Covert Action (Boulder: Westview Press, 1988), 1. For the OUN-
UPA and third world war, see Burds, AGENTURA, 99. 
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borderland was ethnically separated for the first time in centuries.2 
Between 1941 and 1944, almost all the Jews of western Ukraine were annihilated 

by the Germans, with the help of the Ukrainian police and local people, and also by 
the OUN and UPA, both on their own and in collaboration with the Germans. In 
June 1941, before the Germans invaded the Soviet Union, about 250,000 Jews lived 
in Volhynia and about 570,000 in eastern Galicia (Distrikt Galizien). Of these, only 
about 1.5 percent survived the German occupation in Volhynia and only 2 to 3 per-
cent in eastern Galicia.3 The only enemies of the OUN and UPA remaining after the 
Second World War in western Ukraine were the Soviet authorities, who, ironically 
enough, implemented some of the main goals of the Ukrainian nationalists. By the 
incorporation of western Ukraine into the Ukrainian SSR, the Soviet rulers had 
achieved the sobornist’, or unification of Ukrainian territories in one state, and, by 
resettling the Poles and other nationalities, they had made Ukraine more homo-
genous than it had ever been before. 

 
2  Boeckh, Stalinismus, 371–91; Grzegorz Motyka, “Konflikt polsko-ukraiński w latach 1943–1948: 

Aktualny stan badań,” Warszawskie Zeszyty Historyczne 8–9 (1999): 323–25; Motyka, Tak było w 
Bieszczadach, 405–13; Bruder, “Den Ukrainischen Staat, 234. 

3  For Volhynia, see Spector, Holocaust of Volhynian Jews, 11. For eastern Galicia, see Pohl, National-
sozialistische, 43–44, 385. In June 1941, 160,000 Jews resided in Lviv. By October 1944, only 1,689 
Jews were registered in this city. See also Kruglov, Jewish Losses in Ukraine, 284. See also page 277, 
and 242 et seq. 
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In general, many Soviet policies bore striking similarities to those of the OUN-B. 
Both were totalitarian and authoritarian in nature and both used ethnic violence to 
solve political problems. Bandera was the ultranationalist or fascist alternative to 
Stalin and Khrushchev. Though the OUN-B frequently claimed after the Second 
World War that the UPA was fighting against the totalitarian Soviet Union for a 
nationalist democratic Ukraine, the reference to democracy was nothing more than a 
pretence, intended to persuade the United Kingdom and the United States to provide 
support for the insurgent movement. 

The Subordination of the Greek Catholic Church 

After the Red Army arrived in western Ukraine in the summer of 1944, the Soviet 
authorities renewed the policy of Sovietization they had begun in 1939. One item of 
this policy was to subordinate the Greek Catholic Church, a very important compo-
nent of eastern Galician identity and of Ukrainian nationalism. The body of the 
Greek Catholic Church consisted in 1939 of 4,200,000 believers, 2,950 priests, 1,090 
nuns, 520 monks, 3,400 parishes, and 4,400 churches.4 

In 1943–1944 the Soviet government was ready to compromise with the Greek 
Catholic Church and also tried to establish relations with the Vatican.5 Sheptyts’kyi 
and his follower, Bishop Slipyi, also tried to negotiate with the Soviet Union. 
Together with Bishop Hryhorii Khomyshyn in late 1944, they called on the UPA to 
“return from the wrong path.” Sheptyts’kyi prepared emissaries to go to Kiev and 
Moscow and to welcome the Soviet authorities and Stalin. After Sheptyts’kyi’s death 
in November 1944, Slipyi sent a delegation to Moscow to assure the Soviet 
government of the loyalty of the Church. In late 1944, the Soviet authorities treated 
the Greek Catholic Church as equal to other churches but were disappointed by the 
positive attitude of many Greek Catholic priests to the OUN-UPA underground. The 
Soviet leaders were also troubled by the anticommunism of the Vatican, to which the 
Greek Catholic Church was subordinate. In January 1945, the Orthodox Church 
referred to the Vatican as an enemy. Shortly afterwards in early spring 1945, the 
attitude of the Soviet authorities to the Greek Catholic Church changed entirely.6 

In March 1945, Stalin ordered the incorporation of the Greek Catholic Church 
into the Russian Orthodox Church. On 8 April 1945, the newspaper Vil’na Ukraïna 
published Iaroslav Halan’s article “With Cross or Knife?” which accused the church 
of collaborating with the Germans, supporting the OUN-UPA, and betraying the 
Ukrainian nation.7 In April, Slipyi and thirty-three other clergymen were arrested. 
Slipyi, accused of being a “Vatican agent” and an “accomplice of the Germans and the 
Bandera underground,” was sentenced to eight years in a labor camp, and it was only 
in 1963 that he was released and allowed to leave the Soviet Union. After Slipyi’s 
arrest, the church was coordinated by an “Initiative Group” organized by the Soviet 

 
4  Boeckh, Stalinismus, 498. 
5  Statiev, Soviet Counterinsurgency, 263. 
6  Ibid., 265–66; Boeckh, Stalinismus, 500. 
7  Volodymyr Rasovych, “Z khrestom chy z nozhem?,” Vil’na Ukraїna, 8 April 1945, 5–6. Halan pub-

lished the article under the pseudonym Volodymyr Rasovych. Cf. Motyka, Ukraińska partyzantka, 
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authorities and headed by the Greek Catholic priest Havryïl Kostel’nyk. The task of 
the group was to unite priests who wanted to dissolve the union of 1596 with the 
Vatican and to join the Russian Orthodox Church.8 

During the following months, under ruthless pressure from the Soviet authorities, 
more than 70 percent of the Greek Catholic priests joined the Initiative Group. The 
majority of priests did not do so out of conviction but because they were afraid of 
being repressed or deported.9 Those who resisted were arrested as “Vatican agents,” 
“Bandera agents,” “Nazi collaborators,” or “bourgeois nationalists.” In late Septem-
ber 1945, 78 clergymen were arrested in the Lviv region alone.10 According to church 
statements, between 500 and 800 priests were in prison in western Ukraine in 
1946.11 According to official statistics, by 8 March 1946 when the Greek Catholic 
Church was officially dissolved, 908 priests had joined the Initiative Group and 251 
stayed out of it. Bohdan Bociurkiw, an expert on the Greek Catholic Church, con-
cludes that as 1,684 priests were registered in September 1945, there is a discrepancy 
of 525 priests between that figure and the 1,159 who either joined or refused to join 
the Russian Orthodox Church. However, it is hard to estimate how many of these 525 
priests were arrested, deported, or killed by the Soviet authorities, because some of 
them had left with the Germans in 1944 and others had left the church, or gone un-
derground, or had simply died. The number of monks and nuns declined signifi-
cantly as a result of Soviet repression.12 

In addition to being terrorized by the Soviet police, many Greek Catholic priests, 
particularly those who collaborated with the Soviet authorities, were attacked and 
executed by the OUN-UPA. The OUN announced in summer 1946 that those priests 
who joined the Russian Orthodox Church should publicly conceal their transfer, or 
they would be killed or otherwise punished. Kostel’nyk, head of the Initiative Group, 
was killed on 20 September 1948.13 

The act of dissolving the Brest Union of 1596 with the Vatican and joining the 
Russian Orthodox Church was a farce. The synod, in which 216 clergymen and nine-
teen laymen participated, took place on 8 March 1946 under the auspices of the 
Soviet authorities and was filmed for propaganda purposes. The Initiative Group was 
represented by Kostel’nyk, Antonii Pel’vets’kyi, and Mykhailo Mel’nyk. Pel’vets’kyi 
said in his speech that “the great Soviet Union liberated us from German fascist sla-
very.” Kostel’nyk stated that “the union [with the Vatican] is a declaration of religious 
war against the entire Orthodox world for the glory of Rome.” On 31 March Kos-
tel’nyk, Pel’vets’kyi, and Mel’nyk went to Kiev, where they met with Khrushchev and 
watched a film about the synod. Two days later, they continued to Moscow where 
Kostel’nyk asked Patriarch Alexy to “admit us to the All-Russian Orthodox Church.” 
When interviewed, Kostel’nyk denied that there had been mass arrests of Greek 
Catholic priests and stated that only the leaders of the church, such as Slipyi, were 

 
8  Statiev, Soviet Counterinsurgency, 266–67; Boeckh, Stalinismus, 508; Bociurkiw, Ukraїns’ka, 100. 
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10  Bociurkiw, Ukraїns’ka, 120. 
11  Boeckh, Stalinismus, 516. 
12  Bociurkiw, Ukraїns’ka, 145–46, 161, 168–70. 
13  Ibid., 179–81. 



 Chapter 6: Third World War and the Globalization of Ukrainian Nationalism 295 

 

arrested for “active treacherous activity as accessories to the advantage of the Ger-
man occupiers, and [that] their indictments were passed to the Military Tribunal.”14 

The Conflict between the OUN-UPA and the Soviet Authorities 

In addition to the total destruction of the Jewish population and the resettlement of 
the Polish population, Ukraine experienced another human tragedy caused by the 
brutal conflict between the OUN-UPA and the Soviet regime. In the first half of 1944, 
120,000 western Ukrainians, among them many collaborators, left Ukraine with the 
Germans in order to escape Soviet persecution.15 In the following years, several thou-
sand Ukrainians loyal to the Soviet regime were sent from eastern Ukraine to the 
western regions as teachers, nurses, physicians, engineers, and so forth. In 1946 
drought and confiscation of crops from the collective farms in eastern Ukraine 
caused a famine in which 800,000 to 1,000,000 people died.16 By 1950, 1,850,000 
Ukrainians who had worked during the war in Germany as forced laborers returned 
to Ukraine. Many of them were branded as “traitors” but were not sent to the Gulag, 
as historians during the Cold War believed. The majority of them, 58 percent, were 
sent to their places of origin, 19 percent were conscripted into the Red Army, 14 per-
cent were enlisted in working battalions of the People’s Commissariat of Defense, 6.5 
percent ended up in NKVD spetskontingents (workers in the Gulag administered by 
the NKVD chief administration), and 2 percent were sent to camps as reserve units.17 

The greatest challenge to the plan for Sovietizing western Ukraine was the OUN-
UPA underground. At the zenith of its strength in 1944, the UPA numbered 25,000 
to 30,000 partisans and could mobilize up to 100,000 people.18 To prevent young 
people from joining the UPA, the Soviet regime conscripted the astonishingly high 
number of 700,000 people in western Ukraine into the Red Army, in the period 
between its arrival in the summer of 1944 and the end of 1945.19 The new authorities 
also tried, by means of an extensive and intensive ideological repertoire, to Sovietize 
young people’s minds, through schools, youth and debating clubs, libraries, and 
cinemas. The OUN and UPA were frequently depicted in the darkest propagandist 
colors: They were “German-Ukrainian nationalists,” “traitors,” “bandits,” and the 
“enemies of the Ukrainian and Soviet people.” Several hundred agitators were sent to 
western Ukraine in order to persuade the population to accept the Soviet idea. In 
November and December 1944, 4,000 propaganda meetings were organized in the 
Drohobych district alone. In May 1945, 170 newspapers propagating the Soviet idea 
appeared in western Ukraine.20 

In order to mobilize local people against the OUN and UPA, the Soviet authorities 
organized destruction battalions (istrebitel’nye batal’ony) under the command of the 
central NKVD Destruction Battalion Headquarters, which from 1 December 1944 was 
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controlled by the Head of the NKVD Directorate for the Struggle against Banditry. 
The battalions in western Ukraine had 100–159 men at first. When the tactics of the 
guerrillas changed, the battalions were dispersed in platoons of 25–50, or even in 
sections with 10–12 men. To a great extent, the militia recruited the members of the 
destruction battalions from people who were threatened by the OUN-UPA. At the 
outset, service in the destruction battalions was unpaid, but many local people joined 
in order to protect themselves and their relatives. The recruits included peasants, 
relatives of Red Army soldiers, demobilized Red Army soldiers, amnestied OUN-UPA 
members, people from eastern Ukraine, those whose relatives had been killed by the 
OUN-UPA, and ethnic minorities, in particular Poles. In the Drohobych region, Poles 
constituted up to 40 percent of the destruction battalions. The Soviet authorities also 
recruited neighborhood watch units (gruppy sodeistviia istrebitel’nym batal’onam), 
groups of lightly armed village activists, which supported the destruction battalions. 
On 1 January 1945, the destruction battalions in western Ukraine counted 23,906 
members, and the watch units 24,025. On 1 January 1946, the destruction battalions 
counted 39,727 members, and the watch units 26,000—more in total than the 
number of OUN-UPA partisans at that time.21 

The situation in western Ukraine in the first years after the Second World War re-
sembled a civil war. In addition to protecting the local population against the OUN-
UPA and banditry, the destruction battalions committed numerous criminal acts, 
frequently as a result of greed or a desire to exact revenge for OUN-UPA crimes. The 
UPA, on the other hand, regarded the destruction battalions as its armory and fre-
quently attacked them. Between 1 January and 30 March 1946 in the Stanislaviv 
region alone, the UPA disarmed forty militia units totaling 700 men and captured 
605 weapons. Because the destruction battalions and district police were infiltrated 
by the nationalist underground, the Soviet authorities purged almost half their mem-
bers in July 1946. Subsequently the militiamen were better screened and received 
more thorough indoctrination and training than the members of the destruction 
battalions. In 1948, when the OUN-UPA consisted of no more than a few hundred 
members, there were 85,421 people in the militia in western Ukraine.22 

A very powerful measure used to halt support for and cooperation with the UPA, 
to diminish its size, and to persuade the rebellious parts of the population to adopt 
the Soviet idea, was deportation. OUN-B member Burian already complained on 13 
November 1944: “The whole population is losing spirit. … The attitude of the popu-
lation has changed considerably in comparison with a month ago. People have been 
powerfully intimidated by arrest and exile to Siberia. Now in general they don’t want 
to take [anyone] into their apartments, because they are afraid of denunciations.”23 

Another OUN-B member stated: “The population looks at us as if we’re sentenced 
to death. They sympathize with us but don’t believe in our success and don’t want to 
tie their own fate to ours.”24 As a result of deportations and other measures, 
Ukrainians began in late 1944 not only to doubt the OUN propaganda and to with-
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draw their support from the UPA but also to help the Soviet authorities combat the 
nationalist insurgents.25 

The first secretary of the Party Committee in Lviv stated that “the most sensitive 
point of the bandits is their family.”26 By February 1944, Khrushchev had already 
proposed the deportation of the families of people active in the underground. The 
first deportation of 2,000 people started on 7 May 1944. On account of the very diffi-
cult conditions, many people, especially children, died during the deportations. 
Western Ukrainians were deported to the Komi Republic, the Irkutsk region, and 
other distant places in the interior of the USSR, where they worked in forestry or coal 
mines. In 1944, 12,762 people were deported; in 1945, 17,497.27 The largest deport-
ations took place in 1947 (77,791 people), 1949 (25,527 people), and 1950 (41,149).28 
Altogether, the Soviet regime deported about 203,000 people from western 
Ukraine,29 of whom 171,000 were accused of belonging to or supporting the OUN-
UPA or of being the kin of an OUN-UPA member.30 The majority of the deportees 
were women and children whose OUN-UPA husbands and fathers were either hiding 
in the forests or had died in the struggle against the Soviet regime. Families could 
take up to 500 kilograms of belongings with them, and the rest of their property was 
confiscated. They were deported for periods ranging from five to twenty-five years.31 

Deportation was a regular Soviet method of resolving political problems and 
caused a great deal of sorrow. Thousands of western Ukrainians were deported be-
cause their relatives were in the OUN-UPA, or because they were accused of helping 
and supporting the OUN-UPA, which they might have done under duress, or of 
which they might have been entirely innocent. Because of the crimes committed by 
the OUN and UPA, however, the deportations released very different emotions in 
western Ukrainian society. On 21 October 1947, a woman waiting for the deportation 
train began to lament. Another woman, who was not being deported, asked: 

Why are you screaming now? You should have screamed earlier. Then, you were 
certainly laughing. Then, when your son was murdering my husband, and I wept 
close to the bed of a child bereft of its father, I knew that you would pay twofold, 
and I was not wrong. You and only you are responsible for our suffering, for the 
tears of orphaned children, widows … whose fathers and husbands died at the 
hands of your son and other bandits.32 

Another measure related to the deportations, and which weakened the UPA, was 
the collectivization of farms. By this means, the Soviet authorities intended to change 
the organization of agriculture and to halt the supply of food to the insurgents. Two-
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thirds of the 77,791 persons deported in 1947 after the beginning of collectivization 
were people from seredniak and kulak families, that is, according to Soviet stan-
dards, medium-rich and rich families.33 The collectivization in western Ukraine was 
completed earlier than in Belarus, which suggests that the conflict with the OUN and 
UPA accelerated it. In 1950, 98.7 percent of all western Ukrainian farms were collec-
tive. In general, peasants did not join the kolkhozes (collective farms) voluntarily, but 
out of fear and necessity.34 Those peasants who joined the collectives were terrorized 
by the UPA and constituted a substantial portion of their victims. After a while, the 
local residents turned their backs on the insurgents and denounced them.35 Accord-
ing to Statiev, during the early Sovietization of western Ukraine, the UPA leader 
Shukhevych claimed: “Not a single village should recognize Soviet authority. The 
OUN should destroy all those who recognize Soviet authority. Not intimidate but 
destroy. We should not be concerned that people might damn us for brutality. Noth-
ing horrible would happen if only half of the forty million Ukrainians survived.”36 

Another effective method of eradicating support for the OUN-UPA was terror 
against real and alleged UPA helpers and sympathizers. Although it was officially 
forbidden, the NKVD (from 1946 the MVD) and the NKGB (from 1946 MGB) fre-
quently killed or otherwise mistreated people who did not belong to the OUN-UPA or 
had not committed any crime.37 This happened because the NKVD regarded all west-
ern Ukrainians as “bandits” or “nationalists,” and also so that they could report 
progress in defeating the “bandits.” Random individuals or the entire families of 
suspects were killed quite regularly, sometimes by drunken policemen, and some-
times for sadistic reasons. Rape of female prisoners was common and dozens of 
women who resisted rape were killed by the NKVD police. The NKVD officers usually 
reported these victims as “bandits,” “nationalists,” or “Banderites” and were rarely 
made to face justice for their actions.38 In March 1946, for example, an NKVD unit, 
consisting mainly of Ukrainian soldiers, was sent to the Ukrainian village of 
Rodarychi: 

Before going on the mission, [Lieutenant] Iliubaev, [Sergeant] Rezin and Private 
Saiko drank a liter of moonshine. … Having searched the house of Kutovik and 
found nothing suspicious, Iliubaev and his section walked to the neighboring 
house, that of Maria Fedorovna Kul’chitskaia. … At that time, Anna Kutovik ran 
out of her house toward the village council, shouting that she had been robbed. … 
Private Saiko beat her up with a submachine gun and then shot her dead in the 
street. On hearing the shots, a local resident, 50-year-old Stanislav Ivanovich 
Tovbukh, ran out of his house. … Saiko took Tovbukh 100 meters away and shot 
him. … After that, Iluibaev ordered that everyone in [Kul’chitskaia’s] house be 
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shot. … Saiko, Soloviev and Khalitov lined up 21-year-old Emilia Kul’chitskaia, 13-
year-old Ekaterina Kul’chitskaia, and a disabled man, 76-year-old Ivan Priima, 
into a single row by the bed. The teenager wept and begged them not to kill her, 
while the disabled Priima fell to his knees and asked them to spare him. But 
Saiko, Solov’ev and Khalitov shot the girls dead, while Priima feigned death and 
thus survived. … Iliubaev reported to the Battalion commander, Captain Shtefa-
nov, that he had liquidated five bandits.39 

As during the first occupation of western Ukraine in 1939–1941, the NKVD fre-
quently mistreated and tortured people during interrogations. Although beating was 
the primary method of obtaining information, the NKVD also electrocuted suspects 
and burned them with cigarettes.40 

In 1944 the Soviet authorities arrested Iurii Stel’mashchuk, an important OUN 
and UPA leader. With his help, they were able to track down and kill “Klym Savur” 
(Dmytro Kliachkivs’kyi) on 12 February 1945, the first OUN-B leader of the UPA and 
the main organizer of the ethnic cleansing in Volhynia in early 1943. Savur’s killing 
outraged many OUN-UPA members and deteriorated the mood of many UPA parti-
sans. The NKVD also used Stel’mashchuk to identify, arrest, and kill several other 
nationalist insurgents and, with his help at meetings, to propagate the Soviet idea. In 
late 1945, Stel’mashchuk was sentenced to death and executed.41 

The Soviet regime practiced public executions from at least 1943 until 1951.42 In 
Ukraine, the idea of hanging “bandits” publicly was popularized by Khrushchev. “In 
order to intimidate the bandits,” he wrote in a letter to Stalin on 15 November 1944, 
“those sentenced to death … should be hanged rather than shot. The trials should be 
open and the local population should be invited. … The execution of the sentence 
pronounced by a tribunal should be carried out publicly in the village where the sen-
tenced committed the crime. This will sober the bandits.”43 In mid-December 1944 in 
the village of Dobrosyn in the Zhovkva district, the NKVD hanged the local com-
mander of the SB, while about fifty people looked on. In late December 1944, three 
people were hanged in the square in the town of Bus’k. Placards with the inscription 
“For the Betrayal of the Ukrainian Nation” were hung on their chests. Sometimes the 
Soviet executioners left the bodies to hang for several days, in order to observe the 
reaction of passers-by and determine thereby who was related to the dead natio-
nalists.44 Shimon Redlich, who observed the hanging in Berezhany, noticed that the 
victims were referred to as Banderites.45 Janina Kwiatkowska remembered that the 
Soviets hanged Banderites in public places in Chortkiv, in order to frighten the 
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population, end its support of the OUN and UPA, and to demonstrate that the Ban-
derites were “bandits” and “traitors.”46 The number of people hanged in public by the 
NKVD is hard to estimate. Toward the end of 1944 in the Stanislaviv district alone, 
the Soviet authorities publicly executed twenty-eight people.47 

In order to enable OUN-UPA members to return to society and thereby weaken 
the structure of the underground, the Soviet authorities announced several amnes-
ties. The first was declared on 12 February 1944,48 another in November 1944, and a 
third in May 1945. Between 1946 and 1949 four further amnesties were announced. 
The first did not persuade many partisans to surrender. Nevertheless, the winter and 
difficult conditions in the underground discouraged a substantial number of them, 
including peasants without much patriotic enthusiasm, from hiding any longer in the 
forests and from resisting the Soviet authorities.49 The amnesties helped such people 
return home. Up to July 1946, a total of 111,809 fugitives surrendered in western 
Ukraine, of whom 62,357 claimed to be draft evaders.50 The OUN-UPA leadership 
regarded surrender as betrayal, and the SB of the OUN frequently punished surren-
der with death.51 The general attitude of the Soviet authorities toward OUN-UPA 
members who surrendered was different from their attitude toward those who were 
captured. In general, the Soviet authorities did not kill those who surrendered. The 
sporadic shooting of those who had surrendered was regarded as a violation of 
“socialist legality” and punished accordingly.52 

The UPA partisans who surrendered were usually used by the Soviet authorities 
for two purposes: propaganda, and the detection of members of the underground. 
The life of such ex-partisans depended on these requirements and on new loyalty to 
the Soviet authorities. They were allowed to speak at public meetings and were ex-
pected to explain why they had gone underground, how they had killed people, and 
how they realized that joining the “bourgeois nationalists” was a mistake. This was 
intended to make a strong impression on the audience. The authorities also expected 
the former UPA partisans to persuade their relatives to leave the underground and to 
work in the police force or destruction battalions. Those who had surrendered were 
regarded by the SB of the OUN as traitors and were frequently killed by them.53 

Some of the nationalists who surrendered under the amnesties, and who con-
fessed their crimes, were tried and sentenced only after the elapse of several years. In 
the 1980s a number of such trials took place. One defendant was Iakov Ostrovs’kyi, 
who during the first Soviet occupation of western Ukraine had denounced the 
Ukrainian nationalists, and who had served in the Ukrainian police during the 
German occupation, remaining in contact with the OUN. In March 1943 he left the 
police, and in July 1943 he joined the UPA, in which he remained until July 1944, 
when he surrendered to the Soviet authorities. During an NKVD interrogation 
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Ostrovs’kyi confessed to murdering “only twenty-five to thirty” people. Although the 
Extraordinary State Commission54 found a witness to Ostrovs’kyi’s crimes, he was 
not prosecuted at the time, possibly because he had given himself up. His case was 
reopened only in 1981. On the basis of his own testimony and other evidence, 
Ostrovs’kyi was sentenced to death and executed in 1983.55 

The attitude of local Ukrainians to the OUN-UPA changed, not only due to the de-
portations, collectivization, and the Soviet terror but also as a result of the terror of 
the OUN-UPA against the local population, and the fanatical fight of the OUN-UPA 
against an enemy they could not defeat. The OUN-UPA was fairly popular between 
early 1943 and mid-1944. At that time, it could count on support from a substantial 
part of the western Ukrainian population. During the war, western Ukrainians were 
exposed to a different kind of foreign terror, and many of them believed that the UPA 
could liberate Ukraine. Bunkers and hideouts in which the rebels could hide were 
very widespread in western Ukraine. In 1945 the Soviet police found such hideouts in 
every fourth peasant cottage in the Lviv region, and many remained undiscovered. 
Some of the bunkers were designed to function as hospitals, libraries, archives, or 
warehouses. One bunker was so large that it could hold 200 people. In the two-year 
period 1945–1946 alone, Soviet forces in western Ukraine uncovered 28,986 
hideouts.56 

As the local population began to have doubts about the nationalist underground 
movement and to withdraw its support, the OUN-UPA started terrorizing the local 
Ukrainians, enforcing assistance, and spreading frightening propaganda. A very pop-
ular rumor was that Stalin would resettle all western Ukrainians in Siberia, and that 
only the OUN-UPA could prevent this, or that “the western Ukrainians will be ex-
terminated [by the Soviets], exactly as the Jews were destroyed by the Germans.”57 
One UPA leaflet claimed that the Soviet authorities began collectivization in order to 
annihilate the Ukrainians by famine, as in Soviet Ukraine in 1932–1933.58 The insur-
gents also tried to strengthen their popularity by spreading a belief about the immi-
nent outbreak of a third world war, in which the OUN-UPA, together with American 
and British troops, would defeat the Soviet Union and establish a Ukrainian state.59 

At least since 1945, an increasing number of western Ukrainians ceased to believe 
the insurgents’ propaganda rumors, as a result of which the OUN leadership was 
compelled to conscript Ukrainians into the UPA by force. Similarly, individuals in the 
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OUN-UPA who did not believe that the OUN-UPA could defeat the Soviet Union, and 
who spoke out in favor of surrender, were killed by the SB of the OUN.60 The SB 
killed hundreds of OUN members and UPA partisans whom it suspected of betrayal 
or of being seksoty (informers).61 In 1945 in Volhynia alone, the SB killed about 1000 
UPA partisans.62 From 1 January to 1 April 1945, the SB investigated 938 OUN mem-
bers, of whom they murdered 889 for “collaboration with the Soviets.”63 Like the 
NKVD, the SB applied the principle of collective responsibility, and frequently 
punished not only “unfaithful” individuals but also their families, with death. As a 
result, more and more ordinary Ukrainians regarded the insurgents as bandits and 
denounced them to the NKVD.64 Sometimes even the families of OUN-UPA members 
refused to help their relatives and advised them to give themselves up.65 If peasants 
delayed or failed to deliver food supplies, the SB regarded them as foes.66 As early as 
August 1944 one OUN leader believed that 90 percent of the peasants desired to 
remain neutral in the conflict between the OUN-UPA and the Soviet authorities. 
Another leader reported: “The masses are disappointed to such a degree that they 
refuse to give shelter or food even to those [UPA partisans] they know.”67 In 1948 one 
OUN member testified that “the local population stopped supporting bandits [OUN-
UPA]; we have to take supplies by force or under threat of weapons. When we come 
to houses the dwellers say directly: ‘Go away, otherwise we’ll go to Siberia because of 
you.’”68 

In general, people in western Ukraine were in a very difficult situation. They had 
to navigate survival in the face of two brutal and cruel regimes which were in combat 
with each other, and each of which demanded their loyalty. Supporting the Soviet 
power meant death at the hands of the OUN-UPA. Supporting the OUN-UPA meant 
either death or deportation at the hands of the NKVD. In the autumn of 1946, when 
the Soviet authorities tried to raise grain requisitions, the OUN-UPA left the mes-
sage: “Soon the Bolsheviks will conduct the grain levy. Anyone among you who brings 
grain to the collection points will be killed like a dog, and your entire family 
butchered.”69 

The elections to the Supreme Soviet on 10 February 1946 became a bilateral dem-
onstration of power. The OUN-UPA tried to persuade Ukrainians not to take part, in 
order to delegitimize Soviet power, at least symbolically. The Soviet authorities 
forced the Ukrainians to vote, frequently convoying entire groups to the polling sta-
tions or visiting the resistant individuals at home with a ballot box and “asking” them 
to vote.70 On 30 June 1946 in villages near Kolomyia, the OUN-UPA hung up eight 
“nationalistic flags” that “they secured with mines.” Four people died when the Soviet 
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police forced peasants to take them down.71 On 27 May 1947, OUN activists blew up a 
Lenin monument in Iavoriv.72 The nationalist insurgents destroyed several trucks 
with equipment that the Soviet officials were using to show propaganda movies.73 

In 1944 and 1945, the UPA fought several battles with the Red Army and other 
Soviet troops but in general, it tried to avoid open confrontation with the Red Army, 
which was much stronger and better armed.74 The main victims of the OUN-UPA 
were informers, people accused of supporting Soviet power or who joined the kolk-
hozes, and people transferred from eastern Ukraine to western Ukraine and who 
worked as teachers or administrative staff. The UPA frequently burned the houses of 
peasants who joined the collectives. They also killed village chairmen, collective-farm 
directors, and individuals who “betrayed the nation” or “contributed to the estab-
lishment of Soviet power,” together with their entire families. The methods employed 
by the OUN-UPA were sometimes very cruel and sadistic, and the corpses were used 
for propaganda purposes. The OUN-UPA developed an entire spectrum of rituals to 
mutilate the corpses. One instruction included: “Liquidation of informers [seksoty] 
with all possible methods, firing, hanging, and also quartering with the inscription on 
the chest ‘For collaboration with the NKVD.’”75 

In the center of a village in the Rivne region in June 1944, the OUN-UPA hanged 
a local peasant suspected of collaboration. They then “hacked the corpse of the 
hanged bandit to pieces with an axe.” In the Lviv region in August 1944, OUN-UPA 
members gouged out the eyes of members of two whole families, one by one in front 
of the others, and then hacked them to pieces in front of the villagers.76 On 3 May 
1946 in the village of Mil’s’k, the perpetrators tortured two officials to death, “taking 
out their eyes, cutting them with knives, burning their bodies with iron, hitting them 
with a ramrod.”77 They frequently used axes, hatchets, and other tools, as they had 
during the ethnic cleansing in 1943 in Volhynia and in 1944 in eastern Galicia. In the 
town of Sernyky in the Rivne region, five people from the family of a collective farm 
were slaughtered with a hatchet in 1948.78 

The nationalist insurgents frequently worked with texts and symbols. On 3 Sep-
tember 1944 in Staryi Lysets’, six people were killed. A sign was posted on a fence: 
“For the betrayal of the Ukrainian nation, all will die in the same way.”79 On 11 Sept-
ember 1944, a couple named Marżenko and their four-year-old daughter were killed. 
The culprits left a letter: “Death to the informers of the NKVD—the enemies of the 
working people. Death to the Bolshevik fascists, imperialists, and capitalists.”80 On 
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24 December 1944 in Volia Vysots’ka, eighteen families were killed. The inscription 
“For the betrayal of the Ukrainian nation. Death to the NKVD informers” was left on 
the bodies.81 On 31 July 1944, about twenty bandits raided the village of Verbovets’. 
They went to the house of Teodor Protsiuk. He was not at home but the bandits 
found his wife, and four children between the ages of four and thirteen. They killed 
all the children and fatally wounded the wife. They then went to the adjacent house 
of Ivan Ulin, strangled him, and left the inscription on his corpse: “All traitors and 
NKVD employees will die such a dog’s death,” which they signed with “The Revo-
lutionary Army.” They next went to the home of Ivan Kuchera, another member of 
the village administration, and asked him to give them a ride to the next village. They 
killed him 300 meters from the village and left the same inscription on his corpse as 
they had on Ulin’s.82 

Alexander Statiev, who studied the conflict between the OUN-UPA and the Soviet 
regime in depth, pointed out that the “list of deeds that the UPA regarded as treason 
was endless.” In Pisochne in Volhynia, the UPA killed eight boys and four girls whose 
fathers had reported to the Red Army for mobilization. The UPA regarded even 
peasants who joined a collective farm under coercion as “communist traitors.”83 In 
Pidzvirynets’ on 27 May 1947, the UPA killed twelve persons and injured two. Among 
the victims were members of the village council, the family of its members, the school 
principal, and two women from eastern Ukraine.84 On 28 March 1946 in Molotkiv, 
four former OUN members, who had legalized themselves under an amnesty, 
decided to re-join the OUN. They disarmed fifty-four members of a unit of the 
destruction battalion, killed four of them, went to the house of another, and mur-
dered his entire family of five people.85 On the night of 15 to 16 May 1948 in the vil-
lage of Vychivka, all six members of the family of a fighter with a destruction 
battalion were killed.86 

On the night of 21 November 1944, forty Ukrainian nationalist insurgents raided 
the village of Dubechno. They shot the head of the village soviet in front of the villag-
ers and fastened a note to his back: “The person who has been shot is the head of the 
village soviet, and if anyone takes his place, the same fate will befall him.” They then 
went to the village soviet, where they killed the armed guard, and a peasant, on 
whose back they fastened a note with a bayonet driven into his spine: “This corpse is 
a traitor to the Ukrainian people who defended the Soviets. If anyone comes to work 
in his place, he will perish in the same way.” In the same premises, the nationalists 
glued anti-Soviet slogans to the walls, tore up portraits of party and state leaders, and 
smeared the faces on the portraits with the victims’ blood.87 

The homes of the accused were frequently burned down. The OUN-UPA some-
times killed entire groups of people accused of loyalty to the Soviet regime or who 
had come as teachers or administrative staff from eastern Ukraine. In the village of 
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Shchepiatyn’, for example, eighty-seven people from eastern Ukraine were killed.88 
On 15 December 1948, the OUN-UPA member B. Baryliak returned to his home in 
Semykhiv. After learning that his parents had joined the collective farm, he shot his 
seventy-year-old father and badly injured his sixty-three-year-old mother.89 OUN-
UPA members also killed themselves and their colleagues, in order to prevent the 
disclosure of information about fellow partisans.90 

It took the Soviet authorities more than five years to destroy the nationalist 
underground in western Ukraine. Among the most important factors that streng-
thened the nationalist resistance were revolutionary idealism, fanaticism, vehement 
hatred of the Soviet Union, and sacralized suicidal nationalism. A set of instructions 
in 1947 declared, “The enemy has an advantage in numbers, weaponry, and military 
technology, but we surpass him in our sacred idea.”91 The Soviets killed the majority 
of the OUN-UPA members in 1944 and 1945, but they could not destroy the OUN-
UPA hard core, which went underground and became undetectable. In 1946 the 
Soviet authorities realized that they had to change their methods in order to liquidate 
the nationalist underground. In February 1947, they decided to proceed against the 
OUN-UPA with small specialized security forces, instead of army units, and to work 
more and more with the help of agents and informers (agentura). Because the OUN-
B tried to turn the NKVD agents, parallel agentura networks appeared.92 But with 
time, the NKVD system emerged victorious. By 1948 the OUN member Ruslan wrote: 
“The Bolsheviks try to take us from within, through the agentura. And this is a hor-
rifying and terrible method [because] you can never know directly in whose hands 
you will find yourself. At every step you can expect [an enemy] agent. From such a 
network of spies, whole teams are often penetrated.”93 

In addition to using the agentura, the NKVD conducted practical psychological 
warfare. If a captured OUN-UPA member did not reveal the whereabouts of fellow 
members, even under torture, NKVD agents, disguised as SB officers or OUN-UPA 
members, would pretend to rescue him, in order to get the information. In one such 
case, the NKVD obtained names of 600 OUN members, of whom ninety-nine were 
arrested and 123 killed.94 

In July 1946, the OUN-UPA leadership decided to dissolve the UPA battalions 
and replace them with small OUN and SB units that were harder to detect. In 1948 
there were very few UPA units, hiding mainly in the Carpathian Mountains, but the 
idea of a third world war was still alive in them.95 In 1949 there were only two UPA 
units.96 The number of OUN-UPA anti-Soviet actions dropped in 1947 to 2,068, and 
in 1948 to 1,387. They were directed mainly against employees of collective farms 
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and Soviet activists. Between 1 January and 30 April 1950, the OUN-UPA killed 
twenty chairmen of village councils, nineteen directors of collective farms, and thirty 
regional militia auxiliaries in the Stanislaviv region.97 Many OUN-UPA members 
lived in bunkers dug in forests, under the houses of peasants, or under buildings that 
were only seldom controlled by the NKVD, such as schools and collective farms. The 
nationalist insurgents usually left the bunkers only at night, disguised as peasants. In 
winter, they tried not to leave their bunkers for entire months. Usually they had four 
to five associates in every village who informed them about what was happening in 
the region.98 

On 5 March 1950, the UPA commander-in-chief, Roman Shukhevych, shot him-
self during an attempt to arrest him in the village of Bilohorshcha near Lviv, in order 
to avoid being arrested. The OUN-UPA in Ukraine continued to exist for another few 
years, but their membership was reduced to several dozen individuals. They were 
unable to wage a struggle against Soviet troops, but they did not surrender and con-
tinued to kill civilians whom they accused of “betraying Ukraine.” They regarded the 
beginning of the Korean War on 25 July 1950 as the herald of a third world war. 
According to incomplete data, there were 647 OUN-UPA members in Ukraine in 
1952. Communications between OUN-UPA units was often poor. The OUN-UPA 
partisans usually knew only about OUN-UPA units in the immediate vicinity. Vasyl’ 
Kuk, the last commander of the UPA, was arrested on 24 May 1954. In 1955 the Soviet 
authorities were still looking for 475 OUN-UPA members, of whom fifty were still 
conducting “anti-Soviet acts.” In 1955 the OUN-UPA conducted thirty-five operations 
in which ten or fifteen people were killed. The last OUN-B unit, consisting of three 
people, was arrested in 1960. A small number allegedly hid in bunkers with the help 
of their relatives until the collapse of the Soviet Union in 1990.99 

Outside western Ukraine, the UPA underground functioned in the Polish, Czecho-
slovak, and Belarusian territories that bordered on Ukraine. In 1944–1946 the UPA 
tried to stop the resettlement of Ukrainians from Poland to Ukraine, by attacking the 
Polish troops who were conducting it, and by blowing up railway tracks and destroying 
Polish villages.100 The UPA also organized several raids into Czechoslovakia. During 
one of the first raids, from 2 to 13 December 1945, UPA partisans stole cattle, robbed 
shops, and killed eighteen “communists and Jews,” eleven of them Jews in Kolbasov. 
This was probably one of the last pogroms that the OUN-UPA organized. Some of the 
UPA troops who came to Czechoslovakia later crossed the border to Poland, or to Aus-
tria and later Bavaria, where they surrendered to the Americans and sought out Ukrai-
nians who had remained in Germany after the war.101 In Belarus, the structure of the 
OUN-UPA existed in the territories that Ukrainian nationalists claimed to be Ukrai-
nian. As in Ukraine, the OUN-UPA killed people suspected of loyalty to the Soviet 
regime, and they destroyed collective farm property. Between 1944 and 1947, the 
Ukrainian underground killed 1,225 people in Belarus. As in Ukraine, Poland, and 
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Czechoslovakia, the OUN-UPA in Belarus was liquidated in the late 1940s and early 
1950s.102 

The OUN-UPA had eliminated extreme antisemitism from their propaganda in 
1942 and 1943 but the question of the Jews did not entirely vanish in OUN-UPA 
brochures, even though there were almost no Jews in Ukraine. In 1950 the OUN 
distributed a brochure addressed to “Jews—Citizens of Ukraine” and signed “Ukrai-
nian Insurgents.” Although the authors sought reconciliation with the Jewish popu-
lation, they threatened them: 

If anyone should, you Jews should treat the entire national-liberation struggle of 
the Ukrainian nation with respect and sympathy. … 

Remember that you are on Ukrainian land and that it is in your own interest 
to live in complete harmony with its rightful owners—the Ukrainians. Stop being 
an instrument in the hands of Muscovite-Bolshevik imperialists. The moment is 
soon coming when the times of Khmel’nyts’kyi will be repeated, but this time we 
would prefer that they were without anti-Jewish pogroms.103 

Some of the OUN activists and UPA partisans who were deported to the Gulag set 
up organizational structures there. This helped to protect them against organized 
crime in the camps and enabled them to organize or participate in uprisings and 
strikes. It seems that the OUN-UPA members, like the underground in the Baltic 
republics, played an important role in these uprisings, although it is difficult to esti-
mate how significant it was. The largest uprising occurred after Stalin’s death on 5 
March 1953, in the camps in Noril’sk, Vorkuta, and Kengir. Aleksandr Solzhenitsyn, 
who spent eight years in the Gulag as a prisoner, wrote: “in our camp it began with the 
arrival of the Dubovka transport—mainly western Ukrainians, OUN members. The 
movement everywhere owed a lot to these people, and indeed it was they who set the 
wheels in motion. The Dubovka transport brought us the bacillus of rebellion.”104 Yet 
Solzhenitsyn also explains that the OUN members brought with them a new law for 
the killing of “traitors”: 

Murders now followed one another in quicker succession than escapes in the best 
period. They were carried out confidently and anonymously: no one went with a 
blood-stained knife to give himself up; they saved themselves and their knives for 
another deed. At their favorite time—when a single warder was unlocking huts 
one after another, and while nearly all the prisoners were still sleeping—the 
masked avengers entered a particular section, went up to a particular bunk, and 
unhesitatingly killed the traitor, who might be awake and howling in terror or 
might be still asleep. When they had made sure that he was dead, they walked 
swiftly away. … And so murder (although as yet there had been fewer than a 
dozen) became the rule, became a normal occurrence. “Anybody been killed 
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today?” prisoners would ask each other when they went to wash or collect their 
morning rations.105 

According to Soviet documents and estimates by historians, during the conflict 
with the OUN-UPA the Soviet authorities killed a total of 153,000 people, arrested 
another 134,000, and deported 203,000,106 mainly in 1944–1945.107 A much greater 
proportion of the population was killed or persecuted in western Ukraine than in other 
Ukrainian territories. One important reason for the extensive Soviet terror in western 
Ukraine was the strengthening of Soviet power and loyalty to Soviet Union in the “re-
bellious” territory that had not belonged to the Soviet Union before 1939. It is 
impossible to say how many western Ukrainians who were arrested, sentenced, or 
killed were actual members of the OUN or UPA, or were simply accused of being 
“Ukrainian nationalists.” That one was a “Ukrainian nationalist” was a very serious 
accusation. It meant that one either murdered “Soviet people” or “betrayed” the 
“Soviet Ukrainian fatherland” by collaborating with the Nazis, even if only by cooking 
meals for them under constraint, for example. For some Soviet judges and persecutors 
“it was worse to be a Ukrainian nationalist than to participate in the murder of hun-
dreds of Jews.”108 Nevertheless, a number of the Ukrainians sentenced as “Ukrainian 
nationalists” or “Banderites” were not only “traitors to the Soviet Ukrainian father-
land” but actual war criminals who had killed civilians. 

During the conflict with the Soviet authorities, the OUN-UPA murdered more 
than 20,000 civilians and killed less than 10,000 Soviet soldiers, members of the 
destruction battalions, and NKVD staff. The majority of the civilian victims of the 
OUN-UPA were workers at the kolkhozes, and peasants accused of supporting the 
Soviet authorities.109 By 1953 about 490,000 western Ukrainians had suffered mur-
der, arrest, or deportation, as the result of the Soviet repressions.110 The severity of 
the Soviet terror in western Ukraine cannot be explained solely by the “rebellious” 
activities of the OUN and UPA. Other, more important factors that inflated this con-
flict were the policies of Stalinism, the strengthening of Soviet power and of loyalty to 
the Soviet authorities, and matters such as local revenge or conflicts between neigh-
bors. There is no doubt, however, that fanatical Ukrainian nationalism, which 
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blinded the leaders of the OUN and UPA, escalated the bloody conflict, and cost the 
lives of many Ukrainian civilians. 

Operation Rollback 

During the second half of 1944, the leadership of the OUN-B and the UHVR sent a task 
force, including Lebed’, Hryn’okh, and Myroslav Prokop, to establish contact with the 
Western allies. The task force went to Croatia and Italy; Vrets’ona was also sent to 
Switzerland. The first attempts to establish contact were not successful.111 Never-
theless, OUN-B activists and UPA partisans in Ukraine soon began to disseminate 
rumors about their successful collaboration with the American and British armies. 
One rumor spread in 1944 said that an army of 8,000 Ukrainian Canadians was to 
invade the Soviet Union. Another said that 200,000 American Ukrainians were 
marching to Ukraine from Italy.112 Other rumors said that America and England would 
help the OUN-UPA to defeat the Soviets and establish a Ukrainian state, when they 
finished the war against Germany.113 The main purpose of the rumors was to enhance 
the OUN-UPA’s reputation among Ukrainians and to give them hope of liberation 
from the Soviet regime: 

At the end of June [1945] in village Lyshnevychi in Brody raion, rebels convened a 
village assembly, [using their] weapons to force local peasants into the meeting. 
The chairman of the village soviet was led into the meeting [at the point of] two 
tommy guns and seated at the presidium. … Speaking at the meeting, a rebel 
whose name was not given said: “You, peasants. The Bolsheviks and the NKVD 
men, who want to build a Belomor canal with the bones of the Ukrainian people, 
say that the war [with the Germans] is over. And this is true, but this does not 
concern us because we are only just beginning the true war for ‘the independence 
of Ukraine.’ England and America will help us. Our representatives have already 
agreed with England on this question, and even the Bolshevik Manul’s’kyi has 
agreed to it. You should not fulfill the demands of the Soviets because anyone 
who works [for them] will be hanged as a traitor to the Ukrainian land. We have 
more power, you can see that for yourselves. Soon the Bolsheviks will conduct a 
grain levy. If anyone of you carries grain to the stations, then we will kill you like a 
dog, and your family will be hanged and cut to pieces. That should be under-
standable enough. And if you understand, then get back to your homes.”114 

In a village assembly in the Kamianets’-Podil’s’kyi region in December 1945, 
another OUN member announced: “War between the Soviet Union and the Anglo-
Americans is inevitable. The start of the war is planned for spring or autumn 1946.”115 
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Similarly, rumors about Bandera were spread. One said that he was seen in early 
September 1944 in Bolekhiv and other villages in the Stanislaviv region, in a jeep 
with eight American soldiers.116 

Churchill’s “Iron Curtain Speech” of 5 March 1946, which made it clear how tense 
were relations between the Eastern and Western blocs, had an enormous influence 
on the OUN-UPA. In his speech, Churchill stated: “From what I have seen of our 
Russian friends and allies during the war, I am convinced that there is nothing for 
which they have less respect than for weakness, especially military weakness. For 
that reason, the old doctrine of a balance of power is unsound.”117 His speech 
distressed the Soviet leaders and, in an interview a few days after the speech, Stalin 
called Churchill a “firebrand of war.” “I do not know whether Mr. Churchill and his 
friends will succeed in organizing … a new crusade against ‘Eastern Europe,’” Stalin 
said. “But if they succeed in this … one may confidently say they will be beaten just as 
they were beaten twenty-six years ago.”118 

Ukrainian nationalists regularly exploited Churchill’s speech. In order to nourish 
hope and assert their position, OUN activists and UPA partisans in Ukraine repeated 
phrases like “If not today, then tomorrow England will declare war on the USSR” or 
“There will be a war and Ukraine will be made independent, under the protection of 
America.” In the twelve months following Churchill’s speech, the activity of the OUN-
UPA increased by more than 300 percent.119 On 17 December 1946, V. S. Riasnoi, 
deputy director of the Ministry of Internal Affairs (Ministerstvo Vnutrennikh Del, 
MVD) of the Ukrainian SSR, wrote in a document to his director, Timofei Strokach: 
“Notify all operations personnel in the organs of the MVD that work in the struggle 
against OUN rebels is simultaneously a struggle against agents of foreign intelligence 
services.”120 In January 1947, as a result of the alleged and real cooperation between 
the OUN-UPA and the American and British intelligence services, the Soviet author-
ities changed their tactics for combating the OUN-UPA. The Soviet apparatus began 
to regard the OUN-UPA not only as internal enemies but also as foreign enemies, 
and the Soviet counter-insurgency apparatus was transferred from the Ministry of 
Internal Affairs (MVD, before 1946 NKVD) to the Ministry of State Security (MGB, 
before 1946 NKGB).121 

Even if the actual support from the United States and the United Kingdom was 
much smaller than that presented in nationalist propaganda, assumptions about 
cooperation with foreign intelligence services were not baseless. In 1946 some 
American politicians like George Kennan and Allan Dulles, later director of the 
American Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), initiated Operation Rollback, which was 
officially adopted in 1948. The operation was not in the hands of the CIA but the 
innocuous-sounding Office of Policy Coordination (OPC). The operation was 
financed by Marshall Plan funds, up to $100 million a year by 1951.122 
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The aim of the operation was the “rollback of communism” in Eastern Europe. 
This was intended to come about through the strengthening of Eastern European 
nationalist movements that would destroy the Soviet Union from within. One goal of 
the operation, according to a document from 30 August 1948, was to “establish con-
tact with the various national underground representatives in free countries and 
through these intermediaries pass on assistance and guidance to the resistance 
movements behind the iron curtain.”123 To some extent, the plan resembled the OUN 
plan to involve nations located in the Soviet Union in a multi-nationalist revolution 
that would disintegrate the Soviet Union. In this matter, the expectations of the OPC 
toward Eastern Europe overlapped with the plans of the OUN-B. Such personalities 
as Bandera, Stets’ko, and Lebed’ appeared as anti-Soviet experts in this field. The 
OUN-UPA, still active behind the Iron Curtain, was a brilliant example of a guerrilla 
movement that Operation Rollback was meant to support. The main goal was psy-
chological support, as a consequence of which, the operation heated up the atmos-
phere of the Cold War and turned a third world war into a subject that neither the 
Western nor the Eastern bloc could exclude. “The political warfare initiative was the 
greatest mistake I ever made,” Kennan, the architect of Operation Rollback, admitted 
in 1975. “It did not work out at all the way I had conceived it.”124 

Toward the end of the Second World War, the CIA and the British Secret Intelli-
gence Service (SIS), also known as MI6, were looking for people and organizations 
that could provide them with intelligence about the Soviet Union, in order to “get any 
early warning of a Soviet attack on Western Europe.”125 In this regard also, the Ukrai-
nian nationalist underground was attractive to them. Evan Thomas claimed that 
Frank Wisner, the director of the OPC, “sought to learn the lessons of the German 
defeat in the East—a defeat he felt was due in large measures because the Nazis failed 
to capitalize on the anticommunist sentiment of the Russian people.”126 Furthermore, 
there were many Ukrainian political émigrés in the West who could have been re-
cruited as Cold War soldiers and agents. Randolph F. Carroll, an agent of the Counter 
Intelligence Corps (CIC), stated in 1947, “Ukrainian emigration in the territory of 
Germany, Austria, France, Italy, in the greatest majority is a healthy, uncompromis-
ing element in the fight against the Bolsheviks. In case of war, there can be recruited 
a minimum of 130,000 good, idealistically inclined soldiers with an experienced 
cadre of young officers.”127 

Displaced Persons 

After the Second World War, of the 8 million displaced persons (DPs) in German ter-
ritory, about 2.5 million were Ukrainians. The majority of the Ukrainian DPs had been 
deported to Germany during the war as forced laborers (Ostarbeiter). By 1950, 
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1,850,000 persons had returned to the Ukrainian SSR; the majority of them in the first 
two years after the war. They were not deported to the Gulag or Siberia as many people 
in the West believed during the Cold War, but were mainly sent to their places of ori-
gin. At home, however, they frequently faced discrimination. In 1947 about 200,000 
Ukrainians remained in West Germany and about 50,000 in Austria and Italy. They 
lived mainly in DP camps. Among these 250,000 Ukrainians, there were 120,000 who 
had left Ukraine with the retreating German army in the summer of 1944 because they 
were afraid of the consequences of their collaboration with the Germans or had other 
reasons for avoiding a confrontation with the Soviet authorities. Among them were 
almost all the radical right intellectuals who, in the 1930s and 1940s, had regarded 
fascism and antisemitism as progressive European politics.128 

The Soviet authorities demanded that all its citizens return home, but a number 
of Ukrainian DPs organized an anti-repatriation movement. They faked their identi-
ties, boycotted screenings, and wrote memoranda to the British and American 
governments, in which they protested against screenings, especially if screening 
measures were assisted by Soviet officials. Sometimes, the Ukrainians rendered 
screening impossible. For example, when a Soviet repatriation mission wanted to 
enter a camp in Mittenwald, the Ukrainians attacked it with bricks. According to 
OUN-B activist Mechnyk, the mobilization of Ukrainian DPs against the repatriation 
was an important activity of the OUN. One avoidance strategy was to organize a 
church service and remain there when the officials came to the camp. The resistance 
of Ukrainian and other DPs jeopardized the image of the Soviet Union. The Soviet 
secret service kidnapped a number of individuals and repatriated them by force. 
Many of them were later tortured during investigations, died in prisons, or were sent 
to the Gulag. The United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration 
(UNRRA), which was responsible for the DP camps, assumed that Ukrainians tried 
to avoid screening because many of them were former Nazi collaborators. A popular 
method of avoiding repatriation among western Ukrainians was to insist that they 
were not Soviet citizens, because they had lived in Poland before the Second World 
War and therefore should not be repatriated to Soviet Ukraine.129 In July 1947, 
UNRRA was replaced by the International Refugee Organization, or IRO, which in 
general was more sympathetic to DP anticommunism and reluctance to return to the 
Soviet Union.130 

The Ukrainian DPs lived mainly in the American and British occupation zones. 
They gave their camps Ukrainian names like Orlyk and Lysenko. Between 3,000 and 
5,000 people lived in each camp. Ukrainian DPs organized schools for their children 
and relocated the Ukrainian Free University (Ukraїns’kyi Vil’nyi Universytet, UVU) 
from Prague to Munich. In addition, the Ukrainian Technical and Husbandry Insti-
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tute in Regensburg, the Ukrainian Higher School of Economics in Munich, and the 
Ukrainian Theological Seminary were founded. The scouting organization Plast was 
recreated. In 1946 the ZCh OUN—consisting of OUN-B members who left Ukraine 
with the Germans in 1944 or were released from the concentration camps—set up the 
scouting organization Ukrainian Youth Organization (Spilka Ukraїns’koї Molodi, 
SUM) in Augsburg.131 The ZCh OUN had a network of its representatives in all DP 
camps in the American, British, and French occupation zones. It also recruited new 
members for its cadres and penetrated the DP camps. The general anticommunist 
and anti-Soviet attitude of Ukrainians made the ZCh OUN an attractive organization. 
In 1948 the ZCh OUN had 5,000 members in Western Europe, of whom 70 percent 
lived in DP camps.132 US intelligence officials estimated in 1948 that up to 80 percent 
of all Ukrainian DPs from eastern Galicia were loyal to Bandera.133 

Life in post-war Germany was difficult and chaotic for both the Germans and the 
DPs. The DPs were viewed by the German public as a social and economic problem. 
Apart from the Ukrainians, there were Jews, Latvians, Lithuanians, Poles, Russians, 
and other national groups in the DP camps. There was not much interaction between 
the different groups, although some were united by anticommunism. In addition, 
there were also cultural and political divisions within the national groups. The Ger-
man police frequently raided the camps and mistreated the DPs because of real or 
alleged involvement in the black market and other criminal activities. When Shmuel 
Danziger, a concentration camp survivor, was shot to death in March 1946 by a Ger-
man policeman, the situation changed slightly. After this incident, the American 
military authorities forbade the German police to enter the camps unless accompa-
nied by American military police.134 

Resistance against deportations strengthened nationalism among the DPs, and 
hatred toward the Soviet Union.135 The DPs organized anticommunist demonstra-
tions and rallies outside the camps. One such demonstration took place on 10 April 
1949 in Munich, the capital of Bavaria. Several thousand DPs assembled to protest 
against religious persecution in the Soviet Union.136 Because the authorities did not 
allow a political demonstration, the Ukrainian organizers assured them that it would 
be a religious gathering. But in reality it became an event at which the distinction 
between religious and nationalist elements became entirely blurred. The demonstra-
tion began with a multi-denominational religious service, including Roman Catholics, 
Greek Catholics, Orthodox, and Protestants. The Greek Catholic Church presented as 
martyrs people such as the Roman Catholic Archbishop Aloysius Viktor Stepinac of 
Croatia, who had collaborated with the Ustaša regime during the war and who was 
later sentenced by the Yugoslav authorities to sixteen years imprisonment. Repre-
sentatives of Ukrainians, Belarusians, Lithuanians, Latvians, Estonians, Slovaks, 
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Cossacks, and Turkestanis gave speeches, in which they condemned the lack of reli-
gious freedom in their homelands, and introduced the history of their national “lib-
eration movements.”137 The OUN-B member Petro Mirchuk spoke on behalf of the 
Anti-Bolshevik Bloc of Nations (ABN) but was interrupted when someone cut the 
microphone cable. Another OUN-B activist recognized the saboteur as a “German 
communist and a Muscovite.”138 When the demonstrators began marching toward 
the former headquarters of the Soviet mission, the German police and American 
military forces tried to stop the crowd with tear gas and bayonets.139 

The demonstration in April 1949 took place at a time when DPs were leaving 
Germany, but it was not the last anticommunist demonstration in Germany that the 
ABN and the OUN staged. They would hold several hundred more in the countries in 
which they would be resettled. Among the Ukrainian DPs who were resettled were 
OUN members, many of whom did not change their revolutionary, ultranationalist, 
or fascist convictions after 1945. The anti-Soviet and anticommunist climate of the 
Cold War made it possible to adjust their far-right worldviews to the new situation, 
without revising it substantially. The resettlement of the DPs therefore resulted in 
the internalization and globalization of Ukrainian nationalism, with all its fascist and 
radical right facets.140 

After the end of the Second World War, Ukrainian communities in countries such 
as Canada and the United States began to lobby their governments to allow the dis-
placed Ukrainians to settle there, and not to return them to the Soviet Union. The 
most popular and convincing argument that the Ukrainian lobbyists used was the 
“anticommunist” character of the Ukrainian DPs. One Ukrainian lobbying group in 
Canada wrote: “These people are anticommunist, and are representatives of every 
walk of life. … These displaced persons, if assisted to settle in Canada, would spear-
head the movement and combat Communism since they are victims of its menace.”141 

The soldiers of the Waffen-SS Galizien shared the fate of the DPs. Before the 
Waffen-SS Galizien surrendered to the British in Austria on 10 May 1945, the divi-
sion was renamed the First Division of the Ukrainian National Army (Ukraїns’ka 
Natsional’na Armiia, UNA). The UNA had been established on 17 March 1945, in 
accordance with a proposal of Rosenberg’s, under the command of General Shan-
druk. Until the very end of the war however, the German High Command continued 
to list it as the Ukrainian 14th SS Grenadier Division, in its order of battle. After 
surrender, the Waffen-SS Galizien soldiers avoided repatriation, with the help of the 
Vatican. As Shandruk, head of the UNA, wrote: “The Archbishop [Ivan Buchko] had 
pleaded with His Holiness Pope Pius XII to intercede for soldiers of the Division, 
who are the flower of the Ukrainian nation.”142 Negotiating with the British, Shan-
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druk also used the argument that, unlike the soldiers of the Vlasov army, the Ukrai-
nian soldiers were Polish citizens.143 Ukrainian soldiers from the Waffen-SS Galizien 
who surrendered to the British in Austria were detained in a camp in Rimini.144 

The British changed the status of the Waffen-SS Galizien soldiers from that of 
prisoners of war to that of surrendered enemy personnel and wanted to distribute 
them throughout the Commonwealth. However, some countries, including Canada, 
were not pleased with this idea. The Canadian government only changed its attitude 
after persistent lobbying by Ukrainian institutions, which bombarded Ottawa with 
letters, in which they portrayed the soldiers from the Waffen-SS Galizien as “western 
minded, religious, democratic, good, strong, and healthy workers” and as “valuable 
and desirable citizens.” The lobby praised the “anti-Soviet” and “anticommunist” 
views of the Waffen-SS Galizien Ukrainians and argued that they had been con-
scripted only because of their patriotism. Other arguments the lobby used were that 
the Waffen-SS Galizien soldiers had never fought against Western armies, and that 
they had not fought for Nazi Germany, but for an independent Ukraine.145 

On 13 July 1948, the British government sent a secret telegram to all Common-
wealth governments, including a proposal to end Nazi war crime trials in the British 
zone of Germany, which would accelerate the resettlement. The screening process 
undergone by the DPs could not be effective in any event, due to the lack of access to 
documents. These were either in the possession of the Soviet Union, which regarded 
all DPs as war criminals, or in the possession of the American and British intelligence 
services, which were preoccupied with looking for “dangerous” communists and were 
not paying much attention to war criminals. Officials undertaking the screening 
process were inexperienced and had little knowledge about the Nazi regime or the 
situation in Ukraine during the Second World War. More important for them was 
whether the particular individual could work hard, than whether he had been in-
volved in war crimes or had been indoctrinated by Himmler’s SS. They also failed to 
make any physical search for SS tattoos. The Soviet Union, which again and again 
made the ridiculous claim that all DPs were war criminals, motivated the screening 
officials to regard all Ukrainians as victims of Soviet accusations.146 

In December 1952, when the resettlement was almost finished, the British SIS 
intervened with the Canadian government on behalf of individuals who did not meet 
normal security requirements. The Canadian government set up a committee on 
defectors and allowed these individuals to enter with this status. The governments of 
Canada, Britain, and the United States made the decision that information about 
these “defectors” could be revealed only with the agreement of all three governments. 
The term “defector” became a synonym for former Nazis or Nazi collaborators posing 
as anticommunists.147 Eventually, about 90 percent of the 250,000 Ukrainian DPs 
moved between 1947 and 1955 from Germany and Austria to Argentina, Australia, 
Belgium, Brazil, Britain, Canada, France, the United States, and Venezuela. The 
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majority went to the United States and Canada.148 Of the 11,000 Waffen-SS Galizien 
Ukrainians who surrendered to the British, 3,000 were returned to the Ukrainian 
SSR. The rest were admitted to Britain in 1947. The Canadian government agreed to 
admit the Waffen-SS Galizien veterans despite protests from the Canadian Jewish 
Congress. In total, between 1,200 and 2,000 of them moved to Canada.149 

Conclusion 

During the Second World War the ethnic configuration of people in the western 
Ukrainian territories changed entirely. The Germans, Ukrainian policemen, OUN 
and UPA, and local population killed almost all the Jews there. Those Poles who 
survived the ethnic cleansing conducted by the UPA were resettled in Poland, and 
Ukrainians from Poland were resettled in Ukraine. The Greek Catholic Church, a 
very important component of the identity of western Ukrainians, was dissolved by 
the Soviet authorities who, after their coming to power in western Ukraine in the 
spring and summer of 1944, also began to liquidate the nationalist underground. The 
UPA resisted the Soviet authorities until the early 1950s. The local population suf-
fered severely during this conflict from both sides. The UPA killed over 20,000 civi-
lians and close to 10,000 Soviet soldiers, members of the destruction battalions, and 
NKVD staff. According to Soviet documents, the Soviet authorities killed 153,000 
Ukrainians, arrested 134,000 and deported 203,000. Among the Soviet victims were 
many civilians who neither belonged to the nationalist underground nor supported it. 

In 1944 about 120,000 Ukrainians left Ukraine together with the Germans in or-
der to avoid a confrontation with the Soviet authorities. After the war they stayed in 
DP camps together with some OUN members and other elements of Ukrainian so-
ciety, who during the war had been confined in concentration camps and did not 
want to return to Soviet Ukraine. Both within and outside Ukraine the OUN hoped 
that a third world war would break out between the Soviet Union and the Western 
states and that this would help them liberate Ukraine. Although this did not come 
about, the Cold War enabled Bandera and other OUN members to ally with the Brit-
ish and American intelligence services. The American Central Intelligence Agency, 
which aimed for the “rollback of communism” in Eastern Europe, was willing to 
collaborate with émigrés who had contacts with movements such as the UPA. At the 
same time, the OUN-B continued to kill its opponents and also tried to control those 
Ukrainian DPs who resisted resettlement to the Soviet Union. By 1955, 250,000 
Ukrainians had moved from German and Austrian DP camps to different Western 
countries around the globe; among them were numerous Bandera adherents.

 
148  80,000 moved to the United States, 38,000 to Canada, 21,000 to Australia, 10,000 to each of Britain, 

France, and Belgium. Cf. Satzewich, Ukrainian Diaspora, 89. 
149  Margolian, Unauthorized Entry, 131–32, 135, 146; Lalande, “Building, 149–53. 



 

 

Chapter 7 

THE PROVIDNYK IN EXILE 

The Opponents and Victims of Nazi Germany 

In May 1945, the leadership of the OUN issued an official statement, in which it de-
nied its engagement in fascist politics before and during the Second World War: “The 
Ukrainian liberating-revolutionary movement was not and is not a term equivalent to 
Italian Fascism and German National-Socialism.”1 Shortly before the statement was 
published Bandera had left Vienna for Innsbruck, in the French occupation zone of 
Austria. On 18 April 1945 Bandera met Ievhen Stakhiv there and ordered him to go to 
Zagreb, to find Lebed’ and return him to Austria. Lebed’ had gone to Croatia as the 
representative of the OUN-B and the UHVR, in order to establish contact with Allied 
troops. Stakhiv accepted the order but asked Bandera to find somebody to take care 
of his wife and baby, but his Providnyk refused to do so. Bandera’s lack of empathy 
angered Stakhiv, but with the help of a friend he carried out his order.2 

When Bandera came to Innsbruck, the city was filled with Ukrainian émigrés, in 
particular OUN-B members. In the summer of 1945, Bandera attended the wedding 
of Natalia Kovalivs’ka and Osyp Tiushka, with whom he lived together in an apart-
ment during his student days in Lviv. Vienna was controlled at that time by all four 
Allies and, because of the presence of Soviet troops, was not safe for Ukrainian politi-
cal émigrés. In the second half of 1945, Bandera moved to the Tyrol, to the alpine 
resort of Seefeld, which was, close to the German border. He rented the whole floor 
of a villa, where he lived for several months with his security guard Mykhailo 
Andriiuk, his driver Miklosh, and his secretary Marichka.3 One of the names Bandera 
used at this time was Karpiak, under which he was registered in Innsbruck and 
Seefeld.4 

In 1945 the ZCh OUN began to organize its new center in Munich, the capital of 
Bavaria, which was located in the American occupation zone of Germany.5 Munich 
became the heart of Ukrainian émigré activity after the Second World War. Ukrai-
nian social and political organizations were based in a two-story building at 
Dachauer Strasse 9. The first floor was occupied by a Ukrainian church, and the 
second by such organizations as the ABN, the editorial office of Ukraїns’kyi samos-
tiinyk, the League of Political Prisoners, the Ukrainian Red Cross, Plast, and the ZCh 

 
1  “Dekliaratsiia provodu Orhanizatsiї Ukraїns’kykh Natsionalistiv pislia zakinchennia druhoї svitovoї 

vyiny v Evropi,” in OUN v svitli, 122. 
2  Stakhiv, Kriz’ tiurmy, 196–98. 
3  Stakhiv, Kriz’ tiurmy, 203, 216; Motyka, Ukraińska partyzantka, 622. 
4  “Vernehmungsniederschrift Stefan Popel,” 7 February 1956, StM, Pol. Dir. München 9281, 85. 
5  HDA SBU f. 13, spr. 372, t. 6, 4, 8. 
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OUN.6 For a time, the office of the ZCh OUN was at Lindwurmstrasse 205. In 1954 
the ZCh OUN and the ABN moved to Zeppelinstrasse 67. The ZCh OUN opened a 
publishing house in the basement of this building and began to issue its newspaper, 
Shliakh peremohy. The basement and an apartment in the house would belong to the 
OUN at least until the time of writing this book.7 

After the war, Bandera and his family moved several times. He had more than one 
address at a time, and frequently changed his place of residence. In August 1945, he 
came to Munich without his family to organize the ZCh OUN center. He registered 
himself under the name Michael Kasper, at Franz-Niessl-Strasse 14. In February 
1946, his wife and daughter moved from Innsbruck to his apartment in Munich and 
also registered themselves under the name Kasper. When Bandera learned that 
Soviet intelligence had seized a courier he had sent to Ukraine, he moved in May 
1946 to Söcking, a village about thirty kilometers from Munich, close to the town of 
Starnberg. He lodged with Mrs. Schwandtner at Hanfelder Strasse 1 and registered 
himself under the name Stefan Popel. Although he was registered at Hanfelder 
Strasse 1, he also lived with his family in a house that was hidden in the forest, close 
to Starnberg.8 While living in Söcking, Bandera frequently went to Munich and 
sometimes stayed overnight in an apartment which he rented or had at his disposal, 
possibly from the American authorities.9 Bandera lived in the house in the woods 
until 1950.10 From late 1949 until May 1950, his family stayed in a DP camp in 
Mittenwald. At this time, Bandera hid in various places because the MVD was look-
ing for him.11 From mid-1950 to 1954, he lived in Breitbrunn, a village by Lake 
Ammersee, about thirty-five kilometers from Munich. During this period, his 
daughter Natalia attended high school in the nearby town of Herrsching.12 While 
living outside Munich, Bandera traveled to work by car. He had a motor accident in 
1953 but was not injured.13 In 1952 Bandera’s family lived in Oberau for some 
months, close to Garmisch-Partenkirchen, a village in the Alpine region.14 In summer 
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1954, he moved with his family to Munich, where he lived at Rosenbuschstrasse 6 
until 1956, and then at Kreittmayrstrasse 7.15 

False documents obtained by Bandera helped him to expunge his ambiguous rel-
ationship with the Nazis. On 6 June 1945, for example, he received an ID card bear-
ing the name “Stefan Popel” from the Camp Committee (Lagerkomitee) and the 
commandant (Lagerkommandant) of the Mauthausen concentration camp. Ac-
cording to this document Bandera was a person “who was kept from 15.9.1941 to 
6.5.1945 in Nazi-German concentration camps and was liberated from the concen-
tration camp at Mauthausen”—where he was never a prisoner. (Fig. 23).16 

Fig. 23. Stepan Bandera’s ID from the IRO. Stepan Bandera Museum in Staryi Uhryniv. 

Ukrainian emigrants in Germany often used pseudonyms at this time, in order to 
avoid deportation to Soviet Ukraine. “Popel” means snot in German and very likely 
caused laughter among the officials. It is not entirely clear whether Bandera adopted 
the pseudonym from the Ukrainian word “popil,” which means “ashes,” or used the 
passport of the Ukrainian chess player Stepan Popel’, which was allegedly stolen 
from his apartment in Paris in 1944.17 

Bandera also used a number of press cards. One, from 15 October 1950, con-
firmed that he was a correspondent of the newspaper Ukrainian Independist, living 
in Söcking. Another from 12 February 1955 was from the French newspaper 

 
15  “Vernehmungsniederschrift Stefan Popel,” 7 February 1956, StM, Pol. Dir. München 9281, 87. The 
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L’Ukrainien. In 1947 Bandera used a journalist’s pass issued by Ukraїns’ka try-
buna.18 

In addition to using false documents, Bandera was protected by the American, 
British, and later, the West German intelligence services. The American and British 
intelligence services were already taking an interest in Nazis and Nazi collaborators, 
before the end of the war. They were also interested in people and organizations, 
such as the German Military Intelligence on the Eastern Front (Fremde Heere Ost, 
FHO), and the various Eastern European far-right movements, including the OUN, 
who could provide them with information about the Soviet Union or who possessed 
other valuable knowledge. With the help of the CIA, Reinhard Gehlen, former head of 
the FHO, established the Federal Intelligence Service (Bundesnachrichtendienst, 
BND), the intelligence service of West Germany. American intelligence protected 
Gehlen and his advisers.19 

People such as Bandera, who could either provide information about the Soviet 
Union or mobilize the émigré communities with anticommunist propaganda or had 
contact with underground organizations behind the Iron Curtain, were of special 
interest to the American, British, and German intelligence services. Besides Ukrai-
nians, there were also Croatians, Slovaks, Russians, Poles, Lithuanians, Latvians, 
Estonians, Romanians, and Hungarians who worked for Western intelligence ser-
vices. That some of them had collaborated with the Nazis and were involved in war 
crimes did not matter, as long as they were useful for the Cold War. American and 
British intelligence possessed knowledge, although not always very accurate, about 
the people with whom they worked.20 Harry Rositzke, former head of the CIA, com-
mented in 1985: “It was a visceral business of using any bastard as long as he was 
anticommunist … [and] the eagerness or desire to enlist collaborators meant that 
sure, you didn’t look at their credentials too closely.”21 

The Ukrainian émigrés understood this situation and tried to benefit from it as 
much as possible. Collaborating with Western intelligence services meant protection 
for the OUN from legal proceedings and gained it support for its struggle against the 
Soviet Union. After Lebed’ returned from Zagreb, he went to Rome, where he 
claimed to represent the interests of Ukraine as the “foreign minister” of the UHVR, 
which presented itself as a kind of Ukrainian government-in-exile. Father Ivan 
Hryn’okh, who was awarded the Iron Cross by the Germans for his work in the 
Nachtigall battalion, accompanied him. Together with Bishop Ivan Buchko, they 
negotiated with the Americans and British how to prevent the repatriation of the 
Waffen-SS Galizien soldiers. In the spring of 1945, Lebed’ established contact with 
the Office of Strategic Services (OSS) in Berne, the forerunner of the CIA, and to 
which Vrets’ona, the former Abwehr agent and chief of the German-Ukrainian police 
in Lviv, offered his services. Volodymyr Stakhiv, minister of foreign affairs in 
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Stets’ko’s government from 1941, did the same in Munich.22 Almost simultaneously, 
the Soviet Ukrainian writer and poet Mykola Bazhan demanded, at the assembly of 
the United Nations in London on 6 February 1946, that Ukrainian collaborators be 
handed over to the Soviet authorities.23 

Bandera had met with officials of the British Secret Intelligence Service (known as 
MI6), in the British zone at the end of the war. MI6 regarded Bandera as potentially 
useful for Cold War purposes, and therefore decided to help him.24 The American 
Counter Intelligence Corps (CIC) in Munich also protected Bandera from Soviet 
intelligence, although it was more interested in cooperation with the UHVR, which 
began to compete with the ZCh OUN after the war. The CIC concluded that Bandera’s 
extradition would “imply to the Ukrainians that we as an organization are unable to 
protect them, i.e., we have no authority. In such a case, there is not any reason or 
sense for them to cooperate with us.”25 In a secret memorandum to the Immigration 
and Naturalization Service, Frank Wisner, director of the Office of Policy Coordina-
tion (OPC), commented on the role of the United States in protecting Bandera and 
other Ukrainian nationalists in the American occupation zone: 

At the end of the last war many members of the OUN came to Western Europe to 
avoid capture by the advancing Soviets. The OUN re-formed in Western Europe 
with its headquarters in Munich. It first came to the attention of American 
authorities when the Russians demanded extradition of Bandera and many other 
anti-Soviet Ukrainian nationalists as war criminals. Luckily the [Soviet] attempt 
to locate these anti-Soviet Ukrainians was sabotaged by a few far-sighted Ameri-
cans who warned the persons concerned to go into hiding.26 

In June 1946, a special MGB task force entered the American occupation zone, in 
order to kidnap Bandera. The task force consisted of five people in two cars. Before 
the operation started, negotiations between the Soviet and American officials had 
taken place. The chief of the CIC, General Edwin Silbert, promised the MVD chief of 
the Berlin operational sector, Major General Aleksei Sidnev, to help apprehend Ban-
dera in the American occupation zone. Bandera, however, had been under Silbert’s 
protection since summer 1945, and the negotiations with Soviet intelligence were 
mere camouflage. Using the Polish alias “Stanislau Sitkowski,” Bandera hid in the 
complex that housed the Gehlen Organization. The MGB task force did not find him, 
although it visited several places in several cities where it was informed by the CIC 
that Bandera might be hiding.27 
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Bandera was protected and supported by the Gehlen Organization and also re-
ceived help from members of such organizations as the former Hitler Youth (Hitler-
jugend), the SS, and other individuals and organizations in situations similar to that 
of Bandera. The CIC noted that an underground organization of former Nazis helped 
Bandera to cross the border between the American and French occupation zones 
several times.28 In 1947 American intelligence described Bandera’s bodyguards as 
ready to “do away with any person who may be dangerous to [Bandera] or his 
party”29 and as “ruthless killers who intercept and liquidate persons who attempt to 
apprehend Bandera.”30 In 1950 he was seen with nine bodyguards.31 

In the long run, Lebed’, who became Bandera’s rival after the Second World War, 
succeeded in cooperating much more successfully with American intelligence than 
Bandera did. This was so, even though the CIA described Lebed’ as a “well-known 
sadist and collaborator of the Germans.”32 Afraid that OUN-UPA war crimes would 
cause him and other Ukrainian émigrés problems, Lebed’ wrote a book entitled UPA: 
Ukrainian Insurgent Army, which was published in 1946 by the Publishing Office of 
the UHVR. In this publication, the former leader of the OUN-B and the SB of the 
OUN-B depicted the OUN and UPA as anti-Soviet and anti-German freedom fighters 
and denied or ignored all war crimes on their part. Lebed’ seems to have been espe-
cially afraid that the West would find out about his involvement in the murder of 
Jews and in the ethnic cleansing in Volhynia in 1943.33 Lebed’s book was perhaps the 
first comprehensive post-war publication that not only denied the OUN and UPA 
atrocities but also argued that the UPA helped ethnic minorities in Ukraine, in par-
ticular Jews. Lebed’ wrote that Jews remained in the UPA, even though they had the 
opportunity to join the Soviets, and that many of them “died a hero’s death protect-
ing the ideals for which the whole Ukrainian nation was fighting.”34 He also trans-
formed the Poles into aggressors who threatened and provoked the UPA: “We issued 
the order to the Poles to leave the territories that were important for UPA actions. 
When that had no effect, their resistance was liquidated by force.”35 
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Bandera and Conflicts in the Organization 

The conflict between the UHVR, or Lebed’s group of the ZCh OUN, and Bandera, the 
leader of the ZCh OUN, interfered with the cooperation between the Western 
intelligence services and the Ukrainian nationalists and complicated the relationship 
with the OUN-UPA underground in western Ukraine. When Bandera and Lebed’ met 
in late December 1945, they had a long discussion about politics within the OUN in 
exile. Both were unhappy with the result of their conversation. The main subject of 
their discussion was the question whether the ZCh OUN should subordinate itself to 
the UHVR as Lebed’ suggested, or whether the UHVR should be subordinate to the 
ZCh OUN, as Bandera argued.36 This conflict between two new OUN factions had 
already manifested itself after Bandera’s release from Zellenbau. Bandera and several 
other ZCh OUN members, including at least Iaroslav Stets’ko, Stepan Lenkavs’kyi, 
Bohdan Pidhainyi, Mykola Klymyshyn, Ivan Kashuba, Myron Matviieiko, Osyp Ti-
ushka, Ievhen Lozyns’kyi, Petro Mirchuk, and Ivan Vovchuk, did not accept the su-
premacy of the UHVR and objected to the rejection, at the Third Extraordinary 
Grand Assembly in 1943, of the Führerprinzip and other fascist ideas. Bandera’s 
faction wanted to reintroduce the Führerprinzip and make Bandera the Providnyk of 
all Ukrainian émigré organizations. Many of Bandera’s post-war supporters had been 
detained in prisons or concentration camps from the second half of 1941 onward, to 
the end of 1944 or the beginning of 1945, and had been isolated from what was hap-
pening in the OUN-UPA at that time. The opposition to the “fascist faction” was 
formed by people such as Lev Rebet, Daria Rebet, Mykola Lebed’, Volodymyr and 
Ievhen Stakhiv, Vasyl’ Okhrymovych, Roman Ilnytzkyi, Ivan Hryn’okh, Ivan But-
novs’kyi, Zenon Matsiuk, Myroslav Prokop, Ievhen Vrets’ona, and Vasyl’ Potishko.37 

At a meeting of the OUN-B in December 1944 in Cracow, and later at a con-
ference in Vienna in February 1945, at which he was elected representative of the 
leadership of the ZCh OUN, Bandera expressed his concerns about the changes intro-
duced at the grand assembly in 1943. He believed that they were redundant and that 
he should remain the Providnyk of the movement. He understood the rejection of 
fascism, or as it was called later “democratization,” as “Soviet principles” that dam-
aged the real nature of the OUN.38 

In February 1946 in Munich, Bandera’s cohorts declared the ZCh OUN to be their 
own organization, independent of the UHVR. Bandera’s opponents called themselves 
the Foreign Representation (Zakordonne Predstavnytsvo, ZP) of the UHVR, or ZP 
UHVR. Both organizations claimed to represent the OUN and UPA in Ukraine. For a 
few years there was no clear boundary between the two groups, and the split was not 
definite. Lebed’, for example, was active in both groups until 1948, when he finally 
dissociated himself from the ZCh OUN and remained in the ZP UHVR. On 16 April 
1946, the ZCh OUN founded the Anti-Bolshevik Bloc of Nations, or ABN, whose 
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leader became Stets’ko.39 Like the ZCh OUN, the ABN was financed by MI6, which 
used Vatican intermediaries in order to conceal the source.40 The OUN-UPA in 
Ukraine knew about the ABN and had great hopes for it.41 

The ABN united the representatives of several Eastern European “enslaved na-
tions.” Some of them, for instance Ferdinand Ďurčanský, former minister for internal 
and foreign affairs in Jozef Tiso’s clerical fascist Slovakia, had collaborated with the 
Nazis and had been deeply involved in the persecution and annihilation of Jews and 
in other war crimes. Similarly to Stets’ko and Lenkavs’kyi in relation to Ukraine 
shortly before the beginning of the Second World War, Ďurčanský had talked about 
“solving the Jewish Question [in Slovakia] ‘as in Germany.’” During the war 
Ďurčanský supported the anti-Jewish policies of Tiso’s government, which led to the 
destruction of several thousand Slovak Jews. After the war he was tried in absentia 
and sentenced to death by the same court that condemned Tiso to the death-penalty. 
Unlike his Vodca, Ďurčanský was never arrested and died a natural death in 1974. 
Some other members of the ABN were former Nazis, or veterans of movements such 
as the Ustaša and the Romanian Legionaries, which had cooperated with the OUN 
before and during the Second World War. The ABN regarded the Soviet Union as a 
“prison of nations” and like the OUN-B during the war, and the ZCh OUN after the 
war, wanted to separate this multinational empire into nation states with far-right 
authoritarian governments. In the ABN’s plans for a post-Soviet Eastern Europe, 
there was no place for Jews, Russians, or other minorities who did not live in their 
“own ethnic territories.”42 

In January 1947, conflict between the ZCh OUN and the ZP UHVR escalated. Iev-
hen Stakhiv wrote in his memoirs that the ZP UHVR was “democratic,” and the ZCh 
OUN “totalitarian.” Although the two factions certainly differed in their attitude 
toward democracy, the ZP UHVR and the “democratic” factions of the OUN émigrés 
who cooperated with it did not have much in common with the principles of democ-
racy. They ignored and denied the war crimes of the OUN and UPA and falsified the 
history of the movement, similarly to the ZCh OUN. Antisemitism and nationalism 
pervaded both groups.43 In 1947 Bandera became extremely angry with the “demo-
cratic” émigrés who refused to subordinate themselves to him and who refused to 
accept the supremacy of the ZCh OUN. He used the SB of the ZCh OUN to intimidate 
and liquidate opponents whom he regarded as traitors and foes. The Providnyk or-
dered the head of the SB of the ZCh OUN, Matviieiko, to conduct a range of 
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assassinations, targeting among them Lev and Daria Rebet.44 Not all these “death 
sentences” were carried out. In the case of the Rebets, the SB officers refused to 
execute the order, because it meant killing people they had known for many years. 
Nevertheless, members of the “democratic” faction were frightened, and some began 
to carry weapons.45 During one dispute in March 1947, Lebed’ either fired a pistol at 
Bandera or threatened him with it, after which Bandera ordered Matviieiko to kill 
Lebed’.46 

The ZCh OUN in Bavaria applied terror toward opponents and “traitors,” as the 
OUN-UPA did in western Ukraine, although not on the same scale. It is not clear how 
many people the ZCh OUN killed after the Second World War. The police depart-
ment in Munich noted that Ukrainians in DP camps, particularly in the Mittenwald 
camp, talked about a hundred people who had been killed by the SB of the ZCh OUN, 
and also about the cremation of the corpses. The Bavarian police assumed that these 
incidents were not reported because the Ukrainian emigrants were intimidated by 
the perpetrators. The police were unable to bring any charges for these murders. In 
general, they were confused and overwhelmed by the conflicts among the Ukrainian 
émigrés and by the intrigues of the MGB, from 1954 the Committee for State Security 
(Komitet gosudarstvennoi bezopasnosti, KGB). It may be that some of the crimes 
were concealed by American and British intelligence, or even committed in co-
operation with them, as these services had assigned the ZCh OUN to spy on the “Bol-
sheviks” and “communists” among the DPs.47 

Stephen Dorril, a historian specializing in the subject of secret services, states that 
the SB killed more than one hundred people in total in West Germany after the 
Second World War, and that it cooperated with the CIA by liquidating individuals 
suspected of communism or of cooperation with the Soviet Union. According to Dor-
ril, the bodies of some of the victims were cremated by the SB and the CIC in the 
Mittenwald DP camp.48 Ukrainian émigré Borys Levyts’kyi, who privately investi-
gated SB crimes in West Germany, estimated the number of the SB’s victims at 
between thirty and forty, some of them his friends.49 In addition, about twenty OUN-
M members were killed by the OUN-B after the war in Bavaria.50 Only a few ZCh 
OUN activists were put on trial, such as the three Ukrainian nationalists who tried to 
kill their political opponent Diomed Gulay, on 15 November 1951 in the Schliessheim 
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DP camp.51 Furthermore, only a few people had the courage to report that their rela-
tives had disappeared.52 

Ukrainians living in the DP camps spoke about OUN torture cellars, in which 
people disappeared.53 In 1962 the western Ukrainian KGB agent Stashyns’kyi, who 
was informed by infiltrators into the ZCh OUN about the criminal side of the ZCh 
OUN, stated to West German investigators that the SB had a bunker close to Munich, 
in which it interrogated, tortured, and “let disappear” Ukrainian émigrés who were 
accused of being traitors or of cooperating with the Soviet Union. Stashyns’kyi said 
that the methods used by the SB were very similar to those he knew from the KGB, 
and that both secret services rendered homage to the slogan “We have no prisons.”54 
The last documented violent act of the OUN was planned to take place in Canada in 
1974, where the OUN, according to the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP), was 
“planning a violent act—possibly the kidnapping of a Soviet diplomat.”55 

In addition to killing opponents, the ZCh OUN intimidated journalists who did 
not write about Bandera and the organization in a way that his followers thought 
appropriate. For example, in an article in the Süddeutsche Zeitung, a reporter named 
Hart described the paramilitary training programs of Bandera and the Banderites in 
Germany.56 After the publication of his article, a “Committee of Ukrainians in Mu-
nich” invited Hart to Dachauerstrasse 9, where the ZCh OUN had its office. The 
journalist went there with two policemen. The committee told Hart that he had pub-
lished incorrect information and that it would sue him for libel. He explained to the 
angry nationalists how they could initiate proceedings. During the meeting, one of 
the policemen perceived “hidden threats in the words and gestures of the 
Ukrainians.”57 

Shukhevych, leader of the UPA and OUN in Ukraine, supported the ZP UHVR 
rather than the ZCh OUN. In September 1947, he wrote a letter to OUN émigrés, 
emphasizing that the UHVR had the right to represent the UPA, while acknowledg-
ing that the UPA had been founded by the OUN-B. He also appealed to the émigrés 
to stop fighting each other and to concentrate on the struggle against the common 
enemy.58 In an announcement on the fifth anniversary of the founding of the UPA in 
October 1947, Shukhevych emphasized once more that the UHVR represented the 
UPA, and he did not mention the ZCh OUN or Bandera.59 
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Bandera’s relationship with the American intelligence agencies began to deteri-
orate in the late 1940s. The CIA changed its attitude to the ZCh OUN because of 
Bandera’s conflict with Lebed’ and the ZP UHVR, which was the main Ukrainian 
partner of the CIA. In 1947 Bandera still believed that a third world war would break 
out no later than 1950. He considered that he needed good relations with the United 
States in order to liberate Ukraine with its help. He also attempted reconciliation 
with Mel’nyk and the OUN-M.60 Bandera met with Mel’nyk in January 1948 and 
apparently later as well. Their discussion in 1948 included some very sensitive mat-
ters, such as the murder of OUN-M members by the OUN-B during and after the 
war. On 10 February 1948, Bandera published an official announcement on this sub-
ject to all OUN members, in which he declared that the OUN-B had never murdered 
any OUN-M members. It is hardly surprising that the OUN-M and OUN-B were 
never reconciled.61 

From 28 to 31 August 1948, the Second Extraordinary Conference of the ZCh 
OUN took place in Mittenwald. The two factions again discussed whether they could 
come to an agreement. Bandera demanded the full subordination of all ZCh OUN 
members, which the “democratic” faction again refused, stressing the supremacy of 
the UHVR. Rebet openly criticized the Führerprinzip and Bandera’s fascination with 
fascism. According to Ievhen Stakhiv, Bandera slammed his fists on the table and 
shouted: “There will be no compromise. Either they subordinate to me or they can 
leave.” After the conference, the individuals from the “democratic” faction officially 
left the ZCh OUN. Their decision was strengthened by an open letter, in which the 
older OUN member Vrets’ona informed Bandera that he might intimidate ZCh OUN 
members and extort full subordination from them, but that he could not do so from 
the ZP UHVR. Bandera again called all Ukrainian emigrants who were not loyal to 
him “traitors” and “communists.” In letters to the leadership of the OUN in Ukraine, 
he described the ZP UHVR as a “sick phenomenon [khoroblyve iavyshche]” that was 
costing him half his energy. After the official split, the ZCh OUN continued to com-
pete with the ZP UHVR, which included the “democratic” faction of the ZCh OUN, 
for the loyalty of the leadership of the OUN and UPA in Ukraine. Contact with the 
nationalist underground in Soviet Ukraine was essential for the collaboration with 
the American, British, and other intelligence services on which the ZCh OUN and the 
ZP UHVR were financially dependent.62 

After the split in August 1948, Bandera even wanted to go to Ukraine in person, 
but his supporters Klymyshyn and Tiushka apparently dissuaded him.63 MI6 refused 
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to parachute Bandera into Ukraine, because it thought that the Soviet Union might 
not interpret this as intelligence gathering but as a political step.64 During the 
competition for the loyalty of the leadership of the OUN-UPA in Ukraine, each fac-
tion sent several members to Soviet western Ukraine. The most important emissary 
from the ZCh OUN was Myron Matviieiko, who was dropped, together with five other 
people, from a plane under the orders of MI6 on the night of 14–15 May 1951. The ZP 
UHVR sent Vasyl’ Okhrymovych with three other people in a CIA plane four days 
later. It seems that only the ZP UHVR succeeded in contacting the leadership in 
Ukraine.65 

The leaders of the OUN and UPA in Ukraine continually appealed to the émigrés 
to stop quarrelling. They confirmed that the ZP UHVR was the main representative 
of the OUN-UPA and claimed that the ZCh OUN should subordinate itself to the 
UHVR, which had been established to represent all Ukrainian nationalist organiza-
tions.66 Neither Shukhevych, nor Kuk, the last leader of the UPA, had much sympa-
thy with the conflicts within the émigré community, with Bandera’s dictatorial and 
terroristic management of the ZCh OUN, or with his sustained fascination with fasc-
ism and authoritarianism.67 

In 1950, in order to end the conflict with the ZP UHVR, Bandera resigned from 
his position as leader of the ZCh OUN. Lenkavs’kyi became the new leader of the ZCh 
OUN, followed, at the Third Conference of the ZCh OUN in Munich in April 1951, by 
Stets’ko.68 On 22 August 1952, Bandera also resigned as leader of the entire OUN but, 
after he realized that his resignation did not improve matters between the ZCh OUN 
and the ZP UHVR, he decided to resume the leadership of both the OUN and the ZCh 
OUN. The ZCh OUN and the ZP UHVR continued to compete bitterly for the loyalty 
of the OUN-UPA leadership in Ukraine, until the last Ukrainian nationalist insur-
gents were killed by the Soviet authorities.69 

In 1953 the Fourth Conference of the ZCh OUN took place in London. It was de-
cided at this conference that the OUN leadership in Ukraine had the decisive word in 
the conflict between the ZCh OUN and the ZP UHVR. Bandera was sure that the 
conflict would be resolved in his favor because Matviieiko, who in the meantime had 
been caught by the MGB and was working for them, sent him a telegram that con-
firmed Bandera’s supremacy in the OUN. However, the ZP UHVR received also a 
radiogram from Vasyl’ Kuk, in which Bandera was blamed for not applying the reso-
lutions of the Third Extraordinary Grand Assembly of the OUN-B in August 1943. 
After the receipt of these two communications, a committee—consisting of Lev 
Rebet, Zinovii Matla, and Stepan Bandera—was appointed as the leadership of the 
OUN. Bandera agreed to this but announced a week later that the radiogram from 
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Kuk to the ZP UHVR was a Soviet falsification. After this incident, Rebet and Matla 
established the OUN-abroad (OUN-za kordonom, OUN-z), with Rebet as its leader. 
Lebed’, on the other hand, had lived in the United States since 1949, where he 
headed the CIA-controlled Cold War propaganda-for-profit enterprise Prolog Re-
search Cooperation, which published newspapers, booklets, and books, and prepared 
radio programs for Ukraine, the Ukrainian émigré communities, and eventually 
other countries behind the Iron Curtain.70 

Because the Rebet-Matla faction had taken over the newspaper Ukraїns’kyi sa-
mostiinyk, the ZCh OUN opened its own newspaper Shliakh peremohy in 1954, 
which was printed in the new publishing house Cicero at Zeppelinstrasse 67, Mun-
ich.71 The conflict between the two factions was so vicious that in February 1954 the 
Munich police had to intervene. The Rebet faction reported to the police that after 
Bandera had lost the publishing house of Ukraїns’kyi samostiinyk, he sent his people 
to destroy some of the Rebet faction’s printing facilities. When preparing to oppose 
the operation, the police assumed that the angry Banderites might be armed.72 

The conflict between the two factions remained virulent until the very end of their 
existence and was to some extent inflamed by the KGB. The OUN-z was permanently 
afraid of the ZCh OUN, which referred to the OUN-z as “communists,” “traitors,” and 
“democrats.” The visit of Volodymyr Kurovets’ to Munich illustrates the climate of 
the time. Kurovets’ arrived in Munich from England on 7 January 1956. He visited 
Pidhainyi and celebrated the Greek Catholic Christmas with him. Kurovets’ had be-
longed to the ZCh OUN until 1953 and had worked as a courier between Munich and 
western Ukraine, which suggests that he might have been turned by the KGB. Pid-
hainyi had been close to Bandera for a long time. Like Bandera, he was sentenced to 
life imprisonment at the Warsaw trial and was with Bandera in prison. He left the 
ZCh OUN in 1952. In Munich on 8 January 1956, Kurovets’ told Pidhainyi that he 
would go to the ZCh OUN office the next day, to celebrate Stepan Bandera’s name 
day. On 9 January, he left Pidhainyi’s apartment and disappeared. Pidhainyi imme-
diately presumed that the ZCh OUN had killed Kurovets’. As the ZCh OUN could not 
explain what had happened to his friend, Pidhainyi went to the Munich police and 
reported his disappearance.73 But Bandera had an alibi: he had not been in Munich 
from 8 to 10 January but in the Tyrol with his family.74 The police could not solve the 
disappearance of Kurovets’, just as it could not solve the mysterious disappearance of 
many other Ukrainian emigrants.75 

The ZCh OUN was attacked several times by other émigré organizations and by 
the intelligence services of the Eastern bloc. On the night of 6–7 March 1957 an in-
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truder broke into the office of the ZCh OUN and searched for documents.76 Although 
the police suspected Stefan Lippolz (Liebholz), a KGB agent who infiltrated the 
Ukrainian nationalists in Munich, they could not prove this.77 On 18 April 1958, the 
ZCh OUN received a parcel containing explosive materials, which was intended as a 
threat and not to kill, although the explosion was strong enough to blacken the per-
son who opened the parcel. The ZCh OUN most likely received it from the KGB 
rather than from the National Alliance of Russian Solidarists (Natsional’no Trudovoi 
Soiuz, NTS), a radical-right Russian émigré organization with which the ZCh OUN 
was in conflict, and which also received parcels containing explosive materials.78 In 
July 1958, people living close to the office of the ZCh OUN at Zeppelinstrasse 67 
received letters from a “Group of Ukrainian Emigrants,” accusing Bandera and other 
members of his organizations of killing several people named in the letters and of 
committing other crimes. One ZCh OUN member was accused of raping a female 
who lived in the building in which the ZCh OUN had its office.79 In a letter sent to the 
police on 2 June 1958, Bandera’s people were accused of raping German women and 
poisoning Rebet.80 The police investigated the allegation of rape and determined that 
it was unfounded. They concluded that the letter had been prepared in the intelli-
gence office in Karlshorst in East Berlin, and they closed the investigation of Bandera 
and the ZCh OUN.81 

Bandera and Western Intelligence Services 

As early as 1945, American military intelligence had helped Bandera to establish an 
intelligence school. It was located a few kilometers from Munich, apparently in the 
Mittenwald DP camp. Courses in “infiltration into installations, explosives, codes, 
ciphers, courier systems, organizing of informant nets, etc.” were taught there.82 Also 
in 1945, the MGB began to “turn” ZCh OUN operatives. Demyd Chyzhevs’kyi and 
Iaroslav Moroz, two of the first ZCh OUN members who were sent to Ukraine in 1946 
and 1947 as couriers, came back to Germany as Soviet agents. Chyzhevs’kyi’s task 
was to split the OUN, and Moroz’s to kill Bandera, Stets’ko, Lebed’, and Hryn’okh.83 

In 1947 or 1948, Bandera ordered UPA commander Petro Mykolenko-Baida, who 
had come with a UPA unit from Ukraine to Bavaria and was living in a DP camp in 
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Regensburg, to organize a Ukrainian partisan movement in the forests of Bavaria. 
This idea surprised Mykolenko-Baida, who believed that a partisan movement could 
be established only in Ukraine. Nevertheless, following Bandera’s order, Baida and a 
few other OUN-UPA members, recruited several Ukrainians from the DP camps, for 
training in the Bavarian forests. During the course of this training, Bandera informed 
the recruits that they would go back to the Soviet Union and fight for an independent 
Ukraine. The same recruits later attended espionage courses in the Mittenwald DP 
camp and were sent to the Soviet Union.84 

Bandera’s insistence on dominating the OUN as its sole leader, and his wish to 
retain the fascist structure of the OUN-B in the ZCh OUN, which led to fierce con-
flicts with other Ukrainian organizations, caused his relationship with American 
intelligence to deteriorate. The CIA preferred to cooperate with Lebed’ and the ZP 
UHVR, because it regarded them as more professional, efficient, and reliable than 
Bandera and the ZCh OUN. In 1951 a CIA agent infiltrated the ZCh OUN. At about 
the same time, when Bandera tried to penetrate the CIA with his agents, the CIA 
concluded that Bandera had become “anti-American” and put an end to its co-
operation with him.85 

MI6 had trained Bandera’s agents in Munich and London and had parachuted 
them into western Ukraine since 1949. The CIA did the same with ZP UHVR people 
and warned MI6 that Bandera had no support from the OUN leadership in Ukraine. 
This, however, did not convince MI6, which claimed that the CIA underestimated the 
importance of the leader of the “strongest Ukrainian organization abroad.”86 MI6 
perceived Bandera as “a professional underground worker with a terrorist back-
ground and ruthless notions about the rules of the game. … A banditry type if you 
like, with a burning patriotism, which provides an ethical background and a justifi-
cation for his banditry. No better and no worse than others of his kind.”87 

Several ZCh OUN agents were trained in MI6 facilities in London. At a course in 
April 1951, Bandera taught the recruits that Britain and the United States would soon 
attack the Soviet Union and help Ukraine gain independence. Stets’ko taught them 
about the ABN, and Lenkavs’kyi instructed them about the activities of the OUN in 
exile. The agents were to be flown to Malta, from where the plane to Ukraine was to 
take off. One day before the flight, Bandera, Stets’ko, and Lenkavs’kyi bid farewell to 
the agents and reminded them to establish contact with the OUN in Ukraine. In 
Malta, Pidhainyi, the main connection between the ZCh OUN and MI6, gave the 
agents capsules of potassium cyanide to take if they were arrested by the Soviet au-
thorities. The poison was handed to the agents on the initiative of the ZCh OUN. The 
agents were equipped with a rifle, two pistols, forged Soviet documents, and radios 
with which they were to establish contact with London and Munich.88 
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The ZCh OUN was so badly infiltrated that the group accompanying Matviieiko 
included an MGB agent by the name of “Slavko.” Matviieiko was captured on 6 June 
1951, three weeks after his parachuting. By the end of June, he had switched sides 
and agreed to work for the MGB. The ZP UHVR member Okhrymovych, who was 
parachuted into Ukraine four days after Matviieiko, was caught on 6 October 1952. 
From both of them the MGB obtained crucial information about the ZP UHVR and 
the ZCh OUN in Munich. Okhrymovych refused to cooperate and was executed on 19 
May 1954. Matviieiko, head of the SB of the ZCh OUN however, began his second 
career as an intelligence officer—with the MGB. He soon became an important agent 
with whose help the MGB liquidated the last OUN-UPA troops in Ukraine. He also 
deceived the ZCh OUN for several years by sending fake radio telegrams. On 19 June 
1958, the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of the Ukrainian SSR forgave Matviieiko 
all his offences.89  

Between 1949 and 1954, a total of seventy-five ZCh OUN and ZP UHVR agents 
were parachuted into Ukraine. With Czech wartime pilots at the controls, the planes 
evaded Soviet radar screens by flying at 200 feet (61 meters) across the Soviet border 
and climbing at the last moment to 500 feet (152 meters), the minimum height for a 
safe parachute drop. In May 1952, one group was sent by submarine. In 1953 two 
groups used hot-air balloons that lifted from British and West German ships close to 
the Polish coast. Other groups tried to reach Ukraine on foot. Ukrainian MI6 and CIA 
agents did not realize that very few of their missions could meet with success, be-
cause of infiltration by Soviet intelligence. In particular, the ZCh OUN was heavily 
infiltrated. In 1948 Leon Łapiński alias “Zenon,” director of OUN SB in the Lublin 
region of south-east Poland, began to work for the Polish Department of Security 
(Urząd Bezpieczeństwa, UB) and the Soviet MGB. The two intelligence services 
launched a joint operation, “C1,” which lasted until 1954. With the help of “Zenon” 
the UB built up an entirely fictitious network of OUN members. In late 1948 and 
early 1949, “Zenon” established contact with the ZCh OUN in Munich. Thereafter, 
the UB controlled the ZCh OUN agents and couriers who went through Poland to 
western Ukraine. The UB also established its agents in West Germany. In addition, 
MI6 agent and Soviet spy Kim Philby, among others, kept Soviet intelligence in-
formed about the parachuting of ZCh OUN agents. Bohdan Pidhainyi, who was 
responsible in the ZCh OUN for the connection between Munich and Ukraine, rea-
lized in 1952 that the agent network of the ZCh OUN was entirely controlled by the 
UB and MGB. He left the ZCh OUN and joined the ZP UHVR, which was also com-
promised. Only in 1955 did the leadership of the ZCh OUN recognize and admit that 
their agent networks in West Germany and Vienna were deeply infiltrated.90 
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MI6 realized that the ZCh OUN was heavily infiltrated and that its rival, the ZP 
UHVR, controlled the “entire Ukrainian liberation movement in Ukraine,” in 1953. 
At this time, American and British officials tried to reconcile Bandera with Lebed’, 
but Bandera opposed these attempts. In February 1954, MI6 ended its cooperation 
with Bandera, ceased to train agents loyal to him, and informed Lebed’ that it “would 
not resume [its] relationship with Bandera under any circumstances.”91 Bandera then 
tried to establish his own intelligence service, which he financed in part with 
counterfeit money. The ZCh OUN had been forging American dollars since 1948. As a 
result, several of Bandera’s couriers were arrested. Matviieiko and his wife had to 
hide in France from the American authorities, for almost a year.92 

For the purpose of training its own agents, the ZCh OUN even bought a farm. 
Stets’ko, however, tried to dissuade Bandera from training teams and sending them 
to Ukraine. He argued that they would be captured by the MGB, but Bandera contin-
ued these operations because he believed that they strengthened the reputation of 
the ZCh OUN. Otherwise, Bandera thought, the ZCh OUN would become merely an 
émigré organization without connections to its country and would cease to be of 
interest to the intelligence services that financed it.93 In general however, Bandera 
was much less successful with intelligence work than he was as the symbol of Ukrai-
nian nationalism. In 1957 the CIA and MI6 concluded that all the agents Bandera had 
sent to Ukraine were under Soviet control. The CIA and MI6 wanted to “silence” 
Bandera because his unprofessional intelligence work only disturbed their plans for 
the Soviet Union. At the same time, they tried to prevent Soviet intelligence from 
kidnapping or killing the legendary Ukrainian Providnyk, which would have turned 
him into a martyr.94 

After MI6 ceased to cooperate with Bandera, the ZCh OUN leader began to search 
for new sponsors and alliances. In 1955 Bandera and Stets’ko went to Paris, to nego-
tiate with French intelligence. There is no evidence that they were successful, even 
though the OUN had cooperated with French intelligence in 1946.95 After MI6, no 
other intelligence service parachuted Bandera’s people into Ukraine, but sponsorship 
of the ZCh OUN and other Ukrainian émigré groups by secret services continued. For 
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example, the Belgian and very likely the Canadian intelligence services sponsored 
nationalist anti-Soviet propaganda through particular newspapers and radio 
stations.96 

In 1956 the Italian Military Intelligence (Servizio Informazioni Forze Armate, 
SIFAR) sponsored Bandera for a short time, apparently not realizing that all Ban-
dera’s connections to Ukraine were infiltrated. The only intelligence service that did 
not cease to support Bandera was the German BND.97 Bandera’s personal contact in 
the BND was Heinz-Danko Herre, who, during the Second World War, had been 
Chief of Staff of Vlasov’s ROA, and Gehlen’s deputy in FHO, German Military Intelli-
gence on the Eastern Front. 

Although the CIA and MI6 informed the BND that the ZCh OUN had been infil-
trated by the Soviet intelligence and had no contact with Ukraine, Herre did not 
change his attitude toward Bandera. In April 1959, when Bandera again asked the 
BND for support, Herre simply pointed to Bandera’s popularity and to the continuity 
between the BND and the pre-war Abwehr: “Bandera has been known to us for about 
twenty years. … Within and without Germany he has over half a million followers.”98 
Herre believed that Bandera supplied him with “good reports on the Soviet Union.” 
“Due to political overtones,” he did not inform the West German government about 
the cooperation with Bandera, and kept it secret even within the BND.99 

Bandera also maintained contacts with Franco’s post-fascist regime in Spain. 
Vasyl’ Sushko, Bandera’s guard and close friend, pointed out that, of all the countries 
in the world, it was with Franco’s Spain that the ZCh OUN had the best relationship, 
where Stets’ko was still treated as the prime minister of Ukraine.100 In 1950 Bishop 
Buchko went to Spain and met with Franco on Bandera’s behalf. Buchko persuaded 
Franco to admit UPA partisans and Waffen-SS Galizien veterans to his military acad-
emy. Later that year, the Providnyk and Stets’ko went together to Madrid to discuss 
this and related questions, in person with the Caudillo. One result of this cooperation 
was the institution of Ukrainian nationalist broadcasting from Madrid, three times a 
week.101 In 1956 Franco invited Bandera to settle in Spain, where, after the Second 
World War, several other far-right leaders from various countries, such as Ante 
Pavelić and Juan Perón, found shelter. Bandera considered this generous proposal 
while visiting Spain again and taking a closer look at the country. In the end, how-
ever, he did not accept the offer, probably because his organization was deeply 
entrenched in Munich.102 

Contact with the Spanish leader led to a dispute between the Providnyk and 
Stets’ko’, who had been “premier” of the OUN-B “government” in 1941. Bandera was 
jealous of Stets’ko’s excellent relationship with the Caudillo. Together with Bandera’s 
unlimited appetite for power, this led to conflict with his closest ally. Stets’ko’ always 
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regarded Bandera as his Providnyk and obeyed him in accordance with his political 
beliefs. Democracy was for Stets’ko as great an evil as it was for Bandera. They both 
believed that only a national revolutionary power could combat the totalitarian 
Soviet Union. They cooperated with democratic states like the United Kingdom and 
the United States for pragmatic and strategic reasons, and not because they believed 
in or valued democracy. The ABN, headed by Stets’ko, was financially dependent on 
Bandera’s ZCh OUN. In 1955 Bandera decided that he would finance only half the 
ABN’s costs (DM 100,000 per year). This step forced Stets’ko to dismiss personnel 
and to look for funds elsewhere. Bandera stated that he had cut funding because he 
believed that other nations represented in the ABN should cover the other half of the 
ABN’s expenses, but his move also had psychological ramifications and was related 
to Stets’ko’s political prestige in international far-right circles. In particular, 
Stets’ko’s pilgrimage to Franco and a visit to Chiang Kai-shek in Taiwan in 1955–
1956 made Bandera envious.103 

In addition to protection by the intelligence services, Bandera was protected by 
other institutions in Germany and by networks of former Nazis. In 1956 the Bavarian 
state government considered proceedings against Bandera in connection with such 
illegal activities as kidnapping, murder, and counterfeiting money. Early that year, 
the Munich police interrogated Bandera about the confusion surrounding his name, 
the disappearance of Kurovets’, and related questions. However, Bandera was, at that 
time, protected by the West German official Gerhard von Mende, of the Office for 
Displaced Persons (Büro für heimatvertriebene Ausländer). During the Second 
World War, von Mende had headed the section for the Caucasus and Turkistan in 
Alfred Rosenberg’s Ostministerium, recruiting Soviet Muslims from Central Asia to 
fight against the Soviet Union. He occasionally acted as liaison between the Germans 
and the Ukrainian nationalists. After the war, von Mende cooperated with American 
intelligence and was associated with former Nazi officials, several of whom occupied 
influential positions. One of them, Theodor Oberländer, even served in Adenauer’s 
government between 1953 and 1960, as the federal minister for displaced persons, 
refugees, and war victims. On behalf of Bandera, von Mende interceded with the 
Bavarian government in 1956 and earlier, in respect of residence permits and other 
matters. As a result of such interventions, some police files concerning Bandera were 
closed.104 
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After the Second World War, Bandera visited Ukrainian communities in Austria, 
Belgium, Canada, the United Kingdom, Holland, and Italy.105 In Canada, Bandera 
probably visited the main pre-war ideologue of Ukrainian nationalism, Dmytro 
Dontsov, who had been teaching Ukrainian literature at the Université de 
Montréal.106 In 1953 Bandera invited Dontsov to become the editor of a ZCh OUN 
newspaper. Dontsov turned down the offer, as he had done before the war in a 
similar case.107 The only country that Bandera attempted to visit, but to which he was 
never admitted, was the United States. In his visa application from 1955, Bandera 
asserted that he wanted to visit his family, but the American officials did not trust 
him: “Bandera and his organization are widely disliked by émigrés of many 
persuasions and nationalities. It is believed that Bandera wishes to come to this 
country to conduct political agitation against legitimate political organizations with 
ties with Ukrainian groups abroad, which the Agency supports [like the ZP UHVR] or 
upon which it looks with favor.”108 Bandera’s applications were rejected until October 
1959. Only shortly before his assassination, the officials in Munich recommended 
that he be granted a visa.109 He never made the trip, but his speeches were recorded, 
and sent to the United States, where Bandera adherents listened to them at 
gatherings.110 

Bandera’s Private Life 

It is difficult to provide an accurate description of Bandera’s private life after the 
Second World War because memoirs and testimonies, of people who were related to 
him, worked for him, or were his friends, differ substantially from each other and 
leave a very ambiguous impression. This is caused, on the one hand, by the ideologi-
zation of perception and memory, especially by people such as Iaroslava Stets’ko and 
Vasyl’ Sushko, for whom Bandera was the Providnyk and a hero. On the other hand, 
Bandera’s inconsistent character and personality left different impressions on differ-
ent people. Bandera was a loving father who could tenderly play with his children but 
then hit them if they did something against his wishes, such as going to a festival at 
which folklore groups from the Soviet Union danced or sang. In public, he appeared 
to be a good husband especially when he was among his friends, but he could hit his 
wife Iaroslava when he was angry with her. He apparently did not abuse alcohol and 
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remained very religious, although he had some extra-marital affairs. In addition to 
the Greek Catholic church, he sometimes attended a German Catholic one.111 

Bandera’s private life was known to his SB bodyguards, such as Matviieiko, 
Kashuba, and Shushko, who spent much time with Bandera while protecting him and 
his family. From Matviieiko’s and Kashuba’s statements, we know that the 
Providnyk used his position and sometimes his “charisma” for private purposes. 
When Matviieiko was interrogated by the MGB, he might have exaggerated in his 
descriptions of Bandera’s private life, but Kashuba did not have any reason to 
manipulate his evidence. Matviieiko’s and Kashuba’s statements about Bandera 
overlap on his obsession with women and on his extramarital affairs. According to 
Matviieiko, Bandera proposed an affair to Ievhen Harabach’s wife Maria Metsyk, 
who looked fifteen years younger than Bandera’s wife Iaroslava. Harabach 
overlooked the affair because, as the financial officer in the ZCh OUN, he was 
involved in fraud relating to the organization’s funds. This allowed Bandera to 
intimidate him and to demand that he ignore the adulterous relationship with his 
wife. Bandera also tried to develop a sexual relationship with a female servant, who 
was subsequently dismissed by his wife.112 According to Kashuba, Bandera also had 
an affair with the “German female au pair” of a “Jewish family” in the house where he 
lived in Munich after 1954. The affair was known to Iaroslava, who was frequently 
angry with her husband.113 

Two more children were born to Bandera after the war. The first was a son born 
on 16 May 1946 in Munich and registered under the name Andrii Popel, and the 
second was a daughter born on 27 August 1947 in Regensburg and registered as 
Alexandra Popel.114 When Bandera’s wife went to hospital for the birth of their third 
child, Lesia, the wife of one of Bandera’s security guards, Mykhailo Banias, took care 
of Bandera’s children. According to Matviieiko, Bandera tried to rape her during the 
night. When her husband noticed traces of violence on his wife’s body in the morning 
and learned from her what had happened, he became so angry that, at first, he 
wanted to shoot Bandera. Finally he decided to report the matter to his superior, 
Matviieiko, head of the SB. After this incident, Banias ceased to work for the SB.115 

According to Matviieiko, although Iaroslava loved Stepan, he frequently hit and 
kicked her. He even kicked her in the belly when she was pregnant. In general, 
Iaroslava was unhappy with her marriage after 1945. She probably stayed with Ste-
pan because she had no other choice and was intimidated by him. Some of Bandera’s  
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Fig. 24. Bandera 1958. Posivnych, Stepan Bandera—zhyttia, prysviachene svobodi, 5. 

friends did not like to visit the family.116 Bandera was sometimes rude to and severe 
with his three children. He hit them, and forbade them to participate in events in 
which Russian, Polish, or Jewish children participated.117 Several people refused to 
work with Bandera on account of his difficult character. His attitude to his wife also 
repelled people.118 

Although the American and British intelligence services protected Bandera after 
the war, his way of life was determined by the danger of being killed or kidnapped by 
Soviet intelligence. Bandera and his family had to hide when the MGB or KGB were 
looking for them. His children grew up with the family name Popel and were not 
aware of their real family name until the death of their father.119 Details concerning 
his financial status are not known, but he presumably had at his disposal a consider-
able amount of money, received from the intelligence services and from OUN mem-
bers living around the world, who sponsored his fight against the “red devil.” In ad-
dition Bandera counterfeited American dollars, and received non-monetary gifts 
from the intelligence services. In 1950, for example, MI6 presented him with a new 
car on St. Nicolas Day. All this allowed him to lead quite a comfortable life.120 
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Photographs of Bandera’s private life reveal that he appeared in public as a good 
and loving father and husband.121 This image is strengthened by the memoirs of 
people such as Iaroslava Stets’ko and Vasyl’ Sushko. Yet for Stets’ko, Bandera was 
the Providnyk and “such a great person that it is not easy to talk about him.” Al-
though Iaroslava Stets’ko’s memories are structured in a clearly propagandist way to 
“praise the wisdom and strength” of her Providnyk, they have to be considered in 
this brief analysis of Bandera’s personality. They show us, on the one hand, how 
Bandera’s admirers perceived him and, on the other hand, how he might have be-
haved in the presence of his followers and friends. According to Stets’ko, Bandera 
was a very good father who took care of his family and friends. He liked to laugh and 
frequently joked. One of his hobbies was developing photographs. Others were hik-
ing and skiing.122 

After his death, Bandera’s widow Iaroslava stated that he had loved his children 
very much, and that his children had loved him. “Although I was often mournful and 
sad at home, my husband was very fun-loving,” she stated. “He could play with our 
children as a child.” He was empathetic toward people from his organization. The 
sickness of an employee could make him sad.123 Dmytro Myskiv, who was close to 
Bandera’s family and spent weekends and holidays with them from about 1954, also 
remembered that Bandera had a good relationship with his children and wife, and 
that he was very religious. On Sundays, they always went to church and only after-
wards, out for a trip.124 

The memoirs of Vasyl’ Sushko, one of Bandera’s security guards, are interesting 
but also problematic. Like Stets’ko, Sushko regarded Bandera as his Providnyk, a 
hero, and a father figure. His memoirs therefore lack information that would contra-
dict his image of the Providnyk. Sushko went as far as to claim that Bandera res-
pected his political opponents, omitting the fact that Bandera had ordered several of 
them to be assassinated. Yet despite the ideological nature of Sushko’s memoirs, they 
do complement the picture of Bandera’s private life. According to Sushko, Bandera 
liked to exercise and encouraged his friends and employees to do so, because he 
wanted to have a strong and healthy organization. He enjoyed swimming, skiing, and 
jogging. While exercising with Sushko, Bandera made comments like, “Vasyl’, we 
have to be healthy because Ukraine needs people with healthy bodies and spirits.” 
Like Stets’ko, Sushko also claimed that Bandera was a good father and had a harmo-
nious family life. However, he substantiated this claim with observations that Ban-
dera gave his daughter Natalia flowers on her birthday, because Iaroslava refused to 
celebrate it. Sushko wrote that he and Bandera stayed in a hotel only once during 
their business trips. They usually slept either in a tent or in the apartment of an OUN 
member, in order to save organizational funds.125 

After Bandera’s assassination, Iaroslava and her three children moved to Toronto. 
This was made possible by the financial help of the ZCh OUN, which opened a fund 
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to provide support and bought a house for the family in Toronto. Natalka Bandera 
married OUN-B member Andrii Kutsan and lived with him from 1970 until her death 
in Munich in 1985.126 Bandera’s sisters Marta and Oksana had been deported in 1942 
to Krasnoyarsk Krai, where they lived and worked on several collective farms. 
Volodymyra was arrested, sentenced to ten years detention and banishment, and was 
deported to Kazakhstan in 1946. According to the MGB, they received financial help 
from the OUN-UPA underground. After Stalin’s death in 1953, they were taken to 
Moscow for two months. According to Arsenych, the MGB proposed that they could 
remain in Moscow if they would appeal on the radio for OUN-UPA partisans to 
emerge from the underground. The sisters apparently refused and were returned to 
where they had lived before coming to Moscow. Volodymyra was released and re-
turned to Ukraine in 1956. Marta and Oksana were officially released in 1960 but 
were not allowed to return to Ukraine. They were made to work at jobs such as house 
building, woodcutting, and labor in kolkhozes. They were moved from one place to 
another, apparently every two or three months. Marta died in 1982 in Krasnoyarsk 
Krai, and Oksana returned to Ukraine in August 1989 to her sister Volodymyra, but 
was allowed to stay permanently in Ukraine only in 1991, after the collapse of the 
Soviet Union.127 

Bandera’s Worldview after the Second World War 

After the Second World War, Bandera published a range of articles. He also gave 
several interviews, which were broadcast or were published in newspapers. After his 
death, his articles and interviews were collected and republished by the ZCh OUN.128 
While awaiting the third world war and continuing to work on the Ukrainian national 
revolution, Bandera visited Ukrainian communities in Austria, Belgium, Canada, 
England, the Netherlands, Italy, and Spain. During his visits, Bandera made 
speeches, in which he encouraged Ukrainian émigrés not to give up the fight against 
the Soviet Union, to support the “Ukrainian liberation movement,” and not to stop 
“fighting for freedom.” In all his articles, interviews, and speeches, Bandera either 
ignored or denied the atrocities the OUN-B and the UPA had committed during and 
after the Second World War. He wrote his articles in solemn, monotonous, pathetic 
language, which resembled the writings of Soviet officials, although he used vocab-
ulary typical of far-right thinkers. His main subjects were “liberation” and the 
“struggle for independence.” All other matters, including the well-being of entire 
nations or the human dignity, were subordinated to these “noble” concepts. 

Bandera’s early post-war writing did not differ much from the OUN-B ideology of 
1940 and 1941, when he essentially shaped the line of the OUN-B’s convictions. After 
the war Bandera avoided several words and expressions popular in 1941, but he 
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propagated similar values to those of 1941, such as the cult of war, and heroic death. 
As before the German attack on the Soviet Union, he wanted to control and use the 
masses to achieve his nationalist ends. In a letter to Shukhevych in November 1945, 
Bandera wrote: “Our struggle is first of all a struggle for the soul of the human being, 
for the masses, for access to them and influence over them.”129 

Bandera’s first postwar article appeared in January 1946 under the pseudonym S. 
Siryi, in the newspaper Vyzvol’na polityka. In this article Bandera expressed his wish 
to continue the revolution that had failed in summer 1941, but he used different 
rhetoric to describe his plans. In particular, he avoided antisemitic and fascist 
phrases but maintained the ultranationalist far-right core of his argument. As in the 
letter to Shukhevych in November 1945, Bandera concentrated on the question of 
mobilizing the masses. He regarded them as a weapon, a tool to achieve his sacred 
aim: “In our fight, the mass is an important factor; as a conglomeration of individu-
als, we incorporate and unite it.”130 

In an article “To the Principles of Our Liberation Policy” from November 1946, 
Bandera returned to the idea of the “Ukrainian National Revolution” from 1941. He 
began by announcing: “The Ukrainian national revolution is the struggle for the life 
and liberty of the nation and the individual.” Unlike in 1941, he did not identify Jews 
and Poles as enemies, because they had been killed during the war or resettled after-
wards and had thus ceased to be a problem for him and other nationalists. He also 
changed the tone or adjusted it to the early Cold War situation, replacing the 1941 
notion of “Jewish Bolshevism” with “Russian Bolshevik imperialism” but left the 
ultranationalist and populist core of his argumentation unchanged: “Russian Bolshe-
vik imperialism … tries to rule the whole world and, with this aim, it subordinates, 
exploits, and causes the deterioration of nations and individuals.”131 

Bolshevism and communism were, for Bandera, the same as Russian imperialism 
and nationalism: “The Russian nation tied its fate to Bolshevism. Decisive for it was 
Russian imperialism, which went into the blood of the whole Russian nation and the 
sympathy for Bolshevism.”132 He wrote in another article: “Communism—this is the 
most important form of hidden Moscow imperialism.”133 Bandera’s desire to conduct 
a revolution against the Soviet Union, together with other nationalist movements, 
goes back to the 1940–1941 concept of a multi-nationalist revolution, in which the 
OUN-B had planned to involve many other far-right movements rooted in other 
Soviet republics. In 1946 Bandera wrote: “We put an equals sign between the Ukrai-
nian revolution and the liberation of all nations oppressed by Bolshevism.”134 For this 
purpose, the ZCh OUN wanted to mobilize the masses not only in Ukraine but also in 
other republics of the Soviet Union. The multi-nationalist revolution would begin 
“when in the consciousness of the masses of all [revolutionary] nations occurs the 
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understanding for the idea that the struggle of every nation is our common 
struggle.”135 

In a paper, “A Word to The Ukrainian Nationalists-Revolutionaries Abroad,” 
which was intended to be distributed in 1948 in western Ukraine as a brochure, Ban-
dera explicitly denied that the OUN-B had any sympathy for Nazi Germany in 1941: 

Some reproach [the OUN-B] for using phrases and gestures in a sympathetic tone 
toward Germany in the act of 30 June 1941. In this matter, it is time to state some 
open words because our truth is unambiguous and clear and we should stop the 
erroneous labeling of reality. We always stress the independence of Ukrainian 
policy, which concentrates only on the Ukrainian matter and not flirtation (an in-
effective one!) with foreign powers.136 

In the same article, Bandera omitted several other facts that could have compro-
mised the movement. He did not mention that Stets’ko sent letters in 1941 to the 
leaders of the European fascist states, or that the OUN-B wanted its state to become 
a part of the “New Europe,” although he admitted that the interests of the OUN-B 
coincided with those of Germany. His apologetic narrative concealed the fact that in 
1941 the Ukrainian nationalists resembled the Nazis in many essential matters, such 
as their common interest in the annihilation of the Jews in Ukraine, whom both 
groups saw as communists, parasites, and an alien race.137 In the same piece Bandera 
encouraged the Ukrainian insurgents to persist in fighting, and ordinary Ukrainians 
to continue sacrificing their lives: “In all parts of the national struggle, in all its 
forms, the Ukrainian nation established hecatombs of victims, of its best children. 
But not in vain. They all [the sacrificed Ukrainians] protect the spirit of the Ukrai-
nian nation.”138 He encouraged them to fight and die, despite the fact that the OUN-
UPA could not win against the Soviet Union, being much weaker, unable to produce 
any weapons or equipment, having no hospitals, and so forth. This indicates that the 
Providnyk did not respect human life and regarded the people living in Ukraine as a 
means to achieve his sacred aims. 

After 1945 Bandera developed two ways of using the term “democracy.” On the 
one hand, he claimed that democracy was a betrayal of Ukrainian nationalism. His 
opponents from the ZP UHVR and the OUN-z were for him communists and Bolshe-
viks, because they claimed to be democrats. The statements of the Lebed’ group, 
OUN-z, and the ZP UHVR, that they were democratic and anti-totalitarian, angered 
Bandera. This was for him an “expression of socio-political primitivism and the ego-
ism of a clique.”139 Democracy was for Bandera a betrayal of his sacred revolutionary 
and nationalist ideals. It blurred the boundaries between communism and national-
ism and was therefore a Bolshevik provocation. On the other hand, he felt resentful if 
someone from outside the organization called the ZCh OUN undemocratic. Then he 
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argued that only “opponents of the Ukrainian national movement” would state that 
the ZCh OUN was undemocratic, totalitarian, or fascist.140 

It was clear to Bandera that there was nothing wrong with the ultranationalist 
and criminal nature of the OUN and UPA. He believed that only such a movement 
could fight effectively against the Soviet Union. Therefore, people who demanded 
“democratization” of the OUN and UPA were traitors and communists.141 In a similar 
spirit Bandera protested against the “international boycott” of Spain and Franco. He 
claimed that reproaching Franco was a gesture of Bolshevism, not democracy. In 
short, Bandera never had a problem recognizing the totalitarian nature of the Soviet 
Union but found it difficult to criticize states such as Fascist Italy, Nazi Germany, or 
Franco’s Spain. For Bandera, fascism and far-right authoritarianism were legitimate 
state systems, superior to democracy because they were more distanced from com-
munism than democracy was. Nazi Germany was not evil because it had annihilated 
European Jewry and killed millions of other civilians, but because it was imperialistic 
and did not allow the OUN-B to establish a Ukrainian state.142 

Materialism, which Bandera saw as the “product of a completely alien foreign spi-
rit,” was no less an evil for him than communism or democracy. According to Ban-
dera, “the materialistic world view was introduced in Ukrainian life, partly by foreign 
colonization of Ukraine, and partly by socialism.” It was introduced in Ukraine by 
communists “to destroy the soul, entity, and idiosyncrasy of the Ukrainian people, to 
turn the Ukrainian nation and the Ukrainian individual into a subservient object that 
accommodates Moscow’s goals.”143 

In the spirit of Dontsov, Bandera placed emphasis in his writings on the power of 
ideology and “Ukrainian power of liberation.”144 For him, the ideology of Ukrainian 
nationalism was closely related to God and religion: “Huge, clear idea of Ukrainian 
nation, the struggle for the freedom of Ukraine and for God’s Truth in the Ukrainian 
territory—this is the inexhaustible source of power of our movement. … God sancti-
fies and supports our struggle for the truth against Satan’s red kingdom.”145 

Bandera’s concept of nation was based on ontology and racial theory. He not only 
repeatedly stressed the “idiosyncrasy of the Ukrainian nation” but regarded it as an 
organism or human being. He believed that the destruction of communism and the 
foundation of a Ukrainian state would enable its citizens to develop “their own social 
order, adequate to the whole Ukrainian nation’s needs and wishes, which would 
guarantee the Ukrainian nation the best development, and all citizens of Ukraine 
unmeasured liberty, justice, and wealth.”146 

Bandera’s critique of the Soviet Union had not only an ideological and propa-
gandistic but also a ritualistic character. He repeated the same or slightly modified 
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anti-Soviet phrases over and over again. In his propagandist crusades against the 
Soviet Union Bandera was certainly correct in condemning its totalitarian character, 
but the deeply antidemocratic nature of his critique did not allow him to articulate 
that the Soviet Union was a totalitarian state that arrested, deported, and killed mil-
lions of innocent people and continually violated human rights. Instead, like a Greek 
Catholic priest, he divided the universe into good and bad, or black and white. Com-
munism, the Soviet Union, the Communist Party, Soviet ideology, materialism, and 
the Soviet people were on the dark side. The revolutionary Ukrainian nationalism, its 
followers, and other forms of radical right activism that could destroy the Soviet 
Union and “liberate” the people living in it were white. Democracy was black, rather 
than grey. On these grounds, Bandera’s worldview was no less problematic and anti-
democratic than that of the Soviet leaders. His orthodox nationalism did not allow 
him to level any democratic or constructive criticism at the Soviet Union. 

Because of his nationalist and far-right worldview and his dislike for democracy, 
it is difficult to classify Bandera as a dissident, even if he was a vehement opponent of 
the Soviet regime ruling Ukraine. When the Providnyk criticized the suppression of 
the Hungarian Revolution of 1956, he wrote that the Soviet Union applied the 
“Moscow-Bolshevik strategy of pogroms,” but he never admitted the Ukrainian 
involvement in the anti-Jewish pogroms in 1941.147 Similarly, he never took a stand 
for democracy in the republics and satellite states of the Soviet Union. In accordance 
with Bandera’s post-war writings, it seems reasonable to believe that he would have 
introduced some kind of far-right or neo-fascist autocracy in Ukraine, had there been 
such a possibility. Such a Ukrainian state would have been, in terms of democracy, 
no better than the Soviet Union and would have needed a real antitotalitarian oppo-
sition to turn it into a democracy. 

Religion never ceased to play a crucial role in Bandera’s political essays. He be-
lieved that the Greek Catholic Church was the foundation of Ukrainian nationalism. 
He frequently stressed that Christianity was a significant component of Ukrainian 
identity and that religion gave Ukrainians the power to resist the Soviet Union: 
“Faith tremendously strengthens the powers of the soul. A true and deep faith in 
God, the Redeemer, gives every man and the whole nation the possibility to take as 
much power as the soul can accommodate.”148 By the same token, he feared that 
communism would deprive Ukrainians of Christianity and thereby undo the “Ukrai-
nian people.”149 The Providnyk equated the physical destruction of people in the 
Soviet Union with the politics of atheism and thus believed and argued that atheism 
could physically annihilate people. Human beings without religion and nationality 
were dead for Bandera, even if they were in the best physical and intellectual 
condition.150 

Bandera’s fascination with war, and his wish to fight another one, was enormous. 
Until his death he did not stop hoping that a third world war would break out soon 
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and enable Ukrainians and other peoples to combat the Soviet Union and to establish 
national states. In an interview in 1950, Bandera said that people in Ukraine knew 
that a war would break out, because the Soviet Union was preparing itself for one 
and would start it soon.151 In a letter in 1951 to the leadership of the OUN in Ukraine, 
he argued that the Western countries were preparing themselves for a war against 
the Soviet Union and needed two more years to produce enough weapons to begin 
one.152 When Dwight Eisenhower visited Germany in 1951, Bandera prepared himself 
for a meeting with the NATO commander. He wanted to discuss the role of the OUN 
in a third world war and to ask him for financial help in preparing soldiers for this 
huge liberation event.153 In 1958 Bandera still claimed that “The Third World War 
would shake up the whole structure of world powers even more than the last two 
wars.”154 The number of victims that such a war would create did not matter to the 
Providnyk, because nationalist independence was more important than human life: 

A war between the USSR and other states would certainly cause a great number of 
victims to the Ukrainian nation, and also probably great destruction of the coun-
try. Nevertheless, such a war would be welcomed not only by active fighters-
revolutionaries, but also by the whole nation, if it would give some hope of de-
stroying Bolshevik suppression and achieving national independence.155 

Bandera was against the reduction of nuclear weapons and claimed that the “fear 
of nuclear war” in the West was groundless. He argued that the West did not under-
stand the true nature of the Soviet Union and was too afraid of a nuclear war. Ac-
cording to him, the politics of appeasement toward the Soviet Union was a mistake. 
The West should understand that it was threatened by the Soviet Union’s nuclear 
power and should have demonstrated its own power.156 

Although Bandera and the ZCh OUN cooperated with MI6, the BND, and to a 
lesser extent with the CIA and other intelligence agencies, Bandera never ceased to 
depict Ukrainian nationalists as brave, autonomous, and self-sufficient fighters. 
Similarly, he argued that Ukrainians could achieve independence only on their own: 
“A nation that is suppressed by a foreign state can achieve its real and durable 
liberation only by its own struggle.”157 In addition, he propagated the message that 
Ukrainian nationalism was a romantic insurgent movement that had nothing in 
common with fascism, violence, antisemitism, and ethnic politics: 
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The terms “Ukrainian nationalist” and “nationalist movement” have a completely 
different meaning from similar terms in the West. The Ukrainian nationalist 
movement has nothing in common with Nazism, Fascism, or National Socialism. 
Ukrainian nationalism struggles against imperialism, totalitarianism, racism, and 
every kind of dictatorship or application of violence. 

The name “Ukrainian nationalist” is equal to “Ukrainian patriot,” one who is 
ready to struggle for the liberty of his own nation and to sacrifice for his nation 
everything that he possesses, even life.158 

The climate of the Cold War provided Bandera’s thinking with enough legitimacy 
to keep his self-presentations from being challenged. The atrocities committed by the 
OUN-UPA, and Bandera’s role in them were hardly known, and if some information 
on these subjects appeared, it was rebuffed as groundless anti-Ukrainian Soviet 
propaganda. In radio interviews Bandera claimed that the OUN could not have been 
involved in any kind of war crime because it was a “liberation movement” that 
“fought for freedom.” In the 1950s, he stated that his organization still had contact 
with the OUN-UPA underground in Ukraine and that he frequently sent his best 
“fighters for independence” to Soviet Ukraine.159 Such statements must have made a 
considerable impression on his audience who would have perceived him as a real, 
important, devoted, and admirable anticommunist freedom fighter. Although Ban-
dera must have known that the OUN-B was not popular in eastern Ukraine, he 
argued that all Ukrainians supported him and his organization: “The bright masses 
of the Ukrainian nation provide this movement [OUN-UPA] with the fullest possible 
support and follow its leadership,” he stated in a radio interview in 1954.160 

Although Bandera’s speeches and writings touched upon various political subjects 
such as the Soviet Union, a third world war, and nuclear weapons, they were all 
about “liberation,” “freedom,” and “independence.” They combined the monotony of 
a Soviet official with the fanaticism of a far-right activist and the futurist, revolu-
tionary enthusiasm of a fascist. The “liberation” of Ukraine was Bandera’s life goal 
and he was ready to sacrifice the well-being of entire nations to achieve it. He ignored 
and concealed the atrocities committed by the OUN and UPA during and after the 
war because he believed that the Ukrainian nationalists had the right to kill thou-
sands of civilians in order to achieve their aims. His writings suggest that he did not 
feel any empathy for people murdered in the name of “liberation” or “independence.” 
He portrayed himself and the OUN and UPA as victims of Nazi Germany and the 
Soviet Union, because this was the only way to could continue the struggle for inde-
pendence. Admitting the atrocities committed by the movement and its extensive 
fascistization would compromise him, other émigrés, and the very idea of “liberation” 
and “independence.” 
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Stashyns’kyi, Oberländer, Lippolz, 
and the Assassination of Bandera 

The MGB, and from 1954 the KGB, tried several times to kidnap or assassinate Ban-
dera.161 Assassinations and more often the seizure of Ukrainians who engaged in the 
nationalist underground were common after the Second World War in countries 
such as Germany and Austria. For example, the OUN-B member Volodymyr Hor-
bovyi, a Bandera’s defense lawyer during the trials in Warsaw and Lviv in 1935–1936, 
was apprehended in Prague in 1946. He was interrogated first in Poland, then in the 
Soviet Union. During the interrogations, he was beaten and otherwise mistreated. 
Finally, he spent twenty-five years in the Gulag.162 Similarly, the Ukrainian patriot 
Wilhelm von Habsburg, who had helped the OUN to establish contacts with the 
Allies after the war, was seized in Vienna on 26 August 1947. He was sentenced to 
twenty-five years but died of tuberculosis a year after he was seized, or more pre-
cisely as the result of catastrophic conditions in Soviet prisons and the withholding of 
medical help.163 

According to OUN-B historiography, Iaroslav Moroz prepared the first attempt to 
assassinate Bandera in 1947. He intended to leave the impression that Bandera was 
killed by his Ukrainian émigré opponents.164 Although the OUN-B historiographers 
did not mention it, Moroz was an OUN-B courier who arrived in Ukraine from Bava-
ria in 1946 and was turned into an MGB agent. When he went back to Munich in 
order to assassinate Bandera, the SB killed Moroz in June 1947.165 According to 
OUN-B historiography, the next attempt was prepared by Volodymyr Stel’mashchuk, 
who was identified by OUN-B historiographers as a Polish agent of the MGB, with 
the position of captain in the AK. Although Stel’mashchuk had several helpers, the 
SB uncovered his identity and he failed to murder Bandera.166 It might be that he 
arrived in Bavaria without the intention of assassinating Bandera, but in order to 
capture him or to infiltrate the ZCh OUN. Like Moroz, Stel’mashchuk was executed 
by the SB in May 1949.167 In 1950 the OUN-B found that two agents from Prague 
were preparing to assassinate Bandera. They failed because he was warned and went 
into hiding. His family moved at that time to the DP camp in Mittenwald. Next, two 
agents from East Berlin came to Munich in 1952 but were arrested by Western intel-
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ligence services and released after two years.168 In 1953 the agent Stepan Lippolz 
appeared in Munich and infiltrated the ZCh OUN.169 In 1955 Bandera received a 
letter from Vienna, in which he was warned that the KGB was organizing an assassi-
nation attempt against him from East Berlin.170 

The actual assassination took place on 15 October 1959. Iaroslava Bandera was 
sunbathing on the balcony of her apartment when, at about 1 p.m., a car drove into 
the courtyard of the building at Kreittmayrstrasse 7. Hearing its arrival, she looked 
down from the balcony and recognized the vehicle as her husband’s. From his apart-
ment on the first floor, Melach Gamse heard someone scream and fall to the ground 
in the stairwell. He opened the door of his apartment and discovered his neighbor 
from the third floor, whom he knew as Stefan Popel, lying between his apartment 
and the one opposite, with his head against the wall. Bandera’s mouth and nose were 
bleeding slightly. He could not speak and was gasping for air. Magdalena 
Winklmann, who had also opened her door when she heard someone gasping in the 
stairwell, testified that Bandera’s last utterance was “Ui.” After a while, Iaroslava 
Bandera heard Melach and Chaja Gamse screaming to her from the stairwell and 
went down to see what happened. Melach Gamse called an ambulance which took 
Bandera to a hospital at about 1:20. The Providnyk died on the way.171 At the 
hospital, a pistol was found on Bandera, in a shoulder-holster.172 

Before the ambulance arrived, Iaroslava called the office of the ZCh OUN at Zep-
pelinstrasse 67. Iaroslav Bentsal’, Kashuba, and Lenkavs’kyi drove to Bandera’s 
house, where they learned from Natalia that her father had been taken to hospital. 
Kashuba and Lenkavs’kyi spoke to the Gamses, who explained what had happened. 
They remembered the Gamses as a “Jewish family.”173 Four months later, during the 
investigation of Bandera’s death, Kashuba stressed that both families who found 
Bandera in the stairwell were Jewish.174 During the investigation, Iaroslava Bandera 
also testified that both families were Jewish. According to her, the Gamses had lived 
in Vilna before the Second World War and had come to Munich in 1955 from Israel. 
They and the Bandera family were on good terms. Natalia gave private lessons to Mr. 
and Mrs. Gamse’s son. The Weiner family came to Munich, according to Iaroslava, 
from Israel or Belgium.175 

The fact that both families who found the dying Bandera were Jewish did not 
leave the community of Ukrainian nationalists in peace. The Ukrainian commission 
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to investigate Bandera’s death, established in 1959 by the ZCh OUN, interrogated a 
number of OUN and ABN émigrés. Reading the protocols of the investigations makes 
it clear that the Ukrainians who were questioned frequently connected Bandera’s 
death to Jews, apparently because the stereotype of “Jewish Bolshevism” still 
persisted in this community. When interrogated, the ZCh OUN members, spoke very 
ill of Ukrainian émigrés who had a relationship with a Jew, and did not want such 
people to work for the OUN-B’s newspaper.176 

After Bandera’s death, the ZCh OUN and Bandera’s relatives suspected, or 
insisted—as did Stets’ko—that the Providnyk had been murdered, and they 
demanded a post-mortem. The autopsy was conducted on 16 October 1959 and the 
results were announced on 19 October. Bandera had died as the result of 
contamination with potassium cyanide. Dr. Laves, who conducted the post-mortem, 
attended by other doctors, determined the cause of death by a bitter almond oil smell 
from the brain, and by traces of cyanide in the stomach.177 

The Bavarian police, the Ukrainian commission of five ZCh OUN activists investi-
gating Bandera’s death, and private investigators from the Yorkshire Detective 
Bureau, hired by the ZCh OUN, determined that either Bandera was poisoned when 
he ate something that contained cyanide, or that cyanide was forced into his mouth 
immediately before his death. Another theory was that he had swallowed the poison 
in order to end his life. Yet nobody could ascertain how the cyanide actually found its 
way into Bandera’s body, and whether it did so by “enemy hand” as the ZCh OUN 
and other Ukrainian organizations suggested. Bavarian police officer Adrian Fuchs, 
who investigated the case, did not exclude this theory, but he found it more likely 
that Bandera had ended his life himself, which the Ukrainian émigrés found 
unacceptable. The Yorkshire Detective Bureau came to the conclusion that Bandera 
was murdered, but they could not establish exactly how.178 

At about noon on the day in question, Bandera had driven from the building of 
the ZCh OUN organization on Zeppelinstrasse, with Eugenia Mack in his car, to a 
marketplace where he bought a box of grapes, a box of plums, and a small basket of 
tomatoes. He drove Mack back to the building and then drove without a bodyguard 
to his house for lunch. When Mack had suggested that he call a bodyguard, Bandera 
had said that he did not need one.179 Bandera was usually picked up in the morning 
by a bodyguard and accompanied by one on his way home. On 15 October, it was 
Osyp Ferlewycz who came to Bandera’s house by moped at 7:40 a.m. and accompa-
nied Bandera in the car in which Bandera drove his son Andrii and a friend to school, 
and which he then drove to work. Bandera planned to eat lunch all that week in the 

 
176  “Ziznannia plastuna. Do spravy Liudmyly Stapenko,” ASBML, 3120, 4; “Ziznannia plastuna. Chleny 

provodu ZCh OUN rivnozh reahuvaly na tse,” ASBML, 3120, 5; “Ziznannia druha Shuma,” ASBML, 
3142, 1. 

177  Record of Bandera’s dissection, 16 October 1959, BayHStA, Landeskriminalamt 272; Chaikovs’kyi, 
Moskovs’ki vbyvtsi, 26. 

178  For the ZCh OUN five-man investigating commission and the private investigators from Bradford, see 
Chaikovs’kyi, Moskovs’ki vbyvtsi, 37, 40; Investigation into the Death of Stepan Bandera, 24 June 
1960, ASBML, 3158, 1. 

179  Interrogation of Eugenia Mack, 17 October 1959, BayHStA, Landeskriminalamt 272, 23. 



350 Stepan Bandera: The Life and Afterlife of a Ukrainian Nationalist 

 

canteen of the organization and therefore noted in the schedule for his security per-
sonnel that he did not need security at lunchtime.180 

Between noon and 12:30 Bandera ate a piece of apple and half a plum in the mar-
ket hall, but the police ruled out the possibility that the poison arrived in his stomach 
with these items, as other people ate the fruit without problems.181 A day before his 
death, Bandera had lunch with two BND officials in the Ewige Lampe restaurant.182 
Because of the secret nature of such meetings, the police could not ascertain who 
were the people with whom Bandera had lunched, but they ruled out the possibility 
that poison was given to Bandera during this meal, because cyanide kills imme-
diately. There was a possibility, however, that Bandera might have swallowed the 
cyanide in a slow-dissolving capsule, which would cause death after delay, but there 
was no evidence to support this idea. Investigating officer Fuchs considered that the 
most plausible theory was that Bandera took his own life on account of family prob-
lems, in particular, conflict with his wife concerning an alleged affair with the neigh-
bor’s au pair.183 

The Soviet Union immediately connected Bandera’s assassination with Theodor 
Oberländer, the federal minister for displaced persons, refugees, and war victims in 
Adenauer’s government. On 21 October 1959, Radians’ka Ukraїna, and a day later, 
Komsomol’skaia pravda insinuated that Oberländer murdered Bandera because he 
knew too much about the minister’s role in the pogroms in Lviv in 1941.184 In May 
1960, KGB agent Stefan Lippolz tried to convince the journalist Gösta von Uexküll 
and the Munich police that Bandera was killed by ZCh OUN member Dmytro Myskiv. 
Lippolz lived in Munich from 1953 until 1956 and owned the Stephansklause restau-
rant, which ZCh OUN activists regularly visited. He was a KGB agent and spied on 
Ukrainian émigrés in Munich. Von Uexküll lived in Hamburg and worked for Die 
Welt, in which he had a newspaper column that dealt with the Ukrainian national-
ists.185 Von Uexküll informed the police about Lippolz’s suggestions but, as Myskiv 
was not in Munich at the time of Bandera’s death, the police did not pay much atten-
tion to them.186 

In 1956, the CIC had arrested Kostiantyn Kapustyns’kyi, a KGB agent, in Munich. 
After nine months of investigations, they handed him over to German authorities, 
who sentenced him to fifteen months imprisonment. After his release, Kapustyns’kyi 
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no longer wanted to work for the KGB, but was forcibly recruited again. According to 
OUN-B sources, Kapustyns’kyi defected to the West in May 1960 and informed the 
German police who had killed Bandera. Kapustyns’kyi’s alleged disclosure in May 
1960 did not make any impact on the investigation.187 On 8 October 1960, the ZCh 
OUN received a letter from the Bavarian police, to the effect that it had closed the 
investigation because it had no indication as to who might have poisoned Bandera.188 

Everything changed when Bohdan Stashyns’kyi entered the building of the police 
station at the Tempelhofer Damm in West Berlin on 12 August 1961. The handsome 
thirty-year-old man with an East European accent informed the police that he was a 
Soviet intelligence agent and that he wanted to talk to the Americans. After forty-five 
minutes he and his wife were picked up by an American intelligence officer. The next 
day, Stashyns’kyi was flown to Frankfurt am Main. He originally stayed in a private 
community of houses used only by the CIA or the American army and was interro-
gated several times by American intelligence officers. On 1 September, the Americans 
handed him over to the German authorities. Stashyns’kyi revealed first to the CIC 
and later to the BND and the West German police, how he had killed Lev Rebet, 
leader of the OUN-z, on 12 October 1957 in Munich, and then how he had killed Ban-
dera in the same city almost exactly two years later. He also explained why he had 
decided to give himself up to the West Berlin police. His story seemed so incredible 
that he had to make a great effort to convince the investigating officers, and later the 
court, to believe him.189 

Stashyns’kyi revealed to his investigators that he was born in 1931 in the village of 
Borshchovychi, about twenty kilometers from Lviv. In autumn 1948, he began to 
study pedagogy at Lviv University. He was arrested in 1950 for travelling as a student 
without a valid ticket. An officer proposed that he work for the Soviet authorities and 
implied that the MGB was aware of his family’s connection to the nationalist under-
ground. Concerned about the fate of his family, he agreed to cooperate.190 

Stashyns’kyi’s first task was to find the murderer of the Ukrainian communist 
writer Iaroslav Halan who had been killed with a hatchet in his apartment in Lviv on 
24 October 1949. In order to smuggle Stashyns’kyi into the OUN-UPA underground, 
the MGB pretended to be searching for Stashyns’kyi in Borshchovychi and Lviv in 
late March and early April 1951. This convinced the local OUN-UPA activists that 
Stashyns’kyi was hiding from the MGB, and enabled him to join the underground. 
After about two months with the OUN-UPA, Stashyns’kyi reported to the KGB that 
he had discovered Halan’s assassin and had left the underground. After three months 
the alleged assassin, Mykhailo Stakhur, was caught and executed.191 

After this operation, Stashyns’kyi could not continue to study in Lviv. He worked 
for the MGB in the Lviv region until the summer of 1952, arresting OUN-UPA activ-
ists who were in hiding. He was then trained for two years in Kiev, to work as an 
MGB agent abroad. In addition to practical training, he learned German and at-
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tended ideological courses to strengthen his Soviet patriotism. In July 1954, he 
moved to Poland and four months later to the German Democratic Republic 
(Deutsche Demokratische Republik, DDR) where the KGB provided him with papers 
under the name “Joseph Lehmann.” Stashyns’kyi posed as an ethnic German repa-
triate.192 In 1956 his supervisor “Sergej” explained to him that the leaders of the 
Ukrainian nationalist organizations in West Germany were harming the Soviet 
Union. Their anti-Soviet propaganda damaged the Soviet image and discouraged 
many Ukrainian émigrés from returning home. “Sergej” informed Bohdan that the 
first leader he was to assassinate would be Lev Rebet.193 

The method used to kill Rebet was to fire a jet of poison gas at his face from a 
spray gun, in which a cyanide capsule had been crushed. The gun was small and flat, 
and it could easily be hidden from view, if wrapped in a newspaper, for example. The 
cyanide would narrow the blood vessels of the victim and cause death. After a while, 
they would enlarge and return to their normal size. The inhaled cyanide would eva-
porate after ten minutes, which would make it impossible to ascertain that the per-
son died a violent death as the result of inhaling poison. The assassin would swallow 
a pill before the assassination and inhale an antidote shortly after it, in case he him-
self had inhaled some of the poison. To calm his nerves he would take a sedative half 
an hour before the assassination.194 

After spying on Rebet and other Ukrainian émigrés in Munich for several weeks 
and preparing the assassination, Stashyns’kyi found a convenient moment on 12 
October 1957. He fired the poison toward Rebet’s face with the spray gun wrapped in 
a newspaper, at a distance of about forty centimeters (sixteen inches), in the stairwell 
of the house at Karlsplatz 8, where Rebet had his office. Rebet was found dead on the 
second floor of the stairwell at 10:40 a.m. Stashyns’kyi flew to East Berlin the next 
day and reported on 14 October that he had accomplished his task. The doctor who 
conducted the post-mortem examination of Rebet found no evidence of a violent 
death and concluded that he probably died of a heart attack.195 

In May 1958, Stashyns’kyi was sent to Rotterdam, where the twentieth anniver-
sary of the death of Ievhen Konovalets’ was to be commemorated. He photographed 
the ceremony on 25 May at the graveside. The KGB had planned to disturb the cere-
mony, having planted a stink bomb, which did not explode. In the first instance, the 
KGB had even thought about detonating a real bomb, but changed their minds when 
they realized that the explosion would kill not only the Ukrainian nationalists but 
also a number of random bystanders (Figs. 25 and 26).196 
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Fig. 25. Bandera’s speech at the twentieth anniversary of Ievhen Konovalets’ assassination. 
Chaikovs’kyi, Moskovs’ki vbyvtsi Bandery pered sudom, 711. 

 

Fig. 26. The twentieth anniversary of Ievhen Konovalets’ assassination at Konovalets’s 

 grave in Rotterdam: Stepan Lenkavs’kyi, Stepan Bandera, Andrii Mel’nyk.  

Posivnych, Stepan Bandera—zhyttia, prysviachene svobodi, 78. 
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In January 1959 Stashyns’kyi was ordered to Munich to keep track of Stepan 
Bandera alias Stefan Popel. He flew to Moscow in April and was informed that his 
next task would be to assassinate Bandera. Because Stashyns’kyi claimed that there 
was always a bodyguard at Bandera’s side, KGB technicians prepared a spray gun 
with two barrels, each holding a cyanide capsule that could be fired separately. One 
capsule was for the bodyguard, the other for Bandera. In May 1959, Stashyns’kyi flew 
from Berlin to Munich. On the second or third day after his arrival, he found a 
convenient moment when he saw Bandera alone in his garage. Nevertheless, he did 
not proceed to fire at Bandera, probably because he was at odds with himself, as he 
later confessed. He threw the weapon away and tried to open the door of Bandera’s 
apartment building with special keys prepared by KGB technicians, but without 
success. Stashyns’kyi returned to Berlin then flew to Munich with new keys. He 
found the right one, but postponed Bandera’s assassination. During the summer, he 
spent some days in Borshchovychi with his parents and came back to Munich on 14 
October 1959 with a similar weapon. The next day, he went to Bandera’s apartment 
building at Kreittmayrstrasse 7, and in the stairwell, in the vicinity of the front door, 
fired the poison from both barrels at Bandera’s face. The second barrel had been 
reserved for Bandera’s bodyguard, who was not accompanying the Providnyk that 
day. Stashyns’kyi stated that he was too nervous to control this step and instead of 
firing only one capsule of cyanide, he fired both. The quantity of cyanide that reached 
Bandera’s mouth was so large that the Providnyk swallowed some drops. This 
enabled the experts to identify the poison during the post-mortem.197 

For Bandera’s assassination, KGB head Alexander Shelepin rewarded Sta-
shyns’kyi, on 5 or 6 December 1959 in Moscow, with the Order of the Red Banner. He 
also gave him permission to marry Inge Pohl, whom he had met in a Berlin casino in 
April 1957. Shelepin’s permission was necessary because KGB personnel did not 
usually marry people from outside the Soviet Union. After Bandera’s assassination, 
the KGB kept Stashyns’kyi in Moscow in order to improve his skills and bring him 
into other operations.198 

During the investigations in Germany, Stashyns’kyi disclosed that his relationship 
with Inge Pohl had changed him. He said that when he saw a newsreel in autumn 
1959 he understood that he had killed two human beings, and not two enemies of the 
Soviet Union. The newsreel showed Bandera’s funeral, the corpse in the coffin, and 
the mourning relatives and friends. Stashyns’kyi had obviously known that firing 
poison with the spray gun into his victims’ faces would kill them, but he meant that 
the weapon was so subtle that he felt that he “acted only theoretically.”199 

At the beginning of her relationship with Stashyns’kyi, Inge noticed that he was a 
“convinced communist” and that he “praised everything that was related to Russia 
and communist ideology.”200 She stated that she did not share his fascination with 
the Soviet Union and that they often had disputes about this issue. She knew him as 
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Joseph Lehmann, an ethnic German repatriate who had to learn German because he 
grew up in Poland. Inge’s vehement criticism of the Soviet Union pained him but 
they otherwise understood each other very well. They become engaged in April 1959. 
In autumn 1959, Stashyns’kyi informed Inge that he would be transferred to Poland 
for a year and could not take her with him. Then at Christmas, he unexpectedly 
visited her in East Berlin and unveiled his true identity and occupation. Inge was not 
only surprised but shocked; nevertheless, she went along with it. She followed Boh-
dan to Moscow and stayed there for eight weeks. He warned her to be polite and not 
to criticize the Soviet Union, because the KGB was not used to criticism. After Ban-
dera’s assassination, Bohdan informed Inge that she was the first foreign woman a 
KGB agent had been allowed to marry. In late March, Inge and Bohdan came to East 
Berlin, where they contracted a civil and church marriage on 23 April 1960. Soon 
afterwards, they were back in Moscow. At this time Inge noticed that her husband 
underwent a transformation. According to her, Bohdan understood, during his tra-
vels to Germany and his contact with her, that what he had been taught at university 
and by the KGB about the West and the Soviet Union was erroneous.201 

Stashyns’kyi also realized that he had lost the trust of his KGB superiors after he 
married Inge. On one occasion, Bohdan and Inge discovered the wires of a bugging 
device in their apartment. This, and the delivery of opened letters from East Berlin, 
strengthened Stashyns’kyi’s disappointment in the Soviet Union and in his occupa-
tion. Inge became pregnant in summer 1960. Even before Bohdan informed “Sergej”, 
his superior already knew about it. The KGB suggested an abortion, which Inge and 
Bohdan refused. They wanted Inge and Bohdan to stay in Moscow for the next few 
years. At this time, Bohdan confided in Inge about his involvement in the assassina-
tions in 1957 and 1959, although he was officially forbidden to do so. He also told 
Inge that if anything happened to him, she should reveal to American intelligence 
how Rebet and Bandera had died. In January 1961, Inge went to her family in East 
Berlin. During the following weeks, the KGB put pressure on Inge to return to Mos-
cow but she refused and tried to convince the KGB to allow Bohdan to come to 
Berlin. Finally, Inge was allowed to give birth in East Berlin but Bohdan was not 
permitted to join her.202 

Bohdan’s and Inge’s son Peter was born a month prematurely on 31 March 1961. 
When Inge returned home with Peter, she tried to contact American intelligence with 
the help of a friend, but that did not work. She then decided to join Bohdan in Mos-
cow, which pleased the KGB. With the help of KGB agents, Inge packed her belong-
ings to fly to Moscow in early August, but on 6 August Peter became ill, and he died 
of pneumonia two days later in the hospital.203 

After Peter’s death, the KGB allowed Bohdan to visit his wife in Berlin. Before 
takeoff from Moscow, Bohdan’s escort implied that either Inge or a Western intelli-
gence agent had killed Peter in order to bring Bohdan to Berlin. This remark in-
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furiated him. The first night in Berlin, 10–11 August 1961, Bohdan spent with Inge in 
the KGB complex in Berlin-Karlshorst. Inge and Bohdan planned to escape to West 
Berlin after the funeral, which was arranged for 13 August. On 15 or 16 August they 
were due to fly to Moscow. They knew that the escape would be difficult because they 
were permanently under observation. They used a convenient moment, one day prior 
to the funeral. After losing their “escort” they went from Dallgow, where they visited 
Inge’s father, to Falkensee. There they took a taxi to the Friedrichstrasse station in 
East Berlin, where they went on by another taxi to the Schönhauser Allee station and 
from there by commuter train to West Berlin, where they reached the police station 
in Tempelhofer Damm.204 

Stashyns’kyi’s escape from East Berlin put the KGB and the Communist Party of 
the Soviet Union in a very uncomfortable position. On 13 October 1961, the press 
office of the Council of Ministers of the DDR organized an international press con-
ference in East Berlin, at which—with the help of Stefan Lippolz—it explained who, 
they claimed, had killed Stepan Bandera, how, and why. About 130 journalists at-
tended the conference, after which Lippolz gave an interview to Moscow radio.205 The 
conference was opened by Kurt Blecha, chairman of the Council of Ministers of the 
DDR, who informed the audience that “Bonn intelligence [BND] is the immediate 
successor of Nazi intelligence.” He then introduced Lippolz as a person who “was 
pursued by Bonn intelligence and threatened with death,” and who had saved himself 
by escaping to East Germany.206 When Blecha had finished, Gerhard Kehl, a lieute-
nant colonel of the Ministry for State Security (Ministerium für Staatssicherheit, 
MfS), the East German intelligence service known as the Stasi, stated that his col-
league Blecha was right when he called Bonn intelligence the immediate successor of 
Nazi intelligence. He spoke about the OUN and its leader, “the well-known bandit 
and mass-murderer Bandera.” Kehl stated that Bandera was not killed “as a 
consequence of his crimes but in order to prevent the crimes of the bloody General 
Gehlen and his contemporary intelligence becoming known.”207 

Only after these introductory speeches did Lippolz reveal his biography to the au-
dience. He said that he was born in Aleksandrowka in Volhynia, had worked for the 
Abwehr during the Second World War, was captured by the Red Army in 1945, and 
remained in Soviet captivity until 1952. In 1953 he moved to Munich, where he took 
over the Stephansklause restaurant, which became the favorite eating place of Ukrai-
nian émigrés. He said that ZCh OUN member Iaroslav Sulima, who worked for the 
BND, introduced him in 1955 to BND agent Peter Wander, alias Dr. Weber, who 
persuaded him to work for the BND. His job was to infiltrate the ZCh OUN. In 1957 
Dr. Weber gave him a white powder, with which he was to poison Bandera. Lippolz 
responded that he could not do it and proposed the ZCh OUN member Myskiv for 
the task, in whom Bandera had complete trust. Afraid of the BND, Lippolz left 
Munich for Austria, where he heard that Bandera had been murdered. When he 
returned to Munich, Myskiv informed him that the BND had forced him to poison 
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Bandera. Afterwards, Lippolz left Germany again but corresponded with Myskiv who, 
fearing that the BND would kill him, also wanted to leave West Germany. Lippolz hid 
from the BND in Norway and several other European countries, until he finally found 
safety in the DDR. Then he found out that Myskiv was dead.208 This story might have 
sounded convincing to the journalists at the conference but it would not have im-
pressed anybody, had Lippolz mentioned that Myskiv had not been in Munich 
between 12 and 16 October 1959, and that he was not killed, but died of natural 
causes on the night of 26–27 March 1960 after drinking home-made vodka and hav-
ing sex in his Munich apartment with Maria Konczak, twenty-eight years younger 
than he was, an employee of Bandera’s neo-fascist newspaper Shliakh peremokhy.209 

On 17 November 1961, at President Kennedy’s request, West German Chancellor 
Adenauer informed the public how Stashyns’kyi had escaped in August from East to 
West Berlin and had revealed that he had killed Rebet and Bandera.210 The next day, 
Lippolz told the press that he had never heard of Stashyns’kyi and thought that he 
must be a “paid element” whose job was to persuade the public that the BND had 
nothing to do with Bandera’s assassination.211 

The controversy between the Federal Republic of Germany (Bundesrepublik 
Deutschland, BRD) and the DDR concerning Bandera’s murder was, from the very 
beginning, embedded in the Soviet campaign against Theodor Oberländer, minister 
for displaced persons, refugees, and war victims in the federal government. Ober-
länder had studied agricultural science in the 1920s and had worked in this position 
at several German universities and institutes. He joined the NSDAP in 1933 and 
combined his scientific work with party politics. In 1941 he was one of the German 
officers of the Ukrainian Nachtigall battalion. The DDR, and several other satellite 
states and republics of the Soviet Union, including Russia and Ukraine, used the fact 
that Oberländer was an officer in the Nachtigall battalion to conduct a propaganda 
campaign against him in order to discredit the Adenauer government.212 

The campaign against Oberländer began in spring 1959 and was probably in-
spired by Erich Koch who stated during a trial in Warsaw in March 1959, “I com-
pletely do not understand why I stand here, fourteen years after the war, in front of 
this court, when my former head of the regional administration in the NSDAP ad-
ministration of East Prussia, SA-Hauptsturmführer Theodor Oberländer, is today a 
minister in Bonn!”213 

During the following months, Oberländer became the object of hate and condem-
nation and the subject of communist “antifascist” rituals performed by several politi-
cians from Soviet republics and satellite states. In July 1959, Władysław Gomułka, 
leader of the Polish United Workers’ Party (Polska Zjednoczona Partia Robotnicza, 
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PZPR), initiated the campaign against the minister and the Nachtigall battalion, 
stating that Oberländer was responsible for the murder of the Polish professors in 
Lviv during the night of 3–4 July 1941.214 Soviet propaganda repeated this statement 
many times. During the following months, the Polish newspaper Trybuna Ludu, the 
Hungarian Népszabadság, and other newspapers connected the battalion and Ob-
erländer with further massacres, such as the shooting of 12,000 Jews in Kam”ianets’-
Podil’s’kyi, and 34,000 Jews in Babi Yar, in which the battalion was not involved. 
The battalion’s actual war crimes, such as the shooting of Jews in two villages on the 
way to Vinnytsia, were not mentioned during the campaign.215 

On 31 July 1959, the Society of People Persecuted by the Nazi Regime (Vereini-
gung der Verfolgten des Naziregimes, VNN) submitted a charge against Oberländer 
and the battalion of murdering “310,000 Poles, Jews, and communists in the time 
between 30 June 1941 and 20 November 1943,” to the Federal State Administration 
of Justice Department in Ludwigsburg, West Germany. The VNN was a political 
organization founded in 1947 and based in West Germany. It frequently published 
lists of politicians who had worked with the National Socialists or were considered to 
have been involved in compromising activities. The Nachtigall battalion was de-
scribed in the charge as a unit that had committed several war crimes, and 
Oberländer, together with other German officers of the battalion, as a person who 
was responsible for these crimes.216 The West German authorities began an investiga-
tion of this case and ended it in 1960. The investigators did not find any evidence 
that Oberländer or any other officers had issued an order to kill Jews, but they did 
not exclude the possibility that Ukrainian soldiers from the battalion had partici-
pated in the pogrom and committed war crimes.217 In reaction to these accusations 
Oberländer claimed at a conference on 30 September 1959 in Bonn that, although he 
was in Lviv between 1 and 7 July 1941 and was always moving about, he did not see 
any violence or excesses at all—which was obviously a lie.218 

The investigation in the BRD led to developments in the DDR. Albert Norden, 
professor at the Humboldt University and prominent member of the Central Com-
mittee of the Socialist Unity Party of Germany (Sozialistische Einheitspartei Deut-
schlands, SED), became Oberländer’s main opponent. At a conference in East Berlin 
on 22 October 1959, Norden presented some documents to the journalists and 
claimed that a trial against Oberländer was necessary because Oberländer was a 
“Nazi putschist against the Weimar Republic, one of the people most responsible for 
the preparation of the Second World War, and the hangman of Slavic intelligentsia 
and Jews.”219 Oberländer’s show trial in absentia in the DDR began on 20 April 1960, 
the seventy-first anniversary of Adolf Hitler’s birth, and ended on 29 April. The sub-
ject of Bandera was an important element of the DDR trial against the BRD minister. 
Bandera was referred to as the leader of the Ukrainian nationalists, and Oberländer 

 
214  For the killing of Polish professors, see page 214 above. 
215  For propaganda, see Wachs, Der Fall, 207–208. For the annihilation of the Jewish population by 

Nachtigall, cf. TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 57, 17; Bruder, “Den Ukrainischen Staat, 150. 
216  LN-W: Gerichte Rep. 350, vol. 1, 6–8. 
217  LN-W: Gerichte Rep. 350, vol. 5, 42; LN-W: Gerichte Rep. 350, vol. 14, 181–82. See also chapter 4 

above. For VNN, see Wachs, Der Fall, 212–13. 
218  Wachs, Der Fall, 219. 
219  Ibid., 226. 



 Chapter 7: The Providnyk in Exile 359 

 

as the person who supported the terrorist and murderous activities of Bandera’s 
people. Oberländer was accused of recruiting young Ukrainians for the Nachtigall 
battalion and ordering them to annihilate hundreds of thousands of innocent 
people.220 

Because Bandera died in the middle of the campaign against Oberländer, the 
Eastern bloc politicians used his death to support the theory that Oberländer, in 
cooperation with Gehlen, had killed the leader of the Ukrainian nationalists because 
he could have revealed more incriminating facts about the minister. Immediately 
after Bandera’s assassination, cartoons depicting Bandera, Gehlen, and Oberländer 
appeared in the newspapers. The most popular cartoon showed Oberländer standing 
and weeping, close to a coffin containing Bandera’s corpse. The caption said: “He was 
such a good man. It is a great pity that he knew too much about me.”221 

The lavish measures of the propaganda apparatus of the various republics and 
satellite states of the Soviet Union did not influence the investigation and trial of 
Stashyns’kyi. The trial for the murder of Rebet and Bandera took place in the Federal 
Court of Justice (Bundesgerichtshof) in Karlsruhe from 8 to 15 October 1962. The 
verdict was announced on 19 October. During the trial, Stashyns’kyi explained in 
detail how he came to work for the KGB, how he killed Rebet and Bandera, how he 
met Inge Pohl, and how his attitude toward the KGB and his criminal deeds had 
changed. The psychologist Joachim Rauch certified that Stashyns’kyi was account-
able for his actions and explained the change in Stashyns’kyi’s attitude. The defen-
dant’s version of the assassination was confirmed by experts. The judges believed 
Stashyns’kyi and his narrative, parts of which the defendant might have polished 
slightly, in order not to incriminate himself even more.222 

Acting on behalf of Daria Rebet, Dr. Mira appealed for a mild sentence for Sta-
shyns’kyi. He stressed that Mrs. Rebet did not hold a grudge against Stashyns’kyi and 
that she considered that the Central Committee of the Communist Party of the Soviet 
Union (Kommunisticheskaia Partiia Sovetskogo Soiuza, KPSS) was responsible for 
the murder of Lev Rebet.223 Daria Rebet spoke in a similar tone. She stressed that she 
could not blame Stashyns’kyi but only the “Soviet system.”224 Natalia Bandera, on 
behalf of her absent mother, began her speech with the claim that “almost the whole 
family of my deceased father and my mother died at the hands of enemies.” She 
talked about her own suffering and the suffering of her family and stressed that her 
father “was a deeply religious man” who “died for God and an independent, free 
Ukraine—for the freedom of the whole world.”225 Before Iaroslava Bandera’s lawyer 
began his speech, the American politician Charles J. Kersten, whom the Bandera 
family had asked to speak, encouraged the judge to call the Soviet government to 
account. He stressed that this was the wish of Iaroslava Bandera.226 Like Natalia 
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Bandera, Dr. Iaroslav Padokh, the attorney for Iaroslava Bandera, appealed to God 
and claimed that “Bandera’s and Rebet’s death and this unbelievable trial, conducted 
in front of the highest court of Germany … helps not only the Ukrainian people but 
all freedom-loving nations to achieve victory in their hard struggle against 
violence.”227 

Stashyns’kyi’s lawyer, Dr. Helmut Seydel, argued that “the defendant is not the 
doer of the crime but only the helper of the perpetrator” and that “he was only an 
instrument of the KGB.”228 The judge, Heinrich Jagusch, agreed with this explana-
tion. He stated that “the defendant was in both cases [Rebet’s and Bandera’s] not the 
murderer, although he himself conducted the acts of murder, but only an instrument, 
a helper.” That Stashyns’kyi admitted his guilt and claimed to regret it was taken into 
consideration, and he was sentenced to only eight years imprisonment, in which the 
time already spent in prison was included.229 

The tribunal’s decision implied that the real murderer was not Stashyns’kyi but 
his superiors. The judge mentioned Shelepin and Khrushchev but did not blame 
them personally. The tribunal gave Stashyns’kyi a mild sentence because it consi-
dered him a mere cog in the greater totalitarian Soviet system. The trial therefore 
appeared to be a political one; the Soviet leaders, not Stashyns’kyi, became its main 
defendants even if they were not in the court. Jagusch—in the spirit of the Cold 
War—compared the Soviet Union to Nazi Germany and Stashyns’kyi to Adolf Eich-
mann, whose trial in Jerusalem was taking place almost simultaneously.230 Jagusch’s 
rhetoric and the court’s sentence suggest that the impact of the Cold War on Sta-
shyns’kyi’s trial was strong. In 1963 Inge Pohl and Stashyns’kyi’s defending lawyer 
Seydel pleaded for a reduction of the sentence or an early discharge.231 Stashyns’kyi 
was released on 31 December 1966, after serving two-thirds of his sentence.232 Boh-
dan and Inge’s relationship did not survive the turbulence; she divorced him.233 

Shelepin, head of the KGB, together with KGB personnel in Moscow, Kiev, and 
East Berlin, was deeply involved in the assassinations of Rebet and Bandera. 
Whether Khrushchev personally issued the order to assassinate Bandera cannot be 
proved, as long as the documents concerning the case remain classified. The same 
applies to several details concerning Stashyns’kyi’s defection and his fate after the 
trial. Yet the fact is that the KGB received the orders from the Central Committee of 
the KPSS. Khrushchev, the first secretary of the KPSS at the time of Rebet’s and Ban-
dera’s deaths, did not hide his attitude toward anti-Soviet émigrés: “There are times 
when security services should physically eliminate the leaders of the counter-
revolution in exile,” he remarked to Fidel Castro in May 1963.234 
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The ZCh OUN was disappointed with the lenient sentence imposed on Sta-
shyns’kyi for killing their Providnyk. Stets’ko and other Ukrainian nationalist 
émigrés used the trial to support their political campaign against the Soviet Union.235 
During and after the Stashyns’kyi trial in Karlsruhe, the ZCh OUN’s conduct, 
however, did not differ greatly from that of the Central Committee of the KPSS. After 
Stashyns’kyi’s trial, the ZCh OUN organized a press conference on 10 October 1962, 
in order to contradict some aspects of Stashyns’kyi’s testimony. In particular they 
were concerned about the evidence relating to the OUN-UPA’s murder of Poles 
during the Second World War, which the defendant witnessed in his youth. The ZCh 
OUN leaders denied it and claimed that it was only “Stashyns’kyi’s false depiction of 
the struggle of the Ukrainian underground.”236 
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 Conclusion  

The end of the Second World War made it necessary for the Ukrainian nationalists to 
falsify their own past in order to stay in Western countries and promote the struggle 
for the independence of Ukraine. The leadership of the OUN and UPA had already 
begun the process of whitewashing its past in late 1943 when it ordered the collection 
and destruction of documents that connected the leadership to the pogroms and 
other forms of ethnic violence. After the war the OUN émigrés began to deny the 
involvement of the OUN and UPA in the Holocaust, collaboration with the Nazis, the 
ethnic cleansing of the Poles, the fascistization of the movement, the plans to estab-
lish a fascist collaborationist state, and a number of other matters that cast a poor 
light on the movement. Instead they presented the OUN and UPA as an idealistic and 
heroic anti-German and anti-Soviet resistance movement. The Western intelligence 
services collaborated with OUN émigrés despite their knowledge about the crimes 
committed by their movement. The competition for the resources from the intelli-
gence services and the ideological dissimilarities between the OUN émigrés caused 
another split in the organization. 

The Second World War did not change Bandera’s far-right views, but the Provid-
nyk adapted them to the realities of the Cold War in order to collaborate with the 
British and American intelligence services. He attempted to reintroduce a leader 
principle into the organization, which would make him once again the sole leader of 
the entire movement. Like other OUN members Bandera never condemned or even 
admitted the atrocities committed by the OUN and UPA during the Second World 
War. In his writings he did not mention Jews and Poles as the “enemies of the Ukrai-
nian nation,” because they no longer lived in Ukraine in substantial numbers. Ban-
dera was skeptical of democracy, defended Franco’s policies, and believed that only a 
far-right militaristic organization could liberate Ukraine and rule it in an appropriate 
way. Despite Franco’s invitations Bandera decided to stay in Munich where he estab-
lished a center, at which he was protected by former Nazis such as Gerhard von 
Mende and American intelligence. He visited Ukrainian communities in several 
Western countries, but not the United States, whose consulate in Munich did not 
recommend a visa until it was too late for him to visit. His family life seems to have 
been harmonious although there is evidence to suggest that he mistreated his wife. 
He was obsessed with women and apparently tried to rape one victim. Soviet intelli-
gence made several attempts to kidnap or assassinate him over the years, thereby 
affecting his life and also the well-being of his family. Bandera’s assassination came 
about during the campaign against Theodor Oberländer and caused much interna-
tional speculation. 



 

 

Chapter 8 

BANDERA AND SOVIET PROPAGANDA 

The examination of the impact of Soviet propaganda on the Bandera cult is a signifi-
cant feature of this study. Although Soviet propaganda was intended to undo the 
Bandera cult and myth, it significantly strengthened them in the long term. The 
Soviet propaganda apparatus reacted to Bandera and the OUN-B for the first time in 
July 1941, shortly after the beginning of Operation Barbarossa and the “Ukrainian 
National Revolution.” Soviet intelligence had already infiltrated the OUN in the early 
1930s. In 1940, the agent “Ukrainets” established himself within the OUN-B, and 
provided the Soviet intelligence with detailed information about the OUN, its split 
into two factions, and its leading members.1 

In the first issue of the military newspaper Za radians’ku Ukraїnu on 31 July 1941 
Oleksandr Korniichuk published the article: “Death to the Traitors of Ukraine!” 
“Hitler asked the traitors of the Ukrainian people—Petliurites, OUN members, 
Hetmanites, the yellow and blue dirt—for help,” Korniichuk wrote. The “yellow and 
blue” was a reference to the colors of the national flag, used by the OUN-B, other 
Ukrainian nationalist and fascist organizations, and before them the Ukrainian 
national movement, the UNR, and the Ukrainian national democrats. Bandera was 
the only person, apart from Hitler and Stalin, whom Korniichuk mentioned by name: 
“For the lies, provocations, and murder of our freedom-loving people, we will 
respond to the yellow-and-blue band and its leader Stepan Bandera with only one 
word—death!” (Fig. 27).2 

After the Soviet army withdrew from western Ukraine in autumn 1941, the “yel-
low-and-blue” became only a marginal target of Soviet propaganda. Until the Red 
Army came back to Ukraine in late 1943 Soviet Ukrainian newspapers mentioned the 
Ukrainian nationalists only sporadically and portrayed them as “traitors” or “Nazi 
henchmen.” Bandera and his adherents (bandery or banderivtsi) were introduced 
next to other groups of Ukrainian nationalists, such as skoropads’ki or mel’nyky, as 
Hitler’s agents.3 

In 1942 the twenty-fifth anniversary of the Ukrainian SSR was celebrated in Mos-
cow. The Communist Party of Ukraine brought out a leaflet devoted to Stalin and one 
to Nikita Khrushchev, the first secretary of the KPU. Stalin was addressed as the 
Leader (Vozhd’) or “Our Dear Josef Vissarionovich! [Dorohyi nash, ridnyi Iosyf 
Visarionovych!]” or “dear father comrade Stalin [bat’ko ridnyi tovarysh Stalin].” 
The emotional admiration of Stalin resembled to some extent the admiration of 

 
1  “Spetsial’noe soobshchenie,” HDA SBU, f. 16, op. 33, spr. 36, 14–33, in Stepan Bandera, ed. Serhii-

chuk, 1:58–75. 
2  Oleksandr Korniichuk, “Smert’ zradnykam Ukraїny!” Za radians’ku Ukraїnu, 31 July 1941. This 

article was already noticed by the OUN in August 1941. Cf. TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 42, 19. 
3  See for example “Zvernennia do naselennia okupovanykh raioniv Ukraїny,” Radians’ka Ukraїna, 5 

June 1943, 1–2. 
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Bandera during the “Ukrainian National Revolution.” Bandera, however, was not 
usually depicted as the father of Ukrainians but as the Providnyk or Vozhd’. Because 
the word Vozhd’ means leader in both Russian and Ukrainian, Bandera and Stalin 
shared the same title. In this sense, the concept of Stalin as the leader of Soviet 
Ukraine competed with the concept of Bandera as the leader of a Ukrainian 
authoritarian state of a fascist type.4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Fig. 27. Inscription under the picture “OUN fascist motorization.” 

Za radiansku Ukraїnu, 5 August 1941. 

At the sixth session of the Ukrainian Supreme Soviet in Kiev on 1 March 1944, 
Nikita Khrushchev delivered a speech entitled “Liberation of the Ukrainian territory 
from German invaders and the current tasks concerning the rebuilding of the na-
tional economy in Soviet Ukraine.”5 Khrushchev extolled Stalin, the Soviet Union, 
Soviet partisans, and the Red Army, which was “destroying the fascist invaders and 
cleansing the Soviet territory from them.”6 He stressed that the Soviet people had 
suffered considerably during the previous three years, and he mentioned several 
atrocities that Nazi Germany had committed in Ukraine, such as the massacres at 

 
4  For the leaflet, see RGASPI f. 17, op. 125, del. 145, 13. The leaflet for Khrushchev is on folio 14. 
5  Nikita Khrushchev, Osvobozhdenie ukrainskikh zemel’ ot nemetskikh zakhvatchikov i ocherednye 

zadachi vosstanovleniia narodnogo khoziaistva Sovetskoi Ukrainy (Moscow: Pravda, 1944). 
6  Khrushchev, Osvobozhdenie ukrainskikh zemel’, 6. 
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Babi Yar, Dnipropetrovs’k, and Kharkiv. Khrushchev did not mention that the 
majority of the victims in these massacres were Jews, in order to evoke the im-
pression that the main victims of Nazi terror were the Soviet people in general.7 This 
kind of approach to the Second World War became standard in the Soviet Union and 
continued until its very end. It was a part of Soviet nationalism that was intended to 
strengthen Soviet identity. It negated the Holocaust as genocide against Jews and 
claimed that Soviet citizens were the group that suffered most.8 Khrushchev also 
appealed to Ukrainian patriotism. He pointed out that “the Ukrainian people are 
faithful to the great Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.”9 Furthermore, he stressed 
that the Ukrainian people would try to include in the Ukrainian Soviet state as many 
of the Ukrainian territories as possible and would oppose the plans of the Polish 
government in London, “which does not represent the interests of the Polish people 
but of lords [pany] and wants not only to include western Ukraine ... but dreams also 
about a great Polish state from the Dnieper to the Black Sea.”10 

The first secretary of the Communist Party of Ukraine devoted one section of his 
speech to the “Ukrainian-German nationalists—Hitler’s henchmen, the worst ene-
mies of the Ukrainian people.”11 He said that the “Ukrainian-German nationalists did 
everything ... to enable Germans to enslave our Ukrainian people,” and thus were 
traitors.12 Khrushchev did not point to Bandera but mentioned “Melnykites, Ban-
derites, Bulbites.”13 He emphasized that the “Ukrainian-German nationalists” went 
underground and developed anti-German slogans after they realized that nobody in 
Ukraine supported them. He also stressed that the nationalists “were fighting only 
against the Soviet partisans and the Red Army and terrorized the population.”14 To-
ward the end of the speech, Khrushchev stated that “we should contend with them as 
we did with the German intruders ... as enemies of our homeland.”15 

German-Ukrainian Nationalists 

After the Germans left the western Ukrainian territories in early summer 1944, 
Soviet propaganda frequently labeled the OUN and UPA as the “Ukrainian-German 
nationalists” or “German-Ukrainian nationalists.” It thereby suggested that the 
Ukrainian nationalist underground was an integral part of the Nazi empire, which 
was to be defeated like its masters who had meanwhile withdrawn from Ukraine but 
had left their accomplices. This propaganda campaign was intended to help defeat 
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the nationalist underground and was therefore interwoven with the terror campaign 
against the OUN-UPA and against members of the western Ukrainian population 
who either supported the nationalist underground or were accused of doing so. A 
very popular and drastic method used in this campaign was the public hanging of 
Banderites and “collaborators.”16 The bodies of the hanged individuals were some-
times left for several days in public with inscriptions such as “Banderite,” “Ukrai-
nian-German Nationalist,” or “For the Betrayal of the Ukrainian Nation.” Sometimes 
the Soviet executioners removed trousers and underwear from the hanged “bandits” 
to humiliate them even more and to strengthen the propaganda effect. Local people, 
sometimes entire groups of school children, were forced to watch these executions.17 
Sometimes, the authorities herded up to 8,000 peasants from several villages to 
attend a public trial.18 UPA partisans or OUN activists were frequently hanged with-
out trial. The suspicion that a person belonged to or had helped the OUN-UPA was 
enough to hang that person in public as a Banderite. Sometimes a rumor was spread 
shortly before the execution that the Banderite possessed cut-off ears of several 
dozen people when he was apprehended.19 The public hanging of Banderites took 
place almost everywhere in western Ukraine.20 

In 1944 and 1945, western Ukraine was bombarded with propaganda material 
that aimed to persuade OUN activists and UPA partisans to surrender. Many of the 
leaflets used a national-religious narrative that resembled OUN rhetoric. Soviet mat-
erial portrayed the OUN and UPA as traitors to the Ukrainian people and as 
henchmen of the Nazis. On the one hand, Soviet propaganda promised to do no harm 
to those “Ukrainian-German nationalists” who threw away their weapons and left the 
forests. On the other, it intimidated those who did not submit to the authorities. In a 
leaflet from 12 February 1944 we read: “Leave the OUN bands! Break off all connec-
tion with the German-Ukrainian nationalists! … They misled you into betraying the 
Ukrainian people, brought dishonor and death on you—take revenge on them! … 
Leave the forests! Give your weapons to the Red Army! Go back to your villages, to 
honest, peaceful work for the well-being of our nation!”21 The leaflet ended with a 
guarantee to “forgive all misdeeds committed against the Fatherland” if the reci-
pients broke off their connections with the OUN and UPA.22 

On 20 July 1945, Radians’ka Ukraїna reported that several Ukrainian national-
ists had accepted the government’s offer of amnesty. They had been forgiven and 
were now living in peace but many “bandits” were still in hiding and were terrorizing 
the population. A caricature printed beside the announcement demonstrated what 
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happened to those “Ukrainian-German nationalists” who refused to submit to the 
authorities. The caricature shows an oversized fist, which emerges from the sleeve of 
an embroidered shirt, a symbol of Ukrainian folklore and nationalism, and smashes a 
bandit. The newspaper informs us that the fist stands for the “forty-million-strong 
free Ukrainian people.” Just above the fist, we read “20 July,” and see that the bandit 
has dropped a pistol with an engraved swastika from the blow of the fist. His hat, 
decorated with a trident, another symbol used by Ukrainian nationalists, flies off his 
head. As in numerous other Soviet caricatures from this time, the swastika, trident, 
and yellow-and-blue are symbols of the “Ukrainian-German nationalists” (Fig. 28).23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig. 28. “20 July.” Radians’ka Ukraїna, 20 July 1944. 

After the amnesty expired on 20 July 1945, the strategy of Soviet propaganda to-
ward Ukrainian nationalists changed. “The people forgave those who dropped their 
weapons and surrendered to the Soviet authorities,” we read in an article of that date, 
“but those who continue the notorious cause of Cain will die a dog’s death in their 
Hitlerite garbage. … This is the will of the people. It will be carried out as soon as 
possible. Those who prevent us from building up a happy life in our free, united 
Soviet Ukraine, in our Soviet Motherland, must and will be annihilated!”24 
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For several months prior to the amnesty of 20 July 1945, Soviet propaganda let 
the Ukrainian nationalists themselves speak, in order to demonstrate the felonious 
nature of the OUN-UPA and to encourage their members to surrender. The Ukrai-
nian nationalists were described in the Soviet press as if they had understood that 
they were deluded by their leaders and were enemies of the Ukrainian people. On 6 
February 1945, Vil’na Ukraїna printed a report “Our Country! Soviet Country!” by 
Ostap Vyshnia about Peremyshliany, a provincial town in the Lviv oblast. Vyshnia 
described a speech, by a man aged about thirty-five, to his fellow citizens: 

Citizens! You know me. I was in command of the Banderite station in our district. 
I requested you to fight against the Soviet authorities, not to surrender, to kill 
Soviet people, and asked you to hide in “bunkers” and forests. I ordered you to 
kill those who defected to the Soviet authorities and to kill not only them but also 
their parents, wives, and children. … But now I regret what I and my comrades 
did. Now I understand how much misery and calamity we caused with our work. 
Now it is clear in my mind where our leaders and Bandera were leading us. It is 
no secret that Bandera—and with him all we Banderites—worked according to the 
advice of the Gestapo, and it is right to call us German-Ukrainian nationalists. I 
call on all those who were following me to go to the representatives of Soviet 
power and to give up their weapons. ... You see, I am alive; the Soviet authorities 
did not do anything bad to me. I beg you once more, let us end our miserable 
doings, let us cooperate with the Soviet authorities.25 

After the speech, according to Vyshnia, people who had lost relatives at the hands 
of the OUN-UPA wept. To change the attitude of the population toward the OUN-
UPA, the speakers frequently introduced murders committed by the local 
nationalists against people who were known to the community. At the same time, 
they omitted Soviet crimes committed toward the same local population. 

On 18 February 1945, Vil’na Ukraїna published “To All Deceived Who Are in 
Forests and Bunkers—Our Appeal” written by a group of Banderites who had left the 
underground. The signatures of the defectors and a group photograph appeared. The 
authors of the article confessed their crimes and tried to encourage the nationalists 
in hiding to leave the underground. “We were in forests and bunkers for a long time, 
we carried out the will of German imperialists, Hitlerites,” the defectors claimed: 

We deceived our peasants, our youth, we spread different hostile rumors, we 
claimed that we were fighting for a “free Ukrainian independent state,” but in 
reality we were murdering our village men and faithfully serving the Germans. 

But when we read the appeal of the government of Soviet Ukraine we under-
stood that our deeds are against the people—we broke with our dark past life and 
we approach a new path, the path of honest labor and activity. ... 

We were intimidated several times with the idea that if we surrendered to the 
Soviet authorities we would be killed, tortured, or deported to Siberia. In reality, 
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this is a lie, an invention. Having come back from the forests, we are free and are 
not under any pressure.26 

Similarly, in the issue of Radians’ka Ukraїna for 20 July 1945, a member of the 
SB OUN reported that he was deceived by his leaders: “I, Borys Ivan, joined the OUN 
in 1942 and worked as the sub-district commander of the SB. The leaders … deluded 
us. They ordered us to help the Germans in the struggle against the Soviet Union; 
they ordered us to kill innocent people. They told us that we would achieve our 
Ukraine in this way but we see that the leaders of the OUN deceived us.”27 

In its early phase, the campaign against the OUN-UPA was embedded in the hate 
campaign against Nazi Germany which did not distinguish between Nazis and Ger-
mans. Killing a German was equal to killing a Nazi and was an expression of Soviet 
patriotism and bravery. “If you haven’t killed a German in the course of the day, your 
day has been wasted. … If you have killed one German, kill another: nothing gives us 
so much joy as German corpses,” wrote Ilya Ehrenburg, one of the leading Soviet 
writers.28 Similarly, the campaign against Ukrainian nationalists was, from the very 
beginning, embedded in an ideological campaign to strengthen Soviet patriotism in 
Ukraine, especially in the western regions. The Ukrainian nationalists were intro-
duced as the negation of the Soviet ideal of patriotism and as traitors to the Ukrai-
nian SSR, who helped the Germans to enslave the motherland.29 During the 
campaign against the Germans, Radians’ka Ukraїna, Vil’na Ukraїna, and many 
other Soviet Ukrainian newspapers published reports of the Extraordinary State 
Commission that investigated Nazi crimes in Ukraine. The reports were presented in 
a furious, accusatory, and vengeful narrative.30 

On 29 October 1944, Radians’ka Ukraїna announced that, because western 
Ukraine had been in the Soviet Union for less than two years, the policy of Sovietiza-
tion should be introduced scrupulously: “Especially here in the western oblasts, the 
mass political and ideological work should be developed on a particularly wide scale, 
and with particular scope, and should be conducted with particular knowledge.” The 
article further introduced the Ukrainian nationalists as “Ukrainian-German natio-
nalists, all these Banderites, Bulbites etc.” It explained that these “Banderites and 
Bulbites” had betrayed their motherland, the Soviet Union: 

Here, in the western oblasts they conducted their Cain’s work with a particular 
determination—they spread national hatred and tried to sever the friendship of 
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the Ukrainian people with the great Russian people and other peoples of the 
Soviet Union, they lied and dishonored. They did everything to weaken the 
Ukrainian people and in this manner they helped the Hitlerites to conduct the 
Germanization of Ukraine, to turn it into a German colony.31 

In the same article the anonymous author argued that the “Ukrainian-German 
dogs of Hitler” were not only the OUN-B and the UPA but also all other Ukrainian 
nationalists and collaborators, including the OUN-M, the Waffen-SS Galizien, the 
UTsK headed by Kubiiovych, and people working in the collaborationist newspapers 
and administration. They appeared in Soviet propaganda as a homogenous group 
that, with the help of Nazi Germany, harmed the Ukrainian people. The worst or 
most vicious elements of this group were the OUN and UPA. Unlike many others, 
they did not leave with the Germans but stayed in the underground and prolonged 
the German terror, continuing to murder peaceful Soviet citizens.32 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig. 29. “The Independent Garbage.” Radians’ka Ukraїna, 27 March 1945. 
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On 17 November 1944, one of the first articles about the Ukrainian nationalists by 
the prominent Ukrainian communist writer Iaroslav Halan appeared in Radians’ka 
Ukraїna. The article was titled “In the Black Pit of Betrayal and Crimes.” At the be-
ginning, Halan stated: “In terms of crimes, the Banderite bandits are not inferior to 
their hosts—Hitlerite masters. They burn people alive. Cut off arms and legs. Bury 
people alive. This is the German school. The Gestapo is the teacher of crime for the 
Banderites, Bulbites, and Melnykites.” Halan wrote that the Ukrainian nationalists 
printed anti-German leaflets in a German printing plant in Luts’k, but that not one 
“German perished from the Banderite leaflets, and the Banderites’ bullets flew not 
against German troops but against the bodies of Ukrainian and Polish peasants, their 
mothers, wives and children, and against partisans.”33 Caricatures printed next to 
articles written by Halan and other Soviet writers frequently made fun of the procla-
mation of 30 June 1941, Stets’ko’s government, and the idea of an independent 
Ukrainian state (Figs. 29 and 30). 

Fig. 30. “The Independents.” Radians’ka Ukraїna, 14 April 1945. 
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Volodymyr Beliaiev, another writer for Radians’ka Ukraїna, published an article 
in December 1944 about the killing of Polish professors in Lviv on the night of 3–4 
July 1941. Unlike later Soviet commentators, he did not connect this fact to the 
Nachtigall battalion.34 In an article “Ukrainian-German Nationalists—the Worst 
Enemies of the Ukrainian Nation,” O. Kasymenko denounced the OUN-UPA because 
the Ukrainian nationalists wanted to separate Ukraine from the Soviet Union. Kasy-
menko, and later several other authors, made a connection between the OUN and 
politicians such as Petliura and Vynnychenko, who had tried to establish a Ukrainian 
state during the First World War. What made Petliura the forerunner of the OUN, 
according to Kasymenko, was that he wanted to separate Ukraine from Russia and 
that he collaborated with the Germans. Kasymenko, like Halan and several other 
Soviet writers, mixed facts with completely false information, in order to strengthen 
the propagandist impact of his writing. Also like Halan, he tried to portray the OUN-
UPA as an alien body: “Who are they, the Ukrainian-German nationalists? This is a 
small band of devious traitors isolated from the nation.” Finishing his article, the 
author stressed that the Ukrainian nation was consolidated “around the great leader 
comrade Stalin and will always be faithful to the great idea of the friendship of Soviet 
peoples.”35 

Professor Vasyl’ Osichyns’kyi of Lviv University explained the Soviet interpreta-
tion of Ukrainian nationalism in greater detail. He began with the Sich Riflemen who 
were for him nothing more than an instrument of German politics and who betrayed 
the Ukrainian nation. According to Osichyns’kyi, only the Soviet Union gave Ukrai-
nians the possibility to establish their “own state—the Ukrainian SSR.” From the very 
beginning, the Sich Riflemen represented the “Ukrainian nationalistic counterrevo-
lution.” The main activist of this counterrevolution was the Tsentral’na Rada, the 
assembly of Ukrainian politicians that in 1917 proclaimed the Ukrainian National 
Republic, supported the imperialistic policies of the German Empire, and thereby 
“jeopardized the eternal wish of the Ukrainian nation to live in union with the frater-
nal Russian people.” Petliura, according to Osichyns’kyi, was an early Ukrainian 
nationalist who betrayed the Ukrainian nation by making an alliance with Poland 
and offering it the western Ukrainian territories. After the First World War, the 
Ukrainian nationalists escaped from Ukraine and worked for the intelligence services 
of such countries as Poland, Romania, and Germany. During the interwar period, “all 
these traitors gathered mainly in fascist Germany” where the Gestapo “made them 
into tools of German imperial fascism. On this ground, contemporary Ukrainian-
German nationalism grew up, which was an integral part of the German-fascist sys-
tem.” Osichyns’kyi introduced Konovalets’ as “Hitler’s personal friend” who was 
killed by the Gestapo in 1938 “through some misunderstanding between lords and 
mercenaries.” According to Osichyns’kyi, Bandera became the leader of the OUN 
because the Gestapo did not like Mel’nyk. During the Second World War, the 
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“Ukrainian-German nationalists” helped the Nazis to exploit Ukraine. The Ban-
derites went underground at the Germans’ request in order to give the impression 
that they were fighting against the occupiers, but in reality they were still serving the 
Germans. Melnykites did not go underground and openly collaborated with the Ger-
mans; they mobilized Ukrainians for work in Germany and established the Waffen-
SS Galizien. Osichyns’kyi concluded his article with the words: “Their lords—the 
German fascists—are perishing under the blows of the Red Army. They, too, will 
perish.”36 

Iaroslav Halan put the Soviet description of Banderites and the “Ukrainian-
German nationalists” in a nutshell in his pamphlet Vampires: “Thus, the Hitlerites 
[hitlery] left; the Banderites [bandery] remained. Allied with fascism and its regime 
not by life but by death, they kept operating by inertia even after their Mecca, Nazi 
Berlin, lay in ashes. … Banderites have been lucky enough to avoid the gallows, and 
they operate according to all the rules of fascist policy.”37 

The term “fascism” appeared in early Soviet propaganda very frequently, its 
meaning completely distorted and politicized. It was used as a political swearword. 
The Soviet propaganda apparatus identified all opponents of the Soviet Union as 
fascists. Some of them, such as Bandera, Mel’nyk, and Croatian politicians such as 
Pavelić, did adopt fascism but a number did not. One example is the depiction of the 
Polish AK and Polish politicians such as Józef Beck and Edward Rydz-Śmigły as 
fascists.38 Although some Polish politicians were sympathetic toward Nazi Germany 
prior to the Second World War, and some units of the AK collaborated with the Ger-
mans, these politicians and the AK did not adopt fascism. They were introduced in 
the Soviet narrative as fascists because they did not fight against Nazi Germany on 
the Soviet side, did not accept Soviet supremacy in Poland, and fought against the 
Polish communist authorities.39 In addition, Soviet propaganda used the term “fasc-
ist” as a catchphrase and a weapon and applied it during the Cold War to democratic 
states from the Western bloc.40 

Long before the Red Army came to western Ukraine in spring and summer 1944, 
Soviet leaders such as Khrushchev had been informed about the murder of Poles and 
Jews by the OUN and UPA, and their fighting against and killing Soviet partisans. 
When the Red Army reached western Ukraine, the OUN-UPA was still conducting 
ethnic cleansing against the Poles in eastern Galicia and murdering Jews who hid in 
the forests. The Soviet authorities did not invent these atrocities but depicted them in 
a distorted, simplistic, and propagandist manner, paying no attention to the nature 
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of the crimes, and stripping the victims of the OUN and UPA mass violence of their 
national identities, by depicting them simply as Soviet people.41 

One of the main distortions on the part of Soviet propaganda in the early phase 
was the identification of the OUN and UPA as an integral part of the Nazi empire. 
Banderites were not depicted as human beings but either as beasts or the limbs of a 
beast that was Nazi Germany. One caricature printed in Radians’ka Ukraїna showed 
a poisonous snake with a trident on its cap and another on its black skin, crawling 
out of a coffin, which, with a helmet with a swastika on it, symbolized defeated Nazi 
Germany (Fig. 31).42 

Fig. 31. Radians’ka Ukraїna, 15 March 1945. 

From late 1944, Vil’na Ukraїna published several speeches by representatives of 
Ukrainian peasants, workers, and intelligentsia. All of them argued in support of 
Soviet power and condemned the “Ukrainian-German nationalists.” On 12 November 
1944, speeches by peasant representatives of the Lviv oblast appeared. Ivan Mekh, 
head of the village council of Sukhovil, said: 
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We suffered cruel treatment for three years under the German predators, they 
tortured and murdered us for three years, they wanted to turn us into slaves. But 
they did not succeed. 

At the request of the great Stalin the whole Soviet people supported the Great 
Patriotic War and began a fervent fight against the Hitlerite oppressors. Our pea-
sants did not believe the Germans and their assistants, the German-Ukrainian 
nationalists, and we harmed the enemy as much as we could.43 

Ivan Turok from the village of Nahachiv said in his speech: 

The Germans killed our people and burned our villages. The Banderite bandits 
did the same. 

Our nation cursed them, they did so much harm! 
We liquidated the remains of the fascist rule, we rebuilt the economy, and the 

Banderites tried to disturb us from doing so. Death to the Banderites! (Applause, 
calls: “Shame on the Banderites! Death to them!”) 

Comrades! How long will we tolerate the Ukrainian-German nationalists? We 
have to grapple with them as soon as possible. 

From the first days of the liberation of our village, more than 300 people 
joined the Red Army. They are now combating the enemy on his own territory; 
they protect the honor of the Soviet motherland. And here some remnants mum-
ble that they love Ukraine and that they fight for it. 

Nothing of the kind! Banderites are the same fascists as the German bandits. 
They were hired by Hitler to kill the Ukrainian people. We have to come together 
to wipe out the fascist lickspittles. Enough hate for them has accumulated in us. 
We will wipe out the Ukrainian-German nationalists. (Applause.) Comrades! The 
Red Army is pushing the enemy further and further. We read with great pleasure 
in Comrade Stalin’s speech that the fascist beast will soon be killed in its own lair 
and that the flag of victory will soon be planted over Berlin. (Applause.)44 

M. H. Trehuba, head of the oblast health authority, stated: “These agents of the 
German fascists, the German-Ukrainian nationalists, tried to slow down our work. 
They mumble something about ‘independent Ukraine’ but in reality they are the 
worst enemies of Ukraine and the Ukrainian people. They dream about making the 
Ukrainian people slaves of fascist Germany again.”45 

Ol’ha Sobol’, a school-teacher in Zolochiv, described how people suffered under 
German occupation and how they were now rebuilding the social structures with the 
help of the Soviet authorities. Then she explained that “our work would be even more 
effective if the scum of society, the German-Ukrainian nationalists, did not bother us.  
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Fig. 32. Banderite Murderer. Himmler: “Bravo, bravo! You’ve learned my lessons well.”  

Vil’na Ukraїna, 24 January 1945. 

Now we have to accumulate all our strength, to liquidate as soon as possible the 
remains of the fascist occupation, the Banderites, to pull out and destroy this dirt by 
the roots.”46 

An important aspect of the Soviet propagandist approach to the OUN and UPA 
was the exposure of their war crimes. In contrast, the war crimes of the Red Army or 
the NKVD were never mentioned. Soviet propaganda frequently introduced Bandera 
in the context of the crimes of the OUN and UPA. Halan, for example, began one of 
his articles with the description of a fourteen-year-old girl who could not look at 
meat because one of the “bandits” who broke into her parents’ house decided not to 
kill her “to the glory of Stepan Bandera” but killed her parents in her presence and 
told her that this was her food.47 
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In early 1945, Soviet propaganda began to refer to the OUN-UPA and other Ukr-
ainian nationalists as “bourgeois.”48 This is not surprising if we bear in mind that in 
Soviet ideology fascism was nothing other than deformed capitalism.49 As early as the 
1920s Communist thinkers had linked fascism with capitalism and had described the 
Italian Fascists as petit bourgeois nationalists.50 The Ukrainian nationalists were 
enemies of the Soviet Union not only because they collaborated with Nazi Germany 
and betrayed the Soviet people but also because they were bourgeois. They were a 
product of such class enemies as the kurkul, or affluent peasant, and helped such 
“bourgeois” states as Nazi Germany. According to D. Z. Manuïl’s’kyi, who delivered a 
speech on 6 January 1945 to western Ukrainian teachers, the kurkul was the class 
that contributed to the development of the OUN and other Ukrainian nationalists. 
Because the kurkul class had already been liquidated in Soviet Ukraine in the early 
1930s, the OUN developed only in “the reactionary Polish state” and later under the 
occupation of “Hitlerite Germany” with which the kurkul class, according to Ma-
nuïl’s’kyi, also collaborated.51 

On 2 February 1945, a group of Ukrainian academics stated in Vil’na Ukraїna 
that Banderites were both kurkuls and “Hitler’s agents.” At Hitler’s behest and to 
maintain their “bourgeois” property, they had killed Poles, and those Ukrainians 
whom they accused of being communists.52 V. Kolisnyk characterized Bandera as a 
“son of a kurkul near Stanislaviv.”53 Another author argued that kurkuls are the “pil-
lar of Ukrainian fascists” and used the term “Banderite-kurkul vampires” (ban-
derivs’ko-kurkul’s’ki upyri).54 

Presenting the Ukrainian nationalists as a small group of traitors and enemies of 
the Ukrainian people was another important aspect of Soviet propaganda. 
Manuïl’s’kyi in his speech on 6 January 1945 emphasized that the Ukrainian natio-
nalists had nothing in common with the Ukrainians whom they murdered en masse. 
To substantiate this claim he described the Ukrainian nationalists as “cursed by their 
people, their parents, without kin, tribe, or motherland” and “armed by Germans, 
with German Marks in their pockets, with German rifles in their hands, in German 
coats and trousers, defending the German cause.” Logically they could not be Ukrai-
nian or represent the interests of Ukrainians.55 

Describing the “slaughter in villages ... in the Rivne oblast in summer 1943” 
Manuïl’s’kyi presented Ukrainians, and not Poles, as the main victims of this anti-
Polish ethnic cleansing. This resembles the Soviet representation of the Holocaust, 
the main victims of which were not Jews but Soviet people. Manuïl’s’kyi also pointed 
out that the Ukrainian nationalists sometimes shouted “Glory to Bandera!” while 
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they were burning small children in houses and barns. He described several methods 
the Banderites used to murder Ukrainians and came to the conclusion that the 
Ukrainian people could write its own “Red Book about perfidious extermination, 
terrible crimes, torturing and killing conducted by Banderites.” Then he began to 
legitimize the NKVD terror: “And these beasts dare to say that the organs of Soviet 
power apply terror toward them. Holy is the sword that hacks off the heads of such 
perpetrators!”56 

After explaining that the OUN was advised by the Germans to unleash terror 
against civilians, and challenging the meaning of the “Ukrainian underground,” 
Manuïl’s’kyi depicted the Ukrainian nationalists as a homogenous group without any 
divisions and factions: “All this ‘underground’ army carried black coats of German 
cloth, with yellow armbands, on which was written: ‘Bandera.’” Bandera, wrote 
Manuïl’s’kyi, was arrested by the Germans only after he agreed to be arrested.57 Ivan 
Hrushets’kyi, leader of the Lviv oblast Communist Party (Bolsheviks) of Ukraine 
(Komunistychna Partiia (bil’shovykiv) Ukraїny, KP(b)U) wrote in a similar tone on 
15 January 1945. He appealed to Ukrainians not to believe the Banderites, because 
they were still “trying to turn Ukraine into a colony of fascist Germany.” Then he 
stressed that, except for the fact that Banderites spoke Ukrainian, there was no dif-
ference between them and Nazis. In order to help the Nazis, according to Hru-
shets’kyi, Banderites blew up Soviet trains, which were on their way through Ukraine 
toward the front, and they killed peasants because they did not want them to attend 
schools where the Soviet authorities would teach them in Ukrainian. Hrushets’kyi 
also stressed that the leadership of the OUN consisted of kurkuls who exploited poor 
Ukrainian peasants.58 

In this early Soviet discourse, Bandera, as the main symbol of the “Ukrainian-
German nationalists,” also became a traitor and deceiver. As such, he deceived thou-
sands of Ukrainians who were named Banderites after him, believed in him, trusted 
him, and fought for an “independent Ukraine.” In an article titled “Letter to a Dupe” 
a group of “Ukrainian Soviet writers” wrote:  

Do you think that Stepan Bandera calls you to fight ‘for Ukraine’? This is the same 
Judas who has been eating German bread and drinking German beer for fifteen 
years. Does he lead the struggle for an ‘independent’ Ukraine from Prague, 
occupied by Germans, where he sits in the office of the head of the Gestapo? Ha, 
this scallywag is really a good fighter—only not for Ukraine but for German black 
profit.59 

In a similar manner, the same Soviet writers explained what the OUN, UPA, and 
UHVR meant:  
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They invented names for their bands: OUN, UPA. And recently, in order to 
change colors—something like UHVR. Do you want to know what this dog’s 
growling means? I will tell you in my simple human language: OUN means Horde 
of Extraordinary Killers [Orda Ubyvts’ Nesamovytykh], UPA means Mongrels of 
the Mangy Adolf [Ubliudky Parshyvoho Adol’fa], and UHVR—this is very simple 
Kill-Steal-Hang-Cut [Ubyvai-Hrabui-Vishai-Rizh]. This is the program of these 
Cains and Judases.60 

Like the Ukrainian nationalists, the Greek Catholic Church was also portrayed as 
a traitorous institution and an enemy of the Soviet people. On 8 April 1945, using the 
pseudonym Volodymyr Rasovych, Iaroslav Halan published an article in Vil’na 
Ukraїna, entitled “With Cross or Knife?”—in which he referred to the Greek Catholic 
Church as an agent of the Vatican, the German Empire, and Nazi Germany. Halan 
claimed that Andrei Sheptyts’kyi was financed by the German Empire, the Habsburg 
Empire, and the Vatican in order to be used for Germany’s colonial plans for Eastern 
Europe. According to Halan, Sheptyts’kyi used the church to separate the Galician 
Ukrainians culturally from other Ukrainians. The Ukrainian communist writer 
explained that Sheptyts’kyi’s plan was to unite all Orthodox churches with the 
Vatican, with which the Greek Catholic Church had been united since the late six-
teenth century. This would make Sheptyts’kyi the head of all Orthodox churches in 
Ukraine and Russia, from the Zbruch River to Vladivostok. During the First World 
War, Sheptyts’kyi failed because the Habsburg and German empires lost the war. 
After Hitler became chancellor of Germany, Sheptyts’kyi naturally began to orient 
himself toward Germany in order to accomplish his earlier plans. He finished his 
article with the conclusion: “These enemies of the Ukrainian people, dressed in the 
cassocks of Greek Catholic priests, are the organizers of the bands of German-
Ukrainian nationalists and the agents of German occupiers.”61 

According to another author, Kost’ Huslystyi, the very foundation of the Greek 
Catholic Church was a betrayal of the Ukrainian people. Huslystyi celebrated as he-
roes the few nobles who opposed the Union of Brest of 1596, an agreement between 
the Vatican and the Orthodox Church in the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth. For 
the same reason Huslystyi presented the Cossacks as heroes because they never 
accepted the Greek Catholic Church and had fought the Polish Catholic nobility. The 
Orthodox priests and nobles who accepted the union were traitors and enemies of 
the Ukrainian people. In the Soviet discourse, to be a Banderite frequently implied 
membership not only of the OUN or UPA but also of the Greek Catholic Church.62 

The UTsK and its directors Volodymyr Kubiiovych and Kost’ Pan’kivs’kyi were 
also introduced by Soviet propaganda as enemies of the Soviet Ukrainian people. 
Volodymyr Konvisar called Kubiiovych and Pan’kivs’kyi “professor-bandits,” “dogs 
with tridents,” or “dogs that howl on command from the hangman Hitler.” He 
neither explained nor even mentioned how and why the UTsK collaborated with the 

 
60  Ibid., 5. 
61  Volodymyr Rasovych, “Z khrestom chy z nozhem?”, Vil’na Ukraїna, 8 April 1945, 5‒6. For Halan’s 

pseudonym, see Motyka, Ukraińska partyzantka, 420. 
62  Cf. Kost’ Huslystyi, “Z istoriї borot’by ukraїns’koho narodu proty tserkovnoї uniї,” Vil’na Ukraїna, 7 

July 1945, 4–5. 



380 Stepan Bandera: The Life and Afterlife of a Ukrainian Nationalist 

 

Germans, aryanized Jewish property, spread antisemitic propaganda, supported the 
setting up of the Waffen-SS Galizien, and so forth. Such facts seem to have been less 
important for the Soviet regime than emotional phrases.63 

Dontsov attracted particular attention from Soviet propaganda. He was characte-
rized as a person who attacked Russian culture and socialist intellectuals, like 
Drahomanov, who did not support the Ukrainian separatist movement. Soviet ideol-
ogy claimed that Dontsov spread the “cult of betrayal” among the Ukrainian youth. 
He was like Hetman Ivan Mazepa, whom Russian national history and Soviet ideol-
ogy regarded as the Ukrainian traitor par excellence, because he changed sides in 
1708 and allied himself with the Swedish king Charles XII, the main enemy of Peter 
the Great in the Great Northern War. Soviet propaganda condemned Dontsov as the 
main “ideologist of Ukrainian-German nationalism,” whose publications were “rid-
dled with hostility to mankind.” Osyp Mstyslavets’, who published one of the first 
articles condemning Dontsov, was well informed about the main ideologist of Ukrai-
nian fascist ideology. He knew that Dontsov published Hitler’s and Mussolini’s bio-
graphies and edited the newspaper Vistnyk, and he was aware of many other 
important facts concerning Dontsov’s life. In his article, Mstyslavets’ established a 
direct link between the crimes of the OUN and UPA, whose victims he saw for him-
self in 1944, and the ideology of Dontsov. According to Mstyslavets’, nothing was 
more responsible for OUN and UPA crimes than Dontsov’s ideology.64 

The instrumentalization of Kubiiovych, Dontsov, and the Greek Catholic Church 
did not play a major role at local assemblies, however, where peasants cursed the 
Banderites and their masters—the Nazis. Especially after the capitulation of Nazi 
Germany on 8–9 May 1945, the “Ukrainian-German nationalists” were understood 
to be the last rump of German fascism and the greatest shame for the Soviet Union 
because the actual enemy, Nazi Germany, was already defeated. On 23 May 1945, 
Vil’na Ukraїna filled an entire page with excerpts from speeches at an assembly in 
the village of Zboїs’ka, and with a photograph of peasants listening to a speech by a 
Soviet activist. The picture and the excerpts from the speeches appear to be a 
representation of an ideal village meeting, which other villages were expected to 
emulate. Andrii Mel’nyk, one of the peasants who spoke at the assembly, said: “The 
Banderites’ hands are covered with the blood of their own people. They are 
responsible for many innocent victims. Therefore, they are afraid to leave their dog’s 
lairs; they are afraid of a severe punishment.”65 A peasant, Mariia Ponchyn, claimed 
to speak on behalf of all “the women of the western oblasts of Ukraine,” who would, 
according to her, “help the organs of Soviet power to detect the remains of the 
German accomplices, Ukrainian-German nationalists who do not leave their bunkers 
in the woods and prolong their sordid doings.”66 The head of the village council 
wondered with whom the “Ukrainian-German nationalists” would collaborate, now 
that Nazi Germany had been defeated. He also asked when they would finally 
understand that they had been deceived, and he hoped that this would happen soon, 
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because the Soviet authorities did not want to shed blood.67 Mar’ian Khmarnyi, 
secretary of the village council, said that the Banderites had been “deceived by the 
German fascists” and had continued the work of their masters like faithful dogs, 
although their masters were already dead.68 

The next issue of Vil’na Ukraїna printed the words of other peasants, as well as 
workers and holders of other positions in the Lviv oblast. The peasant Hryts’ko 
Koval’ argued that the “German mercenaries—Banderites” would not prevent Ukrai-
nians from rebuilding Ukraine.69 Dmytro Stan’ko, a school director in Lavrykiv said: 

Deceived by fascist propaganda, the Ukrainian-German nationalists continue to 
carry out the orders of Hitlerites, they conduct criminal work directed against the 
Ukrainian people. … If the bandits do not obey the Soviet government and the 
Communist Party, they will all, as will all those who help them, be held account-
able for betraying our Motherland. … 

I, as the school director, will try with all my strength and knowledge to raise 
children to be honest and devoted patriots of our Soviet state. … And how do the 
bandits from the forests contribute to our well-being? They, as Hitlerites, destroy 
cultural facilities and kill honest people. They show their faces to the people and 
now if they will not rethink and show regret, they will be annihilated. We will 
contribute to this endeavor. Our conversation with the bandits will be short. 
Weeds and thistles will grow on their graves, and our children will curse them.70 

Shortly after the defeat of Nazi Germany, the Banderites became an important 
subject at a conference of women from the Lviv oblast. Oleksandra Pastushna stated:  

The Hitlerite hordes, which intruded into our country in 1941, took all rights from 
women and men. Only those who killed and robbed Soviet people—together with 
the Germans—thrived. These were the Ukrainian-German nationalists. These 
people, these cursed Banderites, killed my husband. Why? Because he liked life 
on a collective farm.71 

A. M. Ahalakova said at the same conference that the “fascist mercenaries—
Banderite bandits” burned down her mother’s house because she dated a Soviet 
officer.72 I. P. Senta characterized the OUN-UPA as “forest bandits—Ukrainian-
German nationalists” and appealed to all women “to work harder and to conduct a 
more severe struggle against Banderites.”73 Olena Mykytenko, an activist of the 
KP(b)U committee of the Bibrka region, said: 

The Germans’ friends—the Ukrainian-German nationalists intimidate first of all 
the women, they try to turn them against the Soviet power. Yet the women saw 
clearly and see now that Banderites are friends of the Germans, that they are the 
enemies of the Ukrainian people. Attacking our people, they have no mercy for 
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women or children. Recently these beasts hanged the activist Mykolaieva, only 
because she spread the words of Bolshevik truth among the people. Thereby, the 
Banderites make themselves more and more unpopular. That’s nothing. Soon 
they will all be destroyed.74 

The heroization of Stalin and the Red Army was another very important part of 
the propaganda directed against “Ukrainian-German nationalists” and Banderites. 
Dozens, perhaps even hundreds, of articles about Stalin and his speeches to the 
Ukrainian people appeared in Soviet Ukrainian newspapers at the same time as the 
public condemnation of the Banderites.75 At many meetings praise of Stalin was 
closely related to the condemnation of the “Ukrainian-German nationalists.”76 In 
July 1945 in Lviv, a huge triumphal arch was erected to honor Red Army units that 
were returning from Germany. Pictures of Red Army trucks with enormous portraits 
of Stalin driving through the arch appeared in the newspapers.77 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Fig. 33. Stalin, Zhukov, Khrushchev, and the Ukrainian people. Vilna Ukraїna 27 July 1945. 

For the first anniversary of the liberation of Lviv by the Red Army, the stage in the 
opera house was decorated with a huge portrait of Stalin.78 Shortly afterwards, on 27 
July 1945, Vil’na Ukraїna published a black-and-white drawing of Stalin with 
Marshal of the Soviet Army Georgii Zhukov on his right and Khrushchev on his left, 
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standing in a place that seems to be the market square in Lviv (Fig. 33). The happy 
crowd around the three Soviet leaders smiles at them. A man dressed in peasant 
clothing holds bread and salt. A little girl of about five hands flowers to Stalin and 
leans her head against him. The Vozhd’ puts his left hand on her head. A huge red 
banner with the coat of arms of Soviet Ukraine waves above the three Soviet leaders. 
Another one waves from the tower of the town hall. The simple black-and-white 
picture with two red elements was a perfect explanation of who held power in 
western Ukraine at the end of the Second World War.79 

The International Military Tribunal at Nuremberg, during which such names as 
Bandera, Mel’nyk, and Kubiiovych were mentioned, again drew the attention of the 
Soviet propaganda apparatus to the question of Ukrainian radical nationalism. The 
Soviet Ukrainian press began to demand that the OUN leaders and other Ukrainian 
politicians be put in the dock. The real defendants at Nuremberg were, however, only 
Germans. No Croatian, Hungarian, Lithuanian, Romanian, Slovak, or Ukrainian 
collaborators or war criminals were prosecuted there. Some other leaders such as Ion 
Antonescu, Jozef Tiso, and Ferenc Szálasi were convicted in their respective coun-
tries. Others, such as Pavelić, Sima, and Bandera were not prosecuted, because they 
distorted and concealed the crimes committed by their movements, or because there 
was not enough evidence to put them on trial, or they were protected by Western 
intelligence, or disappeared.80 

Bourgeois Nationalists 

The stormy campaign against the “Ukrainian-German nationalists” ended in early 
1947. The timing seems to be related to the fact that, in December 1946, the Soviet 
authorities realized that the OUN and UPA were not only an insurgent movement 
rooted in western Ukraine but also an organization that was attacking the Soviet 
Union from outside with the help of Western intelligence.81 At about the same time, 
Soviet propaganda began to refer to the OUN and UPA underground in Ukraine, the 
ZCh OUN, UHVR, and other Ukrainian nationalist organizations, as “Ukrainian 
bourgeois nationalists.” The campaign against the “bourgeois nationalists,” unlike 
the previous one, stressed from the outset the relationship between Ukrainian natio-
nalism and capitalism or capitalist states such as the United States, the United 
Kingdom, and West Germany. Fascism was still an important component of the 
campaign directed against the Ukrainian genocidal nationalists but, in the course of 
the Cold War, the main enemy of the Soviet Union became capitalism, which Soviet 
ideology considered to be a deformed variant of fascism.82 

On 24 January 1948, Radians’ka Ukraїna published what was probably the most 
complex caricature of Ukrainian nationalism (Fig. 34 and 35).83 The cartoon portrays  

 
79  Vil’na Ukraїna, 27 July 1945, 1. 
80  For articles about the Nuremberg trials and Bandera, see “Do suvoroї i spravedlyvoї kary klyche 

nevynna krov,” Vil’na Ukraїna, 22 February 1946, 4; Petro Karmans’kyi, “Poklademo kinets’!” Vil’na 
Ukraїna, 22 February 1946, 4; V. M. Pan’kiv, “Zradnykiv na sud narodu!” Vil’na Ukraїna, 6 March 
1946, 5. 

81  See chapter 6 above, subsection “Operation Rollback,” page 309. 
82  Snyder, Bloodlands, 115. 
83  Radians’ka Ukraїna, 24 January 1948, 4. 
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Fig. 34. “The hope of restoring capitalism in Ukraine.” Radians‘ka Ukraїna 24 January 1948. 
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Fig. 35. “The hope of restoring capitalism in Ukraine.” Radians‘ka Ukraїna 24 January 1948. 
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the funeral of the “hope of restoring capitalism in Ukraine.” It illustrates very well 
how Soviet propaganda at that time shaped the image of Ukrainian nationalism in 
Soviet Ukrainian media. The cartoon is more abstract than the usual Soviet cartoons 
of that period. It depicts the Ukrainian nationalists in unusual roles among western 
politicians and thereby explains what the Ukrainian nationalist leaders were doing 
outside Ukraine. Bandera, portrayed as the widow of the late economic and political 
system, is located at the very center of the cartoon. He has large breasts, wears a 
mourning dress and a veil. His sorrow is represented by the huge tears that he wipes 
away with a white handkerchief. He is accompanied on his left by British Foreign 
Secretary Ernest Bevin, who says, “Don’t pester me, Mr. Bandera. I can barely stay on 
my feet. Try to get support from Marshall.” He walks immediately behind the hearse, 
on which two crows are perched. “There seems to be no corpse, but even so it reeks of 
carrion,” one says to the other. 

George C. Marshall, the American military leader for whom the economic plan for 
rebuilding Europe was named, is walking directly behind the widow and holding 
Bandera’s right hand. Bandera looks so sad and stunned that he obviously needs this 
help. Marshall’s eyes are closed; his head tilted up as if he were trying not to see what 
is going on and to stay calm. A woman and two men in mourning dress march behind 
Marshall. The woman is Lady Astor, the first woman to take up her seat in House of 
Commons, and a firm critic of communism and Stalin. One of the men next to Lady 
Astor might be Clement Attlee, British prime minister from 1945 to 1951. 

A funeral band—a conductor, two men with tubas, and one with a drum—marches 
behind Lady Astor and the two gentlemen. The conductor is labeled as “Kherst” and 
is William Randolph Hearst, owner of a chain of American anticommunist news-
papers who had sympathized with National Socialism and Italian Fascism in the 
1930s. Four ducks sit in the tubas. Two of them hold a poster with the inscription 
“Hearst—McCormick and Co.,” which refers to another anticommunist newspaper 
chain, owned by Robert R. McCormick. The drummer is the pan-Turk politician 
Aydin Yalcin, another enemy of the Soviet Union. A long file of war veterans, who 
resemble bandits more than soldiers, marches behind the orchestra. One of them 
holds a ragged banner with the inscription “SS Galicia Division” and a swastika 
under it. Another carries a poster with the inscription, “Who Said That We Are Ban-
dits? We Are Insurgents!” One of the veterans is holding a pistol and is about to 
shoot Yalcin, but another veteran tries to restrain him by saying, “This is our man.” 
Behind the Waffen-SS Galizien veterans march two dapper men. The sign they are 
carrying reads, “Ukrainian Canadian Committee.” Behind them march the DPs who 
have followed them to Canada. 

On the left of the cartoon, a cameraman is filming the procession while standing 
on a car. It is labeled “Hollywood.” The dollar sign on its hood emphasizes the 
commercial nature of this institution. Next to the car, Alex Birns, a Jewish-American 
mobster and racketeer, looks at the veteran who is about to shoot Yalcin. “Frankly 
speaking, this fighter won’t bring in capital for our company,” Birns says. Like Hearst 
and KUK, he symbolizes the new continent and its capitalist nature. The introduction 
of a Jewish-American mobster as a symbol of criminality interwoven with capitalism 
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might be a sign of the antisemitism that existed in the Soviet Union after the Second 
World War.84 The long row of Waffen-SS Galizien veterans and other nationalists in 
the procession indicates their emigration to capitalist countries which, according to 
the cartoon, were no less criminal than the Ukrainian nationalists themselves. 

Lower down, to the left of the procession, the poet Ievhen Malaniuk sits and re-
cites a poem while playing a hurdy-gurdy. Malaniuk was published in the 1930s in 
Vistnyk, a newspaper edited by Dontsov. His traditional Cossack-style haircut, 
known as a khokhol, makes him unrecognizable. Only the caption on the leg of his 
shabby pants reveals his identity. The poet has put his hat out in the hope of getting 
some coins. One unidentified man stands behind Malaniuk, another one beside him. 
Like the poet, both keep their eyes down. One of them holds his hand out for alms. 

To the right of the funeral crowd, Stanisław Mikołajczyk, prime minister of the 
Polish government-in-exile, walks beside Ferenc Nagy, prime minister of Hungary 
between February 1946 and May 1947, who resigned under duress and left for the 
United States. Mikołajczyk has a flask in his coat pocket and is holding a small cup. 
Nagy asks Mikołajczyk what’s wrong. “I myself don’t feel well,” Mikołajczyk answers. 
An older woman asks a policeman “Who is being buried?” and gets the harsh answer 
that they are burying a person who needs to be buried. 

A horse is pulling the hearse, in which a vase is standing on a box. An inscription 
says, “The Hope of Restoration of Capitalism in Ukraine.” The horse that is pulling 
the hearse says, “My carriage is the most suitable one for this crowd!” Kubiiovych, 
former head of the UTsK who, as General Secretary of the Shevchenko Scientific 
Society after the war, became an important émigré politician, is leading the horse. 
Dontsov, the ideologist who radicalized and fascistized Ukrainian nationalism, 
marches on the other side of the horse. The position of Kubiiovych and Dontsov in 
front of the hearse suggests the continuity of political orientation among Ukrainian 
émigrés. A man labeled as “Bully” (John Bull) and a man captioned as “Earl” are 
marching on one side of the hearse. Both are carrying torches. On the other side, 
Winston Churchill with his characteristic cigar is carrying a torch and shedding a 
tear. 

Six men and a boy are leading the procession. Franco, one of the last European 
dictators, is marching at the very front. He is carrying a pillow with a scepter and 
looking at Charles de Gaulle, the French general and statesman who led the Free 
French Forces during the war. De Gaulle is holding a pillow with a trident, the sym-
bol of Ukraine as introduced by the Ukrainian national movement in the late nine-
teenth century. The small and stout Franco looks at the tall and thin de Gaulle and 
asks, “Tell me, General, who is the man in the black mask?”—referring to a man be-
hind them wearing a top hat and with a mask over his eyes. “A president who wants 
to stay anonymous,” de Gaulle answers. 

The man with the mask is Harry Truman, president of the USA. He carries a 
wreath with a black ribbon with the inscription “From Wall Street.” On his right, 
marches Father Vasyl’ Laba, a chaplain of the Waffen-SS Galizien. Laba, carrying a 
wreath from Pope Pius XII, is shedding a tear. To the left of Truman in the carica-
ture, marches Władysław Anders, the Polish general who, after the war, was 

 
84  For antisemitism in the Soviet Union, see Snyder, Bloodlands, 339–77. 
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associated with the Polish anticommunist government-in-exile in London. Anders is 
carrying a wreath with the inscription “From Forest Colleagues” referring to the 
Polish nationalist underground (Pol. leśni ludzie), which fought against the com-
munists after the Second World War. Randolph Churchill, a small man with a cigar 
in his mouth, marches in front of the president of the USA. He holds his head high 
and seems to enjoy himself in the role of an important personality. The identity of 
the son of the most famous twentieth-century British politician is indicated not only 
by his cigar but also by the inscription on the ribbon of his wreath: “From Father and 
Me, R. Churchill.” Besides him marches an archetype of a German Nazi, a mixture of 
Hitler and a conservative general. The plaster on his cheek symbolizes that he is 
already defeated, but the Spitzhaube, or Prussian army helmet, which he carries on a 
pillow over his head, indicates pride and a will to continue. On the pillow, lower than 
the Spitzhaube we read “Tsentral’na Rada,” the assembly of Ukrainian politicians 
during the First World War, which collaborated with and depended on the German 
Empire. The inscription on the banner above the funeral procession reads, “Hopes 
and Dreams Have Been Shattered.” The message is strengthened by a swastika at one 
end of the banner and by a trident at the other. The inscription under the cartoon 
says, “They are sad because we are happy.” 

All in all, the cartoon provided the Soviet audience with a range of messages. It 
informed its recipients that the Ukrainian nationalists were working with western 
capitalists who were allied with fascists and continued their anti-Soviet policies in a 
slightly modified version. The connection between fascism and capitalism was indi-
cated, among other ways, by the prominent positioning of Franco at the very head of 
the funeral procession, the depiction of Hearst, who sympathized with National 
Socialism and Italian Fascism in the 1930s, and by several other symbols such as the 
archetype of a German Nazi mentioned. It also indicated that there was no real 
difference between fascism and capitalism. Capitalism appeared as a kind of succes-
sor to fascism, which had to be replaced after Nazi Germany and fascist Italy were 
defeated. The cartoon not only marginalized the significance of democracy in the 
Western bloc after 1945 but also introduced representatives of democratic states as 
enemies of the Soviet Union, marching along with Nazis. Finally, the cartoon 
informed its recipients that Ukrainian nationalists had already lost the battle and 
would not seize power in Ukraine or establish capitalism there but would continue 
attacking the Soviet Union with the help of “fascists” and “capitalists.” 

The Reaction of the Nationalist Underground to Soviet Propaganda 

The OUN in Ukraine reacted to the Soviet propaganda and began to protect its im-
age. One significant publication that defended the OUN and Bandera was the 
brochure Who Are the Banderites and What Are They Fighting For. The Russian 
version appeared in 1948, the Ukrainian one in 1950.85 The Ukrainian version was 
  
  

 
85  Kto takie banderovtsy i za chto oni boriutsia (OUN pod rukovodstvom Stepana Bandery, 1948); Khto 

taki banderivtsi ta za shcho vony boruts’sia (Kiev, Lviv: OUN, 1950). 
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Fig. 36. Nil Khasevych. Bandera’s woodcut portrait. 

published with illustrations by the artist Nil Khasevych, among them Bandera’s 
woodcut portrait. The Russian version appeared without illustrations. Both editions 
were published anonymously but their author was Petro Fedun, alias Poltava, a 
member of the OUN, UPA, and UHVR who, unlike Bandera, claimed the supremacy 
of the UHVR over the OUN. A few years after the publication, Poltava and Khasevych 
were killed by the NKVD: Poltava in December 1951, Khasevych in March 1952. 

One important point in Poltava’s brochure was his definition of Banderites: 

Banderites is a popular term for all members of the insurgent and underground 
struggle that the Ukrainian nation began during the German occupation. ... This 
term comes from the name of the famous son of the Ukrainian nation, a 
longstanding revolutionary fighter for the freedom and state independence of 
Ukraine, the Leader of the revolutionary Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists 
(OUN)—Stepan Bandera. ... Thus, according to their organization or party 
membership Banderites are either a) members of the OUN, led by S. Bandera, or 
b) Ukrainian patriots without a party affiliation who struggle for the freedom and 
state independence of Ukraine either in the Ukrainian Insurgent Army (UPA) or 
in the revolutionary underground.86 

 
86  Khto taki banderivtsi, 5–6. 
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Poltava provided a common understanding of the term that would change slightly 
over time and had a very different meaning in other discourses, in particular the 
Soviet one. Elsewhere, Poltava added that “deep patriotism” is another important 
characteristic of Banderites. One proof for the “deep patriotism” of Banderites was 
the argument that they did not surrender to enemies but shot themselves with their 
last bullets.87 

According to Poltava there was nobody in the entire Soviet Union who had not 
heard about Banderites. Yet the majority of people did not know the truth about 
them, because they believed Soviet propaganda and therefore thought that Ban-
derites were “‘Ukrainian-German nationalists,’ that is Hitlerites, or in accordance 
with the more recent Bolshevik lie, English-American agents, or real ‘kurkuls’ or 
‘bourgeois’, or real ‘bandits.’”88 Then Poltava claimed that all Soviet propaganda was 
a lie and that the task of the brochure was therefore “to tell the Soviet people a short 
truth about us, Banderites, about our revolutionary liberation movement.”89 Thereby, 
Poltava used Soviet propaganda, which obviously distorted the OUN and the 
nationalist underground, in order to present his distorted image of the OUN-UPA as 
a true one. Like many other ideologists in Ukraine and in the diaspora at that time, 
he depicted the OUN-UPA as a “revolutionary liberation movement,” composed of 
“freedom-loving patriots” and “idealistic romantics” who did not commit any war 
crimes but only fought for justice, liberty, and independence. 

With the help of Soviet propaganda, Poltava also denied collaboration with Ger-
many: “In particular we Banderites have never collaborated with Germans as the 
Bolshevik enemies of the nation lie about us.”90 Similarly, the author denied the 
OUN-UPA’s terror against Jews, Poles, and Ukrainians and claimed that, because of 
the Banderites’ “famous and heroic” past, the “nation loves and support us.”91 Ban-
derites were for him a group that would rescue not only Ukrainians but all non-
Russian nations from the Soviet regime: “We Banderites fight against Bolsheviks 
because they conduct policies of severe national suppression and economic exploit-
ation of Ukraine and all the other non-Russian nations of the USSR.”92 Poltava also 
claimed that Bolsheviks “burn alive Ukrainian patriots,” by whom he meant Ban-
derites, or sent them to Siberia “for our love for Ukraine.” He enumerated several 
dreadful crimes and stated that Bolsheviks committed them against Ukrainian 
patriots.93 

Introducing the program and political aims of the Banderites, Poltava claimed 
that they were trying to establish “an independent Ukrainian national state in the 
Ukrainian ethnographic territory.” At the same time, he believed that the “Banderite 
revolutionary movement had nothing in common either with fascism or with Hitler-
ism” and that only “Bolshevik enemies of the nation connect us with fascism.”94 He 
also introduced the ABN, which, together with the OUN-UPA, was trying to mobilize 
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other nations of the Soviet Union for a struggle against the Soviet regime and 
stressed that the ABN would be glad if the Russian nation would join their revolu-
tionary struggle.95 

In addition to his denial of crimes against Jews and Poles, Poltava denied the 
crimes by the OUN and UPA against those civilians whom the nationalists accused of 
being communists or supporters of the Soviet regime, and of whom they killed more 
than 20,000 civilians, including women and children from the families of the “com-
munist traitors”: “We do not fight against the Soviet national masses. ... We liquidate 
only the leading representatives of the party, MVD and MGB agents, and all those 
collaborating venal elements who actively oppose our movement and are hostile to 
the Ukrainian nation.”96 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig. 37. Nil Khasevych. UPA partisans and a child. 

In his brochure, Poltava tried to establish an image of the OUN-UPA that contra-
dicted Soviet propaganda. This nationalist image was no less problematic than the 
Soviet one. With the destruction of the OUN-UPA in the early 1950s the romanticized 
image of the national revolutionaries continued to exist in western Ukraine, mainly 
at the family level or in informal circles. This image was passed from generation to 
generation, for example, through songs that parents sang to their children, fairy 
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tales, or romantic stories about the OUN, UPA, Bandera and Shukhevych, who had 
heroically fought against the Soviet oppressors for a free Ukraine and died the death 
of martyrs. “My mother sang me Ukrainian insurgent songs to put me to bed. And we 
were not an unusual family. Thus the cult of Bandera and the Banderites was very 
strong among us, already before the fall of communism,” the leading Ukrainian 
historian Iaroslav Hrytsak, born in 1960, said in an interview in early 2013.97 

Because romanticizing or expressing admiration for Bandera or the OUN-UPA 
was punishable, and anyone who did so in public could be accused of counter-
revolutionary propaganda, the Providnyk became, over time, a symbol of resistance. 
Simultaneously every black spot on the image of the OUN-UPA and Bandera was 
whitewashed. The nationalist propaganda that came to Ukraine from abroad was 
limited but also had some impact on the Bandera image. At their publishing house 
Cicero, at Zeppelinstrasse 67 in Munich, the ZCh OUN reprinted Bandera’s Perspec-
tives of the Ukrainian Revolution, bound with the cover of From the History of the 
Collectivization of Agriculture in the Western Oblasts of the Ukrainian SSR, and 
smuggled it to Soviet Ukraine, where it was introduced into library catalogues.98 

Halan—Soviet Martyr and Heroic Intellectual 

An interesting question related to the Soviet occupation of western Ukraine and the 
Bandera myth was the person and cult of the Ukrainian communist writer, Iaroslav 
Halan, who was born in Dynów in 1902, attended a high school in Przemyśl (Pere-
myshl’), and joined the KPZU in 1924. Between 1923 and 1928, Halan studied in 
Vienna and Cracow. He subsequently worked as a teacher of Polish in a Ukrainian 
high school in Luts’k (Łuck), from which he was soon dismissed because of his com-
munist affiliation, and from then on he earned his living as a journalist. He was 
arrested in 1936 and 1937. His wife studied in Kharkiv and was killed during one of 
Stalin’s purges. This, however, did not change Halan’s attitude to the Soviet Union 
and communism. The most important phase of his career began toward the end of 
the Second World War and accelerated afterwards when he worked for the news-
paper Radians’ka Ukraїna as a journalist, and in particular as a correspondent at the 
Nuremberg trial.99 

Halan wrote a range of articles, essays, and short stories, which condemned 
Ukrainian nationalism and the Greek Catholic Church. In that way he attacked the 
two most important components of western Ukrainian or Galician Ukrainian 
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identity. At the same time, the Ukrainian communist writer legitimized the Soviet 
occupation of Ukraine, the Soviet terror against civilians, and the dissolution of the 
Greek Catholic Church. Because of his talent and the ideological usefulness of his 
writing, Halan became perhaps the most important western Ukrainian writer and 
intellectual after the war. His works frequently appeared first as newspaper articles 
or pamphlets and were then collected and published as brochures or in antholo-
gies.100 Although Halan was a convinced communist and believed in the Soviet Union 
and “Moscow’s civilizing mission,” he criticized some aspects of Soviet policies in 
western Ukraine, for example the superiority of the Russian language and the de-
struction of cultural artifacts. The Soviet authorities regarded him as a person who 
“cannot be trusted blindly.”101 

On 24 October 1949, Halan was murdered at the desk in his apartment by means 
of a hatchet. After the killing, a wave of repression was directed against the Lviv 
intelligentsia. Many students were dismissed from the universities.102 According to 
Stashyns’kyi, who was slipped into the UPA underground by the MGB to find Halan’s 
murderer, Halan was killed by Mykhailo Stakhur. The UPA partisan came to Halan’s 
apartment together with Ilarii Lukashevych, a student who visited the writer 
regularly. The guards, who were permanently stationed at the entrance to Halan’s 
apartment building, admitted Stakhur because of his companion. Stakhur was 
arrested in July 1951 and at the end of a trial on 15 and 16 October 1951, he was 
sentenced to death and executed on the same day.103 

Stakhur’s trial was a typical Soviet show trial. Several Soviet Ukrainian news-
papers published the identical reports of the trial, which confirmed the common 
Soviet bias concerning Ukrainian nationalism.104 According to the Soviet Ukrainian 
press, the judge came to the conclusion that the assassination was organized “on 
instructions from the Vatican.” Stakhur was ordered by his superiors to kill the com-
munist writer because Halan “spoke out against the Vatican and, during the Nurem-
berg trial, demanded that Stepan Bandera be extradited and put on trial.” Stakhur 
also admitted that he collected secret information for “Stepan Bandera, who passed 
them to Anglo-American intelligence.” The prosecutor demanded “only one judg-
ment, one punishment—death on the gallows [because] a rabid dog should be 
destroyed.”105 
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After his death Halan became a Soviet martyr, even more popular than during his 
life. From 1951 onward, several biographies of Halan appeared.106 His publications 
were reprinted many times. Volumes with propagandistic pamphlets, essays, and 
poems, directed against the “Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists,” honored Halan in 
their titles.107 In Lviv, Kiev, Kharkiv, and other cities, streets were named after him. 
In 1954 the film We Cannot Forget This appeared, which told the story of a writer 
named Alexander Garmash and was based on Halan’s life.108 In 1973 the film Until 
the Last Minute also portrayed Halan’s “heroic” life.109 On 24 October 1960, a mu-
seum devoted to Halan was opened in the four-room apartment at 18 Hvardiis’ka 
Street, in which the writer was murdered. In 1972 a monument to Halan was un-
veiled in Lviv.110 

The museum familiarized visitors with the writer’s life, writings, political activ-
ism, and devotion to the idea of communism, with the help of such items as his sig-
nature, manuscripts, pictures, letters, illustrations from his publications, personal 
belongings, and furniture. Each room in the four-room museum apartment was de-
voted to a different period of Halan’s life. The furniture and smaller objects stood, 
according to the museum-guide booklet, exactly as they had when Halan lived in the 
apartment. One of the most important items was Halan’s desk, at which he was mur-
dered by a “Vatican agent,” as the museum-guide booklet informed visitors. The 
newspapers Pravda and L’vovskaia pravda and the manuscript of his last work, The 
Greatness of a Liberated Person (Velych vyzvolenoї liudyny), lay on the desk. They 
bore three spots of Halan’s blood, which, according to the museum booklet, fell on 
them when Halan was hit with a hatchet on 24 October 1949.111 

Exhibits in the fifth room of the museum were collected according to the motto 
“The Writer Prolongs His Struggle.” The museum booklet described it as follows: 

Although Ia. Halan died, his fervent artistic word lives and operates. In Ukraine 
alone Halan’s works were republished fifty times, altogether more than two mil-
lion copies. They are popular not only in the Soviet Union but also abroad. In 
addition to his many publications that had already appeared in the fraternal re-
publics of our Motherland, the writer’s works appeared in German, Romanian, 
Hungarian, Czech, and other languages of the countries of the socialist camp.112 
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Soviet Heroes and Monuments to the Victims of the OUN-UPA 

Like the OUN and UPA, Soviet propaganda presented victims of their political oppo-
nents as heroes and martyrs. “Having learnt the practice of burning people alive from 
the German camps,” Pavlo Zhytenko wrote, “Banderites tied an old forester to a tree, 
brought a bunch of dry branches, set them on fire, and the unfortunate victim of the 
Banderite hangmen died the death of a national martyr.”113 Though the account may 
have been true, since the OUN and UPA often applied sadistic methods to kill people, 
one should differentiate between the description of an event and the narrative styli-
zation of their victims. In a sense, all Red Army soldiers who died in the struggle 
against Nazi Germany or the OUN-UPA were represented by Soviet propaganda as 
heroes and martyrs. Their death was used to legitimize the Stalinist system and the 
incorporation of Ukraine in the Soviet Union. Similarly, some NKVD personnel who 
died while taking action against the nationalist underground were commemorated as 
martyrs or heroes. 

The two best-known individuals turned into Soviet heroes and martyrs in post-
war Ukraine were the Red Army general Nikolai Vatutin and the Soviet intelligence 
agent and partisan Nikolai Kuznetsov. Vatutin died in a hospital in Kiev six weeks 
after he was injured by a UPA partisan on 28 February 1944. Kuznetsov was killed on 
9 March 1944 in a fight against UPA partisans. Not only were several streets, schools, 
museums, and theatres named after Vatutin and Kuznetsov but also two cities: one 
founded in 1947 in Cherkasy oblast and known as Vatutine and one founded in 1973 
in the Rivne oblast and known as Kuznetsovsk. A monument dedicated to Vatutin 
was unveiled in Kiev in 1948; one to Kuznetsov in Lviv, in 1962.114 

In western Ukraine, as in other parts of the Soviet Union, graveyards for the fal-
len soldiers of the Red Army were established, as were monuments, and memorial 
complexes in their honor, in almost every city, town, and village. Several were 
erected in cities such as Lviv. The most popular image of a Soviet politician, present 
in every Ukrainian town, city, and many villages, was that of Lenin. The local au-
thorities took care of monuments devoted to Soviet politicians and the Red Army. 
Annual memorial celebrations were organized at the monuments, for example on 9 
May, Victory Day. It was however forbidden to commemorate the OUN members and 
UPA partisans who were killed by the Red Army, the destruction battalions, and the 
NKVD. According to Soviet ideology, the OUN activists and UPA partisans were 
killed as bandits and enemies of the Soviet people.115 The same policies were applied 
to civilians killed by the NKVD who were not in the OUN-UPA but who either helped 
the OUN-UPA because the Ukrainian nationalists intimidated them, or who did not 
help the OUN-UPA at all but were accused of belonging to or helping them. Regard-
less of their actual status, all such victims of NKVD and other Soviet terror were 
presented by Soviet propaganda as Banderites, fascists, collaborators, bourgeois 

 
113  Pavlo Zhytenko, “Smert’ i vichne prokliattia bandytam!” Vil’na Ukraїna, 16 June 1946, 6. 
114  David Marples, Heroes and Villains. Creating National History in Contemporary Ukraine (Buda-

pest: Central European University Press, 2007), 155, 158; Rossoliński-Liebe, Der Raum der Stadt, 7. 
115  On 30 December 1952 the Ministry of Culture of the Ukrainian SSR forbade the erection of monu-

ments without the approval of the authorities. See K. Krepkyi, head of the propaganda section in the 
Oblast Committee of the KPU to M. K. Lazurenko, Secretary of the Oblast Committee of the KPU, 
March 1957, DALO, f. 3, op. 6. spr. 97, 40. 
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nationalists, capitalists, kulaks, and essentially as enemies of the Soviet Union and 
therefore the Ukrainian people. 

In western Ukraine, the KPU built not only monuments that heroized the Red 
Army and thus indirectly condemned the OUN-UPA but also monuments to the 
victims of the OUN-UPA or to those who died in the struggle against them. Such 
monuments were erected in western Ukraine from the early 1950s. In March 1957, as 
the fortieth anniversary of the October Revolution approached, K. Krepkyi, head of 
the propaganda section of the Lviv Oblast Committee of the KPU, wrote to M. K. 
Lazurenko, secretary of the Oblast Committee of the KPU that in the entire Lviv 
oblast there were only six monuments to “combatants of the Great Patriotic War and 
Soviet activists who died in the struggle against the Ukrainian bourgeois national-
ists.”116 After this complaint, hundreds of relevant monuments were erected. 

A number of monuments to people who were killed by the OUN-UPA had plaques 
with inscriptions such as “Eternal glory to the heroes who gave their lives for the 
glory and independence of our motherland.”117 Other monuments named the “Ukrai-
nian bourgeois nationalists” as responsible for the killings. Depending on the district, 
monuments in the Lviv oblast that were explicitly or implicitly devoted to the victims 
of the OUN-UPA constituted between 10 and 80 percent of all monuments in the late 
1960s. In most districts, however, they did not exceed 20 percent.118 

In the village of Strilkiv, Stryi district, the unveiling of a monument with the in-
scription “In memory of our fellow-villagers who died in the struggle against the 
Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists and German-fascist occupiers” was planned for 9 
May 1967. The monument was devoted to people from the villages of Strilkiv, Be-
rezhnytsia, Lotatnyky, Slobidka, and Mertiuky who “were murdered by the Ukrainian 
bourgeois nationalists at the time of establishing Soviet authorities and kolkhoz 
structures” or who had “died on the fronts of the Great Patriotic War (1941–1945).” 
In Holobutiv, Stryi district, a monument “in honor of the first kolkhoz chairman who 
was murdered by Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists” was erected in 1957. In the 
village of Bratkivtsi, Stryi district, a similar monument devoted to Mykola Dubyk, the 
first kolkhoz chairman, was unveiled in the same year. In 1961 in the village of 
Dubliany, Sambir district, a three-meter-high (ten-foot) figure of a combatant was 
erected for those who were “murdered by the Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists.” In 
the village of Sukhodoly, Brody district, a monument with the inscription “Evstakhii 
Petrovych Ostrovs’kyi 1928–1945. To the faithful Komsomol member who was 
murdered by Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists” was erected in the cemetery in 1965. 
In the village of Kornychi, Sambir district, a concrete pyramid-like monument two 
and a half meters (eight feet) high “in the memory of those who were murdered by 
German fascist occupiers and Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists” was erected in 
1963.119 
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For the fiftieth anniversary of the October Revolution, the erection of a monu-
ment to the “teacher Iosyp Hryhorovych Karl, murdered by Ukrainian bourgeois 
nationalists” was planned for the village of Zaluzhany, Sambir region. In the town of 
Turka, Lviv oblast, a four-meter-high (thirteen-foot) obelisk was erected in 1959. A 
plaque with names of “members of the Komsomol from the Turka district who died 
in the fight against the Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists” was affixed to the 
monument. In the Turka district, monuments to the “glorious soldiers-compatriots, 
who died at the front during the Great Patriotic War in 1941–1945 and also those 
who died in the struggle against OUN members,” were erected in the villages of Bitlia 
in 1965, Hnyla in 1966, Husne in 1966, Verkhne in 1965, Krivka in 1966. In Pusto-
myty, a district center in the Lviv oblast, a monument devoted to those who died in 
the struggle against the “German fascists and Ukrainian nationalists between 1941 
and 1948” was erected in 1955. Another monument in Pustomyty, devoted to these 
who “struggled for the establishment of Soviet power and who were killed by Ukrai-
nian bourgeois nationalist bands” was planned for 1967. At the cemetery in Stryi a 
monument devoted to “the Hero of the Soviet Union who was killed by Ukrainian 
bourgeois nationalists” was erected in 1966. A monument was planned to be erected 
by 1 June 1967 in Skole, in honor of Mykhailo Pon, a “martyred” member of the 
KPZU, who was “murdered by Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists” on the Makivka 
mountain in 1933. At the Vasyl’ Stefanyk collective farm in Iaseniv, Brody district, 
and the Taras Shevchenko collective farm in Leshniv, also in the Brody district, 
monuments were erected to “fellow villagers who died in the Great Patriotic War or 
were murdered by Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists.” In the village of Velykyi Li-
ubin’, Horodok district, a memorial plaque was unveiled in 1966 with the inscription 
“In this place on 26 April 1945 Stepan Hryhorovych, the first head of the village 
council of Velykyi Liubin’, was murdered by Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists. Etern-
al Glory to the faithful son of the people.” In the village of Zvertiv, Nesterov 
(Zhovkva) district, a three-meter-high (ten-foot) statue of “woman-mother” was 
unveiled in 1965. The monument was devoted to the “party and Soviet activists who 
were murdered by Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists.” In the village of Turynka, 
district Nesterov, one monument to “fellow villagers murdered by the Ukrainian 
bourgeois nationalists” was unveiled in 1962 and another one in 1967. In Pidbuzh, 
Drohobych district, a monument to soldiers “fallen during the liberation of the vil-
lage” was erected in 1951. Another one to “fallen activists murdered by the Ukrainian 
bourgeois nationalists” was erected close to the cultural center and unveiled on 9 
May 1967. In the village of Volia, Drohobych district, a 2.7-meter-high (nine-foot) 
obelisk was erected and unveiled in 1955 at the grave of the “secretary of the Komso-
mol organization, Mariia Svyshch, who was martyred by Ukrainian bourgeois 
nationalists.”120 

Between 1965 and 1967, monuments to individuals who were “murdered by 
Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists” were unveiled in thirty-five villages of the Droho-
bych district. In the village of Kustyn, Radekhiv district, a statue of “Mother-
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Motherland” (maty bat’kivshchyna) who is holding a wounded soldier in her lap was 
unveiled in March 1966. The monument bore a plaque with names of “fourteen 
people who in 1941–1945 were killed by the Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists.” In the 
Iavoriv district, the KPU planned to erect six obelisks and one monument on the 
occasion of the fiftieth anniversary of the October Revolution, to those who “had 
fallen in the struggle against the German-fascist occupiers and the Ukrainian bour-
geois nationalists.” In Mykolaïv, a monument to the “glory of the soldiers who fell 
during the liberation of the town during the Great Patriotic War and for the Soviet 
activists who were murdered by the Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists during the 
struggle for the establishment of the Soviet power” was erected in 1946. In the Zolo-
chiv district, six monuments in different villages for “soldiers and fellow villagers 
who fell in the Great Patriotic War or were murdered by Ukrainian bourgeois natio-
nalists” were erected in 1965 and in 1967. In Boryslav a monument to “soldiers who 
were murdered by Ukrainian bourgeois nationalists” was erected in 1968.121 

This enumeration of monuments, which could be prolonged, illustrates that the 
Soviet authorities tried hard, particularly in villages and small towns, to convince the 
local residents that the OUN and UPA murdered local civilians and that nationalist 
insurgents were “traitors” and “enemies of the Ukrainian people.” Local Ukrainians 
exposed to this propaganda knew from their own experience that the nationalist 
insurgents terrorized the local communities and killed civilians. However, they also 
remembered the Soviet terror, which was at times even harsher than the nationalist 
one. Unlike the nationalists’ crimes, those of the Soviets were completely absent from 
the official memory discourse. In reaction to this, western Ukrainians launched an 
informal anti-Soviet rebellious discourse on the subject of the OUN-UPA. This dis-
course transformed the OUN-UPA into a symbol of resistance. With time, the crimi-
nal, authoritarian, and deeply antidemocratic nature of the Ukrainian nationalist 
movement was buried in oblivion, and the Ukrainian nationalists reappeared, espe-
cially in the late 1980s, as anti-Soviet freedom fighters.122 

Bandera in the Late Soviet Discourse 

From early 1950 onward, an increasing number of monographs and essay collections 
on Bandera and related subjects appeared, written by historians, journalists, political 
activists, and members of the Communist Party. There were also joint publications 
by academics and famous authors, for example Mykhailo Rudnyts’kyi, a professor at 
Lviv University, with Stalin Prize laureate Vladimir Beliaev. This trend continued 
until the late 1980s. All official publications in the Soviet Union about Banderites 
and Ukrainian nationalists were written to extol the Soviet Union and to condemn 
the Banderites and other enemies. The content and meaning of the publications was 
monitored by the Soviet censorship.123 
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Some Soviet Ukrainian historians and writers read and commented on publica-
tions from the Ukrainian diaspora such as the newspapers Svoboda, Shliakh 
peremohy, and Nova dumka. They also mocked the political actions of such diaspora 
organizations as the Ukrainian Congress Committee of America (Ukraїns’kyi Kon-
gresovyi Komitet Ameryky, UKKA) and the Ukrainian Canadian Congress (Kongres 
Ukraїntsiv Kanady, UCC).124 

Authors in the Soviet Union who wrote political pamphlets frequently claimed 
that they presented only pure and self-evident facts. The majority of the publications, 
however, did not quote any sources and did not follow academic rules. The Ukrainian 
Soviet author and most popular victim of the Ukrainian nationalists, Halan, was the 
intellectual guru of several Soviet writers and historians. Klym Dmytruk for example, 
a prolific Soviet writer, ended his essay collection Without Homeland, which was 
translated into English, by citing Halan: “No matter how Stets’ko, Slipyi, Pobihush-
chyi and other such traitors go out of their way to impede progress, they will never 
succeed. The renegades should remember the words addressed to them by Yaroslav 
Halan: ‘They will die like traitors at some foreign back door.’”125 

Soviet historians and writers had access to the archives and were familiar with 
such crucial documents as “The Struggle and Activities of the OUN in Wartime.” For 
example, Beliaev knew about the blacklists that the OUN-B activists prepared before 
the beginning of the “Ukrainian National Revolution.”126 Soviet ideology, however, 
had absolute priority over knowledge of history. The only archival documents quoted 
by historians were those that did not clash with ideological standards and did not 
challenge Soviet dogma. One of the most popular Soviet dogmas in the Bandera 
problematic was the labeling of Theodor Oberländer and the Nachtigall battalion as 
the killers of the Polish professors in Lviv on the night of 3–4 July 1941. They were 
also accused of being the main perpetrators of the Lviv pogrom, as well as partici-
pants in numerous other massacres after the German invasion of the Soviet Union 
commenced on 22 June 1941. After Gomułka’s speech in 1959, Oberländer appeared 
frequently in Soviet publications as a “professional killer.” Some publications stated 
that Oberländer killed the Polish professors himself, others that Bandera persuaded 
Oberländer and the Gestapo to kill the Polish professors, or that Hryn’okh, the batta-
lion chaplain, forgave the soldiers their sin of killing the professors.127 

Despite the censorship and the obligatory ideological structure, the quality of the 
Soviet publications about Banderites and Ukrainian nationalists varied. In the 1970s 
and 1980s a few studies appeared that did not completely ignore the factual side of 
history. Among their authors were historians such as Vitalii Cherednychenko and V. 
P. Troshchyns’kyi, who worked in the archives and read English, German, and Polish 
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publications about the Ukrainian nationalists by John Armstrong, Roman Ilnytzkyi, 
and Ryszard Torzecki. However, even studies written by Cherednychenko, 
Troshchyns’kyi, and other Soviet historians who did not completely ignore reality are 
unreliable. In general, their authors mixed Soviet ideology with historical facts. A 
speech by a communist politician was for them a more reliable source than an 
original archival document. For example, Cherednychenko quoted Albert Norden, a 
member of the Central Committee of the SED, as a source to prove that the 
Nachtigall battalion under the leadership of Oberländer killed 3,000 Poles and Jews 
in Lviv between 1 and 6 July 1941. And a quotation from Lenin was even better 
evidence for any claim.128 

A very important feature of Soviet propagandist writings was the use of emotional 
and offensive language. Soviet writers and journalists such as Polikarp Shafeta, Klym 
Dmytruk, and Vladimir Beliaev wrote stories about Banderites with the simple inten-
tion of spreading hatred against the nationalist “enemies of the people.” Describing 
the Ukrainian nationalists, Soviet writers used a range of derogatory terms. For ex-
ample, the OUN was called the “criminal OUN gang”; the Banderites, “Banderite 
hangmen”; Bandera, a “Führer” and not a Providnyk or Vozhd’ as he called himself 
and was known among his admirers. Stets’ko was called a “doddering dandy” or 
“insolent mini-führer.” Soviet writers also alleged that the OUN-UPA leaders were 
rapists and that Shukhevych received medical treatment for a “social disease.”129 

Some of the Soviet publications published in English instrumentalized the war 
crimes committed by the Ukrainian nationalists and condemned the Western bloc for 
helping war criminals. One of them concerned Dmytro Sachkovs’kyi, 

a former police commandant in the town of Kolki, Volin Region, [who] found 
shelter in Winnipeg, Canada. The fascists greatly evaluated his sadistic skills and 
commissioned him personally to annihilate the Jewish population. For Sach-
kovski this was the greatest of joys and satisfaction. One summer day in 1941 he 
sounded the alarm and with his police band organized a round-up in the town. 
Having driven several dozen people, women, old men and children to the mea-
dow, he commanded. “Down on your knees!” 

The people fearing something horrible to come began to sink to the ground. 
“And now graze, chew the grass,” shouted the police commandant and struck 

everyone in a row with his ramrod. 
The children began to cry, the women and old men were asking for pity. But 

the commandant was just getting into his role. 
“You’ve had your feed, Jewish cattle,” shouted Sachkovski in glee. “Now off 

you go to the river to drink.” 
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They drove them into the Styr river, water up to their necks and a hail of blows 
from above. The people, exhausted by all this, began falling into the river. 

“Serves you right!” smiled the commandant with satisfaction, overjoyed that 
he could at least make some fun of human misery. Then everybody was forced out 
of the water and driven on. Bentsion Stanker was 80 years old and from the hor-
rible torture lost his last strength and could not walk. Sachkovski fired a shot. The 
old man fell, grasped his chest and began writhing in the sandy road. 

“End my misery,” he asked weakly. 
“Want an easy death Jew!” sneered Sachkovski. “By evening you’ll die any-

way.” 
The people from the neighboring villages remember even today how this fasc-

ist hanger-on killed a boy from the Jewish family Kalman, who hid from the ban-
dits in the chimney. He kissed the boots of Sachkovski, and asked him to hire him 
as a herdsman, but not to kill him. The killer was inexorable. Hearing the cries of 
the child, a woman ran out of the house and began to plead for him. Sachkovski 
killed her too. 

So as you see, another Kovalchuk has escaped overseas from national 
punishment.130 

Banderites such as Sachkovs’kyi were depicted as sadists who killed for pleasure. 
In Soviet publications, Banderites and other Ukrainian nationalists normally mur-
dered Soviet people, but in English translations, they frequently killed Jews. This 
allowed Western readers to follow the stories more easily and find them more credi-
ble, and it was sometimes a more appropriate description of the event in question. 
Jewish policemen who collaborated with the Nazis were described as Zionists who 
served the Germans in order to “save their own skin.” In Soviet publications, Zionists 
were allied with Ukrainian nationalists. Dmytruk called this alliance a “malignant 
partnership of the Magen David and the nationalist trident.” Zionists were cruel like 
the Banderites and killed Jews and other Soviet people in the same way as the Nazis 
did.131 Although antisemitism was officially forbidden in the Soviet Union, in reality it 
did exist on many levels. In the 1960s, the anti-Zionist campaign directed against 
Israel presented Zionists and Jews as Nazi collaborators, and Zionism as a “world 
threat.”132 

Soviet Ukrainian movies were another medium that featured Bandera. The leader 
of the Banderites appeared especially in films about the OUN-UPA, Ukrainian natio-
nalism, and the Second World War. Examples were The Nation Blames,133 Since We 
Remember,134 The Killer Is Known,135 They Did Not Come Back from the Route,136 
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and Militant Atheists.137 The films frequently addressed the subject of the murder of 
civilians by Ukrainian nationalists during and after the Second World War. Similarly 
to the Soviet writers, the film directors used the actual atrocities committed by the 
OUN-UPA and other Ukrainian nationalist formations to spread hatred against all 
opponents of the Soviet Union who could be denounced as Banderites. They fre-
quently showed people without arms or legs and claimed that they were the victims 
of the Ukrainian nationalists. Other popular themes in these films included the ex-
humation of mass graves, and the trials of OUN members or UPA partisans who 
confessed to killing “Soviet people” on orders from Bandera, Shukhevych, or Kubiio-
vych. 

Banderites also became a popular subject for historical novels and films in com-
munist Poland and Czechoslovakia.138 In Poland, fifty-eight academic and popular 
historical works, fifty autobiographies, and sixty novels about the OUN-UPA and 
Ukrainian nationalism appeared.139 Like the books and films in the Ukrainian SSR, 
they omitted many central facts that contradicted the official line. A few of them 
introduced entirely fabricated events. One of the most popular publications in Pol-
and was Fiery Glow in the Bieszczady Mountains by Jan Gerhard (Wiktor Lew Bar-
dach).140 It appeared in 1959, was reprinted twelve times, and a total of 500,000 
copies were distributed in Poland. In 1961 Ewa Patelska and Czesław Patelski filmed 
the novel as Artillery Sergeant Kalen, which was frequently screened on television.141 
The subject of the novel and the film was the defeat of the OUN-UPA and Polish 
anticommunist armies by Polish Communist troops in the Bieszczady Mountains 
during the first two years after the Second World War. As in other communist pro-
ductions, there was enormous polarization between good and brave communists and 
bad and cruel nationalists. The execution of Polish soldiers taken prisoner is pre-
sented in the movie as a ritual execution with a huge hatchet, during which a crowd 
of UPA partisans screams, “Bandera, Bandera, Bandera!”142  

The word “Banderites” was an important component of the Soviet propaganda 
discourse, at least since 1944. All kinds of people who opposed Soviet policies in 
some way, or were accused of opposing them, could be classified as Banderites, espe-
cially if they had some sympathy for nationalism, or if they or their relatives were in 
the OUN or the UPA. The word “Banderites” had a very derogatory meaning and 
basically meant a traitor of the Ukrainian nation, a Nazi collaborator, a fascist, an 
enemy of the Soviet Union, a murderer with blood on his hands, or a spy for Western 
intelligence services. The word was frequently used to discredit anti-Soviet dissidents 

 
137  Ie. Tatarets’ (film director), Voiovnychi ateïsty, Ukrainokhroniky 1985. 
138  For publications on the OUN-UPA in Czechoslovakia, see Michal Šmigel’, Banderovci na Slovensku 

1945–1947: Niektoré aspekty pôsobenia jednotiek Ukrajinskej povstaleckej armády na území 
krajiny (Banská Bystrica: Katedra histórie Fakulty humanitných vied Univerzity Mateja Béla, 2008), 
9–43. 

139  Grzegorz Motyka, “Obraz Ukraińca w literaturze Polski Ludowej,” in Problemy Ukraińców w Polsce 
po wysiedleńczej akcji “Wisła” 1947 roku, ed. Włodzimierz Mokry (Cracow: Szwajpolt Fiol, 1997), 216. 

140  Jan Gerhard, Łuny w Bieszczadach (Warsaw: Wydawnictwo Ministerstwa Obrony Narodowej, 1959). 
For the real name, see Grzegorz Motyka, “‘Łuny w Bieszczadach’ Jana Gerharda a prawda histo-
ryczna,” Problemy Ukraińców, ed. Mokry, 161. 

141  Ewa Patelska and Czesław Patelski, Ogniomistrz Kaleń, Zespół Filmowy Studio, 1961. 
142  Ogniomistrz Kaleń. Other popular novels were Henryk Cybulski, Czerwone noce (Warsaw: Wyda-

wnictwo Ministerstwa Obrony Narodowej, 1969), and Tadeusz Kruk, Karabin i menażka (Warsaw: 
Czytelnik, 1964). 
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and other political opponents. With time, the term “Banderite” or sometimes just 
“bandera” became popular not only in Soviet Ukraine but also in other republics and 
satellite states of the Soviet Union. Danylo Shumuk—who had spent forty-five years 
in total in Polish, German, and Soviet prisons and camps—was, after his release in 
1970, described by a local man in a streetcar in Odessa as a “bandera” because he 
spoke Ukrainian.143 

The eponym Bandera, as in Banderite (banderivets’ or bandera) in the singular 
and Banderites (banderivtsi) in the plural, was omnipresent in Soviet publications 
about Ukrainian nationalism. All OUN members, UPA partisans, and frequently all 
Ukrainian nationalists were described as Banderites. The person Stepan Bandera was 
also introduced in almost every publication on the Second World War and Ukrainian 
nationalism but did not have as prominent a role as the eponym. Bandera as a person 
and politician did not receive much more attention than such prominent “Ban-
derites” as Konovalets’, Stets’ko, and Bul’ba-Borovets’. It is also of interest that there 
were very few Soviet publications devoted to Stepan Bandera alone. 

The prolific Soviet Ukrainian writer Iurii Mel’nychuk claimed about Banderites: 

Banderites is an ugly word. It became a synonym for betrayal, selling out, fratri-
cide. Any honest person who has to pronounce the word gets a feeling of outrage, 
hate, and repulsion toward the hideous monsters. This is a very appropriate feel-
ing because when we talk about Banderites we mean the Ukrainian bourgeois 
nationalists, their betrayal and selling out, snakelike ferocity, and hostility toward 
the Ukrainian people. 

Go to the villages of the western Ukrainian oblasts and ask children in the 
presence of whom the Banderite villains killed their parents; ask old grand-
mothers who saw Banderites shoot their sons, daughters, grandchildren with 
German parabellums; go to those villages where Banderites burnt national prop-
erty, and ask, “Who are the Banderites?” You will hear from old and young the 
answer, “Bloody killers, fascist brutes, bandits.” ... 

The great Soviet people routed the German fascist hordes. Soviet Ukraine lib-
erated itself from the fascist occupation; the people began a peaceful, creative life. 
And the pitiful remnants, the Ukrainian-German nationalists, the Banderites, 
went to the forest and emerged from their caves only in the dark nights to kill, 
hang, burn, rob, to disturb the peaceful life and the socialistic construction. But 
the people with its angry hand destroyed, crushed the national-fascist Banderite 
beast. 

There are no Banderites anymore. The collective farmer, worker, teacher, and 
Komsomol member now work peacefully. However, we have no right to stop be-
ing careful and alert, we should detect and liquidate every kind of alien propa-
ganda because our repulsive enemies—the Anglo-American imperialists—do not 
like the peaceful life and creative success of the Soviet people.144 

 
143  Shumuk, Za skhidnim obriiem, 441. 
144  Iurii Mel’nychuk, “Banderivs’kykh holovoriziv pokarano,” in Sluhy zhovtoho diiavola, ed. Iurii 

Mel’nychuk (Lviv: Knyzhkovo-zhurnal’ne vydavnytsvo, 1957), 36–37. 
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Shortly after Bandera’s assassination, the same Ukrainian Soviet writer wrote the 
pamphlet At Foreign Thresholds, in which he rewrote the story of Bandera’s life, 
including the complicated collaboration with the Germans and the Western bloc, and 
compared him to a dog. The story begins with the dog biting its master, a priest who 
has taken care of it since it was a pup. The angry master sends the dog away, and it 
lives on garbage, but after some time the master feels sorry for his dog and takes it in 
again. However, the Bandera dog and another villainous dog begin raiding and 
terrorizing the neighborhood, as a result of which the neighbors organize themselves 
and beat the dog so hard that it barely survives. Other people drive it from the vil-
lage. Living alone, the dog attacks people and bites them, which it considers to be 
heroism. Villainous dogs join him. A foreign master lures him with a bone. He calls 
him by shouting “Wo ist mein Hund? [Where is my dog?],” and the Bandera dog 
barks “Heil Hitler!” to the master. After some time, the new master begins a war and 
takes his dog with him. The war is in the territory where the dog grew up, so he “runs 
ahead of his master, shows him the way, warns him about dangers, guards his peace 
and life ... snaps at the throats of his countrymen.” On one occasion, the new master 
shoes a horse. The Bandera dog, very proud of his achievements, comes to him, 
stretches out his paw, and wants to be shod like the horse. This makes the master so 
angry that he punishes the dog. When the war ends with dog’s master losing, the dog 
finds a new master for whom it has to change the tone of its barking, but not to stop 
barking for another war. After some time, however, the dog irritates the new master, 
who hits it. One day, on the way to his apartment the dog falls from the steps and 
dies. Following this fable, Mel’nychuk informed his readers that Stepan Bandera—the 
“villain of a Ukrainian fascist”—had recently died, and that his fall from the steps was 
a secret murder, carried out on the orders of Theodor Oberländer, whom Bandera 
was blackmailing. The author then insinuated, while introducing the term “ban-
derivshchyna” (Bandera movement) that Bandera was the person responsible for the 
death of 310,000 persons in Lviv after the German attack on the Soviet Union. The 
same number appeared in the charge against the Nachtigall battalion and Ober-
länder, which the VNN filed on 31 July 1959 by the Federal State Administration of 
Justice Department in Ludwigsburg. Mel’nychuk finished his pamphlet with the 
saying “A dog’s death for a dog.”145 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
145  Iurii Mel’nychuk, “Pid chuzhym porohom,” in Prodai-dushi, ed. Iurii Mel’nychuk (Lviv: Kameniar, 
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Conclusion 

Soviet propaganda took notice of Bandera and the OUN-B in the summer of 1941, but 
it only started a campaign against the Ukrainian nationalists in early 1944. As a re-
sult of various cultural, social and political processes, Soviet propaganda made Ban-
dera into one of the most significant symbols of Ukrainian nationalism. Khrushchev 
and other Soviet politicians used the term “Banderites” to label all kinds of political 
opponents. This entirely changed the meaning of the term, which had originally been 
used by the victims of OUN-UPA mass violence to define its perpetrators. During the 
early conflict with the Ukrainian nationalists, the Soviet authorities used violence for 
propaganda purposes. Many “Banderites” were publicly hanged by the NKVD, while 
rumors were spread that they were in the possession of severed human ears at the 
time of arrest. The first major propaganda campaign against the Ukrainian 
nationalists branded the OUN and UPA as “German-Ukrainian nationalists.” It por-
trayed the Ukrainian nationalist movement as an integral part of the German Empire 
which continued to fight and terrorize the population even after the defeat of its 
master. In early 1947 Soviet propaganda began to call the OUN and UPA “bourgeois 
nationalists” and to emphasize the cooperation of the Ukrainian nationalists with 
Western countries. Because capitalism in the Soviet discourse was considered to be a 
deformed variant of fascism, these countries were frequently also labeled as “fascist.” 
Furthermore Bandera and his movement were depicted as people who had betrayed 
Ukraine, just as Vlasov, in the Soviet propaganda, had betrayed Russia. 

Soviet propaganda turned everybody, including Soviet soldiers and NKVD offic-
ers, killed by the Ukrainian nationalists or Germans, into heroes and martyrs. One of 
the most famous Soviet martyrs killed by the Ukrainian nationalists was the western 
Ukrainian communist writer Iaroslav Halan. After his assassination a memorial 
museum was erected in his apartment and monuments were devoted to him. 
Likewise the Soviet authorities named cities after Soviet generals and partisans who 
had been killed by the Ukrainian nationalists. They also erected numerous monu-
ments to all kinds of the OUN and UPA victims. The victory over the Ukrainian na-
tionalists became a significant component of the Ukrainian Soviet myth. Together 
with the denial of Soviet mass violence against the Ukrainian civilians it did not allow 
for many Ukrainians to mourn their relatives. It thereby impacted upon the memory 
of the atrocities committed by the Ukrainian nationalists, who in these circumstances 
were turned by ordinary western Ukrainians into martyrs and anti-Soviet heroes. 





 

 

Chapter 9 

THE REVIVAL OF THE CULT 

Bandera’s Death and the Funeral 

Bandera’s assassination transformed him into a martyr and reinforced his political 
cult and myth. Immediately after the killing, factions of the Ukrainian diaspora 
turned his death into one of the greatest catastrophes in Ukrainian history. They 
triggered a plethora of deeply politicized and ritualized mourning commemorations 
that went on for several weeks. In this way, the diaspora communities revitalized the 
cult of the Providnyk and turned themselves once more into a “charismatic commu-
nity.” After his death, Bandera was commemorated in several countries including 
Argentina, Australia, Belgium, Brazil, Britain, Canada, France, the United Kingdom, 
the United States, and Venezuela. The globalization of the Bandera cult would not 
have been possible without the relocation of the DPs in the late 1940s and early 
1950s. The most enthusiastic émigré element that commemorated Bandera consisted 
of those Ukrainians who left Ukraine in 1944 with the retreating German army, and 
the Waffen-SS Galizien veterans who surrendered to the British army. Some of these 
émigrés were already admirers of Bandera during the trials in Warsaw and Lviv in 
1935‒1936, regarded him as their Providnyk during the “Ukrainian National 
Revolution” in the summer of 1941, or knew him as the legendary leader of the 
revolutionary movement when they fought in the UPA. 

The Munich Shliakh peremohy, one of the main newspapers controlled by the 
ZCh OUN, for which Bandera had officially worked as a journalist, turned the front 
page of 18 October 1959 into a huge obituary with Bandera’s photograph placed in 
the center (Fig. 39). Although at this time it was neither known who had killed Ban-
dera nor whether he had actually been assassinated, the editors stated in oversized 
letters above the portrait and under a cross in a military style: “With great sadness 
and pain we inform the members of the OUN and Ukrainian society that, at 1.00 p.m. 
on 15 October 1959, STEPAN BANDERA, the Great Son of the Ukrainian Nation and 
the longstanding leader of the revolutionary fight for the state independence of 
Ukraine, Head of the Leadership of the Foreign Units of the Organization of Ukrai-
nian Nationalists, was killed by an enemy’s hand.” On both sides of the picture, the 
editors provided some biographical background: “a longstanding prisoner of Polish 
jails who was sentenced by a Polish court to a death sentence, which was changed to 
a life sentence, and who was a prisoner in German jails and concentration camps 
from 1941 to 1944.” The front page also informed readers that after a church service 
at 9.00 a.m. on 20 October 1959, Bandera’s funeral and a panakhyda would take 
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Fig. 38. Bandera’s corpse in the coffin. Poltava, Zhyttia Stepana Bandery, 51. 

place at 3.30 p.m. at the Waldfriedhof in Munich and that the mourning period for 
the Providnyk would last from 15 October until 15 December.1 

Other nationalist newspapers published in the Ukrainian diaspora, such as the 
Toronto Homin Ukraїny and the London Ukraїns’ka dumka addressed Bandera’s 
death in a similar manner. Homin Ukraїny turned the front page of the issue for 24 
October 1959 into a huge obituary with Bandera’s photograph featured in the middle. 
The headline consisted of the inscription: “Of bright memory” (sl. p) and the name 
“STEPAN BANDERA.” Introductions to two articles, which continued on page 6, 
were printed on either side of the photograph. One article was entitled “Fighter, 
Leader, and Symbol,” while the second was entitled “In Deep Sadness.” They in-
formed readers that the death of Bandera “shocked the entire Ukrainian diaspora on 
this side of the ocean” and that he was killed by an enemy of the Ukrainians. Readers 
were advised that, in the person of Bandera, a symbol of both the general Ukrainian 
struggle and of an entire epoch in the struggle for independence had passed away.2 

 

 
1  Shliakh peremohy, 18 October 1959, 1. 
2  “Borets’, Providnyk i Symvol,” “U hlybokomu smutku...,” Homin Ukraїny, 24 October 1959, 1, 6. 
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Fig. 39. Shliakh peremohy, 18 October 1959, 1. 
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On the front page of 22 October 1959, instead of an obituary, Ukraïns’ka dumka 
published a photograph of Bandera’s bust and a long, lamenting, and apologetic 
article that began with: “Stepan Bandera does not live! Stepan Bandera was killed by 
an enemy’s hand.” The bust had been prepared in a DP camp in Bavaria in 1948 in 
two copies, one wooden and one of gypsum, by Mykhailo Chereshn’ovs’kyi, a UPA 
partisan who had arrived in Bavaria from Ukraine in 1947. It showed Bandera some 
twenty years before his death, perhaps in the early 1940s, when the OUN-B was con-
ducting the “Ukrainian National Revolution.”3 The article claimed that the news 
about Bandera’s death reached “not only Ukrainian society but all patriots of all 
other nationalities” with lightning speed and saddened them. Readers were informed 
that 15 October would “remain forever a day of mourning for the whole Ukrainian 
nation, exactly like the anniversaries of the deaths of Symon Petliura, Ievhen Kono-
valets’, and Taras Chuprynka [Roman Shukhevych].” The article also claimed that 
with “the moment of Bandera’s death came the time when all Ukrainian patriots, 
without exception, were obliged to … value Bandera as a revolutionary and politi-
cian.” It ended with the assertion that Bandera’s death should not be understood as 
an end. On the contrary, it should inspire the faithful revolutionary émigré national-
ists to further struggle: 

The name of Stepan Bandera was, during his lifetime, a militant banner for the 
whole Ukrainian nation and it remains such after the death of the Providnyk of 
the Ukrainian national liberation revolution, until our Fatherland definitively, 
once and for all, by the blood of the Heroes of the sanctified land, rids itself of 
every enemy and foe.4 

The obituaries and mourning articles referred to Bandera as a true patriot and a 
national hero, and depicted him as a fearless opponent of Nazi Germany and the 
Soviet Union. Especially after his death, to mention that he was a fanatic, a radical 
nationalist fascinated with fascism, or a Nazi collaborator, was regarded as Soviet 
propaganda, or as a Jewish or Polish provocation. The OUN members, veterans of 
the UPA and the Waffen-SS Galizien, and other Ukrainian nationalists, who 
identified themselves with Bandera, were especially irritated by articles about 
Bandera that described the war crimes committed by the OUN or UPA. In reaction to 
such articles, the nationalist émigrés frequently blamed the author for spreading 
anti-Ukrainian propaganda and described how the NKVD, Poles, or Germans killed 
Ukrainians.5 

On 5 November 1959, Ukraïns’ka dumka reprimanded Juliusz Sokolnicki for 
committing a “disgraceful act.” Sokolnicki had published an article in the Daily Tele-
graph, in which he connected Bandera with the UPA’s ethnic violence against the 
Polish population in 1943–1944. The editors of Ukraïns’ka dumka demanded an 
apology. The Association of Ukrainians in Great Britain (Soiuz ukraїntsiv u Velykii 

 
3  Dmytro Stepovyk, Skul’ptor Mykhailo Chereshn’ovs’kyi: Zhyttia i tvorchist’ (Kiev: Vydavnytstvo 

imeni Olehy Telihy, 2000), 89. 
4  “Stepan Bandera,” Ukraïns’ka dumka, 22 October 1959, 1–2. 
5  For pride in being Banderites, see “Pered maiestatom smerty sv. p. Stepana Bandery,” Ukraïns’ka 

dumka, 19 October 1959, 3. For annoyance at connecting Bandera with the OUN-UPA’s war crimes 
and for emphasizing Soviet, Polish, or German atrocities against Ukrainians, see “Hanebnyi vchynok 
poliaka,” Ukraïns’ka dumka, 5 November 1959, 1. 
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Brytaniї, SUB) tried to publish a letter of protest in the Daily Telegraph and, when it 
was not accepted, published it in Ukraïns’ka dumka. In the letter the SUB activists 
claimed that they were shocked by Sokolnicki, who was “misinformed concerning the 
life and career of Mr. Bandera.” They emphasized that Bandera was imprisoned from 
July 1941 until April 1945 and that “therefore he cannot be held responsible for any-
thing that happened in Ukraine in 1944, particularly from 1943 onwards.” Similarly, 
they claimed that “it was the troops of [the Soviet partisan leader Sydir] Kovpak who 
carried out the atrocities [and who] had been sent to wipe out [the Ukrainian nation-
alist freedom fighters] under orders from Moscow.” They described the “persecutions 
that the inhabitants of West Ukraine suffered under the Polish occupation” and 
added that “in face of our common enemy—Russian Communism—there should be 
cooperation between our two nations.”6 The incorrect dating of Bandera’s imprison-
ment suggests that the Providnyk’s admirers did not know much about him. More 
interesting, however, is how they whitewashed the war crimes of the OUN and UPA, 
with the help of a victimized and instrumentalized image of Bandera. Such denial of 
the OUN and UPA atrocities would continue for over half a century. His critics, on 
the other hand, would make Bandera personally responsible for crimes which were 
committed by his movement and not by him in person.  

Given the number of religious and political commemorations that Bandera’s ad-
mirers performed in October and November 1959, reprimanding people who men-
tioned OUN-UPA atrocities was only a marginal activity. The commemorations were 
organized among the Ukrainian diaspora around the globe, in countries such as Ar-
gentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, France, West Germany, New 
Zealand, the United Kingdom, and the United States.7 Religion and politics blurred 
in these deeply ritualized ceremonies. During the panakhydas, the priests frequently 
introduced political motifs, mainly hatred against the Soviet Union and Russia, and 
sometimes also against the Jews and Poles. The gatherings and demonstrations after 
the panakhydas frequently became orgies of political hatred against the “red devil.” 
Like the panakhydas, they mingled politics with religion.8 

The Bandera family and the ZCh OUN received several hundred letters of condo-
lence from individuals, mainly diaspora Ukrainians including schoolchildren, and 
from several dozen organizations such as the UPA, Waffen-SS Galizien veterans, and 
Ukrainian nationalist student and religious organizations.9 Various nationalist 
celebrations that had been planned before 15 October 1959 were renamed to honor 
Stepan Bandera, for instance the UPA celebration organized by the association of 

 
6  “Stepan Bandera i ioho ochorniuvachi,” Ukraïns’ka dumka, 12 November 1959, 1; “Hanebnyi vchynok 

poliaka,” Ukraïns’ka dumka, 5 November 1959, 1. 
7  The list of localities, in which the Bandera commemorations took place in 1959, included Amberg, 

Amsterdam, Boston, Brantford, Buenos Aires, Buffalo, Calgary, Chatham, Chicago, Cleveland, Curi-
tiba, Denver, Detroit, Düsseldorf, Edinburgh, Edmonton, Flin Flon, Frankfurt, Hamilton, Innsbruck, 
Jersey City, Klagenfurt, Landshut, Lightbridge, Liège, London, Manchester, Mons, Montreal, Munich, 
New York, Nottingham, Osnabrück, Ottawa, Paris, Philadelphia, Pittsburgh, Port Arthur, Port Wil-
liam, Regensburg, Regina, São Paulo, Saskatoon, Sudbury, Toronto, Vancouver, Vienna, Wellington, 
Winnipeg. 

8  “Pomynal’ni Bohosluzhenia v tserkvakh Toronta,” Homin Ukraїny, 24 October 1959, 6; “U poshanu 
providnykovi,” Homin Ukraїny, Toronto, 31 October 1959, 7; Homin Ukraїny, 7 November 1959, 3; 
Homin Ukraїny, 14 November 1959, 5–6; Chaikovs’kyi, Moskovs’ki vbyvtsi, 512–30. 

9  Chaikovs’kyi, Moskovs’ki vbyvtsi, 504–12. 
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former UPA soldiers in Canada on 18 October in Toronto.10 In some cities, including 
London, the celebrants repeated the Bandera commemorations in late 1959.11 

All Ukrainian newspapers, not only those controlled by the ZCh OUN but many 
others, for example the New Jersey Svoboda, the main newspaper of the Ukrainian 
diaspora, reported on Bandera’s funeral. On its front page on 31 October 1959, the 
Homin Ukraїny featured an article entitled “The Final Journey of the Providnyk 
Bandera.” The authors glorified “the final 500-meter journey of Bandera” during 
which time he was accompanied by ten priests and 1,500 mourners. Admirers came 
from all around the world to bid farewell to their Providnyk, who “perished on the 
forefront of a bloody, lingering war against the cruel, deceitful, villainous enemy.” 
Svoboda and Ukraïns’ka dumka claimed that over 2,000 people attended the 
funeral. To show readers the seriousness of the tragedy that had struck Ukrainians, 
newspapers printed several photographs from the funeral. Homin Ukraїny published 
a photograph showing Bandera’s coffin carried by four men, with the funeral 
procession following it. Marching alongside the coffin in the center of the photograph 
are a man in a suit and four uniformed young women, apparently members of the 
SUM. The faces of the man and all four uniformed teenagers appear to be filled with 
sorrow and concern. One of the women is looking down at the ground and weeping. 
The eyes of the man in the suit are focused on the final 500 meters of his Providnyk’s 
journey. His face is not only sad but also appears pensive and seemingly irritated. 
The facial expressions of all the people in the picture communicate the same 
message—that of the loss of an irreplaceable personality.12 

During the funeral, Stets’ko delivered a speech, which later appeared in several 
newspapers. The leader of the ABN claimed that Bandera’s name was the symbol of 
the contemporary anti-Moscow struggle of Ukraine for independent statehood and 
personal freedom, and that Bandera’s phenomenon grew outside the frame of the 
revolutionary OUN, becoming common Ukrainian property, representative of the 
whole fighting nation. In another part of the speech, Stets’ko praised Bandera’s piety 
as a motivation for struggle: “Christianity was an indivisible part of His spirituality, 
faith in God, and Christian morality—a principle of His dealing, His strong patriot-
ism. His nationalism was integrally linked with Christianity. He knew that we can 
struggle successfully against Moscow, the center of combative godlessness and 
tyranny, only if, next time, Ukraine proves its historical role in Eastern Europe.” And 
this would be a “struggle for the Christ against the Antichrist-Moscow.” Toward the 
end of his speech, Stets’ko became spiritual and metaphysical: “Today we separate 
from Bandera’s physical remains, but he will live in our hearts, in the souls of the 
Ukrainian nation, and THAT STEPAN BANDERA will be not seized from us by any 
brutal, physical, barbaric Moscow’s strength.”13 
 

 
10  “Sviato UPA pid znakom smerty sl. p. S. Bandery;” Homin Ukraїny, 24 October 1959, 7. 
11  “Zhalobna akademiia v pam”iat’ Stepana Bandery, 13.12.1959,” ASBML, 1638. 
12  “Ostannia doroha providnyka Bandery,” Homin Ukraїny, 31 October 1959, 1. See also the pictures in 

Homin Ukraїny, 31 October 1959, 1; Svoboda, 31 October 1959, 1; Ukraïns’ka dumka, 29 October 
1959, 1. 

13  “Slovo Iaroslava Stets’ka nad vidkrytoiu mohyloiu sl. p. Stepana Bandery,” Ukraïns’ka dumka, 22 
October 1959, 1–2; “Slovo Iaroslava Stets’ka nad mohyloiu S. Bandery,” Shliakh peremohy, 25 
October 1959, 1. Emphasis in the original. 
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Fig. 40. Bandera’s Funeral Munich, 20 October 1959. TShLA. 

Those diaspora Ukrainians who could not attend the funeral in Munich mourned 
Bandera in their above-mentioned locations. In Edmonton, the Organizations of the 
Liberation Front (Orhanizatsiï Vyzvol’noho Frontu, OVF) started to prepare for 
commemorations on 15 October 1959, the day of Bandera’s death. On 20 October, the 
day of Bandera’s funeral in Munich, memorial services were organized in almost all 
Ukrainian churches in Edmonton. On 25 October, a panakhyda was organized at the 
St. Josaphat Ukrainian Catholic Cathedral at 7 p.m., with six priests officiating. 
Members of the SUM and the Plast Scout Organization appeared in their uniforms 
and presented their banners. Members of the LVU were also in attendance. The ca-
thedral was full of people, both uniformed and in plain clothes. After the male choir 
of the Ukrainian National Home (Ukraïns’kyi Narodnyi Dim) enriched the atmos-
phere in the church with its vocal performances, the parish priest delivered a ser-
mon, in which he praised Bandera’s love, commitment, and labor for Ukraine. The 
blue-and-yellow flag of Ukraine and the red-and-black flag of the OUN were flown at 
the entrance to the church, where young girls distributed black ribbons.14 

After the church service, the celebration continued at the Ukrainian National 
Home, which had also been decorated with flags. It was there that the mourning 
assembly (zhalibna akademiia) took place. The hall could not accommodate the 
crowd that had gathered to mourn Bandera’s death, and some people were turned 
away. The commemorative gathering opened with Chopin’s “Funeral March.” A per-
son referred to as “D. M.” read a poem entitled “Immortal Son” (Bezsmertnyi syn), 
which he had written for Bandera, then the male voice choir of the Ukrainian 

 
14  “U pokloni Providnykovi,” Homin Ukraїny, 7 November 1959, 3. 
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National Home sang several religious and nationalist songs. Bandera’s portrait was 
central to the stage decoration and had been prepared especially for the occasion by 
the renowned Ukrainian artist Professor Iuliian Butsmaniuk. The portrait hung on a 
black wall in the background, with Bandera’s dates of birth and death on either side, 
with a huge wreath and a trident, the symbol of Ukraine, as well as two baskets with 
red roses placed underneath.15 

In Ottawa, Ukrainians formed a committee of LVU and SUM members. At 5:30 
on 25 October 1959, V. Shevchuk conducted a panakhyda in the Greek Catholic 
church, during which the SUM choir in uniform sang several nationalist and religious 
songs. Toward the end of the panakhyda, the priest introduced the person of the 
“deceased Providnyk and Vozhd’ of the Ukrainian nation” in “touching words.” After 
the panakhyda a commemorative gathering took place, apparently attended by Ukr-
ainians with various political views.16 

In Cleveland, all festivities and dancing in the Ukrainian community were 
cancelled as a result of the sad news. The SUM ballet group, which was to have 
performed at a Democratic Party event, refused to dance. On 20 October 1959, the 
Greek Catholic church was filled with uniformed SUM and Plast members. In the 
Ukrainian Orthodox church, the priest characterized Bandera as a patriot and 
defender of Ukraine and drew an analogy between him and George C. Marshall, who 
was buried on the same day in Washington. After the church services, the mourners 
went to the SUM building where they performed the political part of the 
commemoration with the help of a symbolic coffin of the Providnyk.17 

On 1 November 1959, Ol’ha Lus’ka published one of the first poems relating to 
Stepan Bandera.18 Leonid Poltava (Leonid Parkhomovych) published another on 7 
November.19 During the following weeks, months, and years, a number of other 
poems devoted to the Providnyk appeared, in Ukrainian, German, and English.20 On 
14 November, Homin Ukraїny reported that Radio Prague broadcast the news about 
Bandera’s death one hour before he actually died.21 Photographs of Bandera’s bust 
were printed next to eulogistic articles that were supposed to make his demise look 
more pathetic and magnificent.22 

 
15  Ibid., 3. 
16  “U pokloni Providnykovi,” Homin Ukraїny, 14 November 1959, 5. 
17  Ibid., 6. 
18  Ol’ha Lus’ka, “Stepanovi Bandery,” Shliakh peremohy, 1 November 1959, 1. 
19  Leonid Poltava, “Na smert’ Stepana Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny: Literatura i mystetsvo, 7 November 

1959, 2. 
20  Chaikovs’kyi, Moskovs’ki vbyvtsi, 570–81. 
21  “Praha zradyla ubyvtsiv,” Homin Ukraïny: Literatura i mystetsvo, 7 November 1959, 2. 
22  See for example Homin Ukraїny, 14 November 1959, 1. The newspapers controlled by the ZCh OUN 

also published photographs of other OUN-UPA leaders. For a photograph of the bust of Roman Shuk-
hevych, see for example Homin Ukraïny, 5 March 1960, 1. 
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Fig. 41. Commemorative gathering, United Kingdom 1959. TShLA. 

Dmytro Dontsov, who after the Second World War had been teaching Ukrainian 
literature at the University of Montreal, published an article about Bandera on 14 
November 1959. Dontsov reminded the mourning Ukrainians that Bandera was not a 
democrat and that he was killed like Petliura and Konovalets’, by which he meant 
that Bandera was assassinated by the Soviet Union or by Jews. Dontsov concluded 
that Bandera was assassinated because of his name, which “could become a banner 
under which all brave and honest Ukrainians unite in a critical hour.”23 

The death of another Eastern European fascist leader, Ante Pavelić, the Poglav-
nik of the NDH, on 28 December 1959 in Madrid, caused the same elements of the 
Ukrainian diaspora that had mourned Bandera to mourn Pavelić. The Croatian 
leader had survived an assassination attempt in El Palomar near Buenos Aires on 10 
April 1957, the sixteenth anniversary of the founding of the Ustaša state. He moved 
to Madrid in November 1957 but died several months later as a result of the attack, 
which was apparently carried out by the Yugoslav intelligence service. The OUN 
paper Homin Ukraїny claimed that Pavelić was a “great proponent of Ukraine and 
other nations enslaved by Moscow.” In a eulogy for Pavelić, Homin Ukraїny honored 
the Poglavnik as a “great patriot” and “fighter for independence” exactly as it had 
with Bandera a few weeks before. The OUN newspaper based in Toronto further 
emphasized that the ABN and the OUN participated in Pavelić’s funeral and placed 
wreaths beside his coffin.24 Volodymyr Pastushchuk, the second OUN and ABN 
speaker at Pavelić’s funeral, bade the Croatian Poglavnik farewell in Spanish: 

 
23  Dmytro Dontsov, “Im”ia-symvol,” Homin Ukraïny, 14 November 1959, 2. 
24  “Pomer Ante Pavelich,” Homin Ukraïny, 23 January 1960, 7. 
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In a few minutes, the Spanish earth will cover the body of the greatest among 
Croats. The Red murderers killed his body, but his spirit and his liberating ideas 
and national pride will live among us. Ante Pavelić taught us to love our mother-
lands and to be faithful to our national ideas. He gave his life for his brothers and 
fellows, which is evidence of the greatest love. ... We Ukrainians understand the 
sorrow of our brother Croats because, only two months ago, we sorrowed for the 
loss of the Providnyk of our liberation movement, the unforgettable Stepan Ban-
dera of blessed memory, killed by the same criminal communist hand. With the 
death of Pavelić, the Croatian nation has lost its great leader; and our family of 
enslaved nations, one of the best strategists of the anticommunist struggle.25 

Anticommunist Celebrations, Demonstrations, and Rituals 

The fifteenth day of October became an important date in the calendar of the natio-
nalist factions of the Ukrainian diaspora, which commemorated Bandera’s death 
every year until the collapse of the Soviet Union. In a number of places, such com-
memorations continued until at least 2009. Bandera became an important symbol of 
anticommunist struggle among Ukrainians and other “enslaved nations.” His 
“charismatic communities” propagated various nationalist, far-right, and neo-fascist 
ideas during his many commemorations. His death symbolized the suffering of 
Ukraine and all Ukrainians. It was misused to deny the atrocities committed by the 
OUN and UPA. The fact that Bandera was murdered by the KGB reassured the com-
memorating factions that they were engaged in a holy war against the Soviet Union 
for an independent Ukrainian state. The assassination also transformed Bandera into 
a symbol of liberation and resistance. This treatment of Bandera resembled the 
conduct of the Ustaša communities, and even more so of the Slovak émigrés who, 
during Jozef Tiso’s trial and after his execution on 18 April 1947, commemorated the 
leader of the Slovak clerical fascist movement as a political martyr.26 

The largest and most lavish Bandera commemorations and demonstrations took 
place on “round” anniversaries of his death, such as the fifth and tenth. In this 
subsection, only some of the most representative will be described, and more atten-
tion will be paid to cities with strong communities of Ukrainian political émigrés, 
such as Edmonton, Toronto, and Munich, and to capital cities—London, Washington, 
and Ottawa, where the largest anticommunist Bandera demonstrations took place. 
Cyclical commemorations—accompanied by poems or songs composed in honor of 
the Providnyk and repeatedly reproduced in newspapers and brochures or recited 
and sung at various gatherings—fulfilled two interrelated functions. First, they 
transposed Bandera into a hero and martyr. Second, they reinforced the collective 
disavowal of the atrocities committed by the OUN, UPA, and various Ukrainian 
collaborators. Commemorating the Providnyk, his adherents transposed themselves, 
with the help of his distorted and instrumentalized image, into victims, heroes, and 

 
25  Ibid., 7. 
26  Stanislava Kolková, “Das Bild von Jozef Tiso als ‘Führer mit christlichem Antlitz’ und ‘Symbol der 

slowakischen Unabhängigkeit in Vergangenheit und Gegenwart—Versuch einer Annährung,” in Der 
Führer im Europa, ed. Ennker, 271. 
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martyrs. The aggressive propaganda of the Soviet Union reassured the “charismatic 
communities” that they were in the right and thereby strengthened the Bandera cult 
among Ukrainian emigrants. 

One of the first Bandera commemorations in 1960 took place in Calgary on 20 
February. At this event, the participants watched a film of Bandera’s funeral and 
listened to people who had known the Providnyk in person.27 On Pentecost (Zeleni 
Sviata), 28 May 1960, 200 people gathered at Bandera’s grave to participate in a 
panakhyda during which a priest blessed a large cross at the grave. The ZCh OUN 
member Iaroslav Bentsal’ delivered a patriotic speech in honor of his Providnyk.28 

Bandera’s grave, with its large and remarkable military cross, became a popular 
pilgrimage site for Ukrainians from Europe, North and South America, and Aus-
tralia.29 On 15 October 1960, Homin Ukraїny again published a photograph of Ban-
dera’s bust on the first page and informed its readers that, “on 15 October of this 
year, one year passes since Moscow, the eternal enemy of the Ukrainian nation, took 
away the thread of the heroic life of our Providnyk,” although still no evidence ex-
isted as to who might have killed Bandera.30 On page 2 of the same issue, the editors 
published photographs of Bandera’s funeral and a poem devoted to him. In several 
articles they asked their readers to continue Bandera’s revolutionary struggle, which 
they understood as the only correct way to liberate Ukraine.31 

In Toronto, the association of UPA veterans combined Bandera’s commemoration 
with the Holiday of Arms (Sviato Zbroï), which usually took place on 14 October. On 
15 October 1960, panakhydas for the “repose of the soul of Bandera of blessed mem-
ory” and “all UPA warriors who sacrificed their lives for Ukraine’s freedom” were 
conducted in two churches. Participants included SUM and Plast members, and the 
male choir Prometei of the SUM sang. On 16 October, a commemorative gathering 
was organized in the Ukrainian Home at 83–85 Christie Street. The Prometei choir 
performed “The Military Song” (Boiova Pisnia) and a few other similar nationalist 
and military songs. A number of people delivered speeches, and other mourners sang 
religious and military songs. The stage was decorated with busts of Bandera and 
Shukhevych, between which a poster of Jesus and a UPA emblem were placed.32 
Similar celebrations were organized on 15 and 16 October in Boston, Chicago, Cleve-
land, Edmonton, London, Montreal, Munich, Ottawa, Philadelphia, and many other 
localities. In a number of places, Bandera’s admirers erected symbolic coffins, at 
which SUM members and other mourners performed nationalist rituals, recited 
poems, and sang religious, military, or nationalist songs in honor of their Providnyk. 
Many of them decorated the stage with Bandera’s portrait, under which children and 
 
 
 

 
27  “Vechir spomyniv pro Stepana Banderu v Kalgarakh,” Homin Ukraïny, 5 March 1960, 2. 
28  “V Zeleni Sviata na mohylakh Heroїv,” Shliakh peremohy, 11 May 1960, 1. 
29  See for example “Rozmova z hist’my z-za okeanu,” Homin Ukraïny, 2 December 1963, 3. 
30  “Zvernennia Provodu Zakordonnykh Chastyn OUN,” Homin Ukraïny, 15 October 1960, 1. 
31  “Iedyna real’na vyzvol’na kontseptsiia,” “Ioho dilo ne vmerlo nikoly,” “Nevhnutomu bortsevi,” Homin 

Ukraïny, 15 October 1960, 2. 
32  “Sviato UPA i richnytsia smerty sl. p. S. Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 22 October 1960, 1, 5. 
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Fig. 42. Children commemorate Bandera at a symbolic coffin of the Providnyk  

in the 1960s in Galashiels (Scotland), TShLA. 

teenagers, dressed in folkloristic Cossack costumes, or SUM or other uniforms, 
performed various political and religious rituals.33 

On the second anniversary of Bandera’s death, an émigré institution, called the 
Underground Post of Ukraine, released four cinderella stamps. The first stamp 
showed Bandera in high school or at university age. The second featured Bandera 
after his release from prison in Poland. The third depicted Bandera’s bust, prepared 
by the artist Chereshn’ovs’kyi, which showed Bandera as a statesman during the 
Second World War. This period was described as the time “when under [Bandera’s] 
banners 200,000 fighters of the Ukrainian Insurgent Army and OUN cadres con-
ducted an implacable struggle against two occupiers of Ukraine—the Hitlerites and 
the Muscovites.” The last stamp showed Bandera after the Second World War. The 
stamps were distributed by SUM members, characterized by Shliakh peremohy as 
“the generation that prepares itself for taking over the banner of the struggle for the 
sovereignty and independence of Ukraine and is following the path that was pointed 
out by the great Providnyk Stepan Bandera.” Shliakh peremohy encouraged its read-
ers to put the Bandera stamps on letters when corresponding with friends. The 
stamps were distributed in Australia, Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, the United 
Kingdom, and the United States.34 

  

 
33  “Montreal v pokloni sl. p. S. providnykovi St. Banderi,” Homin Ukraïny, 22 October 1960, 5; “U 

pershu richnytsiu smerty sl. p. providnyka S. Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 29 October 1960, 2; “U 
richnytsiu smerty sl. p. S. Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 5 November 1960, 7; “U richnytsiu smerty sl. p. 
S. Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 5 November 1960, 7; “U pokloni Providnykovi,” Homin Ukraïny, 16 
January 1961, 6; “U pershu richnytsiu smerty S. Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 28 October 1960, 7; 
“Desiatyrichchia sumivs’koї diial’nosty v Klivlendi,” Shliakh peremohy, 22 January 1960, 3. 

34  “Nove vydannia marok Pidpil’noї Poshty Ukraїny,” Shliakh peremohy, 15 October 1961, 2. 
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Fig. 43. The choir Veselka commemorates the first death anniversary 

of Stepan Bandera in Halifax (England), TShLA. 

 

Like the first anniversary, the second anniversary of Bandera’s death was comme-
morated in many localities around the globe.35 In São Paulo the commemorations 
began with a panakhyda in the Greek Catholic church, in which Bandera’s symbolic 
coffin was arranged. The coffin was decorated with flowers. Nuns put a trident made 
of rose petals on the coffin. During the panakhyda two young men stood with ban-
ners on each side of the coffin. After the mourning service, the participants moved to 
a secular building for the political part of the commemoration. There were so many 
people that there was only standing room for many of them. I. Sobko opened the 
second part of commemorations with a minute of silence, after which he said, “The 
enemies [of Ukraine] try to destroy us in foreign lands, but the spirit of Stepan Ban-
dera gives us the power of victory.” A children’s choir under the direction of a nun 
performed the Brazilian national anthem. The panakhyda and the political gathering 
were broadcast for those Ukrainians in Brazil who did not attend the commemo-
ration.36 

On 17 November 1961, the day on which the German authorities revealed who had 
killed Bandera and how, the ZCh OUN organized a press conference, at which they 

 
35  “U druhi rokovyny smerty Providnyka,” Shliakh peremohy, 5 November 1961, 5; Shliakh peremohy, 

12 November 1961, 5; Shliakh peremohy, 19 November 1961, 5; “Den’ UPA i rokovyny smerty St. 
Bandery,” Homin Ukraїny, 28 October 1961, 6; “V pokloni sl. pam. Stepanovi Banderi,” Shliakh 
peremohy, 10 December 1961, 5. 

36  “U druhi rokovyny smerty Providnyka,” Shliakh peremohy, 12 November 1961, 5. 
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informed the journalists about the details of the assassination.37 Ukrainian 
nationalist articles connected Bandera’s murder with the assassinations of Petliura in 
1926 and Konovalets’ in 1938 and depicted the Soviet Union as a country that was 
continuing Stalin’s policies.38 Immediately after the identity of Bandera’s assassin 
was officially announced, various Ukrainian associations, committees, and other 
organizations around the world began organizing demonstrations against the Soviet 
Union. On 18 November 1961, 1,500 activists attended a meeting in Bradford of the 
Federation of Ukrainians in Great Britain (Ob”iednannia Ukraїntsiv u Velykii 
Brytaniї, ObVB), at which they demanded that, for the assassination of their 
Providnyk, the “free world” put on trial Alexander Shelepin, the head of the KGB, 
Nikita Khrushchev, the first secretary of the KPSS and chairman of the Council of 
Ministers of the Soviet Union, in addition to the whole “Muscovite government,” and 
the entire Central Committee of the KPSS.39 Under a huge photograph of Bandera, 
Shliakh peremohy published Shelepin’s and Stashyns’kyi’s pictures on the first page 
and called them “the organizer of the murder” and “the executioner.”40 In the next 
issue, Shliakh peremohy reported on page 1 that Stets’ko would be the next to be 
assassinated. On page 3 it published Petro Kizko’s poem “Not Enough Revenge,” in 
which the author demanded “such a punishment for Moscow that a fire would burn it 
for ages.”41 

On Sunday 19 November 1961, anti-Soviet and anticommunist demonstrations 
took place in Munich, Edmonton, Derby, Port Arthur, and Port William. On Saturday 
25 November, demonstrations occurred in seven localities around the globe. The 
next day, similar demonstrations were conducted in thirty-one localities and on Sun-
day 3 December, in twenty-four. Altogether, according to the ZCh OUN historio-
graphy, in the final months of 1961 and the first few months of 1962, the Ukrainian 
diaspora held 132 anti-Soviet and anticommunist demonstrations and meetings.42 

At a demonstration in London on 25 and 26 November 1961, activists carried 
posters with inscriptions such as: “The blood of the Ukrainian Leader is on Khrush-
chev’s hands!” “Down with Russian murderers!” “Ukraine mourns the murder of 
Bandera!” “Today Khrushchev kills Ukrainians, tomorrow it may be you!” “Your 
children’s future is threatened by the oppressors of Ukraine!” “Bandera died for 
Ukraine’s freedom,” “BE AWARE! Khrushchev is out to bury you!” “Communism is 
another form of Russian imperialism!”43 

A demonstration in New York took place on 2 December 1961 in front of the 
building used by the Soviet delegation to the United Nations. The protestors carried 
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40  Shliakh peremohy, 26 November 1961, 1. 
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Ukrainian and American flags, and caricatures of Khrushchev; they distributed leaf-
lets, and explained the purpose of their protest to passers-by. At 5 p.m. they burned 
the Soviet flag and then “with huge rage” stormed the building, which they tried to 
enter through doors and windows. At other demonstrations, such as one in Minne-
apolis, Ukrainian political activists also burned Soviet flags. At some demonstrations, 
the protestors were joined by “freedom fighters” from Soviet republics such as Esto-
nia, from which Waffen-SS soldiers and Nazi collaborators had also moved to North 
America after the Second World War.44 

The ZCh OUN also used Bandera’s death to start a fund called the Stepan Ban-
dera Liberation Struggle Fund (Fond vyzvol’noï borot’by im. Stepana Bandery). 
Donations from individuals and associations ranged from $5 to $200, and in 1960, 
amounts up to $3,105 were received.45 Funds were also collected for the trial of Sta-
shyns’kyi. One of the arguments was “not to let the enemy triumph,” as in the trial of 
Schwartzbard for Petliura’s assassination in Paris in 1926. The organizations col-
lected DM 197,800, the equivalent of about $50,000.46 With the help of these funds, 
the ZCh OUN published historical propaganda literature such as Russian Colonial-
ism in Ukraine and Murdered by Moscow: Petliura, Konovalets, Bandera. Three 
Leaders of the Ukrainian National Liberation Movement Assassinated at the 
Orders of Stalin and Khrushchev.47 The second book was written by Lenkavs’kyi, 
author of “The Ten Commandments of a Ukrainian Nationalist,” who, during the 
“Ukrainian National Revolution” in July 1941, had stated that “regarding the Jews we 
will adopt any methods that lead to their destruction.”48 

On 22 July 1962, Shliakh peremohy announced that the Ukrainian community 
close to Villa Adelina in Argentina was constructing a large hall for the community, 
the Stepan Bandera Ukrainian Home.49 On the same day, a monument to the heroes 
of Ukraine was unveiled at the SUM camp in Ellenville, New York. The camp had 
been opened in June 1955 in order to “educate Ukrainian youth about their history 
and culture, as well as cultivating them to become active members of their Ukrainian 
and local communities while serving God and their Ukrainian homeland” as the 
heads of the SUM and the founders of the camp put it. They understood their patri-
otic duty as the education of Ukrainian diaspora children in the spirit of the OUN 
and UPA. Five similar camps—Veselka, Verkhovyna, Bilohorshcha, Karpaty, and 
Dibrova—were opened in North America. Some of them, for instance the Dibrova 
camp, were also used as a recreational center and vacation spot for diaspora 
Ukrainians.50 The monument in the Ellenville camp was erected free of charge by the 
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company owned by the former UPA partisans Mykhailo Shashkevych and Mykola 
Sydor. It consisted of a 12.8-meter-high (forty-two-foot) Ukrainian trident. The 
monument was produced by the sculptor Chereshn’ovs’kyi, a former UPA partisan, 
Dr. Lev Dobrianskyj, the head of the UKKA and professor of economics at 
Georgetown University, and the architect Zaiats’. On one side of the trident, there 
were busts of Petliura and Konovalets’, and on the other, busts of Shukhevych and 
Bandera. According to the SUM, the youth movement of the OUN-B, “All of these 
heroes sacrificed their lives in the battle for Ukraine’s sovereignty and nationhood 
and serve as an inspiration to all Ukrainian youth.” Ukrainian diaspora children have 
congregated for decades in front of the monument to recite poems, sing religious, 
nationalist, or military OUN-UPA songs, perform folk dances, and eat Ukrainian 
food.51 

The unveiling of the monument was integrated into the twentieth anniversary of 
the founding of the UPA, on 21 and 22 July 1962, which was attended by 5,000 
people. In the evening of the first day of celebrations, a drama group from Phila-
delphia acted the play “The Army of Freedom UPA” (Armiia voli UPA) by OUN 
member Leonid Poltava. The second day of celebrations began with church services, 
after which the celebrants blessed the banner of the Roman Shukhevych UPA 
association. The opening ceremony was initiated by a parade of SUM and Plast mem-
bers, UPA veterans, and other celebrants who, in their military-style uniforms or in 
plain clothes and with banners of their units in their hands, maneuvered through the 
area of the camp, while the leaders of the Ukrainian diaspora reviewed them from the 
stand. Afterwards, Dr. Dobrianskyj and other political activists delivered speeches. 
The leadership of the ZCh OUN and the Central Committee of the ABN sent greetings 
to the celebrants.52 

On the third anniversary of Bandera’s death, the radical right factions of the Ukr-
ainian diaspora organized commemorative celebrations in a number of localities, as 
in the two previous years.53 This time however, the religious and nationalist celebra-
tions were overshadowed to some extent by the trial of Stashyns’kyi in Karlsruhe, 
which took place between 8 and 19 October 1962. The nationalist press reported 
every day of the trial in detailed articles filled with anti-Soviet phrases. At the same 
time, it also published the usual articles about the assassination of Konovalets’ and 
the “heroism and tragedy” of UPA leaders.54 According to Shliakh peremohy, 
Iaroslav Stets’ko stated at a conference after the trial: “There must be a country in the 
free world that, on the basis of the sentence of the Federal Court of Justice in Ger-
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many, will bring the terrorist methods of the government of the USSR before the 
International Tribunal in The Hague.” He further demanded to “bring the matter of 
the villains from Khrushchev’s government” not only to the International Tribunal 
but also to the United Nations Commission on Human Rights and the European 
Court of Human Rights in Strasbourg.55 

T. Zaryts’kyi expressed what the ZCh OUN and Ukrainian nationalists thought 
about Stashyns’kyi’s mild sentence of eight years for the murder of their Providnyk. 
He wrote that 90 percent of the press had a tendency to belittle Stashyns’kyi’s guilt, 
when he was actually “very perfidious, dogged, aggressive, and from his birth a 
criminal type.” The author further claimed that Stashyns’kyi was a traitor to the 
Ukrainian nation and his family and was also a “Muscovite janissary.”56 

Another notable statement about the sentence came from Artur Fuhrman, per-
haps the most devoted foreign admirer of the OUN and of Ukrainian nationalism in 
the 1960s. Fuhrman was a German who was deported to a camp in Vorkuta after the 
Second World War, where he spent five years together with Ukrainian nationalists. 
His autobiographical historical novels, Blood and Coal and Under Bandera’s Ban-
ner, were published in Ukrainian by the ZCh OUN publishing houses in Munich and 
London. In his novels, he frequently referred to the Ukrainian nationalists as Ban-
derites, and himself as a Banderite. Bandera was for Fuhrman not only the leader of 
an organization but also of the “enslaved Ukrainian people” and thus also a “syn-
onym for Ukraine.”57 Commenting on the trial in Karlsruhe, Fuhrman called it a 
“good weapon in the hands of the freedom-loving Ukrainian nation, in particular in 
the hands of the OUN.” He insisted that the OUN should never stop disseminating 
the court’s finding that the decision to assassinate Bandera came from the Russian 
government. In order to make it clear how Ukrainian nationalists could profit from 
this decision and use Bandera’s death in their campaign, Fuhrman repeated the 
words of Congressman Charles J. Kersten: “The verdict of the court that the Bolshe-
vik government is the clandestine organizer of the murders will permeate the con-
sciousness of the whole world. This fact, like the sword of the archangel Michael, will 
unmask the Soviet-Russian leaders and demonstrate to mankind their real faces … 
and thus Bandera’s death was not in vain.”58 

On the fifth anniversary of Bandera’s death, the nationalist elements of the 
Ukrainian diaspora organized numerous commemorations and several anti-
communist protest marches in various countries. At a demonstration in New York on 
15 October 1964 the protesters carried banners with inscriptions like “Khrushchev 
and Shelepin—Bloody Murderers” and “Russians Hands off Ukraine” and distributed 
leaflets with the heading “We Accuse Moscow and Ask America to Be Alert.” On 17 
October 1964, 500 Ukrainians arrived in Washington from several American cities. 
They placed a wreath at the Shevchenko monument while singing nationalist songs. 

 
55  “Khrushchova na mizhnarodnii sud!” Shliakh peremohy, 28 October 1962, 4. 
56  T. Zaryts’kyi, “Na pochatku bula zrada,” Shliakh peremohy, 4 November 1962, 4. For a very similar 

characterization, see St. Shums’kyi, “Novitnii moskovs’kyi ianychar,” Shliakh peremohy, 18 Novem-
ber 1962, 2; Petro Kizko, “Chy til’ky pomichnyk,” Shliakh peremohy, 25 November 1962, 2. 

57  “Die Sache Banderas wird siegen,” ASBML, 2106, 2; “Bandera ist die Ukraine,” ASBML, 2113, 1. Artur 
Furman, Krov i vuhillia (Munich: Ukrainian Publishers, 1961); Artur Furman, Pid praporom 
Bandery (London: Ukrainian Publishers, 1964). 

58  A. Furman “Protes v Karl’sruhe—tse zbroia,” Shliakh peremohy, 4 November 1962, 4. 
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They then went to the Soviet embassy, which they picketed in heavy rain for three 
hours, singing “partisan songs” and holding banners with inscriptions such as “God 
Bless America! God Liberate Ukraine!” A group of protesters went into the embassy 
and informed the staff, in Ukrainian, that they were representatives of the Ukrainian 
Liberation Front (Ukraїns’kyi Vyzvol’nyi Front, UVF) and had come to deliver a 
memorandum, in which they condemned Moscow for killing Bandera. The protest 
ended with the nationalist demonstrators singing “It Is Not Time” (Ne pora) and the 
Ukrainian anthem “Ukraine has not yet perished” (Shche ne vmerla Ukraїna). On 
the same day in Ottawa, Ukrainians picketed the Soviet embassy.59 

In 1964 in Edmonton, the Ukrainian community combined the commemoration 
of its leader’s death with two other nationalist and religious celebrations: the first 
was the Feast of Saint Mary the Protectress; the second, the Weapons Holiday. As in 
previous years, the day of festivities started at St. Josaphat Cathedral. Afterwards, a 
crowd of 200 people at the Ukrainian National Home building listened to their 
Providnyk’s speech, which had been recorded five years before, and which enabled 
them to admire his “farsightedness and political reason.”60 

Besides commemorating Bandera and organizing religious celebrations for the 
Ukrainian Providnyk, the Ukrainian diaspora nationalists followed, attended, or 
publicized similar events organized for other fascist leaders. In January 1967, ABN 
Correspondence announced that on 30 November 1966 a memorial service in honor 
of Corneliu Zelea Codreanu, the charismatic leader of the Iron Guard in Romania, 
had been held at the Saint Nicholas Church in Munich.61 In the same year, Stets’ko 
published 30 chervnia 1941 (30 June 1941), in which he denied that the militia set up 
by the OUN-B was involved in any anti-Jewish violence during the “Ukrainian 
National Revolution” and presented the proclamation of state on that day in Lviv as 
an anti-German act of resistance. Stets’ko’s very popular book began with a foreword 
by Dontsov.62 

The tenth anniversary of Bandera’s death attracted several hundred followers to 
Munich from various European countries and from North America. The nationalists 
appeared at Bandera’s grave on 11 October 1969 in order to “honor the memory of 
the Providnyk of the Ukrainian National Revolution, and to declare the indestructible 
will of the Ukrainian nation to prolong the liberation struggle until the victory over 
Moscow.”63 The ABN organized a press conference in Munich, to which it invited 
journalists in order to remind them how important the struggle against the Soviet 
Union was. The nationalists also attended several church services devoted to the 
memory of their Providnyk, and a panakhyda at his grave, which was performed by 
six priests. During this event, Bishop Kyr Platon reminded the mourners that Ban-

 
59  “Protymoskovs’ki demonstratsiї,” Homin Ukraïny, 31 October 1964, 2; “Vashington pid znakom 

Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 7 November 1964, 4, 8. For the mourning gatherings see “U 5-richchia 
smerty Stepana Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 31 October 1964, 3, 5; “Z ukraїns’koho zhyttia u sviti,” 
Homin Ukraïny, 31 October 1964, 6; “U 5-richchia smerty Stepana Bandery,” Homin Ukraїny, 7 
November 1964, 3, 7. 

60  “U 5-richchia smerty Stepana Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 7 November 1964, 3. 
61  “Memorial Service in Honour of Corneliu Codreanu,” ABN Correspondence Vol. XVIII, No. 1 (1967): 
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62  Stets’ko, 30 chervnia 1941, 9–11, 182, 246. 
63  “Na poshanu providnyka OUN St. Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 25 October 1969, 1. 
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dera was a “deeply religious man and a great patriot of the Ukrainian nation.” Then 
200 SUM members held a parade and two female SUM members from England 
poured water from the Dnieper River and scattered soil at the grave, mixed with 
bread and the red fruit of the guelder rose, a national symbol of Ukraine and the title 
of the anthem of the UPA (Chervona Kalyna). About 1,500 mourners attended a 
commemorative gathering at a Munich theater, where they listened to Stets’ko’s 
oration, and vocal performances by the Homin choir from Manchester. When the 
gathering ended, the participants marched to the house at Kreittmayrstrasse 7, where 
Bandera had been assassinated. They listened to political speeches, placed a wreath, 
and sang “It Is Not Time” and the Ukrainian anthem.64 

Admirers who were unable to visit the grave of their Providnyk on the tenth anni-
versary held rallies, marches, church services, and commemorative gatherings in 
numerous localities around the globe.65 In Winnipeg, which had designated Iaroslav 
Stets’ko an honorary citizen of the city in 1966, (Fig. 44) the commemoration of the 
tenth anniversary was enriched by soil from Bandera’s grave in Munich. This relic 
had been brought to the Canadian city by Semen Ïzhyk in order to radiate an aura of 
“nationalist holiness” during the solemn and well-attended Bandera commemora-
tions.66 In London, under a Bandera portrait and OUN-B and Ukrainian national 
flags, young SUM members in folk costumes and uniforms recited poems.67 

In Washington on 11 October 1969, Mykhailo Shpontak, in the company of two 
female SUM members, laid a wreath under the Shevchenko monument. Several 
anticommunist activists, among them OUN-B member Petro Mirchuk, delivered 
speeches while the crowd of 500 people, armed with 100 banners and 5,000 leaflets, 
began to walk toward the Soviet embassy. Although the police tried to prevent the 
demonstrators from invading the embassy, two protestors succeeded in placing at the 
entrance a “Wanted” poster for Shelepin, the man who had ordered the killing of 
Bandera.68 

A similar demonstration was organized for the following weekend in Central Park 
in New York, at which SUM and Plast youth appeared in uniforms, with Bandera 
banners in their hands, while they stood next to older nationalists. After listening to 
anticommunist speeches, the protesters and mourners, armed with Hungarian, 
Polish, Bulgarian, Cossack, Georgian, North Caucasian, Croatian, and Estonian flags, 
marched to the building of the Soviet delegation to the United Nations. There, the 
demonstrators burned several Soviet flags. An SUM member and a woman in a 
 
 

 
64  Ibid., 1, 4. 
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Ukraїny, 15 November 1969, 3, 7, 13; “U desiatu richnytsiu smerty S. Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 22 
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66  “Desiati rokovyny smerty Bandery,” Ukrainian News, 23 October 1969, 5. For designating Stets’ko an 
honorary citizen of Winnipeg, see “Former Prime Minister of Ukraine—Honorary Citizen of Ukraine,” 
ABN Correspondence, Vol. VXIII, No. 3 (1967): 31. 

67  See the picture on the cover. The image is from the collection of the TShLA. 
68  “U Vashyngtoni vidznachyly manifestatsieiu 10-littia vbystva Stepana Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 25 
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Fig. 44. The document nominating Iaroslav Stets’ko as an Honorary Citizen of Winnipeg. 

ABN Correspondence No. 3 (1967): 31. 

Cossack dress wanted to hand over an accusatory letter to the officials in the 
embassy, but nobody opened the door.69 

The Toronto commemorative committee advertised the fifteenth anniversary of 
Bandera’s death on the first page of Homin Ukraïny. The committee combined Ban-
dera’s anniversary with the Weapon Holiday and the UPA celebration. Among the 
attractions were performances by three choirs, and a speech by the prominent OUN-
B member Mykola Klymyshyn, who, like Petro Mirchuk, had been awarded the de-
gree of doctor of philosophy at the Munich Ukrainian Free University (Ukraїns’kyi 
Vil’nyi Universytet, UVU).70 Ukrainians in Buenos Aires performed a panakhyda on 
15 October 1974. Five days later, they gathered in the building of the Prosvita society, 
to perform the secular part of the commemoration, which they began with a moment 
of silence. One mourner then read Mykola Shcherbak’s poem “15 October 1959” and 
older nationalists carried into the hall a wreath with a blue-and-yellow and red-and-
black ribbon and handed it over to SUM members, who put it under the portrait of 
Bandera. This act symbolized the handing over of the revolutionary struggle to the 
youth. Several activists, both young and old, then recited poems devoted to the 

 
69  “Protybol’shevyts’ka demonstratsia u N’iu-Iorku,” Homin Ukraïny, 22 November 1969, 1, 4. 
70  Homin Ukraïny, 12 October 1974, 1. 



 Chapter 9: The Revival of the Cult 427 

 

Providnyk and sang UPA and other military songs. At the end, all sang “Ukraine has 
not yet perished.”71 

The same groups that commemorated Bandera also initiated the cult of Dontsov, 
who died on 30 March 1973 in Montreal. The ABN Correspondance filled the cover 
of the May-June issue in 1973 with Dontsov’s portrait and the inscription: “Great 
political thinker, champion of the idea of a common front of nations subjugated by 
Russian imperialism in their struggle for national independence.”72 At the fifth 
anniversary of Dontsov’s death, Homin Ukraїny published a photograph of Dont-
sov’s bust, prepared by Chereshn’ovs’kyi, who had also sculpted busts of Bandera, 
Shukhevych, Petliura, and others.73 In 1983, at the hundredth anniversary of his 
birth and the tenth anniversary of his death, Dontsov was commemorated as a “great 
thinker,” “revolutionary,” and “philosopher.”74 

The twentieth anniversary of Bandera’s death was combined with the fiftieth 
anniversary of the founding of the OUN. On its first page on 3 October 1979, Homin 
Ukraïny published portraits of four prominent Ukrainian nationalists—Konovalets’, 
Bandera, Shukhevych, and Stets’ko—and announced that on 7 October nationalists 
would “commemorate the heroism of thousands of fallen OUN members” in 
Toronto.75 On 10 October, it similarly published a large photograph of Bandera’s 
bust, and an interview with the Ukrainian dissident Valentyn Moroz about the OUN, 
and explained why they were combining the fiftieth anniversary of the founding of 
the OUN with the twentieth anniversary of Bandera’s assassination: “The name of 
Stepan Bandera is inseparable from the history of the OUN, during his life as well as 
after his heroic death. He lives in the OUN, and due to it and with it in the hearts and 
souls of the whole Ukrainian nation, as a symbol of the will to freedom and indepen-
dence as a banner of a nation on a path of revolutionary liberation.”76 On the next 
page, Liubomyr Rykhtyts’kyi explained that it is “not possible to kill a historic symbol 
[Stepan Bandera] as it is not possible to kill an idea.”77 The Head of the UVF stressed 
that “Bandera’s spirit is calling all of us.”78 

Excitement about the combined anniversary arose in numerous Ukrainian com-
munities around the world, but the most lavish commemorations took place in 
Munich, the most important pilgrimage site for the Ukrainian nationalists.79 A num-
ber of leading Ukrainian nationalists, including Mykola Klymyshyn and Bandera’s 
son Andrii, came to Munich for this event. They had backed Stets’ko, the tireless 
leader of the ABN since 1946 and the leader of the ZCh OUN since he succeeded 
Bandera’s follower Lenkavskyi’ in this position in 1968. The politico-religious com-
memorations began with a conference on 11 October 1979 in the Munich Penta Hotel,  
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Fig. 45. Iaroslav Stets’ko and Andrii Bandera during the conference on  

11 October 1979 in Munich. ABN Correspondance No. 6 (1979): 36. 

where Stets’ko read the text “We Accuse Moscow and Warn the Free World.” In his 
speech, Stets’ko, according to Homin Ukraïny, enumerated the “assassinations of 
Ukrainian fighters, informed [the audience] about the policies of enforced Russifica-
tion, encouraged [them] to boycott the Olympics in 1980 in Moscow … and called for 
a political-psychological counteroffensive against Moscow.”80 When Stets’ko had 
finished, Andrii Bandera addressed the question of Shelepin, the former head of the 
NKVD, and expressed his disappointment that, although the trial in Karlsruhe had 
declared him guilty, the German authorities had still not arrested him (Fig. 45).81 

Several hundred older OUN and younger SUM members attended the panakhyda 
on 13 October 1979 in Munich. Nationalists who could not appear at the grave of 
their Providnyk sent wreaths with red-and-black or blue-and-yellow ribbons, from 
Australia, Belgium, Canada, France, England, and the United States. Klymyshyn and 
other nationalists, including SUM and ABN leaders, delivered speeches at the grave-
side. Representatives of Ukrainian nationalist communities in several countries 
saluted. The article in Homin Ukraїny did not clarify whether they used the original 
fascist OUN-B salute from 1941, which consisted of raising the right arm “slightly to 
the right, slightly above the top of the head” while calling out “Glory to Ukraine!” or 
whether it was a revised version without the fascist gesture.82 
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82  “Miunkhen u 20-littia skrytovbystva Stepana Bandery,” Homin Ukraïny, 31 October 1979, 4. For the 
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After the oratorical and other performances at the grave, the mourners attended a 
commemorative gathering at the Penta Hotel in a hall decorated with the red-and-
black OUN-B and the Ukrainian blue-and-yellow flags, as well as portraits of Ban-
dera. Stepan Mechnyk, one of Bandera’s comrade-in-arms, opened the event. He 
informed 800 assembled nationalists about a telephone call from a secretary of Iosyf 
Slipyi, the Greek Catholic patriarch in Rome, who assured him that the twentieth 
anniversary of the death of the Providnyk was also solemnized in the capital of West-
ern Christianity. During the gathering, a number of Ukrainian dance and vocal 
groups from several countries, including the Bandura Quartet from France, the Di-
brova women’s group from Munich, and the Chaban group from England, per-
formed. A few individuals recited poems devoted to the Providnyk. Finally, all the 
performers gathered on stage and sang the Ukrainian anthem, to the glory of the 
Providnyk. The participants then marched through Munich to the apartment build-
ing at Kreittmayrstrasse 7, as they had done ten years earlier. At the head of the 
procession marched Stets’ko with such prominent OUN members as Klymyshyn and 
Mechnyk, and several young nationalists in SUM uniforms. In front of the building 
where Bandera was assassinated, Omelian Koval’ delivered a speech, in which he 
called upon Ukrainian youth to prolong the struggle initiated by their parents, who 
were from the “Bandera generation.” The young people then burned the Soviet flag 
(Fig. 46), and the crowd sang the Ukrainian anthem and “It Is Not Time!” After-
wards, young Ukrainians collected signatures on a petition to the Munich city council 
to rename Kreittmayrstrasse as Stepan-Bandera-Strasse and to erect a commemor-
ative plaque on the building where the Providnyk had been assassinated.83 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Fig. 46. Burning the Soviet flag in front of the building in the Kreittmayrstrasse 7  

in Munich on 13 October 1979. Shliakh peremohy, 11 November 1979, 1. 
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Fig. 47. Demonstration in London in front of the Soviet embassy on the twentieth anniversary of 

Bandera’s assassination. ABN Correspondance No. 2 (1980): 19. 

Similar commemorations and demonstrations took place on the twentieth anni-
versary of Bandera’s assassination in many other cities. In London, Ukrainians 
demonstrated with pro-Bandera and anti-Soviet posters, in front of the Soviet em-
bassy (Fig. 47).84 In New York, the Ukrainian dissident Valentyn Moroz set fire to the 
Soviet flag at an ABN demonstration in front of the premises of the Soviet delegation 
to the United Nations (Fig. 48).85 The youth journal Avangard published a drawing 
of Bandera’s head growing out of a cross, which bore the inscription “The Vengeance 
Will Come!” (Fig. 49).86 Bronze medals were also released on the occasion of the 
twentieth anniversary of Bandera’s death.87 

The Ukrainian nationalists did not usually consider how Jews might perceive the 
cult of the Providnyk, or what they thought about the ritualized denial of the atroci-
ties and war crimes committed by the Ukrainian insurgents and police during the 
Second World War. But in November 1979, Homin Ukraïny proudly informed its 
leaders on the first page that, shortly before the twentieth anniversary of Bandera’s 
death, a Committee of Ukrainian-Jewish Cooperation in Jerusalem sent a telegram 
with expressions of sympathy. The committee was founded in 1979 by Ukrainian 
Jewish émigrés and headed by Iakov Suslensky.88 
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Fig. 48. Valentyn Moroz setting a Soviet flag on fire in New York at an ABN demonstration on the 

twentieth anniversary of Bandera’s assassination. ABN Correspondance No. 2 (1980): 7. 

The period between the round-number celebrations was also filled with fascinat-
ing events. During Captive Nations Week in July 1982, for example, representatives 
of the UPA and other North American Ukrainian nationalist associations were in-
vited to Washington to celebrate, with thirty Congressmen, the fortieth anniversary 
of the UPA. According to Shliakh peremohy, the UPA flag flew over the capitol on 11 
July 1982. The UPA flag was the red-and-black OUN-B flag, which had been intro-
duced at the Second Great Congress of the Ukrainian Nationalists in Cracow in 
March–April 1941.89 Iosyf Slipyi, Patriarch of the Greek Catholic Church, who on 30 
June 1941 attended the meeting at which Stets’ko had proclaimed the Ukrainian 
state, and who had lived in exile after he was released by the Soviet authorities in 
1963, declared on the occasion of the fortieth anniversary of the UPA: “The Ukrai-
nian Insurgent Army was born from the Christian awareness of the need to fight 
against Satan and his earthly servants.”90 A year later, on the twenty-fifth anniver-
sary of the founding of Captive Nations and the alleged fortieth anniversary of the 
ABN, Stets’ko, head of the ABN and the OUN was invited to Congress. Vice President 
George Bush received the “last premier of a free Ukrainian state,” as Stets’ko still 
called himself, on 18 July 1983. A day later, President Reagan received Stets’ko at the 
White House.91 
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Fig. 49. “The Vengeance Will Come.” 

Avangard. Zhurnalukraїns’koїmolodi Vol. 149, No. 6 (1979), 335. 

In 1982 the Ukrainian community in Cleveland began collecting money for a 
monument devoted to the UPA soldiers, which would bear the inscription: “There is 
no greater love than to give one’s life for one’s friends.”92 Before they even began 
collecting in Cleveland, other Ukrainian communities around the world had already 
erected several similar monuments. In Edmonton for example, the bust of a uni-
formed Roman Shukhevych by the sculptor Chereshn’ovs’kyi was unveiled in 1973 in 
front of a huge Ukrainian Youth Complex. The building itself was constructed be-
tween 1972 and 1974, partially funded by the Alberta provincial and Canadian federal 
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Fig. 50. The UPA monument in the camp Kyїv in Oakville (Ontario, Canada). 

Al’manakh Homonu Ukraїny 1991, 172. 

governments as a result of the policy of multiculturalism introduced in Canada in 
1971.93 Besides erecting monuments to famous UPA leaders, the Ukrainian national-
ist émigrés celebrated them in public. For example, on 22 June 1980, the thirtieth 
anniversary of Shukhevych’s death, 6,000 Ukrainian nationalists from Chicago, De-
troit, Montreal, Munich, New York, Ottawa, Pittsburgh, and several other cities ga-
thered in Toronto to attend a religious memorial service.94 In 1988 the association of 
former UPA soldiers unveiled a monument in the Kyїv camp in Oakville (Ontario, 
Canada), devoted to the “glorious UPA.” Engraved on a piece of rock, it showed a 
UPA insurgent in a uniform with a huge trident behind him (Fig. 50).95 
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The act of 30 June 1941 was another significant component of the anti-Soviet 
commemorations performed regularly by the veterans of the OUN, UPA, Waffen-SS 
Galizien and their children. A modified version of the text of the state proclamation 
of 30 June 1941 was presented yearly in nationalist newspapers as a brave, anti-
German act of the “renewal of Ukrainian statehood.” The Ukrainian nationalists had 
removed the expressions of admiration for Hitler and the desire for close collabora-
tion with the “National Socialist Great Germany, which, under the leadership of 
Adolf Hitler, is creating a new order in Europe.” This adjustment allowed them to 
perceive the act of 30 June 1941 as a symbol of deep and sincere Ukrainian patriot-
ism and resistance against Nazi Germany. 96 

In the early 1980s the Ukrainian diaspora, in particular the Ukrainian communi-
ties that commemorated Bandera as their Providnyk, or the state proclamation of 30 
June 1941 as an anti-German act, developed another essential nationalist narrative, 
namely of the artificial famine in Soviet Ukraine of 1932–1933, which they called the 
“Famine Holocaust” or the “Ukrainian Holocaust.” They thus drew a parallel with the 
destruction of European Jews during the Second World War, known since the late 
1970s as the Holocaust. The term “Holodomor” became popular in Ukraine and 
among the diaspora especially in the late 1980s. The phonetic similarity of Holodo-
mor to Holocaust was not a coincidence. The immediate trigger for the nationalists’ 
famine discourse was the popular miniseries Holocaust, which was broadcast in 1978 
by NBC and was watched by millions of North Americans. Presenting the story of one 
Jewish family from Berlin since the coming of the Nazis to power in 1933 until the 
end of the Second World War, the miniseries drew the attention of many North 
Americans to the destruction of European Jews. The miniseries presented Ukrai-
nians as Nazi collaborators and Holocaust perpetrators. Holocaust thereby clashed 
with the ideological Bandera symbolism and the way that the Ukrainian diaspora 
dealt with its past, particularly as to the denial of Ukrainian involvement in the Holo-
caust and collaboration with Nazi Germany.97 

At that time and into the 1980s, relatively little demographic research had been 
conducted on the subject of the famine; this made it easier to exaggerate the number 
of victims. The approximate number of 2.5 to 3.9 million Ukrainian victims of the 
famine became known only in the early 1990s. The nationalist elements of the dias-
pora claimed that during the “Holodomor” more Ukrainians were killed than Jews 
were during the Holocaust. In articles, leaflets, books and on monuments, they in-
flated the numbers to five, seven, eight, or 10 million Ukrainian victims of the 

 
96  For the original text, see “Akt proholoshennia ukraїns’koї derzhavy, 30.06.1941,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, 

op. 1, spr. 5, 3. For the falsified reprint of the text, see “Text of sovereignty proclamation,” Ukrainian 
Echo, 25 June 1980, 3. 

97  On the instrumentalization of the famine and the soap opera Holocaust, see Dietsch, Making Sense, 
124–25. For an article calling the famine the “horrible Ukrainian holocaust” and claiming seven mil-
lion Ukrainian victims, see “Zhakhlyvyi ukraїns’kyi holokost,” Homin Ukraїny, 1 September 1982, 9. 
The term appeared for the first time in 1988. Cf. John-Paul Himka: “Review of Johan Dietsch, 
‘Making Sense of Suffering’ and Stanyslav Vladyslavovych ‘Kul’chyts’kyi, Holod 1932–1933 rr. v 
Ukraini iak henotsyd/Golod 1932–1933 gg. v Ukraine kak genotsid’” Kritika: Explorations in Russian 
and Eurasian History Vol. 8, No. 3 (Summer 2007): 684. 
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famine.98 They sometimes counted Ukrainian victims between 1921 and 1956 
generally, and claimed 15 million victims, which figure they presented in contrast to 
the 6 million Jewish victims.99 Roman Serbyn, Professor of East European history at 
the University of Montreal, at which Dontsov was teaching after the Second World 
War, wrote: “Much has been written in recent years about the man-made famine that 
ravaged Ukraine in 1932–1933 and caused the deaths of seven to ten million 
people.”100 In an academic volume published in 1986, Marco Carynnyk compared the 
Ukrainian victims of the famine to the Jewish victims of the Holocaust.101 The partici-
pants of the Holodomor discourse instrumentalized the suffering of the famine vic-
tims for various reasons, the most important of which were to draw attention to the 
Soviet denial of the famine and to the political situation in Soviet Ukraine, and to 
respond to the accusations concerning Ukrainian involvement in the Holocaust.102 

Shortly before the twenty-fifth anniversary of Bandera’s assassination, two im-
portant Ukrainian nationalist activists died: Stepan Bandera’s son Andrii on 19 July 
1984, and Iosyf Slipyi, charismatic head of the Greek Catholic Church and an impor-
tant symbol of Ukrainian nationalism, on 7 September 1984. Ukrainian nationalist 
papers such as the Munich-based Shliakh peremohy and the Toronto-based Homin 
Ukraïny immediately began transforming both the deceased into heroes and martyrs 
as they had previously dealt with Bandera and several other personalities.103 

Despite these two losses, 1984 was a special year for all Bandera admirers, as it 
included the twenty-fifth anniversary of the death and seventy-fifth anniversary of 
the birth of their Providnyk. Early in the year, Shliakh peremohy brought out a red-
and-black wall calendar with Bandera’s portrait and a quotation from Bandera’s 
posthumously edited volume Perspectives of the Ukrainian Revolution.104 In May 
Homin Ukraїny designated Bandera and Shukhevych as heroes of the month.105 On 
17 October, it published Bandera’s portrait on the first page, together with a picture 
of the pro-Bandera demonstration in Munich in 1979. An article reminded its readers 

 
98  On 23 October 1983 a famine monument was unveiled in Edmonton. At the unveiling ceremony Petro 

Savaryn claimed seven million victims. See Tom Barrett, “Agony of Ukraine recalled,” Edmonton 
Journal, 24 October 1983, 1; Rudling, Multiculturalism, 751–52. 

99  “Ukraine since the ‘New Order’,” “Major instance of Genocide in the 20th century,” Ukrainian Echo, 1 
June 1983, 1, 2. 

100  Roman Serbyn, “The First Man-Made Famine in Soviet Ukraine 1921–1923,” Ukrainian Weekly, 6 
November 1988, 5. 

101  Marco Carynnyk, “Blind Eye to Murder: Britain, the United States and the Ukrainian Famine of 
1933,” in Famine in Ukraine 1932–1933, eds. Roman Serbyn and Bohdan Krawchenko (Edmonton: 
Canadian Institute of Ukrainian Studies, University of Alberta, 1986), 135–36. In the 1990s Carynnyk 
became one of the most reliable scholars investigating the antisemitism of the OUN-UPA, and a critic 
of the nationalist misrepresentation of the famine. Cf. chapter 10 below. 

102  In general on the famine, see Dietsch, Making Sense; Himka, Review of Johan Dietsch, 683–94. 
103  For Andrii Bandera, see “Pokhoron sl. pam. A. Bandery,” Shliakh peremohy, 12 August 1984, 1,2; 

“Zamist’ kvitiv na mohylu druhovi,” Shliakh peremohy, 19 August 1984, 2; “Sviatii pamiati Andriia 
Bandery,” Shliakh peremohy, 9 September 1984, 2; “Pokhoron sl. pam. Andriia Bandery,” Homin 
Ukraїny, 1 August 1984, 1; “Prysviata sl. p. Andriievi Banderi,” Homin Ukraїny, 1 August 1984, 2; “In 
Memoriam of Andriy Bandera,” Ukrainian Echo, 29 August 1984, 3, 6. For Slipyi, see “U pokloni svi-
atomu,” Shliakh peremohy, 23 September 1984, 1; “Zavishchannia blazhenishoho,” Shliakh pere-
mohy, 23 September 1984, 1; “Budemo virni zavishchanniu Patriiarkha!” Shliakh peremohy, 7 Oc-
tober 1984, 1; “Sviatishyi Otets’ Ivan-Pavlo II do ukraїns’koho narodu v Kanadi,” Shliakh peremohy, 
14 October 1984, 2; “Sv. p. Patriiarkh UKTS Iosyf I,” Homin Ukraïny, 19 September 1984, 1–2. 

104  “U 25-richchia z dnia smerty Stepana Bandery,” Shliakh peremohy, 1984. 
105  Iaroslav Sokolyk, “Heroї travnia,” Homin Ukraїny, 13 June 1984, 2. 
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that the portrait showed the symbol of the Ukrainian nation.106 The KUK summoned 
the “Ukrainian citizens of Canada” to commemorate Bandera as “one of the greatest 
twentieth-century defenders against the communist-Russian empire.”107 

One day before the anniversary, Shliakh peremohy published Bandera’s portrait 
on the first page. In the article surrounding the portrait, it summarized Bandera’s life 
in a standardized heroic and laudatory narrative, set in the “time of iron and 
blood.”108 On another page, it explained that the Munich émigrés frequently took 
their foreign visitors to Bandera’s grave.109 In the next issue, Shliakh peremohy pub-
lished further articles about the revolutionary nature of the Providnyk, pictures of 
his funeral, and of his grave covered with wreaths.110 A week later, it stated that Octo-
ber was Bandera month in Munich and informed its readers that in 1984, as in pre-
vious years, Ukrainians from numerous countries around the world would make a 
pilgrimage to Bandera’s grave. After their arrival, the participants first attended a 
politicized panakhyda and then went to the hall of the Munich Conservatory for a 
commemorative gathering. During the ceremony, Stets’ko reminded the audience 
that the revolutionary struggle was not over: “Around us is the world of enemies—the 
post-Versailles system that legalized the occupation of Ukraine.” In Cossack cos-
tumes, the Nottingham choir sang UPA songs under a huge portrait of Bandera. 
Finally, 800 participants marched through the city with torches and banners in their 
hands. Instead of walking to Kreittmayrstrasse 7 and burning a Soviet flag as in 
previous years, the crowd marched to the Odeonsplatz, where SUM activists had 
built a stand. They delivered anticommunist speeches and informed passers-by, in 
German and Ukrainian, about the purpose of their activism.111 

On 20 October 1984 in London, after a church service in remembrance of the 
Providnyk, about 1,500 people walked through the city with banners, shouting anti-
Soviet slogans. In the afternoon, they assembled to hear a speech by Vasyl’ Oles’kiv, 
and anticommunist and revolutionary nationalist songs such as “We Were Born from 
the Blood of the Nation,” performed by the Manchester choir in Cossack and folk 
costumes, under a huge portrait of Stepan Bandera.112 In addition to the numerous 
regular locations of Bandera anniversaries, such as New York, Washington, and Win-
nipeg, Ukrainian nationalists performed their anticommunist rituals in honor of 
Bandera, in Hollywood in 1984.113 

The next round of Bandera commemorations took place in 1989 without the OUN 
and ABN leader Iaroslav Stets’ko, who had died in Munich on 5 July 1986. Slava 
(Iaroslava) Stets’ko, the widow of the “last premier of Ukraine,” became the new 

 
106  “Stepan Bandera—symvol ukraїns’koї natsiї,” Homin Ukraїny, 17 October 1984, 1–2. See also “Stepan 
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Echo, 17 October 1984, 5. 

107  “Zvernennia KUK,” Homin Ukraїny, 24 October 1984, 2. 
108  “Zvernenia provodu OUN u 25-richchia herois’koї smerty Stepana Bandery,” Shliakh peremohy, 14 

October 1984, 1. 
109  On this page the OUN activists depicted themselves with members of the European Council of Libera-

tion, “Konferentsiia Ievropeis’koї Rady Svobody,” Shliakh peremohy, 14 October 1984, 5. 
110  “Stepan Bandera—revoliutsyinyi providnyk,” Shliakh peremohy, 21 October 1984, 1, 6. 
111  “U pokloni Stepanovi Banderi,” Shliakh peremohy, 28 October 1984, 1, 6; “Stepan Bandera na tli 
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113  “V pokloni Stepanovi Banderi,” Homin Ukraïny, 5 December 1984, 10. 
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leader of the ABN. Vasyl’ Oles’kiv assumed the leadership of the OUN.114 Shortly after 
his death, Stets’ko also became a cult figure, although he was not admired and 
celebrated as intensively and lavishly as Bandera. Forty days after Stets’ko’s death, an 
anonymous poet published a poem entitled “For the Providnyk,” devoted to the 
legendary leader of the ABN. It praised Stets’ko’s strong belief in the “Holy Truth,” 
his willingness to make sacrifices, and his determination. It also mourned the loss of 
Stets’ko, which was compared to the loss of Bandera. Together with a dozen other 
equally pathetic and bellicose poems, the poem was recited by SUM members in their 
brown uniforms at a commemorative gathering in Munich on 13 August 1986.115 Even 
before this commemoration, the death of Stets’ko was also officially honored in 
Taipei on 19 July, during a congress of the Captive Nations.116 

Stets’ko’s passing certainly affected the nationalist Ukrainian communities but it 
did not prevent them from prolonging the struggle against the “red devil” while 
staging further commemorations in honor of Bandera, and performing numerous 
anticommunist rituals. On 15 October 1989, Shliakh peremohy published a photo-
graph of Bandera’s bust on the first page, with his signature and the article “Stepan 
Bandera—The Maker of a New Era.” As in previous years, Bandera was introduced as 
the first son of the nation, which was underlined by Leonid Poltava’s motto “You will 
never forget the one who became the banner of the people!” Further, the Banderite 
newspaper based in Munich published a poem devoted to the Providnyk on the first 
page, and an article about the trial of Bohdan Stashyns’kyi written by Stepan 
Lenkavs’kyi, who had died in 1977.117 

In 1989 the commemorations in Munich proceeded as usual. Bishop Platon and 
other priests performed a panakhyda at the grave, which was attended by numerous 
nationalists, both young and old, in uniforms or plain clothes. Many of them carried 
red-and-black flags. Oles’kiv, the new OUN leader, delivered a speech. Later, the 
nationalists went to a commemorative gathering organized by Kashuba, a former SB 
officer. Volodymyr Mazur delivered a speech about the “vicious enemies” and the 
“enormous suffering” of the Ukrainian nation. He stood at a podium covered with an 
embroidered cloth, and the stage behind him was decorated with a huge Bandera 
poster with “1959” and “1989” on either side. Various musical groups played and 
sang nationalist and folk pieces for the Providnyk. The main difference between this 
and all previous festivities was that similar commemorations in western Ukraine, 
particularly in Bandera’s birthplace Staryi Uhryniv, were mentioned in the diaspora 
press. This was a sign of upcoming political changes.118 

 
114  Lypovets’kyi, Orhanizatsiia Ukraïns’kykh, cover. 
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The First Bandera Museum 

The first museum devoted to Bandera was unveiled on 20 October 1962, one day 
after the announcement of the verdict in the trial of Bohdan Stashyns’kyi. The Stepan 
Bandera Museum of the Ukrainian Liberation Struggle (Muzei Ukraїns’koї Vyz-
vol’noї borot’by im. Stepana Bandery) was opened in the building of the SUB in 
Nottingham, England.119 The core items in the museum were Bandera’s personal 
belongings. The ZCh OUN regarded Britain as a safer place for these “sacred” objects 
than Munich.120 

In 1978 the museum was relocated to London and reopened on 6 October 1979.121 
According to Vasyl’ Oles’kiv, leader of the ZCh OUN from 1986 to 1991 and long-
standing director of the museum, the idea behind the relocation was to make it more 
accessible for foreign visitors.122 The museum, however, was never designed to attract 
the general public, but served as a pilgrimage site for Ukrainian nationalists, known 
only to insiders.123 The wish of the founders of the museum was to save Bandera’s 
personal belongings for future generations. They shipped a substantial portion of 
them from Bandera’s office and home in Munich to Nottingham and later to London, 
where they were located on the first floor of the building of the OUN publishing 
house, Ukrainian Publishers, at 200 Liverpool Road. The entire museum has been 
located there ever since, in a dark, bunker-like room of about twenty-six square me-
ters, with small windows immediately below the ceiling. The two central exhibits of 
the museum are Bandera’s death mask and the clothes in which he was assassinated. 
His suit and shirt bear traces of the blood that he allegedly spat out after Stashyns’kyi 
fired the capsule with potassium cyanide at his face. The death mask was taken from 
Bandera’s face in order to immortalize Bandera’s physiognomy, charisma, and great-
ness (Fig. 51). The main purpose behind displaying the bloodstained clothes is to 
invoke the terrible moment of assassination, which symbolizes the extinction of 
Ukraine and Ukrainians by the Soviet oppressors. Other belongings of the Providnyk 
are located in his wardrobe, which stands open. Inside, visitors see Bandera’s jackets, 
shirts, including one with a tie, dark leather gloves, a hat, briefcase, pullovers, coat, 
pajamas, dark leather shoes, sport shoes, walking boots, ice skates, and even a small 
folding spade. 

Standing in the museum room between Bandera’s wardrobe, radio, sofa, com-
mode, and a large wooden desk with a huge semi-circular stamp, a wooden desk 
clock, and a typewriter that had belonged to Ievhen Konovalets’, visitors receive the 
impression that they are somewhere between Bandera’s office, living room, and 
bedroom. The impression is strengthened by the portraits of Konovalets’ and Petliura 
that hang in the same order as they had hung in Bandera’s office in Munich, on either 
  

 
119  “Muzei,” Shliakh peremohy, 12 October 1962, 3. 
120  OUN member Mykhailo Bilan, interview by author, London, 10 July 2008. 
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Fig. 51. Bandera’s death mask in the Bandera museum London. 

Lizun, Vbyvstvo Stepana Bandery, 80. 
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side of a cross, above a trident, on the wall behind the desk. Although the blood on 
the jacket and shirt informs the visitor about Bandera’s death, the bust behind the 
desk, the death mask, and the dried flowers from the funeral wreaths revise the im-
pression and suggest that the Providnyk is actually there among the visitors. A num-
ber of items are exhibited in six display cases and on the walls. Some of them did not 
belong to Bandera but conceptualize Bandera as a symbol of the OUN, UPA, and 
Ukrainian nationalism in general.124 

One of such objects is Shukhevych’s bust. It was prepared, like Bandera’s, by Che-
reshn’ovs’kyi. Both busts are placed on pedestals from which they appear to look at 
the visitors. The collection of Bandera’s articles edited posthumously by his adhe-
rents and published in 1978 under the title The Perspectives of the Ukrainian Revo-
lution lies on a table covered with an embroidered cloth. It resembles a Bible on an 
altar. One of the display cases contains Bandera’s bloody jacket, shirt, and his shoul-
der holster, but without the pistol that was found on him at the hospital. Another 
display case exhibits two leather bags of a UPA partisan who, as a small paper strip 
informs the visitors, arrived in Bavaria from Ukraine in 1947. The other four display 
cases show items of different provenance. Many of them are propaganda materials 
like newspapers, leaflets, and pamphlets from the 1940s and 1950s, some of them 
brought from Ukraine to Bavaria, others printed in the diaspora. Also included in 
this group are medals, OUN and UPA stickers, booklets, organizational awards, and 
diplomas. One display case contains a dozen embroidered cloths of different types 
and implies the interrelation between Ukrainian nationalism and Ukrainian folklore. 
Another group includes portraits of OUN and UPA leaders, several photographs of 
the Providnyk and objects related to him, such as the house in which he grew up in 
Staryi Uhryniv, the church where his father served, pictures from his youth, includ-
ing one in a Cossack costume and with a rifle in his hands (Fig. 4, page 95), pictures 
of his family in Munich, and of an interview with journalists. Finally, the display 
cases demonstrate a collection of Bandera cinderella stamps, two postcards bearing 
these stamps, and some bofons, or bonds for the OUN combat fund, including a 100 
hryvnia Bandera bofon (Fig. 52).125 

The exhibits on one wall are a set of portraits of OUN members and a set of 
colored drawings showing Ukrainian prisoners in the Auschwitz camp. The portraits 
are divided into two rows. The top one displays male OUN members: Ievhen 
Konovalets’ in the middle, Stepan Bandera and Iaroslav Stets’ko on either side of 
him, and then Mykhailo Soroka and Stepan Lenkavs’kyi; the row below shows the 
female members: Alla Hors’ka, Iryna Senyk, Oksana Popovych, Kateryna Zaryts’ka-
Soroka, Halyna Dydyk, and Oksana Meshko. 

The drawings with scenes from Auschwitz, which was both a concentration camp 
and an extermination camp, hang in a row of fifteen paintings under the portraits of 
the male and female OUN heroes. The author of the drawings is Petro Balei, a pris-
oner of the camp and the author of several books, including one about Bandera. The 
  

 
124  OUN member Vasyl’ Oles’kiv, telephone interview by author, Berlin/London, 27 November 2008. 
125  The Bandera bofon with Iaroslav Stets’ko’s signature was issued in 1982. Others were released in 

1964 and 1994. Cf. Serhii Bohunov, ed., Bofony: Hroshovi dokumenty OUN i UPA (Kiev: Sluzhba 
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Fig. 52. A hundred hryvnia Bandera bofon with Iaroslav Stets’ko’s inscription, 1982. ASBML. 

pictures are the only exhibits in the museum that are related to the Holocaust. Yet 
they do not hang in the museum to explain what Auschwitz or the Holocaust were, or 
what people were detained and annihilated there, and why. The drawings and the 
inscriptions beneath them suggest to visitors that the only prisoners in Auschwitz 
were Ukrainians, in particular the OUN-B members, and therefore imply that the 
Ukrainian nationalists could not have been involved in the Holocaust. 

The drawings show personalities such as Stepan Lenkavs’kyi, Lev Rebet, Mykola 
Klymyshyn, and Iulian Zablots’kyi in striped uniforms, lying or sitting on their beds, 
smoking cigarettes, stealing food, being beaten by the Kapos and Germans with cud-
gels and whips, standing in a row during a roll call, cleaning the barracks, or sweep-
ing the camp. One picture shows prisoners being gassed in a gas chamber. There is 
no inscription that would specify who these people are. Other drawings suggest that 
they can only be OUN-B members. Furthermore, there is no explicit or implicit indi-
cation that there were also Jews in Auschwitz, not to mention the fact that they made 
up the vast majority of the victims. Moreover, nothing in the pictures or in the mu-
seum indicates that the Ukrainian prisoners of Auschwitz did not share the fate of 
the Jews, of whom the vast majority were killed in the camps, whereas the majority 
of Ukrainians survived the camp.126 

A very similar interpretation of Ukrainians in concentration and death camps was 
presented in 1945 and 1946 by two anonymous authors, very likely OUN members, in 
the publication Why the World Is Silent. The authors did not mention Jews as pris-
oners of German camps. The only Jews in their publication are Jewish Kapos. Ukrai-
nian prisoners are divided into traitors and patriots. The patriots are mainly 
Banderites, and the Ukrainian patriots are the main victims of the German con-
centration camps. The authors claim that Ukrainian patriots were murdered and 
mistreated not only by camp guards but also by other prisoners, in particular Poles, 

 
126  The OUN members were detained in KZ Auschwitz I as political prisoners. The majority of the Jews 

deported to Auschwitz were annihilated in KZ Auschwitz II-Birkenau. Among the non-Jewish priso-
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Russians, and Bolsheviks. The Bandera museum follows a very similar logic, turning 
the OUN and in particular the OUN-B, into the main victims of the Holocaust.127 

Pictures on another wall of the Bandera museum are devoted to the UPA, which 
Bandera never led or even belonged to, but of which he was the spiritual leader and 
eventually one of its main symbols. The pictures show UPA leaders such as Rostyslav 
Voloshyn, Volodymyr Shchyhel’s’kyi (Captain “Burlaka”), Vasyl’ Sydor, and a priest 
with four UPA partisans in front of a collective grave of UPA partisans with a huge 
cross, partisans conducting a medical inspection of other partisans, a small UPA unit 
from 1946, and pictures that allegedly show bodies of murdered UPA partisans. Next 
to this collection, visitors see a poster announcing the opening of the museum on 20 
October 1962 in Nottingham, and a historically stylized announcement “The Appeal 
of Struggling Ukraine” to the youth of the Ukrainian diaspora, which informs the 
young Ukrainian audience: 

In exile you have to become the avant-garde of the liberating struggle, just like us, 
the youth in the homeland. You have entirely devoted yourselves to the interests 
of struggling Ukraine … fight next to your fellows [in Ukraine] who with arms in 
their hands struggle for the liberation of the nation. ... Before you, Ukrainian 
youth, just as before our whole emigration, lies the task of familiarizing foreigners 
with the liberation struggle of the Ukrainian nation. Do it on every occasion and 
with all resources. Use for it your personal friendships, contacts with the youth of 
other nations, and international youth organizations. Inspire the youth of all 
nations for a struggle against Bolshevism.128 

The bottom part of the frame in a historically stylized announcement displays the 
first commander in chief Shukhevych reading “The Appeal of Struggling Ukraine” to 
Ukrainian youth, which is divided into intelligentsia listening to the UPA leader, and 
fighters who, with rifles in their hands and OUN banners, run into a battle against 
the Soviets.129 

The Bandera museum that was opened in Nottingham and relocated to London 
has been a nationalist shrine rather than an educational institution. It was not 
created to elucidate Bandera’s life, the concept of a leader, or the history of the OUN 
and UPA, but to worship the Providnyk and to deny the problematic aspects of the 
“liberation movement,” with the help of the Bandera cult and his distorted and vict-
imized image. Its creators were OUN members and veterans of Waffen-SS Galizien 
and the UPA, who had worshiped Bandera in the 1930s and 1940s and who tried to 
pass on the cult to their children. The museum exemplifies very well how the Ukrai-
nian nationalists sacralized the Providnyk and turned him into a transcendent object 
of admiration. Similarly, it demonstrates how its creators heroized and victimized 
their collective memory of the Second World War and how they turned OUN mem-
bers and UPA veterans into heroes, martyrs, and victims of the Nazis. The subject of 
Poles, Jews, and other victims of the Ukrainian nationalists is completely absent 
from the museum, although the OUN and UPA are featured extensively. 
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Historians and the Bandera Cult 

As well as being celebrated at numerous nationalist commemorations and anti-Soviet 
demonstrations and worshiped in the museum, the Providnyk also became a very 
important component of the narrative of Ukrainian history and an object of historio-
graphical extolment. Diaspora historians represented the Providnyk as a national 
hero who sacrificed his life for Ukraine, and they omitted or denied all compromising 
facts about him and the OUN. They embedded him in the narrative of a “national 
liberation” struggle for an “independent Ukrainian state,” conducted by the OUN, the 
UPA, and the Waffen-SS Division Galizien, all of which were whitewashed in respect 
of war crimes, and the Waffen-SS Galizien in respect of collaboration with Nazi Ger-
many. This way of presenting Bandera was related to the fact that many of the histo-
rians who published on Bandera were OUN members, veterans of the Waffen-SS 
Galizien and the UPA, or sincere admirers of the Providnyk and his political ideas. 
This manner of explaining Ukrainian twentieth-century history impacted also on 
historians who were not rooted in the diaspora communities but who, due to the 
anticommunist Cold War narrative, the lack of archival documents, or other reasons, 
took over partly or entirely the narrative established and propagated by the diaspora 
communities. 

Petro Mirchuk, Bandera’s first hagiographer, was an OUN-B member and, prior 
to the Second World War, head of a division of the propaganda apparatus in the 
national executive.130 Mirchuk was also an Auschwitz survivor, an organizer of num-
erous Bandera commemorations, and an advocate of Jewish-Ukrainian reconcilia-
tion—on condition that the Jews acknowledged that Ukrainians did not kill Jews 
during the Second World War, that the OUN and UPA rescued them, and that Ukrai-
nians were victims of the Holocaust equally with Jews. After the Second World War, 
Mirchuk stayed in DP camps until 1950, when he settled in the United States. He 
wrote a number of publications on Ukrainian nationalism, and his works had a sig-
nificant influence on the way the Ukrainian diaspora understood the OUN, the UPA, 
and Ukrainian nationalism in general. After the collapse of the Soviet Union, many of 
Mirchuk’s publications were republished in Ukraine. They were regarded as impor-
tant, academic, and reliable works. In his publications Mirchuk transformed Bandera 
into the symbol of the OUN, UPA, Waffen-SS Galizien, the “national liberation 
movement,” and all other groups of patriotic and nationalist insurgents. Although 
some of Mirchuk’s publications were fabricated, several of them contain valuable 
facts, but leave out even more, and introduce false information. The main aim of his 
writings was to provide the far-right narrative with credibility and to fortify the right-
wing diaspora communities in their politicized self-understanding. 

In the introduction to his 1961 biography, Stepan Bandera: Symbol of Revolu-
tionary Uncompromisingness, Mirchuk stated that he was writing the biography in 
the genre of hagiography (Ukr. zhyttia sviatykh) because he believed that this was 
the only correct genre for the portrayal of the life of “one of the greatest of Ukrainian 
patriots, one of the greatest Ukrainian revolutionary nationalists.” He argued that 
Ukrainians needed such a publication because it would be a “source of power, which 
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reinforces our belief in the Ukrainian nation.”131 Mirchuk did not deny the range of 
assassinations conducted in 1933–1934 under the leadership of Bandera; at least not 
those that were already known. However, he legitimized and rationalized them by 
depicting them as a legitimate answer to the “Polish terror” or as patriotic deeds. 
Thus Bandera was introduced not as a leader of a terrorist nationalist organization 
but as a “patriotic revolutionary” protecting the Ukrainian nation against the Polish 
occupiers. Killing politicians or civilians whom the OUN accused of harming or be-
traying the nation was, for Mirchuk, a patriotic deed that had nothing to do with 
violence or terrorism. On the contrary, it was an appropriate expression of patriotic 
feelings.132 

According to Mirchuk, investigating “totalitarian” and “dictatorial” tendencies in 
the OUN or in Bandera was illegitimate and was a frequent practice of the enemies of 
the OUN. Bandera was a democrat who differentiated between the “legal social-civic 
life and the [necessary] forms of revolutionary underground.” Like every OUN mem-
ber, he obeyed democratic order and respected democracy and human rights.133 De-
scribing Bandera after his arrest on 14 June 1934, Mirchuk condemned the torture of 
Ukrainian prisoners in Polish jails and delivered a detailed description. He claimed 
that the “handcuffed and tortured Stepan Bandera was the epitome of the mythical 
Prometheus,” who suffered for Ukraine.134 Describing the trial of the OUN in Warsaw 
in 1935–1936, Mirchuk changed the political meaning of the fascist salute “Slava 
Ukraїni!” which the OUN members performed several times in the courtroom. He 
described how the OUN members shouted “Slava Ukraїni!” but did not mention that 
they extended their right arms. He thereby turned this greeting into something for 
which Ukrainian patriots born after the Second World War could have sympathy.135 
Similarly, Mirchuk explained Bandera’s and the OUN’s conduct during the Second 
World War: 

The leadership of the revolutionary OUN under the leadership of Stepan Bandera 
did not delude itself and did not hope that Hitler’s Germany would support 
rebuilding the independent Ukrainian state. ... Thus it definitely declined any 
kind of collaboration with Hitler’s party and in particular any conjunction of the 
OUN’s deeds with the politics of Hitler’s Germany.136 

Because it was, however, impossible to entirely deny OUN-B collaboration with 
Nazi Germany, Mirchuk claimed that the OUN-B “decided that it was not only poss-
ible but also necessary to make contact with the anti-Hitler circles of the German 
army. [This cooperation] was necessary [in order] to have Ukrainian troops in 
Ukrainian territory in the first weeks of the war, who would become the core of a 
regular Ukrainian army.”137 The questions of Jews and the Holocaust were not dis-
cussed in this section, although the pogroms took place at the time and in the loc-
ation of the revolutionary actions of the OUN-B. Furthermore, the OUN-B did not 
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intend to install a fascist dictatorship in Ukraine but established a “Ukrainian Na-
tional Committee” to represent all Ukrainians in the government established by the 
OUN-B. Moreover, the OUN-B combated Soviet and German imperialism from the 
very beginning of the “Ukrainian National Revolution.”138 Mirchuk confirmed that 
the OUN-B killed OUN-M members but only those who worked for the Gestapo or 
who handed over OUN-B members. The murder of Stsibors’kyi and Senyk was, how-
ever, a Soviet act and had nothing to do with Bandera or the OUN-B.139 

Repeating the proclamation of the Ukrainian state from 30 June 1941, Mirchuk 
omitted all references to collaboration and friendly relations with “National Socialist 
Great Germany, which, under the leadership of Adolf Hitler, is creating a new order 
in Europe and the world, and is helping the Ukrainian nation liberate itself from 
Muscovite occupation,” which had been mentioned in the proclamation.140 Thus 
according to Bandera’s first hagiographer, “on the political level, the Act of 30 June 
1941 was a manifestation of the freedom of the Ukrainian nation and its attitude 
toward new deeds performed in front of the whole world and in front of history.” And 
further, the act was the beginning of the “armed rising against Hitler’s Germany.”141 

After his arrest by the Germans, Bandera suffered, but he did not give up, and was 
“not afraid of torture or death for the freedom of Ukraine as previously [he had not 
been] from the hands of Poles.”142 The Providnyk opposed the Germans until the end 
of the Second World War, despite the tortures of the Gestapo to which he was ex-
posed: 

And this “No” [to the collaboration with Germany] Bandera could keep until the 
collapse of Hitler’s Germany, although he had to suffer for it long years of hard 
imprisonment in German prisons and camps, being prepared every day for death. 
... The moral strength of Stepan Bandera and his physical endurance against tor-
ture appeared to be more powerful than the entire physical strength of the Ges-
tapo.143 

The best proof for Mirchuk of Bandera’s refusal to collaborate with the Germans 
during the Second World War was the Providnyk’s denial of this collaboration, which 
can be found in several of Bandera’s articles written after the Second World War.144 

In general, Mirchuk claimed that the OUN-B was the only Ukrainian organization 
that opposed Hitler and Stalin. All other political bodies compromised themselves 
through collaboration.145 Banderites were for Mirchuk those brave people who fought 
for Ukraine and never collaborated with Nazi Germany.146 Other organizations and 
individuals also “worked for the nation,” but in collaboration with Nazi Germany. 
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“They wrote memorials to the government of Germany, Hitler, Himmler, and other 
leaders of contemporary German politics.”147 

After his release from Sachsenhausen, Bandera, according to Mirchuk, “again led 
the revolutionary struggle of the whole Ukrainian nation against the Red Moscow 
occupier.”148 After the Second World War, the struggle for independence was even 
more difficult than before, because of those elements of the OUN and the Ukrainian 
diaspora who did not subordinate themselves to the Providnyk. As in previous parts 
of the biography, Mirchuk omitted here that the OUN-B killed opponents and sus-
pects in the DP camps.149 During the Cold War, Bandera was again for Mirchuk the 
sole Ukrainian politician who was prepared to collaborate only with those anti-Soviet 
powers that accepted his demand for an independent Ukrainian state.150  

One of the most interesting sections of Mirchuk’s biography is about the nation, 
the party, and democracy. In this section, Mirchuk introduces the argument that the 
nation must be ruled by only one organization, cites Bandera’s “Word to the Ukrai-
nian Nationalists” from 1946, and argues that the OUN did not represent a particular 
element of Ukrainian society but the whole nation: 

The Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists (revolutionaries) … is not a repre-
sentative of the interests of any particular part of the nation. ... The OUN is strug-
gling for the good of the whole Ukrainian nation and all citizens of Ukraine, and 
not for any particular part, social strata, and the like. The OUN derives its pro-
gram from the needs of the whole Ukrainian nation.151 

On democracy, Mirchuk writes: 

Stepan Bandera never misused the words ‘democracy’ and ‘democratic,’ he never 
fought with phrases about democracy, because he disdained shallow demagogy. 
At the same time, he was always a fighter for the principles of democracy in 
Ukrainian political life, in the future Ukrainian state, and also in current life; and 
ideas propagated by him during his life, which we have already cited, substantiate 
this very convincingly.152 

Logically, only enemies of the OUN-B or of the Ukrainian people spread rumors 
that Bandera was “antidemocratic” and “totalitarian.”153 

In another publication, My Meetings and Discussions in Israel (Are Ukrainians 
“Traditionally anti-Semites”?), published by the “Ukrainian Survivors of the Holo-
caust,” Mirchuk approached the problem of Jewish-Ukrainian relations and the role 
of the OUN-B in them.154 The monograph begins not with an introduction but with a 
short biographical note about the author, from which readers learn that he is a mem- 
 
 
147  Ibid., 95–96. 
148  Ibid., 99. 
149  Ibid., 101. For the killing of Ukrainians by the OUN-B after the Second World War see chapter 6 

above. 
150  Mirchuk, Stepan Bandera, 102. 
151  Ibid.,103; Bandera, Slovo do Ukraїns’kykh, 78. 
152  Mirchuk, Stepan Bandera, 109. 
153  Ibid., 110. 
154  Petro Mirchuk, My Meetings and Discussions in Israel: Are Ukrainians “Traditionally anti-

Semites”? (New York: Ukrainian Survivors of the Holocaust, 1982). 



 Chapter 9: The Revival of the Cult 447 

 

ber of the Society for Jewish-Ukrainian Collaboration, an honorary member of the 
Jewish Identity Centre, and that he was a prisoner of Auschwitz from July 1942 until 
19 January 1945. The biographical note also contains pictures of Mirchuk in charac-
teristic striped prisoner’s garb. What it does not contain is any clarification why he 
and other non-Jewish inmates of Auschwitz did not share the fate of Jews in Ausch-
witz, and how the OUN-B was involved in pogroms before some of its members were 
imprisoned in the concentration camps.155 

The difference between a Jew and a non-Jew in Auschwitz was significant. What 
Stanisław Krajewski elaborated for Poles and Jews is even truer for Ukrainians: 

For “Aryans,” Auschwitz was “merely” a destructive labor camp with the threat of 
death. Their families were frequently free. For the Jews, Auschwitz was a death 
camp, frequently for their whole families. Outside the camp, at large, nobody was 
waiting for them. Even if their later experiences were comparable with those of 
other inmates they did not share the same fate. 

The tattoo with the number on the underarm meant for a Jew a happy desti-
nation; he avoided immediate death in the gas chamber. For a Pole [or a Ukrai-
nian] it was one of the most terrible options.156 

Because of their political status, the OUN-B members had even greater chances of 
survival than an average Polish or Ukrainian prisoner, but Bandera’s first hagio-
grapher understood the matter differently. During his visit to Israel in 1981, which 
resulted in My Meetings and Discussions in Israel, Mirchuk showed his Auschwitz 
tattoo to a number of people. At Yad Vashem, he displayed it to a young person, 
mourning relatives who had been killed in Auschwitz, and informed her: “I saw it 
[the Auschwitz camp] with my own eyes, I personally experienced it.” In the re-
mainder of the conversation, he felt it necessary to point out that “there were [in 
Auschwitz] thousands like me—Ukrainians.”157 

Mirchuk also met a number of Holocaust historians in Israel, mainly directors 
and other employees of museums, and informed them that their perception of the 
Holocaust and Ukraine was completely wrong, for which he, a Ukrainian prisoner of 
Auschwitz with a tattoo on his arm, was the best evidence. In every conversation, he 
repeated that Ukrainians had never been antisemitic and that they were not involved 
in any kind of atrocities during the Second World War. Mirchuk’s best evidence for 
the “misperception” of Ukrainians and “misinformation” as to the involvement of 
Ukrainians in the Holocaust was the anti-Ukrainian sentiment among Holocaust 
historians and Jews. Once he stated: “[Only] the Auschwitz ‘disclosure’ on my arm … 
stops anti-Ukrainian assailment.”158 

In a conversation with Rabbi David Kahana, who had been saved by Sheptyts’kyi, 
Mirchuk could not understand why Yad Vashem was reluctant to honor Sheptyts’kyi. 
The evidence, that in the summer of 1941 Sheptyts’kyi reinforced Stets’ko’s govern-
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ment with a pastoral letter and later supported the creation of the Waffen-SS Divi-
sion Galizien, was for Mirchuk merely anti-Ukrainian propaganda. Discussing with 
Kahana the complicated nature of Sheptyts’ky, he repeated the OUN-B’s antisemitic 
stereotypes of “Jewish Bolshevism” from 1941: “No Rabbi, it’s the bitter truth. Jews 
willingly became the bulwark of the Red Russian occupation of Ukraine, the bloody 
Bolshevik terrorism. And very often they also became the organizers—overt and 
covert leaders.”159 

The subject of Ukrainian-German collaboration during the Second World War 
was also for Mirchuk mere anti-Ukrainian propaganda. According to him, “it was not 
Ukrainians, but actually Jews, who collaborated with German Nazis in the destruc-
tion of Jews. Jewish ‘Judenrats,’ Jewish police, Jewish informers, and the ‘Sonder-
kommando’ were composed only of young Jews in concentration camps.” He was 
very much convinced of the truth of his understanding of the Second World War and 
the Holocaust. When criticized for some of his explanations, he claimed that his 
history was true because he would not state anything that was “untrue.”160 

In addition to denying Ukrainian involvement in the Holocaust, Mirchuk also 
claimed that not Jews but Ukrainians were the main victims of Nazi policy. Anyone 
who did not agree with Mirchuk on this matter or even worse, addressed the OUN’s 
or UPA’s war crimes, in particular the crimes against Jews, or the collaboration with 
Nazi Germany, was for him “anti-Ukrainian.” The only way not to be “anti-
Ukrainian” was to deny the OUN’s war crimes and to claim that the OUN and UPA 
were a resistance movement, and that Ukrainians such as Stepan Bandera were 
national heroes and victims of Nazi policies. According to Mirchuk, only “the 
Bolsheviks call everyone who opposes Russian imperialism ‘bandits’ and ‘fascists.’ 
They even use these same labels when attacking those American presidents who 
oppose their aims and methods, such as President Reagan.”161 

Such a way of dealing with the subjects of Bandera, the OUN and UPA, the Holo-
caust, and the Second World War strongly affected the youth of the Ukrainian dias-
pora, who, as a result, believed in a range of political myths related to these 
questions. Elements of Ukrainian diaspora youth became a negative mirror image of 
Soviet Ukrainian youth. In 1983 a group of Ukrainian college students from the 
United States and Canada traveled through Europe with Professor Petro Goi and 
Sonia Szereg. Visiting the museum at the Dachau concentration camp, the young 
Ukrainians realized that “there is no mention of Ukraine or Ukrainians, yet many of 
the students had heard of or were personally acquainted with Ukrainians who had 
been prisoners in Dachau.” The students decided to “take action.” On 17 August at 
4:00 p.m. seventeen students, two professors, and one priest came to the museum 
with banners and “formed a circle in the hall of nations where Ukraine is not 
represented.” As the museum’s assistant director asked them for the reason for this 
demonstration they explained it and declared that they were ready for a hunger 
strike. After the museum directorate decided to meet the demands of the protestors, 
one of which was to display the Ukrainian flag along with the flags of other nations, 
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the students celebrated a panakhyda in the chapel in the grounds of the camp.162 The 
fact that some Ukrainians from the Waffen-SS Galizien were trained in the vicinity of 
Dachau did not attract the attention of the students.163 

The last publication related to Mirchuk that should be briefly described is I Am 
Alive Thanks to the UPA, a short autobiography of Stella Krentsbakh, a Jewish 
woman who owed her survival to the UPA but who apparently did not exist. The 
autobiography appeared in a volume of articles coedited by Mirchuk, and was forged 
by Mirchuk himself or another OUN veteran.164 The short text begins with the words: 
“I attribute the fact that I am alive today, and devoting all the energy of my thirty-
eight years to a free Israel, exclusively to the Almighty and the Ukrainian Insurgent 
Army (UPA).” The autobiography includes many expressions that come very close to 
antisemitic stereotypes and tells the story of a Jewish woman who was born in “the 
town of B., which lies seventy-five kilometers from Lviv” and who, when at a Ukrai-
nian high school, “began to hate the enemies of Ukraine and to love its friends.” 
During the Second World War she “became a member of the heroic UPA,” survived 
the war among people who “do not divide people into races, only into honest people 
and dishonest ones.” After the war she went to live in Israel.165 

Another significant Bandera hagiographer was the poet, writer, and political act-
ivist Leonid Poltava (Leonid Parkhomovych). Poltava published not strictly historical 
but rather artistic publications about the Providnyk. He collected poems and songs 
about Bandera and published them together with Bandera stamps and pictures of 
Bandera’s busts and portraits in The Image of Stepan Bandera in Literature and 
Art. Poltava’s main motivation was to lay the foundations for a larger project that 
would honor the Providnyk by collecting artistic items devoted to him. In general, 
those collected and presented by Poltava seem to be a concoction of far-right, neo-
fascist, and romantic ideas. Many of the poems mourn the loss of the Providnyk or 
Vozhd’. They emphasize the heroism and magnitude of the leader and stress that he 
did not die, because the Banderites were continuing the revolution. In one place, 
Poltava stated that Bandera is the banner of Ukraine because the word “bandera” 
means “banner” in Spanish. For Poltava, the fact that the Madrid radio station in 
Franco’s Spain broadcasted songs about Bandera was evidence of the greatness of the 
Ukrainian Providnyk.166 

In another publication, The Life of Stepan Bandera, Poltava published a range of 
private pictures from Bandera’s youth and of his family members in order to show 
readers the ordinary side of the Providnyk. Bandera’s biography was introduced as 
the Providnyk wrote it in 1959 for the United States consulate in Munich. In the 
main part, Poltava presented pictures of Bandera, in Cossack costume with a rifle in 
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his hands, with other Plast members at a railway station, in the meadow and in a 
forest, with other students, as part of a collage from the Warsaw and Lviv trials, 
laughing together with other OUN members, next to a portrait of Stets’ko, in Ger-
many after the Second World War with UPA soldiers to be sent to Ukraine, with the 
SUM youth in folk costumes, on vacation with his children and wife in summer and 
winter, and giving a speech at the grave of Konovalets’ on the anniversary of his 
death. Poltava’s comments on the pictures reinforced the idea that Bandera was both 
an ordinary man and extraordinary Providnyk.167 

The heroic discourse on the OUN-UPA and the “liberation movement” was 
shaped by a number of other historians and activists, in addition to Poltava and 
Mirchuk.168 Some of them were members of the OUN-B, such as Volodymyr Kosyk,169 
Ivan Hryn’okh,170 Iaroslav Stets’ko, Mykola Klymyshyn,171 Stepan Lenkavs’kyi,172 
Stepan Bandera himself,173 Volodymyr Ianiv,174 Mykola Lebed’,175 Roman Ilnytzkyi176 
and Taras Hunchak.177 Others such as Petro Potichnyj178 were veterans of the UPA, 
and still others of the Waffen-SS Galizien, such as Vasyl’ Veryha,179 Oleksa Hor-
batsch,180 Roman Drazhn’ovs’kyi,181 and Petro Savaryn.182 A number of them, such as 
Ilnytzkyi, Hryn’okh, and Horbatsch worked at the Free Ukrainian University (UVU) 
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in Munich; others such as Mirchuk and Kosyk were associated with the UVU or 
completed PhDs at this university.183 Ianiv was the rector of the UVU from 1968 until 
1986, and Drazhn’ovs’kyi from 1993 to 1995.184 Hunchak was a professor at Rutgers 
University, Potichnyj at McMaster University. Horbatsch was professor of Slavic 
languages at the Johann Wolfgang Goethe University of Frankfurt am Main from 
1965 to 1982.185 Petro Savaryn was chancellor of the University of Alberta from 1982 
to 1986.186 Bohdan Osadczuk, who was neither in the OUN nor the Waffen-SS 
Galizien but published articles in the collaborationist newspaper Krakivs’ki visti in 
1943, was a professor at the Otto-Suhr-Institut for Political Science of the Free 
University of Berlin from 1966. 

The falsification of documents was another well-organized and institutionalized 
activity related to the discourse of extolling and denying. Lebed’, who had white-
washed the history of the OUN-UPA in a monograph published as early as 1946,187 
retyped a number of documents from the time of the Second World War. After his 
death in 1998, they were donated to the Harvard Ukrainian Research Institute. The 
HURI considered all the documents received from Lebed’ as original, and it invited 
radical right historians such as Volodymyr V’’iatrovych to study them and to popular-
ize them among “patriotic” historians in post-Soviet Ukraine.188 Only a few political 
activists, such as Mykola Klymyshyn, were honest enough to admit that their writings 
had been whitewashed at the personal request of Bandera or at their own in-
itiative.189 Among OUN members, apparently, only Ievhen Stakhiv tried to oppose 
the discourse of denial and pointed out how OUN activists such as Lebed’ falsified 
history.190 In his memoirs, however, even Stakhiv omitted the 1941 pogroms.191 

At a commemorative gathering in Munich in 1950, Ianiv, OUN member and long-
time rector of the UVU in Munich, characterized Shukhevych as “one of the greatest 
legends of mankind” whose political career began when he killed the Polish official 
Sobiński in 1926. When discussing the Second World War and the Ukrainian 
nationalists, Ianiv omitted all war crimes committed by the UPA under the 
leadership of Shukhevych.192 In an interview in 1977, Ianiv proudly recalled the act of 
killing Sobiński and implied that reading the historical drama Kordian, written by 
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the Polish romantic writer and poet Juliusz Słowacki, made him rationalize this 
crime and consider it a noble act.193 

In the 1970s, the Ukrainian diaspora established two major academic institutions, 
the Harvard Ukrainian Research Institute (HURI) in 1973 and the Canadian Institute 
of Ukrainian Studies (CIUS) at the University of Alberta in 1976. Neither was as mas-
sively infiltrated by OUN-B members as the UVU in Munich, and they were not as 
heavily involved in the denial of war atrocities and the extolment of the OUN and 
UPA, but both failed to come to terms with the past, particularly on the subject of the 
Second World War. In 1976 the CIUS together with the Shevchenko Scientific Society 
in Europe initiated a huge project entitled Encyclopedia of Ukraine. The head of this 
important academic project was Volodymyr Kubiiovych, one of the major Ukrainian 
collaborators with the Nazis, and who, after the Second World War, became the Sec-
retary General of the Shevchenko Scientific Society. This project, on the one hand, 
gave rise to a useful and authoritative encyclopedia of Ukrainian history, but, on the 
other hand, it presented a nationalist narrative of the Second World War in Ukraine 
and did not even include an entry on the Holocaust.194 

After 1945, very few Ukrainian intellectuals in the diaspora tried to rethink Ukrai-
nian extreme nationalism or objected to the nationalist obfuscation of history. One 
was Ivan Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi, a professor at the University of Alberta from 1971 until 
his death in 1984, who, during the Second World War, had published in the collabo-
rationist newspaper Krakivs’ki visti.195 In his postwar essays Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi 
described the OUN-B’s fascism as “home-grown fascism” and emphasized that the 
OUN had more in common with other East Central European movements than with 
Fascist Italy and Nazi Germany: “One should look for the nearest relatives of the 
Ukrainian nationalism first of all not in German National Socialism or Italian 
Fascism—both products of urbanized and industrialized societies but rather among 
parties of this kind in agrarian, backward nations of Eastern Europe: the Croatian 
Ustaša, the Romanian Iron Guard, the Slovak Hlinka Party, the Polish ONR 
(National Radical Camp) etc.”196 

Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi was also one of very few Ukrainian émigré intellectuals who 
was aware of the difference between democracy and nationalism. Because he distin-
guished between these two political concepts, other émigré intellectuals perceived 
him as a leftist, which in Ukrainian intellectual émigré discourses meant communist 
and “traitor.” Unlike many other intellectuals, Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi understood the 
impact of nationalist activism on academia, and the openness of Ukrainian 
intellectuals to far-right thinking, as a problem. In his opinion, the most dangerous 
influence on Ukrainian intellectuals came from the OUN-B activists. In letters from 
26 April 1974 onward to his uncle, Ivan Kedryn-Rudnyts’kyi, Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi 
pointed out that the OUN-B did not change its political views after the Second World 
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War. What changed was that the majority of the Ukrainian diaspora began to accept 
OUN-B far-right discourses and interpretation of history as standard scholarly 
explanations. According to him, the OUN-B tried to dominate the Ukrainian diaspora 
as it had tried to dominate Ukrainian political life in the 1930s and 1940s. It 
prolonged the cult of a leader, applied “mafia-conspiratorial methods” to deal with its 
opponents, and suppressed open debates. He understood the prolongation of the 
“home-grown fascist” politics by Ukrainian émigré intellectuals as very harmful or, 

the main evil in the life of the Ukrainian diaspora. It … brings us into derision and 
compromises us in the eyes of the western world, isolates us from processes that 
take place in Ukraine, spiritually and politically paralyzes us. The hegemony of 
the OUN-B movement [banderivshchyna] desacralizes the Ukrainian national 
idea. What is worth this idea if “free” Ukrainians cannot oppose bolshevism with 
nothing better than a more primitive creation of the same bolshevism? I hold the 
opinion that our home-grown totalitarianists do not differ in terms of morality 
from Bolsheviks, they are only less intelligent than they [the Bolsheviks].197 

The denying-extolling discourse on the OUN-UPA and Ukrainian nationalism be-
came especially strong in the late 1970s and 1980s. It was also affected by the Cold 
War and the anti-Soviet and dissident nature of the 1970s and 1980s, when the anti-
communist and anti-Soviet features of the OUN-UPA were highly respected by 
almost all Ukrainian diaspora intellectuals and equated with democratic values. 
Interest in a critical exploration of the role of Ukrainians or Ukrainian nationalists in 
the Second World War or the Holocaust was frequently regarded with suspicion, 
resentment, or hostility. 

Authoritarian and fascist leaders, parties, and other organizations also became 
popular among dissidents in countries other than Ukraine at that time. In Poland for 
example, the anticommunist and anti-Soviet movement Solidarność revitalized the 
Piłsudski cult by publishing stamps, envelopes, and posters, depicting Piłsudski 
alone or accompanied by other politicians of the Second Republic, soldiers who 
fought for the Polish state in 1918, and such contemporary figures as Lech Wałęsa 
and Pope John-Paul II.198  

The anticommunist discourse impacted on historians and the historical discipline 
as such. In 1985 David Marples published an article in The Ukrainian Weekly, in 
which he euphemized and minimized the OUN and UPA crimes against Jews, Poles, 
and Ukrainians, claiming that “some undisciplined actions on the part of an armed 
group were almost inevitable.” He further claimed that the UPA was a multicultural 
force: “according to a Western source, the nationality groups within the [UPA’s] 
ranks included Azerbaijanis, Uzbeks, Tatars, and Jews.” Given that Marples did not 
investigate this subject on his own at that time and apparently had no sympathy for 
Ukrainian nationalism, as he argued twenty-five years later, it must have been the 
common political or academic discourse about the OUN, UPA, and the Second World 
War that, in the 1980s, shaped his understanding of the subject. After the millen-
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nium Marples began to investigate Ukrainian nationalism and to publish important 
and original works about the OUN and UPA, and the Second World War in Ukraine. 
He became a true critic of the nationalist apologists and also a nuanced and sophisti-
cated interpreter of the difficult past.199 

John-Paul Himka—who in the 1970s and 1980s wrote excellent books on 
nineteenth-century socialism, the Ukrainian peasants, and the Greek-Catholic 
Church—characterized the UPA, in an article published in Labour Focus on Eastern 
Europe in 1982 about the opposition in Ukraine, as “an anti-Nazi and subsequently 
anti-Soviet resistance force” and did not mention any atrocities committed by it or 
the OUN.200 In an article “World Wars” for the Encyclopedia of Ukraine, he did not 
mention that the OUN and UPA persecuted Jews during the Second World War and 
stated that “in the spring of 1943 thousands of Ukrainian policemen in German ser-
vice deserted to form the fighting nucleus of the UPA [in order to attack] German 
outposts.” Similarly, he did not mention that in 1944 the OUN-UPA began col-
laborating once again with Nazi Germany. He asserted that the “UPA began liqui-
dating Polish settlements in Volhynia” but omitted the fact that they also did so in 
eastern Galicia, and he relativized it with: “This soon escalated into full-scale Polish-
Ukrainian ethnic warfare across western Ukraine.”201 In the 1990s Himka, similarly 
to Marples, changed his views on the OUN, UPA, and the Second World War in 
Ukraine.202 

When analyzing the approach of historians to the OUN and UPA in the 1980s, it 
is necessary to point out that there were various reasons for extolling the OUN and 
UPA and for denying or euphemizing their crimes. Certainly, not all historians 
extolled Ukrainian nationalism or euphemized the OUN’s and UPA’s atrocities be-
cause they were Ukrainian nationalists or believed in the ideology of Ukrainian na-
tionalism. Another important reason for uncritical treatment of the OUN and UPA 
was the lack of critical scholarly research on this subject. The archetypal monograph 
on the OUN and the Second World War was John Armstrong’s Ukrainian National-
ism, first published in 1955. As already mentioned, Armstrong omitted two central 
events in his study: pogroms against Jews in western Ukraine in the summer of 1941 
and the ethnic cleansing against the Polish population by the UPA in Volhynia and 
eastern Galicia in 1943–1944. There are at least four reasons for these and several 
other omissions from Armstrong’s monograph. First, Soviet archives during the Cold 
War were inaccessible, as the result of which he was unable to study many important 
documents. Second, Armstrong obtained information about the conduct of Ukrainian 
nationalists during the Second World War while conducting interviews with OUN 
activists and UPA veterans, who gave him whitewashed self-portraits and incorrect 
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and apologetic accounts of the movement. Although Armstrong claimed to regard the 
interviews as “highly colored,” he relied on them as primary sources. Third, he did 
not work with the testimonies of the Jewish, Polish, or Ukrainian survivors of the 
OUN and UPA atrocities which describe events in western Ukraine during the 
Second World War very differently from the interviews of the OUN activists and UPA 
veterans, and also differently from German documents, of which many did not con-
tain any information concerning the OUN-UPA’s violence. Fourth, the Cold War and 
the anti-Soviet and anticommunist nature of the OUN-UPA affected the perception 
of Ukrainian nationalism among Western scholars. Ukrainian nationalists were re-
garded during the Cold War as anticommunist “freedom fighters,” and because they 
did not mention their involvement in the Holocaust and labeled any investigation as 
anti-Ukrainian or as Soviet propaganda, even scholars of the Second World War and 
Ukrainian history accepted their narrative, rather than critically investigate the 
subject on the basis of archival documents, including testimonies of the survivors.203 

Although in 1987–1988 Martin Broszat and Saul Friedländer debated the ques-
tion of “rational” German scholarship versus the “mythical memory” of the Holocaust 
victims, the testimonies of Jewish survivors were until the late 1990s not regarded as 
reliable documents for the study of the Holocaust and the Second World War. This 
approach was common, not only among Ukrainian nationalist historians but also 
among many professional historians. German historians, in particular, repeatedly 
stressed the “subjectivity” and unreliability of Holocaust survivors’ testimonies and 
the “objectivity” and reliability of the perpetrators’ documents, in particular those of 
the meticulous German officers. This approach enabled many German, Ukrainian, 
and other historians to avoid facing the horrifying reality and complexity of the 
Second World War and the Holocaust, but it had a disastrous impact on the process 
of writing the history of the Holocaust in Eastern Europe. Histories written according 
to this method missed many significant aspects, they did not correlate with the real-
ity and complexity of the past, their facts cannot be empirically verified without ex-
tensive omissions, and they legitimized the nationalist memory politics popularized 
by the diaspora communities and national conservative historians in democratic 
states. 

Historians such as Armstrong, who did not investigate the violence of the OUN 
and other similar movements and marginalized the Holocaust in general, also looked 
for alternatives to the term “fascism.” Armstrong, the author of the first comprehen-
sive monograph on the OUN, coined the term “integral nationalism.” This concept 
was for him something similar to fascism, but he argued that the OUN, Ustaša, and 
similar movements should not be called “fascist,” apparently because the term “fasc-
ism” and the concept of fascism were contested and politicized, and its use could 
suggest to readers that the historian in question was a communist or anti-Ukrainian, 
and destroy the historian’s career. Soviet propaganda labeled the United States, Brit-
ain, France, West Germany, and other capitalist states and also non-fascist authori-
tarian regimes as fascist. Communist and other left-wing activists in Western coun-
tries used the term to discredit political enemies of various orientations. Such a use 
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of the term made it meaningless and strongly affected its meaning to scholars. The 
term “integral nationalism,” on the other hand, naturally became very popular both 
among anticommunist scholars like Armstrong,204 and among nationalist diaspora 
activists. “Integral nationalism” did not depict the OUN and its veterans as “fascist” 
but suggested that Ukrainian nationalism was a genuine, independent, self-sufficient 
nationalist movement, which had nothing in common with fascist ideology, other 
fascist movements, and especially not with Nazi Germany and the Holocaust.205 

Bandera’s hagiographer, Mirchuk, emphasized the uniqueness of Ukrainian na-
tionalism and claimed that only “enemies of Ukraine” and “opponents of the OUN” 
could claim that the OUN was fascist or approved of fascism and copied it. According 
to him, the OUN obtained its ideas and ideological foundations exclusively from 
“Ukrainian spirituality and tradition” and could not be fascist because fascism was 
not compatible with Ukrainian traditions and history.206 Political scientist Alexander 
Motyl wrote in 1980 that the OUN was a radical nationalist organization with all the 
features typical of fascist movements, but he added that the OUN could not have 
been fascist because there was no Ukrainian state in which the OUN could practice 
fascist politics.207 The fact that the “stateless state” was common for East European 
fascist organizations, parties, and movements, and that only a few of them achieved a 
state attracted the attention of very few scholars at that time, including scholars of 
fascism.208 
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Conclusion 

Bandera’s assassination sincerely distressed those factions of the Ukrainian diaspora 
who knew him as a brave, devoted, and idealistic freedom fighter or as the legendary 
Providnyk. His loss was mourned by various Ukrainian anticommunist and far-right 
nationalist communities around the globe for weeks. Newspapers such as Shliakh 
peremohy, Homin Ukraїny, and Ukraїns’ka dumka published hundreds of mournful 
articles and poems, and expressed their disapproval of people who connected Ban-
dera with the crimes committed by the OUN and the UPA, even if they understood 
Bandera to be the main symbol of this movement. These crimes were then denied or 
ascribed to the Soviet partisans, the Soviet army, and the Germans. The fifteenth of 
October became a very important date in the calendar of those factions of the Ukrai-
nian diaspora who commemorated Bandera as a martyr and national hero at pana-
khydas, political gatherings, and anticommunist demonstrations. The first Bandera 
museum, unveiled in 1962, exhibited Bandera’s various personal effects in addition 
to artifacts related to the OUN and UPA “liberation struggle,” the cruelty of the So-
viet occupation and the suffering of the OUN-B members at Auschwitz. The ethnic 
and political violence committed by the OUN and UPA during and after the Second 
World War was not exhibited in the museum although the movement was an 
integral, if not the central part of the exhibition. The OUN-B members were pre-
sented as tragic heroes and the sole inmates of Auschwitz. A similar narrative ap-
peared in Petro Mirchuk’s numerous publications about the Second World War. 
Mirchuk also wrote the first Bandera hagiography and paved the way for a number of 
post-Soviet Bandera “patriotic” biographers. 

The apologetic discourses on Bandera and the OUN and UPA, along with the vic-
timization discourses on the Ukrainian famine in 1932–1933 and the suffering of 
Ukrainians during and after the Second World War were so powerful, especially in 
the final decades of the Cold War, that even open-minded scholars such as John-Paul 
Himka and David Marples were also impacted by them. John Armstrong’s standard 
monograph about the Ukrainian nationalist movement and the Second World War 
contained very little information about the atrocities committed by the OUN and 
UPA, and was therefore highly prized by the Ukrainian diaspora and its historians. 
Only a very few scholars at that time, such as Ivan Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi, objected to 
the apologetic discourses and the use of scholarship for propagating denial and 
creating various nationalist myths. Nevertheless, even Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi did not 
have any problems with silence about Volodymyr Kubiiovych’s past, because the 
former head of the UTsK initiated the Encyclopedia of Ukraine and supported 
several other projects that were perceived by the Ukrainian diaspora as being very 
important. The climate of the Cold War and the OUN’s determination to support the 
Western bloc in the fight against the “red devil” buried the dark moments of the OUN 
and UPA in oblivion. Any mention of them was perceived as Soviet, Polish, Jewish, 
and other forms of anti-Ukrainian propaganda. 





 

 

Chapter 10 

RETURN TO UKRAINE 

On 24 August 1991, during the course of the dissolution of the Soviet Union, the 
Ukrainian parliament declared the existence of an independent Ukrainian state. The 
declaration was confirmed in a referendum on 1 December 1991 by 90.3 percent of 
the population. The collapse of the Soviet Union resulted from Mikhail Gorbachev’s 
perestroika and from the 1989 revolutions in satellite states of the Soviet Union such 
as Poland, Hungary, East Germany, Czechoslovakia, and Bulgaria. In the longer 
perspective, the collapse of the Soviet empire was caused by such dissident move-
ments as Solidarność in Poland, Charta 77 in Czechoslovakia, and the Shistdesiat-
nyky and Rukh in Ukraine. The contribution to the dissolution of the Soviet Union of 
far-right émigré organizations such as the OUN, LAF, Ustaša, Iron Guard, and 
Hlinka’s Party—many of which were united during the Cold War in Stets’ko’s ABN—
was marginal. Nevertheless, the OUN and UPA returned to Ukraine in the late 1980s 
as anti-Soviet icons. The fallen OUN activists and UPA partisans were promoted by 
nationalist dissidents and right-wing politicians as a resistance movement and as the 
last postwar fighters against the “red devil.” Their collaboration with Nazi Germany, 
their antisemitic and fascist ideology, and their involvement in the Holocaust and 
other forms of mass violence during and after the Second World War were com-
pletely forgotten. 

The Bandera cult reappeared in western Ukraine, in particular in the former east-
ern Galicia, a few years before the official declaration of independence. It adapted to 
the new cultural, social, and political circumstances and has persisted until the time 
of writing. Except for the Ukrainian diaspora, the cult was limited to western 
Ukraine, with the main core in eastern Galicia, but far-right groups in central and 
eastern Ukrainian villages, towns, and cities began organizing and worshiping the 
Providnyk as a symbol of Ukrainian nationalism and as a martyr who died for 
Ukraine. In addition to politicians and radical right activists, nationalist historians 
also played an important role in improving, modernizing, and propagating the cult. 
On the one hand, their writings legitimized the agendas of far-right activists, and on 
the other, they blurred the difference between history and politics. 

The revival of the Bandera cult in post-Soviet Ukraine demonstrated that the cult 
of a fascist or authoritarian leader is not a relic or an isolated phenomenon, typical 
only of German neo-Nazis, Italian neo-Fascists, or other far-right groups propagating 
racism and hatred. It can actually enchant and confuse a large part of a society, in-
cluding even the most critical, reasonable, and rational intellectuals. The Bandera 
cult in post-Soviet Ukraine took many more varied forms than it had in the diaspora 
during the Cold War. In post-Soviet Ukraine, the cult was popularized by politics, 
historiography, museums, novels, movies, monuments, street names, political 
events, music festivals, pubs, food, stamps, talk shows, and other means. In order to 
grasp the nature of the Bandera cult there, we will analyze and explore several of its 
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forms with the help of thick description, and will try to uncover the motives and 
agendas of its creators and propagators. 

Double Propaganda 

From 1989 to 1991, the citizens of western Ukraine were, on the one hand, exposed to 
established Soviet propaganda, and on the other, to reemerging Ukrainian national-
ist propaganda. Soviet propaganda tried to discredit the OUN and the UPA until the 
very end of the existence of the Soviet Union. In the late 1980s, more articles on the 
Ukrainian nationalists began to appear in the Soviet Ukrainian press. Such articles 
generally extolled the heroism of Soviet activists and reminded their readers of the 
villainous side of the OUN-UPA. As in the past, they depicted the OUN activists and 
UPA partisans as traitors, enemies of the Ukrainian people, or “Ukrainian bourgeois 
nationalists.” At the same time, new monuments to the Soviet heroes murdered by 
the OUN-UPA were erected. On 14 February 1988 for example, a monument devoted 
to Feodor Ulianov was unveiled in the village of Rykiv in the Turkivs’kyi region. Ulia-
nov, in charge of an MGB unit, conducted an anti-OUN-UPA operation on 16 Feb-
ruary 1945. Nikolai Romanchenko introduced Ulianov in L’vovskaia pravda as a 
genuine Soviet martyr. He was captured and tortured during an attempt to arrest the 
Banderite leader “Roman.” His colleague, Sergei Zuev, took his own life with his last 
bullet rather than allow the Banderites to seize him. According to the article, Ulia-
nov’s last words after hours of painful torture were: “God damn you animals! Long 
live Communism!”1 

OUN members were still put on trial in the late Soviet period. The main purpose 
of such trials was to remind the population that the OUN and UPA had committed 
horrible crimes and did not deserve to be rehabilitated or honored. At many trials, 
the defendants confessed their crimes and pleaded guilty. In August 1987 for exam-
ple, the trial began of a man called R. Didukh. During the trial, the defendant re-
vealed that he had joined the OUN in 1941, when he was recruited by Ivan Stetsiv, 
who ordered him to execute Soviet activists. He also pleaded guilty to having tortured 
two young girls, killing a young man, burning an entire family to death, and mas-
sacring twenty-one Polish families, in addition to cooperating with the German 
police. The court sentenced Didukh to death and applied for Stetsiv’s extradition 
from Canada.2 

Soviet propaganda viewed Bandera as one of the main symbols of Ukrainian nat-
ionalism and made him the central figure of late-period Soviet anti-nationalist prop-
aganda campaigns. Soviet Ukrainian newspapers published at least three series of 
articles about the Providnyk, in August 1989, October 1990, and December 1990. 
 
 
 

 
1  Nikolai Romanchenko, “Plamia,” L’vovskaia pravda, 16 February 1988, 3. See also Marples, Heroes 

and Villains, 81. According to the article, the council of the Turkiv region had already named one 
street after Ulianov in 1966. 

2  Marples, Heroes and Villains, 81–82. 
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The first series was printed in Pravda Ukrainy under the title “Banderovshchina.” 
The authors, V. Zarechnyi and O. Lastovets, remarked that the recent growth of 
national identity in Ukraine, caused by the politics of democratization and glasnost, 
was leading to the “rehabilitation of the bloody banderovshchina.” They claimed that 
they wrote the article because some Ukrainians had begun to blame the Communist 
Party and the Soviet authorities for not making any compromises with the OUN-UPA 
during and after the Second World War, which would have ended the “fratricide” 
that occurred. The authors introduced the history of the OUN and UPA in a typical 
Soviet way, exposing the villainous nature of the Ukrainian nationalists, extolling 
Soviet power and denying or diminishing Soviet crimes in western Ukraine.3 In 
October 1989, the same newspaper published the article “Bloody Traces of the 
Banderites,” in which A. Gorban recalled Halan’s murder.4 

The second series of articles, written by the Soviet Ukrainian historian Vitalii 
Maslovs’kyi, appeared in October 1990 in Radians’ka Ukraїna under the title 
“Bandera: Banner or Band.”5 The date suggests that, as in the diaspora, a Bandera 

 
3  V. Zarechnyi and O. Lastovets, “Banderovshchina,” Pravda Ukrainy, 9 August 1989, 3; 10 August 

1989, 4; 11 August 1989, 3; 12 August 1989, 3; 13 August 1989, 3; 15 August 1989, 3; 17 August 1989, 
3; 18 August 1989, 3; 19 August 1989, 3. 

4  A. Gorban’, “Krovavye sledy banderovtsev,” Pravda Ukrainy, 11 October 1989, 4. 
5  Vitalii Maslovs’kyi, “Bandera: Prapor chy banda,” Radians’ka Ukraїna, 14 October 1990, 3; 16 

October 1990, 3; 18 October 1990, 3. 
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cult had begun emerging in Soviet Ukraine around the anniversary of his death on 15 
October. Maslovs’kyi stated that, given the current fascination with Bandera in west-
ern Ukraine, he wanted to find whether the name Bandera was derived from the 
Spanish word “banner” or from the Ukrainian word “band [banda].” Maslovs’kyi was 
one of the leading Soviet experts on the OUN-UPA. He had studied the subject for 
several years and was acquainted with many crucial archival documents. He included 
some significant information in his article, such as the introduction of the fascist 
salute by the OUN-B at the Second Great Congress of the Ukrainian Nationalists in 
March-April 1941, and details of the killing of OUN-M members by the OUN-B.6 Yet 
Maslovs’kyi, in a way typical of Soviet historians, diminished, omitted, and denied 
Soviet crimes and the totalitarian nature of the Soviet regime. He also tried to streng-
then hatred against the OUN-B by offensive terminology and by providing incorrect 
information. For example, he introduced the Nachtigall battalion as an SS division 
and not as an Abwehr battalion.7 Unlike earlier Soviet historians, however, he did not 
deny that Bandera was murdered by the KGB agent Stashyns’kyi.8 

V. Dovgan’, author of the third anti-Bandera series, began by observing that “de-
structive nationalist elements” had been “inflating” a Bandera cult in Ukraine: 

Various publications, in particular in Galicia (i.e. in Lviv, Ternopil’, and Ivano-
Frankivs’k oblasts) popularize his road of life and reprint his articles and 
speeches. Portraits and signs with his portrait grow in popularity. In July of this 
year in Drohobych, during a meeting of former UPA bandits, the foundation stone 
was laid for a future Bandera monument. And on 14 October [1990] a monument 
to Bandera was unveiled in the Ciscarpathian village of Uhryniv. Streets in several 
cities in Galicia have also been named after him. In numerous cities, particularly 
in Lviv and Ivano-Frankivs’k, we hear a loud “Slava!” to the honor of Bandera and 
appeals to the youth to follow the path that he outlined. ... 

Who were Stepan Bandera and the Banderites who took the name of their Pro-
vidnyk? What is the banderovshchina that weighed like a horrible ghost for more 
than 10 years on the western Ukrainian countryside?9 

Like Maslovs’kyi, Dovgan’ was well informed about the history of the OUN and 
Bandera’s life. He studied crucial documents such as “Struggle and Activity” and 
knew many details concerning Bandera’s life. He reminded his readers about the 
OUN-B’s collaboration with Nazi Germany and the ethnic violence from 1941 on-
ward. At the same time, he omitted and denied Soviet violence, in particular the 
torture and killing of prisoners in 1940–1941 in western Ukraine and the brutal kill-
ing and deportation of civilians after 1944. He also ascribed a range of deeds to the 
Ukrainian nationalists, which they had not committed. One of them was the killing of 
the Polish professors by the Ukrainian Nachtigall battalion. Dovgan’ also addressed 
the question of Bandera’s collaboration with the SIS and the parachuting of ZCh 
OUN members into Soviet Ukraine. Although some newspapers, such as the Moscow 
Megapolis-Ekspress on 31 May 1990 and the Ukrainian nationalist Za vil’nu 

 
6  Vitalii Maslovs’kyi, “Bandera: Prapor chy banda,” Radians’ka Ukraїna, 14 October 1990, 3. 
7  Ibid., 3. 
8  Ibid., 3. 
9  V. Dovgan’, “Kem byl Bandera,” Pravda Ukrainy, 13 December 1990, 4. 
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Ukraїnu on 9 August 1990, had announced that Bandera was killed by Stashyns’kyi, 
Dovgan’ argued that it was still an open question whether Bandera had been killed by 
Stashyns’kyi or by Oberländer.10 

In addition to Soviet propaganda, western Ukraine was also exposed at this time 
to Ukrainian nationalist propaganda. In April 1990, Pravda Ukrainy wrote that 
“Lviv emissaries” referred to Bandera at several meetings in Volhynia as the “‘great 
son’ of the Ukrainian nation.”11 On 30 June 1990 at the market square in Lviv, 
Ukrainian nationalists and dissidents celebrated the declaration of 30 June 1941. 
According to Maslovs’kyi, Oleh Vitovych, one of the leaders of the Association of 
Independent Ukrainian Youth (Spilka Nezalezhnoї Ukraїns’koї Molodi, SNUM), said 
in his speech: “The ideas for which Stepan Bandera was fighting are also present 
today. These are the ideas of the nationalism of the revolutionary movement in 
Ukraine. We, the young generation of nationalists, arm ourselves with these ideas.”12 

In 1990, at its twenty-eighth congress, the Communist Party of Ukraine debated 
whether the OUN and UPA should be rehabilitated. The decision to take up the issue 
was brought about by the ongoing rehabilitation of Ukrainian nationalists in western 
Ukraine, which manifested itself, as Pravda Ukrainy wrote, in “lavish celebrations, 
religious services, renaming of streets and squares, erection of monuments, and the 
placing of commemorative plaques devoted to S. Bandera, R. Shukhevych, and other 
leaders of the OUN-UPA.” At the congress, the party called the brutal conflict 
between the OUN-UPA and the Soviet authorities in the 1940s and 1950s a “fratri-
cidal war.” It condemned the Stalinist terror but decided not to rehabilitate the OUN 
and UPA.13 

The First Bandera Monument in Ukraine 

Staryi Uhryniv, Bandera’s birthplace, became a particularly turbulent place during 
the breakup of the Soviet Union. It was only in 1984 that the Soviets destroyed the 
chapel in which Andrii Bandera had performed church services. On 15 October 1989, 
the thirtieth anniversary of Bandera’s death, seven young people, four men and three 
women from Stryi and Lviv, set up a bronze cross at the site, and on the same day a 
public meeting took place there. The KGB failed to arrest the seven young people, 
who were in hiding, helped by local inhabitants.14 

On Heroes’ Day, 27 May 1990, the SNUM from Ivano-Frankivs’k set up a founda-
tion stone for a Bandera monument in front of the house in which Bandera was born. 
At about the same time, the chapel was rebuilt. Funds for the monument were col-
lected at public anti-Soviet meetings, which frequently took place in western Ukraine 

 
10  V. Dovgan’, “Kem byl Bandera,” Pravda Ukrainy, 13 December 1990, 4; 14 December 1990, 4; 16 
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11  “My obviniaem natsionalizm!” Pravda Ukrainy, 11 April 1990, 1. 
12  Vitalii Maslovs’kyi, “Bandera: prapor chy banda,” Radians’ka Ukraїna, 14 October 1990, 3. 
13  “O popytkakh politycheskoi reabilitatsii OUN-UPA,” Pravda Ukrainy, 19 December 1990, 1, 3. 
14  Stepan Lesiv, the Stepan Bandera Historical Memorial Museum in Staryi Uhryniv, interview by 

author, Staryi Uhryniv, 18 May 2008; “Nyshchennia pam”iatnykiv zapochotkuvaly za SRSR,” BBC, 
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at that time. The monument was prepared in a cement factory in Dubivtsi, Halych 
region and was transported piece by piece to Staryi Uhryniv by taxi. It was put to-
gether at night from 13 to 14 October, under the protection of a crowd of about one 
hundred people. The monument looked quite makeshift and consisted of two pillars 
and a bust with a bell underneath. It was unveiled on 14 October 1990, the Feast of 
the Protection of the Mother of God (Sviato Pokrovy) and the Feast of the UPA. 
According to Stepan Lusiv, 10,000 people attended the ceremony. Shliakh peremohy 
reported that there were 15,000. For the sake of the celebration, a sign with the in-
scription “Stepan Bandera Street” was placed on the house behind the monument. 
Some celebrants held blue-and-yellow or red-and-black flags, or portraits of Ban-
dera, or wore folk clothes, in particular embroidered shirts. On one side of the 
monument, a blue-and-yellow flag, and on the other, a red-and-black one, were set 
up. The celebration began with a moment of silence. A UPA veteran then fired a rifle 
in the air, and the crowd sang the Ukrainian anthem. After the singing of the natio-
nalist song “We Were Born in a Great Hour” (Zrodylys’ my velykoї hodyny) Vitalii 
Hapovych, leader of the SNUM, asked that the blue-and-yellow cover be taken off the 
monument. The crowd began shouting “Glory!” Afterwards, Bandera’s sister Volo-
dymyra Davydiuk and some nationalist activists, among them OUN-B émigrés, deli-
vered speeches. A priest then blessed the monument and performed a panakhyda.15 

On 14 October 1990, the same day on which the Bandera monument was unveiled 
in Staryi Uhryniv, 10,000 people attended the opening of the first Bandera museum 
in Ukraine. The museum was located in the house in Volia Zaderevats’ka where 
Bandera’s family had lived between 1933 and 1936. Among the speakers was 
Bandera’s sister, Oksana Bandera.16 On the same day, the Lenin monument in Lviv 
was dismantled, although the authorities had been protecting it at night from 13 
October onward.17 On 15 October, according to Vyzvol’nyi shliakh, 10,000 people 
came to a meeting with a panakhyda, close to the Lviv university building, to 
commemorate the thirty-first anniversary of Bandera’s assassination. About thirty 
people were on the stage at the meeting, among them the Ukrainian dissident and 
member of the Ukrainian Helsinki Group, Ivan Kandyba.18 

The first Bandera monument in Ukraine did not fulfill its function for long. It was 
blown up at about 5 or 6 a.m. on 30 December 1990, possibly in order to prevent a 
celebration of Bandera’s birthday there on 1 January 1991. However, the monument 
was rebuilt and unveiled at the same place on 30 June 1991, the fiftieth anniversary 
of the proclamation of 30 June 1941. The rebuilt monument looked quite similar to 
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shliakh Vol. 514, No. 1, (January 1991): 116–17. 
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the first one. It was a little taller and there were two tridents instead of a bell under 
the bust. Again 10,000 people, some of them dressed in folk garments and carrying 
blue-and-yellow and red-and-black flags, appeared at the unveiling. After the 
unveiling, the monument was guarded by SNUM activists. But it was blown up even 
sooner than the first one, at about 3 a.m. on 10 July. During the demolition, the 
perpetrators, very likely six Soviet security officers acting on orders from the Defense 
Department of the Soviet Union, shot and wounded one of the SNUM activists, Vasyl’ 
Maksymchuk. The same night, the Ievhen Konovalets’ monument in Zashkiv, Lviv 
oblast, was blown up. Five days earlier, on 5 July 1991, a monument near Brody, 
devoted to the Waffen-SS Galizien soldiers, had also been blown up.19 

The third Bandera monument in Staryi Uhryniv was unveiled on 17 August 1992, 
in an already independent Ukraine and was guarded thereafter by the police. The 
unveiling was combined with the fiftieth anniversary of the UPA and was followed by 
three days of patriotic celebrations. The architect of the third Bandera monument 
was Bandera’s nephew Zynovii Davydiuk, Volodymyra’s son. The monument, this 
time a bronze statue, was recast from a Lenin statue that had been prepared for un-
veiling in the provincial city of Kalush.20 Ivan Kashuba, main editor of Shliakh pere-
mohy and former head of the SB of the ZCh OUN, delivered a speech at the unveiling 
ceremony.21 Other leading OUN émigrés, including Mykola Lebed’, also visited west-
ern Ukraine at that time.22 

The Second Turn to the Right 

After the dissolution of the Soviet Union, a number of OUN émigrés returned to 
Ukraine. They founded several radical right, antidemocratic parties and other 
organizations, which considerably impacted on Ukrainian politics, society, culture, 
and academia, especially in the western parts of the country, where the UPA had 
operated until the early 1950s. Slava Stets’ko had succeeded her husband as leader of 
the ABN in 1986, and Vasyl’ Oles’kiv in 1991 as leader of the OUN-B. In 1992 she 
founded the Congress of Ukrainian Nationalists (Kongres Ukraїns’kykh Natsion-
alistiv, KUN), and in 1997 she was elected to the Ukrainian parliament, in which she 
served until her death in 2002.23 

In Kiev, OUN-B émigrés set up the Stepan Bandera Centre of National Revival 
(Tsentr Natsional’noho vidrodzhennia imeni Stepana Bandery, TsNV) at 9 
Iaroslaviv Val Street. The OUN leadership, the Munich-based OUN-B newspaper 
Shliakh peremohy, and the London-based OUN-B journal Vyzvol’nyi shliakh were 
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relocated there. In 2000, Andrii Haidamakha was elected leader of the OUN at the 
Ninth Great Congress. In 2009 the Twelfth Great Congress of the OUN elected Stefan 
Romaniw as leader of the OUN (Fig. 53). Both Haidamakha and Romaniw grew up in 
the diaspora and were recruited to the OUN when they were members of SUM.24 Like 
many other OUN diaspora nationalists, the OUN Leader Romaniw has also been an 
activist of multiculturalism.25 After his election as leader of the OUN, Romaniw 
stated: 

I remind myself of the words of Ievhen Konovalets’, who said: “We can either be 
the creators of history or be its victims.” The Organization of Ukrainian Nation-
alists has always demonstrated that it wants to create history, and the present 
Leadership is searching for that path. ... 

We are trying to create the understanding that the OUN is in fact that spark 
which can ignite community spirit. Today Ukraine and the Diaspora—this is a 
global Organization; an Organization where we complement one another, an 
Organization in which we need each other, and thus on the Leadership’s part, we 
constantly remember: We are an Organization that is strewn around the world, 
but the purpose of our experience, our goal, is the same everywhere. That is why 
our task must be the education/development/raising of youth in Ukraine and in 
the Diaspora, because young people should know their roots, and love God and 
Ukraine. ... 

I call upon you today not only to sacrifice, I call upon you to be ready to co-
operate, so that you, dear friends, young and old, will stand in the vanguard to-
gether with the Leadership of the OUN to ignite this fire in America, in Canada, in 
Poland, in Australia, in Great Britain, or in Ukraine. 

We are a global organization, our strength is our unity! I call upon you all to 
unite around our great ideal. ... 

Glory to Ukraine!26 

A number of ultranationalist and radical right parties and other organizations 
that claimed to stand in the tradition of the OUN-B and the UPA emerged in Ukraine 
after the dissolution of the Soviet Union. The Ukrainian National Assembly 
(Ukraïns’ka natsional’na asambleia, UNA) and its paramilitary wing, Ukrainian 
National Self-Defense (Ukraïns’ka natsional’na samooborona, UNSO) were founded 
in 1991. The UNA and UNSO based their ideology on Dontsov, Arthur de Gobineau, 
and Walter Darré, and modeled themselves on the National Democratic Party of 
Germany (Nationaldemokratische Partei Deutschlands, NPD). From 1991 to 1994 
and again from October 2005, their leader was Iurii Shukhevych, the son of the 
legendary UPA leader Roman Shukhevych. Like the generation of his fathers, Iurii 
Shukhevych held extremist nationalist views. In an interview in 2007, for example, 
he said that “the ghetto was invented not by Hitler, but by the Jews themselves.” 

 
24  Lypovets’kyi, Orhanizatsiia Ukraïns’kykh, 75, 84. 
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Following Soviet anti-Zionist dogma, he also argued that Simon Wiesenthal “was a 
Gestapo agent.”27 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Fig. 53. Stephan Romaniw, the leader of the OUN since 2009. Lypovets’kyi, Orhanizatsiia, 86. 

Another major radical right party founded in 1991 was the Social-National Party 
of Ukraine (Sotsial-natsional’na partiia Ukraïny, SNPU). Its official party symbol 
was the Wolfsangel, or wolf’s hook, used previously by various SS Divisions and far-
right, fascist, and neo-fascist movements. The SNPU claimed that its ideology was 
derived from such writings as Stets’ko’s Two Revolutions. In 2004 the SNPU gave 
birth to the All-Ukrainian Union Svoboda (Freedom), or Svoboda Party which be-
came a member of the Alliance of European National Movements (AENM) and has 
been connected since 2009 with such other radical right parties as the French Nat-
ional Front, the Hungarian Jobbik, the Italian Tricolor Flame, the National Rebirth 
of Poland, and the Belgian National Front.28 The views of the charismatic, populist, 
revolutionary, and ultranationalist leader of the Svoboda Party, Oleh Tiahnybok, are 
well illustrated by a speech that he gave in 2004, during which he said: 
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The enemy came and took their [UPA’s] Ukraine. But they [UPA fighters] were 
not afraid; likewise we must not be afraid. They hung their machine guns on their 
necks and went into the woods. They fought against the Russians, Germans, Jews, 
and other scum who wanted to take away our Ukrainian state! And therefore our 
task—for every one of you, the young, the old, the grey-headed and the youthful—
is to defend our native land! … These young men and you, the grey-headed, are 
the very combination that the Russian and Jewish mafia that is ruling Ukraine 
fears most.29 

With the growth of nationalism after the dissolution of the Soviet Union, the OUN 
and UPA became a significant component of western Ukrainian identity. Similarly to 
Ukrainians in the diaspora during the Cold War, many people in western Ukraine 
began to commemorate Bandera as a national hero and freedom fighter and to deny 
the atrocities committed by the Ukrainian nationalists. After the Soviet Union was 
dissolved, it ceased to be perceived as the main enemy of Ukraine, and the hatred 
against it was re-directed against left-wingers, Russian-speaking eastern Ukrainians, 
and occasionally the European Union. Far-right nationalists began to claim that 
Ukraine was occupied by democrats, Russians, or Russified eastern Ukrainians who 
ought to be Ukrainized or Banderized. Many western Ukrainians complained that 
Ukraine was dependent on Russian culture, economy, politics, radio, television, and 
language. They also argued that people who criticized Bandera and the OUN and 
UPA were afflicted by banderophobia, which they defined as holding a hostile atti-
tude toward Ukrainian culture.30 

The growth of nationalism and radical right activism in Ukraine led to ethnic and 
political harassment and violence. It is difficult to say how many people became 
victims of nationalist violence but, because of it, a number of Russians and Jews left 
or tried to leave Ukraine. A few such cases were documented by the US Immigration 
and Naturalization Service (INS). Although we should be critical of these documents, 
because some refugees might have exaggerated in order to gain admission to the 
United States, we should not reject their reports as anti-Ukrainian fantasy. Irina 
Chtchetinin, an ethnic Russian and Jew living in Lviv, decided to leave Ukraine with 
her husband and three children after radical right groups attacked her Jewish-
Russian neighbors. According to the historian Jeffrey Burds, who investigated the 
reports, Irina’s neighbors were brutally tortured in their own apartment: “The hus-
band was branded with a hot electric clothes iron, his wife’s eye was ripped out of its 
socket, while their assailants screamed anti-Russian and anti-Semitic epithets. 
Ukrainian police refused even to take a report of the attack, or to follow up with an 
investigation of the incidents.”31 Another Jewish-Russian woman, Vera Korablina 
from Kiev, testified that a new ultranationalist boss fired all the Jewish workers in 
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her section in 1990, and that in 1993, nationalists beat her new employer. They de-
manded from him “payment of special dues for Russians and Jews who worked in 
Ukraine.” Like her friend, she received death threats by telephone and mail. In early 
1994, she was tortured by men who argued that “her Russian surname and passport 
could not conceal her ‘Yid’ origins.” In September 1994, the walls and furniture in her 
office were painted with anti-Russian and antisemitic graffiti. Her Jewish employer 
disappeared soon after this incident.32 

The Bandera Cult in Historiography 

The collapse of the Soviet Union and the emergence of the Ukrainian state caused 
changes in the field of professional history but almost none in the field of apologetic 
historical writing. The process of change was determined by the opening up of Soviet 
archives, rediscovery of testimonies of the victims as a source to study the Holocaust 
and far-right movements, and the de-nationalization and de-ideologization of pro-
fessional history after the end of the Cold War. Historians such as John-Paul Himka 
gradually ceased to regard the ideology of Ukrainian nationalism as an important 
narrative of Ukrainian history and began to investigate the actual history of the OUN, 
UPA, and the Second World War in Ukraine.33 John Armstrong, on the other hand, 
the main historian during the Cold War who dealt with Ukrainian nationalism, seems 
to have ceased altogether to apply a critical approach to Ukrainian history, after the 
collapse of the Soviet Union. At a conference in Lviv in August 1993, he claimed that 
“the objective of the historian … is to clarify the true position of the hero in his own 
time.” He admired Bandera, Shukhevych, Lebed’, Stets’ko, Dontsov, Kubiiovych, and 
Sheptyts’kyi and did not pay any attention to the atrocities committed by the Ukrai-
nian nationalists during and after the Second World War or to their collaboration 
with Nazi Germany.34 

The discourse on Bandera and the OUN-UPA in Ukraine also became national-
ized and radicalized in reaction to the Soviet legacy. Historians who were socialized 
in Soviet Ukraine began to invent a new narrative, which defined itself through the 
negation of the Soviet narrative and resembled Cold War writings by OUN émigrés. 
The radical right sector of the Ukrainian diaspora also contributed to the radicaliza-
tion of the post-Soviet historical discourse in a practical way. The OUN organized 
historical conferences, for example in Kiev on 28 and 29 March 1992, at which Slava 
Stets’ko and Volodymyr Kosyk explained to the Ukrainian historians how to write 
history.35 The OUN émigrés established the Institute for the Study of the Liberation 
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Movement (Tsentr doslidzhen’ vyzvol’noho rukhu, TsDVR),36 whose office has been 
located since then in the building of the Academy of Sciences at 4 Kozel’nyts’ka Street 
in Lviv.37 

The agenda of the TsDVR has been to reproduce and popularize the work of such 
OUN-B historians as Petro Mirchuk and Volodymyr Kosyk and to produce its own 
works according to the nationalist narrative initiated by the OUN émigrés. This has 
meant promoting the OUN as a democratic organization and the UPA as an army of 
liberation, and denying their ultranationalist nature and the atrocities that they had 
committed. The deeper purpose behind this activity was to elevate the “liberation 
movement” as a very important component of Ukrainian identity. The TsDVR ex-
pressed its agenda in a language that bears a striking resemblance to the language of 
OUN-B diaspora historians: 

The history of the struggle of liberation is the basis of the national idea of every 
state, the basis for its values and orientation. The past of the Ukrainian people—in 
particular its liberation struggle—was for many years silenced and twisted by the 
totalitarian regimes. Therefore, a new non-prejudiced view of the Ukrainian lib-
eration movement is extraordinarily urgently needed. The twentieth century was 
the high point of the development of the Ukrainian resistance—the best example 
is the struggle of the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists and the Ukrainian 
Insurgent Army from the 1920s to the 1950s. Unfortunately, today, the activities 
of those structures remain one of the least studied parts of the Ukrainian histori-
ography. The study of the various aspects of the struggle of the Ukrainians for 
their national and social freedom is the main purpose of The Center for the Study 
of the Ukrainian Liberation Movement.38 

The diaspora and the OUN émigrés continued to publish on the subject of 
Bandera and the OUN-UPA after 1991. Petro Goi, head of the branch of the 
Ukrainian Free University in New York, collected several hundred articles about 
Bandera’s assassination, published them in ten thick volumes and called his 
monumental edition the foundation for the science about Bandera, or Banderology 
(banderoznavstvo). His wish was to enable “Ukrainian historians in the future” to 
“study the tragic incidents around the murder of Stepan Bandera” and to make the 
Providnyk the object of an academic cult.39 

The new ultranationalist narrative that appeared in post-Soviet Ukraine was a 
negative mirror image of the Soviet one, but because it negated the Soviet narrative it 
appeared to historians socialized in Soviet or post-Soviet Ukraine to be critical and 
true. The denial-oriented publications written by the OUN émigrés were used as 
evidence for claims that the OUN-UPA did not conduct ethnic cleansing in 1943–
 

shed a few times, was extensively used at Ukrainian universities and in schools. Hrytsak was already a 
Doctor of Philosophy (kandydat istorychnykh nauk) when his article appeared in Vyzvol’nyi shliakh. 
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Vol. 530, No. 6 (June 1992): 672–73. Hrytsak, Narys istoriї Ukraїny. 
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1944, did not kill Jews, and that the OUN-B did not adopt fascism in the 1930s. 
Mykola Lebed’s first monograph on the UPA from 1946 was reprinted in 1993.40 In 
1995 the Vidrodzhennia publishing house reprinted Petro Poltava’s Who Are the 
Banderites and What Are They Fighting For from 1950. In 1999 it reprinted Ban-
dera’s Perspectives of the Ukrainian Revolution, and several other nationalist publi-
cations. Vidrodzhennia provided the reprints with nationalist introductions and 
added contemporary pictures of demonstrations and ceremonies conducted by pa-
ramilitary organizations, such as a photograph of a unit of the Stepan Bandera 
Tryzub standing in front of the Bandera monument.41 A number of prominent Ukrai-
nian scholars and politicians engaged in such organizations and took part in such 
ceremonies. Serhii Kvit, who in 2007 became the rector of the most prestigious Ukr-
ainian university, the National University of Kiev-Mohyla Academy, had in the 1990s 
been the centurion (sotnyk) of the Stepan Bandera Tryzub and member of the 
KUN.42 

Popular Biographies 

The popular and academic discourse about Bandera in Ukraine was influenced by 
two groups. One was composed of OUN émigrés such as Mirchuk, and nationalist 
dissidents such as Levko Luk”ianenko, holder of an honorary Doctorate in Law from 
the University of Alberta, who argued that Jews controlled the Soviet Union and were 
responsible for a significant number of Soviet atrocities. The second group consisted 
of OUN and UPA veterans who lived in Soviet Ukraine and were allowed for the first 
time to express their opinions without Soviet censorship. Many declared themselves 
to be the only true sources on OUN-UPA history. Their interpretations did not differ 
greatly from those of such veterans and historians as Mirchuk and Potichnyi, who 
lived and published after the Second World War in the diaspora, without Soviet cen-
sorship.43

 

The first major post-Soviet Bandera biography, Stepan Bandera—Symbol of the 
Nation, was published by former OUN-B member and anticommunist activist Petro 
Duzhyi (1916–1997). Duzhyi joined the OUN in 1932 and participated in the 
“Ukrainian National Revolution” of 1941 as a member of an OUN-B task force. In 
1944 he became the director of the propaganda department of the OUN. In June 
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1945, he was arrested by the NKVD and, after two years imprisonment in Kiev, he 
was detained in the Gulag until 1960.44 

Like Mirchuk, the main OUN diaspora historian and Bandera hagiographer Duz-
hyi was not a professional historian. Archival documents and critical thinking were 
alien to him. He wrote and published a Bandera biography in two volumes, to con-
firm the nationalist interpretation of Bandera’s life. Although Duzhyi’s book about 
the Providnyk contained a good deal of valuable information, it was embedded in the 
genre of denial and apologetics. One would not learn from Duzhyi’s biography any-
thing about the influence of antisemitism and fascism on Bandera’s thinking and 
acting, or about OUN-B collaboration with Nazi Germany, or the pogroms of July 
1941. Similarly, one would not learn anything about the ethnic cleansing of Poles by 
the UPA, or the killing of Ukrainian and Russian civilians, although Duzhyi devoted a 
substantial part of his book to describing the UPA. Instead, one learns that only Bol-
sheviks and other foes called the OUN fascist, that Ukrainian nationalism is based on 
Shevchenko’s poetry, and that there was nothing wrong with the assassinations or-
ganized by the OUN in the 1930s, because they were only “acts of retribution.”45 

One aspect that made Duzhyi’s biography different from Mirchuk’s was the very 
extensive incorporation of such documents as Bandera’s brief autobiography, articles 
he wrote, and transcripts of interviews he gave. These documents were published in 
the diaspora after Mirchuk had finished his hagiography. Duzhyi regarded these 
documents as reliable sources and took everything in them for granted. Thus his 
biography, almost 500 pages long, is essentially an extension of Bandera’s thirteen-
page autobiography. Duzhyi began each of the numerous short chapters of his book 
with a quotation from Bandera’s autobiography, or from his articles, or from pieces 
written by other OUN members. He then extended these quotations with his own 
contributions which, in terms of language and argument, did not differ greatly from 
the quoted documents.46 

A very popular Bandera biography, republished at least three times, including 
once by the Bandera museum in Dubliany, was written by the Lviv writer Halyna 
Hordasevych.47 She was not in the OUN but stated that if she had been ten years 
older she would have joined it and followed the Providnyk.48 In the introduction, 
Hordasevych wrote that she intended to introduce Bandera as a human being. She 
was motivated by the observation that everyone in Ukraine and many people in other 
former Soviet republics used the term “Banderites” in the sense of “enemy of the 
people” but knew little or nothing about the person. She claimed that, especially in 
eastern Ukraine, anyone who spoke Ukrainian was labeled as a Banderite. Making an 
analogy between Banderites, Petliurites (derived from Symon Petliura), and 
Mazepites (derived from the seventeenth-century Cossack leader Ivan Mazepa), she 
claimed that Ukrainians accused of treason were first called Mazepites, then 
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Petliurites, and finally Banderites. This comparison had frequently appeared in the 
Soviet literature. In post-Soviet Ukraine its negative meaning was turned into an 
element of the heroic invention of tradition and became a common motif of various 
affirmative Bandera biographies.49 

In order to challenge the ideological notion of Banderites as traitors, and to 
present Bandera as a human being, Hordasevych studied a range of Soviet and dias-
pora publications about him. In her book, she signaled several times that she trusted 
neither the nationalist nor the Soviet historiographical genre, but she eventually 
arrived at the typical post-Soviet nationalist conclusion: “He was a man around 
whom myths have been created, which is however, a feature only of heroic personali-
ties; therefore Stepan Bandera is the hero of Ukraine.”50 Like other post-Soviet bio-
graphers, she used Soviet propaganda to deny that Bandera collaborated with Ger-
many and that the OUN-B and UPA were involved in ethnic and political violence. 
An analysis of her biography demonstrates how much of a symbol Bandera was in 
Soviet and post-Soviet discourses, and how difficult it was in post-Soviet Ukraine to 
write about the person and about the movement that the Providnyk represented.51 

Ievhen Perepichka, a far-right activist and the head of the Lviv KUN, wrote 
another monumental and popular Bandera biography titled The Phenomenon of 
Stepan Bandera.52 In addition to collecting documents about Bandera, Perepichka 
had, since the early 1990s, organized various ultranationalist and neo-fascist 
manifestations and celebrations, frequently with the participation of paramilitary 
groups.53 Like Duzhyi and Hordasevych, Perepichka did not have any historical train-
ing, did not care about academic standards, and extensively quoted forged docu-
ments published in diaspora publications.54 Given Perepichka’s convictions and 
methods, it is not surprising that he regarded Bandera as 

a legendary person, what a pride, the symbol of the Ukrainian nation. The whole 
epoch of the national-liberating struggle and all the fighters for the liberation of 
Ukraine were named after him. The Muscovite occupiers called all Ukrainians 
Banderites and also the patriots from other nations who fought for the liberation 
of their homelands: Lithuanian Banderites, Latvian Banderites, Kazakh Ban-
derites, Estonian Banderites, Kyrgyzstani Banderites.55 

Perepichka began his Bandera biography with the Bandera family tree and fi-
nished it with that of his own family.56 Between the two, Perepichka described all the 
possible deeds that the ideology of Ukrainian nationalism classifies as the “suffering 
of the Ukrainian nation,” including the famine in Soviet Ukraine in 1932-1933. He 
reduced the Second World War to the killing of Ukrainians mainly by Soviet and 
German forces and, like Mirchuk and Duzhyi, did not analyze or even mention the 
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atrocities committed by the OUN and UPA during and after the Second World War.57 
The only Jews who appear in Perepichka’s biography are those who were rescued by 
Ukrainians.58 Moreover, OUN members and UPA insurgents, not Jewish, Polish, or 
Ukrainian civilians, appear to have been the main victims of the atrocities committed 
by the German and Soviet occupiers of Ukraine. Bandera appears to be the symbol of 
Ukrainian suffering in general. 

Ihor Tsar wrote a short but very popular Bandera biography, with the unambi-
guous title, What We Love Bandera For. He argued that it was God who sent Ban-
dera to Ukrainians: 

Stepan Bandera is the hero of the twentieth century, a legendary person, the most 
prominent person in Ukrainian history. The time came to raise his name in the 
whole free Ukraine in order to enable every living soul to thank God that He sent 
us, in the darkest times of the history of mankind, such a bright personality. In 
particular, Bandera rescued the honor of Ukraine in the twentieth century be-
cause he could motivate the nation to a self-sacrificing struggle against Stalinist 
communism, fascism, and chauvinism. … Bandera elevated the Ukrainian nation-
alism of love to the highest willingness to make sacrifices. His slogan was “God 
and Ukraine!” We love Bandera for that.59 

Bandera and Academia 

In the two decades following the collapse of the Soviet Union, no professional histo-
rian has written a critical biography of Bandera; but a number of historians, such as 
Omer Bartov, Karel Berkhoff, John-Paul Himka, Frank Golczewski, Grzegorz Mo-
tyka, and Dieter Pohl, were investigating such related subjects as the Second World 
War and the Holocaust in Ukraine, Soviet politics in Ukraine during and after the 
Second World War, and the OUN and UPA. The publications of these historians had 
almost no impact on post-Soviet historians who rather published material that sti-
mulated nationalist activists and politicians to erect Bandera monuments and to 
perform various OUN and UPA commemorations. Similarly to the diaspora histo-
rians before them, the post-Soviet historians collected some important empirical 
data but applied nationalist interpretations and frequently did not pay much atten-
tion to academic standards.60 

The most prolific Bandera biographer has been Mykola Posivnych. As far as 2012, 
Posivnych had edited three volumes, including excerpts from memoirs and docu-
ments about Bandera, republished the indictment from the Warsaw trial in 1935 in 
Ukrainian, and published a short Bandera biography.61 Posivnych’s three volumes 
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consist partially of the same excerpts from the memoirs of OUN members and vari-
ous OUN documents as those compiled by other writers. The introduction to the 
three volumes was written by OUN-B member and diaspora historian Volodymyr 
Kosyk who, in the 1950s, had been the ZCh OUN liaison to Chiang Kai-Shek’s Taiwan 
and Franco’s Spain. The three volumes include a biographical text about Bandera’s 
youth, written by Posivnych in a narrative that does not differ greatly from Kosyk’s or 
Mirchuk’s, but which contains much more valuable empirical data.62 

In his three volumes, Posivnych did not comment on the republished extracts of 
memoirs and added only brief biographical comments about their authors. Because 
all of them were written by OUN members, in particular OUN-B, this kind of editing 
is problematic, or even inadmissible. The editor republished, for example, an article 
about Bandera at the Lviv trial, written by Stsibors’kyi in 1936, in which he prizes 
Bandera’s “heroic” behavior. In the biographical note for Stsibors’kyi’, however, 
Posivnych did not mention that, in a letter to Mel’nyk, which the editor even repub-
lished in the same volume, Bandera called Stsibors’kyi a “treacherous Bolshevik 
agent” who was living with a “suspicious Moscow Jewish woman” or that Stsibors’kyi 
was killed on 30 August 1941, in all probability by the OUN-B, on Bandera’s order. 
Similarly, Posivnych did not comment on another republished document, Bandera’s 
letter to Mel’nyk from September 1940, which contains several nationalist and anti-
semitic passages. Instead of publishing original archival documents, which are 
accessible in Ukrainian achieves, Posivnych reprinted some documents from dias-
pora publications without paying attention to the fact that OUN émigrés had forged 
and manipulated some documents.63 In general, Posivnych’s volumes contain ex-
tracts from memoirs and documents that are significant for the understanding of 
Bandera, but their unprofessional editing suggests that they have a commemorative 
rather than a scholarly character. In addition to popularizing important sources, they 
also propagate the Bandera cult.64 

In his short biography Stepan Bandera—A Life Devoted to Freedom, Posivnych 
indicated the sources on which he relied, and applied some other academic stan-
dards, but he wrote it in a narrative, which resembles the narratives that structure 
Mirchuk’s, Duzhyi’s, Hordasevych’s, and Perepichka’s Bandera biographies. Instead 
of analyzing all aspects of Bandera’s life, his political activities, or the OUN’s policies, 
Posivnych described only those features that caused Bandera and the OUN to appear 
as heroic and admirable elements of the Ukrainian past, and thus valuable elements 
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of the Ukrainian identity. Describing the OUN before the Second World War, he 
justified the crimes committed by the OUN in the early 1930s as having been decided 
upon by the OUN court.65 Describing the trials in Warsaw and Lviv, he wrote that the 
OUN used the greeting “Glory to Ukraine!” but did not point out that OUN members 
used it as part of a fascist salute. The omission might be the result of reliance on 
diaspora publications that falsified the records, or it might have been a conscious 
decision to deny the actual meaning of the salute.66 Similarly, when describing the 
role of the OUN-B and UPA during the Second World War, Posivnych omitted the 
fact that they were involved in numerous atrocities.67 

Many books on the subject of Bandera, the OUN, and the UPA have been pub-
lished since 2000 by the OUN-founded TsDVR. After the election of Viktor Iush-
chenko to the presidency of Ukraine in 2005, the Ukrainian government began to 
promote the TsDVR’s nationalist and selective approach to history as part of the 
official state history. To establish a coherent national version of Ukrainian history, 
the Ukrainian Institute of National Memory (Ukraїns’kyi instytut natsional’noї 
pam”iati, UINP) was established in 2006 in Kiev, and Ihor Iukhnovs’kyi, a physicist 
and a sympathizer with the radical right SNPU, became its director. In 2007, the 
director of the TsDVR, Volodymyr V”iatrovych, became the representative of the 
UINP in the Lviv oblast. From 2008 until the end of Iushchenko’s tenure in power in 
early 2010, V”iatrovych worked in Kiev, first for the UINP and then as director of the 
archives of the Security Service of Ukraine (Sluzhba Bezpeky Ukraїny, SBU), the 
successor of the KGB. The SBU played a major role in determining on which docu-
ments the UINP should base its nationalist version of Ukrainian history and how this 
history should be written. From the outset, the UINP concentrated on promoting two 
ideologically interrelated aspects of Ukrainian history, which were intended to unite 
Ukrainians through victimization and heroization. The first was the promotion of the 
famine in Soviet Ukraine in 1932–1933 as an act of genocide against Ukrainians, in 
the execution of which many Jews were involved as perpetrators. The second was the 
extolment of the OUN and UPA and the denial of their atrocities, as practiced before 
by the Ukrainian diaspora and the TsDVR.68

 

Unsurprisingly, the UINP with its nationalist director Iukhnovs’kyi and the 
“patriotic” historian V”iatrovych had a great impact on the politics of memory in 
Ukraine. On 16 May 2007, at the urging of the UINP, Iushchenko ordered the 
organization of a series of ceremonies, honoring Iaroslav and Iaroslava Stets’ko. On 
12 September 2007, he designated Shukhevych as a Hero of Ukraine, and on 20 
January 2010, shortly before the end of his term in office, he did the same with 
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Bandera. The latter designation unleashed a debate about the OUN-UPA, Ukrainian 
nationalism, and Bandera’s role in Ukrainian history.69 

The nationalist interpretation of history practiced at the TsDVR was one of the 
main reasons why Iushchenko promoted and relied on this institution. This kind of 
history allowed the Second World War to be dealt with, without paying any attention 
to the Ukrainian involvement in the Holocaust and other atrocities, which destab-
ilized the process of creating a national Ukrainian collective identity. In 2006 
V”iatrovych, at that time the director of the TsDVR, published a short book, The 
Attitude of the OUN to the Jews, which allows us to understand how nationalist post-
Soviet historians deal with the genocide of the Jews. V”iatrovych wrote the mono-
graph to demonstrate that the OUN was not hostile to Jews, did not murder them, 
and rescued a significant number.70 John-Paul Himka and Taras Kurylo commented 
on V’’iatrovych’s method of presenting history: 

V”iatrovych manages to exonerate the OUN of charges of antisemitism and com-
plicity in the Holocaust only by employing a series of highly dubious procedures: 
rejecting sources that compromise the OUN, accepting uncritically censored 
sources from émigré OUN circles, failing to recognize antisemitism in OUN texts, 
limiting the source base to official OUN proclamations and decisions, excluding 
Jewish memoirs, refusing to consider contextual and comparative factors, failing 
to consult German document collections, and ignoring the mass of historical mo-
nographs on his subject written in the English and German languages.71 

The result of applying this method confirmed the expectation that the OUN was 
not hostile to Jews. In the entire book V”iatrovych introduced only one critical pub-
lication on antisemitism in the OUN, written by Berkhoff and Carynnyk, but dis-
missed it with the claim that it reminded him of Soviet publications.72 Similarly, 
V”iatrovych argued that the OUN member and diaspora historian Taras Hunchak 
delivered the best research on the Jews and Ukrainian nationalism and repeated 
after him that the stereotype of “Judeo-Bolshevism” was not a stereotype but real-
ity.73 Referring to Hrytsak’s article “Ukrainians in Anti-Jewish Actions in the Time of 
the Second World War,” V”iatrovych claimed that the document from the Third 
Extraordinary Great Assembly in August 1943, in which the OUN-B distanced itself 
from anti-Jewish violence, was a falsification, because it would verify the “myth 
about the participation of Ukrainian nationalists in anti-Jewish actions in 1941–
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1943.”74 A document from July 1941, according to which OUN-B member Lenkavs’kyi 
stated that “regarding the Jews we will adopt any methods that lead to their destruc-
tion,” was referred to by V”iatrovych as a Soviet “falsification with the purpose of 
provocation.”75 He explicitly denied the involvement of the OUN-B in the pogroms of 
July 1941 and denied the killing of Jews by the UPA.76 In order to equate the killing 
of a few dozen OUN members with the killing of millions of Jews, the director of the 
TsDVR published, next to pictures of a mass grave containing the bodies of Jews, a 
picture of a row of young men who, according to the caption, were OUN members 
shot by the Germans.77 Furthermore, V”iatrovych introduced the OUN and UPA as 
rescuers of Jews. He described the collective farms at which the UPA forced Jews to 
work but omitted the fact that the OUN and UPA liquidated the Jews working on 
these farms. Similarly, he omitted to point out that the SB of the OUN-B killed Jew-
ish doctors and nurses who worked in the UPA. In writing about the few Jews who 
survived the UPA, he mentioned the fictitious biography of Stella Krentsbakh pub-
lished by Mirchuk in 1957. Relying on the memoirs of Roman Shukhevych’s wife 
Natalia Shukhevych, which were written by Vasyl’ Kuk and Iurii Shukhevych, 
V”iatrovych wrote that she rescued a Jewish girl in 1942–1943, without mentioning 
Shukhevych’s involvement in mass violence, and without clarifying the circum-
stances in which his wife allegedly rescued the girl.78 

No less effective than V”iatrovych was the poet Moisei Fishbein who, like 
V”iatrovych, ignored research on the OUN, UPA, and the Holocaust in Ukraine and 
who, with the support of Iushchenko’s government, promoted a similar interpret-
ation of relations between Jews and Ukrainian nationalists to that of V’’iatrovych. At 
the Conference on Ukrainian Subjects at the University of Illinois in 2009, Fishbein 
mentioned the names of a few Jews who allegedly survived in the UPA, and tried to 
persuade the audience that Ukrainian nationalists were not hostile to Jews during 
the Second World War: 

The claim that “the UPA engaged in anti-Jewish actions” is a provocation eng-
ineered by Moscow. It is a provocation. It is a lie that the UPA destroyed Jews. 
Tell me: how could the UPA have destroyed Jews, when Jews were serving mem-
bers of the UPA? I knew a Jew who served in the UPA. I also knew Dr. Abraham 
Shtertser, who settled in Israel after the war. There was Samuel Noiman whose 
[UPA] codename was Maksymovych. There was Shai Varma (codename 
Skrypal/Violinist). There was Roman Vynnytsky whose codename was Sam. 

There was another distinguished figure in the UPA, a woman by the name of 
Stella Krenzbach, who later wrote her memoirs. She was born in Bolekhiv in the 
Lviv region. She was the daughter of a rabbi, she was a Zionist, and in Bolekhiv 
she was friends with Olia, the daughter of a [Ukrainian] Greek-Catholic priest. In 
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1939 Stella Krenzbach graduated from Lviv University’s Faculty of Philosophy. 
From 1943 she served in the UPA as a nurse and intelligence agent. In the spring 
of 1945 she was captured by the NKVD while meeting a courier in Rozhniativ. She 
was imprisoned, tortured, and sentenced to death. Later, this Jewish woman was 
sprung from prison by UPA soldiers. In the summer of 1945 she crossed into the 
Carpathian Mountains together with a group of Ukrainian insurgents, and on 1 
October 1946 she reached the British Zone of Occupation in Austria. Eventually, 
she reached Israel. In her memoirs, Stella Krenzbach writes: “I attribute the fact 
that I am alive today and devoting all the strength of my thirty-eight years to a 
free Israel, only to God and the Ukrainian Insurgent Army. I became a member of 
the heroic UPA on 7 November 1943. In our group I counted twelve Jews, eight of 
whom were doctors.”79 

Ukrainian historians who have denied or diminished the war crimes of the OUN 
and UPA, and their involvement in the Holocaust, have been supported by two Rus-
sian historians, Alexander Gogun and Kirill Aleksandrov. These historians found a 
parallel with Bandera and the OUN-UPA, in Vlasov and the ROA. Like Bandera, 
Vlasov collaborated with Nazi Germany. He was executed by the Soviet regime in 
1946. As in the case of Bandera, Soviet propaganda described Vlasov as a “traitor” 
and “enemy of the Soviet people” and like Bandera, he was rehabilitated by the post-
Soviet intellectuals and presented as a democrat. Gogun stated, for example, in an 
article about the ROA: “The Vlasov movement was a democratic movement [Vla-
sovskoe dvizhenie bylo dvizheniem demokraticheskim].” In order to prove this, re-
lying on Aleksandrov’s publication, Gogun detected in the ROA a few non-Russian 
soldiers, in particular three alleged Jews.80 In another article, “Jews in the Struggle 
for an Independent Ukraine,” co-authored with Oleksandr Vovk, Gogun applied a 
similar method to the UPA. The authors omitted the anti-Jewish violence of the OUN 
and UPA and gave the impression that Jews served and fought willingly in the UPA 
“for an independent Ukraine—against Hitler and Stalin.”81 In an article about Ban-
dera, Alexandrov argued that, as a “Muscovite historian,” he could not criticize Ban-
dera and the OUN-UPA because their nature was distorted by Soviet stereotypes. He 
argued that a critical investigation of Bandera and his movement was less important 
than the refutation of Soviet myths. Then, through the negation of the Soviet myths, 
he reintroduced Bandera as a hero who deserved to be honored like Vlasov.82 
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Iurii Mykhal’chyshyn, political scientist and official ideologist of the Svoboda 
Party, applied a rather different although no less problematical approach to the his-
tory of the OUN-UPA and Ukrainian nationalism. He did not deny the fascism of the 
OUN or the participation of the OUN-UPA in atrocities, nor did he claim that the 
UPA rescued Jews or that Jews patriotically fought for the Ukrainian state. The Svo-
boda ideologist approved of the OUN-UPA atrocities and OUN fascism and proudly 
insisted that the Holocaust was “a bright episode in European civilization.”83 After 
defending his PhD (kandydat nauk) thesis entitled “Transformation of a Political 
Movement into a Massive Political Party of a New Type: The Case of NSDAP and 
PNF (Comparative Analysis)” at the Department of Political Science at Ivan Franko 
University, Mykhal’chyshyn published a collection of essays on fascist ideology called 
Vatra 1.0.84 He brought together the programs of the National Fascist Party of Italy 
and of the Social-National Party of Ukraine, and texts by Italian, German, and 
Ukrainian ideologists, such as Mykola Stsibors’kyi, Iarsolav Stets’ko, Joseph Goeb-
bels, Ernst Röhm, and Alfred Rosenberg. On the website of the journal Vatra: 
National—Revolutionary Journal, Mykhal’chyshyn declared: “Our banner carriers 
and heroes [are] Ievhen Konvalets’, … Stepan Bandera, and Roman Shukhevych, 
Horst Wessel and Walther Stennes, Jose Antonio Primo de Rivera and Léon Degrelle, 
Corneliu Codreanu and Oswald Mosley, and thousands of other comrades.”85 
Mykhal’chyshyn’s approach to Ukrainian history confused many patriotic and 
“liberal” historians and intellectuals who were accustomed to deny the fascist 
tendencies of the OUN and atrocities committed by the OUN and UPA, or who 
understood Ukrainian nationalism to be a “national liberation movement.”86 

Bandera’s Museums 

Resurrection in Dubliany 

During the academic year 1930–1931 and from the beginning of the next academic 
year until February 1932, Bandera lived in Dubliany, a town of about 10,000 people, 
very close to Lviv.87 Sixty years later, this fact became extremely important to the 
citizens of this suburb of Lviv, in particular to the administration of the Lviv State 
Agrarian University (L’vivs’kyi natsional’nyi ahrarnyi universytet, LNAU). In 1993 a 
memorial plaque was unveiled at the student residence where Bandera lived for a 
short period.88 Five years later, Petro Hots’, a Lviv librarian and nationalist poet, 
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looking for a grant for the publication of his new collection of poems The High Castle 
(Vysokyi zamok), gave a copy of his manuscript to Volodymyr Snityns’kyi, the new 
director of the LNAU, a “Ukrainian patriot and a quite active, progressive person.” 
Snityns’kyi grew up in the “nationally conscious village” of Kozivka where a Bandera 
bust had been unveiled in 1992.89 In The High Castle the director of the LNAU dis-
covered the poem “Stepan Bandera in Dubliany.” It began with the phrases: “A stu-
dent like all the rest, it seems: tempered in the village, with a village disposition … 
[Student, zdaietsia, iak i vsi: Selians’kyi hart, selians’ka vdacha …].” The poem 
inspired Snityns’kyi to return Bandera’s spirit to Dubliany. Snityns’kyi decided to set 
up a Bandera museum at the LNUA and asked Hots’ to take the position of the di-
rector of this institution. He also set about erecting a Bandera monument in Dub-
liany on the campus of the LNAU.90 

Hots’ needed time to consider the offer because he was not a historian but a poet 
who had studied library science and philology and had worked for years as a libra-
rian. He specialized in Ukrainian romantic literature and poetry and not in national-
ism, fascism, antisemitism, or ethnic violence. Nevertheless, this did not prevent him 
from accepting the proposal and becoming director of the museum, not least be-
cause, as he wrote, “already in the third grade I was called a Banderite and national-
ist.”91 He soon became involved in the subject of Bandera, although quite differently 
from the way a critical historian or museologist would have done. In 2003 Hots’ 
published a small collection of poems devoted to the Providnyk, titled Stepan’s 
Birthday.92 

The museum was opened on 4 January 1999 and became the Stepan Bandera 
Museum: Centre of National-Patriotic Education (Muzei Stepana Bandery: Tsentr 
natsional’no-patryiotychnoho vykhovannia). During the opening ceremony, the 
museum was blessed by a priest from the Greek Catholic Church and one from the 
Ukrainian Autocephalous Orthodox Church. On the same day, the two priests also 
blessed an oblong black granite stone, which bore the inscription: “At this Place the 
Stepan Bandera Monument Will Be Erected.” The stone was located in front of the 
old building of the LNAU, in the middle of a square where a monument to Lenin had 
stood. The opening ceremony of the museum and the blessing of the stone were at-
tended by such personalities as Slava Stets’ko, Iurii Shukhevych, Vasyl’ Kuk, and 
Ivan Hel’, and by a group of UPA veterans with Bandera banners and blue-and-
yellow and red-and-black flags.93 

The actual monument was not unveiled until 2002. It was a statue about three 
and a half meters (eleven feet) high, prepared by the sculptor Iaroslav Loza, his son 
Volodymyr, and the architects Mykola Shpak and Volodymyr Bliusiuk. The statue 
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showed Bandera wearing a suit and an unbuttoned knee-length coat. He was shown 
as a student in the early 1930s but in the pose of a thinker or romantic poet. His head 
and right leg were turned to the right, but his torso and left leg remained straight. He 
did not appear to be moving in the direction in which he was looking. His right hand 
was on his heart and he was holding a book in his left. The symbolism of the gesture 
suggested love for Ukraine and the Ukrainian people and a devotion to knowledge 
and science.94 

At the unveiling on 5 October 2002, a number of nationalist activists appeared 
again in Dubliany. The monument was blessed by Greek Catholic and Orthodox 
priests. “It is an honor for us to unveil this monument at our academy where Stepan 
Bandera once studied,” Snityns’kyi stated in his speech and continued: 

Not only the heroic UPA fighters who opposed the most powerful totalitarian 
regimes of the twentieth century, the Nazi and communist ones, were named after 
him but also all fighters for the independence of Ukraine in the following gener-
ations. Therefore the memory of him obliges us to self-sacrificing work in the 
name of the development of our state.95 

Iurii Shukhevych stressed in his speech that, although Bandera had spent much 
time in Polish and German prisons, he had remained the spiritual leader of the UPA. 
He encouraged the gathering to remain faithful to Bandera’s principles. Other 
prominent speakers included the leader of the Brotherhood of OUN-UPA Fighters, 
Oles’ Humeniuk; the head of the Lviv KUN organization, Mykhailo Vovk; the head of 
the Lviv city council, Liubomyr Buniak; Bandera’s relatives, Myroslava Shtumf and 
Zenovii Davydiuk, and a number of deputies, among them the radical right and 
populist politician Oleh Tiahnybok.96 The artistic part of the celebration was per-
formed by the vocal group Sokil, which recited the poem “Stepan Bandera” by Petro 
Hots’. The poem informed the celebrants that Bandera “was given to us by heaven as 
a symbol.”97 Some students were dressed in folk costumes and carried flowers to the 
monument. Other students lined the way to the monument. UPA veterans appeared 
at the ceremony in uniform, carrying blue-and-yellow and red-and-black flags, or 
Bandera banners.98 

The Bandera museum opened in Dubliany in 1999 was located in two rooms in 
the new building of the LNAU. One room was about twelve square meters (130 
square feet), the other about thirty square meters (323 square feet). According to 
Snityns’kyi the fundamental idea of the museum was the “personalization of 
[Ukrainian] history” by means of the Ukrainian Providnyk Stepan Bandera.99 Hots’, 
the director and sole employee of the museum, tried to accomplish this task by 
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Fig. 54. Stepan Bandera Museum: 

 Centre of National-Patriotic Education in the LNAU in Dubliany. 
 

embedding Bandera’s biography in a narrative of Ukrainian history that was reduced 
to the “national-revolutionary liberation struggle for an independent Ukraine.” This 
history was presented in the museum in twenty-four display cases, each of which 
contained pictures with a brief description. The majority of the pictures were pho-
tocopies of photographs printed in diaspora publications by OUN activists such as 
Mirchuk. The exhibition was divided into four parts: Bandera’s youth and family, the 
student period, the OUN and UPA, and the assassination and rebirth. Each part was 
embedded in a narrative that characterized the Ukrainian people and the Ukrainian 
nationalists as victims, with the help of the history of the Bandera family. Parts of the 
exhibition paid special attention to the nationalists who studied in Dubliany. A des-
criptive analysis of the exhibition allows us to see how those who constructed it un-
derstood Bandera and intended to represent him (Fig. 54). 

The first display case was devoted to Bandera’s father Andrii. It depicted him as a 
person who lived a pious and spiritual life, struggled for Ukraine, helped shape the 
Providnyk, and died for Ukraine when he was executed by the Soviets in July 1941. It 
exhibited pictures of objects relating to Andrii Bandera, such as the church in which 
he served, and photocopies of archival documents reprinted in diaspora publications. 
The next display case held pictures of Bandera’s three sisters and three brothers. 
Their pictures were located around one of the Providnyk. A further display case bore 
the inscription “The Tragic Fate of the Family” and exhibited pictures of Bandera’s 
sisters and other relatives as well. The “tragic fate of the family” was also an essential 
component of guided tours through the museum. These were conducted by the 
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director, Hots’, who retired in 2007, and by his successor, Oksana Horda, a professor 
of Ukrainian studies at the LUAN. Like the OUN émigrés and post-Soviet nationalist 
historians on whom they based their knowledge, Hots’ and Horda emphasized the 
suffering of the Bandera family in order to portray Ukrainians, and in particular 
Ukrainian nationalists, as victims of the Soviet and Nazi regimes. A display case 
titled “In the Home Village” contained pictures of the graves of Bandera’s sister and 
mother, OUN and UPA members from Staryi Uhryniv, a village church, and Bandera 
among young Ukrainians in Staryi Uhryniv. Another one titled “Home Nest” indi-
cated that, despite the “tragic fate,” the Bandera family did not pass into oblivion. It 
held pictures of the first and third Bandera monuments in Staryi Uhryniv, a piece of 
the destroyed first monument, the old and rebuilt building of the Bandera museum 
in Staryi Uhryniv, a memorial plaque in the house of Bandera’s birth, a well close to 
the house of Bandera’s family in Staryi Uhryniv, and a rebuilt chapel close to the 
building.100 

The section of the exhibition relating to Bandera’s education indicated that, after 
Ukraine became independent, the spirit of the Providnyk returned to his former 
educational institutions. A picture of the high school in Stryi attended by Bandera in 
the 1920s showed a monument to the Providnyk in front of the building. Other pic-
tures showed Bandera’s fellow-pupils who became OUN members, such as Stepan 
Lenkavs’kyi, Zenon Kossak, and Stepan Okhrymovych. Another display case showed 
the student residence where Bandera lived in Lviv, the Polytechnic building in Lviv, 
and Bandera’s course record books. Two further display cases, devoted to his studies 
in Lviv and Dubliany, showed various student residences and local houses in which 
Bandera lived or ate, the Bandera monument at the campus of the LNAU, and also 
Iosyf Tushnyts’kyi, a local resident who claimed to remember the legendary 
nationalist student. The director placed his poem “Stepan Bandera in Dubliany” 
among the pictures. All in all, this part of the exhibition made it clear that the places 
that were once touched by Bandera’s foot were to remain special. Students were to be 
made aware that the young Providnyk and “freedom fighter” studied, lived, or dined 
in them. 

The part of the exhibition devoted to the revolutionary struggle of the OUN began 
with a display case titled “Those Who Sacrificed Their Lives for Ukraine.” It included 
Ol’ha Basarab, the first UVO member who became a famous martyr; Mykola Lemyk, 
who assassinated the secretary of the Soviet consulate; Hryhorii Matseiko, Pieracki’s 
assassin, and other OUN martyrs and heroes. A further display case introduced the 
arrest of Bandera in 1934 and the trials in Warsaw and Lviv. It displayed a picture of 
the student residence where Bandera was arrested, copies of documents, and a 
picture of Lviv University, which it erroneously described as the “building of the 
district court in which many Ukrainian nationalists were sentenced.” A visitor 
interested in learning why Bandera was arrested and sentenced or what happened 
during the trials in Warsaw and Lviv did not find any such information in the exhibi-
tion. 
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The display case titled “The Renewal of the Ukrainian State” bore in the middle 
an amended version of the “Act of the Renewal of the Ukrainian State of 30 June 
1941.” The exhibited version omitted the phrase about close collaboration with 
“National Socialist Great Germany, which under the leadership of Adolf Hitler, is 
creating a new order in Europe.”101 Pictures of such OUN members as Stets’ko, 
Lebed’, Shukhevych, Klymiv, and Rebet surrounded the fabricated text. The display 
case devoted to the OUN task forces who marched through Ukraine after the German 
attack on the Soviet Union showed pictures of some members of these units, such as 
Klymyshyn and Stakhiv. Like the previous case, it did not contain any information 
about the fascistization of the OUN, its collaboration with Nazi Germany, its 
involvement in the pogroms of July 1941, or its attempts to establish a fascist state 
that the OUN-B wanted to “cleanse” of non-Ukrainians. 

As in the London museum, the UPA occupied an important place in the Dubliany 
museum, although Bandera never led or even joined this army, was only its spiritual 
leader, and had a rather marginal impact on its policies. In the middle of one display 
case devoted to the nationalist insurgents, the creator of the museum placed the 
portrait of UPA partisan Danylo Kuz’mins’kyi, a graduate of the Lviv Polytechnic and 
its branch in Dubliany. The portrait was surrounded by pictures of other UPA parti-
sans, with very brief descriptions containing names, pseudonyms, and dates and 
places of birth. Another display case introduced the medical service of the UPA. It 
presented a number of portraits of mainly female UPA partisans who tended the 
wounded partisans, and a picture of a priest behind sickbeds. The picture was de-
scribed as a UPA hospital. The inscriptions informed visitors how many years a par-
ticular UPA member spent in Soviet prisons or Gulag for serving in the UPA. A 
further display case exhibited UPA propaganda. It showed portraits of propaganda 
officers such as Petro Fedun, photocopies of propaganda documents, the text of the 
oath of a UPA partisan, and a picture of a partisan taking an oath in 1944. The last 
UPA display case introduced the UPA leaders, with Kliachkivs’kyi and Shukhevych in 
the center. The ethnic and political violence conducted by the UPA under the leader-
ship of Kliachkivs’kyi and Shukhevych was not included in the exhibition. Unlike the 
OUN and UPA atrocities, the NKVD crimes were not omitted. On the contrary, this 
part of the exhibition contained quite a quantity of text and explained extensively 
how the Soviet police mistreated and killed Ukrainian civilians and destroyed the 
nationalist underground. The exhibition interrelated these atrocities with the assas-
sination of Bandera, which symbolized the suffering of Ukraine and the most tragic 
moment in its history. 

The last part of the exhibition portrayed Bandera’s life in exile, his funeral, and 
his resurrection in independent Ukraine. One display case showed pictures of Ban-
dera with journalists, and his journalist identification cards. Another featured pic-
tures that presented Bandera as a father who loved his wife and children, a man who 
liked to joke with friends, and a devoted politician who never ceased working on the 
 

 
101  For the original document, see “Akt proholoshennia ukraїns’koї derzhavy,” 30 June 1941, TsDAVOV f. 

3833, op. 1, spr. 5, 3. 
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 Ukrainian revolution. The display case devoted to the assassination and funeral pre-
sented pictures of the large cross on Bandera’s grave in Munich, and a picture of the 
Providnyk’s death mask. The last two display cases familiarized visitors with recent 
history, in particular Bandera’s post-Soviet rebirth. One of them contained a poem by 
Hots’, dedicated to the Providnyk, titled “This Man Was an Entire Era.” The poem 
was surrounded by pictures of Bandera monuments in Stryi, Staryi Uhryniv, Borys-
lav, and several other western Ukrainian locations. 

The narrative of the exhibition suggested that Bandera had been resurrected in 
Ukraine because he led the “national liberation struggle,” fell in the struggle for 
Ukraine’s independence, and became the symbol of an entire epoch of heroes and 
martyrs. The selectiveness of the exhibition narrative, in particular the omission of 
the atrocities committed by the OUN and UPA, was necessary to portray Bandera 
and the “Bandera generation” as brave and tragic heroes. Bandera’s family played an 
important part in the exhibition because many of its members suffered at the hands 
of the Soviet and Nazi regimes. The family history strengthened the narrative of 
victimization and enabled the museum visitors to identify with the OUN and UPA as 
victims of the two regimes. 

In addition to the mounted display cases, the museum also exhibited various ob-
jects in twelve standing display cases, and on a table and a chair located in the 
smaller room, which was also the office of the museum director. A considerable 
number of the exhibited objects were nationalist publications about Bandera and the 
OUN and UPA, which had appeared in the diaspora or in Ukraine after 1991. Some of 
them lay open in the display cases and showed photographs of Shelepin and Sta-
shyns’kyi and the order that Stashyns’kyi received from Shelepin to murder Bandera. 
Other items included various devotional objects, such as posters, stamps, plates, 
postcards, and calendars with pictures of Bandera monuments, museums, and mem-
orial plaques. A small bust, a videotape of Oles’ Ianchuk’s film Assassination: An 
Autumn Murder in Munich, and a UPA uniform were another significant part of the 
exhibition. Issues of the newspaper News from the Stepan Bandera Museum in 
Dubliany, a portrait of the LNAU rector Snityns’kyi, pictures of some famous visi-
tors, newspaper articles about Bandera and his family, pictures of diaspora 
commemorations at Bandera’s grave, diaspora journals such as Vyzvol’nyi shliakh, 
brochures of such neo-fascist organizations as the “social-nationalist organization” 
Patriot Ukraïny, and pictures and figures of saints were located among the diaspora 
publications or between the display cases. 

The exhibits were collected in order to refute the Soviet image of Bandera and to 
invent a contradictory one, which however, despite its positive nature, very much 
resembled the Soviet version. A closer look at the exhibition, the arrangement of 
exhibits, and the director’s narrative suggest that some of the items such as soil, a 
symbol of ethnic nationalism, were regarded as particularly important. The soil—
from Staryi Uhryniv, the birthplace of the Providnyk—was exhibited in a small bowl, 
which stands among pictures of Bandera’s blood-stained suit, and a tape with his 
voice. Other very significant objects were the pictures of Bandera’s grandson Stephen 
(Stepan) who, after 1991, became a kind of reincarnated Providnyk and a new star of 
Ukrainian nationalism. He was frequently invited as an honored guest to monument 
unveilings and museum openings, and other nationalist celebrations. 
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Fig. 55. Central Composition in the Stepan Bandera Museum: 

Centre of National-Patriotic Education in the LNAU in Dubliany. 

The guided tour through the museum was based on the exhibits and the exhibited 
publications. The guides, Petro Hots’ and Oksana Horda,102 concentrated on the Ban-
dera family and the person of Stepan Bandera, in particular on their suffering under 
the Soviet regime. Bandera was presented as a person who objected to alcoholism 
and smoking, in order to give a good example to the students of the LUAN. A type-
writer used by the UPA was introduced by Horda as one on which members of the 
“Ukrainian national revolutionary liberation movement” wrote leaflets to discourage 
alcoholism and smoking, which were introduced to Ukraine by the Poles and Rus-
sians. She also pointed out that in Soviet times people believed that the OUN-UPA 
used typewriters to produce lists of people whom they planned to execute, but acc-
ording to her, it was obviously not true. Although the OUN and UPA were an impor-
tant part of the guided museum narrative, the mass violence practiced by them was 
  
 

 
102  I attended three guided tours through the museum, the first one in 2004 and the second one in 2006 

led by Petro Hots’, the first director of the museum. The third one in 2008 was led by Oksana Horda, 
the second director. The three tours did not differ considerably. 



488 Stepan Bandera: The Life and Afterlife of a Ukrainian Nationalist 

 

  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig. 56. P. Zaichenko’s portrait of Stepan Bandera in the Stepan Bandera Museum: 

Centre of National-Patriotic Education in the LNAU in Dubliany. 

not mentioned during the guided tours. Only the museum booklet mentioned that 
Bandera was involved in “assassinations of enemies of the Ukrainian nation,” with-
out providing any details about the enemies or why they had to be killed.103 

The religious components of the museum were noticeable not only in the pictures 
and figures of saints but also on the altar-like composition on the central wall of the 
museum (Fig. 55). The composition included a miniature of the statue at the Bandera 
monument in Dubliany, which stood, with flowers, on a 1.5-meter-high (five-foot) 
flower stand. Behind the stand, red-and-black and blue-and-yellow flags were fixed 
to the wall and formed a V. Between the flags, above the Bandera statue hung a por-
trait of a person, who to some extent resembles Bandera, but could just as well depict 
somebody else (Fig. 56). The museum directors and Snityns’kyi, who purchased the 
portrait, claimed that the portrait depicted Bandera, although the physiognomy of 
the person does not necessarily confirm this assumption. Also the inscription “P. 
Zaichenko, 1945” and Snityns’kyi’s claim that Bandera posed for the portrait, being at 
 

 
103  Hots’, Muzei Stepana Bandery v Dublianakh, 11, 18; Bandera, Moї zhyttiepysni dani, 5. 
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Fig. 57. The scene of blessing the “foundation stone” for the Bandera monument 
in Dubliany by Mykola Horda. 

 

that time in western Ukraine, do not confirm it. They rather suggest that someone 
else took the place of the Providnyk in the most symbolic part of the museum. 

Another central historical painting in the museum portrayed the scene of 
blessing the “foundation stone” for the Bandera monument in Dubliany on 4 January 
1999. Its author Mykola Horda had worked before 1991 as an artist in a Soviet 
factory. After 1991 he began painting various Ukrainian nationalist motifs. In 1999 he 
was asked by Hots’, the director of the Bandera museum, whether he would be 
willing to prepare a historical painting for the museum. As the Bandera monument in 
Dubliany was under construction at that time, Hots’ decided to immortalize the 
noble scene of blessing the black granite foundation stone. The source for the 
painting was a dull and unimpressive photograph of the Greek Catholic priest 
blessing the stone. However, with the help of Hots’, Horda provided it with much 
symbolism and transformed it into an emotive and symbolic painting (Fig. 57).104 

In the center of the painting, Horda placed the Greek Catholic and Orthodox 
priests, together with Snityns’kyi holding a microphone. On the table next to the 
black granite stone and in front of the priests, the painter immortalized the red fruits 
of the guelder rose, which is one of the most significant symbols of Ukraine, a can of 
earth from Bandera’s home village, and a plastic bag with earth from Bandera’s 
grave. At the sides and behind the three central figures, a number of other personali-
ties appear, some of whom, such as the Bandera biographer Hordasevych, did not 
attend the ceremony but were included because of their symbolic significance. On 
one side of Snityns’kyi, Horda painted the head of Slava Stets’ko in a fur cap; on the 
other, the head of Iurii Shukhevych, one of the few who appeared in the original 
photograph. Between Stets’ko and the Greek Catholic priest, the painter placed Vasyl’ 
Kuk, former commander of the UPA, and Oleksandr Semkovych, professor at the 

 
104  Mykola Horda, interview by author, Lviv, 16 May 2008. 
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LNAU. Between the two priests he included the poet Oles’ Angeliuk, and further to 
the right of the Orthodox priest, the poet Ivan Hubka, Hordasevych, and finally the 
poet Ivan Hnatiuk with the Black Book of Ukraine, which symbolizes the crimes of 
the Soviet regime and the suffering of the Ukrainian nation. Horda also immortalized 
the sculptor Iaroslav Loza, a few professors of the LUAN, UPA veterans, and two 
children, one of whom seems to be enjoying the ceremony. To the left of Snityns’kyi 
and Shukhevych, the artist located the museum director Hots’, staring, like Stets’ko 
and Hordasevych, directly at the painter. With him are the nationalist dissident Ivan 
Hel’, a boy holding the university edition of Hordasevych’s Stepan Bandera: Human 
and Myth, and Anzhela Kuza, professor of Ukrainian language and literature at the 
LUAN, whose husband complained to the painter that his wife was really much more 
beautiful than in the painting and asked him to repaint her image several times.105 

Although the museum was not located in Lviv but in a small suburb, it was not 
completely unnoticed. In December 2007, eight years after the opening, the museum 
newspaper wrote that 43,000 people had visited the museum, among them several 
dozen local and national politicians.106 Every first-grade student of the LANU made a 
two-hour excursion to this nationalist temple.107 The museum did not have an inter-
net presence, but the Bandera monument was presented next to the university logo 
at the official website of the LANU.108 

Volia Zaderevats’ka and Staryi Uhryniv 

In addition to the museum in Dubliany, two other museums devoted to the Provid-
nyk were opened in the 1990s: one in Volia Zaderevats’ka on 14 October 1990, and a 
second in Staryi Uhryniv in 1993.109 The museum in Volia Zaderevats’ka was opened 
on 14 October 1990 in the house in which Bandera’s family lived between 1933 and 
1936. The house was in the immediate vicinity of the church where Bandera’s father 
worked as a priest for a few years. The museum was established by the dissident 
movement Rukh and by OUN member Zynovii Krasivs’kyi. In 1995 Mykhailo Bala-
bans’kyi, graduate of a music school, became the director. Like Hots’, Balabans’kyi 
defined his historical education as nationalism. “There is a very strong nationalism in 
my soul,” he said in an interview. As a child, he sewed caps for the UPA partisans and 
later read Soviet publications on the OUN-UPA, which infuriated him. In 1997 in 
front of the museum, Balabans’kyi built a Bandera monument, which consisted of an 
oversized head of Bandera, placed on a rock. Five years later, he built a “boulevard 
for the fighters for Ukraine” (aleia bortsiv za Ukraїnu), which leads visitors from the 
gate to the museum door. The boulevard consisted of six white concrete plates, each 
about 2.5 meters (eight feet) high. One of them held a short quotation from Petliura, 

 
105  Mykola Horda, interview by author, Lviv, 16 May 2008. 
106  “Z litopysu zhyttia muzeiu,” Visti Muzeiu Stepana Bandery v Dublianakh, December 2007, 1. 
107  Oksana Horda, interview by author, Dubliany, 14 May 2008. 
108  http://lnau.lviv.ua/ (accessed 31 August 2011). 
109  A further museum, which I did not inspect, was opened in early 2008 in the former premises of the 

high school in Stryi, attended by Bandera in the 1920s, now used by School number 7. This museum is 
called the Stepan Bandera Virtual Museum. See http://school7.ho.ua/virtual_museum.html (ac-
cessed 16 September 2011). 



 Chapter 10: Return to Ukraine 491 

 

and five other concrete plates held cast bronze portraits of Petliura, Konovalets’, 
Shukhevych, Stets’ko, and Oleksa Hasyn.110 

The exhibit at the museum does not differ substantially from that in Dubliany. 
The family history was embedded in the history of the “national-revolutionary lib-
eration movement.” Among the exhibits were various OUN-UPA propaganda 
materials, a typewriter on which “anti-Bolshevik leaflets” were drafted, a few pieces 
of furniture that belonged to the Bandera family, portraits of Ukrainian nationalists, 
pieces of clothing that belonged to Bandera’s father, uniforms of UPA partisans, and 
portraits of various saints. The director of the museum informed me that “people 
come to the museum as to a church.”111 

The main Bandera museum in Ukraine was built in Staryi Uhryniv, Bandera’s 
birthplace. The museum was originally located in a small house with a memorial 
plaque: “Stepan Bandera, The Great Son of Ukraine, the Leader of the OUN, Was 
Born in this House.” In 2000 the museum moved to a new and eye-catching three-
story building built in a Carpathian style close to the old museum building and the 
Bandera monument. It included a café, conference room, library, and archive. The 
exhibition in the new museum was no less ideological than the exhibitions in Dub-
liany and Volia Zaderevats’ka. The main difference was the size and number of 
collected objects. Unlike the other two, the Staryi Uhryniv museum possessed a col-
lection of archival documents from the 1920s and 1930s and some original personal 
documents of Bandera, such as his IDs from the 1940s and 1950s. The Staryi Uhryniv 
museum also edited its own journal, Bandera’s Country (Banderivs’kyi krai), in 
which various academic and political articles appeared.112 

The Bandera museums were erected in the eastern Galician part of Ukraine, to 
popularize the Bandera cult, promote nationalism, and strengthen the nationalist 
version of Ukrainian identity. Their heroic aesthetics resembled the former Soviet 
museums devoted to the heroes of the Soviet Union, although they opposed the for-
mer Soviet narratives. In contrast to the London museum, the Ukrainian museums 
paid much attention to the Bandera family and not only to the Providnyk and the 
OUN-UPA. This element was particularly important in the museum in Volia Zadere-
vats’ka, which was set up in the former house of the Bandera family. The museums 
used the family extensively as an exhibition motif, because its suffering fortified the 
nationalist victimization narrative. It also enabled the visitors to better identify with 
Bandera and the Ukrainian nationalists. The museum exhibitions, similarly to Ban-
dera’s hagiographies, did not address the question of Bandera’s world view, the OUN 
ideology and the atrocities committed by the OUN and UPA. Religion was very visi-
ble and significant in all post-Soviet Bandera museums. It merged with nationalism 
and transformed the museums into shrines promoting nationalism and denial. 

 
110  Mykhailo Balabans’kyi, Muzei-Sadyba Stepana Bandery v seli Volia-Zaderevats’ka (Volia Za-

derevats’ka, 2000), 91. 
111  Mykhailo Balabans’kyi, interview by author, Volia Zaderevats’ka, 9 May 2008. 
112  I visited the museum in 2004 and 2008. 



492 Stepan Bandera: The Life and Afterlife of a Ukrainian Nationalist 

 

Bandera Streets, Plaques and Monuments 

Renaming streets and erecting plaques and monuments in honor of Bandera has 
been another important form of the Bandera cult in post-Soviet Ukraine. Such 
streets, monuments, and plaques have been used to mark areas of public space, to 
indicate change in the political system, or to honor the Providnyk, his followers, and 
his revolutionary ideas. Ukrainian nationalist monuments and street names are in-
tended to indicate that public space, after centuries of “national liberation struggle,” 
finally belongs to the Ukrainians. They also invite Ukrainians to identify themselves 
with Bandera, and to understand themselves to be Banderites, even half a century 
after the death of the Providnyk. The erection of monuments and renaming of streets 
is also a part of the invention of a new collective identity—an anti-Soviet, anticom-
munist, anti-Russian, Ukrainian nationalist identity. The Soviet authorities under-
stood this process and continued to destroy the first nationalist monuments before 
leaving western Ukraine. 

The first Bandera monument, as already described, was erected in Staryi Uhryniv 
on 14 October 1990. It was prepared quickly in semi-underground conditions by local 
nationalist activists and dissidents. Its unveiling ceremony attracted about 10,000 
people who listened to the speeches, waved blue-and-yellow or red-and-black flags 
and sang OUN-UPA songs. After the first monument was blown up on 30 December 
1990, the next one was unveiled on 30 June 1991. The unveiling again attracted 
about 10,000 people and the demolition took place on 10 July 1991. The third, a 
bronze statue recast from a Lenin statue, was unveiled on 17 August 1992 and has 
remained until the time of writing this book.113 

During the following two decades, far-right activists and local politicians unveiled 
a number of Bandera monuments, busts, and plaques in the three eastern Galician 
oblasts of Ukraine: Lviv, Ivano-Frankivs’k, and Ternopil’. Some of the locations in 
these three oblasts were Berezhany, Beriv, Boryslav, Chervonohrad, Drohobych, 
Dubliany, Hrabivka, Ivano-Frankivs’k, Kolomyia, Kozivka, Lviv, Krements, Mykyty-
nytsi, Mostys’ka, Sambir, Stryi, Stusiv, Terebovlia, Ternopil’, Volia Zaderevats’ka, 
and Zalishchyky. Some monuments were unveiled in 1991, as in Kolomyia, others in 
1992 as in Stryi, several around 1999, the year of the ninetieth anniversary of Ban-
dera’s birth and the fortieth of his death, as in Drohobych and Dubliany, and a num-
ber were built ten years afterwards, around the hundredth anniversary of his birth 
and the fiftieth of his death, as in Ivano-Frankivs’k (Fig. 58), Lviv (Fig. 59), and 
Ternopil’. Some of them were located in symbolic places. In Drohobych, for example, 
the Bandera statue was constructed in the zone of the former Jewish ghetto, and in 
Ivano-Frankivs’k in European Square, between Bandera and Konovalets’ Streets. All 
Bandera monuments are located in the three oblasts of Ivano-Frankivs’k, Lviv, and 
Ternopil’, which are the territory of the former eastern Galicia. Nevertheless, cities 
outside these three oblasts, such as Rivne and Luts’k, Chernivtsi in Bukovina, and 
Kiev, also considered erecting Bandera monuments shortly before or after the 
  

 
113  Stepan Lesiv, interview by author, Staryi Uhryniv, 18 May 2008. See below the subsection “The First 

Bandera Monument in Ukraine.” 
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Fig. 58. The Bandera monument in Ivano-Frankivs’k unveiled on 1 January 2009. 

hundredth anniversary of his birth and fiftieth of his death, in 2009. The initiative 
toerect Bandera monuments outside eastern Galicia frequently came from far-right 
organizations and parties like Tryzub and Svoboda, which, unlike in eastern Galicia, 
did not belong to the political mainstream.114  

Some municipal and oblast councils, not only in eastern Ukraine, categorically 
dismissed proposals to erect a Bandera monument. The city council of Uzhhorod, 
capital of the Zakarpattia Oblast, which in the interwar period was a part of Czecho-
slovakia, rejected the proposal of the Council of the Ternopil’ Oblast to erect a 
Bandera monument in Uzhhorod, with the argument that “we do not share the fas-
cination with the personality and the attempt to idealize the citizen of the Austrian-
Hungarian Empire Stepan Bandera. We are a multinational oblast and thus we 
consider agitation for any radical actions as outrageous.”115 

Naming streets after Bandera and other Ukrainian nationalists became a very 
popular activity after 1991. It was even more popular than the erection of monu-
ments, because of the difference in cost. Western Ukrainian cities outside eastern 
Galicia, such as Kovel’ and Volodymyr-Volyns’kyi, which did not erect monuments to 
the Providnyk, named streets after him. In some locations, a street named after him 

 
114  For Bandera monuments, see the exhibition of the Bandera museum in Dubliany. On Drohobych, see 

Omer Bartov, Erased: Vanishing Traces of Jewish Galicia in Present-Day Ukraine (Princeton: 
Princeton University Press, 2007), 208. On Ivano-Frankivs’k, see “V Ivano-Frankivs’ku v urochystii 
obstanovtsi vidkryly pam”iatnyk providnykovi OUN Stepanu Banderi,” 2 January 2009, http:// 
vidgolos.com/623-v-ivano-frankivsku-v-urochistijj-obstanovci.html (accessed 17 October 2011). 

115  “V Uzhorodi vidmovliaiut’sia stavyty pam”iatnyk Banderi, 10 April 2009, http://www.unian.net/ukr/ 
news/news-310592.html (accessed 17 October 2011). 
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would lead to his monument or to another important nationalist monument. In ad-
dition to Bandera monuments, local nationalist activists also erected many monu-
ments and plaques devoted to other OUN members and UPA partisans and named 
streets after them as well. Events from the history of Ukrainian nationalism, such as 
the Act of 30 June 1941, were displayed on plaques, for instance on the Prosvita 
building in the Lviv Rynok square. In Lviv, two streets were even named after the 
same UPA leader: one became Roman Shukhevych Street and the other General 
Chuprynka Street, derived from Shukhevych’s nom de guerre. 

Among the other Ukrainian “heroes” from the OUN or UPA who were given mon-
uments, were war criminals such as Dmytro Kliachkivs’kyi, who initiated the ethnic 
cleansing in Volhynia in early 1943. One monument devoted to Kliachkivs’kyi was 
unveiled in Zbarazh in 1995 and another one in Rivne in 2002. In addition, a number 
of streets were named after him. Without permission, Ukrainian nationalists also 
erected monuments in the Polish Beskids in order to commemorate the UPA parti-
sans who fell in 1947, fighting against Polish soldiers. In 2007 the Main Department 
for Tourism and Culture in the Administration of the Ivano-Frankivs’k Oblast re-
leased a tourist guide called On the Paths of the Ukrainian Insurgent Army, with the 
help of which one could travel for weeks, if not months, from one OUN-UPA monu-
ment to another, or from a UPA museum to a Bandera museum, or stay in towns and 
cities walking only through streets with nationalist names.116 

In Munich, a memorial plaque in German and Ukrainian was unveiled in the 
name of President Iushchenko, on the facade of the ZCh OUN building at Zeppelin-
strasse 67, in honor of Iaroslav and Iaroslava Stets’ko.117 In 2002 the Lviv Regional 
State Administration established a commission to build a lane for prominent Ukrai-
nians at the Lychakivs’kyi cemetery in Lviv, where it was planned that Bandera, 
Konovalets’, and Mel’nyk were to be reinterred. The commission intended to com-
plete the work by 2008 but the plan did not work out.118 In early 2008, the Council of 
the Ternopil’ Oblast expressed its intention to reinter Bandera in Staryi Uhryniv in 
2009.119 

The largest Bandera monument was erected in Lviv. It took several years to ac-
complish this task, which was initiated shortly after the collapse of the Soviet Union, 
when a massive grey stone with the inscription “A Monument to Stepan Bandera Will 
Stand Here” was placed in Kropyvnyts’kyi Square next to the neo-gothic building of 
the former Roman Catholic Elisabeth Church. The square lies on Horodots’ka Street, 
one of the main streets in Lviv, connecting the center with the railway station. On the 
other side of the square is Bandera Street, which has borne this name since 1992. It 
connects the Bandera monument with the Polytechnic, where Bandera studied in the 

 
116  Cf. R. Handziuk, Stezhkamy Ukraїns’koї Povstans’koї Armiї: Turystychnyi Putivnyk (Ivano-

Frankivs’k: Misto NV, 2007). For the UPA monuments in Poland, see Józef Matusz, “Nielegalnie czczą 
pamięć UPA,” Rzeczpospolita, 18 October 2008, http://www.rp.pl/artykul/206382.html (accessed 15 
October 2011). 

117  There is a slight discrepancy between the German text, which contains the word “Freiheit” (freedom), 
and the Ukrainian text, which uses “samostiinist’” (independence). 

118  “Na Lychakivs’komu kladovyshchi pokhovaiut’ ostanky zhertv komunistychnykh represii,” 23 October 
2006, http://ua.korrespondent.net/ukraine/277943 (accessed 12 October 2011). 

119  “Zemliaky Bandery za perekhovannia Bandery v ridnomu seli,” 27 January 2008, http://h.ua/story/ 
80500/ (accessed 17 October 2011). 
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early 1930s. Bandera Street also connects the monument with Ievhen Konovalets’ 
Street and General Chuprynka Street. One reason for choosing Kropyvnyts’kyi 
Square as a location for a Bandera monument was, according to its planners, to sig-
nal to visitors of Lviv that they are in the “Bandera city,” in Ukrainian “Bander-
shtat.”120 

The process of setting up the monument was initiated and conducted by the 
Society to Erect the Stepan Bandera Monument (Komitet iz sporudzhennia 
pam”iatnyka Stepanu Banderi, KiSPSB) whose head, from 2002 until the opening of 
the monument in 2007, was Andrii Parubii, one of the founders of the ultranational-
ist SNPU, in 2006 a deputy in the Lviv oblast council (L’vivs’ka oblasna rada) and, 
since 2007, a deputy in the Ukrainian Parliament as a member of the Nasha Ukraїna 
(Our Ukraine) Party. The KiSPSB included such organizations as the Brotherhood of 
OUN-UPA Fighters, the Union of Political Prisoners, Prosvita, and, according to 
Parubii, the “whole intelligentsia of Lviv.”121 

Unlike in other cities, the process of erecting the monument in Lviv took several 
years. First the KiSPSB organized seven competitions, which took ten years. It was 
only in 2002 that the KiSPSB chose a project by the architects Mykhailo Fedyk and 
Iurii Stoliarov, the sculptor Mykhailo Prosikira, and the builder Hryhorii Shevchuk. 
The project was not only a Bandera figure on a pedestal but a kind of complex, mix-
ing monumental fascist and post-Soviet aesthetics. One element of the complex was a 
statue of Bandera, 4.2 meters (fourteen feet) high, which was placed on a granite 
pedestal 1.8 meters (six feet) high, with a golden inscription of the name Stepan 
Bandera. The second element in the monument was a “triumphal arch,” 28.5 meters 
(ninety-four feet) high, which, according to Parubii, would “render the spirit of that 
[Bandera] epoch” and, according to the architect Fedyk, was “post-modern.” The 
actual plan was to erect an arch thirty meters (ninety-eight feet) high, in order to 
achieve the size of the highest Soviet monument in Lviv, the Glory Monument from 
1970, which honors the Red Army.122 

As in Dubliany, the designers of the Lviv monument decided to place Bandera’s 
right hand on his heart. His left arm hangs down with a clenched fist. Bandera 
appears to be about twenty-five years old. He is dressed in an open coat, a suit, and a 
tie. His face appears thoughtful. The wind, which moves the lower edges of his coat 
slightly backward and to the right, gives some dynamic to the statue. The attic of the 
triumphal arch bears a gold trident. The four columns of the triumphal arch symbol-
ize four epochs in the history of the Ukrainian nation: the Kievan Rus’ and the King-
dom of Galicia and Volhynia, the Cossack epoch, the 1917–1920 struggle and the 
short existence of the ZUNR, and finally, the period after the collapse of the Soviet 
Union.123 
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Bandera was placed in front of the triumphal arch with historical plaques because 
he was, according to Parubii and Fedyk, the most important person in Ukrainian 
history. Bandera’s “revolutionary methods,” according to Parubii, should not be 
condemned, because they corresponded with the epoch in which he lived. Moreover, 
since every nation has a right to a “liberation struggle,” other nations should not 
interfere in the traditions, culture, and internal affairs of this particular nation but 
should allow this community to celebrate every kind of hero and to approve of this 
invention of a heroic tradition.124 

The Lviv Bandera monument was unveiled on 13 October 2007, the sixty-fifth an-
niversary of the founding of the UPA. At that time, the construction of the complex 
was not entirely finished. The statue was on the pedestal but the triumphal arch 
behind the monument consisted only of a steel framework. It lacked the granite slabs 
and was therefore covered by two red-and-black and two blue-and-yellow pieces of 
cloth. Celebrants with orange flags of Our Ukraine, flags of the Svoboda Party, flags 
of various regional KUN branches and several other nationalist parties, organiza-
tions, and unions, and naturally blue-and-yellow and red-and-black flags, 
surrounded the monument. In the immediate vicinity of the celebrants stood UPA 
veterans in uniforms that must have been designed and sewn after 1990, as the UPA 
did not have standard uniforms in the 1940s. Several dozen young people in Plast 
uniforms and in plain clothes also came to the ceremony. Some celebrants carried 
Bandera banners or held books such as Tsar’s Bandera hagiography, For What We 
Love Bandera. Between the speeches that were delivered, a group of men, in histori-
cal, possibly seventeenth-century outfits, fired volleys from rifles and pistols.125 

The monument, covered with a white sheet, was unveiled by the head of the 
KiSPSB, Andrii Parubii; the head of the KiSPSB from 1998 till 2002, Iaroslav Pitko; 
the founder of the KiSPSB, Iaroslav Svatko; the head of the Brotherhood of OUN-
UPA Fighters, Oles’ Humeniuk, and the head of the twenty-third Stepan Bandera 
Plast troop, Mykola Muzala (Fig. 59). After Parubii pulled the sheet down, a military 
band started playing the Ukrainian anthem “Ukraine has not yet perished,” the 
crowd began singing, and a row of six soldiers fired volleys. After the anthem, the 
speaker asked a representative of the Plast troop to place earth from Bandera’s home 
village Staryi Uhryniv, and from his grave in Munich, under a slab in front of the 
monument. As the young celebrant was performing this symbolic act, the speaker 
read the “Decalogue of a Ukrainian Nationalist.” He read the seventh commandment 
as “You will not hesitate to commit the most dangerous task if the good of the cause 
requires it” and not “the greatest crime” as Lenkavs’kyi, the author of the Decalogue, 
conceptualized it. Between the speeches and ceremonial acts, a male choir in em-
broidered shirts and jackets sang nationalist songs.126 

Religion was deeply integrated in the ceremony of opening the monument. Priests 
of the Greek Catholic Church, the Ukrainian Orthodox Church, and the Ukrainian 
Autocephalous Orthodox Church prayed for several minutes. Then, a Greek Catholic 
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Fig. 59. The singing of the Ukrainian national anthem during the unveiling ceremony 

of the Stepan Bandera monument on 13 October 2007 in Lviv. 
 

priest addressed the crowd and introduced Bandera as a religious man who was not 
indifferent to the injustice his people suffered and who decided to liberate them. 
Talking about Bandera during the Second World War, the priest stressed that Ban-
dera was arrested by the Germans and that his brothers were killed by Poles who 
worked for the Gestapo in Auschwitz. 

The clergymen from the two other churches spoke in the same spirit, carefully 
omitting all elements that could cast a poor light on the Providnyk or his movement. 
One of them stated, “The Ukrainian government will only become democratic when it 
will act as Bandera and his fellows did.” Further, he referred to the OUN-UPA mem-
bers as disciples who served the holy idea of an independent Ukraine, and finished 
his speech with “We pray that no intruder ever sets foot on our sacred Ukrainian soil” 
and shouted “Slava Ukraïni!” The crowd answered “Glory to the Heroes!”127 

After the clergymen’s speeches, soldiers in white uniforms placed huge bouquets 
of blue and yellow flowers in front of the monument. Their donors were, as the 
speaker announced, such politicians as President Iushchenko and Andrii Sadovyi, 
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mayor of Lviv. Organizations like Plast and the veterans of the UPA also placed their 
bouquets in front of the monument. The speaker honored the “UPA fighters who died 
for the independence of Ukraine” and the “UPA fighters who struggled for the inde-
pendence of Ukraine and are today together with us.” He ended every announcement 
with a loud “Glory!” The crowd responded with “Glory, Glory, Glory!”128 

Petro Oliinyk, head of the Lviv regional state administration, referred to Bandera 
as the Providnyk and claimed that he was “an example of how to serve the Ukrainian 
nation … [and how to] be a patriot.” He added that “we had dreamt of having a presi-
dent who would recognize the UPA … and yesterday the President of Ukraine signed 
an order that approved the celebration of the sixty-fifth anniversary of the UPA,” 
which the crowd applauded. Oliinyk finished his speech with “Glory to the people 
who contributed to the erection of the monument! Glory to the [UPA] veterans! 
Glory to the best sons of Ukraine! Glory to Ukraine!” The crowd replied with “Glory 
to the Heroes!” 

Dressed in an embroidered shirt, Myroslav Senyk, head of the Lviv oblast council, 
delivered an oration. He stressed the Ukrainian nature of the monument and empha-
sized that every village in the Lviv oblast and also such eastern Ukrainian cities as 
Kharkiv, Kherson, and Donetsk contributed financially to its establishment. After-
wards he stated that “we [Ukrainians] are proud to be Banderites, … [which] means 
to love our nation and to struggle for a better fate for that nation.”129 

Oles’ Homeniuk, who represented the UPA fighters and veterans and was dressed 
in a UPA uniform, addressed the crowd. He was the most excited speaker at the cer-
emony. Homeniuk began his speech with “Almighty God! I thank you that we fight-
ers, former insurgents who protected Ukraine with weapons, lived to this [glorious] 
day.” In a very emotional voice, he added that “we are extremely glad that in our 
medieval Lviv, the genius of the revolution will finally stand at the gate to our city.” 
He then claimed that the Bandera monument is the “place at which the young gen-
eration of boys and girls who reach adulthood will take an oath of fraternity.” The 
place “will provide them with the national spirituality that they need to continue our 
idea of independence … and here will also come young couples after the marriage 
ceremony [to take wedding pictures].”130 

Petro Franko, the head of the Society of Political Prisoners and Persons Subjected 
to Repressions, addressed the crowd with “Glory to Jesus Christ!” and compared 
Bandera to George Washington. He claimed that Bandera was a “unique personality” 
whose family suffered considerably. Finishing his speech, Franko called Bandera 
“our Vozhd’, our ideologist, our Providnyk of the Ukrainian nation, who obliges us all 
to build together the Ukrainian nation.”131 

The poet Ivan Hubka, introduced as a “participant of the national liberation 
struggle,” called Bandera the “genius son of Ukraine” and informed the audience that 
the KUK considered releasing a gold Bandera order to elevate the status of the 
Providnyk. He also called for the renaming of more streets in Lviv after the OUN-
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UPA and its members and claimed that the “Banderites do not allow anybody else to 
be the master in our home.”132 

The poet Ihor Kalynets’, head of the fund that had collected money for the mon-
ument, informed the audience that Bandera created the Ukrainian nation in practice, 
and not just in theory like the poet Taras Shevchenko. This had resulted in many 
victims and made it difficult to erect a monument to him. After fourteen years, how-
ever, the idea had been finally implemented. He pointed out that “Twenty percent of 
the Ukrainian nation had to die in imperialist wars to let Ukraine be the most glo-
rious nation in Eastern Europe.” He called Bandera “not only a unique personality 
but also a symbol of struggling Ukraine.” Finally, he claimed that the “Ukrainian 
Revolution is not finished yet” and that Bandera will remind us to continue it. 
Thanking the sponsors, he also thanked the donors from the Ukrainian diaspora.133 

The celebration ended with a poem and a parade. The poem “Banderites” was re-
cited by Bohdan Stelmakh who, in a loud and fiery tone, repeated several times that 
all Ukrainians are Banderites, that they should be proud of it, and that Ukraine needs 
a new young and heroic Bandera. After this short but loud and deeply patriotic 
oratorical performance, various military units and the Stepan Bandera Plast troop 
conducted a parade. They marched around the Bandera monument to the music of a 
military band. The ceremony finished as loudly as it began.134 

Bandera Commemorations after the Collapse of the Soviet Union 

The ritual of commemorating the Providnyk was transplanted from the diaspora to 
Ukraine, but it did not evaporate in the diaspora. In contrast to the nationalist com-
munities in the diaspora, the nationalists in Ukraine preferred to commemorate 
Bandera’s birth on 1 January rather than on the anniversary of his assassination on 
15 October. As in the diaspora, the most lavish commemorations took place on round 
anniversaries. They combined politics and religion and were directed against “our 
enemies.” The post-Soviet commemorating communities were, as in the diaspora, 
composed of veterans, nationalist intellectuals, and also various far-right and neo-
fascist groups and parties associated with other European radical right parties, such 
as the German NPD, the Italian Tricolor Flame, and the Polish National Rebirth. This 
resembled the networking provided before 1990 by the ABN. Many local “liberal” and 
“progressive” intellectuals legitimized the nationalist commemorations by their 
silence and concealed admiration. 

In 1999, the celebration of the ninetieth anniversary of Bandera’s birth and the 
fortieth anniversary of his death was rather modest, compared with that in 2009 of 
the hundredth anniversary of his birth and the fiftieth of his death. On 1 January 
1999, a group of uniformed UPA veterans and uniformed young nationalists from 
paramilitary groups gathered at the Bandera monument in Staryi Uhryniv to honor 
their Providnyk.135 On 12 January 1999, the newspaper Za vil’nu Ukraїnu informed 
its readers about a Bandera event at the Lviv opera house, without specifying the 
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date of the celebration. The stage was decorated with a Bandera portrait, to which the 
number ninety, indicating the ninetieth anniversary of his birth, was fixed. According 
to the published photographs, the artistic part comprised vocal groups dressed in 
folk and military costumes, which sang, danced, and marched on the stage. The two 
main speakers were Slava Stets’ko, the head of the OUN and KUN, and Ihor Nabyto-
vych, a professor of philosophy at the Drohobych Pedagogical University. Stets’ko 
read out a hagiographical version of Bandera’s biography and acquainted the cele-
brants with such ideas as “Bandera was the personification of the national liberation 
revolution against Moscow,” and thus a model for young Ukrainians. She stressed 
that only the “politics of will” could deal with the economic crisis and resolve the 
problem of language and culture in Ukraine. Nabytovych introduced Bandera not 
only as a Ukrainian hero but also as a thinker and praised the universal sense en-
closed in Bandera’s ideas. The professor gave the impression that Bandera had been 
an eminent political philosopher, a Ukrainian Jean-Jacques Rousseau or John Stuart 
Mill, who in his writings contemplated about various kinds of liberties.136 

The impending hundredth anniversary of Bandera’s birth and the fiftieth of his 
death had already whipped up emotions and stirred up the political situation in 
Ukraine in late 2007 and early 2008, when the oblast councils of Lviv and Ivano-
Frankiv’sk and the city council of Ternopil’ devoted the year 2008 to the Providnyk. 
In Ternopil’, the idea was initiated by KUN activists.137 In late 2008, the Ukrainian 
parliament voted in favor of marking the hundredth anniversary of Bandera’s birth 
and decided that the Providnyk should be celebrated at “state level.”138 Iukhnovs’kyi, 
head of the UINP, characterized Bandera in a ceremonial publication devoted to the 
Ukrainian leader as the “Vozhd’ of Ukraine, Vozhd’ without an army, but with the 
nation, Vozhd’ in the hard time, when there was no wide support of the liberal 
Ukrainian intelligentsia.” In doing so, Iukhnovs’kyi only followed Ukrainian presi-
dent Iushchenko, who established the UINP and Iukhnovs’kyi as its head, and who 
claimed at a commemorative gathering on 22 December 2008: “Today we honor one 
of the leaders of the Ukrainian liberation movement, who, at the time of mortal 
struggle, transformed the spirit of our nation into bloom.”139 The Ukrainian Post 
released a stamp and an envelope with a Bandera photograph from the 1940s (Fig. 
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60).140 The SUM published a cartoon about Bandera’s assassination and a Bandera 
coin. It also collected money for a renovation of the Petliura, Konovalets’, Bandera, 
and Shukhevych monument in the SUM camp in Ellenville, New York.141 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Fig. 60. Bandera stamps, released in 2008 by the Ukrainian Post. 

Nadia Oleksenchuk, head of the education department of the Lviv city council, 
announced in August 2008 that the first lesson in 2009 in all schools in the Lviv 
oblast would be devoted to the Providnyk.142 The Ternopil’ city council announced 
that the same would happen in Ternopil’ schools on 31 December 2009.143 In all 
schools in the Ivano-Frankivs’k oblast, according to the Plastovyi portal, a lesson 
called “Stepan Bandera—Symbol of the Undefeated Nation” was taught in September 
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2008.144 The education department of the Luts’k city council announced one com-
petition for the best academic essay by a university student on the subject “Stepan 
Bandera—the True Depiction of the Personality, Fighter, and Citizen,” and another 
for schoolchildren for the best essay on “My Attitude to the OUN Providnyk Stepan 
Bandera.” Bandera admirers in Luts’k were invited to a ceremonial concert on 26 
December 2008, on the hundredth anniversary of his birth. At the same time, a sim-
ilar celebration under the motto “Long Live Bandera and His State” took place in the 
Ivano-Frankivs’k Theater.145 Also in Ivano-Frankivs’k, a Bandera monument was 
unveiled on 1 January 2009, and on 14 October a memorial plaque was devoted to 
Vasyl’ Bandera. The plaque was located on the building in which Vasyl’ Bandera and 
other OUN-B members were arrested on 14 and 15 October 1941.146 The Bandera 
monument in Ternopil’ was unveiled on 26 December 2008, five days before the 
hundredth anniversary of his birth.147 The Ternopil’ oblast council expressed the wish 
to transfer Bandera’s remains from Munich to Staryi Uhryniv.148 The celebration of 
the anniversary in Chernivtsi was opened by Viktor Pavliuk, deputy head of the ob-
last state council, who announced that “we should together conduct celebratory ac-
tivities in honor of the Providnyk of the OUN, in order to dissolve the anti-Ukrainian 
stereotypes settled in the consciousness of the Ukrainian population by ideologists 
from the Communist Party.”149 In Kharkiv, a court did not allow the city council to 
ban Bandera commemorations.150 

On the Feast of Saint Mary the Protectress on 14 October 2008 in Kiev, two com-
pletely opposite demonstrations were organized. The first one was at the Shevchenko 
monument and attracted, among others, UPA veterans, skinheads, and men and 
women in folk costume. Some of them carried red-and-black OUN-B flags and Ban-
dera posters and listened to the vocal performances of men in uniform-like dark 
khaki suits, who stood on the stage of the Festival of Insurgent Song, behind an old 
automatic cannon. The other demonstration was organized by the leftwing populist 
Progressive Socialist Party of Ukraine (Prohresyvna sotsialistychna partiia Ukraїny, 
PSPU) in Independence Square (Maidan Nezalezhnosti). Its participants burned a 
red-and-black flag and carried Soviet anti-fascist and anti-NATO cartoons, of which 
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several suggested the continuation between the Nazis and NATO, and the participa-
tion of Ukrainian nationalists in both. One older woman carried a poster with a 
swastika and the inscription “These are fascist movements: Lithuania, Latvia, 
Ukraine, and Georgia.” Two men held a banner with the inscription “Eternal Glory to 
the Victims of the OUN-UPA Villains.”151 A year later on 14 October 2009, many 
more people than in 2008, perhaps several hundred, marched through the streets of 
Kiev with Bandera posters, red-and-black flags, and Svoboda Party banners. They 
shouted slogans such as “Bandera our Leader—Protection of the Mother God our 
Festivity!” “Glory to the Heroes, Death to the Enemies!” One older man in a UPA cap 
brought a machine gun, to honor the Providnyk.152 

Between the events of October 2008 and October 2009, others connected with 
Bandera took place in the Ukrainian capital. On 23 May 2009, nationalists in folk 
costumes and neo-fascist outfits, holding Bandera posters and performing fascist 
salutes, honored the Ukrainian Providnyk in front of the monument to Iaroslav the 
Wise.153 At 6 p.m. on 1 January 2009, 2,000 people with torches and Svoboda Party 
flags marched along Khreshchatyk Boulevard to Independence Square, where they 
held a meeting. Andrii Mokhnyk, leader of the Kiev Svoboda Party branch informed 
the Bandera admirers that contemporary Ukrainian politicians were not able to take 
responsibility for Ukraine as Bandera had done when he had ordered the killing of 
Mailov and Pieracki, and when he had proclaimed a Ukrainian state in 1941. He 
stressed that Ukraine needed a Providnyk like Bandera. On the same day, the 
Svoboda Party conducted similar Bandera rallies and demonstrations in the oblast 
cities Ivano-Frankivs’k, Kharkiv, Odessa, Luhans’k, Lviv, Simferopol’, Volodymyr-
Volyns’kyi, and Zaporizhzhia, as well as in numerous towns and villages. Some of 
them were prepared in collaboration with the local authorities. The celebrations in 
western Ukrainian villages were very well attended. In the village of Velyka Berezo-
vytsia, inhabited by slightly more than 7,000 people, 2,000 came to the panakhyda 
and took part in the commemorative gathering.154 

Bandera’s grandson Stephen Bandera was very busy in 2009. As in previous 
years, he was invited to the unveiling of monuments to his grandfather, and to vari-
ous rallies and anniversaries, both in Ukraine and in the diaspora.155 At the unveiling  
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“Urochysta akademia z nahody 100-richchia vid dnia narodzhennia Stepana Bandery,” 21 December 
2008, http://www.Ternopil’.svoboda.org.ua/diyalnist/novyny/005661/ (accessed 28 October 2011). 

155  For Stepan Bandera’s oration at the unveiling ceremony of the Bandera monument in Drohobych on 
14 October 2001, see “Stephen Bandera molodym postav v drohobyts’komu skveri,” Za vil’nu Ukra-
inu, 16 October 1999, 2. For Stepan Bandera unveiling other Stepan Bandera monuments, see the ex-
hibition of the Stepan Bandera Museum in Staryi Uhryniv. 
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Fig. 61. The Canadian SUM choir Prolisok in folk costumes at the commemorative gathering 

on 17 October 2009 in the hall of the Munich Anton Fingerle Education Centre. 

http://www.cym.org/archives/Munich2009.asp (accessed 14 October 2011). 

 
Fig. 62. The female SUM members from the United Kingdom at the commemorative gathering 

on 17 October 2009 in the hall of the Munich Anton Fingerle Education Centre. 

http://www.cym.org/archives/Munich2009.asp (accessed 14 October 2011). 
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of the Bandera monument in Ternopil’ on 26 December 2008, he informed the 
crowd that he was proud to have been born in the Bandera family and to be the 
grandson of a Ukrainian hero. At a rally on 1 January 2009 in Staryi Uhryniv, he 
reminded the celebrants that his grandfather had been the “symbol of the Ukrainian 
nation,” thanked the organizers in the name of the Bandera family for organizing the 
festivity, and listened to other prominent speakers, such as the leader of the radical 
right Svoboda Party, Oleh Tiahnybok.156 

On 17 and 18 October 2009, Stephen Bandera graced celebrations of his grand-
father in Munich with his presence. On the first day of the Munich celebrations at 
about 2 p.m., several hundred Bandera enthusiasts from a number of countries, 
armed with red-and-black OUN-B flags and nationalist banners, including those of 
the radical right Svoboda Party, marched to Bandera’s grave, where they laid several 
wreaths. Some celebrants were in uniform, for instance the female and male SUM 
members, and the musicians of the Baturyn orchestra from Toronto, which elevated 
the spirit of the commemoration with military music. At the grave, a priest per-
formed a panakhyda, after which a number of speakers, including Bandera junior 
and Stefan Romaniw, head of the OUN, delivered speeches.157 

At about 7 p.m. on the same day, the celebrants attended a commemorative 
gathering in the hall of the Anton Fingerle Education Center in Munich. They first 
listened again to the speeches of such eminent Ukrainian nationalists as Bandera, 
Kutsan, and Romaniw. Then, they enjoyed vocal performances by a uniformed group 
of female SUM members from the United Kingdom, and the Canadian SUM choir 
Prolisok in folk costumes (Figs. 61 and 62). Both the speeches and the performances 
took place on a stage decorated with an immense portrait of the Providnyk. Between 
the political and artistic performances, the Bandera family, numbering three men 
and five women entered the stage and smiled at the celebrants, while standing under 
the portrait of their famous ancestor. The next day, the celebrations were completed 
with a church service.158 

Similar commemorative gatherings took place in 2009 in several other places in-
habited by the Ukrainian diaspora. In Edmonton on 25 October 2009, about 400 
people gathered at the Roman Shukhevych Ukrainian Youth Complex, at 9615–153 
Avenue. The hall was decorated with a painting of the Virgin Mary, which was fixed 
upon a cross made from blue-and-yellow cloth. The background was red-and-black. 
The Ukrainian and Canadian flags were fixed on both sides of this decoration. On the 
right side of the stage, the audience could see a huge portrait of Bandera with the 
dates 1909–1959. A golden trident was hung from above the stage above the picture 

 
156  “Z nahody vidznachennia 100-richchia vid Dnia narodzhennia ta provedennia v Ternopil’s’kii oblasti 

roku Stepana Bandery, 26 hrudnia vidbulosia urochyste vidkryttia pam”iatnyka providnykovi OUN-
UPA,” 3 January 2009, http://www.tneu.edu.ua/ua-i-article-i-id-i-550-i-nSID-i-public_organizatio- 
ns-i-index.html (accessed 15 October 2011); “Iak vidznachatymut’ 100-richchia Stepana Bandery,” 16 
December 2008, http://www.unian.net/ukr/news/news-290326.html (accessed 15 October 2011); 
“Na Ivano-Frankivshchyni proishlo viche do 100-richchia vid narodzhennia Bandery,” 2 December 
2009, http://www.unian.net/ukr/news/news-293136.html (accessed 15 October 2011). 

157  “Miunkhen. U 50-richchia pidstupnoho vbyvstva Providnyka OUN, Stepana Bandery, 17-ho zhovtnia 
2009,” http://www.cym.org/archives/Munich2009.asp (accessed 17 October 2011); Miunkhen, 17 
zhovtnia 2009 roku, vidprava do 50-richchia vbyvstva Providnyka, 21 October 2009, http://oko.if.ua/ 
2009/10/21/3747/ (accessed 17 October 2011). 

158  Ibid. 
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of the Virgin. The podium was covered in red-and-black cloth, and was decorated 
with a trident on top.159 

The celebration began with a panakhyda, during which the participants sang 
dirges for Stepan Bandera and performed a wide range of religious rituals under the 
leadership of three priests. Nationalist rituals followed. Roman Brytan, who co-
ordinated the entire event, presented a mysterious, nationalist, and martyrdom-
tinged narrative of the history of Ukraine, in segments of two to three minutes each. 
Between the speeches, many individual artists and musical groups, in peasant 
blouses and Cossack costumes, sang pop, folk, and classical songs, to glorify Bandera, 
some of which were based on the lyrics of OUN and UPA songs. Children of the SUM, 
wearing light-brown uniforms and ties sang different pop songs about the OUN, the 
UPA, and the Orange Revolution, which took place from late November 2004 to 
January 2005 in Ukraine and brought President Iushchenko to power. Altogether, 
some fifteen performances took place.160 

In addition to musical performances, Bohdan Tarasenko recited Bandera’s 1936 
speech before the Polish court in Lviv, in which Bandera explained why he had given 
permission for the liquidation of a number of Poles, Russians, and Ukrainians. The 
organizers also played back a recorded interview Bandera had given Western jour-
nalists in the 1950s, explaining the necessity of a war against the Soviet Union. The 
event ended with a speech by Ihor Broda, leader of the League of Ukrainian Can-
adians in Edmonton, during which he gave thanks to the celebrants and artists for 
being such a “spiritual nation,” also emphasizing that the participants had helped 
keep the memory of Bandera alive by coming to the celebration. The speech also 
asserted that modern-day Ukraine is threatened by “Moscow” and that Bandera was 
the person who could defend Ukraine against Russia.161 

The Bandera commemorations surrounding the hundredth anniversary of his 
birth and the fiftieth of his death were crowned with the designation of Stepan Ban-
dera as a Hero of Ukraine, by President Iushchenko on 20 January 2010, and pub-
licly announced on 22 January. At the celebration, Iushchenko handed the order to 
Bandera’s grandson Stephen Bandera (Fig. 63). The younger Bandera announced in 
a short speech that this was “not only a great but an enormous honor” and that the 
Ukrainian state had finally acknowledged “the heroic deed of Stepan Bandera and 
hundreds of thousands of Ukrainian patriots who fell for this state.”162 Soon after the 
designation, the new Ukrainian president Viktor Ianukovych promised the Russian 
president Vladimir Putin to strip Bandera of the order, which the Donetsk District 
Administrative Court carried out in April 2010.163 

 
  

 
159  Rossoliński-Liebe, Celebrating Fascism, 12. 
160  Ibid., 12. 
161  Ibid., 12. 
162  For the designation of Stepan Bandera, see http://zakon1.rada.gov.ua/cgi-bin/laws/main. 

cgi?nreg=46/2010 (accessed 27 September 2011). For the ceremony, see “Stepan Bandera Hero of 
Ukraine,” http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Wy7eTLy2_I0 (accessed 15 October 2011). 

163  “Yanukovych Promised Medvedev to Take Away Rank of Hero of Ukraine from Bandera and Shukhe-
vych,” 9 March 2011, http://risu.org.ua/en/index/all_news/state/34810/ (accessed 15 November 
2012); “Court strips Bandera of Hero of Ukraine title,” The Ukrainian Weekly, 23 January 2011, 1. 
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Fig. 63. Stephen Bandera and President Iushchenko at the designation ceremony of Stepan 

Bandera as Hero of Ukraine on 20 January 2010. http://www.ucc.ca/2010/02/01/ukraines-

president-recognizes-ukraines-freedom-fighters/ (accessed 10 January 2012). 

The post-Soviet Bandera and OUN-UPA commemorations excited thousands of 
Ukrainian nationalists and enabled thousands or possibly even millions of Ukrainian 
patriots to believe in the greatness of the Providnyk and the “liberation movement.” 
However, they were perceived very differently by people whose relatives or 
acquaintances had been persecuted or murdered by OUN members and UPA parti-
sans. One such person was Bela Feld. She emigrated in 1935 from the Polish town of 
Brzezany to Palestine. Bela’s immediate family was killed during the Second World 
War. In 1997 she visited the town of her youth. During this visit, she asked inhabi-
tants of the now homogenously Ukrainian town of Berezhany for one of her child-
hood friends, Halyna Dydyk. At the time of her visit, the inhabitants were celebrating 
the anniversary of the establishment of the Ukrainian state, “dressed in their colorful 
peasant folk costumes.” After asking for her childhood friend, Bela was immediately 
urged by the celebrants to visit the grave of her friend, who, during her struggle for a 
Ukrainian state, had become a “national hero.” Hearing this and seeing the exited 
crowd of celebrants around her, Bela felt “like running away.” She did not want to go 
to the grave and was “emotionally exhausted.” Furthermore, she did not know how to 
behave, because she knew from survivors who had arrived in Israel after the war that 
“the Bandera people, the members of the Ukrainian underground, were the worst.” 
She also “remembered Halyna the way she was before the war, before all that. And 
suddenly she turned into a hero and a martyr, associated with that name, Bandera. I 
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knew that something was wrong, ‘s’iz nisht git.’” Then she politely refused the 
invitation.164 

The Providnyk in Festivals, Pubs, Novels, and the Cinema 

In post-Soviet Ukraine, the Bandera cult took even more eccentric shapes than in the 
diaspora. It was disseminated by the previously described historians, politicians, 
veterans, and nationalist activists, and in addition, by writers, film directors, jour-
nalists, organizers of bicycle trips, businessmen who opened UPA pubs, and various 
musical groups that sang at the alternative music festival Bandershtat, organized by 
the far-right National Alliance (Natsional’nyi Al’ians). Also, newspapers such as 
Banderivets’, published by the ultranationalist paramilitary Stepan Bandera Trident 
Organization from Drohobych, propagated the Bandera cult in various ways.165 

Fig. 64. Image at the website of the festival “Bandershtat.” Inscription: “Freedom or Death!” 

http://bandershtat.org.ua/ (accessed 14 October 2011). 

Bandershtat has been organized annually since 2007, near Luts’k in Volhynia 
(Fig. 64). The name may have been derived from a song and music album from 1991 
by the rock band Braty Hadiukiny, called “We Guys from the Bandera City.” The 
participants in Bandershtat not only spent a few days sleeping in tents and listening 
to alternative music but also took part in various nationalist rituals. They dressed in 
UPA and NKVD uniforms and pretended to fight each other, invited UPA veterans 
and listened to their talks, formed a huge word BANDERA by standing behind each 
other and had themselves photographed from a plane, invited paramilitary and neo-

 
164  Redlich, Together and Apart, 157–59. 
165  The newspaper Banderivets’: Informatsiinyi biuleten’ Vseukraїns’koї orhanizatsiї “Tryzub” im. 

Stepana Bandery began appearing in 2000. 
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fascist organizations that positioned Wolfsangel flags in front of their tents, and 
intended to invite Stepan Bandera’s grandson Stephen Bandera. Bandershat was 
organized by the 2005-founded National Alliance, which specialized in organizing 
torch parades and paramilitary training camps. According to the Alliance, the aim of 
the festival was to “elevate the national idea in Ukrainian youth” and to “immortalize 
the image of Stepan Bandera as a national symbol.”166 

In 2007 the pub Kryїvka was opened in the Rynok square of Lviv. It was located 
in the cellar of a sixteenth-century tenement and was designed as a bunker of the 
UPA. Everyone who entered was greeted with “Glory to Ukraine!” uttered by a 
uniformed man with a rifle. The guest was expected to respond with “Glory to the 
Heroes!” The interior was decorated with nationalist and military objects. The pub 
commercialized a romanticized and distorted image of the UPA. On the one hand, it 
overlooked the violence committed by the Ukrainian partisans, and on the other, it 
did not inform the guests that life in a UPA bunker was painful and unbearable, as its 
inhabitants suffered from various diseases, wore the same underwear and clothes for 
weeks, and were regularly bitten by lice.167 

In one room, a few giant posters popularized the idea of Bandera as a human be-
ing. They showed the Providnyk at different ages, accompanied by his family and 
friends, or in short pants during holidays at the seaside. The menu, as well as in-
forming guests about dishes, the names of many of which related to the UPA, also 
depicted several sketches of the UPA bunkers and photographs of UPA partisans. 
One of the depicted partisans was the legendary UPA leader Dmytro Kliachkivs’kyi 
who unleashed the ethnic cleansing in Volhynia in early 1943. Kliachkivs’kyi and 
several UPA partisans were apparently presented in the menu to invoke the 
impression that they had eaten the same dishes that were served at Kryїvka. The 
menu listed various kinds of bacon, including kosher bacon (kosherne salo). One of 
the devices exhibited in the pub was a rifle. Every guest, including children, could 
pick it up and play with it. The ambience of the pub suggested that the rifle had been 
previously used by the UPA insurgents.168 

Iurii Nazaruk, the manager of the pub, reasoned in an interview that Kryїvka was 
both a museum and a pub, intended to change the negative Soviet image of the UPA 
by disseminating “true knowledge about the UPA.” According to him, the pub was 
more effective than nationalist publications and the Bandera monument in Lviv, 
which was too monumental and thus made modern people skeptical about the Ban-
dera cult. According to Nazaruk, people who did not regard the UPA insurgents as 
heroes did not understand anything about the Ukrainian “liberation movement.” 
Asked about antisemitism in the UPA, Nazaruk responded that there were many 

 
166  “Bandershtat. Festyval Ukraїns’koho duhu,” http://bandershtat.org.ua/pro-festyval/ideya/ (accessed 

14 October 2011); “Na Volyni sostoitsia festival ‘Bandershtat—2008’”, 2 August 2008, http://www 
.unian.net/rus/news/news-265064.html (accessed 13 October 2011); “‘Bandershtat-2011’ sobral v 
Lutske deputatov, voiakov OUN-UPA i molodez’”, 16 August 2011, http://censor.net.ua/photo_news 
/178578/bandershtat2011_sobral_v_lutske_deputatov_voyakov_ounupa_i_molodej_fotoreportaj 
(accessed 13 October 2011). 

167  For testimonies about the life of the UPA partisans in bunkers, see Ana Boguslavskaja and Oled 
Schilowski (film directors), Die Bandera-Bande: Guerilla-Kämpfer im 2. Weltkrieg. Discovery Chan-
nel 2009. 

168  http://www.kryjivka.com.ua/ (accessed 14 October 2011); Kryїvka. Meniu, 10. For Kliachkivs’kyi, see 
chapter 5 above. I inspected the pub in 2008. 
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Jewish physicians in the UPA, and that there may even have been a Jewish UPA unit 
that fought for an independent Ukrainian state. He added that even if such a unit did 
not exist, this myth about the UPA was true “because it is a good myth [rather than a 
bad Soviet myth].”169 

In 2008 the biker club “Banderas” was opened in Chernivtsi, the main city of 
Bukovina. One of the symbols of the club became a UPA partisan on a motorbike. 
Every member of the club was obliged to display the symbol on a leather vest.170 
Vasyl’ Kozhelianko, a Chernivtsi-based author, published in 2000 the counterfactual 
novel Parade in Moscow, in which Hitler accepts the proclamation of the OUN-B 
state on 30 June 1941 and conquers Moscow in November 1941. Kozhelianko also has 
Bandera take the salute of the armies of the Axis countries at the Lenin Mausoleum 
on Red Square in Moscow on 7 November 1941. Next to the Ukrainian Providnyk, 
Kozhelianko places Hitler, Mussolini, Antonescu, Franco, Horthy, and the “Japanese 
emperor.”171 

Oksana Zabuzhko, the most famous Ukrainian female writer, composed a far 
more pathetic book about Ukrainian nationalism than had Kozhelianko. Unlike the 
latter’s fantasy, Zabuzhko’s historical novel The Museum of Abandoned Secrets was 
rapidly translated into other languages.172 Before writing the book, she consulted 
V”iatrovych who provided her with historical material and explained to her the rel-
ations between Jews and Ukrainian nationalists during the Second World War. In 
consequence, Zabuzhko based a significant part of her novel on Krentsbakh’s 
fictitious memoirs, published by OUN-B historian and former head of a division of 
the OUN propaganda apparatus, Petro Mirchuk. Unsurprisingly, Zabuzhko depicted 
the UPA as an army that looked after Jews during the Second World War and did not 
commit any atrocities against them, allowing them to fight against the Soviet Union 
for an independent Ukrainian state.173 

In 2009 the organization Eko-Myloserdia organized a bike trip called Stepan 
Bandera’s European Paths, for nine teenagers and six adults. The trip began on 1 
August 2009 in Sokal’, Lviv oblast, and was planned to go through Poland and Slo-
vakia, and to end at Bandera’s grave in Munich on 24 August. Because of its name 
and political nature, the expedition evoked much emotion and attracted a good deal 
of media attention, even before it began, especially in Poland. As the bikers came to 
the Polish border, opponents organized a demonstration with posters like “Those 
Who Glorify the Fascist S. Bandera Themselves Become Fascists.” The bikers were 
not let through the border, although they possessed valid passports and visas.174 

 
169  Iurii Nazaryk, interview by author, Lviv, 15 May 2008. 
170  “U Chernivtsiakh na chest’ Bandery zasnuvaly baikers’kyi klub Banderas,” 26 May 2008, 

http://novynar.com.ua/politics/28003 (accessed 14 October 2011); “Baikers’kyi klub ‘Banderas’ 
stvorenyi do 100 richchia providnyka OUN,” 26 May 2008, http://www.unian.net/ukr/news/news-
253248.html (accessed 14 October 2011). 
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172  Oksana Zabuzhko, Muzei pokynutykh sekretiv (Kiev: Fakt, 2010); Museum der Vergessenen Geheim-

nisse, translated by Alexander Krathochvil (Graz: Droschl, 2010). 
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In 2007 and 2008, the Ukrainian television channel Inter prepared the talk show 
Great Ukrainians. From a hundred selected personalities, ten were chosen, including 
such characters as the physician Mykola Amosov, the poet Taras Shevchenko, the 
medieval king Iaroslav the Wise, the Cossack leader Bohdan Khmel’nyts’kyi, the 
philosopher Hryhorii Skorovoda, and of course, the legendary Providnyk Stepan 
Bandera. Then ten short movies about the ten Ukrainians were produced under the 
direction of journalists, politicians, and actors, including Leonid Kravchuk, the first 
president of Ukraine. The movie about Bandera was produced by journalist Vakhtang 
Kipiani. The movies were shown on the Inter channel, and shortly after, could be 
watched on the Internet. Fans chose their favorite “great Ukrainian” by sending an 
SMS. The show excited Ukrainian society and was the subject of daily discussions for 
months. People debated at home and at work who was their most admired Ukrainian 
and who should therefore win the contest. Many sent not one but dozens or even 
hundreds of SMS messages for their favorite candidate. Bandera became the “great 
Ukrainian” number three, after Iaroslav the Wise, and Amosov. That the Providnyk 
did not win was allegedly due to a fraud conducted by a group of political activists 
who wanted to prevent the division of Ukraine which, according to them, Bandera’s 
winning would cause. Although, with the exception of Bandera, no twentieth-century 
extremists or communist leaders qualified for the first ten, a number of them quali-
fied for the first hundred, including the UPA leader Shukhevych in twelfth place, 
Lenin in twenty-third, Konovalets’ in fortieth, Brezhnev in sixty-third, and Khrush-
chev in ninety-third.175 

Although Kipiani’s movie about Bandera was an apologetic and uncritical adver-
tisement for the Providnyk, historians and intellectuals in Ukraine accepted it rather 
than discussing or challenging it. The movie began with a short, pathetic talk by a 
young uniformed Plastun, perhaps aged twelve, with a physiognomy similar to Ban-
dera at that age. The young patriot, sitting at a campfire in a forest, informed his 
older colleagues, and the film director sitting next to him, how Bandera prepared 
himself for future torture at enemy hands, by inserting pins under his nails.176 

Kipiani’s movie consisted of clips from black-and-white documentary films, in 
which the director placed his cartoon actors. Kipiani not only provided narrative but 
also appeared in the film as an actor, mainly among archival documents or in signif-
icant places like the prison or courthouse. He appeared as a link between the present 
and the past, or the audience and the Providnyk. He presented Bandera as a patriotic 
Ukrainian politician who fought, suffered, and died for Ukraine. Typically for the 
post-Soviet apologetic discourse he omitted all facts that could cast a poor light on 
the Providnyk and showed instead a band playing a heroic and patriotic rock song 
about Ukrainian partisans in the ruins of a church. In order to familiarize the 
audience with the Providnyk as a human being, Kipiani showed pictures of Bandera 

 
175  “Velyki ukraїntsi,” http://greatukrainians.com.ua/ (accessed 14 October 2011); Vasyl’ Rasevych, 
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176  Vakhtang Kipiani, Stepan Bandera, 2009, http://greatukrainians.com.ua/council/ (accessed 15 
October 2011). For Bandera torturing himself, see chapter 2 below, page 95. 
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with friends and family and let Bandera’s grandson Stephen Bandera talk at length 
about his grandfather, his family, and himself.177 

Several other documentary and historical feature films about Bandera were pro-
duced after 1991. On the occasion of his ninetieth birthday anniversary, the television 
network Vikna made the twenty-five-minute film Stepan Bandera’s Three Loves. It 
began with Stephen Bandera jogging through Kiev, while being introduced as a per-
son who bears a name “with which so many murders are associated that any Mafia 
don would be envious.” Then director Iurii Diukanov introduced Bandera’s life and 
the history of the OUN, by telling the story of Bandera’s love for three women. Ban-
dera appeared in the documentary as a romantic Ukrainian hero, who idealistically 
struggled for Ukraine and was tragically assassinated by his cruel and deceitful ene-
mies. The link between love and nationalism was the main vibrant message of this 
patriotic production.178 

Ten years later, on the hundredth anniversary of Bandera’s birth, Serhii Sotny-
chenko, Taras Tkachenko, and Olena Nozhekina produced the documentary The 
Price of Freedom with Stephen Bandera as the central character. The young star of 
Ukrainian nationalism introduced the life of his grandfather, embedded in OUN and 
UPA history in several brief acts, in which each was followed by short speeches by 
such historians as Alexander Gogun, Iaroslav Hrytsak, Taras Hunchak, Grzegorz 
Motyka, Ivan Patryliak, Mykola Posivnych, Timothy Snyder, Iaroslav Svatko, Volody-
myr V”iatrovych, and such political activists as the former OUN-B members Irena 
Kozak and Ievhen Stakhiv, and the OUN leader Andrii Haidamakha. Crucial matters, 
such as the denial of the pogroms and the rationalization of the ethnic violence, were 
confirmed by nationalist historians such as V”iatrovych, and nationalist activists 
such as the OUN leader Haidamakha, and not by critical historians like Motyka or 
Snyder, who in the movie confirmed only less controversial aspects. As a result Ste-
phen Bandera became the main narrator of Ukrainian history, who introduced the 
main personality of Ukrainian history, his grandfather the Providnyk, and whose 
opinions are confirmed by a number of authoritative historians.179 

The most popular movie about Bandera, Assassination: An Autumn Murder in 
Munich, was produced in 1995 by screenplay writer Vasyl’ Portiak and film director 
Oles’ Ianchuk. In addition to Assassination, the latter produced a number of other 
nationalist movies, including Famine-33 (Holod-33) about the famine of 1932–1933, 
The Undefeated (Neskorennyi) about Roman Shukhevych, and The Company of 
Heroes (Zalizna Sotnia) about the UPA. In Assassination and Undefeated, the role 
of Stepan Bandera was played by the same actor, Iaroslav Muka. The ideological goal 
of Assassination was the romanticization and sentimentalization of the Providnyk 
and of the Ukrainian nationalists who remained in Munich after the Second World 
War. The historical text at the beginning of the film presented the OUN and UPA as a 
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resistance movement fighting the Germans and Soviets.180 The post-war Bandera, as 
portrayed by the actor Iaroslav Muka, was not exactly a carbon copy of the original. 
Not only did Muka’s physiognomy require considerable imagination to recognize him 
as Stepan Bandera but his sluggish temper did not seem to correspond with the 
fervent and excitable personality of the Providnyk. However, Muka’s slow temper 
and subtle suggestions of absentmindedness allowed a sentimental and almost 
intellectual depiction of Bandera. This was often strengthened with sentimental 
music, particularly when Bandera was travelling by car or when he was working on 
the revolution. Bandera’s doctrinal insistence on his absolute authority in the OUN 
and his demanding complete subordination from every OUN member after the war 
were not featured in the film, as they would have jeopardized Bandera’s sentimental 
and intellectual portrayal. The main motif of the film was Bandera’s assassination. 
Shortly before the tragic act, the viewer saw Stashyns’kyi as an honest and 
sympathetic man, being trained at KGB headquarters in Moscow and drinking a toast 
of champagne to Bandera’s upcoming death, with two high-ranking Soviet officials. 
Bandera was killed on the staircase in Munich, to disconcerting and disquieting 
music, which immediately became sentimental and mourning in tone, as a huge 
obituary appeared on screen. 

Post-Soviet Monuments to the Victims of the OUN-UPA 

Despite vigorous attempts to fill Ukraine with nationalist monuments, commemor-
ative plaques, and street names, many Soviet monuments and other signs in public 
places survived, especially in eastern Ukraine, where a few nationalist monuments 
were erected. In Lviv, the “capital” of western Ukraine, the Lenin monument and 
several other Soviet statues were removed before the dissolution of the Soviet Union, 
but the largest Soviet monument, the Glory Monument (Monument Slavy) was not. 
In the small spa town of Slavs’ke in the Carpathian Mountains, a statue of the Virgin 
Mary was installed in a monument devoted to the Red Army.181 In eastern Ukraine, 
nationalist monuments devoted to the OUN-UPA or its leaders were very rarely 
erected. In 1992 in Kharkiv, the Popular Movement of Ukraine (Narodnyi Rukh 
Ukraїny, NRU), with the approval of the city council, unveiled a small and almost 
unnoticeable UPA monument in the Molodizhnyi Park. The monument was pro-
tected by guards but was vandalized on at least one occasion.182 

The process of nationalizing Ukraine by means of OUN and UPA heroes was a 
reaction to the previous Sovietization of Ukraine and to the prolongation of Soviet 
traditions, particularly in eastern Ukraine. It is not surprising that it soon caused a 
counteraction, in particular in eastern Ukraine, where populist pro-Russian parties, 
such as the Party of Regions (Partia rehioniv), began erecting monuments devoted 
to the victims of the OUN and UPA, while further denying the atrocities of the Soviet 
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regime and extolling its achievements. Up to the time of writing, an approach to the 
Ukrainian past that would not extol either the OUN-UPA or Soviet totalitarianism 
but would mourn the victims of both sides has not asserted itself. During the terms of 
office of the nationalist president Iushchenko, populist or communist parties and 
other organizations in eastern Ukraine unveiled at least four heroic, anti-nationalist 
monuments devoted to the victims of the OUN-UPA. On 14 September 2007 in 
Simferopol, the communist organization Homeland (Rodina) unveiled a monument 
called “Shot in the back,” which showed a female figure holding a wounded man, a 
Soviet citizen or soldier murdered by the UPA. The Russian inscription on the 
monument said, “To the memory of the Soviet people’s sacrifices who were killed by 
the helpers of the fascists—the fighters of the OUN-UPA and other collaborators.”183 
Petro Symonenko, first secretary of the Communist Party of Ukraine, said at the 
unveiling ceremony: “The agents of this organization [OUN-UPA] supervised by 
fascists, shot Soviet citizens, innocent people. We came here today to commemorate 
everyone who liberated the Soviet Union. You went and you were underhandedly 
shot in the back from a corner by the helpers of the fascists.”184 Leonid Grach, the 
leader of the Crimean Communists, informed the participants that “more than 4,000 
Crimeans, citizens of the Soviet Union, were sent to western Ukraine in order to help 
(heal, teach etc.), and were killed there by the helpers of the fascists.”185 

Another monument to the victims of the OUN-UPA, a 1.5-meter-high (five-foot) 
upright block, built into an existing monument to the soldiers of the Great Patriotic 
War, was unveiled on 26 June 2008 in Svatove, a district center in the Luhans’k 
oblast. The unveiling ceremony was attended by members of the Communist party of 
Ukraine and members of the communist organization Molodaia gvardiia (Young 
Guard). Like Grach in Simferopol’, Mykola Sherstiuk, the mayor of Svatove, argued 
that the monument is devoted to local “teachers, doctors, and the military … mostly 
women” who were sent to the Lviv and Ivano-Frankivs’k oblasts after the Second 
World War and were killed there by the nationalists.186 Ievhen Kharin, vice-mayor of 
Luhansk, said in his speech: “The war is not over, the war continues. It is cruel and 
dirty. For the souls of our children and grandchildren whose parents and 
grandparents lie in graves.”187 The Luhans’k oblast council published on this occasion 
a book titled We Will not Betray Victory and Truth, with excerpts from the writings 
of the Soviet Ukrainian historian Maslovs’kyi, who was allegedly murdered by 
nationalists in Lviv in 1999.188 
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Fig. 65. Monument to the OUN-UPA victims unveiled in Luhans’k on 8 May 2010 

by the Party of Regions. 
 

The largest monument to the victims of the OUN-UPA was unveiled in Luhans’k 
on 8 May 2010 by the Party of Regions, whose candidate Viktor Ianukovych had won 
the presidential elections in early 2010, succeeding Iushchenko. The Party of Regions 
 was a negative mirror image of Iushchenko’s Our Ukraine. The Luhans’k monument 
was erected not far from the Soviet memorial of the Young Guard, a Second World 
War underground resistance group, who after the war became an important political 
myth in the Soviet Union. The monument to the victims of the OUN-UPA depicted a 
mother tied to something resembling a tree. Her face expressed death or 
unconsciousness. A man on his knees in front of her seemed to protect her and a 
child looking up at her face. The hands of the man were tied with a rope. The 
inscription beneath the figures read, “The truth should not be forgotten.” A black 
granite plaque held the inscription “To the citizens of Luhans’k who were killed by 
nationalist persecutors from the OUN-UPA 1943–1956” and displayed several names 
beneath it (Fig. 65).189 
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The process of erecting monuments devoted to the victims of the OUN-UPA by 
various communist groups, veterans of the Red Army, and the Party of Regions was 
related to the rehabilitation of figures such as Stalin. On 5 May 2010, three days 
before the opening of the monument in Luhans’k, the first Stalin monument to be 
erected since 1953 was unveiled in the eastern Ukrainian city of Zaporizhzhia. The 
2.5-meter-high (eight-foot) monument showed Stalin from the waist up on a granite 
block. It was located near the building with the office of the regional branch of the 
KPU. During the ceremony, Soviet veterans wore uniforms with medals and waved 
the red flag with hammer and sickle. The unveiling ceremony was picketed by a 
group of protesters dressed in traditional Ukrainian clothes. Some of them carried 
Ukrainian nationalist symbols or posters with inscriptions such as “Stalin killed my 
youth.” On 28 December 2010, the head of the bust was removed and on 31 Dec-
ember the remainder of the Stalin bust was demolished.190 

Kresowiacy, Polish Martyrology, and Bandera 

Another remarkable discourse about Bandera and the OUN-UPA began a few years 
before the dissolution of the Soviet Union in Poland. It was initiated by the com-
munity of kresowiacy, composed of people resettled after the Second World War 
from the former Polish eastern territories, including survivors of the ethnic cleansing 
in Volhynia and eastern Galicia, and various Polish nationalist activists. Although not 
all members of the kresowiacy community were vindictive nationalists, the commu-
nity as a whole invented a victimized narrative of their own past, in which Polish-
Ukrainian relations, the Second World War, and the ethnic cleansing of the Polish 
population in Volhynia and eastern Galicia were embedded in Polish martyrology. 
The discourse concentrated on the suffering of Poles, denied the discriminatory poli-
cies against the Ukrainians in the Second Polish Republic, and instrumentalized the 
suffering of the Polish survivors in a way that was not free of a desire for vengeance. 

The nature of the kresowiacy community was also determined by two other fac-
tors. The first was that the political situation between 1945 and 1990 did not allow 
the survivors of the ethnic cleansing to come to terms with the traumatic past and to 
openly mourn the loss of their relatives. The second factor consisted of the generally 
uncritical, multipatriotic, and multinationalist politics of reconciliation between 
Poland and Ukraine after 1990. This multipatriotic approach acknowledged the per-
petrators on both sides as patriotic soldiers, freedom fighters, or even national he-
roes, and it did not pay much attention to the victims of the “national heroes.” 

Characterizing the kresowiacy community, one should also differentiate between 
the nationalist instrumentalization of history, conducted by the community activists, 
and the empirical research conducted by historians associated with the community. 
Historians such as Ewa Siemaszko and Władysław Siemaszko collected a vast num-
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ber of survivor testimonies, which are a very important source for the study of the 
ethnic cleansing conducted against the Poles in 1943‒1944. The testimonies were 
frequently instrumentalized by other kresowiacy historians, who presented the eth-
nic cleansing as genocide (ludobójstwo), thereby competing in suffering with other 
genocides, in particular the Holocaust and the crimes of the Soviet regime. For ex-
ample, Aleksander Korman described 362 “methods of physical torture, and also of 
psychological ones applied by the terrorists from the OUN-UPA and other Ukrainian 
chauvinists … against Poles” and pointed out that Aleksandr Solzhenitsyn mentioned 
only fifty NKVD torture methods.191 Similarly, the kresowiacy community regarded 
the investigation of Polish crimes against the Ukrainian population as a distortion 
and falsification of history and accused historians who investigated them, of carrying 
out a “top-secret instruction” from the OUN to distort the history of the ethnic clean-
sing against Poles.192 No less problematic were the numerous mistakes or deliberate 
falsifications in the publications of this community. For example, the cover of a pho-
tograph album that documents the UPA murders of Poles shows a picture of the 
corpses of four children bound to a tree. The photograph, however, did not depict 
OUN-UPA victims but showed children killed in 1923 by a mentally ill mother.193 

In 1999 in Wrocław, the kresowiacy community erected a memorial—the sil-
houette of a crucified Jesus, cut into two massive slabs of stone. The front of the 
monument bore a plaque with the inscription: “To the Polish citizens murdered in 
the south-eastern border territories in 1939–1947 by the Organization of Ukrainian 
Nationalists (OUN) and the Ukrainian Insurgent Army (UPA).” A second plaque 
fixed to the monument informed viewers that the monument held earth from 2,000 
mass graves. A third one honored the Ukrainians who gave shelter to Poles (Fig. 
66).194 In addition to the one in Wrocław, the kresowiacy communities erected 
monuments and memorial plaques in other Polish cities, including Gdańsk, Kłodzko, 
and Chełm. In 2003, on the sixtieth anniversary of the ethnic cleansing in Volhynia, 
the Society to Commemorate the Victims of the Crimes of Ukrainian Nationalists in 
Wrocław (Stowarzyszenie Upamiętnienia Ofiar Zbrodni Ukraińskich Nacjonalistów 
z Wrocławia, SUOZUNzW) unveiled a monument in the military cemetery in 
Przemyśl, which depicted corpses of children bound to a tree with barbed wire, as in 
the photograph from 1923. When it became apparent that the photograph depicting 
the dead children was taken twenty years before the ethnic cleansing, the 
SUOZUNzW denied that the monument was prepared on the basis of this particular 
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Fig. 66. Memorial in Wrocław devoted to “the Polish citizens murdered in the south-eastern 

border territories in 1939–1947 by the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists (OUN)  

and the Ukrainian Insurgent Army (UPA).” 
 

photograph and argued that binding children to a tree was one of the UPA’s killing 
methods. Nevertheless, the monument was dismantled in 2008.195 In Legnica in 
2009, the city council named a street “The Boulevard of the Victims of the Genocide 
of the OUN-UPA” (Aleja Ofiar Ludobójstwa OUN-UPA).196 In addition to their own 
monuments, the kresowiacy also identified themselves with the Soviet monuments 
erected to the victims of the OUN-UPA.197 

In 2004 the most prolific historian of the kresowiacy community, Edward Prus, 
published a Bandera biography titled Stepan Bandera (1909–1959): Symbol of 
Crime and Cruelty.198 Prus began publishing on the subject of the OUN-UPA, in the 
mid-1980s in communist Poland.199 Although he accumulated an impressive amount 
of documentation on Ukrainian nationalism, the majority of his publications pre-
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sented a victimized nationalist narrative. Prus omitted and denied atrocities com-
mitted by Polish military troops, and he inflated the atrocities of the OUN-UPA into 
massacres much more horrible than the Holocaust and all other major crimes against 
humanity. Many of his publications were written in a non-academic format without 
an appropriate indication of sources. As in the case of Soviet publications, this made 
it impossible to verify the integrity of the author’s arguments. In addition to imitat-
ing offensive Soviet language, he also used propagandist articles in Soviet news-
papers, and documents such as Albert Norden’s speech at a press conference in 1959 
as sources, exactly as the Soviet historians had done.200 In addition, his publications 
were not free from factual mistakes.201 

In the Bandera biography, relying on such Soviet writers as Beliaev, Prus stated 
that Bandera “in his youth strangled small cats with one hand in the presence of his 
colleagues, in order to ‘toughen his will’ and after the early 1930s, applied these 
methods to humans.”202 Similarly Prus characterized Bandera as “nasty and cruel. It 
should be emphasized strongly: in Poland and in Ukraine—in general—Bandera is a 
symbol of atrocities, crimes, arson, looting—all the most evil things a man can con-
duct. ‘You bandera! [Pol. Ty bandero!]’ is a swear word for a Ukrainian from Kiev 
because this term is the negation of the evangelic truth and of good.”203 In addition to 
denying that Ukrainians and other national minorities were discriminated against in 
Poland, Prus also blamed Bandera, the OUN, and Jews for the Soviet deportations of 
Poles during the first occupation of eastern Poland in 1939–1941. Like Soviet his-
torians, he wrongly argued that the Nachtigall battalion was the main perpetrator of 
the Lviv pogrom in July 1941.204 In general, the most prominent kresowiacy historian 
combined the Soviet approach to history with the Polish martyrological one, which 
was not free of antisemitism. Prus wrote an entire monograph on something he 
called the “Banderite Holocaust” but simultaneously denied Polish crimes against 
Jews and presented “Jewish Bolshevism” as a historical fact.205 

The Bandera Debate 

In early 2009 the online newspaper Zaxid.net published a series of essays about 
Bandera and started a debate that became more fervent a year later, when President 
Iushchenko designated Bandera a Hero of Ukraine. It was the first debate in which 
critical voices were not entirely ignored, and which challenged the apologetic narra-
tive on Bandera, the OUN-UPA, and Ukrainian nationalism. During the debate, Ukr-
ainian intellectuals openly discussed for the first time subjects such as Ukrainian 
fascism, antisemitism, and the ethnic and political atrocities conducted by the OUN 
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and UPA. At least three groups with different points of view manifested themselves. 
The first, embodied by Franziska Bruder, John-Paul Himka, David Marples, Per 
Anders Rudling, Timothy Snyder, and myself, represented a critical approach to 
Bandera and the OUN and UPA. The second group, represented by “liberal” and 
“progressive” Ukrainian scholars such as Iaroslav Hrytsak, Andrii Portnov, Vasyl’ 
Rasevych, and Mykola Riabchuk; and diaspora intellectuals such as Alexander Motyl 
and Zenon Kohut, tried to combine a critical approach to Bandera and the OUN-UPA 
with post-Soviet and diaspora nationalism and defended Bandera by using various 
arguments. The third group, which included Volodymyr V”iatrovych, Marco Le-
vytsky, Askold Lozynskyj, and Stephen Bandera, denied everything that Bandera 
critics reasoned about the Providnyk and OUN-UPA, and defended them by means 
of various strategies of omission, denial, and justification. 

In early 2009, when Zaxid.net published the essays, it became clear that the sub-
ject of the blemishes of Bandera and his movement was still taboo. The popular and 
progressive internet journal published V”iatrovych’s article without any comment, 
although he declared that OUN assassinations and murders were not terrorist acts, 
that the ethnic violence conducted by the OUN-UPA was a legitimate measure of the 
“national liberation fight,” and that Bandera did not collaborate with Nazi Germany. 
In contrast, my own article, drawing attention to the atrocities committed by the 
OUN-B and criticizing the denial-oriented attitude toward such issues in today’s 
Ukraine, drew the remark from the editors that they “do not agree with a number of 
the author’s theses.”206 

The second debate after the designation of Bandera as a Hero of Ukraine took 
place, for the most part, in English-language newspapers and journals, and to a 
smaller extent in Ukraine. On 7 February 2010, David Marples wrote in the Edmon-
ton Journal that Iushchenko “surely erred when he conferred on Bandera the title—
paradoxically it sounds typically Soviet—Hero of Ukraine [because] in the 21st 
century, his [Bandera’s] views seem archaic and dangerous. He embraced violence, 
terror and intolerance toward other ethnicities living on Ukrainian lands.”207 Mar-
ples’ statement caused a flow of angry reactions from Ukrainian nationalists and 
motivated “liberal” historians to write more moderate but no less problematic ar-
ticles. The debate was not so much about the person of Bandera as it was about the 
symbol of Ukrainian nationalism and the OUN-UPA, or more precisely about the 
evaluation of their deeds and their relevance for today’s Ukraine. 

In his article “A Fascist Hero in a Democratic Kiev” Snyder wrote that Bandera 
and the OUN sought “to turn Ukraine into a fascist one-party dictatorship without 
national minorities.”208 In an interview in March 2010, he emphasized that Bandera 

 
206  Volodymyr V”iatrovych, “Bandera: stari ta novi mify,” zakhid.net, 8 January 2009, http://zaxid.net/ 

home/showSingleNews.do?bandera_stari_ta_novi_mifi&objectId=1068824 (accessed 1 November 
2011); Grzegorz Rossoliński-Liebe, “Obraz Stepana Bandery v pol’s’kii natsional’nii svidomosti,” 
http://zaxid.net/news/showNews.do?obraz_stepana_banderi_v_polskiy_natsionalniy_svidomosti&
objectId=1069869 (accessed 1 November 2011). 

207  David Marples, “Hero of Ukraine Linked to the Murder of 4000 Jews,” Edmonton Journal, 7 
February 2010. 

208  Timothy Snyder, “A Fascist Hero in Democratic Kiev,” 24 February 2010, The New York Review of 
Books, http://www.nybooks.com/blogs/nyrblog/2010/feb/24/a-fascist-hero-in-democratic-kiev/ 
(accessed 1 November 2011). 



 Chapter 10: Return to Ukraine 521 

 

lived in a fascist era and was very much influenced by fascism. He argued that “in the 
1920’s and 30’s, Bandera was ideologically fascist. However these were times when 
many Europeans were fascists. French writers were fascists, Romanian philosophers 
were fascists, and the Italian government was fascist. Further, there is no doubt that 
fascism had a great influence on National Socialism.”209 Like Marples, Snyder con-
demned the violence of the OUN-UPA and criticized Bandera’s designation as a hero: 

Firstly, the idea of declaring certain individuals to be heroes is a very Soviet idea, 
and I think that those people who approve of Bandera’s actions and support dec-
laring him (and especially Shukhevych) a hero, should pause for a moment and 
consider the fact that the introduction of the hero appellation is a borrowing from 
the Soviet Union. Both fascists and communists held the view that individuals 
could be heroes. … People are arguing about who should be declared a hero, but 
no one is expressing any doubts as to whether there should even be such an 
appellation.210 

Himka described the history of the OUN in terms similar to Snyder’s, but with 
more details concerning OUN ideology and the war crimes committed by this move-
ment in the name of that ideology: 

OUN was indeed a typical fascist organization as shown by many of its features: 
its leader principle (Führerprinzip), its aspiration to ban all other political parties 
and movements, its fascist-style slogan (Slava Ukraїni! Heroiam slava!), its red-
and-black flag, its raised-arm salute, its xenophobia and antisemitism, its cult of 
violence, and its admiration of Hitler, Mussolini, and other leaders of fascist 
Europe. What’s not fascist here?211 

Unlike Snyder, Himka also offered a commentary on the present. He explained 
how apologists present fascism as patriotism, and fascists and war criminals as free-
dom fighters. One such historian, Kohut, termed by Himka an “ideological watch 
dog,” had been an expert on pre-modern Ukrainian history. He neither studied 
Ukrainian nationalism, nor the OUN and UPA, nor published anything about these 
subjects, but in the debate he reproached Marples and Himka for their assessment of 
Bandera. Criticizing Kohut, Himka brought attention to the very important and dis-
turbing problem of historians who were socialized in nationalist diaspora commun-
ities, identified with the political tradition of Bandera and the OUN-UPA, and had a 
vested and culturally determined interest in denying the war crimes of that move-
ment.212  

Scholars in the next group—described in this book as “progressive” and “liberal”— 
protected the right to have an “inconvenient hero.” Many of them were not so much 
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interested in history as concerned by current politics, in particular by paragraph 20 
of the resolution of the European Parliament from 25 February 2010, which “deeply 
deplores the decision by the outgoing President of Ukraine, Viktor Yushchenko, 
posthumously to award Stepan Bandera, a leader of the Organization of Ukrainian 
Nationalists (OUN) which collaborated with Nazi Germany, the title of ‘National 
Hero of Ukraine’; hopes, in this regard, that the new Ukrainian leadership will recon-
sider such decisions and will maintain its commitment to European values.”213 

Very typical for this group were the opinions expressed by Iaroslav Hrytsak who 
specialized in Ukrainian nineteenth-century history but also published a few articles 
on Jewish-Ukrainian relations, the Second World War, and the Holocaust.214 During 
the debate, Hrytsak expressed mainly political concerns about the designation of 
Bandera as a Hero of Ukraine, because it could jeopardize the process of the integra-
tion of Ukraine into the European Union. In an interview given on 27 January 2010, 
he argued that the status of Bandera, as of every national hero, is contested: “A hero 
for some is an anti-hero for others,” and that “if we really wish to begin the process of 
integration with the EU, we have to be careful with the sensitivity of our neighbors—
in particular those who are our only strategic partners [Poles].”215  

In an article published a few weeks later, he stated that the Holocaust had been 
an important part of European self-understanding but not in Ukraine and several 
other countries that had been either republics or satellite states of the Soviet Union. 
Furthermore, he stated that small nations, in which category he included Ukrainians, 
should have, in terms of dealing with their own history, different rights from those of 
other nations and should be allowed to commemorate “inconvenient heroes,” such as 
Bandera, as symbols of resistance: 

“Small” nations have the right to have [inconvenient heroes like Bandera], as long 
as they celebrate those heroes not as symbols of violence against other people, but 
as symbols of resistance and struggle for their own survival and their own dignity. 
In the case of Bandera, the issue is not whether he was a fascist—the question is 
whether the majority of people who celebrate him, celebrate him as a fascist.216 

Alexander Motyl also responded to the resolution of the European Parliament. In 
his evaluation of Bandera and the Ukrainian nationalism, Motyl did not discuss such 
aspects as fascism in the OUN or the pogroms in 1941. He called the ethnic cleansing 
in 1943–44 the “Ukrainian-Polish violence in Volhynia,” which, in his view, had 
nothing in common with ethnic violence conducted by the Ustaša and should be 
compared instead to the violence of the “Irish nationalists against the British.” In 
addition to romanticizing the OUN-UPA’s violence, he pointed out the Soviet 
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atrocities committed in Ukraine and the OUN-UPA struggle against the Soviet Union 
and argued that Bandera represented that struggle.217 

In his reflections on Bandera and the EU resolution, Motyl asked, “Does conferral 
of Hero of Ukraine status represent a disregard for European values?” His answer 
was: “Viewed historically, European values include above all militarism, racism, anti-
Semitism, imperialism, and chauvinism. The values of democracy and human rights 
are a relatively recent historical addition to the plate and, strictly speaking, are not so 
much European values as the officially declared values of the European Union. 
Worse, these EU values are violated as often as they are observed—by Europeans 
themselves.”218 Along these lines, he argued that the European Union and “Euro-
peans” should not interfere in Ukrainian matters because “many nationally conscious 
Ukrainians—who represent the core of Ukraine’s civil society and democratic move-
ment—resent being singled out for their views of their heroes and point to double 
standards and European hypocrisy.”219 

Mykola Riabchuk, a popular intellectual whose publications portrayed Ukraine as 
a Russian colony, also explained why Ukrainians need not come to terms with their 
own past but should rather continue celebrating the Providnyk. Relying on Motyl, he 
argued: 

Ukraine is not just a “normal” nation, with firm identity and secure statehood, 
that chooses presumably between authoritarianism and democracy, i.e. in this 
case, between crypto-fascist legacy exemplified by Bandera and OUN and liberal-
democratic values promoted by the EU. … The real choice is to either defend the 
national sovereignty, dignity, and identity, or give them away to Russia and/or its 
‘Creole’ subsidiaries. Under these circumstances, the second part of Bandera’s 
legacy remains relevant—that of patriotism, national solidarity, self-sacrifice, 
idealistic commitment to common goals and values.220 

Andrii Portnov, an ambitious and talented historian also followed similar ways of 
reasoning. In an article published in Krytyka, he was unconcerned about the 
heroization of Bandera and the OUN-UPA. Following Armstrong, he called the OUN-
UPA “integral nationalists” and suggested that their cult would be a legitimate pur-
suit, and part of the de-Sovietization of Ukraine. He hesitated as to whether one 
solution to the problems of contemporary Ukrainian politics of memory could be a 
“regional pluralism of symbols,” which in the Ukrainian case meant monuments to 
Stalin in the east and to Bandera in the west.221 
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The historian Anatolii Rusnachenko, who specialized in the OUN-UPA, took 
offence at Snyder’s categorization of Bandera as a fascist. He set about correcting 
Snyder, who, according to him, “does not master the topic very well.” Rusnachenko 
claimed that “attributing fascism to Bandera is a clear exaggeration, even if there 
were [fascist] tendencies.” Rather than denying the OUN crimes, Rusnachenko dimi-
nished them. “True, the OUN did carry out terror (even though it was not on a sig-
nificant scale), but we should not forget about the terror that the Poles carried out in 
occupied Eastern Galicia.” Rusnachenko did not clarify how 70,000 to 100,000 
Polish victims of the Ukrainian nationalist terror were not significant, but he was 
concerned that one who investigates the crimes of the OUN-UPA might forget the 
Ukrainian victims murdered by Poles during and after the Second World War. 
Finally, he took Snyder to task for his unwillingness to separate Bandera the fascist 
leader from Bandera the heroic symbol of Ukrainian patriotism. Snyder, 
Rusnachenko wrote, “does not want to admit that Bandera was and remains simply a 
symbol of the liberation movement and a personification of the idea of uncompro-
mising struggle against all enemies of Ukraine and Ukrainianness.”222 

Vitalii Ponomar’ov insisted that both Himka’s and Snyder’s characterizations of 
the OUN as a fascist organization were wrong. His first evidence for this claim was 
that Soviet propaganda also described the OUN as fascist. Another was that the OUN 
could not possibly have been fascist because, “as the historian Iaroslav Hrytsak 
rightly remarked, it is contradictory to the nature of fascism to write about ‘Polish,’ 
‘Czech,’ or ‘Ukrainian’ fascism because fascism sought a partial or total destruction of 
these nations.”223 

One of the participants in the debate, Niklas Bernsand, from Lund University, 
whose article was translated into Ukrainian and published in the leading Ukrainian 
journal Krytyka, compared the cult of Bandera to that of the Croatian general Ante 
Gotovina, who was sentenced by the International Criminal Tribunal for the former 
Yugoslavia in April 2011 to twenty-four years imprisonment for crimes against hu-
manity. “Should the Croats,” Bernsand asked, “be judged for their public expressions 
of sympathy for a person who is responsible for the ethnic cleansing of non-Croat 
cities and villages?” He answered his question in the negative and applied this logic 
to the Bandera cult in Ukraine: “I will not ... argue ‘for’ or ‘against’ the presidential 
decree about turning Bandera into a Hero of Ukraine.”224 

The Bandera radical apologists, similarly to some of the “liberal” or diaspora in-
tellectuals, argued with Snyder, Himka, and Marples and tried to correct them. Un-
like the “liberal” intellectuals, they openly and extensively used far-right propaganda 
and introduced erroneous information. In response to Marples’ article, Marco 
Levytsky, the editor of Ukrainian News in Edmonton, suggested that the linking of 
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the OUN and Bandera to the pogroms in 1941 is “Vladimir Putin-style ex-KGB falsi-
fication.” Similarly, he claimed that the Jews “had disproportionate membership” in 
the NKVD and blamed them for the killing of “4,000 to 8,000 civilian prisoners,” 
who were murdered by the NKVD after 22 June 1941 in Ukrainian prisons. In addi-
tion, he claimed that the UPA did not kill Jews and he quoted Fishbein, who stated 
that writing about Jews killed by the UPA is a “provocation engineered by Moscow.” 
Levytsky also enumerated all the famous Ukrainians who saved Jews.225 

Stephen Bandera defended the honor of his grandfather, his family, and all those 
individuals who identified themselves with the Providnyk. In his response to Mar-
ples’ article, the Providnyk’s grandson argued that Marples’ column was “a rehash of 
misinformation.” He claimed that the statement about OUN involvement in the po-
grom was misleading. As evidence, he offered the fact that not a single OUN member 
was brought to trial by the International Military Tribunal at Nuremberg. Similarly, 
in order to evoke the impression that no OUN members were involved in the Holo-
caust, he pointed out that Bandera’s two brothers were killed in Auschwitz. Further-
more, he argued that “our family cleared the Bandera name before the Commission 
of Inquiry on War Criminals in Canada in 1985.” Stephen Bandera ended his article 
with the argument that “if Stepan Bandera was even guilty of half the crimes of which 
Marples and his ilk accuse him, then he would have been swinging from the gallows 
at Nuremberg 65 years ago.”226 

The debate did not focus on the person of Bandera but rather on Bandera as the 
symbol of the OUN and UPA, or of a specific epoch of Ukrainian history, or on the 
movement associated with his name. During the debate, it became clear that Ukrai-
nian historians and intellectuals were not prepared to distance themselves from 
difficult elements of the Ukrainian past, such as the fascist tendencies in Ukrainian 
history and the atrocities committed in the name of Ukrainian nationalism. A huge 
obstacle to rethinking or discussing the history of Ukrainian nationalism was the fact 
that the Holocaust was marginalized, ignored, and politically distorted in the Soviet 
Union, in communities of the Ukrainian diaspora, and also in post-Soviet Ukraine. 
Another obstacle to debating Bandera was the lack of critical research on Bandera, 
Ukrainian nationalism, and the involvement of Ukrainians and the OUN-UPA in the 
Holocaust and other kinds of ethnic and political violence. However, we should keep 
in mind that several articles and monographs (for example by Marco Carynnyk, Karel 
Berkhoff, Schmuel Spector, and Grzegorz Motyka) relating to Bandera and the OUN-
UPA had already been published a decade before the debate, or even earlier. These 
publications were known to historians or intellectuals, at least such as Iaroslav 
Hrytsak, Alexander Motyl, Mykola Riabchuk, and Andrii Portnov, who read English, 
German, Polish, and other languages. V’’iatrovych also quoted some of the 
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publications, even if only to dismiss them as “Soviet propaganda.” One should 
therefore not underestimate the impact of the Bandera cult on the course of the 
debate and on the general understanding of Bandera in post-Soviet Ukraine and in 
the Ukrainian diaspora.227 

Finally, one needs to point out that the debate was not only about history but also 
about Ukrainian identity, which is still in the process of construction. It is difficult to 
predict how much time this process will take and what its results will be. The Soviet 
Union and the far-right factions of the Ukrainian diaspora left Ukrainian intellectuals 
a difficult and challenging political and intellectual heritage. Nevertheless, Ukrainian 
intellectuals and politicians are not obliged to preserve and protect victimized, he-
roized, or otherwise distorted and politicized versions of their own history. Nor do 
they need to behave as if they could have no control over the Bandera cult and the 
process of creating a new Ukrainian identity. In the end, none but they would have to 
rethink Bandera and the difficult part of Ukrainian history related to and associated 
with him. 

Bandera in the Context of other Leader Cults 

During the twentieth century, cults of authoritarian, fascist, nationalist, communist, 
military, and other leaders erupted in many countries, societies, and movements. 
They persisted in their original or in mutated forms for different lengths of time. 
Some of them, like the Bandera cult, have thrived until today. After the dissolution of 
the Soviet Union, the cults of communist leaders generally disappeared in East Cen-
tral Europe, although we should not forget the attempts to rehabilitate Stalin in some 
parts of the former Soviet territories, including eastern Ukraine. At the same time, 
cults of former fascist, authoritarian, and other far-right leaders reappeared in sev-
eral postcommunist countries, although the leaders themselves were already dead. 
The new cults appeared because of various reasons such as political and cultural 
confusion, or nostalgic identification with the romanticized forms of former move-
ments or their ideologies. Post-Soviet leader cults have been created by various 
groups, including paramilitary organizations, intellectuals, restaurant managers, and 
vendors of wine and T-shirts. A similar kind of commercialization and diffusion of 
leader cults had already occurred in Italy and to a lesser extent in Germany, before 
the collapse of the Soviet Union. 

In Poland, the cult of Roman Dmowski—the leader of the Polish Endecja, who in 
the 1920s and 1930s “elevated antisemitism from a historically and religiously rooted 
prejudice to the level of political ideology and action”—materialized in a monument 
to Dmowski, unveiled in 2006 in Warsaw.228 Unlike the Bandera cult, the Dmowski 
cult did not impact on leading historians and intellectuals. It mainly affected or was 
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constructed by conservative and right-wing politicians and by some confused scho-
lars. Nevertheless, one should not underestimate the legitimizing power of academic 
silence around this antidemocratic phenomenon. Similarly to the Bandera cult, that 
of the Endecja leader was cultivated during the Cold War by factions among emi-
grants. Like the Bandera worshipers, Dmowski admirers have denied or diminished 
the antisemitic and extremist views expressed by him and the Endecja movement 
and have prized his patriotism and his devotion to the process of establishing a 
nation state. They have also propagated distorted nationalist versions of Polish his-
tory. They have denied the Polish involvement in the Holocaust and have presented 
the Poles as tragic but brave heroes and martyrs, and the victims of their neighbors, 
in particular Germans and Russians.229 

The rehabilitation of the Romanian authoritarian leader Antonescu was related to 
the fact that he was convicted by a Romanian communist tribunal and executed by 
the communist Romanian authorities. This, as in the case of Bandera’s assassination, 
gave him a touch of martyrdom. Unlike Bandera however, Antonescu was not impri-
soned during the Second World War, during which his troops committed numerous 
war crimes against Jews and other people. National-communist Romanian writers 
and historians depicted Antonescu as a patriot and victim as early as the 1970s, but 
the actual rehabilitation of Antonescu took place after 1990. In postcommunist dis-
courses, the Romanian leader was turned into an “anti-Bolshevik fighter,” a “great 
patriot,” “martyr,” and a “complex personality.” No mention was made of his involve-
ment in the Holocaust, and Jews were remembered only as helpers of the Bolsheviks. 
Streets were named after him and a few busts were unveiled. Some officers from 
Antonescu’s government were rehabilitated, among them Prime Minister Gheron 
Netta who had introduced the racial laws in 1940. It was only in the early 2000s that 
the Romanian government removed Antonescu monuments, renamed the Antonescu 
streets and introduced a law prohibiting all kinds of radical right propaganda, in 
order not to jeopardize Romanian integration into the European Union and 
NATO.230 

In addition to the Antonescu cult, far-right Romanians did not permit the decay 
of the cult of Corneliu Zelea Codreanu, the charismatic founder and leader of the 
Legion of the Archangel Michael, known as the Iron Guard. In contrast to this cult, a 
cult of Codreanu’s follower Horia Sima did not reemerge in Romania, either during 
the Cold War or after 1990. Similarly to Bandera, Sima spent a substantial part of the 
Second World War in German detention. In August 1944, he was released to form a 
Romanian government and to mobilize Romanians for further struggle against the 
Soviet Union. After the Second World War, Sima was not prosecuted by international 
war tribunals because he was not in Romania when the crimes were committed. 
During the Cold War, Sima lived in Austria, France, and Spain. Like Bandera he 
became a fervent anticommunist Cold War fighter, and a controversial leader of the 
far-right Romanian émigrés. Unlike Bandera, he was not assassinated, and died in 
Madrid in 1993. During the Cold War, veterans of the Iron Guard, living in Canada, 
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Portugal, Spain, the United States, and several Latin American countries, prolonged 
the cult of Codreanu and worshiped Sima, only to a much lesser extent. After 1990, 
the Codreanu cult reappeared in Romania but for various reasons did not attract as 
much attention as the Antonescu cult.231 

In postcommunist Slovakia, attempts to rehabilitate the clerical fascist leader Jo-
zef Tiso came from nationalist, émigré, and Catholic circles. Tiso had already been 
turned into a martyr by Slovak far-right émigrés after his execution in April 1947. 
Afterwards he was commemorated as a hero, patriot, victim of circumstance, or a 
martyr. During the Cold War, Tiso’s admirers lived similarly to the Ukrainian dias-
pora in various Western countries. They included personalities such as Ferdinand 
Ďurčanský, who had been sentenced in absentia to death in the same trial as Tiso, 
but was not executed, and who, during the Cold War worked together with Stets’ko in 
the ABN. Another far-right Slovak thinker, Milan Ďurica, a professor in Italy and a 
Roman Catholic priest, argued that Tiso was a democrat and an opponent of the 
Nazis, who saved the lives of 35,000 Jews. After the breakup of the Soviet bloc, the 
Slovak far-right émigrés began, similarly to Bandera’s adherents in Ukraine, to play 
an important role in reinventing Tiso’s myth in Slovakia. Nevertheless, unlike in 
Ukraine, some Slovak historians did not succumb to the nationalist myths of the far-
right émigrés and began challenging their thesis.232 One plaque in memory of Tiso 
was unveiled in July 1990 in Banovce nad Bebravou and another one in October 1991 
at the house of his birth in Bytča. The attempt to install a plaque in 2000 in Žilina 
was cancelled due to protests from the US embassy in Bratislava and from the Jewish 
community of Slovakia.233 Defending the plaques, some Slovak public figures argued 
that “Tiso’s contribution to the nation should be separated from his responsibility for 
the wartime state.” They thereby used arguments similar to those of the Ukrainian 
“liberal” historians who defended Bandera.234 The integration of Slovakia in the EU 
downplayed the Tiso cult to some extent, but after Slovakia joined the EU in 2004 
some far-right, populist, and clerical public figures continued to rehabilitate Tiso. In 
December 2006 Ján Sokol, Archbishop of Bratislava-Trnava stated that under Tiso’s 
presidency the country “enjoyed a period of well-being.” Cardinal Ján Chrisostom 
Korec defended Tiso five months later on television, arguing that Tiso had “very good 
relations with Jews.”235 The Jewish community frequently protested against such 
attempts to rehabilitate the Slovak Vodca.236 James Mace Ward, who in 2013 pub-
lished the first scholarly biography of Tiso, concluded that: “Only in a moral order 
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that devaluates [the memory of the Holocaust and European values] can Tiso tri-
umph as a martyr.”237 

Pavelić seems to have been celebrated and sacralized by Ustaša veterans and radi-
cal right sections of the Croatian diaspora, very similarly to Bandera by the far-right 
factions of the Ukrainian diaspora. After 1990 the Pavelić cult appeared in Croatia 
but it did not take as lavish and persistent form as the Bandera cult in Ukraine. 
Uncritical and hagiographical books on Pavelić appeared, cafes and kindergartens 
were named after him, but no monuments authorized by the Croatian authorities 
devoted to the Poglavnik were unveiled and no streets were named after him. The 
Poglavnik and Croatian fascism were rehabilitated to some extent by the policies of 
reconciliation instituted by the first government of Franjo Tuđman. These policies 
were intended to bring together the admirers and the opponents of the Ustaša legacy. 
They diminished Ustaša crimes and sought to differentiate between the good NDH 
(Independent State of Croatia) and the bad Ustaša. This resembled the distinction 
between commemorating Bandera as a fascist, or as a symbol of resistance, which 
was made by some Ukrainian “liberal” and “progressive” intellectuals during the 
Bandera debate. Radical right groups such as the Croatian Party of Rights (Hrvatska 
stranka prava, HSP) openly celebrated the Poglavnik, using the former Croatian 
fascist aesthetics and symbols. They also reintroduced fascist rituals, such as the 
Ustaša greeting “Ready for the Homeland!” (Za dom spremni!). The radical right 
activists argued, similarly to the nationalist and some “liberal” historians in Ukraine, 
that the Ustaša was not involved in the Holocaust, because several Jews survived the 
Second World War in the territories controlled by the Croatian fascists. An important 
symbol for Pavelić’s admirers became Bleiburg, where Yugoslav partisans had killed 
Ustaša functionaries in 1945. The site has been visited by many different types of 
Croatian patriots and far-right activists, who commemorated the Ustaša members 
killed in Bleiburg as heroes and martyrs. Ustaša flags frequently waved during these 
commemorations, and portraits of the Poglavnik and other prominent Ustaša were 
available at stands. After 2000 the rehabilitation of the Ustaša and Pavelić became 
less evident, although the nationalist tendency to diminish Ustaša crimes has not 
evaporated in postcommunist Croatia.238 
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CONCLUSION 

Nationalist, fascist, and other totalitarian leaders played an important role in 
twentieth-century European history. They symbolized various political ideas, in-
cluding genocidal ones, mobilized movements and sometimes even whole societies to 
fight against other people, set up political cults around themselves, and claimed to 
represent the pride of their nations. Stepan Bandera, the legendary Providnyk of the 
OUN-B, was one of the central figures of the revolutionary and genocidal Ukrainian 
nationalist movement, which resembled movements such as the Ustaša, the Iron 
Guard, and the Hlinka Party. As one of the most significant symbols of the OUN and 
UPA, Bandera has for decades occupied an important place in the Ukrainian collec-
tive memory and identity. Ukrainian patriots and nationalists have remembered him 
as a true national hero and anticommunist martyr who struggled and fell for 
Ukraine, and have worshiped him as a brave freedom fighter.  

To understand Bandera, it is important to distinguish between two levels. The 
first level comprises the different politics of memory and collective memories that 
glorify Bandera and those that stigmatize him. The second level consists of the his-
tory of his life, his cult, and his movement. In order to investigate these two, not 
entirely separate, levels it was necessary to examine Bandera, his movement, and his 
cult from various perspectives but without equating the perspectives offered by 
different kinds of documents. To equate testimonies of the survivors of the OUN or 
UPA atrocities with OUN-UPA propaganda leaflets that deny the experiences rec-
orded in such testimonies, would relativize and distort history. Similarly, one should 
be critical of documents such as records of NKVD coercive interrogations, and Soviet 
articles and pamphlets, in which Bandera and his followers were accused of crimes 
that they had not committed. 

Bandera and his cohorts changed in the course of time. They adjusted to new pol-
itical and social circumstances but they did not substantially change their far-right, 
essentially fascist, convictions, or abandon the idea of “liberating” Ukraine and turn-
ing it into an authoritarian nation state of a fascist type. Despite his expectations, 
Bandera did not become the Providnyk of a Ukrainian collaborationist state in 1941. 
This fact, as well as his detention until September 1944, helped him to avoid arrest 
and repression after the Second World War and enabled him to prolong the “libera-
tion struggle” against the “enemies of the Ukrainian nation” during the Cold War. 
Unlike Pavelić in Croatia, who had been more “lucky” and “successful” than the 
Providnyk in 1941, Bandera did not need to ask Perón or Franco for protection after 
the Second World War, although the Caudillo invited him to settle in Spain. At that 
time, Bandera allied himself with some Western intelligence services and enjoyed 
their protection. 

The OUN, as a movement rooted in western Ukraine, changed between the 1930s 
and the early 1950s but, similarly to Bandera, it did not give up its nationalist and 
ethnic orientation. The OUN was the offspring of the terrorist UVO and in the 1930s 
it remained a terrorist and ultranationalist organization very similar to the Ustaša, 
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with which it closely cooperated. It began to develop in a different direction from that 
of the Ustaša, after Hitler did not recognize the Ukrainian state proclaimed on 30 
June 1941 in Lviv, and had a number of leading OUN-B members arrested. Never-
theless, in terms of ethnic violence the OUN did not differ substantially from the 
Ustaša and several other East Central European fascist movements. After founding 
the UPA in late 1942 and early 1943, the OUN became a partisan underground move-
ment similar to the Forest Brothers in the Baltic States but once again it did not give 
up its fanatical and suicidal nationalism and did not cease killing civilians en masse. 

The ambiguity concerning Bandera, his movement, and his cult may be illustrated 
by the use of the term “Banderite,” which has been employed to describe different 
kinds of people and concepts. People were known as Banderites or otherwise identi-
fied with Bandera at different times, for different reasons, and in different circums-
tances. Among “Banderites” we would find, on the one hand, war criminals, fascist 
revolutionaries, and people in the diaspora or in post-Soviet Ukraine, who, for vari-
ous reasons, developed a positive attitude to Bandera and who commemorated and 
sacralized him. On the other, we would also find people who were named after Ban-
dera because they were accused of helping the OUN-UPA, or because they spoke 
Ukrainian in Russian speaking parts of Ukraine, or because they were considered to 
be opponents of the Soviet regime. When evaluating the Bandera cult, it is important 
to recall these differences and to emphasize the various politicizations of the subject. 

The Person, the Movement, and the Cult 

It would be wrong to impose on Bandera only one political identity, and label him as 
a nationalist, fascist, terrorist, or opponent of the Soviet Union, or a revolutionary 
idealist. As this study has shown, Bandera was influenced by a number of ideologies 
and environments, and also by religion. Depending on the specific point in time, he 
was more open to fascism than to nationalism, or to terrorism than to revolutionary 
idealism. Beside his political career he also had a private life: he was the son of a 
Greek Catholic priest, a brother to three sisters and three brothers, a husband and 
father of three children, the friend of a large number of people, some of whom liked 
his sense of humor, and a father figure to some of his comrades-in-arms. He was also 
allegedly an unsuccessful rapist and a man obsessed with women. Conflicting ideas 
flowed through his mind and he engaged in various activities, but his most important 
achievement was to become the leader of a movement that tried to establish an 
authoritarian nation state of a fascist type, and that attempted to “cleanse” this state 
of ethnic enemies and political opponents, including Jews, Poles, Russians, “Soviets,” 
and even communist, leftist, conservative, and democratic Ukrainians. 

Bandera seems not necessarily to have had an evil, monstrous or sadistic per-
sonality, as some of his critics would argue. The main discomfort caused by his per-
sonality results from the fact that he totally subordinated himself to the idea of 
“liberating” Ukraine. He accepted mass violence as a means to that end and as a 
result, he lacked empathy toward certain kinds of people, in particular the “occupi-
ers” and the “enemies of the nation.” He regarded their elimination as a political 
success and was prepared to send thousands of his followers to certain death. Even if 
some of his ideals such as protecting the Ukrainians against Poles and Russians 
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might appear to have been noble, the methods he and his movement used should be 
exposed and criticized, together with their ongoing denial and euphemization. 

Bandera grew up in a patriotic and religious family and environment. His mind-
set was initially shaped by his father, a Greek Catholic priest and national activist 
who engaged in the struggle for a Ukrainian state. Religion was a very important 
value for Bandera but not more than nationalism. In his youth, Bandera’s attitudes 
were influenced by the unsuccessful attempts to establish a Ukrainian state and by 
the Polish-Ukrainian conflict. The state proclaimed by Ukrainians in November 1918 
in Lviv was destroyed by Poles. The state the Ukrainians tried to establish in Kiev, at 
about the same time, was destroyed by the Soviets. Ukrainians in the Second Polish 
Republic regarded Poles as occupiers of Ukrainian territories, while Poles often 
treated Ukrainians as second-class citizens. Polish authorities closed Ukrainian-
language schools, forbade the use of the term “Ukrainian,” and in 1934 even repu-
diated the Little Treaty of Versailles, which had guaranteed minority rights to 
Byelorussians, Jews, Lithuanians, Russians, Ukrainians, and other non-Polish citi-
zens of the Second Republic. This state of affairs and also the situation of Ukrainians 
in Soviet Ukraine, in particular the famine of 1932–1933, had a substantial impact on 
Bandera. It convinced him and many other young Ukrainians that they had to use 
every method, including war and mass violence, to establish a state that would allow 
the Ukrainian people to “survive.” 

In his high-school period, Bandera studied Mikhnovs’kyi, Dontsov, and other 
ideologists who radicalized Ukrainian nationalism, which, in the nineteenth century, 
had been social and moderate rather than ethnic, racist, and aggressive. Bandera was 
also fascinated by various secret revolutionary and terrorist organizations such as the 
Russian nihilists, the Polish insurgents, the Bolsheviks, Italian Fascists, and German 
National Socialists. Under the influence of Dontsov, Bandera’s fascination with Lenin 
was transformed into a hatred of communism. As head of the propaganda apparatus 
of and later the leader of the homeland executive, Bandera demonstrated that he had 
internalized the ideological notions of extreme Ukrainian nationalism and European 
authoritarian, fascist, and racist discourses. 

Ukrainian far-right nationalism was rooted in eastern Galicia, where it became 
religious, populist, and mystical. Nevertheless, some of its most important ideolo-
gists, such as Mykhnovs’kyi and Dontsov, came from Russian Ukraine. Ukrainians 
from regions other than eastern Galicia had major difficulties comprehending the 
spiritualized and populist form of Galician nationalism. Galician Ukrainians under-
stood nationalism not as an ideological or political substance but most of all as cul-
ture. They based nationalism on religion and blurred the boundaries between them, 
of which one good example was Lenkavs’kyi’s “The Ten Commandments of a Ukrai-
nian Nationalist.” By this means the extremist Ukrainian nationalists undermined 
religious morality with ideological immorality and called their ideology the “new 
religion, the religion of Ukrainian nationalism.” 

The writings of Mikhnovs’kyi and Dontsov are crucial for the understanding of 
the worldview of the Bandera generation. Mikhnovs’kyi, an early propagator of an 
ethnic Ukrainian nationalism, coined the slogan “Ukraine for Ukrainians” and re-
commended Ukrainians not to “marry a foreign woman because your children will be 
your enemies.” Dontsov, the main ideologist of the Bandera generation, combined 
various nationalist, fascist, populist, and racist motifs. Like Mussolini, he was a so-
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cialist before the First World War. After the war, he became a far-right thinker and a 
passionate critic of communism, socialism, and democracy. He cleared moderate and 
socialist components out of Ukrainian nationalism and tried to transform it into a 
fascist ideology which was intended to protect Ukrainians against the Soviet Union 
and other “enemies.”  

Racism and eugenics were popularized in the Ukrainian nationalist discourse 
both before and after the First World War by intellectuals such as Stepan 
Rudnyts’kyi, whose influence on Ukrainian revolutionary and genocidal nationalism 
should not be underestimated. Rudnyts’kyi used racist theories to emphasize cultural 
and political differences between Ukrainians, and Poles and Russians, who, after 
centuries of close coexistence in the Ukrainian territories had become culturally and 
also linguistically quite similar. Young Ukrainian nationalists such as Bandera and 
Stets’ko came together at high schools, universities, and in organizations such as 
Plast, Sokil, and Luh. After school they read Mikhnovs’kyi, Dontsov, and 
Rudnyts’kyi; they discussed politics and their favored ideologists and followed the 
international authoritarian and fascist discourses. The Polish authorities 
strengthened their fascination with racism, fascism, and authoritarianism, by 
forbidding almost all activities that enhanced Ukrainian culture and consciousness. 
Polish policy motivated young Ukrainian nationalists to engage in forbidden 
conspiratorial organizations, to conduct terrorist acts, and to kill the “traitors of the 
Ukrainian nation.” 

 UVO, the first terrorist and nationalist organization, founded in 1920 in Prague 
by Ukrainian veterans of the First World War, did not play any major political role. 
Ukrainian nationalists became more popular and powerful only during the establish-
ment of the OUN which absorbed other nationalist and fascist organizations and 
could mobilize an increasing number of Ukrainians for its ultranationalist ideas. The 
leaders of the OUN promised to change the stateless condition of the Ukrainian 
nation imposed by the Treaty of Versailles and to establish a Ukrainian state which 
would protect the Ukrainians. Although the OUN sometimes collaborated with right-
wing factions of the UNDO, it criticized this national-democratic party and other 
centrist parties for their collaboration with the Polish authorities. In this manner the 
OUN weakened any democratic tendencies in Ukrainian society. The OUN’s admira-
tion of and orientation toward Nazi Germany, the cult of ethnic and political vio-
lence, its fascination with fascism, and its fervent hostility toward ethnic “enemies” 
and political opponents enabled it to win an increasing number of supporters. The 
nationalist policies practiced in Poland, especially after Piłsudski’s death, strength-
ened the OUN, which promised to liberate Ukraine from its “occupiers” and to rid its 
territory of its ethnic foes and political opponents.  

The OUN was from the very beginning divided into two generations, one born 
around 1890 and one around 1910. Bandera, one of the most eager and determined 
representatives of the younger generation, rose quickly through the ranks of the 
OUN. After becoming the Providnyk of the OUN homeland executive in 1932, Ban-
dera essentially contributed to the radicalization of the organization, which con-
sisted, however, of many other elements not less fanatical than him. In this sense 
there was a reciprocal relationship of radicalization and fanaticization between the 
main subject of this study and other young nationalists such as Stets’ko, Shukhevych, 
Lenkavs’kyi, and Lebed’. The OUN homeland executive under Bandera’s leadership 
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began killing more and more Ukrainians, among them OUN members accused of 
betrayal. If the executioners expressed moral doubts about killing other OUN mem-
bers, who were frequently Ukrainian students or high school pupils accused of be-
trayal or collaboration with Polish authorities, Bandera insisted that his orders be 
carried out. Although Bandera in his role as the leader of the homeland executive was 
subordinated to Konovalets’ and the leadership in exile, his contribution to the terror 
was significant. His eagerness and ruthlessness might have surprised his superiors, 
who were alarmed by the killing of other Ukrainians, especially OUN members. The 
plans to organize “green cadres” or a partisan movement suggest that Bandera and 
his homeland executive considered changing their tactics from organized terror to an 
underground movement, which would conduct an uprising and try to take power. 

Bandera’s cult emerged for the first time during the trials in Warsaw and Lviv in 
1935 and 1936, after Pieracki’s assassination. The propaganda apparatus of 
Piłsudski’s Sanacja portrayed Pieracki as a martyr, implied that he died for Poland, 
and tried to set up a political myth around him. This campaign stirred up collective 
anger among the Poles, which rebounded against the OUN when the authorities 
announced who, in the capital of Poland, had killed the minister and fighter for 
Polish independence. In this manner the Pieracki campaign unintentionally 
contributed to the formation of the Bandera cult. In particular the Warsaw trial drew 
much attention to the situation of Ukrainians in Poland, and to the revolutionary 
struggle of the Ukrainian nationalists. During the trials the OUN tried to use the 
court as a political stage; the defendants presented the organization as a movement 
that was driven by idealism and deeply patriotic feelings and sought to liberate the 
Ukrainian nation from the Polish and Soviet occupation. The defendants and wit-
nesses frequently performed fascist salutes to the words “Glory to Ukraine!” (Slava 
Ukraїni!) in front of the court and the press, for which they were punished by the 
court. The defendants demonstrated that they regarded Bandera as their Providnyk 
and implied that he might become the leader of the Ukrainian people after a change 
of political circumstances. Ukrainians followed the trials, reading reports in news-
papers, discussing them, and writing folk songs about them and the brave Bandera. 

The trials were political but they were not show trials. The “heroic” and patriotic 
conduct of the young Ukrainian idealists, who were punished for speaking their 
mother language, caused Polish intellectuals such as Mieczysław and Ksawery 
Pruszyński to romanticize the OUN and to compare Polish-Ukrainian relations to 
British-Irish and Spanish-Catalonian relations. The expertise of the prosecutor, 
Żeleński, concerning the morality of the organization, its ruthlessness toward its 
enemies, and the use of terror for propagandist and financial purposes, did not chal-
lenge the image of the romantic and idealistic OUN revolutionaries. Bandera’s death 
sentence, even though commuted to life imprisonment, turned him into a hero and 
martyr in the eyes of many Ukrainians in the Second Republic. 

Although the press reported much less about the Lviv trial than the one in War-
saw, the second trial was very significant for the formation of the Bandera cult. Dur-
ing the Lviv trial, the OUN mounted a ritualized propagandist spectacle. Bandera 
acted as the Providnyk of a fascist revolutionary organization that represented the 
Ukrainian nation and fought for the rights of the Ukrainian people. Fascist salutes 
were performed in Lviv even more often than in the first trial. Unlike in Warsaw, the 
defendants were allowed to speak in Ukrainian, which made them feel more comfort-
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able and encouraged them to deliver political speeches. Unlike in Warsaw, during the 
Lviv trial Bandera did not deny his involvement in the terrorist activities of the OUN 
or the fact that the organization had killed the Polish minister and a number of other 
persons. On the contrary, he recalled the killings and proudly announced that he 
personally ordered many of them to be carried out. According to him, they were a 
part of the Ukrainian “liberation struggle,” even if the majority of the victims were 
other Ukrainian patriots. Important for the understanding of Bandera’s worldview in 
the 1930s was his speech on 26 June 1936 during the Lviv trial, during which he 
stated that “our idea in our understanding is so huge that as it comes to its realiza-
tion, not hundreds but thousands of human lives have to be sacrificed in order to 
carry it out.” 

The attempts to release Bandera from Polish prisons suggest that a faction of the 
OUN regarded him as very significant for the movement and wanted him to become 
the new OUN leader after Konovalets’ assassination in May 1938. However, it was 
only the German invasion of Poland in September 1939 that set Bandera free. It also 
started a new and essential period in his life and in the history of the movement. 
Poland disappeared from the map of Europe, and the western Ukrainian territories 
were included in Soviet Ukraine. Ukrainian nationalists and other Ukrainian political 
groups allied themselves with Nazi Germany, the main power in Europe, which they 
believed could help them to establish a Ukrainian state. The ideological similarities 
between the National Socialists and Ukrainian nationalists facilitated this co-
operation, but the OUN did not have much contact with leading Nazi circles, and 
cooperated mainly with the Abwehr. At that time the conflict between the two gen-
erations within the OUN escalated and caused a split in the organization. The Ban-
dera faction was better organized than the Mel’nyk group. It had better connections 
with the nationalist underground in western Ukraine and succeeded in incorporating 
more members. The two OUN factions regarded each other as enemies. After the 
German attack on the Soviet Union the OUN-B killed a number of OUN-M members 
including Mykola Stsibors’kyi, the author of Natsiokratiia. Before the attack Bandera 
complained that Stsibors’kyi had lived with a “suspicious Russian Jewish woman,” 
and was thus “a traitor and a Bolshevik agent.” 

During the period of more than twenty months between the beginning of the 
Second World War and the German invasion of the Soviet Union, Cracow and the 
General Government became the center of OUN-B activities. The OUN-B collabo-
rated with the Abwehr in the preparations for Operation Barbarossa. The Germans 
provided the OUN with various facilities and supported it financially. The OUN 
trained its members in police academies, established the Nachtigall and Roland bat-
talions, and organized about 800 people in the task forces. According to Klymiv, 
head of the OUN-B in Ukraine, the OUN-B had 20,000 members and 7,000 youth 
members in the underground in Ukraine. OUN groups from western Ukraine crossed 
the German-Soviet border to undergo military training in the General Government 
and to stay in touch with the leadership. 

In April 1941 the younger generation of OUN members organized the Second 
Great Congress of the Ukrainian Nationalists in Cracow. At this congress Bandera 
was officially elected leader of the OUN. The congress introduced the Führerprinzip 
and officially introduced a number of fascist principles, symbols and rituals, includ-
ing the authoritarian principle “one nation, one party, one leader” (odyn narid, odyn 
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provid, odna vlada), the red-and-black flag symbolizing blood and earth (Blut und 
Boden), and the fascist salute while calling “Glory to Ukraine!” (Slava Ukraїni!) and 
responding “Glory to the Heroes!” (Heroiam Slava!”) The fascistization of the OUN 
reached its peak at that time. 

While involved in the preparation of Operation Barbarossa, the OUN-B planned 
the “Ukrainian National Revolution.” Bandera, together with Lenkavs’kyi, Shukhe-
vych, and Stets’ko, composed a document called “The Struggle and Activities of the 
OUN in Wartime.” Two main interrelated aims expressed in this document were to 
establish a state, which would be ruled by the OUN, and to eliminate the ethnic and 
political enemies of this state and introduce a fascist dictatorship. Bandera as the 
Providnyk of the OUN-B would become the Providnyk of this state. In preparing the 
“Ukrainian National Revolution,” the OUN-B was inspired by the Hlinka Party and 
the Ustaša, which, in collaboration with Nazi Germany, had established similar states 
in March 1939 and April 1941 respectively. However, while planning the “Ukrainian 
National Revolution” and waiting for the beginning of Operation Barbarossa, the 
OUN-B leadership did not have much political contact with or support from the Nazi 
leadership. Bandera and the OUN-B seem to have simply hoped that Hitler would 
accept the new Ukrainian state to be proclaimed by the OUN-B, just as he had 
accepted Slovakia and Croatia. 

After the German invasion of the Soviet Union began on 22 June 1941, the NKVD 
executed over 8,000 prisoners in the Ukrainian SSR, among them Bandera’s father 
Andrii. This terror contributed to the radicalization of the political situation in 
Ukraine and increased the hostility toward Jews. The OUN-B activists left the under-
ground and acted according to the instructions set out in “Struggle and Activities.” 
Bandera did not cross the former border between Nazi Germany and the Soviet 
Union, possibly because the Germans did not allow him to go to the “newly occupied 
territories.” Instead Stets’ko went to Lviv, where, in the evening of 30 June he proc-
laimed Ukrainian statehood. In the proclamation, Stets’ko stressed that the OUN-B 
wanted to closely cooperate with the “National Socialist Great Germany, which, 
under the leadership of Adolf Hitler, is creating a new order in Europe and the 
world.”1 In his brief autobiography written several days after the proclamation, 
Stets’ko stated that he supported the “destruction of the Jews and the expedience of 
bringing German methods of exterminating Jewry to Ukraine, barring their 
assimilation and the like.”2 

The OUN-B members in the task forces, which followed the front line during Op-
eration Barbarossa, made similar proclamations in hundreds of places, mainly in 
western Ukraine. The proclamations frequently coincided with pogroms, the per-
petrators of which consisted of Germans, OUN activists, and local people. The OUN-
B’s role in the pogroms should not be underestimated, as the OUN-B controlled the 
underground in many localities and indoctrinated Ukrainians with various anti-
semitic and racist leaflets and booklets. When considering the OUN-B’s role in the 
pogroms, it should be noted that pogroms broke out in places that the Germans did 

 
1  “Akt proholoshennia ukraїns’koї derzhavy, 30.06.1941,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 1, spr. 5, 3. 
2  “Mii zhyttiepys,” TsDAVOV f. 3833, op. 3, spr. 7, 6. 
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not invade, and also that the OUN-B activists complained about the Hungarian and 
Slovak troops who restricted their violent activities toward Jews and other “enemies 
of the Ukrainian nation.” In those parts of Ukraine where the OUN was not active, 
pogroms did not take place or were much smaller than in eastern Galicia and in Vol-
hynia. Germans in eastern Ukraine complained that they could not mobilize the local 
Ukrainians to anti-Jewish violence. Officially, however, the OUN-B regarded the 
Russians and not the Jews as their main enemies. “Although I consider Moscow, 
which in fact held Ukraine in captivity, and not Jewry, to be the main and decisive 
enemy, I nonetheless fully appreciate the undeniably harmful and hostile role of the 
Jews, who are helping Moscow to enslave Ukraine,”3 commented Stets’ko on the 
OUN-B’s complicated relations with Russians, Soviets and Jews. Similarly, we should 
not forget that the social composition of pogromists cannot be limited to OUN-B 
members and OUN-B sympathizers alone. The perpetrators came from different 
social groups and killed Jews not only for nationalist but also for economic and other 
reasons. 

The worst pogrom in western Ukraine, which took place in Lviv, was unleashed 
by the Germans with the collaboration of the Ukrainian militia established by the 
OUN-B. The perpetrators blamed local Jews for the deaths of prisoners killed by the 
NKVD, and mobilized the local population to mistreat and murder the Jews. Similar 
cooperation between the Ukrainian militia and the German troops, including Ein-
satzkommandos 5 and 6, came about during the first mass shooting of Jews in Lviv. 
The OUN-B also helped Germans to apprehend Polish professors and their relatives, 
who were shot shortly after the pogrom by a German security force. The col-
laboration between the OUN-B militia and the units subordinated to the RSHA was 
not prevented by the fact that the RSHA limited the political aspirations of the lead-
ers of the OUN-B after 22 June 1941 forbidding some of them to go to the “newly 
occupied territories.” 

At the time of the pogrom and the first mass shootings, Stets’ko wrote letters to 
Hitler, Mussolini, Franco, and Pavelić, in an attempt to persuade them to recognize 
the OUN-B state with Bandera as its Providnyk. Meanwhile, Bandera tried to con-
vince Kundt in Cracow that Nazi Germany needed a Ukrainian state ruled by the 
OUN-B. The Providnyk assured the German official that the OUN-B was loyal to the 
Nazi leaders, was helping the German army in the struggle against the Soviet Union, 
wanted to collaborate closely with Hitler’s Germany, and he hoped that Germany 
would accept his state. However, the Nazi leaders did not approve of this state, and 
did not plan to establish any national states in this part of Europe, although some of 
them, including Rosenberg, played with such ideas. A few weeks after the proclama-
tion, eastern Galicia was included in the General Government and other Ukrainian 
territories became Reichskommissariat Ukraine. 

After his arrest in early July 1941, Bandera spent the next three years in Berlin 
and Sachsenhausen. He was placed under house arrest until September 1941, when 
he was moved to the jail at Gestapo headquarters in Prinz-Albrecht-Strasse, Berlin. 
In 1942 or 1943, he was transferred to the Zellenbau barrack, a special building for 
special political prisoners within the Sachsenhausen concentration camp, close to 

 
3  Ibid., 6. 
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Berlin, where his wife and daughter were living. During the war, a number of other 
OUN-B members were arrested and sent to German concentration camps where they 
remained with the status of political prisoners until late 1944 and early 1945. Among 
those who did not survive the concentration camps were Bandera’s two brothers, 
Vasyl’ and Oleksandr. 

In letters to Rosenberg in August and December 1941, Bandera tried to bring 
about a reconciliation with Nazi Germany and to persuade the Reich Minister for the 
Occupied Eastern Territories that Germany needed a Ukrainian state and ought to 
cooperate with the OUN-B. Similarly, in December 1941, he asked his deputy Lebed’ 
to attempt to repair German-Ukrainian relations. In an open letter dated 4 August 
1941, Stets’ko, who was brought to Berlin shortly after Bandera in early July 1941, 
encouraged Ukrainians to help the German army in their struggle against the Soviet 
Union. At that time however, the Germans were not interested in further collabora-
tion with the OUN-B. They collaborated with the UTsK and also with the OUN-M, 
regarding people such as Kubiiovych as more reliable partners. 

Despite the arrest of the OUN-B leadership and the persecution of several less 
prominent OUN-B members, there was, however, unofficial collaboration between 
the Nazis and many OUN-B members. Although in late 1941, the OUN-B went under-
ground, it sent its members into the Ukrainian police, which supported the Germans 
during the destruction of the Jewish population in Ukraine. Without their help the 
murder of the Jews in western Ukraine, would not have been possible. In the spring 
of 1943, many of the policemen deserted to the UPA, which had been formed in late 
1942 by the OUN-B to “clear” the Ukrainian territory of Poles and to fight against 
Soviet partisans and less frequently against the Germans. Between early 1943 and 
mid-1945, the UPA murdered between 70,000 and 100,000 Polish civilians, and 
hundreds or even thousands of Jews who had escaped from the ghettos and tried to 
survive by hiding in the woods or in peasants’ houses. The AK and other Polish 
troops, on the other hand, killed between 10,000 and 20,000 Ukrainian civilians, the 
majority of them outside the territories in which the UPA killed Poles. While in Ber-
lin and Sachsenhausen, Bandera had some limited contact with the OUN-B and UPA 
leadership in Ukraine through his wife and apparently other channels, but we do not 
know to what extent he was informed about events in western Ukraine and whether 
he had any influence on them. Nevertheless, the atrocities committed by the OUN-B 
and UPA were not inconsistent with Bandera’s pre-war beliefs, nor with his ideas 
expressed in “Struggle and Activities” in 1941, nor with the general attitude of the 
OUN-B toward the “enemies of the Ukrainian nation” when Bandera had been its 
Providnyk. After the war Bandera never condemned these crimes or admitted that 
they happened. 

Not all young Ukrainians joined the UPA for ideological reasons. Some joined by 
chance, others because their friends were in the UPA, or because they were forced by 
the OUN-B, and still others because they were in the police and feared Soviet retribu-
tion. However, whatever the reasons why they joined the UPA, service in this move-
ment transformed many ordinary Ukrainians into ruthless killers. The process of 
such a transformation was elaborated by Christopher Browning in Ordinary Men 
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and Harald Welzer in Täter (Perpetrators).4 Both scholars studied the psychological 
processes of German soldiers who killed civilians on a mass scale during the Holo-
caust. 

When evaluating the involvement of Ukrainian nationalists in the annihilation of 
the Jews, it is important to clarify certain matters. First, 85 to 90 percent of the Jews 
in western Ukraine were not killed by the OUN and UPA but by the Germans and the 
Ukrainian police. Among the latter were members of and sympathizers with both 
factions of the OUN. The remaining 10 to 15 percent, who tried to survive in the 
woods or various hideouts in the countryside were murdered by the Germans, the 
Ukrainian nationalists (OUN-B, UPA, SB of the OUN-B, and other groups), Ukrai-
nian police, and by the local Ukrainian and to a lesser extent Polish population. 
Second, we find among the Ukrainian perpetrators (OUN, UPA, Ukrainian police and 
the local population), people of different social classes, political convictions, or with 
different educational backgrounds, who acted for different motives, of which 
nationalism was only one, but in the case of the OUN and UPA, the most important 
one. Third, the majority of the Jews in western Ukraine were killed by the Germans 
with the help of the Ukrainian police before the UPA began to play an important role 
in the region. Ukrainians formed the majority of the police staff, especially in the 
countryside, and therefore played a significant part in the annihilation of the 
Ukrainian Jews. They assisted the Einsatzgruppen, guarded the Jews in the ghettos, 
hunted for refugees in the woods, and sent them from the ghettos to the 
extermination camps. In spring 1943 a number of these policemen deserted to the 
UPA. Fourth, Jews who tried to survive in the woods were hunted not only by the 
OUN and UPA but also by Ukrainian policemen, peasants, and bandits. Fifth, the 
murder of the Jews by the OUN-UPA was related to the annihilation of Poles in 
Volhynia and eastern Galicia. Sixth, a small number of Jews survived in the UPA, 
mainly because they escaped from the UPA shortly before or after the arrival of the 
Red Army in western Ukraine. 

Important for the evaluation and understanding of the atrocities committed by 
the OUN and UPA during the Second World War are the testimonies of Jewish survi-
vors. Until recently, survivor testimonies and memoirs have been regarded as un-
reliable and “subjective” in contrast to the reliable and “objective” documents of the 
Holocaust perpetrators, especially the German ones. Perpetrators were believed to be 
rational and to have kept clear records of their atrocities. On the other hand, histo-
rians assumed that the survivors were traumatized, that they exaggerated, and that 
one could not rely on their experiences and memory or use their testimonies and 
memoirs to study the Second World War or the Holocaust. In the first decades after 
the war, this approach to history fulfilled the role of a shelter. It enabled the post-war 
generations not to perceive many brutal and horrible features of the Holocaust, the 
feelings and experiences of survivors and also sometimes to preserve the good name 
of the nation. But this attitude to the survivors and their memory re-humiliated the 
victims of the Holocaust and other atrocities. Also, from a methodological point of 
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view, the negation of the testimonies was incorrect and led to serious misrepresent-
ations of history. Although it is certainly true that historians should not take every 
detail from survivor testimony or memoirs for granted and should not write history 
based on this kind of document alone, one cannot write the history of the Holocaust 
in regions such as Volhynia and eastern Galicia while dismissing the survivor testi-
monies and memoirs as post-traumatic fantasy. By ignoring these documents, we 
miss many crucial aspects of the annihilation of the Jews, especially aspects related 
to the groups who persecuted the Jews at the local level. German documents do not 
say much about the anti-Jewish violence of the Ukrainian extreme nationalists, be-
cause the Germans did not make any records of OUN-UPA crimes, with the excep-
tion of a few cases when the nationalists boasted to have killed a group of Jews, in 
order to obtain new weapons or ammunition. Nor did OUN documents say much 
about this type of atrocity because the leadership of the OUN and UPA collected and 
destroyed documents that documented their war crimes. After the war the veterans 
propagated a heroic version of UPA history and also argued that Ukrainian national-
ists had rescued Jews. There are therefore several important aspects of the Holocaust 
that are found only in the testimonies and memoirs of Jewish survivors. 

The very popular term “liberation movement” (Ukr. vyzvol’nyi rukh) used to de-
scribe the OUN and UPA is misleading and was used in this study only in quotation 
marks because of its ideological meaning. The “liberation struggle” or “liberation 
war” practiced by the OUN and UPA could not have been liberation because it was 
not necessary to kill several thousand civilians to liberate Ukraine. The term “libera-
tion movement” suggests that the OUN and UPA were entirely or primarily devoted 
to the liberation of Ukraine. The study of the movement, however, shows that the 
OUN and UPA were very much preoccupied with the idea of “cleansing” the Ukrai-
nian territories of ethnic and political opponents. 

The conduct of the Greek Catholic Church during and shortly after the Second 
World War was investigated only as a sideline in this study. It is difficult to talk about 
a single stream of policy of the Greek Catholic Church toward the minorities targeted 
by the OUN, the UPA, and the Germans, because the church consisted of various 
types of people. During the pogroms in 1941, Greek Catholic priests behaved in dif-
ferent ways toward the Jews. Some of them cursed the Jews and organized pogroms; 
others helped Jews in various ways. In 1943 and 1944, when the UPA conducted the 
ethnic cleansing in Volhynia and eastern Galicia, some Orthodox and Greek Catholic 
priests blessed axes, pitchforks, scythes, and other weapons used for murder, and 
they supported the Ukrainian nationalists in other ways. Sheptyts’kyi, the head of the 
Greek Catholic Church, demonstrated ambiguous behavior. On the one hand, he 
rescued and helped to rescue more than a hundred Jews. On the other hand, he 
failed to condemn the genocidal policies of the Ukrainian nationalists or condemned 
them only very indirectly, and refused to believe certain facts related to the mass 
violence conducted by Ukrainians. 

In addition to conducting the ethnic cleansing of the Poles and hunting down the 
Jews, the UPA fought against the Soviet partisans and later the Red Army, even kill-
ing one of their generals. To a much smaller extent, the UPA had also attacked Ger-
mans before it began to collaborate with them in spring 1944. Bandera and a few 
dozen other OUN political prisoners were released in September 1944 because Ger-
many was losing the war and the Nazi leaders decided to use the detained Ukrainian 
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politicians to mobilize Ukrainians against their common enemy. Because Bandera 
and other Ukrainian politicians refused to cooperate with the “Russian imperialist” 
Vlasov, Rosenberg created the UNK, in which the Ukrainian politicians supported 
the Germans in their last, desperate military activities. Bandera helped the Germans 
until he went from Berlin to Vienna in early February 1945. A few weeks before he 
left for Vienna, the Providnyk, according to Shandruk, had opted for “full support to 
the end, whatever it may be.” 

The extent to which Bandera was responsible for atrocities committed by Ukrai-
nian nationalists during the Second World War is a difficult and complex question, 
which can be answered appropriately only in a nuanced way. When planning the 
“Ukrainian National Revolution,” Bandera prepared the OUN-B to perform ethnic 
and political violence, which, during the revolution, took mainly the form of po-
groms. Bandera co-authored “Struggle and Activities,” discussed plans with the Ab-
wehr, and played the role of the Providnyk in front of the groups of OUN-B activists 
who arrived in the General Government from Ukraine. He encouraged them to fight 
against the “enemies of the Ukrainian nation” and to “liberate” Ukraine from Soviet 
occupation. After the German attack on the Soviet Union, Bandera did not go to the 
“newly occupied territories” but stayed in the General Government as the Germans 
had advised him. Although he did not meet Klymiv after 22 June 1941, “Struggle and 
Activities” gave Klymiv general and specific instructions how to act after the begin-
ning of Operation Barbarossa and the “Ukrainian National Revolution.” It is not 
known whether, after the German attack on the Soviet Union, Bandera issued direct 
orders concerning the question of ethnic and political violence. Stets’ko informed his 
Providnyk in a telegram on 25 June that “We are setting up a militia that will help to 
remove the Jews and protect the population.” Bandera’s communications to Stets’ko, 
however, unlike Stets’ko’s telegrams to the Providnyk, did not find their way into the 
archives. As the Providnyk of the OUN-B, Bandera must have been well informed 
about the run of events in Ukraine, including the anti-Jewish violence. With the help 
of couriers, he also stayed in contact with the task forces. Bandera’s later denial of 
the pogroms was typical of the behavior of other OUN-B members, such as Hryn’okh 
and Stets’ko, who were in Lviv during the pogrom, knew exactly what happened 
there, or were involved in establishing the OUN-B militia. After the war, they insisted 
that they did not see any anti-Jewish incidents in Lviv between 30 June and 2 July 
1941 and were not aware that a pogrom in the city took place, although they con-
firmed in their testimonies and memoirs that they walked through the city at that 
time, like Hryn’okh, or controlled the Ukrainian militia, like Stets’ko. 

In this context, we should also ask whether Bandera’s physical absence from the 
“newly occupied territories” in late June and early July 1941 exonerates him of the 
crimes committed by the OUN and similarly of the various atrocities later committed 
by the UPA. No reasonable person would doubt that Hitler was politically and mor-
ally responsible for the various atrocities committed in Auschwitz or at the Eastern 
Front, although the Führer did not personally supervise the Einsatzkommandos in 
Poland, Ukraine, and Belarus; nor did he stand in front of the gas chambers, con-
trolling the procedure in Auschwitz and other extermination camps. Similarly, 
Pavelić is considered to be responsible for the Ustaša’s killings of Serbs, Jews, and 
Roma, although he might not have known all the details concerning the particular 
killings. Nevertheless, there is a difference in terms of agency between Hitler, 
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Pavelić, and Bandera, because Hitler and Pavelić were not detained when their forces 
committed war crimes and other atrocities. Thus the scope of their involvement was 
different from Bandera’s, especially concerning the crimes committed when Bandera 
was either in Berlin or Sachsenhausen, and when his contact with the leadership of 
the OUN and UPA was limited. To hold Bandera personally responsible for the 
crimes committed by the UPA during the period of his arrest would be counterfactual 
and irrational. Nevertheless, the question of Bandera’s moral responsibility is much 
more complex, because in terms of enthusiasm for or approval of mass violence 
against “enemies” or against particular ethnic group he seems not to have differed 
substantially from Hitler or Pavelić. Similarly, according to Hannah Arendt’s concept 
of justice and the notions of transformative justice and of transitional justice, Ban-
dera seems to be responsible for “crimes against humanity” because his actions in 
1941 and the actions of his movement during the entire war were an attack on both 
human plurality and particular ethnic groups and thus on humanity as such. A court 
in a democratic Ukraine, interested in recognizing the victims of the OUN-B, pro-
moting civic trust and strengthening democracy, would have convicted Bandera and 
other members of the OUN for their numerous violations of human rights.5 

When discussing Bandera, the OUN and UPA, and atrocities conducted by the 
Ukrainian nationalists, we should also re-evaluate the ideological notion of leader-
ship. The Providnyk or Vozhd’, like the Führer, Duce, or Poglavnik, was an essential 
practical and ideological element of a fascist movement. The Providnyk was an im-
portant aspect of the official propaganda of the OUN and of the worldview of its 
members. Bandera’s followers believed in the Providnyk, admired him, and fought 
for him. In return, he encouraged and inspired them, even if many of them never met 
him in person. As indicated in chapters 4 and 5, Bandera was perceived as the Pro-
vidnyk of the movement and its spiritual leader during and after his detention, 
although Lebed’, who, however, did not enjoy the charisma established around Ban-
dera, replaced him. After his arrest, therefore, Bandera was still referred to as the 
Providnyk in various OUN-B and UPA publications and was commemorated at the 
anniversaries of the proclamation of 30 June 1941. This did not change, even after 
Lebed’ was replaced with a triumvirate in February 1943, and the OUN-B decided to 
break away from fascism and totalitarianism. This does not incriminate Bandera but 
emphasizes that many of the OUN members and UPA partisans involved in the 
atrocities against Jews, Poles, Ukrainians, and other ethnic groups regarded Bandera 
as their spiritual leader and identified with him while “cleansing” the territory of the 
“enemies of the Ukrainian nation.” 

During the Second World War, the Bandera cult and myth went through further 
metamorphoses. After the split of the OUN into the OUN-B and the OUN-M, Ban-
dera’s followers called themselves, and were called by others, Banderites. Although 
the term “Banderites” did not predominate during the “Ukrainian National Revolu-
tion” in the summer of 1941, it became one of the main terms describing the Ukrai-
nian nationalists loyal to Bandera in 1942, and even more in 1943 and 1944. Jews 
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and Poles used it to describe OUN members and UPA insurgents and sometimes 
other Ukrainian perpetrators, such as peasants mobilized to ethnic violence by the 
OUN and the UPA. The survivors used the word in a very pragmatic way. They de-
scribed as “Banderites” those Ukrainian nationalists who might arrive and kill them 
at any time. The AK, Germans, and Soviet partisans also used “Banderites” to refer to 
the Ukrainian nationalists. The Soviet propaganda apparatus started to apply the 
term in early 1944 and radically changed the meaning of the word. “Banderites” 
became in the Soviet propaganda discourse an expression used to discredit the oppo-
nents of the Soviet Union. Soviet ideology transformed it into one of the most power-
ful and militant propaganda slogans. The extensive use of the word in the Soviet 
media also influenced Bandera himself, who understood it as evidence of his great-
ness. 

In order not to be deported to the Soviet Union after the Second World War, Ban-
dera and other Ukrainian émigrés manipulated their identity and falsified the history 
of the movement, in particular the anti-Jewish, anti-Polish, and anti-Ukrainian 
violence. One of Bandera’s IDs said that he was “kept from 15.9.1941 to 6.5.1945 in 
Nazi-German concentration camps and was liberated from the concentration camp 
at Mauthausen,” although Bandera never was an inmate of this camp. In 1946 Lebed’ 
published a book about the UPA, in which he omitted or denied the participation of 
the OUN in the pogroms of 1941, collaboration with the Germans, plans and attempts 
to establish a fascist authoritarian state, the ethnic cleansing conducted by the UPA 
in 1943–1944 in Volhynia and eastern Galicia, and a number of other matters that 
could have jeopardized his new career as a CIA agent and the future of many Ukrai-
nian OUN veterans who decided to stay in the Western bloc. 

The intelligence services of the United Kingdom, the United States, and later 
West Germany were interested in cooperation with the anti-Soviet underground in 
western Ukraine and therefore worked together with Bandera, Lebed’, and other 
émigrés. They trained OUN agents, supported the émigrés financially, and protected 
them against the KGB. A former officer in Rosenberg’s Ostministerium, Gerhard von 
Mende, who after the war worked in the Office for Displaced Persons, helped Ban-
dera to regulate his status and to solve bureaucratic and political problems. Franco 
offered Bandera resettlement in Spain, but Bandera refused. He felt safe in West 
Germany and did not want to give up the structures he had built up there. 

The conflicts within the OUN did not cease after the Second World War. Former 
friends deeply distrusted each other, fired weapons at each other, and ordered each 
other’s assassinations. One reason for the new conflicts was the competition for re-
sources supplied by Western intelligence services. Another important reason was the 
existence of ideological differences among the factions in the ZCh OUN. Bandera and 
a number of his supporters insisted on leading the organization according to the 
Führerprinzip, as in 1941. The Providnyk demanded total subordination from all 
OUN members, but other nationalists opposed these policies, which they regarded as 
outdated. They wanted a more pragmatic or “democratic” organization although they 
never introduced radical changes such as an open and non-denial-oriented attitude 
to the history of the movement. Bandera’s fundamental nationalism, authoritarian-
ism, and obsession with fascism scared a number of former like-minded comrades. 
They took the view that Bandera had not changed since 1941 and refused to co-
operate with him. 
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Bandera’s worldview after the Second World War did not alter but rather ad-
justed to the reality of the Cold War. He did not mention Jews and Poles as the 
enemies of the Ukrainian nation, because they did not live in Ukraine any longer. The 
Providnyk directed his hatred against the Soviet Union without substantially 
changing his far-right convictions. Many of his post-war ideas were in harmony with 
anti-Soviet and anticommunist politics of that time. Bandera defended the Caudillo 
against “attacks” from the democratic states but was at the same time irritated by any 
suggestion that the ZCh OUN was not democratic or that Ukrainian genocidal 
nationalism was anti-democratic. He never admitted the crimes committed by the 
Ukrainian nationalists during the Second World War, and claimed that he had 
always opposed the German and Soviet regimes and was a victim of both. He pre-
sented himself in interviews given in the 1950s as a leader of the anti-Soviet under-
ground movement, which had not stopped fighting against the “red devil.” 

While Bandera tried to dominate the ZCh OUN and planned to “liberate” 
Ukraine, some groups of UPA insurgents continued fighting in western Ukraine until 
the late 1940s and early 1950s. They continued to kill civilians en masse, but the 
main perpetrators at that time were the NKVD (from 1946 the MVD), and the new 
victims of political violence were the families of the insurgents, and Ukrainians 
accused of supporting the UPA or of being Ukrainian nationalists. The last category 
included actual war criminals and various Nazi collaborators as well as people who 
“betrayed the Soviet fatherland.” During the ruthless conflict with the OUN-UPA the 
Soviets killed 153,000 people, arrested 134,000, and deported 203,000 to the Gulag 
and to Siberia. Altogether until 1953, about 490,000 western Ukrainians, or nearly 
one person in every western Ukrainian family suffered under Soviet repression. At 
the same time, the OUN-UPA murdered over 20,000 civilians and killed about 
10,000 Soviet soldiers, members of the destruction battalions, and NKVD staff. Most 
of those killed by the nationalist partisans were workers from kolkhozes, teachers, 
nurses, and doctors resettled from eastern Ukraine. Blinded by genocidal national-
ism, suicidal romanticism, anticommunism, and deluded by the stories about the 
upcoming third world war distributed by Bandera and other nationalist émigrés, the 
UPA ignored the fact that it could not win a war against the Soviet Union, which was 
many times stronger than the western Ukrainian insurgent groups. Under the ruth-
less terror of the Soviet regime, the Ukrainian population withdrew its support for 
the nationalist insurgents. Nevertheless, Soviet terror and Soviet propaganda sub-
stantially strengthened anti-Soviet resentment in western Ukraine, dissolved the 
memory of the atrocities committed by the Ukrainian nationalists, and thereby 
helped the Ukrainian insurgents to gradually reappear as heroic anti-Soviet icons. 

When the OUN and UPA were fighting against the NKVD in Ukraine, Bandera’s 
life in exile was overshadowed by the KGB, which tried to kidnap and kill him. Ban-
dera, and to a lesser extent his family, had very good reasons to fear for their lives, 
although they were protected by the SB of the ZCh OUN and warned by the CIC 
about the plans of the KGB. They used other names and were forced to hide several 
times when the KGB was after them. The Soviet leaders assassinated the Providnyk 
fourteen years after the end of the Second World War. The assassination was pre-
pared almost perfectly, and its details became known only when the assassin submit-
ted himself to the West German police. 
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Fascism 

The question whether Bandera was a fascist, or in which sense and to what extent, 
depends on the question of how we define fascism and at which time we consider 
Bandera and the OUN to have been fascist. Cold War historians such as Armstrong, 
some Ukrainian diaspora historians, and also historians in post-Soviet Ukraine con-
sidered the OUN to be a form of “integral nationalism.” This suggestion, however, is 
misleading, because of the actual meaning of this concept. Furthermore, it does not 
allow the contextualization of the OUN, because of the absence of comparative stud-
ies on “integral nationalism.” In order to correctly contextualize Bandera and the ex-
treme, revolutionary, ethnic, and genocidal form of Ukrainian nationalism, and to 
comprehend the nature of this movement, we used the theoretical concepts 
established by scholars such as Eatwell, Griffin, Sternhell, Paxton, Kershaw, Mann, 
Mosse, Nolte, and Payne, and the criteria of a fascist movement, which were 
explained and presented in the introduction. 

The OUN in the 1930s and early 1940s met all the basic criteria of a fascist move-
ment, which were formulated in Nolte’s “fascist minimum” or in the enlarged version 
presented in the introduction to this study. In addition, the OUN fulfilled two other 
crucial characteristics of a fascist movement. First, it tried to take power through a 
revolution and establish its own authoritarian nation state of a fascist type. Second, it 
anticipated the salvation and renewal of society through palingenesis, which in the 
Ukrainian case was related to the idea that the Ukrainian nation would die out if the 
OUN did not establish a state. Only a state governed by the OUN-B would allow the 
Ukrainians to survive, be reborn, and thrive. 

In 1941 the OUN-B proclaimed a state and established a government, but it could 
not retain them. As demonstrated in chapter 4, this was not because of ideological 
differences between the Ukrainian nationalists and National Socialists or the “inabil-
ity” and “naivety” of the OUN-B leaders, but because of outside factors on which the 
OUN-B did not have much or any influence. The Nazi leaders had plans for the Ukr-
ainian territories that were different from those for Croatia and Slovakia, but similar 
to those for Lithuania. 

Conflicts, even very serious ones with lethal consequences, were not unusual be-
tween fascist, authoritarian, and other far-right movements. Their ideologies made 
them feel related and united them against communism and democracy. But for fasc-
ist and authoritarian leaders, practical matters were in general more important than 
ideological similarities. A classic inter-fascist conflict prior to the Second World War 
occurred between the Austrofascists and the German National Socialists. Despite 
ideological similarities, the National Socialists killed the first Austrofascist leader 
Dollfuss, and after incorporating Austria in the Reich, they imprisoned his successor 
Schuschnigg and kept him in the same concentration camp as Bandera although 
under different conditions. Similarly, when the conflict in Romania between Anto-
nescu and the Iron Guard escalated in early 1941, more than 300 legionaries fled to 
Germany and were detained in German camps. The leader of the Iron Guard, Horia 
Sima, was detained in Zellenbau, the same building for special political prisoners in 
which Bandera was confined. 

Especially in the 1920s, its ideologists argued that the OUN could not be a typical 
fascist movement because of their own national traditions or matters of culture and 
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language. These arguments, however, were typical of all small fascist movements 
such as the Ustaša, HSLS, and the Iron Guard. Ukrainian nationalists were 
independent in the sense of fighting for independence or for a state that would be 
independent of Poland, Russia, or the Soviet Union. However, they were dependent 
on Nazi Germany, without which they could not hope to establish and maintain a 
state. The OUN-B needed the protection of Nazi Germany and for that reason it 
collaborated with Germany and presented itself as a movement related to it. The 
model of the Ukrainian state, as elaborated by the leading OUN ideologist 
Stsibors’kyi in Natsiokratiia and by the OUN-B leadership at the Second Great 
Congress of the Ukrainian Nationalists in Cracow a few months before the German 
attack on the Soviet Union, displayed most characteristics typical of fascist states.  

Because the OUN-B leadership outlined the independent Ukrainian state as an 
ethnic nation state or “Ukraine for Ukrainians,” according to one of the OUN-B 
slogans, the state was to be “purified” of non-Ukrainian inhabitants. For this reason, 
the OUN made ethnic violence and the cult of war the central concepts of its 
ideology. For the same reason, the OUN-B leadership combined the proclamation of 
the state in 1941 with anti-Jewish violence and the killing of other ethnic and political 
opponents. By the same token, it “cleansed” the western Ukrainian territories of 
Poles, and Jews in hiding. The annihilation of the Jews by the Germans with the help 
of the Ukrainian police also met the expectations of the OUN-B, because it helped rid 
the territory of non-Ukrainian elements. It also provided the Ukrainian policemen, 
who in early 1943 deserted for the UPA, with practical knowledge as to how to an-
nihilate an entire ethnic group in a region, in a relatively short period. The OUN-B 
leadership made extensive use of this knowledge in order to “clear” Volhynia, and 
later eastern Galicia, of Poles. Given the forms of violence conducted by the OUN, it 
belonged to the more rather than to the less violent fascist movements. Similarly, the 
concept of the “enemy of the Ukrainian nation” and the kind of mass violence prac-
ticed to annihilate the non-Ukrainian inhabitants of the “Ukrainian territories” sug-
gest that the OUN belonged to the more rather than the less racist movements. The 
questions that arise in this context are whether and when the OUN ceased to be a 
typical East Central European fascist movement. Did it happen after Bandera’s arrest 
and the German rejection of the state proclaimed by the OUN-B on 30 June 1941, or 
when the OUN-B formed the UPA in late 1942 and early 1943, or after the Second 
World War, when the UPA opposed the Soviet Union until the early 1950s, or has the 
OUN remained fascist until today? 

When evaluating the question of fascism, we should also recall the theoretical 
concepts that contradict the assumption than the OUN was a typical fascist move-
ment. Paxton, for example, suggested that fascism can only appear in a state after a 
period of democracy or a period of disappointment with democracy. According to 
this reasoning, it would only be possible to consider the OUN a fascist organization if 
we were to accept that there was a period of democracy in the Second Republic, in 
which the OUN emerged and acted prior to the Second World War. This assumption, 
however, would not be entirely convincing, for at least two reasons. First, the Second 
Republic was a multiethnic state ruled by Poles, and not a Ukrainian state with a 
democratic political system. Second, it is difficult to talk about democracy in the 
Second Polish Republic, especially after Piłsudski’s coup d’état in 1926. Paxton would 
have classified the OUN as a fascism “created by mimicry,” or as one of the 
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movements that borrowed “elements of fascist décor in order to lend themselves an 
aura of force, vitality, and mass mobilization,” rather than a typical fascist 
movement. According to his classification of five stages, the OUN would reach stage 
three but only for a very short period of time.6 

The Ukrainian extreme nationalists, with the exception of a few ideologists, did 
not usually call themselves fascists, although they claimed to be related to other fasc-
ist movements. Between 1918 and 1945, the word “fascism” occurred in the Ukr-
ainian far-right discourse less frequently than the terms “Ukrainian nationalism” and 
“revolutionary nationalism.” “Ukrainian nationalism” became the official description 
of the OUN movement, similar to “National Socialism” and “Italian Fascism.” Ban-
dera and the OUN understood themselves as Ukrainian nationalists, spiritually re-
lated to the National Socialists, Italian Fascists, and similar movements, such as the 
Ustaša and Iron Guard. They did not understand “nationalism” and “fascism” to be 
mutually exclusive. Only after the conflict with Nazi Germany, and even more so 
after Germany began to lose the war, the OUN and UPA leaders started to distinguish 
between Ukrainian nationalism and fascism. Nevertheless, Bandera and his ZCh 
OUN faction did not develop any negative feelings toward fascism during and after 
the end of the Second World War although they publicly announced that Ukrainian 
nationalism had never been related to fascism and had nothing in common with it. 

No fascist movement can exist without a leader. The Ukrainian language has two 
terms for leader, Providnyk and Vozhd’. Bandera was usually referred to as the Pro-
vidnyk, and only less frequently, Vozhd’. Unlike Providnyk, Vozhd’ also means leader 
in Russian and was used by Lenin and Stalin, among others. In Ukrainian in the 
1920s and 1930s, Vozhd’ had a more totalitarian meaning than Providnyk, but this 
distinction evaporated in the late 1930s and early 1940s. In the 1920s and 1930s, the 
UVO and the OUN used Providnyk to describe the leader of the entire organization, 
the leader of the homeland executive, or the leader of a combat unit. At that time, 
Vozhd’ was the more appropriate translation of Duce or Führer. The term “Vozhd’” 
appeared in documents such as Stsibors’kyi’s Natsiokratiia, in 1935. After Kono-
valets’ assassination in 1938, the leadership of the OUN gave Mel’nyk the title of 
Vozhd’. In order to distinguish themselves from the older generation, the younger 
ultranationalists referred to their leader as the Providnyk, on whom they based their 
own Führerprinzip. The advantage of the word Providnyk was that it did not occur in 
Russian, and therefore Bandera could not have been confused with Stalin. Never-
theless, some sectors of the OUN-B, unaware of the policies of the OUN-B leadership 
in the General Government, referred to Bandera as Vozhd’ during the “Ukrainian 
National Revolution.” The OUN-B intended to make Bandera the Providnyk of the 
Ukrainian state that it succeeded in proclaiming but failed to keep. The term Provid-
nyk remained in use during the Second World War. When Nazi Germany began 
losing the war, the OUN and UPA leadership officially distanced itself from fascism, 
denied ever having been fascist and replaced the Führerprinzip based on the Provid-
nyk, with a triumvirate. Nevertheless, Ukrainian nationalists loyal to Bandera con-
tinued to regard him as their Providnyk. Similarly during the Cold War, nationalists 
supporting Bandera continued to call him the Providnyk. After Bandera’s assassin-
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ation, the term “Providnyk” was used to describe Bandera as the legendary leader of 
the movement; first by the Ukrainian diaspora and later by Bandera’s admirers in 
post-Soviet Ukraine. While they honored Bandera as the Providnyk, they did not 
necessarily intend to do so in respect of Bandera as a fascist leader. When they used 
the term, they usually meant the leader of a movement that tried to liberate Ukraine 
from German and Soviet occupation, and they honored Bandera as the symbol of the 
“liberation struggle,” frequently not being aware of the actual meaning of the term, 
and sometimes the history of the movement. 

When evaluating Bandera and his cult in the context of fascism, we should also 
discuss the question of Ukrainian neo-fascism, or the rebirth of fascism. The epoch of 
fascism “officially” finished with the end of the Second World War, the collapse of 
Nazi Germany and Fascist Italy, and the disappearance of other fascist movements 
and regimes. The atrocities committed by Nazis and similar movements completely 
discredited fascism, but the fascists did not evaporate after 1945 or suddenly become 
democrats. The rise of the Bandera cult after his assassination did not transform or 
retransform the Ukrainian diaspora and later post-Soviet Ukrainians into fascists. 
Nevertheless, the communities which, during the Cold War or after the dissolution of 
the Soviet Union, began to glorify Bandera, his movement, or his political ideas, 
developed a positive form of memory of Bandera and the OUN. By commemorating 
and celebrating Bandera, they did not allow the epoch of fascism to pass away. Simi-
larly, they refused to accept a critical and unapologetic dealing with the movement’s 
past. Instead, they made Bandera and the OUN an essential component of their iden-
tity and continued to sacralize them. Paxton suggested that organizations that “im-
itate the exotic colored-shirts of an earlier generation” are not the most interesting 
phenomena today. According to him, “new functional equivalent of fascism would 
probably work best, as George Orwell reminded us, clad in the mainstream patriotic 
dress of their own place and time.”7 This apocalyptic suggestion seems to materialize 
in today’s western Ukraine, where young admirers of Bandera, or the Waffen-SS 
Galizien, wear patriotic clothes, in particular embroidered shirts and other items of 
folk wardrobe, perform fascist salutes during their “patriotic” Bandera events, and 
shout various fascist and neo-fascist slogans. 

The Afterlife 

The two capsules of cyanide fired by the western Ukrainian KGB agent Bohdan Sta-
shyns’kyi into Bandera’s face at about 1:00 p.m. on 15 October 1959 were the begin-
ning of the Providnyk’s turbulent afterlife. Newspapers controlled by OUN-B 
émigrés, such as Shliakh peremohy, Homin Ukraїny, and Ukraїns’ka dumka com-
memorated Bandera’s death for weeks, presenting him as a hero and martyr who fell 
for Ukraine. About 1,500 admirers attended Bandera’s funeral in Munich. Others 
mourned the Providnyk in churches and at commemorative gatherings in a number 
of localities in Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, France, the 
United Kingdom, West Germany, New Zealand, and the United States. The resettle-
ment of the DPs in the late 1940s and early 1950s was the basis for the globalization 

 
7  Paxton, The Five Stages of Fascism, 22. 
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of Bandera’s afterlife. The OUN, UPA, and Waffen-SS Galizien veterans passed the 
Bandera cult on to the younger generations. The cult did not start to disappear in the 
nationalist diaspora communities until the dissolution of the Soviet Union and has 
not even done so in some of them at the time of writing. 

By commemorating Bandera, the diaspora communities—among them individ-
uals who had admired the Providnyk in the 1930s and 1940s—turned themselves 
again into “charismatic communities.” Bandera’s commemorations were deeply 
ritualized. They were usually composed of a religious part—the panakhyda—and a 
political gathering. The distinction between religion and nationalism blurred during 
the commemorations, composing a powerful anti-Soviet mixture. The Bandera cult 
was also propagated during protest marches and anti-Soviet demonstrations in cities 
such as London, Ottawa, and Washington. In Munich, the mecca of the Banderites, 
members of the “charismatic community” visited the Bandera grave and burned 
Soviet flags in front of the apartment building in which the Providnyk was assas-
sinated. In late 1959, some of the Bandera worshipers also mourned and extolled the 
Croatian Poglavnik, Pavelić, who died two months after Bandera, as the result of an 
assassination attempt in April 1957. The Bandera commemorations were also related 
to and sometimes embedded in various militaristic and religious celebrations of the 
Waffen-SS Galizien, UPA, Weapons Holidays, and Feast of Saint Mary the Protec-
tress. 

In addition to commemorations and demonstrations, the Bandera cult mani-
fested itself in the Bandera museum established in Nottingham and relocated to 
London. The creators of this institution honored Bandera as a hero and martyr who 
fought and fell for Ukraine, as the spiritual leader of the OUN and UPA, and also as 
the symbol of the Ukrainian “liberation struggle.” The museum was not established 
to educate visitors about Bandera’s life, or Ukrainian genocidal nationalism. It was 
created to eulogize and sacralize the Providnyk and the “tragic” but “heroic” struggle 
of his generation. The creators of the museum created an interesting connection 
between Bandera and the UPA. Although Bandera never joined this army, the UPA 
became one of the central features of the exhibition. This was not entirely unjustified, 
because some of the UPA partisans had regarded Bandera as the spiritual leader of 
Ukrainian revolutionary nationalism and strongly identified with him. Nevertheless, 
the main purpose of prominently featuring the UPA in the Bandera museum seems 
to be the denial of UPA atrocities through Bandera’s victimization and glorification. 
The Holocaust and the Ukrainian contribution to the Holocaust were completely 
ignored in the museum. The pictures of the Ukrainian prisoners at the Auschwitz 
concentration camp suggested that only OUN-B members were kept and annihilated 
in this camp. Petro Mirchuk, the first Bandera hagiographer, similarly presented the 
Jewish-Ukrainian relationship during the Second World War in his publications 
about Bandera and the Ukrainian nationalists. Mirchuk paved the way for later Ban-
dera hagiographers and deniers of the Ukrainian contribution to the Holocaust and 
of other atrocities committed by the Ukrainian nationalists. 

The apologetic and eulogizing narrative about Bandera and his “liberation move-
ment” was created not only by nationalist fanatics, Bandera’s hard admirers and far-
right activists, but also by a number of scholars who worked at universities in 
Canada, Germany, France, and the United States. Some of these scholars, such as 
Taras Hunchak, Petro Potichnyi, and Volodymyr Kosyk were veterans of the OUN or 
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UPA. John Armstrong, the first professional historian who investigated the Ukrai-
nian nationalists during the Second World War, was not entirely uncritical about his 
object of study but, for various reasons, he did not include in his research the po-
groms in 1941, the ethnic cleansing in 1943–1944, the murder of Jews by the UPA, 
and several other matters that need to be considered when writing the history of 
Ukrainian nationalism during the Second World War. Armstrong, like many other 
historians at that time, worked with and relied on Ukrainian and German sources 
alone. He ignored the perspective and experiences of OUN and UPA victims. In addi-
tion, he seems to have been impacted by the Cold War revival of national narratives 
of the states on which communism had been imposed in 1944. For these and other 
reasons, the author of the first comprehensive monograph on Ukrainian nationalism 
presented a number of erroneous conclusions, which were not perceived as such at 
the time and by some historians even today. His study was regarded not only by 
Ukrainian nationalists—such as Dontsov, who quoted and praised Armstrong in his 
foreword to Stets’ko’s book 30 chervnia 1941 (30 June 1941)—but also by politically 
unmotivated professional historians as a standard, academic, objective, and reliable 
monograph on Ukrainian nationalism during the Second World War.8 

Ivan Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi was not the only Galician Ukrainian who left Ukraine 
during the Second World War, worked at a Western university during the Cold War, 
and had the opportunity to rethink genocidal nationalism or to open himself toward 
democracy. As indicated in chapter 9, many other Ukrainian intellectuals worked 
during the Cold War at various universities in Canada, France, West Germany, and 
the United States. The majority of them however, unlike Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi, erected 
ideological walls and began to protect their nationalist ideas as patriotic traditions or 
anticommunist convictions. They did not investigate the Second World War, Ukrai-
nian fascism, and the Holocaust but instead, either ignored these subjects or wrote 
apologetic and distorted histories, which presented the Ukrainian nationalists as 
anti-German and anti-Soviet freedom fighters. Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi, both a historian 
and contemporary witness, rethought rather than empirically investigated the OUN 
and the Second World War. He was critical of the OUN-B, whose members he had 
known from Ukraine and also from his life after emigration. 

Nevertheless, Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi seems to have had no objections concerning 
post-war collaboration with people such as Kubiiovych. The former UTsK leader was 
in his eyes a more moderate and rational individual than the banderivshchyna, not 
least because after the Second World War Kubiiovych initiated many valuable 
projects, such as the Ukrainian Encyclopedia. The question whether it was necessary 
to ignore what Kubiiovych had done during the Second World War in order to de-
velop the Encyclopedia and other projects did not matter to Lysiak-Rudnyts’kyi. 

Although the Bandera cult during the Cold War was a typical far-right nationalist 
and neo-fascist cult, the diaspora Ukrainians joined the “charismatic communities” 
commemorating Bandera for various reasons. Some of them commemorated 
Bandera because they had already admired the Providnyk during the trials in War-
saw and Lviv in 1935–1936, or during the “Ukrainian National Revolution” in 1941. 
Other Ukrainians engaged in the Bandera cult because they were Ukrainian patriots, 

 
8  Dmytro Dontsov, “Vstupne Slovo,” Stets’ko, 30 chervnia 1941, 9–10. 
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or because they thought that performing Bandera rituals, or honoring the “freedom 
fighters” of the UPA, would be effective ways of protesting against the Soviet regime. 
Younger people who were raised in the diaspora communities were involved in the 
Bandera cult by their parents, friends, or youth organizations such as SUM and Plast. 
A part of the “charismatic community,” at least the OUN and UPA veterans who had 
participated in the Holocaust or collaborated with Germans during the Second World 
War, were aware of the atrocities committed by the Ukrainian revolutionary 
nationalists, the fascistization of the movement, and the collaboration with Nazi 
Germany. They also understood that commemorating Bandera, or celebrating him as 
a Ukrainian national hero or as a victim of the Soviet regime, was a good way of 
denying the atrocities committed by the OUN and UPA, and other “inconvenient” 
moments of OUN history. Nevertheless, some other sections of the Ukrainian com-
munities might not have been aware of the OUN and UPA atrocities, because 
Armstrong and other historians did not explain them in their studies or because the 
Bandera cult suggested that heroes and martyrs did not kill civilians and did not 
collaborate with Nazis. 

During the Cold War, the OUN-B leaders were recognized as anticommunist 
“freedom fighters” not only by the far-right Ukrainian diaspora communities but also 
by many other anti-Soviet groups, including the leading politicians of the largest and 
most powerful states of the Western bloc. During the 1950s, Bandera gave interviews 
on the radio, in which he assured the West German audience that the OUN and UPA 
were composed of patriotic freedom fighters who had fought against the Nazi regime 
and continued the struggle against the Soviet one. Stets’ko, who in 1941 had written 
letters to the Führer, the Duce, the Poglavnik, and the Caudillo, asking them to 
accept the newly proclaimed Ukrainian state, was in 1966 designated an honorary 
citizen of the Canadian city of Winnipeg. In 1983 he was invited to the Capitol and 
the White House, where George Bush and Ronald Reagan received the “last premier 
of a free Ukrainian state.” On 11 July 1982 during Captive Nations Week, the red-
and-black flag of the OUN-B, introduced at the Second Great Congress of the Ukrai-
nian Nationalists in 1941, flew over the United States Capitol. It symbolized freedom 
and democracy, and not ethnic purity and genocidal fascism. Nobody understood 
that it was the same flag that had flown from the Lviv city hall and other buildings, 
under which Jewish civilians were mistreated and killed in July 1941 by individuals 
who identified themselves with the flag. 

Soviet propaganda, which depicted Bandera in complete contrast to the narrative 
of the Ukrainian diaspora, infuriated and radicalized the Ukrainian far-right dias-
pora communities and strengthened the Bandera cult. According to Soviet ideology, 
Bandera and his followers betrayed the Ukrainian nation similarly to the way Vlasov 
and his movement betrayed the Russian nation. Soviet propaganda provided the 
term “Banderites” with new connotations. The meaning of the word changed from 
“murderer”—as used by Poles and Jews exposed to OUN and UPA mass violence in 
1943 and 1944—to “traitor,” “bandit,” “fascist” and “capitalist.” Between 1944 and 
1946, Soviet propaganda also used the term “German-Ukrainian nationalists” very 
frequently, to refer to UPA insurgents. It suggested that the Ukrainian nationalists 
were lackeys or a limb of Nazi Germany, which continued fighting against the Soviet 
Union even after the defeat of its master. A few years after the end of the Second 
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World War, Soviet propaganda started to favor the term “Ukrainian bourgeois natio-
nalists,” which condemned the Ukrainian nationalists as “capitalists.” 

Like the UPA, the Soviet regime understood and used violence as propaganda. 
The NKVD hanged UPA partisans and disfigured their bodies before the eyes of loc-
als, including even groups of school children, while spreading rumors about human 
ears found in the pockets of the Banderites. Soviet ideology transformed the Ukrai-
nian communist writer Iaroslav Halan, who denounced the Ukrainian nationalists 
and was allegedly killed by a UPA rebel, into a hero and martyr. In general, the Soviet 
discourse transformed all kinds of victims killed by the Ukrainian nationalists into 
martyrs and heroes of the Soviet Union. Soviet propaganda also ignored and denied 
the war crimes committed by the NKVD, Soviet partisans, and Red Army soldiers, 
and did not allow the victims’ relatives to mourn their loss. In these circumstances 
many ordinary Ukrainians turned the OUN and UPA into anti-Soviet heroes and 
forgot their atrocities against Jews, Poles, and Ukrainians. 

During the period of perestroika, when the Bandera cult re-emerged in western 
Ukraine, people there were exposed to two propagandist narratives—the Soviet and 
the Ukrainian nationalist. The anti-Soviet movement, composed in western Ukraine 
of dissidents and nationalists, used Bandera and the OUN-UPA as anticommunist 
icons, symbolizing freedom and independence. The first and the second Bandera 
monuments erected in Staryi Uhryniv, Bandera’s birthplace, were demolished by a 
Soviet task force. The third monument of the Providnyk was ironically and symbol-
ically recast from a statue of Lenin. Many monuments devoted to the victims of the 
Ukrainian nationalists or to the heroes of the Soviet Union were replaced by monu-
ments devoted to Bandera and the OUN and UPA “heroes.” Bandera and the 
Ukrainian revolutionary nationalists again became important elements of western 
Ukrainian identity. Not only far-right activists but also the mainstream of western 
Ukrainian society, including high-school teachers and university professors, consi-
dered Bandera to be a Ukrainian national hero, a freedom fighter, and a person who 
should be honored for his struggle against the Soviet Union. The post-Soviet memory 
politics in Ukraine completely ignored democratic values and did not develop any 
kind of non-apologetic approach to history. Nationalism became the main founda-
tion of the collective identity in western Ukraine, and a kind of post-Soviet and pro-
Russian populist communism in eastern Ukraine. 

After the dissolution of the Soviet Union, OUN émigrés such as Slava Stets’ko, the 
widow of Iaroslav Stets’ko, returned to Ukraine, where they founded far-right politi-
cal organizations such as the KUN, explained to young historians, at conferences 
organized by the OUN, how to write history, and facilitated the popularization of the 
Bandera cult in other ways. Local OUN veterans such as Petro Duzhyi, and leaders of 
paramilitary and far-right organizations such as Ievhen Perepicha published vol-
uminous hagiographies of the Providnyk. Other OUN émigrés, such as Volodymyr 
Kosyk, initiated the TsDVR, which was incorporated into the Lviv Academy of 
Sciences. The TsDVR provided an academic foundation for the Bandera cult and has 
continued to whitewash the Ukrainian history of OUN and UPA atrocities. It thereby 
continued a process begun by OUN émigrés such as Mykola Lebed’, Petro Mirchuk, 
and Kosyk in the early Cold War years. The director of the TsDVR, Volodymyr 
V’’iatrovych, had a significant influence on the memory politics of the Ukrainian 
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government during Iushchenko’s presidency. This resulted in the designation of 
Bandera and other leaders of the OUN and UPA as heroes of Ukraine. 

In addition to V’’iatrovych, a number of other historians propagated and legit-
imized the Bandera cult. Some of them, such as Mykola Posivynch, composed hagio-
graphic biographies; others, such as Alexander Gogun, assumed that everything that 
was anti-Soviet, like Bandera, the OUN-UPA, Vlasov, and the ROA, was democratic. 
Some historians, similarly to the far-right activists, legitimized the new post-Soviet 
narratives or denied the Ukrainian contribution to the Holocaust with the help of 
Soviet discourses and stereotypes, which they claimed to deconstruct. Edward Prus’ 
biography of Bandera, published in 2004, appears to totally contradict these post-
Soviet nationalist distortions. The kresowiacy historian combined Soviet discourses 
with the Polish nationalist and martyrological narrative. Although he came to com-
pletely different conclusions from those of V’’iatrovych and Hunchak, Prus agreed 
with them that “Jewish Bolshevism” was not a stereotype or a nationalist perception 
of reality, but the reality. 

By 2009 about thirty Bandera monuments were unveiled in western Ukraine, 
four Bandera museums were opened, and an unknown number of streets were re-
named after him. The Bandera cult that appeared in post-Soviet Ukraine resembles 
that which the Ukrainian diaspora had practiced during the Cold War. The new ene-
mies of the Banderites became Russian-speaking eastern Ukrainians, Russians, dem-
ocrats, and occasionally Poles, Jews, and others. The spectrum of people who prac-
tice this cult is very wide. Among the Bandera admirers, one can find on the one 
hand far-right activists with shaved heads performing the fascist salute during their 
commemorations, and arguing that the Holocaust was the brightest episode in Ukr-
ainian history, and on the other hand, high-school teachers and university prof-
essors. Both groups assume that Ukraine is dependent on Russia. Occasionally, they 
argue that Ukraine is occupied by democrats or Russified eastern Ukrainians, whom 
they would like to Ukrainianize or Banderize. Similarly, they perceive constructive 
critique or academic inquiry on the subject of Bandera or Ukrainian nationalism as a 
political campaign against their nation or as banderophobia. 

In general, the Bandera cult in post-Soviet Ukraine took more eccentric forms 
than in the diaspora. Businessmen and far-right activists commercialized the cult 
while opening UPA pubs, and organizing Bandera music festivals. The cult was also 
made attractive to people who considered the Bandera monument in Lviv too monu-
mental or did not want to belong to far-right paramilitary organizations. Similarly, 
the cult attracted a number of leading intellectuals and scholars into far-right org-
anizations. One good example is Serhii Kvit, the rector of the National University of 
Kiev-Mohyla Academy, who, apart from writing an apologetic dissertation about 
Dmytro Dontsov at the Ukrainian Free University in Munich, was a member of the 
KUN. The process of sacralizing Bandera in western Ukraine was accompanied by 
erecting monuments devoted to Stalin and to the victims of the UPA, and preserving 
numerous monuments to Lenin and to various Soviet heroes in eastern Ukraine. 

Another problematic form of commemorating Bandera and the OUN-UPA was 
established by the community of Polish kresowiacy. This group embedded the ethnic 
cleansing in Volhynia and eastern Galicia in the nationalist narrative of Polish marty-
rology, denying the Polish nationalist policies in the Second Republic, and atrocities 
committed by Polish troops against Ukrainian civilians during the Second World 
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War. In a number of nationalist publications, they instrumentalized the suffering of 
the victims of ethnic cleansing in Volhynia and eastern Galicia. To understand the 
nature of the kresowiacy community, one needs to recall two aspects. First, that be-
tween 1945 and 1990 communist policy in Poland did not give much or any oppor-
tunity to mourn the victims of the OUN and UPA and to come to terms with this 
difficult aspect of Polish history. Second, that after 1990, the generally uncritical 
multipatriotic and populist policy of reconciliation between Poland and Ukraine did 
not pay much respect to the victims of Ukrainian genocidal nationalism and of the 
Polish military units that murdered Ukrainian civilians. This policy, in which many 
leading Polish and Ukrainian intellectuals and politicians engaged, preferred to 
honor anti-Soviet armies, such as the UPA and AK, which fought for the “indepen-
dence” of their nations. 

After the dissolution of the Soviet Union, a number of nationalist factions of the 
Ukrainian diaspora did not cease to commemorate the Providnyk, but a few OUN 
and UPA veterans—who stayed in Munich after the war and knew Bandera in per-
son—stated in interviews given to me in 2008 that they could not understand the 
obsessive fascination with Bandera in western Ukraine. They said that this fervent 
admiration of the Providnyk reminded them of the cult they had experienced in the 
1930s and 1940s. They also stated that it distorted Bandera as a person and the 
movement that he represented. Some of them were also concerned about the col-
lective denial of the atrocities committed by the OUN and UPA, which they ex-
perienced during the Second World War, although they never wanted to talk about 
particular war crimes. Similarly, Ukrainians outside the area of the Bandera cult 
could not comprehend the fascination with the Providnyk. The city council of Uzhho-
rod in Transcarpathia, in reaction to the proposal from eastern Galician Ternopil’ to 
erect a Bandera monument, stated that they “do not share the fascination with” Ban-
dera and “consider agitation for any radical actions as outrageous.” Scholars such as 
Himka and Marples, who had been uncritical of the OUN and UPA for various rea-
sons in the 1980s, rethought their understanding of Ukrainian nationalism in the 
1990s and began to investigate this movement. In contrast, several “liberal” post-
communist historians from both western and eastern Ukraine expressed the opinion 
that the history of Bandera and his movement should be distorted, in order to recon-
cile western and eastern Ukrainians and to help Ukraine to join the European Union. 

Half a decade before the Bandera debate, Sofia Grachova criticized the Ukrainian 
“liberal” historian Iaroslav Hrytsak for marginalizing the pogroms, questioning infor-
mation about their size, blaming the pogroms on Germans, Soviets, and indirectly on 
the very victims—Jews, questioning Jewish memoirs because of their “anti-Ukrai-
nian” character, denying the antisemitic element of OUN ideology, adopting the 
perspective of the OUN-B activist Iaroslav Stets’ko, believing in the stereotype of 
“Jewish Bolshevism,” having more sympathy for traditional than politically active 
Jews, and several other problematic matters. Grachova’s criticism was alarming, 
because it was essentially correct and because Hrytsak represented the progressive 
and open-minded factions of Ukrainian historians. Hrytsak’s book Sketch of Ukrai-
nian History, first published in 1996 and later republished, was extensively used at 
Ukrainian universities and in schools. Despite its weaknesses related to the Second 
World War, it has still been one of the best available books on modern Ukrainian 
history. 
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The Bandera debate in 2009–2010 has finally demonstrated that not only Ukrai-
nian nationalists but also a number of Ukrainian “liberal” and “progressive” intellec-
tuals are not immune to the Bandera cult and for various reasons refuse to take no-
tice of studies on the subject of Ukrainian nationalism. On the one hand, some of 
these intellectuals criticize the nationalist historians and far-right activists such as 
V’’iatrovych and Tiahnybok but, on the other hand, they propagate and legitimize the 
Bandera cult in a more subtle way. Unlike V’’iatrovych and Tiahnybok, who try to 
establish a far-right nationalist Bandera cult, the “liberal” intellectuals vote for the 
cult of a person who symbolizes resistance. During the Bandera debate, some of them 
protected Bandera as an “inconvenient hero.” Others argued that Bandera is an ele-
ment of the “regional pluralism of symbols” or an integral element of the Ukrainian 
collective identity. 

The question whether the political conflicts in 2013–2014 and the civil war in 
2014 were in some way related to the Bandera cult and the apologetic attitude of 
some sections of Ukrainian society toward Ukrainian extreme nationalism is not the 
subject of this study, but it should be briefly discussed because of the disturbing 
nature and horrific consequences of the violent events of 2013 and 2014 for Ukrai-
nian society and the Ukrainian state. It would be wrong to assume that the Bandera 
cult or the apologetic attitude to Ukrainian nationalism, led solely or in the first in-
stance, to these violent events. Such an assumption would distort the complex cul-
tural and political relationships between “western” and “eastern” Ukrainians and 
between Ukraine and Russia. It would also ignore the complicated political situation 
within Ukraine, and exonerate the policies of Vladimir Putin and other involved 
parties. Nevertheless, the rise of nationalism in western Ukraine and the inability to 
rethink Bandera and his epoch has contributed to the polarization and radicalization 
of postcommunist Ukraine. This process has manifested itself in western Ukraine, in 
the erection of monuments devoted to Bandera and other nationalists; and in the 
east, in the preservation of Lenin monuments and other Soviet monuments and the 
erection of new monuments to Stalin. On the other hand, democracy and the concept 
of civil society have not played any major role in Ukrainian cultural, intellectual, and 
political life, and they have sometimes become confused with nationalism and other 
forms of extremism. 

 Inability to Mourn, Lack of Empathy, Sacralization, and Trauma  

The first open debate about Bandera in 2009–2010 demonstrated that it is possible 
to discuss Bandera, the OUN, the UPA, the Holocaust, or the Ukrainian contribution 
to the Holocaust, but it also showed that Ukrainian intellectuals are not prepared to 
rethink these subjects. One important reason why Ukrainians cannot rethink the 
“uncomfortable” elements of Ukrainian history is that one needs to feel empathy for 
the victims of Ukrainian nationalism in order to sympathize with them, and to be 
able to comprehend all aspects of Ukrainian national history, including the mass 
violence of the Ukrainian nationalists. Such empathy, however, cannot be established 
because the Bandera cult and the glorification and sacralization of the perpetrators 
declare the genocidal policies of the murderers to be correct, and the victims of the 
OUN and UPA to be guilty of being killed. This kind of thinking simultaneously be-
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littles, denies, and glorifies the crimes committed by the OUN and UPA and invites 
Ukrainians to identify themselves with the perpetrators, known in the post-Soviet 
discourse as “national heroes,” “eternal heroes,” or “heroes of Ukraine.” This state of 
affairs can be also described as a coalition of silence, or collective or organized denial. 
It comes about to a large extent unconsciously, and it may be compared to the situa-
tion in Germany in the first decades after the Second World War. The few individuals 
who do not admire the perpetrators and who develop empathy for the victims of 
Ukrainian nationalism are condemned and discredited by other members of the 
community. 

It is interesting to observe that some scholars, mainly “liberals” in postcommunist 
Ukraine, can better empathize with the Polish than with the Jewish and Ukrainian 
victims of the OUN-UPA mass violence. These intellectuals confirm that Polish civi-
lians were murdered by the Ukrainian revolutionary nationalists, but they are unable 
to recognize and state the fact that a substantial number of Jewish and Ukrainian 
civilians were murdered by the same formations of Ukrainian nationalists for similar 
reasons. That more research has been done on the ethnic cleansing in Volhynia and 
eastern Galicia than on the anti-Jewish and anti-Ukrainian terror, can explain this 
phenomenon only to a certain extent, because the anti-Jewish and anti-Ukrainian 
mass violence of the OUN-UPA has also been investigated by several scholars and the 
basic facts about this kind of mass violence have been known for years. The reasons 
for disavowing the anti-Jewish and anti-Ukrainian mass violence seem, however, to 
differ from each other. Whereas the reason for the disavowal of anti-Jewish violence 
seems to be nationalism, which is still deeply rooted in Ukrainian academic and 
political culture, in the case of the anti-Ukrainian violence it is a deep feeling of 
shame concerning “national heroes” who had killed members of their own ethnic 
community. 

The thorough and longstanding nationalist sacralization of the Providnyk and his 
movement would be much more difficult without the Soviet occupation of Ukraine, 
the Soviet terror in western Ukraine, and Soviet propaganda. The Soviet regime not 
only defeated the OUN and UPA but it also extensively and brutally targeted the 
civilian population in western Ukraine. Almost every family in eastern Galicia and 
Volhynia suffered in some manner from the Soviet terror. Many people who sup-
ported the UPA were killed, arrested, or deported to the Gulag—as were many who 
did not support the UPA. In these circumstances, Ukrainians in eastern Galicia, and 
to a lesser extent in Volhynia, turned Bandera and his followers into a symbol of 
resistance against the Soviet regime. 

The celebration of Bandera not as a “fascist” but only as a symbol of “resistance” 
is a result of the post-Soviet patriotic sacralization of the Providnyk and his move-
ment. It allows the admiration of Bandera, while avoiding the accusation of identify-
ing with and approving of Bandera’s genocidal ideas. It suggests that one who has 
established a positive emotional attitude to Bandera, only honors him because Ban-
dera resisted the Soviet Union and not because he tried to introduce a fascist dic-
tatorship in Ukraine, or voted for wiping out the ethnic and political “enemies of the 
Ukrainian nation.” This also suggests that the OUN and UPA, of which Bandera be-
came a symbol, can be commemorated only as a movement that resisted the Soviet 
Union and Nazi Germany, and not as a movement that imitated and adopted fascism 
and killed over 100,000 non-Ukrainian and Ukrainian inhabitants of the western 
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Ukrainian territories. This kind of memory of Bandera and his movement makes the 
process of coming to terms with the Ukrainian past impossible. Indirectly, it denies 
the Holocaust or the Ukrainian contribution to the Holocaust and pays no respect to 
the victims of Ukrainian nationalism. 

The process of mastering its own history is a process of healing a society. It moves 
the society from a posttraumatic state into a state of awareness of all aspects of its 
own past. In this sense, the Bandera cult is not only a historical but also a sociological 
and psychological matter. It suppresses one Ukrainian trauma with the help of 
another one. The killing of Poles, Jews, and Ukrainians by the Ukrainian nationalists 
caused a classic perpetrator trauma in western Ukrainian society. This trauma was 
followed by another one, a victim trauma, caused by the Soviet terror. In the follow-
ing decades, Ukrainians either had no opportunity to come to terms with their his-
tory or deliberately refused to do so. They could mourn neither the perpetrator 
trauma, nor the victim trauma. Before the dissolution of the Soviet Union, such 
mourning was impossible because of the Soviet memory politics and the diaspora 
discourse. After the dissolution of the Soviet Union, the Bandera cult suppressed the 
memory of the crimes committed by the OUN and UPA with the help of the suffering 
caused to Ukrainians by the Soviet regime.  

An increasing number of Ukrainian historians are aware of the “unpleasant” ele-
ments of the Ukrainian history and are concerned about the extensive and ritualized 
denial of OUN and UPA atrocities. Cultural, social, and political pressure, however, 
discourages many Ukrainian intellectuals from openly expressing their opinions and 
constrains them to express only relativized views that appear to be appropriate in the 
Ukrainian context. Similarly, these scholars do not publish on Ukrainian nationalism 
in a direct and unapologetic way, because they fear that they will be collectively be-
rated by their colleagues, friends, and relatives. For the same reason, some of them 
publicly condemn critical research on Ukrainian nationalism and on the Ukrainian 
contribution to the Holocaust. 

In the two decades following the collapse of the Soviet Union, an entire spectrum 
of methods to protect the nationalist discourse has been developed by various ele-
ments of Ukrainian society, and also by a number of non-Ukrainian historians who 
sympathize with Ukrainian nationalism. These methods were invented and applied 
in order to discredit scholars who investigate Ukrainian nationalism and thereby 
uncover new aspects of the ethnic and political violence of Ukrainian extreme 
nationalism, or the nationalist distortions of Ukrainian history. The spectrum of 
these methods is wide and has been observed before in similar forms in other de-
bates in which the honor of the nation was at stake. Scholars who investigate the 
subject may, for example, use “wrong methodology” or may not be “scholarly 
enough.” They may have “bad intentions” toward Ukrainians, or they may investigate 
the OUN and UPA in the context of Holocaust and fascist studies, and not in the 
context of Ukrainian studies or the Ukrainian resistance. Similarly, all kinds of real 
and alleged mistakes are found in the publications of these historians and are pre-
sented as sins against science in order to discredit them and thereby to protect the 
good name of the nation or to maintain good relationships with Ukrainian scholars. 

One of the most alarming issues related to the sacralization of Bandera and the 
OUN and UPA is the question of values represented by Bandera, and of the atrocities 
conducted by the Ukrainian nationalists. The process of heroization and sacralization 
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does not only whitewash the movement of atrocities and other “unpleasant” aspects 
such as fascistization or collaboration with Nazi Germany but it also sacralizes the 
perpetrators. It transforms their genocidal deeds into taboo, a discussion of which is 
beyond any social norm because it would cause harm to the community. Societies 
that have established such taboos have usually suffered from a trauma and are very 
sensitive about their past. They protect distorted and sometimes ridiculous 
explanations of their past in order to avoid the pain that would result from 
uncovering their obfuscated history. 

The Bandera cult is not the only phenomenon, but certainly one of the most 
important ones, that does not allow Ukrainians to mourn the past and rethink their 
history. Although, theoretically, mourning the past appears to be easy, it is not easy 
at all. It requires a period of latency. The mourning community has to act out and 
work though the trauma. It needs time to recognize that “its members, instead of 
being heroes, have been perpetrators who violated the cultural premises of their own 
identity.”9 Given the state of cultural, social and political affairs and the level of 
intellectual and political culture in Ukraine, it might take decades until the “heroes” 
leave Ukraine and enable Ukrainians to mourn and rethink their history. Also, many 
intermediate stages, which change little or nothing, might occur. 

 
9  Bernhard Giesen, “The Trauma of Perpetrators: The Holocaust and the Traumatic Reference of 

German National Identity,” Cultural trauma and collective identity, ed. Jeffrey Alexander (Berkeley, 
Calif.: University of California Press, 2004), 114. 

 





 

 

GLOSSARY 

banderivshchyna (Ukr.), banderovshchina (Rus.): a term used in Ukrainian and 
Russian to describe the Bandera movement or the OUN and UPA. 
 
Captive Nations: an organization comprising several anticommunist émigré groups 
that opposed the Soviet Union and wanted to liberate their countries by means of 
various nationalist ideologies. 
 
banderophobia: a term used in post-Soviet far-right circles. It defines the critical 
attitude to Bandera and the OUN as hostility to the Ukrainian culture. 
 
Caudillo (Span.): Leader. 
 
coup d’état (Fr.): “stroke of state,” putsch, or an overthrow of government. 
 
Doglavnik (Croat.): deputy leader. 
 
Drahomanivtsi: a pejorative term coined by Dmytro Dontsov, referring to Mykhailo 
Drahomanov and other moderate earlier Ukrainian thinkers such as Mykhailo 
Hrushevs’kyi and Ivan Franko. 
 
Ehrenhaft (Ger.): honorable captivity. 
 
Ehrenhäftling or Sonderhäftling (Ger.): “honorary prisoners” or “special political 
prisoners” were very important political prisoners who received special treatment in 
Nazi Germany. 
 
Einsatzgruppen (Ger.): “task forces,” special troops that killed huge numbers of 
civilians, primarily by shooting. The Einsatzgruppen (sing. Einsatzgruppe) operated 
in territories occupied by the German armed forces following the invasion of Poland 
in September 1939 and Operation Barbarossa in June 1941. 
 
Einsatzkommando (Ger.): “death squad,” subgroups of the Einsatzgruppen. 
 
Endecja: National Democracy, a Polish right-wing nationalist political movement 
active from the late nineteenth century to the end of the Second Polish Republic in 
1939. Its main ideological leader was Roman Dmowski. 
 
Führer (Ger.): Leader. 
 
Führerprinzip (Ger.): “leader principle”—prescribed the fundamental basis of 
political authority in fascist parties, states, and movements. 
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Gulag (Rus.): a contraction of the name of the government agency that administered 
the main Soviet forced labor camps, where conditions were extremely poor. 
 
Hilfspolizei (Ger.): native “auxiliary police” who worked for the German occupying 
authorities. In Ukraine, they were also known also as Ukrainian police. The German 
administration also called them Schutzmannschaften. 
 
khokhol (Ukr.): the stereotypical Ukrainian Cossack style of haircut that features a 
lock of hair sprouting from the top or the front of an otherwise closely shaven head; 
also a pejorative term for ethnic Ukrainians. 
 
kolkhoz (Rus.): collective farm in the Soviet Union. 
 
kresowiacy (Pol.): people resettled from the former eastern Polish territories. 
 
kurkul (Rus.): a prosperous landed peasant in czarist Russia, characterized by the 
Communists as an exploiter. 
 
oblast (Ukr. and Rus.): area, first level of administrative division of Ukraine. 
 
Ostministerium (Ger.): Reich Ministry for the Occupied Eastern Territories, created 
in July 1941 by Adolf Hitler and headed by Alfred Rosenberg. 
 
palingenesis: a concept of rebirth or re-creation of a nation coined in fascist studies 
by Roger Griffin. 
 
panakhyda (Ukr.): memorial service. 
 
perestroika (Rus.): ”restructuring,” political movement for reformation within the 
Communist Party of the Soviet Union, associated with Mikhail Gorbachev’s politics. 
 
Plast: Ukrainian scout organization founded in Lviv in 1911. It was banned in the 
Second Republic in 1928 in Volhynia, and in 1930 in eastern Galicia. After the war, 
Plast was reestablished by Ukrainian political émigrés in various countries of the 
Western bloc, and in Ukraine after the dissolution of the Soviet Union. 
 
Poglavnik (Croat.): Leader. 
 
Providnyk (Ukr.): Leader. 
 
Prosvita (Ukr.): “Enlightenment,” a society created in 1868 in Ukrainian Galicia for 
preserving and developing Ukrainian culture and education among the population. 
 
raion (Ukr.): district, second level of administrative division of Ukraine. 
 
rynek (Pol.): marketplace. 
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Sanacja (Pol.): sanation or healing, a political movement that came to power after 
Józef Piłsudski’s coup d’état in May 1926. 
 
Schutzmannschaften (Ger.): collaborationist auxiliary battalions of native policemen 
in countries occupied by Nazi Germany. 
 
Second Republic: abbreviation of the Second Polish Republic. i.e. the Polish state 
between 1918 and 1939 (Pol. II Rzeczpospolita Polska).  
 
sejm (Pol.): the lower house of the Polish parliament. 
 
Sicherheitsdienst (Ger.): Security Service (SD), the intelligence agency of the Nazi 
Party. In 1939 it was transferred to the authority of the RSHA. 
 
Sicherheitspolizei (Ger.): Security Police. Between 1936 and 1939 it combined the 
Gestapo (secret state police) and the Kripo (criminal police). In 1939 it was merged 
into the RSHA, but the term continued to be used informally until the end of the 
Third Reich. 
 
Slava Ukraїni! (Ukr.): “Glory to Ukraine!” was a Ukrainian fascist greeting invented 
by the League of Ukrainian Fascists and taken over by the OUN. The OUN-B 
extended it while adding Heroiam Slava! (Glory to the Heroes!) as a response. 
 
sobornist’ (Ukr.): unification of all Ukrainian territories in one state. 
 
svoboda (Ukr.): freedom. 
 
Strasse (Ger.): street. 
 
tryzub (Ukr.): trident, the state arms of Ukraine. 
 
Übermensch (Ger.): superhuman. 
 
Vodca (Slovak): Leader. 
 
vogelfrei (Ger.): outlawed. 
 
völkisch (Ger.): populist or nationalist, and typically racist. 
 
Vozhd’ (Ukr. and Rus.): Leader. 
 
Vozhdevi Slava! (Ukr.): “Glory to the Leader!” was a Ukrainian fascist greeting 
introduced in 1939 by at the Second Great Congress of the OUN in Rome.  
 
Wódz (Pol.): Leader.
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